Public Document Pack

SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
South Lakeland House, Kendal, Cumbria LA9 4UQ
www.southlakeland.gov.uk

You are requested to attend a meeting of
the Cabinet
on Wednesday, 9 February 2022, at 10.00 a.m.
in the Assembly Room, Kendal Town Hall, Kendal

Membership
Councillors
Robin Ashcroft
Jonathan Brook
Helen Chaffey
Philip Dixon
Andrew Jarvis
Dyan Jones
Suzie Pye

Economy, Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder
Leader and Promoting South Lakeland and Innovation
Portfolio Holder
Housing Portfolio Holder
Customer and Locality Services Portfolio Holder
Deputy Leader & Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder
Climate Action and Biodiversity Portfolio Holder
Health, Wellbeing and Poverty Alleviation Portfolio Holder

Note – Where relevant, agendas for Members are labelled “Private Document Pack” and
contain exempt information within the papers. Any relevant pages are marked as restricted
within Agendas labelled “Public Document Pack”.
Tuesday, 1 February 2022
Linda Fisher, Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer)

For all enquiries, please contact Inge Booth, Legal, Governance and Democracy Specialist.
Telephone:

01539 793190

Email:

committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Page Nos.
PART I

1

APOLOGIES
To receive apologies for absence, if any.

2

CABINET EXECUTIVE DECISIONS

5 - 18

To authorise the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the Executive Decisions
made by Cabinet on 7 December 2021.

3

DELEGATED EXECUTIVE DECISIONS

19 - 24

To receive the Delegated Executive Decisions made by Portfolio Holders or
Officers on 16 and 23 December 2021 and 27 January 2022.

4

EMERGENCY DELEGATED EXECUTIVE DECISIONS
To receive Emergency Delegated Executive Decisions taken by the Chief
Executive since the last meeting of Cabinet in accordance with the Leader’s
decision noted by Cabinet at CEX/104 (2019/20).

a
5

018 - 19-01-22 - Emergency Delegated Executive Decision - Business
Support Grants - Omicron Response Jan 22

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND DISPENSATIONS
To receive declarations by Members of interests in respect of items on this
Agenda and to consider any dispensations.
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of Conduct,
they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other
registrable interests which have not already been declared in the Council’s
Register of Interests. (It is a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable
pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting.)
Members may, however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such disclosable
pecuniary interests which they have already declared in the Register, as well as
any other registrable or other interests.
If a Member requires advice on any item involving a possible declaration of
interest which could affect his/her ability to speak and/or vote, he/she is advised
to contact the Monitoring Officer at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting.

6

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS
To consider whether the items, if any, in Part II of the Agenda should be
considered in the presence of the press and public.

7

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
Any member of the public who wishes to ask a question, make representations
or present a deputation or petition at this meeting should apply to do so by no
later than 0:01am (one minute past midnight) two working days before the
meeting. Information on how to make the application can be obtained by
viewing the Council’s Website www.southlakeland.gov.uk or by contacting the
Committee Services Team on 01539 733333.

25 - 32

(1)

Questions and Representations
To receive any questions or representations which have been received
from members of the public.

(2)

Deputations and Petitions
To receive any deputations or petitions which have been received from
members of the public.

8

FORWARD PLAN
To note the contents of the Forward Plan which is due to be published on
8 February 2022 (copies will be circulated prior to the meeting).

9

LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION
To receive a verbal update, if any.

10

ESTABLISHMENT
COMMITTEE

OF

A

WESTMORLAND

AND

FURNESS

JOINT

33 - 40

To consider the establishment of a Westmorland and Furness Council Joint
Committee.

11

COUNCIL PLAN PERFORMANCE MONITORING REPORT QUARTER 3
2021/22

41 - 86

To monitor progress against the measures of success as detailed within the
Council Plan.

12

COUNCIL PLAN
ARRANGEMENTS

AND

POLICY

FRAMEWORK

-

TRANSITIONAL

87 - 114

To consider the Council’s interim priorities and a request that the Westmorland
and Furness Shadow Authority considers the priorities and proposals set out in
Appendix 1 to the report in developing the Policy Framework for the new
authority.

13

CORPORATE FINANCE UPDATE QUARTER 3

115 - 142

To note the projected year end position based on performance to the end of
Quarter 3 2021/22 and officers’ planned actions to ensure a balanced budget by
the end of the financial year.

14

REVIEW OF THE LOCAL COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 2022

143 - 338

To consider retention of the current Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme for
the financial year commencing 1 April 2022.

15

2022/23 TO 2026/27 DRAFT BUDGET

339 - 416

To consider the draft budget proposals for the financial years 2022/23 to
2026/27.

16

TREASURY MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL STRATEGIES

417 - 480

To consider the Treasury Management Strategy for 2022/23 – 2025/26 and the
Capital Strategy for 2022/23 – 2033/34.

17

PROCUREMENT SCHEDULE 2022/23

481 - 490

To consider the Procurement Schedule 2022/23.

18

ULVERSTON LEISURE SITE
To consider options for the Ulverston Leisure site and a way forward for the
scheme.

491 - 518

19

STRATEGIC CULTURAL PARTNERS GRANTS INVESTMENT

519 - 524

To consider a proposal to continue the allocation of revenue funding identified in
the Council’s budget to the Council’s designated Strategic Cultural Partners.

20

CARTMEL CONSERVATION AREA MANAGEMENT PLAN
To consider approval of the draft Cartmel Conservation Area Management Plan
for public consultation.

21

URGENT ITEMS
To consider urgent items, if any.

PART II
Private Section (exempt reasons under Schedule 12A of the Local Government
Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information)
(Variation) Order 2006, specified by way of paragraph number)
There are no items in this Part of the Agenda.

525 - 616

Item No.2
61
07.12.2021

Cabinet Executive Decisions
EXECUTIVE DECISION NOTICE

CABINET
A record of the decisions made at the meeting of the Cabinet held on Tuesday,
7 December 2021, at 10.00 a.m.
Present
Councillors
Jonathan Brook (Leader and Promoting South Lakeland and Innovation Portfolio Holder)
(Chairman)
Robin Ashcroft
Andrew Jarvis
Dyan Jones

Economy, Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder
Deputy Leader & Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder
Climate Action and Biodiversity Portfolio Holder

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Helen Chaffey (Housing Portfolio
Holder), Philip Dixon (Customer and Locality Services Portfolio Holder) and Suzie Pye
(Health, Wellbeing and Poverty Alleviation Portfolio Holder).
Also in attendance at the meeting were Shadow Executive Members Pat Bell (Shadow
Cabinet (Housing Portfolio)), Roger Bingham (Shadow Cabinet (Economy, Culture and
Leisure Portfolio)), John Holmes (Shadow Cabinet Deputy Leader (Finance and Assets
Portfolio)), Kevin Holmes (Shadow Cabinet (Climate Action and Biodiversity Portfolio)) and
Janette Jenkinson (Shadow Cabinet (Customer and Locality Services Portfolio)).
Apologies for absence were received from Shadow Executive Members Tom Harvey
(Shadow Cabinet Leader (Promoting South Lakeland and Innovation Portfolio)) and
Helen Irving (Shadow Cabinet (Health, Wellbeing and Poverty Alleviation Portfolio)), and
David Webster (Leader of the Labour Group).

Officers
Simon Blyth
Inge Booth
Lawrence Conway
Linda Fisher
Julie Jackson
Fraser Robertson
Simon Rowley
Helen Smith
Sion Thomas

CEX/74

Strategy Specialist
Legal, Governance and Democracy Specialist
Chief Executive
Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring
Officer)
Principal Specialist People
Communications Specialist
Director of Customer and Commercial Services
Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer)
Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial Services

CABINET EXECUTIVE DECISIONS
RESOLVED – That the Chairman be authorised to sign, as a correct record, the
Executive Decisions made by Cabinet on 10 November 2021.

Page 5

62
07.12.2021

CEX/75

Cabinet Executive Decisions

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND DISPENSATIONS
No declarations of interest were raised under this item.

CEX/76

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS
The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder referred to an urgent item
(Contract Award for Scaling on Street Charging Infrastructure) of business, copies of
which had been provided to Members prior to the commencement of the meeting. He
explained that, whilst there were no excluded items on the agenda itself, Appendix 1 to
the urgent report was excluded for inspection by members of the public, as stated
within the document.
RESOLVED – That, should discussion be necessary, Part II Appendix 1 to the
urgent report (Contract Award for Scaling on Street Charging Infrastructure) be
dealt with following the exclusion of the press and public.

CEX/77

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
No questions, representations, deputations or petitions had been received in respect of
this meeting.

CEX/78

LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION
The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder provided Members with a
verbal update on Local Government Reorganisation (LGR).
Gill Steward, who had been Cumbria County Council Chief Executive Officer and
Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) for the LGR Programme, had left her role at the end
of November. Moving forward, the SRO role would be by collective leadership, with
Allerdale’s Chief Executive, Andrew Seekings, representing the “west” authorities
making up Cumberland Council and Barrow’s Chief Executive, Sam Plum, representing
the “east” authorities making up Westmorland and Furness Council, with Acting Chief
Executive, John Readman, representing Cumbria County Council.
In terms of officer structure, the Programme Director role, which would ensure delivery
of the Programme, had now been offered to a candidate, with confirmation of the name
awaited. This was a significant step in driving the process forward.
The recruitment process for Programme Managers, Project Managers and Programme
Support Officers was ongoing.
The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder referred to the LGR weekly
agenda, with items being considered by various committees, including a weekly
Leadership Forum looking at workstreams.
The Council had received back the redrafted Structural Changes Order (SRO), to
which a number of minor amendments had been made. The draft SCO was now ready
to proceed through the Parliamentary process.
The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder finally referred to the
Judicial Review, which remained ongoing.

Page 6

63
07.12.2021

Cabinet Executive Decisions

In response to queries, the Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder
explained that the redistribution of assets and liabilities would form a significant LGR
workstream and that detailed work would be carried out in this area in order to bring
together the disparate assets of all councils. Regular updates would be provided to all
Members, providing an opportunity for them to be involved and ask questions. The
Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder explained that South Lakeland
District Council would run in parallel with the Shadow Authority for one year from April
2022. He confirmed that recruitment to the posts of Chief Executive Officers for the
two new authorities would be would an open and competitive process. The Chief
Executive, in response to a further query, informed Members that the redrafted SCO
would be provided to Group Leaders, pointing out that it still had Parliamentary
privilege at this stage. He drew attention to a Member briefing which was due to take
place on 9 December, with a Group Leader meeting being held on the following day.

CEX/79

2022/23 TO 2026/27 DRAFT BUDGET
Note – During consideration of this item, Councillor Janette Jenkinson, although
having no voting rights as a Member of the Shadow Cabinet, declared a nonpecuniary interest by virtue of the fact that she was a Director of Ulverston
Community Enterprise, indicating that she would leave the room should
conversation turn to this aspect.
Summary
The Council, at its meeting on 27 July 2021, had agreed to the proposed Budget
Strategy for the current year’s budget process as part of the Medium Term Financial
Plan (MTFP). The Budget Strategy set out some broad principles which were being
used in the preparation of the 2022/23 – 2026/27 Budget.
The report, introduced by the Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder, presented a draft
position. Work would continue to incorporate further changes into subsequent budget
reports, particularly further impacts of Local Government Reorganisation (LGR), Covid19 and the central government grant position which was not yet clear. The position set
out in the report would form the basis of consultation. The Overview and Scrutiny
Committee would consider the report at its meeting on 4 February 2022. The final
Draft Budget Report would incorporate the consideration of the internal and external
consultation received at that time and be presented to the 9 February 2022 Cabinet
meeting. Any further amendments would be delegated to the Leader and Portfolio
Holder in consultation with the Section 151 officer prior to the report’s consideration at
the Council meeting on 22 February 2022. The Council would be requested to approve
the final Budget at its meeting on 22 February 2022. The budget timetable was
presented for information at Appendix 2 to the report.
Although the Council’s services, income, expenditure, assets and liabilities would
transfer to the new Westmorland and Furness Council on 1 April 2023 as part of LGR,
the draft budgets still included projections for a full 5-years based on the current
structure and arrangements. This reflected good practice and the requirement to
consider the long term sustainability of local services through long term financial
planning regardless of the provider of those services and the statutory responsibility to
set balanced budgets.
The Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder highlighted a number of areas within the
report. He referred to the Revenue Budget and the current projected deficit of
£173,000 for the next financial year. He reminded Members, however, that the budget

Page 7

64
07.12.2021

Cabinet Executive Decisions

was an iterative process and that work would take place over the coming months to
close this gap. Officers were though, he said, projecting very significant deficits from
April 2023 onwards which would need to be reviewed in the context of the new unitary
council.
The Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder turned to capital expenditure, informing
Members that the forecast and plan had been reviewed and was reflected in Appendix
8 to the report. This showed expected spend this year falling from nearly £27m to just
over £14.5m. He highlighted a number of capital projects, pointing out that nearly
£16m of capital investment was envisaged next year. He stressed that even though
the life of this Council was limited, it would continue to invest for the benefits of its
residents, ensuring that work was underway so that it had to be completed by its
successor council.
Despite the many challenged faced, the Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder felt that
this budget showed that the Council was going into reorganisation in sound financial
health. He thanked officers for their work on ensuring this and the Finance Team for
preparing this budget.
Decision
RESOLVED – That
(1)
it be noted that the development of the Budget is an iterative process
between now and Council on 22 February 2022. The assumptions, proposals
and calculations included within it will be subject to change as more information
from internal and external sources is provided and decisions around the final
proposals can be made;
(2)
the proposals contained in this report and Appendices 3 to 9 to the report
to achieve a balanced budget from April 2022 be noted;
(3)
the proposals for Fees and Charges from April 2022 set out in Appendix 9
to the report be noted;
(4)
the projected deficits starting at £175,000 2022/23 rising to circa £3.1m by
2026/27 be noted;
(5)
Council be requested to approve the additional budget for staff, as set out
in Appendix 4 to the report, to be funded from the increased balance on General
Reserve arising from 2020/21 outturn amendments identified during audit;
(6)
Council be requested to approve the amendments to the Capital
Programme as set out in Section 4 and Appendix 8 to the report;
(7)
the decision on whether to continue membership of Cumbria business
rate pool (this will be a key decision to be included in the next Forward Plan) be
delegated to the Finance Lead Specialist and Finance and Resources Portfolio
Holder; and
(8)
Resolutions (1), (2) and (3) above be approved to form the basis of
consultation with stakeholders.

Page 8

65
07.12.2021

Cabinet Executive Decisions

Reasons for Decision
The report sets out the first draft Budget to enable the consideration of how the
Council’s priorities will be delivered. This draft budget has been developed within the
context of the Medium Term Financial Plan. Setting a sound framework for budget
preparation assists in the delivery of all corporate outcomes Working across boundaries – through ensuring financial resources to deliver priority.
Delivering a balanced community – through ensuring financial resources to deliver
priority.
A fairer South Lakeland – through ensuring financial resources to deliver priority.
Addressing the climate emergency – through ensuring financial resources to deliver
priority.
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected
The report presents alternative options in relation to potential budget pressures and
savings, new Capital Programme bids, one off revenue growth bids and fees and
charges. The proposals together aim to meet the Council’s statutory duty to set a
balanced Budget for 2022/23.

CEX/80

LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION - IMPLEMENTATION COSTS
Summary
The Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder presented a detailed report requesting
resources to fund the implementation costs of Local Government Reorganisation (LGR)
within Cumbria by creating two new unitary authorities from 1 April 2023.
The Cumbria Chief Finance Officer’s Group, attended by all Section 151 Officers of the
seven Cumbrian authorities, had undertaken a high-level assessment of the financial
impact of LGR and provided some indicative figures for implementation which had also
been sense checked against other authorities which have been through the LGR
process. The report, therefore, provided an update on the indicative cost of
implementation. It also covered the establishment of a County Wide LGR
Implementation Reserve including governance arrangements, funding proposals and
the required scheme of delegation for relevant officers.
The report did not deal with the costs of transformation nor how these would be shared
and funded, nor the level of savings that these could generate, as these would be
decisions for the new shadow authorities, once established, and would be dealt with at
a later date. Some of these costs would be incurred prior to vesting date and so the
timing, value and share of any of these costs relating to 2022/23 to be funded by this
Council would need to be determined for provision to be included in 2022/23 spending
plans.
The Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder referred to the indicative, high level budget for
what was necessary to get the new authorities to be “safe and legal” on vesting day £18.92m. Table 1 provided a breakdown of the costs. He referred to the creation of a
County Wide Implementation Reserve to cover this indicative cost which would be 50%
funded by the County Council, with 50% split equally among the districts. The
contribution from South Lakeland District Council would, therefore, be up to £1.6m.

Page 9

66
07.12.2021

Cabinet Executive Decisions

The Finance Portfolio Holder was content that the approach outlined within the report
was the most appropriate one, and that it had the full support of the Council’s Section
151 Officer. He felt reassured that proper governance arrangements were being put in
place, which was of importance given that the deliverables of the reorganisation could
not be precisely defined until the shadow authorities were in place.
In response to a query as to whether residents could look forward to a reduction in
Council Tax as a result of Cumbria moving to two unitary authorities, the Finance
Portfolio Holder explained that the proposals for both one and two Cumbrian authorities
had shown savings. He referred to the budget gap of £2m to £3m forecast for South
Lakeland District Council in five years’ time and suggested that there were likely to be
similar gaps for the other districts and a larger one for the County. He stressed the
need to try to close these gaps and make savings and suggested that those made as a
result of LGR would assist in doing this.
Decision
RESOLVED - That
(1)

the proposal for a county wide LGR Implementation Reserve be noted;

(2)
approval for the use of the £250,000 budgeted for LGR in 2021/22 be
delegated to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader, in order to fund
any costs which the Council may incur itself which are outwith the eligibility
criteria for the Cumbria Wide Implementation Reserve;
(3)
the establishment of an implementation reserve/budget provision of up to
£1.6m, as the Council’s contribution to the LGR implementation costs, subject to
contributions being approved by all the Cumbrian authorities and subject to the
signing of the Memorandum of Understanding, be approved for recommendation
to Council;
(4)
the use of the General Reserve to create the new LGR implementation
reserve be approved;
(5)
the Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) be authorised to pay the
contribution (or the appropriate proportion thereof) in (3) to Cumbria County
Council in January 2022;
(6)
the governance arrangements and scheme of delegation regarding the
use of the reserve as set out in the report (Paragraph 3.11 and associated
appendices) be noted; and
(7)
responsibility be delegated to the Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151
Officer), following consultation with the Leader, the Portfolio Holder for Finance
and Assets and the Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist
(Monitoring Officer), to agree the terms contained within the Memorandum of
Understanding, with all the other Cumbrian authorities, for the Implementation
Reserve and sign the same.
Reasons for Decision
It is necessary to ensure that funds are available to support the implementation work of
LGR.

Page 10

67
07.12.2021

Cabinet Executive Decisions

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected.
The proposals reflect best and most practical option to deliver programme at this stage
and will be refined as the programme moves forward.

CEX/81

COMMUNITY GRANTS AND SUPPORT FOR VOLUNTARY ORGANISATIONS
Summary
In the absence of the Health, Wellbeing and Poverty Alleviation Portfolio Holder, the
Climate Action and Biodiversity Portfolio Holder presented a detailed report outlining a
proposal to allocate the Council’s community grants funding to maximise impact and
effectively deliver Council priorities in the period leading up to the creation and first
year of the new unitary authority’s operation. Attention was drawn to the fact that the
Arnside and Silverdale Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty funding was not included in
the proposal due to it being subject to a separate contract which would be finalised at a
later date.
The report pointed out that Eden District Council, Cumbria County Council and Barrow
Borough Council had been consulted on their funding arrangements with 3rd sector
organisations. Each Council was tied into funding arrangements for varying periods
(up to 2025). Once established, the new unitary authority would assume responsibility
for support for voluntary organisations currently delivered by the three districts and the
County Council and would need to develop its own strategy and approach.
The recommendations contained within the report would mean that South Lakeland
District Council funding for Gateway would cease. This would end the annual grants
funding round for smaller 3rd sector organisations. However there were alternative
external funding streams available and the report’s recommendations aimed to directly
align South Lakeland District Council funding allocation with its strategic priorities.
The proposals would see a commitment to two year funding agreements which would
extend a year beyond the vesting day of the successor Council to South Lakeland
District Council. Though this would require a novation of the funding agreement to the
successor council, it would avoid a short term funding situation which may exacerbate
funding uncertainty for these organisations as local government reorganisation
proceeded. It would enable the successor Council to review its support to the 3rd
sector during its first year of operation.
The Climate Action and Biodiversity Portfolio Holder welcomed Karen Evans from the
Citizens’ Advice Bureau who was observing the meeting. She thanked the Strategy
Specialist for a comprehensive report and commended the work carried out in this area
during the Covid-19 pandemic and at the same time as Local Government
Reorganisation. Both the Climate Action and Biodiversity Portfolio Holder, the Leader
and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder and Members further referred to the
benefits of partnership working and praised the work being carried out by 3rd sector
organisations which provided invaluable support and advice to the community.
In response to queries raised, the Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio
Holder indicated that Members’ Locality Budgets were to continue. With regards to
funding for Locally Important Projects (LIPs), the Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151
Officer) explained that there was still LIPs reserve and some money within the Capital
Programme. Discussion had not yet taken place on how that LIPs money would be
spent. Concern was raised with regard to the report’s Health and Sustainability Impact

Page 11

68
07.12.2021

Cabinet Executive Decisions

Assessment Form and the section on Biodiversity to which the response was “not
applicable”. It was pointed out that some projects may be destroying wildlife habitat as
a result of people not taking into consideration all aspects and the need to ensure that
this was addressed was stressed. The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio
Holder took note, acknowledging this issue and the importance of joined up thinking
and bearing in mind biodiversity. In response to a final query relating to ensuring that
the Locality Budget for the Kendal Rural Ward was used, the Leader and Promoting
South Lakeland Portfolio Holder undertook to ensure that this was referred to the
Member Support Steering Group.
Decision
RESOLVED – That
(1)
approval be given for a funding period of two years (incorporating an
annual review) from April 2022 to March 2024 totalling £99,250 per annum of the
Community Grants funding to:•
•
•
•
•
•

£80,000 per annum - Citizen’s Advice;
£5,000 per annum - CVS (Cumbria Council for Voluntary Service);
£5,000 per annum - ACT (Action with Communities in Cumbria);
£3,500 per annum - CALC (Cumbria Association of Local Councils);
£2,500 per annum – South Lakeland Hydrotherapy; and
£3,250 per annum - Contingency to support a 3rd sector host organisation
to develop a Poverty Truth Commission in South Lakeland;

(2)
the Lead Specialist Legal, Governance, Democracy and the Lead
Specialist Strategy be authorised, in consultation with the Health, Wellbeing and
Poverty Alleviation Portfolio Holder, to finalise the terms of the funding
agreements; and
(3)
officers be authorised to explore opportunities for co-locating with
Citizen’s Advice in South Lakeland House.
Reasons for Decision
To assist in the delivery of the Council Plan Priority of Delivering a Fairer South
Lakeland: Protecting the vulnerable and helping people out of poverty; Commissioning
services through the third sector; Review third sector commissioning and the delivery of
financial advice and support to vulnerable people.
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected
No change to the current grant settlement. This is not recommended as this
recommended option is the most direct way to support Council priorities of Delivering a
Fairer South Lakeland and securing the short term future and effectiveness of the
proposed recipients.
Terminate all funding arrangements. This is not recommended as the organisations
funded play an essential role for South Lakeland residents and communities through
providing advice, professional support, experience and technical knowledge, good local
governance and rehabilitation irrespective of financial means. The organisations also
play an important role in supporting Council clients in their particular areas of expertise.

Page 12

69
07.12.2021

CEX/82

Cabinet Executive Decisions

AFFORDABLE HOUSING DELIVERY OPTIONS
Summary
In the absence of the Housing Portfolio Holder, the Leader and Promoting South
Lakeland Portfolio Holder presented the report.
The South Lakeland District Council Housing Strategy 2016 to 2025 contained an
action to consider alternative methods of delivery of affordable housing to meet the
Council’s affordable housing targets for affordable rent and affordable sale homes.
Action A3 of the Strategy Action Plan was “to consider options to establish a
mechanism to help with land identification, acquisition and assembly; coupled with onlending for new affordable housing delivery”. Attention was drawn to a decision made
by Cabinet 28 November 2018 to approve the commencement of an affordable housing
loan facility for the sum of up to £6m previously agreed by Cabinet in December 2017.
This had been to allow South Lakes Housing and other Registered Providers to draw
down monies supporting the development of new affordable homes. Subsequent to
this and despite extensive work being carried out to agree terms, there had been a
number of issues that rendered the proposed loans scheme unworkable.
An alternative approach was now required to ensure funds in the Right to Buy
Replacement Fund were applied to the delivery of affordable housing. While there
were strict guidelines in respect of councils using Right to Buy receipts on replacement
stock or pooling the receipts to Government, these guidelines did not apply to
preserved Right to Buy receipts following transfer of properties to a Registered
Provider.
Cabinet had given in principle approval subject to Council approval at the meeting on
10 November 2021 to use the Right to Buy replacement receipts for the provision of
grants to Registered Providers and land acquisition subject to further investigations.
Further investigations had been undertaken following the receipt of legal advice to
ensure that proposals met the new criteria that had been introduced in July 2021.
Further clarification had, therefore, been sought from the Department of Levelling Up,
Housing and Communities (DLUHC) to determine the potential uses of these funds.
This followed major changes to the Right to Buy pooling system that had taken effect
from 1 April 2021 and further investigation was needed to determine whether the new
requirements applied to receipts received prior to 1 April 2021 or to receipts from
preserved Right to Buy. Cabinet had agreed for a further report to be presented to the
December Cabinet outlining the outcomes of these further investigations and impact on
the following proposals for use of this funding.
The report provided details on the outcome of investigation into use of Right to Buy
replacement receipts. The report further provided details on Affordable Housing Grants
to Registered Providers and on Purchase of Land.
In response to a query, the Principal Specialist People explained the criteria regarding
Local Occupancy. She undertook to contact Councillor Roger Bingham with regard to
a specific ward matter following the meeting. In relation to acquisition of land by South
Lakeland District Council and the move to a unitary authority with the potential for that
authority to sell off that land, for example, for commercial use, the Leader and
Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder explained that this could be an issue. This
depended, though, on how far along the legal process the District Council was. He
explained that the intention was, therefore, to move forward as quickly as possible to
get past the point whereby the Unitary Council could take a retrograde step.

Page 13

70
07.12.2021

Cabinet Executive Decisions

In response to a further query, he explained that he had also seen proposals for the
national register of landlords and that he had been in touch with Principal Specialist
People to establish the Council’s likely involvement. There had, as yet, been no
clarification on the matter, however, it was hoped that information would be available
before too long.
Decision
RESOLVED – That
(1)
subject to Council approval, the change of policy from the provision of
loans to the provision of affordable housing grants for Registered Providers, for
a Right to Buy Replacement scheme (as set out in Appendix 1) be approved;
(2)
subject to Council approval, the change of use from the provision of loans
to include the acquisition of land for the delivery of affordable housing (as set
out in Appendix 1) be approved;
(3)
authority be delegated to the Director (Customer and Commercial
Services) in consultation with the S.151 Officer and Portfolio Holder for Housing,
to approve grant applications made by Registered Providers;
(4)
the Director (Customer and Commercial Services) be authorised, in
conjunction with the Monitoring Officer, to review the grant terms and conditions
and make any considered amendments to them and to enter into any arising
grant agreements with Registered Providers;
(5)
subject to Council approving the budget, authority be delegated to the
Director (Customer and Commercial Services), in consultation with, the Portfolio
Holder for Housing and Portfolio Holder for Finance and Assets, S.151 Officer
and Monitoring Officer, to purchase land as detailed in 3.5.7 of the report;
(6)
Council be requested to approve the amendment to the Capital
Programme to change the use from loans to affordable housing grants for
Registered Providers and acquisition of land; and
(7)
Council be requested to approve a proposed amendment to the Council’s
Constitution for grant approvals using the delegations proposed and outlined in
Resolutions (3) and (5) above.
Reasons for Decision
The decision will assist in the delivery of the Council Plan through the delivery of more
affordable homes through the use of the Right to Buy replacement scheme monies.
Working across boundaries – delivery of affordable homes will seek to contribute
towards the Council’s Housing and communities target to deliver 320 homes every year
across the District.
Delivering a balanced community – the decision will assist in meeting Housing and
communities targets to deliver 477 affordable homes for rent and 588 affordable homes
to buy between 2020 to 2025.
Addressing the climate emergency – potential for energy efficient new affordable
homes.

Page 14

71
07.12.2021

Cabinet Executive Decisions

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected
Members could decide to not pursue any proposals for use of the Right to Buy
Replacement Fund at this time, however, this is not recommended as the opportunity
to use these funds to meet the needs in South Lakeland could be lost.

CEX/83

CHANGES TO DELEGATED DECISION MAKING PROPERTY SERVICES AND
UPDATES TO THE COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION
Summary
In the absence of the Customer and Locality Services Portfolio Holder, the Finance and
Assets Portfolio Holder introduced the report, which outlined proposed changes to the
Council’s Constitution.
Whilst Council would be asked to consider clarifications required as a result of a review
of the Financial Procedure Rules, he explained that Cabinet was being asked to
consider Delegated Decision–making in relation to the delivery of Property Services
(Appendix 1 to the report) following the insourcing of this area of work earlier in the
year.
Members welcomed the proposal in uncertain times when a lot of decisions would need
to be made.
Decision
RESOLVED – That the delegation of Executive matters in relation to the delivery
of Property Services, as set out at Appendix 1 to the report, be approved.
Reasons for Decision
The Constitution underpins the Council’s decision making processes in achieving the
aims and objectives of the Councils priorities.
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected
Members could choose not to approve the changes as proposed, or to make
amendments to the proposals.
However, it is considered that the proposed
amendments are required as part of the good governance of the Council and to ensure
that appropriate controls are in place.

CEX/84

URGENT ITEM - CONTRACT AWARD FOR SCALING ON STREET CHARGING
INFRASTRUCTURE
Note – This matter was being included as an urgent item of business under
Section 100B (4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972, as the Leader was of the
opinion that it required consideration without delay. A decision was required
because the Council would be at risk of losing funding if the preparatory ground
works were not complete by the imposed funding deadline and to not cause
further delay to the wider SOSCI project. To delay a decision until the next
scheduled meeting of the Cabinet would mean that the Council would potentially
be unable to take action which would protect its interests due to strict time
constraints imposed upon it. Furthermore, the Leader and Promoting South

Page 15

72
07.12.2021

Cabinet Executive Decisions

Lakeland Portfolio Holder further indicated that, in accordance with paragraph
16(j) of the Council’s Constitution, Part 4, Overview and Scrutiny Procedure
Rules, the Chairman of the Council had been consulted and had agreed for the
decision to be treated as a matter of urgency and that the call-in process should
be waived.
Summary
Attention was drawn to Minute No.CEX/43 of the meeting of the Cabinet held on
1 September 2021 regarding approval for the award of the contract for the preparatory
groundworks to enable EV charging points to be sited on Council land at a number of
car parks following a tender exercise. The Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial
Services explained that the original contractor had, since then, withdrawn from the
award, having stated that their cost would need to increase by 25% and that they would
no longer be in a position to complete the works by the proposed deadlines, which
would impact on the delivery of the wider SOSCI project and subsequent works. The
Council was unable to accept a revised tender sum and the tender evaluation of the
original contact was, therefore, invalid.
By following the Council’s procurement exercise, the tender had been re-run and it was
now proposed to award the contract to the new lowest bidder, an alternative contractor
from the original exercise. For the purpose of transparency, Cabinet was now being
requested to consider the award of the contract to the lowest bidder as detailed in the
Part II Appendix.
The report clarified that the decision was urgent and could not reasonably be deferred,
as the ground works need to be completed by 31 January 2022 due to funding
deadlines.
Note – A Part II tender analysis report was included as Appendix 1 to the report which
was excluded from inspection by members of the public in accordance with Section
100 (B) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government
(Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, and, in all the circumstances of the
case, it was considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption
outweighed the public interest in disclosing it. Copies of the document were excluded,
as it contained information as described in Schedule 12A of the Act as follows:- Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person
(including the authority holding that information). (Paragraph 3)
Members were reminded that the wider project was being 100% funded by Innovate
UK and, therefore, that budget provision was already in place for the groundworks
contract. No additional budget was required as a result of the current contract award
that related to this decision. The funding would be recovered subject to the terms and
conditions of the collaboration agreement and the grant offer terms and conditions.
Concern was raised with regard to the potential at the proposed new contractor’s ability
to complete the work within the cost schedule. The Operational Lead Delivery and
Commercial Services informed Members that this was always a risk, however, pointed
out that the contractor had to hold the price for a period of three months. This
explained the need for urgency in entering into the contract so that the contractor would
have to deliver at that price. He further pointed out the recent increase in work, with a
lot of contracts out to tender, and contractors not submitting tenders due to increases in
costs, again reiterating the need for a speedy decision so as to minimise any potential
risk. The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder added that there was

Page 16

73
07.12.2021

Cabinet Executive Decisions

no guarantee as regards completion of work within the cost schedule. The Operational
Lead Delivery and Commercial Services informed Members that the contract was due
to be signed following the meeting and undertook to provide them, for information, with
a programme of works. In response to a further query, the Operational Lead Delivery
and Commercial Services confirmed that parking fees were still in place for those using
the charging points, although pointed out that a parking space was likely to be lost. He
stressed though, that as detailed within the previous report to Cabinet, this was the
right thing to do.
Decision
RESOLVED – That
(1)
the subsequent contract award for the groundworks contract following
competitive retender as noted in Part II Appendix 1 to this report be approved;
and
(2)
the Director of Customer and Commercial Services be delegated
authority, in conjunction with the Lead Specialist for Legal, Governance and
Democracy (Monitoring Officer), to enter into any final contract.
Reasons for Decision
The decision will allow for the preparatory groundworks to be completed prior to the
installation of EV charging points across a number of Council car parks, which is a
100% funded project by Innovate UK.
The decision will assist in the delivery of the Council Plan - Climate Emergency:- develop plans and support projects with our partners and local communities to
progressively address the causes and the impacts of climate change, according
to our local priorities, securing maximum benefit for our communities;
- encourage all sectors in our local community to take the opportunity to adapt
to the impacts of climate change, to reduce their own greenhouse gas
emissions and to make public their commitment to action;
- tackling Climate change by exploring options associated with EV charging
points for households with no facility to charge their vehicles and by
encouraging behaviour change to promote the uptake of electric vehicles; and
- promoting the uptake of Electric vehicles to reduce pollution emissions from
combustion engines.
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected
The Council does not award the contract and complete the preparatory grounds in
order to participate further in the project. This may result in a missed opportunity to
both research the demand and installation of charge points locally, and also to actually
install some EV charge points at a smaller number of locations within the District. The
Council has also declared a Climate Emergency and this scheme will contribute
towards the targets set out by the Council.

The meeting ended at 11.10 a.m.

Page 17

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18

Item No.3
13
16.12.2021

Delegated Executive Decisions
EXECUTIVE DECISION NOTICE

DELEGATED EXECUTIVE DECISIONS
A record of delegated decisions made by individual Portfolio holders or officers on
Thursday, 16 December 2021.
The reports (unless exempt under Section 100(B)(2) of the Local Government Act
1972, on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as
defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12 A of the Act as amended by the Local Government
(Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006 by virtue of the Paragraphs indicated
and, in all the circumstances of the case, it is considered that the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing it) are available
for inspection from the Solicitor to the Council, South Lakeland House, Kendal.

DEX/9

FOXFIELD BUSINESS PARK, EASEMENT FOR RIGHT OF WAY
- Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any
particular person (including the authority holding that information)
Summary
Consideration was given to the granting of a permanent easement permitting the use of
the Foxfield Business Park service road.
Decision
RESOLVED – That
(1) the grant of a permanent easement, and right to connect into adopted
services, to Duddon and Furness Mountain Rescue Team (DFMRT) on the
provisional terms attached at Appendix 2 be approved; and
(2) delegation be given to the Operational Lead for Delivery and Commercial
Services in conjunction with the Lead Specialist for Legal, Governance
and Democracy (Monitoring Officer), for the drafting, negotiation and
completion of the deed of grant of a permanent easement and any
additional documentation required.
Reasons for Decision
The proposal contributes to the Council’s priority of delivering a balanced community
and economic development and culture. Approval of the proposal enables a local
organisation to provide improved facilities for its volunteer members and resilience to
the service they provide.
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected
To refuse the request with the result that DFMRT’s new facility cannot be built in this
location.
To agree a personal licence but on concessionary terms. DFMRT wants greater
security and freedom than this would provide and they have rejected this option.

Page 19

14
16.12.2021

Delegated Executive Decisions

To grant a permanent easement but on concessionary terms with the consequence
that the Council will need to find the funds to pay the clawback sum from its own
resources. Such a course of action would also require Cabinet approval.

Page 20

15
23.12.2021

Delegated Executive Decisions
EXECUTIVE DECISION NOTICE

DELEGATED EXECUTIVE DECISIONS
A record of delegated decisions made by individual Portfolio holders or officers on
Thursday, 23 December 2021.
The reports (unless exempt under Section 100(B)(2) of the Local Government Act
1972, on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as
defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12 A of the Act as amended by the Local Government
(Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006 by virtue of the Paragraphs indicated
and, in all the circumstances of the case, it is considered that the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing it) are available
for inspection from the Solicitor to the Council, South Lakeland House, Kendal.

DEX/10

STRATEGIC CULTURAL PARTNERSHIP GRANTS RECOMMENDATIONS
Note - In accordance with paragraph 16(j) of the Council’s Constitution, Part 4,
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules, the Chairman of the Council had agreed
for the decision to be treated as a matter of urgency and that the call-in process
should be waived. The reason for urgency was that there was an urgent need to
make the funding awards.
Summary
Attention was drawn to a typographical error within the report at paragraph 3.4. The
agreement value for Grizedale Arts was £47,500 and not £50,000 as stated.
Consideration was given to the continuation of grant funding support for targeted
Strategic Cultural Partnership (SCP) Organisations.
The SCP funding and amount for 2021/22 proposed was for Kendal Brewery Arts
Centre £65,500, Lakeland Arts £25,000, Wordsworth Trust £17,500, Grizedale Arts
£12,500, Kendal Mountain Festival £10,000, Lakes Arts Festivals £10,000, Ruskin
Museum £5,000, Old Laundry Theatre £5,000, Lake District Summer Music £12,050*,
Ulverston Community Enterprises £9,500*, Highlights Rural Touring* £5,100, Kendal
Torchlight £3,000. The funding agreement duration was for one year from April 2021 to
March 2022 except for Lakeland Arts and Bowness Theatre Festival (The Old Laundry)
where the commencement date was 1 April 2020 and the end date was March 2022.
For 2020/21, the funding sum to Lakeland Arts was £25,000 and the Bowness Theatre
Festival (The Old Laundry) was £2,000. The three organisations identified with an
asterisk were designated ‘hub’ organisations and the funding amounts to those
designated organisations included some council funding to smaller cultural
organisations and events.
For Grizedale Arts for 2021/22 only a one off additional revenue payment of £35,000
had been agreed by the Portfolio Holder for Economy Culture and Leisure and the
Operational Lead for Places and Environment that would see the start of transformation
of the Farmers Arms at Lowick into a new model cultural institution reinventing a much
loved local facility and developing its multifunctional role as a creative and industrious
rural community hub, delivering economic and cultural reinvention in the Crake Valley.
This sum would be included in the SCP funding agreement making the agreement
value £47,500 for 2021/22.

Page 21

16
23.12.2021

Delegated Executive Decisions

Decision
(1)
The levels of funding for SCP Organisations in the sums and for the grant
periods set out in paragraph 3.3 and 3.4 of the report and outlined above be
approved.
(2)
The Director of Customer and Commercial Services, in consultation with
the Legal Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist and Finance Lead
Specialist, to finalise the terms of, and put in place, the necessary legal
agreements with each SCP Organisation.
Reasons for Decision
To assist the delivery of the Council Plan through enabling working across boundaries
in the delivery of sustainable regional growth across Morecambe Bay, promoting
unique value propositions such as culture, creative and marine industries.
The funding enables the delivery of a nationally recognised cultural programme, arts,
events, festivals and projects.
Alternative Options considered and rejected
To end funding support for SCP Organisations or make alternative allocations – not
recommended because the Council has reviewed SCP investment and adopted a
strategic approach to investment in culture in the district that supports the social,
economic, cultural and sustainability priorities of the council.

Page 22

17
27.01.2022

Delegated Executive Decisions
EXECUTIVE DECISION NOTICE

DELEGATED EXECUTIVE DECISIONS
A record of delegated decisions made by individual Portfolio holders or officers on
Thursday, 27 January 2022.
The reports (unless exempt under Section 100(B)(2) of the Local Government Act
1972, on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as
defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12 A of the Act as amended by the Local Government
(Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006 by virtue of the Paragraphs indicated
and, in all the circumstances of the case, it is considered that the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing it) are available
for inspection from the Solicitor to the Council, South Lakeland House, Kendal.

DEX/11

PROCUREMENT OF HUMAN RESOURCES AND PAYROLL SYSTEM
Summary
Consideration was given for the approval of a three year contract for a human
resources and payroll system to enable the Council to manage human resources and
the payment of salaries and allowances. Consideration was given for the approval of a
three-year contract for a Human Resources (HR) and Payroll system to enable the
Council to manage human resources and the payment of salaries and allowances. As a
result of the Local Government Reorganisation in Cumbria, the Council had not
required a long-term solution for a Human Resources and Payroll system, therefore the
proposed length of contract was three years, would enable the system to be in place
during the transition to the new authority and to be in operation beyond March 2023, if
required.
The process of procuring a HR and Payroll system was considered unachievable within
the timescales with a direct award being awarded to the existing supplier, being
considered the most appropriate option. As a result, the Director of Strategy, Innovation
and Resources had agreed to an exemption from the Council’s Contract Procedure
Rules as there was a justifiable case to use the existing supplier to maintain continuity
of supply.

Note – Details of proposed supplier and costs had been included at Appendix 1
to the report in Part ll of the Agenda which was excluded from inspection by
members of the public in accordance with Section 100 (B) of the Local
Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to
Information) (Variation) Order 2006, and, in all the circumstances of the case, it
was considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed
the public interest in disclosing it. (A Part II Appendix 1a to the report had been
circulated prior to the meeting and contained information which had been
omitted from Appendix 1 in error.) Copies of the document were excluded, as it
contained information as described in Schedule 12A of the Act as follows:- Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person
(including the authority holding that information). (Paragraph 3)

Page 23

18
27.01.2022

Delegated Executive Decisions

Decision
Resolved – That
(1)
the contract for a Human Resources and Payroll system be awarded to
the supplier identified in the Part II Appendix 1 report; and
(2)
the Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources in consultation with
Lead Specialist Legal Governance and Democracy enter into a contract on behalf
of the Council with the supplier.
Reasons for Decision
The proposal provides an effective HR and payroll system, which will underpin the
management of human resources and the payment of salaries and is critical to the dayto-day operations.
The funding enables the Council to meet their priorities of working across boundaries,
delivering a balanced community, a fairer South Lakeland and addressing the climate
emergency.
Alternative Options considered and rejected
A full-scale procurement was originally planned, but this was prior to the
announcement of Local Government Reorganisation in Cumbria. This was rejected, as
it would not be an effective use of time and resources to procure and potentially
implement a new system that would be required by the Council for just over 12 Months.

Page 24

Public Document Pack

Item No.4a

EMERGENCY DELEGATED EXECUTIVE DECISION
In accordance with the Leaders decision and noted by Cabinet on 25/03/2020 to delegate to the Chief
Executive any executive decision in this COVID 19 Global pandemic emergency or that is urgent or that
would be necessary or expedient, or which would otherwise protect the Council’s interests, including key
decisions.

South Lakeland District Council
Emergency Delegated Executive Decision
Business Support Grants (Omicron response,
January 2022)
Date: 19/01/2022

Reference: 018

Reason for emergency
The Chief Executive received emergency delegated executive decision making powers on the
25th March 2020. It is considered that this decision is necessary or arises from the global COVID19 pandemic.
The matter is urgent, necessary and expedient and is needed to protect the Council’s and that of
its community’s interests.
The decision is required to be taken due to the Government’s recent announcement (21
December 2021) and Grant Offer Letters (dated 07 January 2022) for a new package of financial
support grants for businesses arising from the global COVID-19 pandemic (Omicron Hospitality
and Leisure Scheme and Additional Restrictions Grants) that will be administered by local
authorities for the period 30 December 2021 to 31 March 2022. Funding will be provided by the
Government for the new support grants for businesses due to the rapid increase of the Omicron
variant, and will apply from the 30th December 2021 onwards. The Government Guidance
confirms that it is expected that local authorities will provide local businesses with grant funding
‘as soon as possible from 30 December 2021.’ The Omicron Hospitality and Leisure Scheme will
close for applications on 28 February 2022 and all final payments must be made and dispersed to
recipients by 31 March 2022. It is therefore necessary for grants to be processed urgently.
It is expected that the payment of grants will ease financial pressures for eligible businesses.
The announcement of new business grants and the time line expected by Government in the
delivery of these grants do not allow the Council to delay a decision until the next scheduled
Cabinet meeting. It is therefore considered necessary in these circumstances that an emergency
executive decision is needed.
This is a Key Decision: Yes

Portfolio:
Decision Maker:
Report Author:

Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder
Chief Executive
Gareth Candlin – Operational Lead for Place and Environment (Deputy
Chief Officer)
Ruth Leahy – Specialist (Economy and Culture)

Wards:

All

Forward Plan:

Exemption from publication requirements / Forward Plan (key decision)
requirements and call in obtained

1.0

Reasons for Proposed Decision and Expected Outcome

1.1

The recent increase in infection numbers in the UK, particularly linked to the more
transmissible Omicron variant has resulted in additional business grants to support

Page 25

struggling businesses. We require a decision regarding the administration of the grants.
1.2

South Lakeland District Council is expected to receive £9,960,993.00 for the Omicron
Hospitality and Leisure Grant (based on a one-off payment to eligible businesses). All
funding is provided by Central Government to distribute directly to eligible businesses
under this scheme.

1.3

A third top up to the existing Additional Restrictions Grant of £268,566.64 will be made.
Guidance, decisions and delegated authority remain in place for this grant scheme (see
Emergency Delegated Executive Decision, 20 November 2020). Reference to this income
is therefore subject to the corresponding non-executive decision.

1.4

The above grants follow the Government-funded COVID-19 related business support
grants over the past 22 months:
 Small Business Grant Fund (SBGF);


Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund (RHLGF);



Local Authority Discretionary Grant Fund (LADGF);



Local Restrictions Support Grant (Closed) Addendum (LRSG(C)Addendum);



Additional Restrictions Grant (ARG) (three rounds to date, November 2020,
January 2021 and June 2021);



Local Restrictions Support Grant (Open);



Local Restrictions Support Grant (Closed);



Christmas Support Payment;



Local Restrictions Support Grant (Closed) Addendum Tier 4;



Local Restrictions Support Grant (Closed) Addendum 5 Jan-15 Feb and 16 Feb31 Mar;



Closed Business Lockdown Payment (National Lockdown)



Restart Grants (to coincide with the easing of restrictions in Spring 2021).

1.5

To date, SLDC has been tasked with administering over £148m worth of COVID-19
business support grants to the South Lakeland business community.

1.6

This decision will contribute significantly in assisting businesses during the ongoing COVID19 pandemic, helping with job retention and business viability in difficult circumstances and
reducing risk of economic collapse by giving additional resources to businesses within the
district.

2.0

Proposed Decision

2.1

It is recommended that the Chief Executive:(1)

Approve the Government Omicron Hospitality and Leisure Grant; and

(2)

That a non-executive emergency decision is taken to confirm appropriate
budgets be established outside the approved budget and policy framework to
receive the Omicron Hospitality and Leisure Grant funding and distribute
funds as per Government guidance; and

(3)

Agree to delegate the identification, determination and payment of the
Omicron Hospitality and Leisure Grants in accordance with the schemes (see
Government guidance) to qualifying businesses to the Operational Lead for
Place and Environment (Deputy Chief Officer); and

Page 26

(4)

Note and approve the top-up to the Additional Restrictions Grants and agree
that a non-executive emergency decision is taken to confirm appropriate
budgets be established outside the approved budget and policy framework to
receive the Additional Restrictions Grant funding top-up and distribute the
funds as per Government Guidance;

(5)

Agree to delegate the identification determination and payment of the
Additional Restrictions Grants in accordance with Government guidance to
qualifying businesses to the Operational Lead for Place and Environment
(Deputy Chief Officer); and

(6)

Delegates to the Operational Lead for Place and Environment (Deputy Chief
Officer), in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance and Resources,
authority to make any administrative amends to the aforementioned Omicron
and Additional Restrictions schemes to reflect future changes in Government
guidance or change in local need.

Review Date:

30 September 2022

3.0

Background and Proposals

3.1

On 21 December 2021, Government announced the introduction of grant support for
hospitality and leisure businesses in England. See announcement here: £1 billion in
support for businesses most impacted by Omicron across the UK - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

3.2

Recognising that the rise of the Omicron variant means some businesses are likely to
struggle over the coming weeks, the government is providing one-off grants of up to £6,000
per premises for businesses in the hospitality and leisure sectors in England under the
Omicron Hospitality and Leisure Grant Scheme.

3.3

At what is often their most profitable time of year, many pubs and restaurants have seen
cancellations and reduced footfall as people responded to the rise in cases ahead of
Christmas, with Hospitality UK reporting that many businesses lost 40-60% of their
December trade, often their most profitable month.

3.4

Around 200,000 businesses will be eligible for business grants across England which will
be administered by local authorities; the eligibility criteria are set out in the Government
Guidance for the Omicron Hospitality and Leisure grant scheme. Given the uncertain
situation faced by businesses, the government has chosen to provide grants which are
equivalent to the monthly cash grants provided to hospitality businesses when they were
fully closed in 2021, without the requirement to close the business.

Page 27

3.5

The Government has also issued a third “top-up” grant funding payment to the Additional
Restrictions Grants. The Government first announced the introduction of ARG funding in
31 October 2020, for Local Authorities under national and Tier 3 restrictions. The
Government has since announced a number of ‘top-ups’ to the ARG (05 January 2021, 03
March 2021). On 21 December, the Government announced a further £102 million would
be made available through local authorities through a further ‘top-up’ to the ARG, which
aims to support businesses severely impacted by the rise of the Omicron variant when
most needed. This funding is allocated to Local Authorities based on a per-business
calculation. It is intended that the identification of eligible recipients, determination and
payment of grants will largely be in accordance with the Scheme previously agreed by
Emergency Delegated Executive Decision in 20 November 2020, any revisions to the
eligibility criteria will be done so in line with the relevant approvals and based on local
economic need.

4.0

Consultation

4.1

A common and consistent approach has been agreed by all District Councils in Cumbria.

4.2

A working group of internal officers including specialists and case managers have agreed
the process for collecting information and administering payment of grants.

4.3

The Portfolio Holder for Finance and Resources, the Leader of the Council and Cabinet
have been consulted on the detail of this decision and appended guidance.

5.0

Alternative Options

5.1

SLDC do not accept this funding: this would not comply with the request from Government
and would not give critical support to businesses operating within South Lakeland, and
therefore this is not a recommended option.

5.2

SLDC administer grants to an amount beyond the allocations set out by Government: this is
not affordable for the Council, and therefore is not the recommended option. Direct
communication with Government will take place should we come near to the grant
allocation limit across any of the schemes, so as to avoid any overspending and to ensure
that we will be fully reimbursed where grant payments may exceed grant allocations.

6.0

Links to Council Priorities

6.1

Supporting our Economy: To aid job retention and business viability in difficult
circumstances; reducing risk of economic collapse and enhancing the culture of the district
by giving additional resources to businesses, including eligible cultural organisations, with
properties within the district.

7.0

Implications

7.1

Financial, Resources and Procurement

7.1.1

The Government will make additional funding available to local authorities to address the
additional costs incurred by the Council in administering the scheme. The Council will keep
record of all expenditure and purchases made on behalf of administering these business
support grants.

7.1.2

The Government requires that Local Authorities undertake pre-payment checks for all grant
payments. This represents a stricter position from the Government than for previous
COVID-19 business support grant schemes, and in line with the approach for the most
recent grant scheme (Restart and ARG3). The Guidance specifies that checks are required
to be undertaken by the Local Authority before any payments are issued to businesses; this
is not limited to new applicants. Checks should address both the company and the
company’s bank account. Further requirements relating to pre and post payment assurance
plans are set out in the Government Guidance (links to which are in the background
documents for this report).

Page 28

7.1.3

The Government are funding the entirety of these grant schemes.

7.1.4

The Council’s Section 151 Officer has been consulted directly on the proposed mechanism
for distributing the grant funding.

7.1.5

A separate non-executive decision will be taken to address the changes to the Budget and
Policy Framework.

7.2

Human Resources

7.2.1

There is a need to redirect staff resources from across the Council to assist in processing
the grant claims. A considerable dedication of resources will be needed for the ongoing
administering of these grants, which may have an impact on the Council’s delivery of
services elsewhere (or ‘business as usual’ activity), for at least as long as the Council
remains in response mode to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.

7.2.2

While it falls to the local authority to deliver these grants to businesses on the request of
Government, officers are in weekly contact with neighbouring local authority’s business
grants teams to ensure a consistent approach is taken with administering these business
grants, and that good practices are shared amongst colleagues to better improve the
efficiency of the grant administration.

7.3

Legal

7.3.1

The Council has powers under the Localism Act 2011 to make these payments.

7.3.2

The Council has received Grant Offer Letters dated 07 January 2022 from the Department
for Business Energy and Industrial Strategy, which contain terms and conditions of both
funding schemes. These include for example:
a) Ensuring recipients meet the criteria set out in the Government Guidance;
b) Compliance with the data monitoring and reporting requirements set out in the
Government Guidance;
c) Recording and retention of records of individual payments of grants in accordance with
GDPR/ data protection legislation;
d) Compliance with published Assurance Guidance;
e) Ensuring recipients agree to comply with conditions applying to the Grant including
circumstances of clawback;
f)

Complying with transparency obligations / reporting requirements in respect of subsidy
control rules.

7.3.3

As a result of the UK’s exit from the EU (and following the end of the transition period), from
1 January 2021, the subsidy control regime is applicable to Government subsidised
business grants. (EU State Aid rules will continue to apply in a minority of cases under the
Withdrawal Agreement, specifically Article 10 of the Northern Ireland Protocol). The
Council must be satisfied that all subsidy allowance conditions have been fully complied
with when making grant payments. The Council will request appropriate confirmation from
recipients in respect of awards made (e.g. applicants will be required - via the Council’s
online application process - to make a declaration with regard to subsidy allowances) and
will retain appropriate evidence in support.

7.3.4

Government Guidance has clarified that there are three subsidy allowances for the COVID19 Business Grant Schemes:
a) Small Amounts of Financial Assistance Allowance;
b) The COVID-19 Business Grant Allowance; and,

Page 29

c) The COVID-19 Business Grant Special Allowance (for this allowance, applicants
must satisfy a number of further conditions and provide documentation to
demonstrate eligibility as set out in the Government Guidance. Local authorities
must verify that the applicant meets the criteria set out in this allowance before
providing funding under this allowance.)
To make use of allowances (b) or (c) listed above, an applicant must confirm that they were
not an ‘undertaking in difficulty’ (as defined in the Guidance) on 31 December 2019. In the
case of small/micro enterprises that were already in difficulty on 31 Dec 2019 there are
exceptions provided that the applicant is not subject to collective insolvency proceedings.
7.3.5

The Council will need to comply with the transparency and reporting obligations regarding
subsidy control, which are set out in the Trade Co-operation Agreement with the EU. All
schemes and individual awards over
£500,000 must be reported on the BEIS transparency database within six months of being
granted. Any ad hoc awards of at least 325,000 Special Drawing Rights over three years to
an individual beneficiary must also be uploaded within six months of being granted. The
information to be uploaded must include:
(a) the legal basis and policy objective or purpose of the subsidy;
(b) the name of the recipient of the subsidy when available;
(c) the date of the grant of the subsidy, the duration of the subsidy and any other
time limits attached to the subsidy; and
(d) the amount of subsidy.

7.3.6

BEIS have provided Local Authorities with a template declaration for businesses to
complete with regards to the above subsidy allowances prior to receiving the grants. This
will be a compulsory requirement under the Council’s new online application process.

7.3.7

The Council will also ensure that it has appropriate data protection arrangements in place
in line with the GDPR and Data Protection Act 2018.

7.4

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental

7.4.1

Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact Assessment?
No

7.4.2

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: This has
not been deemed as necessary in this instance. The impact of the scheme applies to
businesses which are eligible within the district and is vital to prevent many small
businesses becoming insolvent following Government guidance being issued regarding
limiting close contact and meeting in extended groups which has impacted the hospitality
sector significantly. .

7.4.3

Summary of health, social, economic and environmental impacts: N/A

7.5

Equality and Diversity

7.5.1

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No

7.5.2

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: This has
not been deemed as necessary in this instance, this applies to all those with businesses
which are entitled within the district.

7.5.3

Summary of equality and diversity impacts: N/A

7.6

Risk

Risk

Consequence

Controls required

Grants are not given in

Government will not

Grant applications will be verified to

Page 30

Risk

Consequence

Controls required

accordance with
Government guidance

reimburse the Council for
payments made outside
the Government
schemes

be compliant with Government
guidance and business eligibility
criteria

Grants are given to
fraudulent claimants

Grants are given to
businesses or individuals
that are not eligible

Grants are not issued
promptly

Businesses will not
receive financial
assistance as set out by
Government
Reputational impact to
the Council and delays to
the processing of
payments

Series of verification checks within
grant process including supporting
evidence and using Government
tools to avoid fraudulent claims, in
conjunction with access to our
business rates database to cross
check ratepayer information. Fraud
Risk Assessment will be completed
for all grant schemes
Online portal developed for efficient
application of grants, staff trained
and in place to verify and approve
applications
Learning from previous scheme will
significantly reduce risk. Robust
process in place to expedite payment
of grants whilst being compliant with
Government guidance and internal
verification process

Online application and
verification processes
to manage a multimillion pound scheme
in order to get grants
paid to businesses with
minimal delay
The processing of
grants requires some
redirection of staff
resources from other
activity
8.0

Other work may be
paused or take longer to
enable focus on
processing business
grants

Continuous management of
competing demands on staff time.
Leadership team to be updated on
resource needed and grant
application progress, delays etc.

Contact Officers

Gareth Candlin (Operational Lead - Place and Environment (Deputy Chief Officer))
gareth.candlin@southlakeland.gov.uk

9.0

Appendices Attached to this Report

Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

n/a

10.0

Background Documents Available

Name of Background document

Where it is available

Omicron Hospitality and Leisure
Grant guidance, December 2021

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/u
ploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1044354/
omicron-hospitality-and-leisure-grant-guidance.pdf

Updated Additional Restrictions
Grant guidance, December 2021

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/u
ploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1044351/
additional-restrictions-grant-la-guidance.pdf

11.0 Approval Dates

Page 31

Approved by:
Chief Executive
Or such person as delegated by
the Chief Executive in writing
In consultation with:
The Leader of the Council
And Relevant Portfolio Holder
CMT Directors
The following interests were
declared – disclosable pecuniary
interest or other or none

Signature and Date (or email confirmation)
19/01/22
N/A

19/01/22
19/01/22
19/01/2022
N/A

Due to COVID 19 and Government announcements, it has not been possible
for this Key decision to be included in a Forward Plan at least 28 clear days
before the decision was to be made. It is not possible to comply with the
General Exemption procedure.

24/01/22

In accordance with Part 4 of the Constitution - Rules of Procedure – Access to
Information Rules – Paragraph 16, the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee (Cllr Hughes) has agreed that the taking of the decision is urgent
and could not reasonably be deferred because for the reasons outlined in this
report and the timescales required to protect the public/business interest and
to comply with Government advice.
This being “special urgency”
In accordance with Part 4 of the Constitution – Rules of Procedure – Overview
and Scrutiny Procedure Rules - paragraph 16(j), the Chairman of the Council
(Cllr McSweeney) agrees that this decision is reasonable in all the
circumstances and that it is treated as urgent for the reasons outlined above
and, therefore, the decision is exempt from call-in.

Page 32

19/01/22

Item No.10
South Lakeland District Council
Cabinet - Wednesday, 9 February 2022
Council- Tuesday, 22 February 2022

Establishment of a Westmorland and Furness Joint
Committee
Portfolio:

Leader of the Council

Report from:

Monitoring Officer

Report Author:

Linda Fisher – Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist
(Monitoring Officer)

Wards:

(All Wards);

Forward Plan:

Key Decision included in the Forward Plan as published on 3 August
2021 (Local Government Reorganisation)

Links to Council Plan Priorities: The Structural Changes will impact upon the Council and
all its priorities. Working across boundaries /Delivering a balanced community/A fairer South
Lakeland / Addressing the climate emergency

1.0

Expected Outcome and Measures of Success

1.1

The purpose of this report is to recommend that as one of the Councils making up the
Westmorland and Furness Council that a Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee is
established.

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:-

2.2

(1)

Agree to the establishment of the Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee as
detailed in the report and to the terms of reference attached at Appendix 1; and

(2)

Delegates the Executive functions within the Terms of Reference to the
Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee.

It is recommended that Cabinet recommend to Council that it :(1)

Agree to the establishment of the Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee as
detailed in the report and to the terms of reference attached at Appendix 1;

(2)

Delegates the Non-Executive Functions within the Terms of Reference to the
Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee;

(3)

Delegates to the Monitoring Officer , in consultation with the Leader and
Chairman the making of any minor changes to the terms of reference following
consideration by other councils making up the Joint Committee;

(4)

Authorises the Monitoring Officer to make the necessary amendments to the
Council’s Constitution and to update the Council’s scheme of delegation in Part
3 of the Constitution;

(5)

Receives nominations and makes appointments to the positions on the
Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee in accordance with the political
representation / balance calculation;

Page 33

(6)

Agrees that South Lakeland District Council act as the host authority; and

(7)

Agrees that this Joint Committee is the Westmorland and Furness Joint
Committee for the purposes of the Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022.

3.0

Background and Proposals

3.1

The Secretary of State (SoS) has made a decision to implement the proposal for two unitary
councils on an East-West geography, and, subject to Parliamentary approval, this proposal is
to be implemented.

3.2

The SoS is seeking Parliamentary approval for the necessary secondary legislation to
implement the Cumberland and Westmorland and Furness two Unitary Council proposal.

3.3

All Councils received details of the draft Cumbria Structural Changes Order 2022 and on the
24th January 2022 the Structural Changes Order was laid before Parliament. This includes
specific provisions relating to the Cumberland and Westmorland and Furness Joint
Committees.

3.4

We are required within 14 days of the coming into force of the Order to establish a
Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee. It is intended that this Joint Committee is the
Joint Committee for the purposes of the Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022 and in
accordance with the Order will be dissolved on the day following that on which the shadow
authority for Westmorland and Furness council holds its first meeting.

3.5

The Monitoring Officers recommend that there is one Host Authority and if there are to be
different Council venues for the respective meetings that the Host Authority organises the
meetings. South Lakeland District Council has agreed to host the Joint Committee meetings.

3.6

Terms of Reference and Membership

3.6.1

Suggested terms of reference are attached at Appendix 1 based on the content of the
structural changes order laid before Parliament on the 24th January 2022. A delegation for
any further changes is recommended.

3.7

Membership of the Joint Committee

3.7.1

The order requires the establishment of 2 Joint Committees and the membership will
comprise of 3 persons nominated by the County Council for each of the Joint Committees and
nine persons nominated by the relevant District Councils (with each nominating three
persons).

3.7.2

Since the proposed arrangements include the discharge of non- executive and executive
functions it is necessary to consider the application of political balance.

3.7.3

For District Councils operating Executive arrangements the appointments are the
responsibility of the Council with the agreement of the Executive. At least one of the members
appointed to the Joint Committee must be a member of the Executive. For Westmorland and
Furness Council the political balance of appointments by the South Lakeland District Council
will be 2 Liberal Democrats ( one must be an Executive Councillor) and 1 Conservative.

3.7.4

For the County Council political balance requirements do not apply to the appointment of
those representatives and the representatives must be members elected for the electoral
divisions or wards which are within the relevant areas. This means for the County Council
they will appoint members from within the relevant wards for the areas covered by the Joint
Committees and political balance rules would not apply.

Page 34

4.0 Appendices Attached to this Report
Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee Terms of Reference

5.0

Consultation

5.1

Consultation has taken place with the LGR Chief Executives Programme Board, the LGR
Leaders meeting and the report has been prepared by the Cumbria Monitoring Officers Group.

6.0

Alternative Options

6.1

Members could decide not to proceed with a Joint Committee until the Order is made. However,
speed is of the essence and it is considered that this will be more transparent and provide clarity
on decision making and ensure that the Council is ready for Local Government Reorganisation.
The Council is required to comply with the Structural Changes Order, not proceeding with the
establishment of the Joint Committee would place the Council in breach of the provisions of the
Order.

7.0

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1

There will be resources required to support the meetings. The Host Authority will need to be
resourced appropriately. Appointed members attendance at formal meetings will be an
approved duty and as such some additional travel expenses may be incurred. Expenses of a
Joint Committee are defrayed by authorities in such proportions as they may agree - these
costs are included in the implementation budget for the new authorities with the overall split of
costs already approved by five of the seven Cumbria councils and the other two Councils to
consider the budget in February 2022 as part of their budget setting process.

Human Resources
7.2

There will be a call on staff time to support the meetings and will involve joint working with
officers on strategy, programme and work programme tasks.

Legal
7.3

By s101 and 102 of the Local Government Act a local authority may arrange for the discharge
of any of its functions by a committee and may appoint a Joint Committee for that purpose.
Similar provisions are contained in Part IA Chapter II of the Local Government Act 2000 in
respect of Executive functions.

7.4

The Host Authority will be responsible for arranging the meetings of the Westmorland and
Furness Joint Committee.

7.5

There will be a requirement to ensure that agendas are published and that we have a suitable
platform on which to host the Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee and any Scrutiny
Committee should it be established.

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment
7.6

Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment? yes.

7.7

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons:

Page 35

7.8

Summary of Health and Sustainability Impacts
Positive

Environment
and Health

Economy and
Culture

Housing and
Communities

Neutral

Greenhouse gases
emissions

X

Air Quality

X

Biodiversity

X

Impacts of Climate
Change

X

Reduced or zero
requirement for energy,
building space, materials
or travel

X

Active Travel

X

Inclusive and sustainable
development

X

Jobs and levels of pay

X

Healthier high streets

X

Culture, creativity and
heritage

X

Standard of housing

X

Access to housing

X

Crime

X

Social connectedness

X

Negative Unknown

Equality and Diversity
7.9

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? yes

7.10

If you have not completed an Impact Analysis, please explain your reasons:

7.11

Summary of Equality and Diversity impacts

Please indicate: P = Positive impact; 0 = Neutral; N = Negative; Enter “X”
Age

P

0

X

N

Disability

P

0

X

N

Gender reassignment (transgender)

P

0

X

N

Marriage & civil partnership

P

0

X

N

Pregnancy & maternity

P

0

X

N

Race/ethnicity

P

0

X

N

Religion or belief

P

0

X

N

Sex/gender

P

0

X

N

Sexual orientation

P

0

X

N

Page 36

Armed forces families

P

0

X

N

Rurality

P

0

X

N

Socio-economic disadvantage

P

0

X

N

Risk Management

Consequence

Controls required

The Council is required to adhere
to the requirements of the
Structural Changes Order. To
establish a Westmorland and
Furness Joint Committee. This to
be established within 14 days of
the date the Structural Changes
Order is approved by Parliament.

Failure to adhere to the
requirements of the Structural
Changes Order would be a
risk to the Programme and
have reputational impact.

The establishment of the Joint
Committee will ensure that we
meet the requirements of the
Structural Changes Order.

Contact Officers
Linda Fisher – Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer)
Linda.Fisher@southlakeland.gov.uk

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document
Structural Changes Order
before Parliament 24/01/2022

Where it is available

laid https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2022/978034823
1359/contents

Tracking Information
Signed off by
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
CMT

Date sent
21/01/2022
Report Author
26/01/2022

Circulated to
Lead Specialist
Human Resources Lead Specialist
Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
N/A
N/A
N/A
21/01/2022
N/A
21/01/2022
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Page 37

Date Signed off
31/01/2022
Report Author
27.01/2022

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 38

Appendix 1
Below are the Terms of Reference for Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee. The Terms of Reference are
drafted to comply with the requirements of the Structural Changes Order.

Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee
Terms of Reference
Purpose
1.

The formation of an Implementation Team to assist the Joint Committee and if required the Shadow
Authority in the discharge of its functions.

2.

To prepare, keep under review, receive updates on progress and revise as necessary the
Implementation Plan.
(i) This to include such plans and timetables as are in the opinion of the Joint Committee necessary to
secure the effective, efficient and timely discharge of such of its functions, property, rights and liabilities
as relate to Westmorland and Furness and its inhabitants.
(ii) To agree budgets and plans as are considered necessary or desirable to facilitate the economic,
effective, efficient and timely discharge on and after the 1st April 2023 of the functions of the
Westmorland and Furness Council.

3.

Preparing for and facilitating the economic, effective, efficient and timely transfer to the new Councils of
functions, property, rights and liabilities.

4.

To consider and recommend a Members Code of Conduct to be adopted by the Shadow Authority at its
inaugural Full Council meeting

5.

To agree the process for an independent review of a scheme of Members
Allowances for the Shadow Authority, including the setting up of an Independent
Remuneration Panel and to recommend to the Shadow Authority a scheme of Members Allowances for
adoption at its inaugural meeting.

6.

To consider and recommend a Constitution and schemes
of delegation to be adopted by the Shadow Authority at its inaugural Full Council meeting

7.

To agree and undertake the recruitment process for the selection of the
posts of Interim Head of Paid Service, Interim Chief Finance Officer (section 151 Officer)
and
Interim Monitoring Officer for the Shadow Authority and recommend to the Shadow Authority at
its inaugural meeting nominations for the three interim statutory Officers

8.

To establish and propose a Calendar of Meetings for the Shadow Council for adoption at its inaugural
meeting

9.

To Manage the transition to the Shadow Authority under the Structural Changes Order

10. To oversee the smooth transition of all matters Civic and Ceremonial
11. The Joint Committee must have regard to:
(a) The information supplied to the Secretary of State
(b) Have regard to sections 27 and 28 of the Localism Act 2011 in formulating proposals for the codes of
conduct to be adopted by the Shadow Authorities.
14/12/2021

Page 39

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 40

Item No.11
South Lakeland District Council
Cabinet
9 February 2022

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Quarter 3
2021/22
Portfolio:

Councillor Jonathan Brook - Leader of the Council

Report from:

Dan Hudson – Strategy Lead Specialist

Report Author:

John Davies – Case Management Support Services

Wards:

(All Wards);

Forward Plan:

Not applicable

Links to Council Plan Priorities:
Performance Monitoring underpins service delivery and provides good value for money.
Performance Monitoring supports the delivery of all four Council Plan Priorities.

1.0

Expected Outcome and Measures of Success

1.1

Monitoring the success of the Council Plan 2021-2026 through scorecards informs
improvements and ensures Council services address the needs of residents in an
open and transparent way. Influenced by the key values in the Council Plan, this
report sets out the Council Plan Priorities and Targets.

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that Cabinet notes:(1)

the Summary of Performance as detailed in the report; and,

(2)

the detailed risks information contained within Appendix 1; and,

(3)

the detailed performance statistics in Appendix 2.

3.0

Background and Proposals

3.1

The Council is committed to delivering high quality, cost effective services that meet
the needs of residents and improve quality of life. To help achieve these goals
performance is measured frequently in line with the priorities in the Council Plan. An
updated Council Plan 2021-2026 was adopted by Council on 23rd February 2021.
The plan retains the vision of “South Lakeland as the best place to live, work and
explore”. Whilst South Lakeland is already a very good place to live, work and
explore in many ways for many people, there are areas where we need to do more
and the plan identifies four priority areas where activity needs to be focussed to
achieve the vision. Targets listed in this report are grouped under these four
priorities. The Four priorities are:


Working Across Boundaries – Delivering Sustainable Regional Growth



Delivering A Balanced Community – A South Lakeland For All Ages

Page 41

3.2



Delivering A Fairer South Lakeland – A South Lakeland For Everyone



Addressing The Climate Emergency – A Carbon Neutral South Lakeland

Summary of Performance
The targets listed within this report are showing very good performance - and
demonstrate that South Lakeland is a very desirable place to live, work and explore.
However in line with the national trend and the influence of Covid-19 the number of
homeless households living in temporary accommodation has increased.
This report will evolve in line with the move to the new Westmorland and Furness
authority. As the new authority develops, South Lakeland will use its existing priorities
to influence the strategy of the new authority in addressing the needs of the South
Lakeland area and how a future unitary council may deliver stronger benefits for
residents. For example integration of health and social care will be critical.
Economic benchmarks are not directly reflective of Council performance - as there
are many external factors at play. The Council monitors the state of South Lakeland’s
economy, trends, strengths and weaknesses to help prioritise activities and
interventions - and adapt and implement policies to positively affect the economy.
Following a review of the Strategic Risks for Quarter 4 2019/20 it was found that 65%
of risks were above appetite. This significant change was due to the pressures
brought about by Covid-19. The review this Quarter 3 2021/22 shows that a
significantly reduced 19% of risks are positioned above appetite.
Updates for each of the targets are listed in section 3.3 to 3.63 below. At Quarter 1
2021/22 reporting Cabinet requested that data be presented in graphical format to
facilitate interpretation. This has been implemented and all graphs can be seen
together within Appendix 2. This covering report provides links to the graphs in
Appendix 2 by listing reference numbers at the relevant points.

3.3

Council Plan Priority: ‘Working Across Boundaries – Delivering Sustainable
Regional Growth’
The plan seeks to secure the investment, growth and transport infrastructure that will
deliver a thriving and diverse sub-regional economy with a skilled workforce, a
balanced housing market to meet needs, great leisure services to encourage healthy
lifestyles and a strong cultural offer. It sees opportunities to extend co-operation to
health, carbon reduction and tackling deprivation and inequality.

3.31

Housing and communities targets
Target: Deliver 320 homes every year across the district:
Commentary: In 2020/21 the covid-19 pandemic impacted on the housebuilding
industry with delivery below the target of 320 homes a year. However build rates are
expected to recover for 2021/22. Whilst current planning applications for major
housing development are reduced, there remains a sizeable number of future homes
in delivery. At March 2021 there was a supply of 1,963 homes either under
construction or with planning permission in the South Lakeland Local Plan area and a
further supply of sites allocated in the Local Plan with an estimated capacity of 2,341
homes. Appendix 2 reference: Graphic 1.

Page 42

The latest Government data shows that the number of long term empty homes, as at
Oct 2020, increased to 1039 homes. The total number of long term empty homes
fluctuate as homes are brought back into use - and as properties become empty.
Homes become empty for a number of reasons - all of which are relevant to South
Lakeland, for example: people needing care, properties becoming inhabitable due to
widespread flooding and properties being inherited. Second homes also increase
results until they are identified. Appendix 2 reference: Graphic 2.
The number of empty homes brought back into use since 2015 totals 536 as at
quarter 3 2021/22. Covid-19 has influenced results - empty homes interventions are
influenced by reduced selling and repairing activity during lockdowns. Successful
Empty Homes Interventions are now increasing with the best Q3 period results when
compared with previous years. Appendix 2 reference: Graphics 3-5.
Target: Produce draft Local Plan by mid-2022:
Commentary: Recent counsel advice is to continue with a comprehensive approach
to the Local Plan Review. It is estimated that with current resources, a draft Local
Plan can be prepared for consultation by end of 2022.
Target: Support delivery of new Swarthmoor roundabout in 2021:
Commentary: Construction of the new roundabout by National Highways started in
September 2021 and is expected to be completed in mid-2022.
3.32

Economic development and culture targets
In light of the current situation regarding Covid-19 dedicated statistical information is
available in Appendix 2. This includes specific Covid-19 statistics as well as standard
business and economic statistics. The appendix is a collaboration between SLDC
Specialist Services, SLDC Case Management Support Services and Cumbria
Observatory. Appendix 2 reference: Graphics 22 - 60.
Target: Submit Morecambe Bay Growth bid:
Commentary: Collaborative working in the Morecambe Bay continues. Any further
growth bid preparations will now be considered in the context of the opportunities of
local government reorganisation and response to the Government’s levelling up
agenda.
Target: Complete Master Plan for GSK site in Ulverston by July 2021:
Commentary: Masterplan in advanced draft form and to be finalised by March 2022
following endorsement from MP-led GSK Taskforce.
Target: Economic Development strategy setting out delivery framework and
targets to be completed by December 2021:
Commentary: Economic intelligence is updated in line with ongoing impact of Covid19, informing current programmes of work. The future Economic Development
strategy will now need to be considered in the context of local government
reorganisation and the Westmorland and Furness area.

3.33

Health and Environment targets

Page 43

Target: Develop Morecambe Bay Population Health Strategy:
Commentary: Approach to Population Health being led by Morecambe Bay CCG –
SLDC input through Morecambe Bay Population Health Strategic Group.
Target: Support Morecambe Bay CCG in managing Covid Pandemic:
Commentary: Contract tracing/infection control – dedicated Environmental Health
Specialists team within SLDC working in conjunction with other District Councils,
Cumbria County Council, and PHE to trace and isolate known local positive cases.
3.4

Council Plan Priority: ‘Delivering A Balanced Community – A South Lakeland
For All Ages’
This means addressing the challenges posed by our shrinking workforce and ageing
population. It means retaining young people, attracting economically active people
and young families and ensuring that housing, services and infrastructure meet the
needs of older people. It also means promoting localism and helping communities to
help themselves.

3.41

Housing and communities targets
Target: Deliver 477 affordable homes for rent between 2020 and 2025; and
Deliver 588 affordable homes to buy between 2020 and 2025:
Commentary: There are currently 15 large housing schemes under construction in
the District which will deliver around 400 affordable homes for rent and sale. Further
planning applications are to be considered that could deliver more affordable homes
subject to planning permission being granted. The pandemic has impacted on
delivery of affordable homes with the cessation of construction work over a period of
time and issues with the supply of some materials.
The Council has delivered 554 affordable homes for rent during the period 2014 to
Q3 of 2021 to 2021. This will leave 446 affordable homes remaining from the
Council’s 1000 homes to rent target between 2014 to 2025 - having reached the
milestone of the 500th affordable rented home in 2020.
During the period 2014 to Q3 of 2021 to 2022 there were 191 affordable homes to
buy completed.
There will be 72 affordable rent and sale extra care units as part of the scheme at
Oxenholme due to be completed in the summer 2022.
Appendix 2 reference: Graphics 6-7.
Target: Deliver 300 extra care units between 2020 and 2025; and Deliver 337
self and custom build dwellings between 2020 and 2025:
Commentary: Construction is underway for a 104 unit extra care scheme at
Oxenholme that is on target for completion in the summer 2022. Outline planning
consent is in place for a potential extra care scheme in Grange over Sands at
Allithwaite Road. However, further details are as yet unknown. Appendix 2 reference:
Graphics 8-9.

Page 44

3.42

Economic development and culture targets
Target: Implementation of Kendal Town Centre Strategy including provision of
new employment floorspace:
Commentary: Town Team formed for Kendal to work towards delivery and
development of agreed priority areas, including the development of a Levelling Up
Fund bid. Partnership approach with Kendal Futures, including Council financial
contribution towards a new Vision Manager for the town.
Target: Commencement of development on 5 allocated employment sites by
2025:
Commentary: Continued engagement and expressions of interest on allocated
employment sites. The Council continues to provide planning and economic advice to
landowners/agents and developers. Review of the Council’s Local Plan also in
progress.
Target: Delivery of Great Places programme:
Commentary: Majority of programme now successfully delivered. Approach to legacy
activity now the subject of discussion by partners.

3.43

Health and environment targets
Target: Completion of Customer Connect Transition programme:
Commentary: The Customer Connect report ‘Customer Connect five years on, the
outcomes, benefits and future’ updated Council during December 2021. The report
recognises the achievements of the Customer Connect Programme since inception in
2016 and notes the outcomes and benefits the programme has delivered. The report
also covers the work still to be completed and how it will be delivered over the next
18 months.
Targets: Ensure that community interests championed in National Park plans
and strategies; and, Ensure that population health strategies make relevant
provision for the elderly:
Commentary: SLDC is represented on both National Park partnerships. SLDC
comments on community interest fed into plan process.
Target: Ensure that social programmes address loneliness:
Commentary: Approach under development through fairness and public health work.

3.5

Council Plan Priority: ‘Delivering A Fairer South Lakeland – A South Lakeland
For Everyone’
This means taking action to address housing, health and income inequalities and
increasing financial resilience. This means working in partnership with the third sector
to rebuild financial resilience following the impact of the Covid pandemic, preventing
homelessness and supporting vulnerable people, addressing inequalities in access to
housing, addressing issues such as accessibility to people with disabilities and
working through the Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy and through Population

Page 45

Health strategies in Morecambe Bay to improve health outcomes and reduce health
inequalities.
3.51

Housing and communities targets
Target: Halve the proportion of households in poverty and eliminate child
poverty:
Commentary: SLDC have a work programme in place to deliver the Council priority of
“Delivering a Fairer South Lakeland”, comprising regular project team meetings, an
ongoing action log and a South Lakeland Partnership (Building Financial Resilience
Partnership). Current actions in progress include: the formation of a South Lakeland
Poverty Truth commission, work with the County Council on supporting the
development of food banks, a communications campaign with partners highlighting
key messages and signposting where support can be found for those with financial
difficulties. Within SLDC there is a range of schemes, arrangements and referrals
readily available to clients from trained and well briefed staff. Appendix 2 reference:
Graphics 12-15.
Target: Implement Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategies:
Commentary: The Council has a Homelessness Strategy and Action Plan for South
Lakeland. The work of the Housing Options team aligns with this and is summarised
below:
•
The Housing Options team work with partners to identify cases who may
need housing advice - such as young people and victims of domestic abuse. They
also work closely with registered providers to identify social housing tenants who may
be facing losing their homes. The team are proactive in seeking out bespoke
solutions to individuals circumstances and have a ‘prevention toolbox’ to assist. Often
this work involves negotiating and mediating, providing legal advice on tenancy
matters, income maximisation and safeguarding of vulnerable adults and families.
The team also work with other council departments to prevent homelessness such as
Housing benefits and housing standards services.
•
SLDC are also running several initiatives funded by MHCLG to target
individuals who are roofless and at risk of or rough sleeping. The Rough Sleeping
initiative has provided a rough sleeper coordinator, two support staff and a private
rented access officer. This small team work with individuals to find sustainable
solutions in the private rented sector and focus on getting work ready to reduce
dependencies on the benefit system.
•
SLDC were also the only district to receive funding through the first round of
Rough Sleeper Accommodation Programme which is over a 3 year period and totals
£388,987 and will provide 12 units of supported accommodation. This service is
provided in conjunction with Home group and operates a non-eviction policy
alongside proving Assured tenancy to individuals rather than the traditional licence
agreements. MHCLG has recognised this approach as good practise and uses it as
an example to other local authorities seeking to provide a similar response to
supporting those most vulnerable.
For the last two years the maximum number of households in temporary
accommodation at any one time has been outside target. For 2020/21 there were a
maximum of 39 households accommodated, which was largely due to the increase in
cases presenting during the peak of the Covid-19 pandemic, however, so far 2021-22
(Q1-3) has seen this fall to a maximum of 28 households accommodated at any one

Page 46

time. December heralded the start of the 2021/22 Cold Weather Provision (CWP)
and by the end of Q3 a total of 12 households had been accommodated under the
scheme who would not otherwise have qualified for temporary accommodation. CWP
is expected to run until the end of February 2022.
The main reasons for homelessness are: Loss of private rented accommodation with
an increasing number due to landlords wanting to either sell the property or seek
alternative business opportunities with the property, relationship breakdown with
family and friends which is often due to increased stress within families due to the
lack of affordable accommodation and financial difficulties. Preventing homelessness
still remains the number one priority for the service however with a reducing private
rented sector, high demand on social housing and the impact of benefit caps this is
becoming more difficult. Appendix 2 reference: Graphic 16.
Target: Reduce the percentage of private sector homes with category 1
hazards to less than 15% by 2025:
Commentary: The Council has a robust approach to the reduction of hazards. This
includes information on Private Sector Stock Condition and carrying out both Housing
Standards and Houses in Multiple Occupancy inspections for conditions.
3.52

Economic development and culture targets
Target: Distribute grants to aid businesses through the Covid crisis:
Commentary: Covid-19 business grants totalling £149m now distributed to those
affected, with 37,000 unique grant payments. Appendix 2 reference: Graphics 22-26.
Target: Widen and improve the quality of broadband coverage:
Commentary: Continued dialogue and partnership working with Connecting Cumbria
and others to improve broadband provision in South Lakeland. Promoting the
government broadband voucher scheme to eligible residents and businesses.
Target: Advise businesses:
Commentary: Continued advice provided to businesses and new business start-ups
across sectors through the Economy & Culture team and Invest in South Lakeland
programme. Subsidised business support provided through partners including
Cumbria Chamber of Commerce.
Target: Deliver new business space in Kendal Town Hall:
Commentary: Refurbishment of South Lakeland House and Kendal Town Hall to
create additional town centre employment space, meeting rooms and conference
facilities on track, with full extent of business space expected to be available by
February 2022.

3.53

Health and environment targets
Target: Complete Kendal Air Quality Management Plan implementation:

Page 47

Commentary: Air quality emission data has varied over the past 24 months due to
long periods of lockdown and reduced vehicle movement through Kendal Town
Centre. This has resulted in lower than anticipated pollution levels which are not
thought to reflect the current situation. Monitoring will continue in this area, and
across district to establish a clear picture.
Target: Review the third sector commissioning and the delivery of financial
advice and support to vulnerable people:
Commentary: New two year funding agreements with key third sector partners
(Citizen’s Advice, ACT, CALC, CVS, South Lakes Hydrotherapy and a sum towards
delivery of a poverty truth commission for South Lakeland) are being drawn up which
will enable targeted delivery of Council plan priorities and support vital community
services in the District.
Targets: Work with partners to safeguard people against exploitation – and
Work with partners to protect people against domestic abuse:
Commentary: Progress on actions and priorities is being made through the Local
Focus Hub, which covers the South Lakeland District. This multiagency hub works to
ensure all partners are sharing resource to tackle and mitigate the effects of the
priority community safety issues identified by the CSP. Appendix 2 reference:
Graphic 18.
3.6

Council Plan Priority: ‘Addressing The Climate Emergency – A Carbon Neutral
South Lakeland’
This means enshrining the Council’s carbon reduction targets (for SLDC to be carbon
neutral by 2030 and for the District to be carbon neutral by 2037) A comprehensive
action plan for carbon reduction is being implemented. The Council Plan sets the
strategic direction for this work and is the means by which carbon reduction is
mainstreamed within the Council.

3.61

Housing and Communities targets
Target: Reduce the percentage of homes in the lowest energy performance
certificate (EPC) bands (F and G) from 16.4% to less than 10% by 2025:
Commentary: The Council has published a Statement of Intent on the website - and
has arrangements with several companies providing energy efficiency improvements.
We will continue to support CAfS on their Cold to Cosy scheme and also work with
Cumbria authorities to prepare a bid for the Local Authority Delivery Scheme for the
Green Homes Grant. The Council will consider any other future grant schemes that
are proposed. Appendix 2 reference: Graphic 17.
Target: Updated environmental standards for new development to be included
in Local Plan:
Commentary: The Issues and Options consultation ran from 30 June to 29 October
2021. It presented a range of possible policy options for comment, including whether
to increase local standards above the levels being set by the Government through
the forthcoming Future Homes Standard. A draft Local Plan will be consulted on in
mid-2022.

Page 48

3.62

Economic development and culture targets
Target: Enabling agile and home working:
Commentary: Work ongoing with partners to help provide the right conditions for
flexible working through better provision of broadband, increasing digital skills and
engagement and more co-working space.
Target: Completion of Kendal Flood defences:
Commentary: Environment Agency are leading of the design, implementation and
delivery of this scheme, with work having commenced on the first of the three phases
in Kendal – the anticipated completion for this is April 2023.
3.63

Health and environment targets

Target: SLDC to be carbon neutral in its own operations by 2030:
Commentary: The Council’s declaration of a Climate Emergency has delivered both a
Council Plan with carbon neutrality targets and a Climate Change Action Plan to drive
progress. There has been excellent progress in establishing a baseline and a
reporting and monitoring process. This has been driven by the introduction of energy
management software to capture scope 1 and 2 emissions, further developed by
reports and analysis of fleet emissions, procurement emissions, offsetting potential
and staff travel habits. Work on reducing emissions is underway, with a staff green
travel protocol established, findings on energy efficiency being shared, the
completion of an EV charge point scheme and the first EV vehicle on SLDC’s fleet
being introduced in 2022. Appendix 2 reference: Graphic 19.
Target: South Lakeland to be carbon neutral by 2037:
Commentary: The Council’s Climate Change Action Plan contains 2037 focused
actions. The Council has made very good progress in engaging with and
communicating the Climate Emergency in the local community. For example
partnering with Cumbria Action for Sustainability (CAfS) to further low carbon
communities; launched the Community Fund which supported 10 projects from
cycling ability to tree planting and supporting schemes such as Future Fixers and
Green Small Business Audits to offer sustainability advice to businesses. The
Council is also engaging with countywide groups such as the Zero Carbon Cumbria
Partnership, the Local Nature Recovery Strategy, a Local Authority Climate Policy
Group and Cumbria EV infrastructure group to contribute to larger scale Climate
Change Solutions. The council is also making steps in understanding their scope 3
emissions, and formulating strategies in reducing these emissions which have a
wider affect upon the district.
The percent of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting: for
2020/21 the provisional result of 43.5% reflects the suspension of green waste during
the Covid-19 pandemic. For 2019/20 44.0% of waste was recycled which is similar to
44.3% for 2018/19. Green waste influences recycling results significantly. This is
because green waste is produced in large quantities and contributes to significant
tonnages compared to lighter plastic and cardboard. If feasible to collect food waste
this would help recycling rates - however food processing plants are currently too

Page 49

distant from South Lakeland to make this viable. Plastic and cardboard kerbside
collection covers 100% of households. Appendix 2 reference: Graphic 20.
The amount of residual household waste not sent for reuse, recycling and
composting: South Lakeland’s residual household waste is sent for reuse rather than
to landfill. The residual waste is processed to provide refuse derived fuel for large
industrial processes. In line with other councils, residual waste includes grey bin
waste, waste from litter bins, street sweepings and other sources. The tonnage of
street sweepings varies significantly each year and therefore impacts on residual
waste totals. The level of residual waste is measured in kilos of waste per household
per year. Grey bin waste on its own has fluctuated from 479kg in 2009/10 down to
391kg for 2019/20. A provisional 426kg for 2020/21 reflects people being at home
during Covid-19 Pandemic. Appendix 2 reference: Graphic 21.
Target: Supporting preparation and implementation of Kendal cycling and
walking strategy:
Commentary: The Council is supporting Cumbria County Council with the Kendal
Local Cycling and Walking Plan. Cumbria County Council consulted on a Draft Local
Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan in late 2021 and is currently considering the
feedback. This is to improve the cycling and walking network in Kendal and the
surrounding area, in order to promote more active travel and to make everyone feel
confident they can walk or cycle. The consultation can be accessed on Cumbria
County Council website.
3.7

Strategic Risk Register – Appendix 1
The Strategic Risks have been reviewed in line with risk management arrangements.
The Strategic Risks are being managed continuously and effectively - and a summary
is shown below. Further detail for all Strategic Risks are visible within appendix 1.
Risks Summary - Quarter 1 2021/22
Total number of
risks:

16 risks

New risks:

0 risks

Archived Risks:

0 risks

Risks above
appetite:

3 risks (previously 3 risks – no change)
19% of risks are currently above appetite.
Following a review of the Strategic Risks for Quarter 4
2019/20 it was found that 65% of risks were above appetite.
This significant change was due to the pressures brought
about by Covid-19. The review this Quarter 3 2021/22 shows
that a significantly reduced 19% of risks are positioned above
appetite.
Risks above appetite are reviewed at least on a quarterly
basis.

Page 50

Risks below
appetite:

13 risks
81% of risks are currently below appetite.
Risks below appetite are reviewed annually during Quarter 4.

4.0

Appendices Attached to this Report

Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

Strategic Risk Register

2

Performance Statistics

5.0

Consultation

5.1

This report details measures of success against each of the priorities within the
Council Plan. These have been consulted on extensively prior to the Plan being
adopted by Full Council.

6.0

Alternative Options

6.1

No alternative options – the purpose of the report is to receive a performance update.
The Council must note successes, monitor progress and take action where
appropriate.

7.0

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1

There are no financial implications associated with this report. However, strategic
risks can relate to financial issues and are considered as part of the Council’s
Medium Term Financial Plan, budget preparation and monitoring process.

Human Resources
7.2

There are no human resources implications associated with this report.

Legal
7.3

There are no legal implications associated with this report.

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment
7.4

There are no Health and sustainability implications associated with this report.
Performance monitoring supports the delivery of all Council Plan Priorities and has a
positive impact on organisational objectives.

Equality and Diversity
7.5

There are no Equality and Diversity implications associated with this report.
Performance monitoring supports Equality and Diversity needs.

Risk
Risk Management

Consequence

Controls required

Risk that performance measures
are not monitored and corrective
action is not identified.

Ambitions as set out in the
Council Plan are not
achieved.

Robust performance
management
arrangements are
implemented.
Recommendations for

Page 51

Risk Management

Consequence

Controls required
corrective action are
implemented.

Risk that good performance is
not acknowledged.

Missed opportunity to
maintain high morale and
performance culture.

Successes are recognised
and celebrated regularly.

Contact Officers
John Davies, Case Management Officer, 01539 793263, rj.davies@southlakeland.gov.uk
Background Documents Available
Name of Background document

Where it is available

Council Plan – South Lakeland

South Lakeland Website

Performance Management
Framework – South Lakeland

South Lakeland Website

Risk Management Arrangements
– South Lakeland

South Lakeland Website

Description of Nearest
Neighbours Model - CIPFA

CIPFA Website

Benchmarking data - Local
Government Association

Local Government Association Website

Economy data - Office for
National Statistics Official Labour
Market Statistics

Office for National Statistics Website

Health data - Public Health
England Public Health Outcomes
Framework

Public Health England Website

Tracking Information
Signed off by
Section 151 Officer

Date sent
20/01/22

Date Signed off
26/01/22

Monitoring Officer

20/01/22

25/01/22

CMT

25/01/22

26/01/22

Circulated to
Lead Specialist

Date sent
20/01/22

Human Resources Lead
Specialist
Communications Team

20/01/22

Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

20/01/22

NA
09/02/22
N/A

Page 52

Appendix 1
Strategic Risks Register – Quarter 3 2021/22

Introduction
Risk Management is an essential element of corporate governance arrangements. The process of risk management allows the Council to identify, prioritise and mitigate risks which may have a negative effect on services.
This is an important and underpinning process which ensures good value for money and also continuity of services.
Risks are recognised as essential management information and so contribute towards decision making. This document lists all those risks which are considered as strategic in nature – in other words those risks that could
have a wide impact or require senior management control.
This Strategic Risks Register is reviewed and updated every quarter by Corporate Management Team. Risks above the line of ‘risk appetite’ are a priority and so are reviewed every quarter – whilst those below risk appetite
are reviewed once a year.
Strategic risks are by their very nature problematic and so can remain on the register for significant periods of time.
Page 2 explains the Risk Matrix with Likelihood, Impact and green/blue zones.

Page 53

Page 3 contains the ‘Heat Map’ which shows the distribution of risk on the matrix – providing an ‘at a glance’ view of all risks.
Page 4 contains the Strategic Risk Register

1

How to understand the Risk Matrix:
This register contains the full and complete list of the Council’s Strategic Risks. Each risk is plotted on a risk matrix to show the degree of likelihood and impact. The greater the likelihood and impact the higher the priority
for management. Those risks which lay above the line of ‘risk appetite’ can be seen in the blue zone of the matrix. These risks are a priority for management and are reviewed every quarter. Risks below the risk appetite, in
the green zone, are a lower priority and so are reviewed on an annual basis.

High

x

Medium

Likelihood

Risks positioned in the blue zone of the risk matrix are above ‘risk
appetite’ (high priority) and require quarterly mitigation and
management. Mitigation updates are listed for these risks.

x

Low

Risks positioned in the green zone of the risk matrix are below
‘risk appetite’ (lower priority) and require an annual review in
Quarter Four.

Very Low

Negligible

Marginal

Serious

Critical

Page 54

Impact

2

Risk ‘Heat Map’ - showing the current position of all risks in this report
This matrix provides an ‘at a glance’ view of the priority risks which are positioned in the blue zone and so are above the line of risk appetite.
Commentary: Following a review of the Strategic Risks for Quarter 4 2019/20 it was found that 65% of risks were above appetite. This significant change was due to the pressures brought about by Covid-19. Reviews during
Quarter 2 and 3 2021/22 show a significantly reduced 19% of risks positioned above appetite. These above appetite risks are reviewed at least on a quarterly basis.

Page 55

Likelihood

High (4)

Medium (3)

Low (2)

22

5, 6, 21
4, 9, 13,
14, 15,
19, 20, 23

7

8

16, 17

Serious (3)

Critical (4)

Very Low (1)

Negligible (1) Marginal (2)

Impact

3

Strategic Risk Register
The ‘Heat Map’ on the previous page shows the position of each risk on the matrix in terms of likelihood and impact

Risk
No. Name

Review
frequency Mitigations

1

Income targets are not
met due to ineffective
debt collection

2

Officer
Owner

Portfolio
Owner

History of improvement

Archived

Archived

Archived

Archived during Q1 2016/17

Finance Lead
Specialist

Deputy
Leader &
Finance
and Assets
Portfolio
Holder

Contracts do not
deliver the standards
of performance
required within the
contract fee agreed

Archived. (New risk around contracts
identified Q4 2019/20 - see Risk no. 23.)

Archived

Archived

Archived during Q4 2018/19

Finance Lead
Specialist

Deputy
Leader &
Finance
and Assets
Portfolio
Holder

3

Business Continuity

Archived

Archived

Archived

Archived during Q1 2018/19

Director of
Strategy,
Innovation
and
Resources

Leader and
Promoting
South
Lakeland
and
Innovation
Portfolio
Holder

4

Affordable housing
targets are not met.

The Council will need to enable new
housing particularly through private sector
development. This is influenced by New
Homes Bonus and Local Government
Financing. During Covid-19 pandemic a
temporary redcuction in completions is
expected - it is likely that the 2025 target
will be met.

Below

Annually

Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - retained on the
register to allow regular monitoring.
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - review indicates that
housing performance is on track.
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - review indicates
housing is likely to achieve the 2025 target. Q4 2020/21: RISK
POSITION UNCHANGED

Director of
Customer
and
Commercial
Services

Housing
Portfolio
Holder

Page 56

Description

Risk
Appetite

4

Page 57

5

Impact of the Welfare
Reform on
communities, Council
operations and
resources

The Council mitigates as far as possible
against both the impacts of welfare
reform on communities and also on
Council operations and resources. Welfare
reform results in significant changes to
taxes and benefits - impacting on lowincome tenants and social landlords. With
transfer to Universal Credit widely
reported impacts on claimants across
England. Central Government monitor
impacts and make adjustments. The
current risk position is proportionate for
South Lakeland. The Council has in place
many mitigations to reduce poverty and to
alleviate against universal credit impacts.
This risk has increased due to the Covid-19
Pandemic and mitigations have been
expanded to cover Covid-19 impacts.
Addressing impact within the district
requires a multi-agency approach.

Above

Quarterly

6

Medium Term
Financial Planning –
delivery of a balanced
budget

Current and future years proposed budget
reductions (expenditure and income) are
not achieved. Future year’s budget
reductions (expenditure or income) are
not identified. Significant existing income
sources are not protected or effectively
managed. Income from Central
Government is reduced above the current
assumptions. NDR income assumptions
are not achieved. Other key factors are
Spending Review, Business Rates
Retention, Fair Funding Review and Local
Government Finance Settlement. The
Coronavirus pandemic presents significant
income and expenditure challenges.
08/09/21: there are a number of changes
to the level of MTFP risk.
1. The projected deficits (and therefore
savings targets) has reduced due to
assumptions around the delay in the local
government finance reform.
2. There is increased uncertainty around
existing costs and income due to the
continuing impact of Covid-19 and the
potential future impacts of local

Above

Quarterly

The Council communicates regularly with
DWP and CAB.
Discretionary Housing Payment.
Council Tax Reduction Scheme.
Temporary Council Tax COVID -19 Hardship
Fund.
Council Tax Discretionary Relief Scheme.
Building Financial Resilience Group partnership working to reduce poverty.
Further funding to be provided to CA To
increase access to services for those
residents who are experiencing financial and
employment difficulties because of Covid-19
and the Government restrictions imposed as
a reaction to it. To ensure those people can
access the service funding provided to a
project to pilot a dedicated webchat advice
service.
Employed additional resource to administer
the increase in HB/CTRS claims as a result of
COVID-19.
Addressing need within communities via a
range of mitigations, for example Covid
response grants, support to the Voluntary
sector, work of the multi-agency Community
Resilience Group.
MTFP assumptions reviewed, updated and
reported on quarterly basis. Options to
resolve issues are provided to Cabinet each
quarter. MTFP review during July 2020 completed. 08/09/21: A working group of all
council Chief Finance Officers from Cumbria
now discuss weekly the potential impact of
LGR and review risks.

5

Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - risk retained whilst
potential for impacts.
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - measures to reduce
poverty and alleviate against impacts now listed.
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION INCREASED - risk increased due to
Covid-19 pandemic impacts and greater dependency on Universal
Credit. Q1 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED further
mitigations added. 06/08/20: Review indictates no change to risk
- community impacts are being monitored. Q2 2020/21: RISK
POSITION UNCHANGED whilsts claimant numbers increased. Q3
2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED from Q2. Q4 2020/21: RISK
POSITION UNCHANGED. Q1 2021/22: RISK POSITION IMPROVED:
Likelihood improved due to Covid response.
05/08/21 Interim review at request of Audit Committee: RISK
POSITION UNCHANGED – ‘Risk Name’ and ‘Risk Description’
clarified to better reflect impact on both council operations and
resources as well as community. Further examples of existing
mitigations now added with note on multi-agency approach
across the district. Q2 2021/22: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED Risk
review indicates no change. Q3 2021/22: RISK POSITION
UNCHANGED - review indicates no change to risk.

Director of
Strategy,
Innovation
and
Resources

Health,
Wellbeing
and
Poverty
Alleviation
Portfolio
Holder

Q2 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - risk description
updated.
Q3 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - risk description
further updated.
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION INCREASED - risk increased due to
challenges of Covid-19 pandemic. Q1 2020/21: RISK POSITION
UNCHANGED - mitigations reviewed. 06/08/20: Review indictates
no change to risk at this time - the MTFP review is completed.
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED since recent review. Q3
2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. Q4 2020/21: RISK
POSITION UNCHANGED. Q1 2021/22: RISK POSITION IMPROVED
in terms of both likelihood and impact due to financial support
from government and therefore reduced budget pressure for
future years. Q2 2021/22: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED additional mitigations around LGR included and risk description
updated. Q3 2021/22: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - review
indicates no change to risk.

Finance Lead
Specialist

Deputy
Leader &
Finance
and Assets
Portfolio
Holder

government reform
3. There is a need to review projects and
therefore budgets and capital programme
for deliverability of schemes before LGR
4. There is likely to be a significant request
for resources to fund the transition costs
of LGR

Information
Management is not
effective

The Council is required to have effective
information governance procedures. It will
be necessary to manage corporate
information by implementing processes,
roles and controls - including GDPR and
the Data Protection and Information
Security Policies.

Below

Annually

8

The infrastructure
required to deliver the
Council Plan priorities
is not provided.

Infrastructure is required to support
businesses and housing objectives. The
Council implements the Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to fund
infrastructure. Protocols for CIL
Governance and Infrastructure Delivery
Plan. The impacts of Storm Desmond may
have implications for future flood
resilience measures and infrastructure.

Below

Annually

Page 58

7

Managers are appropriately trained.
Requirements in Job Descriptions and
appraisals. Internal Audit findings acted on in
a timely manner. Internal communication
regarding policies and protocols. Review and
monitoring of arrangements. Information
Governance (IG) Framework in place.
Continuous focus on new starters and
improvement to existing procedures.
Annual update of Infrastructure Delivery Plan
- completed.
Development of protocols for CIL Governance
- completed.
CIL Review proposed as part of Development
Management Policies process - viability study
completed.

6

Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - mitigation due dates
updated re Information Governance Board Highlights Report
14/12/17.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - risk reduced via
internal communications, improved access to information,
processes and data protocols. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION
UNCHANGED additional mitigations added.
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - risk reduced due to
greater certainty meeting infrastructure requirements.
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. Q4 2020/21: RISK
POSITION UNCHANGED

Director of
Strategy,
Innovation
and
Resources

Deputy
Leader &
Finance
and Assets
Portfolio
Holder

Strategy
Lead
Specialist

Leader and
Promoting
South
Lakeland
and
Innovation
Portfolio
Holder

Page 59

9

Essential strategic
partnerships required
to deliver the Council
Plan do not operate
effectively.

Robust agreements are needed to
continue to work with our identifide
partners following the decision to
reorganise local government in Cumbria.
This will require new strategic
partnerships to be formed with groups to
ensure South Lakeland communities
continue to gain maximum benefit in the
new unitary councils. This risk continues
to apply to all strategic partnerships - eg
Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP), LDNPA
and existing sovereign councils up until
April 2023 and beyond. The risk is not
specific to any one initiative or approach
from partners, rather their strategic
direction and policies and correlation with
South Lakeland's Council Plan and the
policies of Central Government.

Below

Quarterly

10

Procurement
compliance with new
legislation

Archived

Archived

11

Planning for the future
of the major contracts
and workload
implications for
support services

Archived

12

Health and Safety
management of
contracts

Archived

Monitor resource and cost in line with SLDC's
Portfolio planning as agreed at Cabinet Away
Day 06/09/21. This will enable the Council's
existing and future priorities to be embedded
in the new unitary council.

Q1 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - SLDC continues to
improve collaborative working including Morecambe Bay Health
partners. The Morecambe Bay Three Authority partnerships
continues to develop within the North West and Government.
Q2 2019/20: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - due to improved
relationships across Morecambe Bay including local authority,
health partners, Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP), County
Council, National Parks, Town and Parish Councils and CALC.
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION INCREASED - due to recent
devolution discussions and potential for local government
reorganisation. Increased tensions felt between two tiers of
government in Cumbria - all other partnerships remain positive.
Q1 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - Morecambe Bay
partnership in specific areas is strong. Covid-19 response is good
example of partneship working. 'Recovery/devolution'
information from central Government may lead to increased
tensions for all tiers of local government in Cumbria. Q2 2020/21:
RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - Q1 commentary remains relevant.
Q3 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED from Quarter 1
position. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. Q1 2021/22:
RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - intelligence suggests decision is
imminent on LGR. Q2 2021/22: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - risk
review shows improvement to likelihood score 2 with current
mitigations - risk below appetite.

Chief
Executive

Leader and
Promoting
South
Lakeland
and
Innovation
Portfolio
Holder

Archived

Archived during Q1 2016/17

Strategy
Lead
Specialist

Deputy
Leader &
Finance
and Assets
Portfolio
Holder

Archived

Archived

Archived during Q1 2016/17

Strategy
Lead
Specialist

Deputy
Leader &
Finance
and Assets
Portfolio
Holder

Archived

Archived

Archived during Q4 2018/19

Chief
Executive

Leader and
Promoting
South
Lakeland
and
Innovation
Portfolio
Holder

7

Page 60

13

Impact of new projects
and initiatives on
existing Council Plan
priorities

There is a risk that new projects and
initiatives take the resources required by
other projects and initiatives currently in
the programme.

Below

Quarterly

Potential new projects and initiatives are
subject to a pre-assessment to measure
priority. The Commissioning Strategy will
provide a robust basis for the evaluation of
business cases for new projects. Council Plan
priorities have been reviewed in latest
version of Council Plan Feb 2021.
Commissioning Strategy being worked into
full practice. Response to Covid pandemic
still necessitates redirection of resources.

Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - likelihood reduced via
controls and prioritisation against Strategic Projects Log.
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION INCREASED - increase in likelihood
and impact due to recovery needs for Covid-19 pandemic. Q1
2020/21: RISK POSITION INCREASED - increase in likelihood with
further awareness response/recovery needs. 06/08/20: Review
indictates no change to risk.
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED due to response and
recovery needs. Mitigation added re Council Plan priorities. Q3
2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. Q4 2020/21: RISK
POSITION UNCHANGED and additional mitigations added. Q1
2021/22: RISK POSITION IMPROVED: Likelihood improved - taken
steps through strategic project log meeting to pause and or
reshedule projects and have greater awareness of how new
initiatives will impact the existing programme. 05/08/21 Interim
review at request of Audit Committee: RISK POSITION IMPROVED
- improved one place for likelihood due to continued adherence
to mitigating measures. Risk now below appetite.

Director of
Strategy,
Innovation
and
Resources

Leader and
Promoting
South
Lakeland
and
Innovation
Portfolio
Holder

14

Unintended impacts of
efficiencies and
service changes

New efficiencies and changes brought
about by one service or organisation can
have unintended negative impacts on
another service – especially if proposals
are not consulted on until to late in the
process. Impacts can increase cost of
running services. This risk is influenced by
Risk 15 Customer Connect Programme.

Below

Quarterly

Managed via operational and budgeting
processes.
Promote early discussions on potential
change with external parties.
Customer Connect Programme.

Q1 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - risk remains
unchanged during organisational change.
Q2 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED
Q3 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - description updated.
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - unchanged due to
Covid-19 emergency response and recovery. Q1 2020/21: RISK
POSITION UNCHANGED due to Covid-19. 06/08/20: Review
indictates no change to risk due to Covid and budget challenges.
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED during period of
organisational change and adaptation to Covid-19. Q3 2020/21:
RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION
IMPROVED likelihood reduced to a score of 2, risk now below
appetite.

Director of
Strategy,
Innovation
and
Resources

Leader and
Promoting
South
Lakeland
and
Innovation
Portfolio
Holder

8

Customer Connect
Programme

Customer Connect requires a significant
change to ways of working. Challenges for
the programme include scope and
ambition, staff resources and capacity,
skills and workforce planning, buy in from
customers and training and development
for staff and Councillors. Programme
Board manages risks via the Customer
Connect Risk Log. The Covid-19 pandemic
increases risk to the next phase of the
programme. (In terms of Risk
Management this risk is positive in nature
- an 'Opportunity')

Below

Quarterly

Managed via the Programme Board resources identified year 1 and 2. Programme
Risk Log shared with Audit Committee each
qurater. New mitigations as a result of
Covid-19 have been identified and are to be
included for Q1. Final reporting on
Programme for January / February 2021.

Q1 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED
Q2 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED
Q3 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - mitigation progress
updated.
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - reduced in likelihood,
Programme financial benefits realised and advancements to new
ways of working. 06/08/20: Review indictates no change to risk.
Programme Management arrangements are resumed.
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - mitigation added re
final reporting on Programme. Q3 2020/21: RISK POSITION
UNCHANGED - however risk improvement expected by March
2021. Q2 2021/22: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - risk review
indicates impact has reduced to score 3 due to programme
moving to completion and reporting - risk now below appetite

Director of
Strategy,
Innovation
and
Resources

Leader and
Promoting
South
Lakeland
and
Innovation
Portfolio
Holder

16

Waste Collection –
Reversing Manoeuvres

Below

Annually

Safe System of Work, inspections and risk
reducing technologies.
Reviewed vehicle movements including
reversing - findings implemented.
Lane End Policy mitigates against hazardous
vehicle manouvers. New reversing aid
installed to assist safer vehicle manoeuvers.

Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - target position met due
to completed mitigations.
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED
Q3 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - new mitigation ‘Lane
End Policy’ added.
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. Q4 2020/21: RISK
POSITION UNCHANGED

Director of
Customer
and
Commercial
Services

Leader and
Promoting
South
Lakeland
and
Innovation
Portfolio
Holder

17

Cyber Security
incident

Below

Annually

Director of
Strategy,
Innovation
and
Resources

Leader and
Promoting
South
Lakeland
and
Innovation
Portfolio
Holder

Potential reduction in
income from the
disposal of recyclable
materials as a
consequence of
market changes

Archived

Annually

Cyber security mitigations within the ICT Risk
Register.
Review of Insurance.
Security updates, virus software updates and
industry best practice.Business Continuity
arrangements strengthened. Further training
for all staff has been made available and
accessible to all - during September 2020 re
cyber security awareness.
Legally compliant, waste recycling processes
minimising contamination.
Maintain high profile message to residents to
avoid contamination of recyclables.
Budgeting mitigations in place.

Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - insurance mitigation
added.
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - mitigation added
around further training for staff. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION
UNCHANGED

18

Management of waste collection vehicle
manoeuvres on recycling and waste
collection rounds. Practical and
technological safety precautions in place:
waste collection round risk assessments
and safe systems of work. All drivers and
crews trained. All rounds monitored to
ensure safe systems are adhered to.
Vehicles have advanced technologies e.g.
reversing CCTV and sophisticated radar for
safe manoeuvres.
High profile cyber security breaches across
the World and the UK. The Council has
effective security in place - however
threats are becoming ever more
sophisticated. Cyber-attacks can cross
international boundaries and be initiated
by organised criminals, individuals or
states. Terrorists are conducting low-level
attacks and aspire to more significant acts.
China is now receiving only very low
contaminated recycled waste. As a
consequence there will be very large
quantities of UK and international waste
that cannot be sent to China. Without an
alternative outlet the value of this waste
will fall significantly. The Council's waste
collection approach avoids contamination
and so may be less affected. This
advantage is confrimed in a recent APSE
report. However income provided from

13/03/18: RISK IDENTIFIED - escalation from operational level to
Strategic Risks Register.
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - due to the lowered
market value of waste.
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - risk remains the
same as market remains volatile. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION
ARCHIVED - risk now fully managed via mitigations.

Director of
Customer
and
Commercial
Services

Climate
Action and
Biodiversity
Portfolio
Holder

Page 61

15

9

waste recycling is significant and the
market is currently volatile.

Page 62

19

Business Continuity:
Flu Pandemic - Loss of
people, skills and
supply chain
disruption

Flu Pandemic is listed alongside the top
Below
risks in the Cumbria Community Risk
Register. Covid-19 global pandemic: the
Council is following Government
guidelines and working with Cumbria Local
Resilience Forum to safeguard the public.
The Council has implemented
unprecedented Business Continuity
arrangements to maintain all essential
services - and also to undertake activities
outside its normal remit. Business
Continuity is key for meeting statutory
obligations and mitigations are in place
within strategic and operational plans.
This risk has increased due to the Covid-19
Pandemic.

Quarterly

20

Capacity for Business
as Usual during the
transition to the new
organisational model.

Risk that vacancies are not filled for roles
which are essential for running the
organisation and meeting the health and
welfare needs of the public. Potential
impact on business whilst moving through
transition to learn new processes,
behaviours etc.

Quarterly

Below

Refer to and implement National/PHE advice
and guidance.
Coordinate with and support comprehensive
CLRF response and business continuity
arrangemnents.
Have regard to mitigations identified within
the Cumbria Flu Pandemic Plan.
Organisational and CLRF debriefs. New
mitigations as a result of Covid-19 have been
identified and are to be included for Q1.
Focus on maintaining services during second
wave.

13/03/18: RISK IDENTIFIED - escalation to the Strategic Risk
Register.
27/09/18: Mitigations updated, BCM audit result ‘Substantial
Assurance’.
Q4 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION INCREASED - due to unprecedented
global Covid-19 pandemic. Q1 2020/21: RISK POSITION
IMPROVED - likelihood of impacts are reduced with resilient
arrangements in place. Note possibility of second pandemic
wave. 06/08/20: Review indictates no change to risk.
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - due to emerging
second wave and ongoing pressures. Mitigations added re
maintaining services. Q3 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED
during second wave and restrictions. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION
UNCHANGED during national restrictions. Q1 2021/22: RISK
POSITION IMPROVED - Likelihood improved due to the current
decrease in Covid infections, risk position below appetite.
Transition Planning to maintain BAU.
Q1 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED
Culture Change, Learning & Skill development Q2 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - time of organisational
planning to maintain skills and knowledge.
change.
Use of temporay resources to maintain
Q3 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED
critical posts.
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - due to response and
During transition extra temporary resources
recovery activity for Covid-19 pandemic. Q1 2020/21: RISK
have been put in place. Review required
POSITION UNCHANGED due to Covid-19. 06/08/20: Review
approaching end of temporary resources.
indictates no change to risk. Use of temporary resources to
mitigate.
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED since recent review.
Mitigation added re additional temporary resources during
transition. Q3 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED. Q4
2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED, additional mitigation
added. Q1 2021/22: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - further work
has progressed to programme outstanding Transition work and
associated resources. Q2 2021/22: RISK POSITION IMPROVED risk review indicates likelihood has improved to score 2 due to
moving to Customer Connect programme completion and
reporting - risk now below appetite.

10

Director of
Strategy,
Innovation
and
Resources

Leader and
Promoting
South
Lakeland
and
Innovation
Portfolio
Holder

Director of
Strategy,
Innovation
and
Resources

Leader and
Promoting
South
Lakeland
and
Innovation
Portfolio
Holder

Page 63

21

Accountable Body for
large value schemes

22

Strategic documents
may no longer meet
post pandemic needs.

23

Significant Contracts

The Council acting as ‘Accountable Body’
for large value grant aided schemes. The
Council acts as “the bank” for grant
monies - making payments to scheme
deliverers. Robust governance, project
appraisal, decision making - and clarity
over responsibilities and accountabilities
will manage and mitigate risks. Lack of
adequate governance arrangements could
lead to a reduction, suspension,
withholding or repayment of grant. The
current capital programme contains
£5.3M of ERDF flood scheme with a
further £2.3M of Coastal Communities
Fund, the Cross-a-Moor junction
improvement scheme and Cumbria Choice
Based Lettings.
Strategic documents include for example
the Local Plan and Council Plan. Change in
circumstance increases uncertainty in
what the Local Plan needs to address.
New statistics show population increase
with implications for affordable housing
delivery and the Housing Strategy. This
risk is due to the Covid-19 Pandemic.

Above

Quarterly

Robust governance, decisions and clarity on
responsibilities and accountabilities.
Partnership Agreement between partners
and Council as Accountable Body. Indemnify
re legal claims.
Monitoring process re potential weaknesses /
risks towards corrective action. Each material
scheme to be in Operational Risk Registers
and monitored.
Audit to ensure evidence in line with
document retention. Local grant recipients
retain original evidence.
Regular reporting for accountable body
projects to Corporate Management Team.

Below

Quarterly

Continue to monitor socio economic and
demographic indicators.
Make greater use of electronic
communications.
Continue to engage closely with stakeholders
and relevant delivery partners. Reviewed
Council Plan priorities were adopted
February 2021. Local Plan is in review and
will take account of post Covid situation.

There is a potential risk for service
provision due to the economic impacts of
Covid-19. There is also the potential for
budget implications.

Below

Quarterly

Communication with Governemt regarding
support for providers. Maintaining close
contact with providers. Services opened in
July with expansion of activities for
September. Mitigations in place.

11

Q1 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED
Q2 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED
Q3 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - reporting mitigation
added.
Q4 2019/20: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - due to Covid-19
response and recovery activities. Q1 2020/21: RISK POSITION
UNCHANGED due to Covid-19 - delivery timescales may be
affected. 06/08/20: Review indictates no change to risk. Q2
2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - due to uncertainty about
timetable. Q3 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - due to
uncertainties around timetable. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION
UNCHANGED whilst some projects completeing funding
agreements. Q1 2021/22: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED previous
commentary is still valid. Q2 2021/22: RISK POSITION
UNCHANGED - review indicates that risk remains the same. Q3
2021/22: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - review confirms no
change to risk.
Q4 2019/20: RISK IDENTIFIED - due to Covid-19 pandemic. Q1
2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - risk remains unchanged
during Covid-19. 06/08/20: Review indictates no change to risk.
Q2 2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - however the Council
Plan review is underway and this will reflect Covid-19 needs. Q3
2020/21: RISK POSITION IMPROVED due to greater awareness
and understanding of impacts and how strategies may need to
adapt. Revised Council Plan to be considered by Council in Feb
2021. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION IMPROVED likelihood reduced
to a score of 1.
Q4 2019/20: RISK IDENTIFIED - due to Covid-19 pandemic. Q1
2020/21: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - risk remains unchanged
during Covid-19. 05/08/20: Although services have opened
this review indicates no change to risk due to uncertainty over
future pandemic waves and restrictions. Q2 2020/21: RISK
POSITION UNCHANGED - due to increasing restrictions and
increased Covid-19 cases. Q3 2020/21: RISK POSITION
UNCHANGED due to second pandemic wave and tiered
restrictions. Q4 2020/21: RISK POSITION IMPROVED likelihood
reduced with roadmap to recovery.

Director of
Strategy,
Innovation
and
Resources

Deputy
Leader &
Finance
and Assets
Portfolio
Holder

Director of
Strategy,
Innovation
and
Resources

Leader and
Promoting
South
Lakeland
and
Innovation
Portfolio
Holder

Director of
Customer
and
Commercial
Services

Deputy
Leader &
Finance
and Assets
Portfolio
Holder

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 64

Appendix 2

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Report - Supporting Data
Data sets are listed by the relevent section in the covering report
Business, Economy and Covid-19 information are listed together under the heading 'Business and Economy - supporting data' (graphics 22-60)

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Report Section 3.31 - Housing and communities targets
Graphic 1

Note:

For 2019/20 includes 223 homes in the SLDC Planning Authority area, 37 homes in the LDNPA area and 18 homes in the YDNPA area
For 2020/21 includes 163 homes in the SLDC Planning Authority area, 26 homes in the LDNPA area and 8 homes in the YDNPA area

Graphic 2

Note:

Source: MHCLG Live tables on dwelling stock including vacants: table 615. 2021 data not yet available.

Graphic 3

Note:

Covid-19 has influenced empty homes interventions which are influenced by reduced selling and repairing activity during lockdowns.

Page 65

1

Graphic 4

Note:

The culmulative total brought back into use since 2015.

Graphic 5

Note:

This graph provides a detailed breakdown for empty homes each quarter - it can be seen that there were many new empty homes during Q4 2020/21.

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Report Section 3.41 - Housing and communities targets
Graphic 6

Note:

There are currently 15 large housing schemes under construction in the District which will deliver around 400 affordable homes for rent and sale.

Page 66

2

Graphic 7

Note:

There are currently 15 large housing schemes under construction in the District which will deliver around 400 affordable homes for rent and sale.

Graphic 8

Note:

A total of 104 extra care units are expected within 2022

Graphic 9

Note:

National Park data is annual and is displayed at the Q4 position in the graph. YDNP data is estimated.

Page 67

3

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Report Section 3.43 - Health and environment targets
Graphic 10

Note:

Source: Public Health England. A higher score is good. 2017/18 data not yet available.

Graphic 11

Note:

Source: Public Health England. 2019/21 data not yet available.

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Report Section 3.51 - Housing and communities targets
Graphic 12

Note:

This means children in families with income less than 60% of median income 'Before Housing Costs'

Page 68

4

Graphic 13

Note:

This means living in a property of energy efficiency band D or below and with heating costs reducing income below the poverty line

Graphic 14

Note:

The rate now shows a slightly reducing trend in most areas. Rates still remain high compared with January 2020

Graphic 15

Note:

Decile 1 equals the most deprived 10% of LSOAs in England while decile 10 is the least deprived 10% of LSOAs (LSOA's are small area/neighbourhoods)

Page 69

5

Graphic 16

Note:

The Housing Options service has seen a significant increase in households approaching the service for advice

Graphic 17

Note:

Interventions include the Handy Person and Draft Busters schemes, home energy improvements and enforcement.

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Report Section 3.53 - Health and environment targets
Graphic 18

Note:

Source: Cumbria Constabulary

Page 70

6

Council Plan Performance Monitoring Report Section 3.63 - Health and environment targets
Graphic 19

Note:

CO2e is a carbon equivalent which accounts for all greenhouse gasses

Graphic 20

Note:

For 2020/21 results remain provisional - confirmed figures will be avialble during quarter 4 2021/22. Rates are influenced by levels of Green Waste.

Graphic 21

Note:

For 2020/21 results remain provisional - confirmed figures will be avialble during quarter 4 2021/22
South Lakeland’s residual household waste is sent for reuse rather than to landfill - to provide fuel for industrial processes
In line with other councils, residual waste includes grey bin waste, waste from litter bins, street sweepings and other sources.

Page 71

7

Business and Economy - supporting data
Council Plan Performance Monitoring Report Sections 3.32. 3.42, 3.52 and 3.62 - Economic development and culture targets
COVID-19 Business Grants – Source: District Councils
Graphic 22

Note:

This shows business grants administered and paid by SLDC as part of the emergency Covid-19 recovery response.
This represents the largest amount in terms of both number and value in Cumbria. Round 1 complete - no futher updates.

Graphic 23

Note:

Covid - Discretionary Grant Fund. Complete - no further updates.

Graphic 24

Note:

Significant support was required in South Lakeland.

Page 72

8

Graphic 25

Note:

Covid - grants summary. Significant support was required in South Lakeland.

Graphic 26

Note:

Covid - Grant paid for restrictions and restarts. Significant dependency on tourism in South Lakeland - highest for all areas.

Self Employment Income Support Scheme (SEISS)
Graphic 27

Note:

South Lakeland had the greatest numbers of eligible people

Page 73

9

Graphic 28

Note:

During all rounds the highest number of claims were made by South Lakeland residents

Graphic 29

Note:

The total value of claims was highest in South Lakeland

Graphic 30

Note:

The average claim in South Lakeland was higher or equal to all other areas.

Page 74

10

Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS) - Furlough
Graphic 31

Note:

In South Lakeland the number of employments furloughed is significantly higher than any other local authority in Cumbria.

Graphic 32

Note:

Furlough take up rate is highest in South Lakeland

Graphic 33

Note:

The total number of unique furloughs is highest in South Lakeland

Page 75

11

Claimant Count (Standard)
Graphic 34

Note:

The claimant count shows those currently out of work who are actively seeking work. For South Lakeland the claimant count is below county and national averages.

Graphic 35

Note:

The percentage of working age claimants is relatively low in South Lakeland

Page 76

12

Graphic 36

Note:

The numbers of 18-24 years claimants compares well for South Lakeland

Graphic 37

Note:

The percentage of 18-24 years claimants is lowest when compared with Districts

Page 77

13

Universal Credit - Persons by Conditionality Category
Graphic 38

Note:

This shows all claimants of Universal Credit in South Lakeland - the rate is low when compared with County and national averages

Graphic 39

Note:

The percentage of people in work claiming Universal Credit is about average for South Lakeland

Graphic 40

Note:

The percentage of working age people seeking work is lowest for South Lakeland

Page 78

14

Graphic 41

Note:

The percentage of working age people with no work requiremnts is low for South Lakeland

Employment - by Sector and Total Jobs
Graphic 42

Note:

In South Lakeland 'Wholesale & Retail' and 'Accommodation and Food' and 'health work' provide the three largest proportions of employment

Page 79

15

Active Businesses
Graphic 43

Note:

The latest data shows that the number of active businesses trading in South Lakeland is slightly up from re-Covid levels

Business Start-Ups
Graphic 44

Note:

There remains a high level of new business start-ups within South Lakeland

Page 80

16

GVA (total)
Graphic 45

Note:

For South Lakeland the Real Estate and Manufacturing sectors represent the largest contributions in terms of GVA

Page 81

17

Earnings - Median Full Time
Graphic 46

Note:

People that live within South Lakeland earn less each week when compared with most Districts

Graphic 47

Note:

People that live within South Lakeland earn less each year when compared with most Districts and the UK

Graphic 48

Note:

People that work within South Lakeland earn significantly less each week when compared with Districts

Page 82

18

Graphic 49

Note:

People that work within South Lakeland earn significantly less each year when compared with Districts

Qualifications of population aged 16-64
Graphic 50

Note:

South Lakeland’s population is highly qualified in both a county and national context

Graphic 51

Note:

South Lakeland’s population is highly qualified in both a county and national context

Page 83

19

Graphic 52

Note:

South Lakeland’s population is highly qualified in both a county and national context

Graphic 53

Note:

The latest data for 2020 shows that in South lakeland 3.3% of population have no qualifications.

Population Estimates – working age
Graphic 54

Note:

In South Lakeland the total population genarally inceases - whilst the working age population decreases (see graph below)

Page 84

20

Graphic 55

Note:

For South Lakeland figures show a gradual decline in the number of working age people over the past 10 years

Tourism visitor numbers and revenue
Graphic 56

Note:

South Lakeland had 19.01m visitors in 2019, up from 18.54m the year before. This was worth £1.37bn to the local economy, supporting 16,409 FTE jobs
This represents a significant proportion of the tourism visitor share in Cumbria. Data on visitor numbers for 2020 is not yet available.

Graphic 57

Note:

The highest numbers of tourist days are in South Lakeland

Page 85

21

Graphic 58

Note:

The highest numbers of tourists are in South Lakeland

Graphic 59

Note:

The highest dependancy on tourism is within South Lakeland

Town centre vacancy rates (%)
Graphic 60

Note:

This shows the proportion of shops vacant for several town centres in South Lakeland.
The vacancy rate varies by town and indicates an increase since Covid-19

Page 86

22

Item No.12
South Lakeland District Council
Cabinet
Wednesday, 9 February 2022

Council Plan and Policy Framework - Legacy
Portfolio:

Leader of the Council

Report from:

Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Report Author:

Dan Hudson – Strategy Lead Specialist

Wards:

(All Wards);

Forward Plan:

Budget and Policy Framework Decision included in the Forward Plan
as published on 11th January 2022

Links to Council Plan Priorities:
Working across boundaries –
Delivering a balanced community –
A fairer South Lakeland –
Addressing the climate emergency –
This report sets out how South Lakeland can ensure that the Community Priorities set out in
the Council Plan are considered in the policy making framework for the new authority.

1.0

Expected Outcome and Measures of Success

1.1

This report is concerned with South Lakeland’s legacy. It seeks to make sure that, in
its final year, during the transition to the establishment of Westmorland and Furness
Council, efforts are focused on critical areas of delivery which will be a strong legacy
and provide firm foundations on which the new authority can build. It seeks to ensure
that the Westmorland and Furness Shadow Authority gives full consideration to the
vision and priorities of South Lakeland and its communities in developing its strategy
and policy framework

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that Cabinet recommend that Council:(1)

Approve the interim priorities set out in 3.8-3.10; and

(2)
Request that the Westmorland and Furness Shadow Authority considers
the priorities and proposals set out in Appendix 1 in developing the Policy
Framework for the new authority.
8
3.0

Background and Proposals
Situation

3.1

Under the forthcoming Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022. South Lakeland
District Council will be abolished in April 2023 (along with Cumbria County Council,

Page 87

Barrow Borough Council and Eden District Council). Responsibility for all Local
Government functions will transfer to a new unitary Westmorland and Furness
Council. Elections to the Shadow Authority will take place on 5th May 2022. Between
May 2022 and March 2023, both authorities will exist in parallel until April 2023 when
South Lakeland District Council (and the current County and other Districts) will be
abolished and the Shadow Authority will become Westmorland and Furness Council.
3.2

The management of the change, future blueprint and operating model of the new
Councils are matters initially for the Joint Committee and subsequently for the
Shadow Authorities. The LGR process will enable the shadow authorities to deliver
their implementation plans.

3.3

However this report is about South Lakeland’s legacy. It is about examining SLDC’s
Council Plan and policy framework, making an assessment of what can realistically
be achieved by April 2023, what legacy projects are likely to be taken forward and
what asks there are likely to be of the Westmorland and Furness Shadow Authority
and the new Council in terms of delivering on the Council Plan. Most importantly, the
impact of the Local Government Reorganisation process on capacity is such that
resource availability for project work is highly constrained.
Method and Criteria

3.4

A Project Portfolio Management Approach (PPM) has been adopted in prioritising the
Council’s work during the remainder of its existence. Project portfolio management
(PPM) is the centralized management of the processes, methods, and technologies
to analyse and collectively manage current or proposed projects based on key
characteristics. This enables the organisation to determine the optimal resource mix
for delivery and schedule activities to best achieve our goals whilst recognising
constraints.

3.5

Through the application of the PPM approach, the Council’s remaining tasks have
been evaluated in the context of Local Government Reform. These include the
Customer Connect programme, the Capital Programme and other Business as Usual
activities in the context of Local Government Reorganisation.

3.6

Drawing on the principles set out in the Commissioning Strategy, in addition to the
basic commissioning questions of defined purpose, strategic alignment and value for
money, the following criteria are taken into account


Is there a clear rationale for undertaking this activity at this time;



Is the project is at an advanced stage/or subject to contractual obligation such
that cancellation and/or decommissioning would be less cost effective?



Would a Unitary Authority be better positioned to deliver the outcomes of the
project?



Can the project or activity be delivered by April 2023?



If not, what is the legacy position likely to be and what does it enable for the
successor authority ?



Is there a strategy for transition?



What resource will be needed to deliver it (including ongoing costs) and does it
represent value for money;



Where will the resource be found from and are there any impacts on service
delivery



Does it involve co-operation with other Westmorland and Furness partner
authorities;

Page 88

The Council Plan
3.7

Appendix 1 analyses the vision, priorities and targets in the Council Plan in detail.
The plan was prepared in the knowledge that Local Government re-organisation was
a strong possibility and the plan was aligned with those for Barrow and Lancaster.
These is also a high degree of alignment with current strategy with Eden. Whilst it will
be for the Shadow Authority to prepare a new Council Plan for Westmorland and
Furness, the current plan forms a strong basis for influencing the future of the new
Council. Issues such as working across borders, addressing a shrinking working age
population, carbon reduction and the environment and affordable housing need are
present in large parts of Westmorland and Furness. South Lakeland’s track record in
driving organisational transformation will also offer major opportunities in planning for
the new authority.

3.8

Key priorities to be taken forward with the intention of being completed by vesting
day are the following.







The final few stages of the Customer Connect project including the completion of
the final phase of the refurbishment of South Lakeland House;
Covid response including Track and Trace and the distribution of grants
The master plan for the GSK site in Ulverston
The completion of the roundabout at Cross-a-Moor, Swarthmoor;
The completion of works to New Road and Gooseholme Bridge;
Phase 1 of the provision of EV charging points;

3.9

Some other projects likely to be completed include disabled toilet improvements at
Millerground and Cartmel, Kendal Market Lift, the conversion of redundant premises
at Ellerthwaite depot to offices, improvements to Rothay Park toilets, flood alleviation
works at Windermere Road, Grange and energy saving measures at Ferry Nab.

3.10

There are also a number of projects and programmes which are likely to be handed
on to Westmorland and Furness Council for continuation and/or completion. These
include














The final completion of works to Grange Promenade and Lido
Completion of the South Lakeland Local Plan to include a review of the
Infrastructure Delivery Plan and the Community Infrastructure Levy (see below);
Delivery of the Homes England site at Croftlands and the wider Croftlands
development;
The Affordable Housing programme including schemes promoted through the
Community Housing Fund and proposals being developed for use of Right to Buy
receipts;
Cumbria Choice
The Disabled Facilities Grants programme
Work to promote financial inclusion and establishment of a Poverty Truth
Commission
Participation in National Park and AONB partnerships;
Measures associated with delivering Fairer South Lakeland including a Poverty
and Truth Commission;
Implementation of the Carbon Reduction Action Plan
Arts and events funding and improvements to Abbot Hall
Completion of Kendal Flood Defences

Page 89





Implementation of recommendations of Kendal Parking Study and future of
Westmorland Centre car park;
Ulverston Place Programme
Ulverston Leisure Centre associated with the GSK master plan.

Economic Development Strategy
3.11

There is a proposal in the Council Plan for the preparation of an economic
development strategy to replace the current economic growth strategy prepared in
2014. Because of the disruption of the Pandemic, this has not been taken forward.
Whilst the Council has a clear approach to economic development with ongoing work
on town centres, encouraging inward investment, bringing sites forward and
promoting improvements to infrastructure, it is considered that any new economic
development strategy should be prepared on a Westmorland and Furness footprint
given strong economic linkages particularly between South Lakeland and Barrow.
Accordingly, the expectation is that a future economic development strategy should
be prepared on a Westmorland and Furness footprint by the new authority.
Local Plan

3.12

South Lakeland is currently reviewing its Local Plan, some parts of which date back
to 2010. Whilst up to date Development Management policies were adopted in 2019,
the Core Strategy was adopted in 2010. The strategic elements of Local Plans for
Eden and Barrow have been adopted more recently. Whilst in the long term, the new
authority may wish to consider a single plan for its whole area (excluding National
Parks), that will take a considerable amount of time to prepare and there is a risk of a
policy vacuum in the interim. So there is a strong argument for continuing to progress
the plan for South Lakeland already commenced by SLDC to be finalised and
adopted by Westmorland and Furness Council. This will place the new authority in
the strongest possible position to deliver on important SLDC priorities such as
affordable housing delivery, climate change and carbon reduction and strategic
infrastructure. This will then place the new authority in a strong position to develop a
spatial strategy for Westmorland and Furness with a foundation of robust up-to-date
plans across the whole area.
Policy Framework

3.13

The Council’s policy framework is set out in the Council’s constitution. It includes the
Council Plan and Local Plan set out above. It also includes a raft of other policies
including financial and budgetary policies, climate change policy, housing policies,
licencing policies, safeguarding policies, policies on fraud and policies on public
health. Some of these are statutory, some are discretionary. Most currently relate
only to South Lakeland but some such as Cumbria Choice and the Joint Public
Health Policy are currently Cumbria wide. Some are spatial, some are procedural.

3.14

The new authority will require a new constitution and policy framework. Appendix 2
lists the documents comprising the existing framework. It will be for the shadow
authority and the new authority to decide whether, and how to take these forward.
Licencing and Gambling policies are currently under review and will be taken forward
in a revised form.

Page 90

Summary and Conclusions
3.15

Local Government Reform offers a major opportunity to align local Government in
Westmorland and Furness to transform lives and tackle major issues in the way
envisaged in South Lakeland’s Council Plan. The opportunity exists to focus efforts in
the last year of SLDC on the delivery of essential priorities which will put the new
authority in a strong position. Part of that legacy also includes influencing the new
shadow authority to ensure that South Lakeland’s vision is taken forward and
widened by the new authority and the achievement of priorities given renewed
impetus with the additional functions, resource and influence of a unitary authority

4.0 Appendices Attached to this Report

Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

Recommended approach to Council Plan

2

Recommended approach to Policy Framework

3

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment

4

Equalities Assessment

5.0

Consultation

5.1

Relevant leads have been consulted about the contents of this report

6.0

Alternative Options

6.1

The Council could take the view that no prioritisation is necessary for the final year of
its operation and that the future of Council Plan, Local Plan and Policy framework is a
matter for the Shadow Authority on which South Lakeland District Council should take
no view. This however would negate much of the work that South Lakeland has done
to develop strategic focus. It would deprive the shadow authority of soundly based
policy and strategy and many years of experience in working with the people and
communities of South Lakeland to promote their interests.

7.0

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1

The Council Plan and the projects and initiatives contained within it have been
developed in line with the Council’s budgeting processes to be deliverable within
current budgets. Any variations relating to individual projects will be captured through
the Council’s budget monitoring processes. Officers from all Cumbria councils are
working on potential budgets for the 2 new unitary authorities based on current budgets
and are also working on a methodology for how the 2023/24 budgets will be prepared
and approved.

Human Resources
7.2

The Council will need to ensure that staff resources are allocated appropriately to the
priorities in this report and that systems are in place to support with the smooth
running of the agreed priorities.

Legal
7.3

The Councils Monitoring Officer is the Technical Lead for the Legal and Democratic
work stream reporting to the Lawrence Conway as the Sponsor of the work stream.

Page 91

Part of the work stream is the drafting of a new Constitution for the Westmorland and
Furness Council. This workstream is underway and engagement will be taking place
with all Themes, People, Place and Enabling to agree the matters to be included in the
Budget and Policy Framework.
7.4

The new constitution will include the Budget and Policy Framework items. Including
matters required by Law to be included for Unitary Council Budget and Policy
Frameworks.

7.5

The Councils Budget and Policy Framework list the following Policies within Article 4
of the Constitution.

7.6

The policy framework means the following plans and strategies:
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
7.7

Council Plan;
Council Policy on Climate Change
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Scheme;
Community Engagement Strategy;
Community Safety Plan;
Medium Term Financial Plan;
Treasury Management Statement;
Procurement and Commissioning Strategy;
Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy;
Anti-Money Laundering Policy;
Plans and strategies which together comprise the Development Plan,
including local development schemes and Development Framework
documents;
South Lakeland Housing Strategy;
Choice Based Lettings Allocation Policy;
Local Lettings Policy;
Licensing Policy;
Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy;
Economic Growth Strategy;
Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy.

This report makes proposals in relation to policies contained within Article 4.
Members will be aware that the Licensing and Gambling Policy are currently being
reviewed and consulted upon before consideration by Full Council.

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment
7.8

The Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment is attached at Appendix 3

7.9

Summary of Health and Sustainability Impacts
Positive

Environment
and Health

Greenhouse gases
emissions

Y

Air Quality

Y

Biodiversity

Y

Impacts of Climate
Change

Y

Page 92

Neutral

Negative Unknown

Economy and
Culture

Housing and
Communities

Reduced or zero
requirement for energy,
building space, materials
or travel

Y

Active Travel

Y

Inclusive and sustainable
development

Y

Jobs and levels of pay

Y

Healthier high streets

Y

Culture, creativity and
heritage

Y

Standard of housing

Y

Access to housing

Y

Crime

Y

Social connectedness

Y

Equality and Diversity
7.10

The Equality Impact Analysis is attached at Appendix 4

7.11

Summary of Equality and Diversity impacts

Please indicate: P = Positive impact; 0 = Neutral; N = Negative; Enter “X”
Age

P

0

N

Disability

P

0

N

Gender reassignment (transgender)

P

0

N

Marriage & civil partnership

P

0

N

Pregnancy & maternity

P

0

N

Race/ethnicity

P

0

N

Religion or belief

P

0

N

Sex/gender

P

0

N

Sexual orientation

P

0

N

Armed forces families

P

0

N

Rurality

P

0

N

Socio-economic disadvantage

P

0

N

Risk Management

Consequence

Controls required

The value of much of the
work that South Lakeland
has done to develop

The interests of the people
and communities of South
Lakeland are championed

Page 93

Risk Management

Consequence

Controls required

Shadow Authority does not take
SLDC priorities forward in the
new authority

strategic focus would be
lost depriving the new
authority of soundly based
policy and strategy and
many years of experience
in working with the people
and communities of South
Lakeland to promote their
interests.

by all engaged in the Local
Government reform
process

Contact Officers
Dan Hudson. Strategy Lead Specialist
x3378 email: d.hudson@southlakeland.gov.uk
Background Documents Available
Name of Background document

Where it is available

SLDC Constitution

https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/media/7603/southlakeland-district-council-constitution-april-2021.pdf

SLDC Council Plan

South Lakeland Council Plan

SLDC Commissioning Strategy

A3_commissioning strat_FINAL_June2020_Layout 1
(southlakeland.gov.uk)

Tracking Information
Signed off by
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
CMT

Date sent
25/01/22
25/01/22
25/01/22 by e-mail

Circulated to
Lead Specialist
Human Resources Lead Specialist
Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
N/A
28/01/22
28/01/22
25/01/22
25/01/22
25/01/22
N/A
N/A
9/02/22
22/02/22

Page 94

Date Signed off
31/01/22
28/01/22
31/01/22

APPENDIX 1 – COUNCIL PLAN SUGGESTED APPROACHES
Council Plan - Element
Vision
The best place to live
work and explore

Comments

SLDC Suggested Approach

Remains the right
aspiration for the South
Lakeland area and
compatible with the place
based elements of the
visions of other authorities

Recommend to Westmorland and
Furness Council (WFC) that this vision
influence its own vision of the wider
Council area

Priorities
Working across
boundaries, delivering
sustainable regional
growth across
Morecambe Bay

Morecambe Bay remains
important as an economic
region whilst the Eden area
has its own links with the
Carlisle area – cross
boundary working outside
the Cumbria space must
remain a priority.
Delivering a balanced
The demographic challenge
community, a South
and addressing the needs
Lakeland for all ages
of a shrinking working age
population are common to
South Lakeland, Eden and
Barrow.
Fairer South Lakeland
Health inequalities are a
(Tackling income, housing significantly greater issue
and health inequalities)
in Barrow than in South
Lakeland whilst housing
and income inequalities are
critical for both Eden and
Barrow
Climate Change and
SLDC, Eden and Barrow
Biodiversity
have all declared climate
emergencies and are
commited to Carbon
Neutralty by 2037 at the
latest
Targets – Working Across Boundaries

Suggest to WFC that working across
boundaries (particularly outside
Cumbria) and sustainable growth
remain a priority for the new Council

Deliver 320 homes every
year across the district

Housing target set through
the Local Plans for South
Lakeland and the National
Parks

Produce draft South
Lakeland Local Plan by
mid 2022

Whilst the timetable may
need revision, there
remains an urgent need to
complete the plan.

Suggest that WFC continue with the
preparation and adoption of a local
plan for South Lakeland and that it’s
housing target be founded on robust
evidence. Also that WFC support local
plan preparation in the National Parks.
Suggest that preparation work on the
South Lakeland Local Plan continues.

Page 95

Suggest to WFC that growing the
working age population and addressing
the implications of an aging population
should remain a priority for the new
Council
Suggest to WFC that tackling health,
income and housing authorities remain
a priority for the new Council.

Suggest to WFC that demanding
climate change targets be adopted
building on the progress made by the
Districts to date.

Support delivery of
Swarthmoor Roundabout

Roundabout currently
under construction and will
be complete during
2022/23
Submit Morecambe Bay
Whilst functional
Growth bid
geographies remain, any
growth bid will necessitate
major resource and
strategic commitments
which WFC will need to
come to its own view on
Complete Master Plan for A vital strategic site and a
GSK site in Ulverston by
limited time window to
July 2021
secure its future
Complete Economic
There will be a need for a
Development Strategy by strategic approach to
December 2021
economic development
across the new authority
develop Morecambe Bay Cumbria Public Health
Population Health
Strategy in place. Draft
Strategy
Morecambe Bay wellbeing
strategy produced by
Population Health
Partnership
support Morecambe Bay
SLDC will continue to
CCG in managing Covid
support LRF and Health
Pandemic
Providers
Targets - Balanced Community
477 affordable homes for The Housing Targets set
rent
out in the Council’s
588 affordable homes to
Housing Strategy remain
buy between 2020 and
valid and related to need.
2025
Whilst, in time, the new
300 extra care units
authority will develop its
between 2020 and 2025
own Housing Strategy the
337 self and custom build housing needs of South
dwellings between 2020
Lakeland remain acute and
and 2025
housing enabling activity
must not slow down
Implementation of
Kendal Town Centre is a
Kendal Town Centre
long term project and
Strategy including
needs co-ordination with
provision of new
Kendal vision. The Local
employment floorspace
Plan process is key.

Suggest that SLDC continue to support
the delivery of the project on the
current timescale.

commencement of
development on 5
allocated employment
sites by 2025

Continue to implement through
encouraging market mechanisms.

Employment opportunities
remain critical
.

Page 96

Postpone until after vesting day.
Suggest to WFC that within its
economic strategy, it continues to
develop Morecambe Bay wide
approaches to infrastructure, skills and
Higher Education.
Continue Master Planning work and
aim to complete by April 2023
Postpone until after vesting day. The
strategic approach to economic
development and the resource to
deliver it require a WFC wide approach
Continue to support Morecambe Bay
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG )
work Suggest that WFC work with
health partnerships on appropriate
alignment of organisations in the Eden
area
Continue track and trace, grant
distribution and locality based work on
pandemic.
Continue with housing enabling
programme and suggest that
affordable and special needs housing
provision remain a key priority in any
future housing strategy

Continue to engage. That WFC be
advised that the development and
implementation of a strategy and vision
for Kendal Town Centre should form a
key influence on any Local plan
affecting

delivery of Great Places
programme

Delivered – no further action needed

completion of Customer
Connect Transition
programme;

Great Places now largely
delivered. Legacy
discussions in progress
Customer Connect
programme approaching
completion

Ensure that community
interests championed in
National Park plans and
strategies

Recently adopted National
Park management plans in
both Lake District and
Yorkshire Dales

Largely delivered for now. Suggest that
WFC continue to engage with National
Parks on behalf of communities to
deliver housing and jobs

Suggest that the new authority ensure
that the principles of a customer led
operating model be taken forward by
the new authority

Ensure that population
The needs of the elderly
health strategies make
and people suffering from
relevant provision for the isolation and loneliness
elderly
remain key issues for South
ensure that social
Lakeland and for Eden and
programmes address
Barrow
loneliness
Targets - Fairer South Lakeland
halve the proportion of
A target which will be
households in poverty
challenging to deliver on a
and eliminate child
Westmorland and Furness
poverty
Footprint

Continue to support CCG work and
ensure that strategies reflect the needs
of the elderly and lonely.
Suggest that WFC work with health
partnerships on appropriate alignment
of organisations in the Eden area

implement Homelessness
& Rough Sleeping
Strategies

Homelessness Strategy and
Rough Sleeper Strategy run
to 2024

Suggest that WFC undertake an early
review of the Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy

reduce the percentage of
private sector homes
with category 1 hazards
to less than 15% by 2025

New Private Housing Stock
Monitoring Study updates
evidence base on housing
standards

distribute grants to aid
businesses through the
Covid crisis

Assuming no further
serious outbreaks, grant
regimes should be
completed by Vesting Day

Suggest that as part of an early review
of Housing Strategy, new targets be
adopted for housing standards
including targets for energy efficiency
in the existing housing stock.
Implement current grant scheme and
assist partner authorities.

widen and improve the
quality of broadband
coverage

Continue to work to
expand broadband through
planning and support for
community broadband

advise businesses
Business advice to continue
deliver new business
both directly and through
space in Kendal Town Hall relevant advice providers

Page 97

Suggest that WFC continue to address
poverty in South Lakeland as well as in
greater concentrations elsewhere
within the new Council area

Suggest that WFC continue to work to
improve quality of broadband
coverage.

Continue delivery of business advice,
delivery of managed workspace
through Mintworks and through Kendal
Town Hall

Kendal Town Centre
provision to complete by
2020
Complete Kendal Air
Ongoing – EV charging
Quality Management Plan points to be installed in the
implementation
Spring

Continue implementation. WFC will
inherit responsibility for Kendal AQMA
and responsibility for AQ planning.

review the third sector
commissioning and the
delivery of financial
advice and support to
vulnerable people

Community Grants
reviewed in 2020. Further
change to be informed by
Poverty and Truth
Commission.

Review delivered – WFC to be
requested to use intelligence from
South Lakeland Poverty and Truth
Commission to inform development of
future services

work with partners to
safeguard people against
exploitation

Continue existing
partnership approaches

As part of its duties, WFC will need to
develop integrated approaches to
safeguarding and protecting people
against domestic abuse.

work with partners to
Continue existing
protect people against
partnership approaches
domestic abuse
Targets – Carbon Neutral South Lakeland
reduce the percentage of Tackling energy inefficient
homes in the lowest
housing is critical part of
energy performance
carbon reduction
certificate (EPC) bands (F programme
and G) from 16.4% to less
than 10% by 2025

Continue current measures and
request to WFC that demanding energy
efficiency targets for existing housing
be incorporated within an updated
housing strategy

Updated environmental
standards for new
development to be
included in Local Plan
enabling agile and home
working

See comments on Local
Plan above

See comments on Local Plan

Despite relaxation of Covid
rules, agile working
reduces need for travel.

Request that WFC maintains support
for agile and home working

completion of Kendal
Flood defences

Currently under
construction

SLDC to be carbon neutral
in its own operations by
2030 South Lakeland to
be carbon neutral by
2037

Targets remain relevant
and essential to meet
national carbon reduction
targets

Request that WFC support future
phases including upstream storage and
natural flood management
Request that WFC uphold Climate
Change targets and integrate upper
and lower tier functions to help to
deliver them

supporting preparation
and implementation of
Kendal cycling and
walking strategy

Kendal Local Cycling and
Walking Improvement Plan
(LCWIP) completed.
Ulverston LCWIP in
preparation

Page 98

Support delivery of LCWIP and
encourage WFC to do the same

APPENDIX 2 – SLDC POLICY FRAMEWORK
Corporate Policy
Policy
South Lakeland
Anti-Bribery, Fraud and
Corruption Policy
South Lakeland
Anti-Money Laundering
Policy;
South Lakeland Policy on
Climate Change
Cumbria
Choice Based Lettings
Allocation Policy
South Lakeland
Commissioning Strategy
South Lakeland
Council Plan
Development Plan (South
Lakeland
Local Plan)
South Lakeland Economic
Growth Strategy
South Lakeland
Equality, Diversity and
Inclusion Strategy (formerly
scheme);
South Lakeland
Community Engagement
Strategy
South Cumbria Community
Safety Plan

South Lakeland
Gambling Licencing Policy
South Lakeland Housing
Strategy
South Lakeland Local
Lettings Policy

South Lakeland
Licencing Policy

Scope
Sets out Policies and Procedures for
eliminating bribery, fraud and
corruption.
Sets out policies and procedures for
deterring, detecting and eliminating
money laundering
Sets out Climate Change targets and
approach
Sets out Cumbria wide approach to
the allocation of new housing through
Choice Based Letting
Sets out approach to commissioning
and decommissioning new and
existing services
Vision, priorities and direction for the
new Council
Plans for development and use of land
and buildings and supporting
infrastructure
Sets out priorities for promoting
economic growth in South Lakeland
sets out how SLDC District
meets requirements of public sector
equality duty including
equality objectives.
Sets out SLDC’s approach to localism
and community engagement

Last Review
December 2021

Produced by South Cumbria
Community Safety Partnership and
covers South Lakeland and Barrow.
Sets priorities for Community Safety
across South Cumbria
Sets out basis for making decisions
under the 2005 Gambling Act

March 2019

Sets out targets and ambitions for
housing enabling, housing standards
and homelessness
Sets out Local Connections
requirements for former SLDC Council
Houses now owned by South Lakes
Housing
Sets out basis for making decisions
under the 2003 licencing act

Page 99

December 2021

June 2020
June 2020

July 2020

January 2020
March 2019

April
2014
December 2018

2012

October 2018
Revisions being
consulted upon
2016

August 2012

January 2016
Revisions about to be
consulted upon

South Lakeland Medium
Term Financial Plan

Cumbria
Joint Public Health Strategy
South Lakeland
Procurement Strategy
South Lakeland
Treasury Management
Statement

Ensures the Council has sufficient
financial resources in the short- to
medium-term (5 years) to deliver its
statutory responsibilities and its
Council Plan priorities.
Sets out Cumbria wide approach to
enhancing population health across
the County
Sets out approach to achieving value
for money in procuring goods and
services including social value
Sets out how the Council’s treasury
management and investment activity
and how it manages and invests
money.

Page 100

July 2021

February 2019

July 2021

March 2021

Appendix 3

For help with this impact assessment use guidance form (link)
Name of the project, policy or programme:
Council Plan

Environment and health
1. SLDC’s aim is to be carbon neutral by 2030: How will your proposal
affect greenhouse gas emissions?
Consider:

Energy saving, for example preventing unnecessary use of energy - reducing use of
appliances or cutting down on journeys that are not required.

Improving energy efficiency - ensures that the maximum benefit is gained from
energy that is used. For example energy is not wasted or lost through insulation,
heating the right areas and efficient lighting.

Renewable generation for example using renewable resources, such as wind,
sunlight, rainwater.

Minimising emissions from transport







Ensures that the response to the Climate Emergency is enshrined in Council policy
Sets strategic framework and targets for Carbon reduction and ensures that these are
mainstreamed within all areas of Council Activity
Sets the strategic context within which detailed actions on energy saving, energy
efficiency, renewable energy and minimising emissions from transport are being
developed
Working with partners to deliver energy saving and energy efficiency initiatives
Pursuing opportunities to develop renewable energy;

Page 101

2. Please show how you are addressing alternative ways of
delivering your proposal with a reduced or zero requirement for
energy, building space, materials or travel
How are you using the waste/energy hierarchy – 1) avoid, 2) reduce, 3) reuse?





Sets strategic framework and targets to mainstream reduced energy requirements in
Council buildings, space, materials and travel.
Ensuring that new development is sustainable, energy efficient, flood resilient and
enhances biodiversity;
Promoting waste reduction hierarchy identified as an action.

3. Please demonstrate how your project will have an impact on air
quality




Sets strategic framework for air quality management in the District and commits to
delivery of Kendal Air Quality Management Plan
Promotes active travel, managing the demand for travel and electric vehicles
Detailed actions set out in Climate Change Action Plan

4. Please outline any impacts on biodiversity that your proposal might
have
“To halt overall biodiversity loss, support healthy well-functioning ecosystems and establish
coherent ecological networks, (create) more and better places for nature for the benefit of
wildlife and people”: Biodiversity 2020: A strategy for England’s wildlife and ecosystem
services, DEFRA.





Provides a strategic framework for the development of biodiversity projects and actions
Ensures that biodiversity is mainstreamed in Council thinking.
Ensuring that new development enhances biodiversity;
Enhancing the District’s Green Infrastructure

5. How does your proposal mitigate the impacts of climate change?
Assess the risks and impacts associated with climate change (extreme weather events:
flooding, heatwaves, droughts and fires) and the implications for our services and
communities. Describe measures in place to embed resilience and recovery.




Seeking to ensure that residential and business areas are protected from floodings
Ensuring that new development is flood resilient and incorporates appropriate
sustainable drainage systems
Working with partners to mitigate the risk of flooding

6. How does the proposal enable active travel?
Encouraging and facilitating walking, cycling and public transport.

Page 102






Working with Cumbria County Council and other partners to promote and encourage the
provision of and access to sustainable public transport across the District
Promoting active transport including cycling and walking
Promoting implementation of Kendal Air Quality Management Plan
Supporting preparation and implementation of Kendal cycling and walking strategy

Economy and culture
7. How does the proposal contribute to inclusive and sustainable
development?
Sustainable growth is identified as a priority within the strategic framework





Unlocking development sites and enabling local businesses to grow;
Understanding the needs of local businesses;
Encouraging graduate retention and the creation of high value jobs;
Attracting funding and delivering critical infrastructure

8. How does the proposal impact on jobs and levels of pay?







supporting people to adapt to changes in technology
encouraging links between further and higher education, apprentices and businesses
providing support, advice and affordable premises for new business start-ups
Promoting environmental technologies and the green economy;
Promoting local businesses and the circular economy
Ensuring that business areas are protected from flooding;

9. Demonstrate how the proposal contributes to healthier high streets




Developing town centres which are attractive and accessible for living, working and
leisure;
Implementation of Kendal Town Centre Strategy
Supporting preparation and implementation of Kendal cycling and walking strategy

10. How does the proposal impact on culture, creativity or heritage and if
not can they be embedded in this proposal?

Page 103





Identifies cultural industries as part of the unique value proposition of the District and
Bay area and commits to promoting it.
Using culture and the arts to support the unique offer of our towns and countryside;
Developing town centres which are attractive and accessible for living, working and
leisure;

Housing and communities
11. Does the proposal lead to an improvement in the standard of
housing?




Ensuring that new development is sustainable, energy efficient, flood resilient and
enhances biodiversity;
Reduce the percentage of homes in the lowest energy performance certificate (EPC)
bands (F and G) from 16.4% to less than 10% by 2025
Updated environmental standards for new development to be included in Local Plan

12. How does the proposal increase access to housing?





Deliver 477 affordable homes for rent between 2020 and 2025 (95 pa)
Deliver 588 affordable homes to buy between 2020 and 2025 (117 pa)
Deliver 300 extra care units between 2020 and 2025 (100 pa)
Deliver 337 self and custom build dwellings between 2020 and 2025 (67pa)

13. How does the proposal reduce crime or fear of crime?




working with partners to reduce domestic violence, alcohol related crime, substance.
misuse, child sexual exploitation and antisocial behaviour.
Working with partners to safeguard people against exploitation.
Working with partners to protect people against domestic abuse.

14. How does the proposal increase social connectedness?




Working with communities to reduce isolation and loneliness;
Improving access to citizen driven technology
Helping people to be independent

Page 104

Health and sustainability impact summary
Please tick below next to each area whether your proposal has a positive, neutral, negative
or unknown impact.

Environment and
health

Economy and
culture

Housing and
communities

Greenhouse gases
emissions
Air Quality
Biodiversity
Impacts of Climate
Change
Reduced or zero
requirement for energy,
building space, materials
or travel
Active Travel
Inclusive and sustainable
development
Jobs and levels of pay
Healthier high streets
Culture, creativity and
heritage
Standard of housing
Access to housing
Crime
Social connectedness

Positive Neutral Negative Unknown
V
V
V
V
V

V
V
V
V
V
V
V
V
V

Health and sustainability action plan
What actions will be taken to eliminate or minimise any negative impacts
identified above?
None
Actions

Responsible
Person
Strategy Lead
Specialist

1 Council Plan to be reviewed annually
2
3
4
5

Page 105

Completed by
(date)
March 2022

What positive actions will be taken to advance health or sustainability?
Actions
1 Council Plan to be reviewed annually

Responsible
Person
Strategy Lead
Specialist

Completed by
(date)
March 2022

2
3
4
5

Research
Evidence
Please list below the evidence, research and other sources of information used to inform the
Impact Assessment. Please insert additional rows if needed.
1.South Lakeland Local Plan
2.ONS population and household projections
3.South Lakeland Climate Change Action Plan

Consultation
Please include below the details of any specialists or groups that you have discussed this
proposal with and the advice/information provided.
Consulted with Leadership team and relevant specialists.

Page 106

Appendix 4

South Lakeland District Council must comply with the Public Sector Equality Duty
(s.149 of the Equality Act 2010) which requires local authorities, in the exercise of their
functions, to have due regard to the need to:


Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other
conduct prohibited by or under the Equality Act (2010).
Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.
Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not.




The purpose of the equality duty is to integrate consideration of equality and good relations
into the day-to-day business of the council. If we do not consider how a function can affect
different groups in different ways, it is unlikely to have the intended effect. This can
contribute to greater inequality and poor outcomes.
The following protected characteristics are covered by the Duty:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

age;
disability;
gender reassignment;
marriage and civil partnership; (eliminate unlawful discrimination aim only)
pregnancy and maternity;
race;
religion or belief;
sex;
sexual orientation.

SLDC includes “rurality”, “socio-economic disadvantage” and “armed forces families” as
additional categories in its equality impact assessments. Although these are not recognised
protected characteristics under the Equality Act, people on low incomes, living in rural
isolated communities or members of armed forces families are likely to be affected by
services that are intended to support vulnerable people.
The Equality Act protects people against discrimination because of the protected
characteristics that we all have.
There are four main types of discrimination.
1. Direct discrimination: This means treating one person worse than another person
because of a protected characteristic. For example, a promotion comes up at work.
The employer believes that people’s memories get worse as they get older so
doesn’t tell one of his older employees about it, because he thinks the employee
wouldn’t be able to do the job.
2. Indirect discrimination: This can happen when an organisation puts a rule or a
policy or a way of doing things in place which has a worse impact on someone with a
protected characteristic than someone without one. For example a local authority is
planning to redevelop some of its housing. It decides to hold consultation events in

Page 107

the evening. Many of the female residents complain that they cannot attend these
meetings because of childcare responsibilities.
3. Harassment: This means people cannot treat you in a way that violates your dignity,
or creates a hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive environment. For example a
man with Down’s syndrome is visiting a pub with friends. The bar staff make
derogatory and offensive comments about him, which upset and offend him.
4. Victimisation: This means people cannot treat you unfairly if you are taking action
under the Equality Act (like making a complaint of discrimination), or if you are
supporting someone else who is doing so. For example, an employee makes a
complaint of sexual harassment at work and is dismissed as a consequence.
For further information: Equality and Human Rights Commission

Relevance assessment
Please complete to determine if you need to do an EIA.
Relevance to equality means that the function/ policy/ project that you are assessing will
either affect people with the protected characteristics outlined above, that it will affect the
Equality Duty, or both. If you answer Yes to any questions you should proceed to a full
EIA.
1.

What does the information I have tell me about equality issues?

This is a strategic document and detailed equality assessments will be carried out.
Equality is identified as a priority and creating a balanced community are identified as are
the special issues associated with the elderly and income, health and housing
inequalities

2.

Will the function/ policy/ project have an impact on service users, communities or
employees? Consider this in terms of the numbers of people affected and the likely
extent of impact.
Yes

3.

Does it potentially affect different groups of people differently?
Yes

4.

Will the function have an impact on one or more aim of the equality duty?
Yes / No

5.

Has previous engagement or assessment shown that the function is relevant to
equality?
Yes

6.

Does it have an effect on how other organisations operate in terms of equality (i.e.
commissioned services)?
Yes

Page 108

7.

Does the function/ policy/ project relate to an area of established inequality?
Yes

8.

Does this analysis require an equality impact assessment?
Yes
If yes continue below.

Equality Impact Assessment
Title:
Council Plan
Brief details of the subject:
Sets strategic framework and priorities for Council.
Our Vision for South Lakeland - the best place to live, work and explore.
Priority 1 – WORKING ACROSS BOUNDARIES – DELIVERING SUSTAINABLE
REGIONAL GROWTH ACROSS MORECAMBE BAY;
Priority 2 – DELIVERING A BALANCED COMMUNITY – A SOUTH LAKELAND FOR ALL
AGES;
Priority 3 – DELIVERING A FAIRER SOUTH LAKELAND – A SOUTH LAKELAND FOR
EVERYONE;
Priority 4 - ADDRESSING THE CLIMATE EMERGENCY – A CARBON NEUTRAL SOUTH
LAKELAND
Each work stream/ delivery plan emerging from these priorities will be equality impact
assessed. This will ensure the actions carried out resulting from these priorities proactively
support people with protected characteristics.
(It could be a job for me to meet the relevant leads and work through the new EIA template this would also be useful to increase awareness of the socio-economic disadvantage
section).
List main stakeholders:
SLDC – all departments.
Citizens, businesses, 3rd sector organizations, public sector and other partner agencies in
South Lakeland and the North West.
Consultation/ engagement undertaken:
Draws on consultations undertaken for all council plans and strategies

Page 109

Evidence, research and other sources of information used:
All Council plans and strategies, Census and ONS population and household projections.
South Lakeland Local Plan, South Lakeland Climate Change Action Plan

Please complete the section below and identify if your policy/project has positive, neutral or
negative impacts on the listed population groups.
Note:
An EIA specifically identifies disproportionate impacts on equality; an impact that affects all
customers in the same way, regardless of whether they have a protected characteristic of not,
would not be a disproportionate impact. The test is, “Does this function affect different groups
of people differently?”
Where your EIA identifies a disproportionate impact, it will be important for you to state the
nature of this impact and any actions that will be taken in response to it. This might mean
adjusting some aspects of the function, or could involve signposting to other services.

What impacts/ issues have been identified about how the proposal impacts on
people?
Enter details under the appropriate equality group heading below. Insert additional rows
where needed.
Against each characteristic below, indicate: P = Positive impact; 0 = Neutral; N=
Negative impact. Enter “X”
Age (enter below)

P

Plan specifically seeks to address the needs of elderly people through delivery
of extra care housing, working with stakeholders to reduce loneliness and
isolation.

X

0

N

0

N

0

N

Young people and housing affordability
Disability (enter below)

P

Plan seeks to promote active travel in town centres. Public realm to enhance
access for people with disabilities, reduce harmful impacts of traffic and make
town centres more user friendly

X

Gender reassignment (Transgender) (enter below)

P

X

Page 110

Marriage & civil partnership (enter below)

P

0

N

X
Pregnancy & maternity (enter below)

P

0

N

X
Race/ethnicity (enter below)

P 0

N

X
Religion or belief (enter below)

P

0

N

X
Sex/gender (enter below)

P

0

N

X
Sexual orientation (enter below)

P

0

N

X
Armed Forces Families

P

0
X

Rurality (enter below)
Plan seeks to reduce isolation and loneliness, provide better and more
accessible online services and widen broadband coverage.

X

Socio-Economic disadvantage (enter below)
Plan seeks to halve the proportion of households in poverty and eliminate child
poverty and implement Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategies;

X

Tackling fuel poverty.

Equality Action Plan
What actions will be taken to eliminate or minimise the negative impacts identified above?
For example scheduling meetings so people with caring responsibilities or part time workers
can attend.

Page 111

N

Actions

Responsible
Person

Completed by
(date)

1 Older Persons Housing Strategy
2 Poverty emergency Action Plan

Strategy Lead
Specialist

3
4
5

What actions will be taken to advance equality? For example, Removing or minimising
disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected characteristics, taking steps to meet
the needs of people from protected groups where these are different from the needs of other
people or, encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other
activities where their participation is disproportionately low.

Actions

Responsible
Person

Completed by
(date)

1 Ensure that equalities considered in all Council
strategies plans and projects via Corporate Equality
Group and Equalities Lead.

Strategy Lead
Specialist

March 2022

What actions will be taken to foster positive relations between people who share a
protected characteristic and those who do not. For example by tackling prejudice and
promoting understanding between people from different groups.
Actions

Responsible
Person

Completed by
(date)

1 Ensure that equalities considered in all Council
strategies plans and projects via Corporate Equality
Group and Equalities Lead.

Strategy Lead
Specialist

March 2022

Page 112

The council has a list of equality contacts who can be contacted for consultation or to ask
advice. The list is on sharepoint under Quick links/ Safeguarding. If you need any support
when completing this Equality Impact Analysis, please contact the Strategy specialist
(Corporate policy and partnerships).

Date:

05/01/2021

EIA Author(s):

Dan Hudson - Strategy Lead Specialist

Director:

David Sykes -

Document version number:
Date for Review:
EIA forwarded to Strategy Specialist

Y

Glossary
Age: This refers to a person having a particular age (for example, 32 year-olds) or being within an age group
(for example, 18-30 year-olds).
Armed Forces Families: Those who have served or who are serving in the Armed Forces and their families.
Civil partnership: Legal recognition of a same-sex couple’s relationship. Civil partners must be treated the
same as married couples on a range of legal matters.
Disability: A person has a disability if they have a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and
long-term adverse effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities. Includes: Physical/sensory
disability, mental health or learning disability.
Gender reassignment: A person has the protected characteristic of gender reassignment if the person is
proposing to undergo, is undergoing or has undergone a process (or part of a process) for the purpose of
reassigning the person's sex by changing physiological or other attributes of sex.
Maternity: The period after giving birth. It is linked to maternity leave in the employment context. In the nonwork context, protection against maternity discrimination is for 26 weeks after giving birth, including as a result
of breastfeeding.
Race: It refers to a group of people defined by their colour, nationality (including citizenship), ethnic or national
origins. Includes, Asian, Black and White minority ethnic groups inc. Eastern Europeans, Irish people and
Gypsy Travellers.
Religion or belief: “Religion” means any religion, including a reference to a lack of religion. “Belief” includes
religious and philosophical beliefs including lack of belief (for example, Atheism). The category includes
Christianity, Islam, Judaism, Hinduism, Buddhism, and non religious beliefs such as Humanism.
Rurality: South Lakeland is defined as ‘Rural-80’ – this means we have at least 80 percent of our population
in rural settlements and larger market towns. Issues affecting the health and wellbeing of rural communities
include: low-paid work, unemployment of young people, high costs of housing and fuel poverty, poor access to
health services, lack of public transport and poorer broadband and mobile phone network availability. Social
isolation is also an issue especially among older people – in South Lakeland 27.7% of the population are aged
over 65. The ageing rural population brings a number of challenges. These include the fact that older people
often have poorer health and greater care needs, issues compounded by the greater distances to healthcare
services and poor public transport. South Lakeland (2015) features most poorly in deprivation indices in
“Barriers to Housing and Services Domain” (which relate to the physical proximity of local services, and issues
relating to access to housing, such as affordability) and the “Living Environment Deprivation Domain” (The

Page 113

'indoors' living environment measures the quality of housing; while the 'outdoors' living environment contains
measures of air quality and road traffic accidents.
Sexual orientation: This is whether a person's sexual attraction is towards their own sex, the opposite sex or
to both sexes.
Socio-economic disadvantage: This includes people on low incomes, as well as issues around rural and
urban deprivation, such as access to services and transport. SLDC must adopt effective measures to address
the inequalities that result from differences in occupation, education, place of residence or social class. Socioeconomic disadvantage includes: Income, employment, health, education, housing, discrimination and local
concentrations of deprivation.

Page 114

Item No.13
South Lakeland District Council
Cabinet Wednesday, 9 February 2022
Council Tuesday, 22 February 2022

Corporate Financial Update Quarter 3, 2021/22
Portfolio:

Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder

Report from:

Section 151 Officer

Report Author:

Claire Read – Finance Specialist, Claire Chouchoulas – Finance
Specialist

Wards:

All wards

Forward Plan:

N/A

Links to Council Plan Priorities: This is a corporate financial update which
contributes to sound corporate governance and ensuring that financial resources are
available to deliver the Council’s corporate priorities. This works towards delivering
all of the Council strategic policies of:
Working across boundaries
Delivering a balanced community
A fairer South Lakeland
Addressing the climate emergency

1.0

Expected Outcome and Measures of Success

1.1

It is expected that Members note the projected year end position based on
performance to the end of Quarter 3 2021/22 and officers planned actions to ensure a
balanced budget by the end of the financial year.

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:-

2.2

(1)

Note the contents of the report and Appendices 1-3; and

(2)

Approve the write-offs as detailed in Section 3.6.1

It is recommended that Council:(1)

Note the contents of the report and Appendices 1-3

3.0

Background and Proposals

3.0.1

Revenue – Appendix 1 sets out the revenue variances to date.
a)

Covid-19 - As part of the 2021/22 Budget report approved at Council in February
2021, a Covid-19 Contingency budget of £697.5k was approved.

b)

Currently the best estimate of additional costs and loss of income from Covid-19
for 2021/22 are £570.6k. This currently suggests a saving against the

Page 115

contingency budget of £126.9k, we will continue to review the effects the
remaining winter months have on this variance particularly around high risk areas
such as car parks.
c)

Under the Government Sales Fees and Charges Support Scheme we were able
to submit one final claim for the period of April to July 2021. A claim was
submitted for £116k, of which £65k is budgeted for in 2021/22. At the time of
writing this report, confirmation of approval of the claim by DLUHC has not yet
been received.

d)

Business as Usual (BAU) – in order to fully understand the underlying position
the business as usual position has been separately identified–excluding the
impact of Covid-19. The approved net revenue budget for 2020/21 set by
Council in February 2021 was £11.9m which included a vacancy factor savings
target of £478.4k. Additionally, carry forward requests of £469.8k were approved
by Cabinet on 23 June 2021. Expenditure budgets have been increased in
accordance with those approved carry forwards along with the matching funding
from reserves.

e)

The MTFP approved at Council on 27th July 2021 considered some of the longer
term financial pressures/opportunities, including reinstating the pay award
assumption for 2021/22 of 2% of £214k, removing the re-building of General
Reserve no longer required for Covid-19 of £315.8k, expenditure relating Local
Government Reorganisation of £250k and adjusting for Interest Payable of
£130.3k. All these amendments are net to £17.9k additional expenditure and are
indicative figures.

Overall, at the end of Quarter 3, budget monitoring has identified a forecast business
as usual year-end overspend of £46k. This compared to a projected overspend at the
same period in 2020/21 was £65k. We are still assessing the financial impact of
damage during Storm Arwen, have requested assistance under the Bellwin Scheme
from DLUHC and are awaiting a response.
3.0.2 Capital – Appendix 2 sets out the position on the capital programme. The capital
budget for 2021/22 approved by Council in February was £19.085m. The working
budget has changed a number of times since being set, and following a review of the
capital programme in the autumn the programme is now valued at £14.602m for
2021/22. As at 31/12/2021 nearly £5m had been spent and of the remaining £9.8m
over £5m is for grants where agreements are close to being finalised, so we are
confident that we should spend the majority of this before the end of the financial year.
3.0.3 Treasury – Appendix 3 provides an update on Treasury management for the Quarter.
3.1

Business as Usual Revenue Variances by Leadership Team

3.1.1 Appendix 1 provides the detail of the 2021/22 Quarter 3 (Q3) revenue variances for
service area grouped by lead officer. The projected out-turn is for a net overspend of
c£46k for business as usual. Further detail of the current projections is provided below
in Table 1 and paragraphs a. to f. At the same position last year (2020/21) there was
a projected overspend of £65k.

Page 116

Table 1: Summary by Service Area
Current
Working
Budget Full
Year
£000
7,270

Expenditure
Variance
to Date
£000

Income
Variance
to Date
£000

Overall
Variance
to Date
£000

Out-turn
projection
BAU*
£000

Out-Turn
projection
Covid-19
£000

(179)

22

(157)

(334)

(640)

Customer and Locality
Services (b)

2,298

(30)

5

(25)

(9)

0

Place and Environment (c)

5,270

71

156

227

269

140

People Welfare and
Income Maximisation (d)

10,086

62

(35)

27

54

135

Delivery and Commercial
Services (e)

4,498

57

164

221

264

238

(29,404)

(213)

12

(201)

(198)

0

18

(232)

324

92

46

(127)

Strategy, Innovation and
Resources (a)

Corporate Items (f)
Total GF

*BAU = Business as usual

a.

Strategy Innovation and Resources– the current projection is for a £334k saving
against budget, due to:


£144k transfer from the NNDR pool reserve to cover Economy and Culture
permanent establishment and free up establishment budget to cover the cost of
agency across multiple services due to issues with recruitment into service critical
posts. This was approved at Council 11 November 2021. As this is across many
services for simplicity the variance is shown within other general fund items;



£60k projected underspend relating to the Debt Advisory growth bid;



£60k projected underspend against car allowances corporately. This underspend is
made up of various smaller underspends (less than £10k) across many services,
therefore rather than reporting separately against each service, this has been
highlighted within Strategy, Innovation and Resources. This will be highlighted
across the various services at out-turn;



£40k underspend on the Customer Connect Transition Training budget for which a
carry forward has been requested. Some of the programmed training is currently
going through procurement and it is unlikely that part of this training will be delivered
in this financial year;



£30k projected underspend on salaries for the Performance Innovation and
Commissioning Lead Specialist post;



£25k projected underspend for corporate apprentice posts which are currently
vacant and out for recruitment;



£20k projected underspend against the corporate training budget; and



£14.7k vacancy saving allowance which will not be achieved within Management
Team; and



£30k overspend on insurance mainly for premises and transport insurance. As with
the underspend on car allowances this is across various services and therefore for
simplicity has been highlighted in Strategy, Innovation and Resources.

Page 117

b.

Customer and Locality Services – there is currently a £9k projected underspend within
Customer and Locality Services, which is made up of small underspends on training,
uniforms and the consultation budget.

c.

Place and Environment Services – The current projection is for a £269k overspend.
The main reasons for the projected overspend are:

d.

e.



£20k projected income surplus due to high demand earlier in the year for land
search fees;



£20k projected surplus in building control income;



£5k projected shortfall in rental income at Mintworks due to reduced demand for
office space at the property;



£15k shortfall in income for licences at gambling premises due to there being very
few of these premises in the area;



£25k net shortfall in Private Water income;



£60k projected shortfall in planning income due to no major housing developments
in the pipeline. There are still a high number of smaller applications on going,
however the income from these is much less than what would be received for a
major property development; and



£204k overspend on salaries within places and environment, £43k of which is the
vacancy saving target which will not be achieved and the remainder due to the use
of agency staff to fill vacant posts we are currently recruiting to in order to continue
service delivery.

People, Welfare and Income Maximisation – the current projection is for a £54k BAU
overspend within this service, due to various variances. These are:


£12k surplus income for funding received from Cumbria County Council towards
Local Care Leaver Discounts applied to Council Tax in 2019/20 and 2020/21;



£30k projected additional income for housing benefit relating to
emergency/temporary accommodation for homelessness which is not currently
budgeted for; and



£96k deficit within rent allowances. Housing Benefit payments and the subsidy
income relating to these payments have been reducing since the introduction of
Universal Credits however current budgets don’t reflect this reduction. The admin
grant received for Housing Benefit has also reduced due to the reduction in case
load. Additionally external audit fees have increased significantly nationally.

Delivery and Commercial Services - the current projection is for a £264k overspend.
This is made up of a number of variances across the service and these are:


£10k surplus against budget on rental income from industrial units following rent
reviews;



£10k expected surplus for litter bin supply and emptying;



£7k overspend on salaries at Town View Fields due to use of agency/casual staff
to cover absence;



£13k anticipated shortfall in rental income for investment properties which are
currently vacant;

Page 118

f.



£22k projected shortfall in income for Town View Fields Hostel due to occupancy
levels;



£23k overspend for 2020/21 Kendal Museum management fee which was not paid
until 2021/22;



£37k shortfall in income for other homelessness accommodation, original budget
based on more units then we were able to develop. An budget pressure has been
put in the 2022/23 budgets to reflect this;



£52k vacancy saving target will not be achieved within the waste/recycling collection
service due to requirement to keep the service running;



£60k deficit within the Transport service, of which £40k relates to a shortfall in
income for works to contract vehicles and the remaining £20k relates to an
overspend on repairs and maintenance to the fleet; and



£70k shortfall for Braithwaite Fold Caravan Park due to delays with lease until there
was further clarity on Covid-19.

Corporate – there is currently an underspend of £198k within corporate items. The
main reasons for this being:


£213k underspend for Minimum Revenue Provision. This is due to lower capital
expenditure and timing of the completion of some capital schemes; and



£15k shortfall on interest from investments due to low interest rates throughout the
financial year.

Analysis of employee budgets
3.1.2

The position on employee costs at Quarter 3 is summarised in Table 2 below

3.1.3

The total variance is an overspend of £91k, 0.8% of the year to date budget. This
includes the 4% vacancy saving built in to all direct employee cost budgets. The figure
has reduced when compared to the overspend of £121k reported at Quarter 2. This is
following the transfer from NNDR Pool Reserve to fund £144k of salary costs for
Economy and Culture Specialists within the current establishment in order to free up
establishment funding to cover use of agency for service critical posts while out for
recruitment. This was agreed at Council on 11 November 2021.

Table 2: Employee costs

3.1.4

Full year
budget

Profiled
budget

Actual to
date

Variance

Variance

£000

£000

£000

£000

%

14,959

11,084

11,175

91

0.8%

Included in Table 2 above is expenditure on contract and agency staff. The total spend
on this element of employee costs is £777k against a profiled budget of £382k. This
expenditure on contract and agency staff equates to 6.95% of the total spend on
employee costs in Quarter 3. The majority of this relates to:
 Specialist-Place (£159k) which is for development control specialists;
 Case Management Welfare and Income Maximisation (£126k) mainly to cover
revenue and benefits response to Covid-19;

Page 119

 Waste/Recycling service (£103k) to cover sickness and vacancies in order to deliver
the service;
 Specialists Environment (£91k) which is for environmental protection specialists
backfilling current establishment which are working on the Covid-19 response;
 Specialists Welfare and Income Maximisation (£57k) mainly to cover revenue and
benefits response to Covid-19;
 Community Housing Fund (£54k) for Community Led Housing Officer;
 Covid-19 (£44k) to cover the response to the pandemic e.g. Compliance;
 Case Management People (£38k) to cover the homelessness response to Covid19;
 Specialists People (£35k) to cover Housing Support; and
 Town View Fields (£21k) to cover the hostel while staff have been shielding/selfisolating.
The majority of the above cover the use of agency while we carry out recruitment to
vacant posts and continue service delivery during the Covid-19 pandemic.
3.2

Capital programme

3.2.1 The 2021/22 budget for capital was initially £19.085m, and following a review of the
programme in the autumn the results of which was agreed by Council on 14 December
2021, the value of the Capital Programme now stands at £14.603m. Spend at the end
of Quarter 3 was £4.922m, with a further £1.797m of committed expenditure through
purchase orders.
Table 3: Summary of capital programme and expenditure
Full Year
Budget
£000

Lead
Digital
Place and Environmental
Services
People, Welfare & Income
Maximisation
Delivery and Commercial
Services
Strategy
Customer and Locality Services
Grand Total

Expenditure
£000

Budget
Remaining
£000

264

140

124

6,579

794

5,785

2,090

484

1,606

5,262

3,221

2,041

147

103

44

261

180

81

14,603

4,922

9,681

3.2.2 Included in the remaining budget is £4.5m in grants payments due on completion of
the legal agreements which we expect to be completed before 31 March, along with
another claim based grant for which we are expecting a claim for £1m for the last
quarter.
3.2.3 The scheme for South Lakeland House and Kendal Town Hall reconfiguration is
expected to be overspent. Officers are currently working on determining the exact level
of the overspend and this will also be funded through borrowing as per the scheme as
a whole.

Page 120

3.2.4 Appendix 2 contains further comments and updates on all capital schemes.
3.3

Treasury Management

3.3.1 Appendix 3 contains an overview of the Council’s position against the agreed
indicators and limits.
3.3.2 To date the Council’s investments have performed well against market expectations,
with all investments performing in excess of their benchmarks.
3.3.3 There has been no increase in borrowing this year and following a review of the capital
programme internal borrowing as a percentage of reserves has fallen to 35.58% from
46.8% reducing the pressure to borrow.
3.4

Collection Fund

3.4.1 Table 4 below sets out the performance on local tax collection. The Council Tax
Collection rate at 31 December 2021 was 85.94%, which is 0.54% below the level
target. This is an increase against Quarter 2 and is as a result of SLDC being more
flexible with payment arrangements to enable Council Tax payers to recover from the
effects of Covid-19. The team are continuing to monitor this.
3.4.2 The Non-Domestic Rates (NDR) collection rate figure is 76.18% which is 6.54% below
target. This is an improvement on Quarter 2 where it was 9.81% below target. There
has been an increase recently in direct debit payments and more payment plans have
been extended until March 2022, therefore it is expected there will be a continued
improvement in the collection rate against target for the remainder of the year.
3.4.3 Table 4: Local Taxation Collection rate
Percentage
Collected
Quarter 1

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

%

%

%

%

%

%

Council Tax

86.14

86.18

86.36

86.48

84.81

85.94

Business
Rates

82.55

82.35

82.29

82.72

75.94

76.18

3.4.4 Government have now enacted legislation which states Covid-19 is not a valid reason
for a material change in circumstances (MCC) appeal against the rateable value of
business properties and have instead put in place a Covid-19 Additional Relief Fund
to assist business rate payers affected. The Council is currently working up a relief
scheme. Further details will be published once this has been agreed.
3.5

Sundry Debts

3.5.1 The aim of this section is to describe the current debt position and to provide assurance
over collection performance. Table 5 below summarises the current collection rate on
sundry debts:

Page 121

3.5.2 Table 5: Summary of collection
2016/17
and
earlier

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22
to date

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

57

22

41

59

167

430

Total value of invoices
/ credit notes raised

33,648

5,086

5,696

6,138

6,003

4,341

Collection Rate (%)

99.83

99.57

99.27

99.04

97.23

90.09

Debt outstanding

3.5.3

An analysis of outstanding sundry debts reveals that over 99% of debts have been
recovered in years up to 2019/20.

3.5.4

In the current year to date, 90.09% of debt has been recovered this is an increase
compared to 84.44% at the same time in 2020/21. The table below splits down in
more detail the age profile of the current outstanding debts. 15% of the current year
debt relates to invoices which are less than a month old and therefore not overdue.
Table 6: Age profile of 2021/22 invoices

3.6

2021/22 Invoices

£000

7 months or more
overdue
6 months overdue

48.2

5 months overdue

6.2

4 months overdue

48.8

40% of this debt relates to moorings and is going through the
recovery process

3 months overdue

22.7

2 months overdue

199.4

This relates to one invoice and an instalment plan is currently
being arranged
82% of this debt relates to one invoice for recycling credits
which is usually paid within six weeks

1 month overdue

22.3

Not yet due

64.9

Total end of
Quarter 3

430.0

37% of this debt relates to market rents where instalment
arrangements have been made. 28% relates to lake
encroachments which are being pursued by Legal

17.5

Write-Offs

3.6.1 Per Section 28 of the Financial Procedure Rules the Chief Finance Officer can only
approve the write-off of debts up to a value of £20k. For debts over this value
approval is required by Cabinet. The following two write-offs are therefore presented
for approval of Cabinet.
a.

A sundry debtor account write-off of £24,016.44 of costs incurred in relation to works
in default that are now deemed irrecoverable due to the age of the debt and the
debtor passing away.

b.

A write-off of a business rate debt of £29,217.28 relating to 2011 and 2012. Liability
orders were obtained and it was passed to enforcement agents who were unable to
recover the debt. Due to the age and the unlikely prospect of collection it is
recommended that this debt is written-off.

Page 122

3.7

Creditors

3.7.1

At Quarter 3 the council had made 15,120 payments to creditors totalling over
£313m, of this 97.63% were paid within 30 days as can be seen in Table 7 below
Table 7: Creditors Performance
Payment
Method

Paid Within 30 days

Over 30 days

£000
BACS

£000

£000

14,161

50,871

345

1,215

14,506

52,086

CHAPS

154

254,043

0

0

154

254,043

Direct Debit

447

7,134

13

29

460

7,162

14,762

312,048

358

1,244

15,120

313,291

97.63%

99.60%

2.37%

0.40%

Totals
%

3.7.2

Total

As at 31 December 2021 there were 34 invoices/credit notes outstanding, this can be
analysed as follows:
Table 8: Outstanding Invoices/Credit Notes

£

%

Invoice in dispute

6

76,697.58

36.41

306

Credit notes
Ready for payment on next
pay run

8

-4389.15

-2.08

883

3

1,059.57

0.50

47

Awaiting Goods Received Note
Paid since end of Dec

3.7.3

Average
Days
outstanding

2

790.22

0.37

75

15
34

136,494.40
210,652.62

64.80
100.00

60

Further work is being undertaken by officers to understand why invoices are in
dispute. Since running the Quarter 3 figures one of the disputed invoices valuing
£58,681.00 has been cancelled as it was confirmed it was a duplicate. The credit
notes relate to suppliers which are no longer in use and we are perusing refunds to
settle these.

4.0 Appendices Attached to this Report
Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

Revenue Monitoring Q3 2021-22

2

Capital Monitoring Q3 2021-22

3

Treasury Management Update Q3 2021-22

5.0

Consultation

5.1

Senior management, budget holders and the Finance Portfolio Holder have been
consulted.

5.2

This report went to Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 4th February 2022 and a
verbal update of any comments will be given.

Page 123

6.0

Alternative Options

6.1

There are no alternative options for Appendices 1-3

7.0

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1

Finance and resource information is contained within the report.

Human Resources
7.2

This report has no direct impact on the staffing of the Council.

Legal
7.3

There are no direct legal implications arising from this report.

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment
7.4

Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment? No

7.5

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: This
report is an historic view of financial performance. The overall impact assessment of
the choices and decisions required to set the annual budget is undertaken at budget
setting time.

7.6

There are no additional health, social, economic and environmental impacts as a
result of the report.

Equality and Diversity
7.7

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No

7.8

If you have not completed an Impact Analysis, please explain your reasons: This
report is an historic view of financial performance. The overall impact assessment of
the choices and decisions required to set the annual budget is undertaken at budget
setting time.

Risk

Consequence

Controls required

Not effectively managing
budgets could lead to
overspending.

Possible legal challenge,
audit qualification and ultra
vires expenditure.

Scrutiny of budgets
through review of
monitoring reports.

Recurring pressures or savings
are not identified

Medium Term Financial
Planning may not reflect
the future impact of current
issues.

Regular monitoring of
budgets in year to inform
the MTFP and annual
budget setting process.

Contact Officers
Claire Chouchoulas, Finance Specialist, c.chouchoulas@southlakeland.gov.uk, 01539
793154
Claire Read, Finance Specialist; Claire.Read@southlakeland.gov.uk, 01539 793152
Helen Smith, Finance Lead Specialist and S151 Officer, h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk,
01539 793147

Page 124

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document

Where it is available

2021/22 Budget Book including https://tinyurl.com/vtst3ez4
MTFP projections
Budget Setting Report
Medium Term Financial
2021/22-2026/27

https://tinyurl.com/uyyt8wte
Plan https://tinyurl.com/rf3na7k3

Corporate Financial Update Quarter https://tinyurl.com/yc5cn7ac
2, 2021/22
Tracking Information
Signed off by
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
CMT

Date sent
17/01/2022
17/01/2022
17/01/2022

Circulated to
Lead Specialist
Human Resources Lead Specialist
Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
17/01/2022
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
17/01/2022
N/A
04/02/2022
09/02/2022
22/02/2022

Page 125

Date Signed off
25/01/2022
24/01/2022
19/01/2022

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 126

Appendix 1
The purpose of this appendix is to set out the revenue budget variance projections based on data up to 31/12/2021 Quarter 3
BAU = Business as usual

Service

Expenditure
Budget Full
Year
£

Current Full
Income Budget
Year Working
Full Year
Budget
£
£

Expenditure
Variance
to Date
£

Income
Variance
to Date
£

Overall
Variance
to Date
£

BAU Out-turn
projection
>£10k

BAU Out-turn
projection
less Carry
Forward
Requests >
£10k

BAU Carry
Forward
Requests
>£10k

Covid-19
Outturn
Projections
£

BAU Commentary

COVID-19 Commentary

Strategy, Innovation and Resources

DSP

Performance Innovation Commiss

169,424

0

169,424

-31,240

0

-31,240

-30,000

0

-30,000

Underspend of £30k for PIC Lead Specialist
for first half of the financial year. Post
0 reviewed at HR Committee and approval to
use for Principal Specialist given. Post now
recruited to.

GCG

Community Grants

257,450

0

257,450

-50,975

0

-50,975

-60,000

0

-60,000

0

EXS

Policy and Performance

136,800

0

136,800

0

0

0

-40,000

0

-40,000

Potential underspend of £40k for Customer
0 Connect Transition Training which has been
delayed. Carry forward requested

DXC

Management Team

368,780

0

368,780

6,892

0

6,892

14,700

0

14,700

Due to being fully staffed the vacancy saving
0 allowance of £14.7k will not be achieved for
this area

GTH

Other Items

739,294

-513,291

226,003

0

0

0

0

0

0

Underpsend of £60k for Debt Advisory Growth
Bid

-639,852

Page 127

GZZ

Other GF Items

214,000

0

214,000

0

0

0

-174,000

0

-174,000

Due to ongoing problems with recruitment a
transfer of £144k from the NNDR pool reserve
was agreed at Council 11.11.21. This is to
cover salary costs for Economy and Culture
Specialists within the current establishment in
order to free up establishment funding for use
of agency in service critical posts. £30k
0
overspend on insurance mainly for transport
and premises and £60k projected underspend
on car allowances. These are across many
individual cost centres and we have therefore
reported as one single amount for ease,
however they will show accross the individual
cost centres at out-turn.

DSH

Human Resources

353,156

-3,514

349,642

-32,798

2,635

-30,163

-45,000

0

-45,000

Underspend of £25k for apprentice posts while
0 vacant - now all recruited to; £20k anticipated
underspend on Corporate training budget

GMM

Members

398,236

0

398,236

-28,912

0

-28,912

0

0

0

£30k potential underspend on unclaimed
0 Member's Allowance, to be transferred to the
Personal Financial Resilience Reserve

0

Potential carry forward of Customer Connect
Digital Innovation Project budgets. Spend for
21/22 will be reviewed and amount to be
0 carried forward will be confirmed in coming
months. This is highly dependent on the
outcome of the review for large projects in the
run up to LGR

ECU

Customer Services

545,400

0

545,400

0

0

0

0

0

Other Strategy, Innovation and Resources

5,135,145

-530,609

4,604,536

-41,864

19,635

-22,229

0

0

0

Total Strategy, Innovation and Resources

8,317,685

-1,047,414

7,270,271

-178,897

22,270

-156,627

-334,300

0

-334,300

0 Individual variances <£10k

1,278,242

-75

1,278,167

-6,926

-624

-7,550

-4,100

0

-4,100

0 Saving relating to training and uniforms

10,000

0

10,000

-7,500

0

-7,500

-5,000

0

-5,000

0 Saving relating to consultations

1,102,720
2,390,962

-93,245
-93,320

1,009,475
2,297,642

-15,541
-29,967

5,906
5,282

-9,635
-24,685

0
-9,100

0
0

0
-9,100

0 Individual variances <£10k
0

-639,852

Customer and Commercial Services
Operational Lead Customer and Locality Services
DCL

Customer and Locality Services

GPR

Consultation

Other Customer and Locality Services
Total Operational Lead Customer and Locality Ser

£697,500 Covid-19 Contigency Budget - part
offset by £57.6k extra costs associated with
Covid-19 (agency, equipment, etc) within
GTH55. Remainder expected to be offset by
overspends/shortfalls in income across
services

Service

Expenditure
Budget Full
Year
£

Current Full
Income Budget
Year Working
Full Year
Budget
£
£

Expenditure
Variance
to Date
£

Income
Variance
to Date
£

Overall
Variance
to Date
£

BAU Out-turn
projection
>£10k

BAU Out-turn
projection
less Carry
Forward
Requests >
£10k

BAU Carry
Forward
Requests
>£10k

Covid-19
Outturn
Projections
£

BAU Commentary

COVID-19 Commentary

Operational Lead Place and Environment

DCS

Specialist Services

GBC

Building Control

GDC

Development Control

Page 128

GED

Economic Development

GLC

GME

GWS

2,339,136

-134

2,339,002

127,003

0

127,003

204,000

0

204,000

36,624

-349,001

-312,377

-4,230

-15,224

-19,455

-20,000

0

-20,000

79,187

-553,170

-473,983

-11,994

113,128

101,133

60,000

0

60,000

4,206,416

-108,436

4,097,980

-7,082

5,530

-1,552

5,000

0

5,000

Local Land Charges

93,648

-250,000

-156,352

5,953

-11,907

-5,955

-20,000

0

-20,000

Gambling Licensing

629

-22,108

-21,479

-449

10,930

10,481

15,000

0

15,000

Water Sampling

Other Specialist Services
Total Operational Lead Place and Environment

61,002

-114,287

-53,285

-23,208

48,609

25,401

25,000

0

25,000

253,206
7,069,848

-402,625
-1,799,761

-149,419
5,270,087

-15,501
70,491

4,844
155,910

-10,657
226,401

0
269,000

0
0

0
269,000

£204k potential overspend on salaries, of
which £43k is vacancy saving target which will
0 not be achieved and the remainder is use of
agency to cover vacant posts in order to
continue service delivery
£20k surplus projected on building control
0
income
Potential income shortfall of £65k in planning
income due to no major development
applications in the pipeline, part offset by £5k
projected underspend on expenditure. There
are still a high number of smaller applications
on going, however the income from these is
100,000 much less than what would be received for a
major property development. Also fees and
charges are set nationally and these have
been fixed for the last couple of years,
however budgeted costs of running the
service have increased (e.g. salaries) To be
reviewed monthly through monitoring

Potential income shortfall of £105k in planning
income, part offset by £5k projected
underspend on expenditure. As a result of the
Covid-19 pandemic larger applications for
house builds and commercial developments
have slowed down due to supply chain issues
and lack of contractors available. Confidence
in the market has also been affected and
which has led to projects being shelved until
there is more certainty about the economic
outlook.

£10k potential shortfall in Mintworks income,
due to reduced demand for meeting rooms as
a result of Covid-19. £5k further projected
£5k potential BAU shortfall in Mintworks rental shortfall in income for the rents as less
demand for the office space as a result of
15,000 income, due to reduced demand for office
space.
Covid-19 and the requirement to work from
home if possible. There is less certainty
around this with the pandemic, however levels
expected to return in 2022/23.
£20k projected income surplus due to high
0
demand for search fees earlier in the year
Potential net shortfall of £15k due to there only
0 being a very small number of gambling
premises in the district
Potential net shortfall of £25k, consisting of
Potential BAU net shortfall of £25k, consisting
shortfall on Water Sampling income, and
of shortfall on Water Sampling income, and
corresponding underspend on Sampling &
25,000
corresponding underspend on Sampling &
Inspection Fee expenditure. This is due to
Inspection Fee expenditure.
Covid-19 restrictions
0 Individual variances <£10k
140,000

Individual variances <£10k

Operational Lead People, Welfare and Income Maximisation

DCM

Case Management

GFT

Council Tax Collection

GHM

GHT

£50k potential overspend on salaries partly
due vacancy saving target which will not be
achieved due to need to continue service
delivery as a result of Covid-19 and agency to
cover Revs and Bens backlog as a result of
Covid-19

2,204,036

-84,485

2,119,551

34,483

0

34,482

0

0

0

50,000

29,000

-182,832

-153,832

1

-11,817

-11,817

-11,800

0

-11,800

0

£11.8k surplus income for funding received
from CCC towards Local Care Leaver
Discounts applied to Council Tax in 2019/20
and 2020/21

Homelessness

270,568

-226,625

43,943

-7,479

-22,702

-30,181

-30,000

0

-30,000

0

£30k projected additional income for housing
benefit relating to emergency/temporary
accomodation for homelessness not currently
budgeted for

Housing Standards

593,461

-4,520

588,941

59,609

-296

59,313

0

0

0

85,000

Potential shortfall of £85k relating to DFG
admin levy income due to very large backlog
of applications as a result of Covid-19.

Service

GRA

Expenditure
Budget Full
Year
£

Rent Allowances

Other Case Management
Total Operational Lead People, Welfare and Incom

Current Full
Income Budget
Year Working
Full Year
Budget
£
£

Expenditure
Variance
to Date
£

Income
Variance
to Date
£

Overall
Variance
to Date
£

BAU Out-turn
projection
>£10k

BAU Out-turn
projection
less Carry
Forward
Requests >
£10k

BAU Carry
Forward
Requests
>£10k

15,719,775

-16,074,530

-354,755

0

0

0

96,000

0

96,000

8,603,436
27,420,276

-760,983
-17,333,975

7,842,453
10,086,301

-24,646
61,966

-286
-35,101

-24,932
26,865

0
54,200

0
0

0
54,200

Covid-19
Outturn
Projections
£

BAU Commentary

COVID-19 Commentary

Housing Benefit payments and the subsidy
income relating to these payments have been
reducing since the introduction of Universal
Credits however the current budgets don't
reflect this. The admin grant received for
0 Housing Benefit has also reduced due the
reduction in case load. Additionally external
audit fees have increased significantly
nationally. A budget pressure bid has been
completed for future years to reflect these
changes
0 Individual variances <£10k
135,000

Individual variances <£10k

Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial Services

GCK

Page 129

GCS

Car Parks

Caravan Site

GHL

Town View Field Hostel

GLE

Leisure Centres (incl Pools)

GLW

Lake Windermere

GMU

Museum

GPH

Public Halls

2,315,351

216,493

-4,955,254

-434,146

-2,639,903

-217,653

936

102

60,734

0

61,670

102

0

70,000

0

0

90,000

Potentail shortfall of £60k income on car parks
as a result of Covid-19. Although there was
increased use of car parks in the Lakes during
the summer months, which outweighed the
fact that income from town centres was lower
than previous years, this is beginning to slow
down slightly. At present it is difficult to
quantify due to Plan B Covid restrictions but
income will continue to be reviewed monthly
through budget monitoring and further updates
will be provided. Also as a result of Covid-19
there has been greater use of pay by card and
pay by phone therefore credit card
commission charges are much higher than
previous years which will result in an
overspend of c£30k.

70,000

£70k anticipated shortfall in income from
Brathwaite Fold caravan park due to delay
90,000
signing lease until there was further clarity on
the impact of Covid-19

£90k anticipated shortfall in income due to
Covid-19 restrictions at the beginning of the
financial year. A claim for this amount has
been submitted for the Sales, Fees and
Charges Grant. This is pending approval from
DLUHC.

£22k shortfall in income for Town View Fields
Hostel due to occupancy levels. £37k
projected shortfall in income from other
homelessness accomodation, original budget
based on more units than we were able to
22,000 develop. An adjustment has been put in to the
2022/23 budgets to reflect this. £7k overspend
expected on salaries due to use of
Agency/contract to cover staff shortages. The
hostel needs to be covered 24/7 therefore
unable to revise staffing costs.

£9k shortfall in income for Town View Fields
hostel due to Covid-19 restrictions affecting
the availability of units to rent in April and May.
£13k projected overspend on salaries due to
use of agency/casual due to staff either
shielding/isolating due to Covid-19. The hostel
needs to be covered 24/7 therefore unable to
revise staffing costs.

0

467,548

-269,701

197,847

19,358

51,696

71,053

66,000

0

66,000

1,111,739

-21,938

1,089,801

-73,663

0

-73,663

0

0

0

555,924

-1,478,703

-922,779

232

6,291

6,523

0

0

0

0

Awaiting further comments regarding
Encroachment Rents Income.

49,371

0

49,371

27,111

0

27,111

23,000

0

23,000

0

£23k overspend relates to 20/21 Management
Fee.

212,804

-98,059

114,745

-808

38,532

37,725

0

0

0

40,000

Potential carry forward request relating to
-76,000 Ulverston Leisure Centre, due to progress of
phases

Financial support for 2021 due to Covid-19
has been agreed at £170k. Original estimate
for the accrual was £246k therefor there will
be an underspend against this estimate.

Shortfall of £40k in income at Kendal Town
Hall due to Covid-19.

Service

GSY

Sundry Properties

GTG

Street Cleansing Client

Page 130

GTS

Transport

GUL

Industrial Units Landlord

GWK

Kerbside Coll Recycling Client

Expenditure
Budget Full
Year
£

Current Full
Income Budget
Year Working
Full Year
Budget
£
£

Expenditure
Variance
to Date
£

Income
Variance
to Date
£

Overall
Variance
to Date
£

BAU Out-turn
projection
>£10k

BAU Out-turn
projection
less Carry
Forward
Requests >
£10k

BAU Carry
Forward
Requests
>£10k

Covid-19
Outturn
Projections
£

BAU Commentary

£13k Potential shortfall due to vacant
Investment Properties. This will be reviewed
12,000
through monthly budget monitoring if the
properties become occupied.

211,509

-168,726

42,783

10,823

3,760

14,583

13,000

0

13,000

1,179,255

-16,667

1,162,588

-3,138

-13,184

-16,322

-10,000

0

-10,000

0 £10k surplus on litter bin supply and emptying
£40k anticipated shortfall in income for works
to contract vehicles, due to the age of the
vehicles SLDC maintain as part of these
contracts. As these vehicles age income in
future years is expected to increase, of course
this will depend on their replacement
0
programmes. £20k projected overspend for
repairs and maintenance due to the condition
of the sweepers and the Romaquips . The life
cycle of these vehicles are not as long as
originally projected in the vehicle and plant
programme.

111,868

-111,868

0

13,820

29,039

42,858

60,000

0

60,000

1,613

-48,840

-47,227

1,403

-13,133

-11,730

-10,000

0

-10,000

5,308,032

-1,504,474

3,803,558

73,273

63

73,336

52,000

0

52,000

Other Delivery and Commercial Services
Total Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial S

2,280,763
14,022,270

-415,581
-9,523,957

1,865,182
4,498,313

-11,964
57,485

510
164,308

-11,454
221,792

0
264,000

0
0

0
264,000

0 Individual variances <£10k
238,000

Total Customer and Commercial Services

50,903,356

-28,751,013

22,152,343

159,975

290,399

450,374

578,100

0

578,100

513,000

0

-36,272

-36,272

0

11,598

11,598

15,000

0

15,000

-14,950,749

0

-14,950,749

-212,685

0

-212,685

-212,700

0

-212,700

20,832,936
5,882,187

-35,250,670
-35,286,942

-14,417,734
-29,404,755

0
-212,685

0
11,598

0
-201,088

0
-197,700

0
0

0
-197,700

5,882,187

-35,286,942

-29,404,755

-212,685

11,598

-201,088

-197,700

0

-197,700

0

65,103,228
17,859

-65,085,369

17,859

-231,608

324,267

92,659

46,100

0

46,100

-126,852

0

VGS58 Statutory adj. Capital Charges
Other Corporate Items
Total Corporate items
Total Corporate Items
Total GF
Net GF

£12k shortfall in income for the rents as less
demand for the office space as a result of
Covid-19 and the requirement to work from
home if possible. There is less certainty
around this with the pandemic, however levels
expected to return in 2022/23.

£10k surplus on income from Industrial Units
due to rent increases on certain units.

Due to service requirement the Vacancy
£60k additional costs associated with staff
60,000 saving allowance of £52k will not be achieved shielding/isolating as a result of Covid-19.
for this area.
Offset by Covid-19 contigency budget in GTH.

Corporate items
VGR26 Investment Interest

COVID-19 Commentary

Potential shortfall of £15k for investment
interest
Due to lower capital expenditure and timing of
completion of capital schemes in 2020/21
0
there is an underspend on Minimum Revenue
Provision of £212.7k
0
0
0

Individual variances <£10k

SLDC 2021/22 Capital Programme Monitoring Period 9

Lead/code

Scheme

Full Year
Budget
£

Appendix 2

Variance
to Date
£

Expenditure
£

Anticipated reprofiling
£

Commentary

Digital
KIT27

Mobile Working for Streetscene

Page 131

0

0

0

Business requirements and objectives to be defined, specification
to be created and procurement route agreed in order for project to
commence. Not likely to proceed prior to LGR.

KIT30

Digital Innovation Project

82,916

43,032

-39,884

IT hardware and software to support new office arrangements and
ways of working. Progressing, potential underspend, some linked
to development management project and intergration with
MyAccount. This project likely to start in Jan 2022. £30k has been
reprofiled to next year.

KIT32

Transport Software

35,000

0

-35,000

KIT33

Income Management System
Upgrade

40,000

21,603

-18,397

Business requirements and objectives to be defined, specification
to be created and procurement route agreed in order for project to
commence. Aiming to get done prior to LGR, may slip into next
financial year.
Live upgrade now installed. Further works to improve process
efficiency ordered..

KIT90

IT Replacement Fund

106,309

75,430

-30,879

264,225

140,066

-124,159

1,755,527

716,361

-1,039,166

Total Digital

Place and Environment
KDE06
ERDF Funded Flood Defence Works

The ICT replacement programme will take place throughout the
year. There has been a budget transfer of £50k covering Covid
expenditure incurred in the previous year. £54k reprofiled to next
financial year.
0

SLDC are accountable body. Work has now commenced and
invoices will be received from EA quarterly in line with funding
agreement. First quarter payment now made. Can't anticipate EA
claims for remainder of year, but expect to spend majority of
budget.

SLDC 2021/22 Capital Programme Monitoring Period 9

Page 132

Lead/code

Scheme

KDE07

Coastal Communities Fund

KDE08

EA lead Flood Defence Work

KIT34

Full Year
Budget
£
120,000

Expenditure
£
77,698

Appendix 2

Variance
Anticipated reto Date
profiling
Commentary
£
£
-42,303
0 CCF project started 1 May 2019, funded by MHCLG. Scheme is
over two years. Funding for SLDC and Morecambe Bay
Partnership (MBP), then we will pay over to MBP their share.
SLDC is accountable body. Scheme is for works at Grange
promenade will start on site Jan 2022. Delayed funding agreement
with MHCLG now in place. Leadership Team decision to pause
project until new financial year as part of Covid prioritisation
process. £120k to be spent in year, remainder reprofiled.

50,000

0

-50,000

Scheme split into 3 areas - public realm work (£250k), Aynam
Road glass panels (£250k) and public arts (£50k). Public realm
work is in discussion with EA and CCC to determine the areas
where the work should be undertakenAynam Road and public arts
work progressing. £50k spend now expected in remainder of year
and balance reprofiled.

Development Management System

121,600

0

-121,600

New ICT system for development management progressing to
implementation stage. Contract signed, initial large up-front
payment to be paid soon and then future staged payments
throughout implementation period (18 months) so some re-profiling
will be required into 2022/23.

KAH11

Other Housing Schemes (Cross-aMoor junction improvements)

4,531,700

0

-4,531,700

Highways England leading scheme to build a roundabout to enable
delivery of 1000 homes. Work started on site in Sept, funding
agreement nearly complete and payment in full due on signature of
contract.

KPE18

Towpath Trail Kendal-Lancaster

0

0

0

6,578,827

794,059

-5,784,768

Total Place and Environment

Paused for review now due to LGR. Informal Cabinet to make
decision on future of this scheme.

0

SLDC 2021/22 Capital Programme Monitoring Period 9

Lead/code

Scheme

Full Year
Budget
£

Appendix 2

Variance
to Date
£

Expenditure
£

Anticipated reprofiling
£

Commentary

People, Welfare & Income Maximisation

Page 133

KAH10

Affordable Homes

0

0

0

Currently in discussion with Home Group re site in Ambleside for
social rented housing, and another potential site in Arnside. Early
discussions regarding a potential scheme at Staveley Realistically
unlikely grant agreements will be completed before the end of
March so budget reprofiled to 2022/23.

KAH13

Commuted Sums Affordable Housing

30,000

30,000

0

£30k for Parkside Road scheme now paid. Remainder of budget
for contribution to proposed Brigsteer Road scheme but grant
agreement unlikely to be arranged before the end of March.

KAH15

Next Steps Accommodation

0

0

0

0

KGD21

Mand Disabled Fac Grants

766,810

315,559

-451,251

OT referrals have increased as expected, however, resourcing
issues which are being addressed, are impacting on the
timescales to process and complete grants. Covid impacted on the
delivery of DFGs in terms of customer willingness to have works
undertaken, supply of materials and temporary pausing of the
service in 2020 to 2021. Expected spend on active cases for
remainder of year £550k, remainder of budget carried forward to
next year.

KCH01

Community Housing Fund

443,000

136,825

-306,175

Levens development has begun on site with incremental payment
of grant awards through remainder of financial year expected to
total £250k.Lakeland Housing Trust grant for scheme at Grasmere
£137k has been paid.

KIF01

Housing Investment Fund

850,000

1,691

-848,310

Proposals are being developed for the use of these funds to
support the delivery of affordable housing. £350k on land
acquisition and potential grant applications of £500k in year,
remainder reprofiled.

2,089,810

484,074

-1,605,736

Total People, Welfare & Income Maximisation

0

SLDC 2021/22 Capital Programme Monitoring Period 9

Lead/code

Scheme

Full Year
Budget
£

Appendix 2

Variance
to Date
£

Expenditure
£

Anticipated reprofiling
£

Commentary

Delivery and Commerical Services
KEP52

Disabled Toilet Improvements

Page 134

40,000

0

-40,000

KAH14

Budget covers payments for Millerground (£20k) and Cartmel
(£20k) - commencement date and timing of payments yet to be
determined. Agreement from Windermere TC to progress with
Millerground, awaiting programme from LSH. Works to start in New
Year.

Homeless Accommodation

0

3,544

3,544

KCI01

Scaling On Street Charging
Infrastructure

183,790

59,895

-123,895

KDE10

Kendal Market Lift

60,000

0

-60,000

KDP03

Ellerthwaite Depot

0

0

0

KEP53

Rothay Park Toilets

0

0

0

KFL01

Footway Lighting

0

0

0

Spend dependant on Electricity North West and Cumbria CC
programming works. On hold pending LGR review.

KLH02

Ulverston Asset Transfer programme

0

0

0

UCE now developing a business case for long-term use of funds,
so payment will be delayed until completed - likely to be 3 years
before payment made so budget reprofiled.

To convert facilities at Town View Fields. No works started as yet.
On hold due to LGR review.
Cabinet approved in October 2020 funding of a scheme to work
with other bodies to enable electric vehicle charging points to be
installed at a small number of locations in the district, for residential
use. Needs to be installed before March 2022. Cabinet approval 1
Sept 2021, now progressing.Will be complete and money spent by
Jan 2022.
No work started as yet. TBC March 2022.

Plans have been issued to Windermere Town Council for approval
prior to planning being submitted. Once approved, planning will be
submitted and tender issued. Unlikley now for work to begin this
financial year.
Working up proposals with Lakes Parish Council. Once approval
granted, will issue planning and tender the works. Unlikely for
work to begin this financial year.

SLDC 2021/22 Capital Programme Monitoring Period 9

Lead/code

Scheme

KLH07

SL House & KTH reconfiguration

KLH08

Abbot Hall Redevelopment

KLL19

Full Year
Budget
£
2,709,853

Expenditure
£
2,051,866

Appendix 2

Variance
Anticipated reto Date
profiling
Commentary
£
£
-657,987
Due to be completed end of Feb 2022 but budget will be
overspent.

Page 135

615,000

0

-615,000

300,000 Awaiting formal sign off from LEP before works can commence.
Works now likely to take place in March and April.

Millerground Pumping Station

31,000

1,268

-29,733

KMR21

Kendal Museum alterations

84,051

83,551

-500

KMR33

Braithwaite Fold Caravan Park

0

0

0

KMR34

Kendal Castle

45,115

0

-45,115

KMR36

Monument Kirkby Lonsdale

42,702

39,003

-3,699

KMR37

Ulverston Bank Clock

0

0

0

KMR38

Gooseholme Retaining Wall

50,000

10,548

-39,452

Consultant appointed. Work now done and awaiting invoice.

KMR38

Gooseholme Footbridge contribution

75,000

0

-75,000

Cabinet committed £75k to bridge project Sept 2021. Legal
agreement currently in preparation.

KPY38

WSC Car Park refurbishment

215,038

5,702

-209,336

TBC before March 2022. Seeking waiver to appoint contractor to
undertake urgent works.
Payment made.

Footpaths work tenders have been evaluated. Legal to be
instructed on the works.Will be completed this year.
Listed building application in, tenders received and working up
approvals. Legal instructed on the works, now complete.
No work to date, will not be completed this financial year.

109,000 Work tendered but still requires cabinet approval so likely that only
£100k will be spent in year, remainder in 2022/23.

SLDC 2021/22 Capital Programme Monitoring Period 9

Lead/code

Scheme

KPY42

Car Park machines update

KPY44

Full Year
Budget
£

Appendix 2

Variance
to Date
£

Expenditure
£

Anticipated reprofiling
£

Commentary

Page 136

0

0

0

Payment of first half of project cost agreed and paid in 2019/20.
Remainder pending resolution of outstanding issues. Unlikely to be
resolved by the end of the financial year.

Town and Car Park/public information
Signs

8,682

0

-8,682

KPY46

Car Park resurfacing

1,882

1,882

0

Retention payment

KPY48

Parkside Rd Car Park

0

0

0

Paused until further notice to understand impact of Covid on
parking.

KPY51

Kendal Parking Study

0

0

0

Paused until further notice to understand impact of Covid on
parking.

KRE04

Grange Regeneration Programme

0

994

994

Unlikely to be further progress in 2021/22 now due to planning
issues.

KRE66

Grange Promenade structural works

0

1,800

1,800

Unlikely to be further progress in 2021/22 now due to planning
issues.

KRE67

Grange LIDO

85,616

50,029

-35,587

32,000 Unlikely to be further progress in 2021/22 now due to planning
issues.

KRE68

Windermere Jetty Repairs

0

0

0

KSC91

Refurb Replace Recycled Bins

125,000

69,096

-55,904

Ongoing throughout the year. Framework agreement to be used.

KSC91

Vehicle Purchase

833,739

826,544

-7,196

Four Isuzu vehicles and 3 Dennis Eagle RCVs purchased. Orders
placed for 3 VW vans. Procurement ongoing.

KSC94

Property Services Vehicles

0

0

0

Locality Team leading on this work. Signage will be installed
following adoption of PSPO

Emergency works have been undertaken. Remaining monies
handed back to submit further bid for larger scheme.

Vehicles through lease agreement, so expenditure will be annual
revenue payments.

SLDC 2021/22 Capital Programme Monitoring Period 9

Lead/code

Scheme

KXB27

Energy Saving Building
Enhancement

Total Delivery and Commercial Services

Full Year
Budget
£
55,916

Expenditure
£
15,599

Appendix 2

Variance
Anticipated reto Date
profiling
Commentary
£
£
-40,317
Work at Ferry Nab in planning, to be completed winter 2021/22
after Summer season. Tenders back and legal instructed to
underatake the work.

5,262,384

3,221,320

-2,041,064

106,265

7,563

-98,702

0

79,283

79,283

40,496

16,000

-24,496

146,761

102,846

-43,915

1,400

1,167

-233

0

0

0

65,000

0

-65,000

441,000

Strategy

Page 137

KMR35

Burton Heritage Grant Scheme

KIL01

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

KIP01

Locally Important Projects

Total Strategy
Customer and Locality Services
KLL18
Cockshott Point entrance
improvements
KLC03

Ulverston Leisure Centre

KNM51

Play Areas

Public realm work in the square is complete, subject to final
remedial work on defects. Grant offers have been made to 7
properties. One grant–aided scheme is complete, main grant of
£50k to the Royal Hotel is well advanced and may complete in
year. Repair work to the remaining five has yet to commence, with
delays in part due to shortage of materials.

Broughton 20mph scheme £6k and £10k to Kendal Town Council
for ivy screens project now paid.Remaining instalment for
Broughton scheme £7.5k, Kirkby Lonsdale Town Council £5k for
Dodgson Croft and £12k Kendal CS potentially will be paid out in
year. Other projects are moving slowly and not in a position to
draw up contracts and reprofiled to next year.
0

New signage now installed by National Trust. Scheme complete.
Scheme on hold.
Budget earmarked to be used for Owlet Ash (£20k) and remaining
£45k allocated to play area work over the winter months.Owlet Ash
now unlikely to start in 2020/21 and will require carry forward.

SLDC 2021/22 Capital Programme Monitoring Period 9

Lead/code

Scheme

LNM58

Kendal Parks play area

Full Year
Budget
£
3,908

KNM63

Queens Park play area

KNM70
KLR31

Variance
to Date
£

Anticipated reprofiling
£

3,901

-7

183,440

171,243

-12,197

HMCLG funded schemes

2,929

2,923

-6

Nobles Rest park improvements

3,900

524

-3,376

260,577

179,757

-80,820

0

14,602,584

4,922,122

-9,680,462

441,000

Total Customer and Locality Services

Page 138

GRAND TOTAL

Expenditure
£

Appendix 2

Commentary
Fencing for Hayclose Road playground now completed.
Scheme includes playpark and pump-track, now almost completed
apart from park furniture, surfacing and planting work.
Works at Lightburn Park skatepark completed.
Interpretation boards for Town View Fields natural flood
management scheme (£2k) and planting work to take place in
year. Should be spent in year.

Appendix 3
2021/22 Quarter 3 Treasury Management Update
This appendix reviews treasury performance for the period 01/04/2021 – 31/12/2021 against
the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy, which was approved by Council on
23rd February 2021.
The Councils Treasury Management operation ensures cash flows are adequately planned,
with surplus monies being invested in low risk counterparties, providing adequate liquidity
initially, before considering optimising investment return.
The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the Council’s
capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council, this
is the element of the capital programme that is not financed from external grants, capital
receipts or other contributions. Which when added to the Council’s Capital Financing
Requirement (CFR) shows the underlying borrowing need of the Council. This underlying
borrowing need is managed by the treasury team through short and long term borrowing
arrangements and the use of longer term cash flow surpluses.
Borrowing
No new borrowing has been undertaken in the year to date, therefore the Council has maintained
external borrowing at £12.8 million. As a result, gross and net borrowing are below the capital
financing requirement (CFR). This is a key indicator as it shows that the Council is not borrowing
to fund revenue activities or borrowing to lend-on.
Table 1: Borrowing Limits

Actual borrowing
Authorised limit
Operational boundary
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)

£m
12.800
34.515
27.700
27.685

Table 1 also shows that the Council hasn’t breached its operational boundary and authorised limit
(which must not be breached) on external debt.
The current premium on the Councils borrowing is circa 94% (i.e. £0.94m per £1m repaid), which
would take over 21.5 years to repay. This is not low enough to consider making an early repayment,
however we will keep this under review.
Following a review of the deliverability of the capital programme our current internal borrowing
position has fallen from an estimated £14.885 million or 46.8%, to £11.318 million or 35.58% of
useable reserves adjusted for exceptional balances. Resulting in reduced pressure to reverse the
internal borrowing position in 2021/22. This is only one factor in the decision whether to borrow or
not, there are many other factors such as the market rates for borrowing and future projections for
capital spend to also be considered and in a rising interest rate environment Public Works Loan
Board interest rates may well be key given the documented internal borrowing position. The budget
for interest payable has been set at a level that enables the Council to borrow during the year if
required.
Investments
Graph 1 below shows the movement on the Councils investment portfolio between 01/04/21
and 31/12/2021

Page 139

Appendix 3

60,000,000
50,000,000
40,000,000
30,000,000
20,000,000
10,000,000

Opening Balance
09/04/2021
18/04/2021
27/04/2021
06/05/2021
15/05/2021
24/05/2021
02/06/2021
11/06/2021
20/06/2021
29/06/2021
08/07/2021
17/07/2021
26/07/2021
04/08/2021
13/08/2021
22/08/2021
31/08/2021
09/09/2021
18/09/2021
27/09/2021
06/10/2021
15/10/2021
24/10/2021
02/11/2021
11/11/2021
20/11/2021
29/11/2021
08/12/2021
17/12/2021
26/12/2021

0

Core Investments

Fixed Operational

Call Operational

The Council held £48.3m of investments as at 31 December 2021. Table 2 shows the outstanding
investments by type.
Table 2 Investment Summary
Counterparty
Call Operational
Federated
CCLA
Fixed Operational
Coventry Building Society
Nationwide Building Society
Principality Building Society
Skipton Building Society
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation
Standard Chartered
West Bromwich Building Society
Fixed Core
Blackpool Borough Council
Blaenau Gwent Council
Darlington Borough Council
Newcastle Building Society
Surrey Heath BC

Value (£m)
8.300
10.000
2.000
3.000
2.000
2.000
3.000
3.000
1.000
3.000
1.000
3.000
2.000
5.000
48.300

Graph 2 below shows the maturity profile of the Councils investment portfolio split between
operational and core investment types

Page 140

Appendix 3

20,000,000
18,000,000
16,000,000
14,000,000
12,000,000
10,000,000
8,000,000
6,000,000
4,000,000
2,000,000
0
Call

1 Month

1-3 Months
Operational

3-6 Months

6-12 Months

1-2 Years

Core

Table 3 below summarised the performance to date, benchmarked against the London
Interbank Bid Rate (LIBID) that best matches the duration of the investments. For example,
Call investments can be called back the same day and so the overnight LIBID rate is the bench
mark.
Table 3 Performance

Call Operational
Fixed Operational
Fixed Core (Long Term)
Overall Average

Average
Return
0.0175%
0.0686%
0.0946%
0.0587%

Benchmark
Rate
-0.0720%
-0.0215%
0.0594%

Variance
0.0895%
0.0901%
0.0352%

All of the councils investments are performed in excess of their benchmarks, with the overall
average being just below the 6-month benchmark rate used for the Fixed Core (long term)
investments.
Economic Forecast
It had been anticipated that at its November meeting the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) would
increase the bank rate but the MPC voted to maintain the rate at 0.1 and decided it wanted further
assurance that the impact of the end of furlough on 30th September would not increase
unemployment sharply and therefore waited until the statistics for unemployment was ready
On 10th December the month on month rise in GDP came out at only 0.1% for October and there
was concern that any further Covid-19 restrictions could cause the economy to contract in
December.
On 14th December the labour market statistics were released and the monthly unemployment rate
rose to 4.2% in October from 3.9% in September. However weekly data suggested this didn’t last
long as unemployment was falling again by the end of October.
On 15th December the November CPI inflation came in at 5.1% up from 4.2% in October confirming
again that inflation pressures are building sharply across the board in producer and consumer
prices and in wage rates.

Page 141

Appendix 3
It is against this adverse set of factors that the MPC voted 8-1 at its December meeting to increase
the Bank Rate by 0.15% from 0.10% to 0.25%. The comments made at the same time as the
increase indicated that the MPC is not concerned that inflation is building and action to counter this
by the MPC is required. This has led to markets predicting an increase to 1% by the end of 2022,
with come predicting the next rate rise could be as early as February 2022.
Conclusion
The Councils external borrowing remains at £12.8m with internal borrowing being used instead.
Following a review of the capital programme internal borrowing as percentage of reserves has
fallen to 35.58% from 46.8% reducing pressure on whether we need to reverse the position by
borrowing.
Council Investments continue to perform will against benchmarks although investment returns
remain at an all-time low.

Page 142

Item No.14
South Lakeland District Council
Cabinet
Wednesday, 9 February 2022

Review of the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme
2022

Portfolio:

Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder

Report from:

Director of Customer and Commercial Services

Report Author:

Morag Mackenzie – Senior Benefits Specialist

Wards:

(All Wards);

Forward Plan:

included in the Forward Plan as published on 21 December 2021

Links to Council Plan Priorities:
A fairer South Lakeland

1.0

Expected Outcome

1.1.

On 1st April 2013, the national Council Tax Benefit Scheme was abolished and
replaced with a locally determined scheme known as the Local Council Tax
Reduction Scheme. This Council introduced a scheme that mirrored the previous
national scheme which meant that nobody was worse off under the Local Scheme
and the most vulnerable people in our district were protected from any reductions in
support.

1.2.

After considering options for change including the additional income, costs and risks
associated with any changes it is expected that the current scheme will continue
unchanged for the financial year 2022/23. This is with the exception of applying the
annual upratings and other minor income and capital disregards.

1.3.

The retention of the existing scheme offering support up to a maximum of 100% of
the Council Tax plays a key role in supporting one of the Council’s four key
objectives, A Fairer South Lakeland, by helping to tackle poverty and inequality.

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

That Cabinet recommend to full Council that it:-

(1)

approves and adopts the current Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme, it
being the most appropriate scheme for this Council for the financial year

Page 143

commencing 1st April 2022, subject to the Operational Lead Case Management,
in consultation with the Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder being
authorised to:
(a)

make all necessary updates to this Council’s Council Tax
Reduction Scheme to comply with any statutory requirements that
may be issued by central government;

(b)

make all necessary amendments to the Council’s Council Tax
Reduction Scheme to uprate the allowances and premiums in
accordance with the HB Circular A11/2021 regarding annual
upratings issued in December 2021 by the Department of Work
and Pensions; and

(c)

publish the updated scheme in accordance with the Local
Government Finance Act 2012; and

(2)

that any work on a further review of the Scheme is carried out as part of the
Local Government Reorganisation work streams for the new Westmorland and
Furness Council.

3.0

Background and Proposals

3.1

The Local Government Finance Act 2012 (as amended) now requires Local
Authorities to approve their Council Tax Reduction Scheme on an annual basis by
the 11th March for the following financial year (was previously 31st January). The
Council’s current scheme can be found by accessing the link under background
documents below.

3.2

On the 18th December 2012 (Minute C/70) Full Council resolved to adopt the Default
Scheme as prescribed by the Secretary of State as the Council’s Local Council Tax
Reduction Scheme to replace Council Tax Benefit from 1st April 2013 and the costs
of the scheme to be funded by reducing Council Tax discount on second homes from
10% to 0%. The local arrangements for fully disregarding War widow’s pensions, War
disablement pensions and Armed Forces Compensation payments were to remain in
the calculation of income for the scheme.

3.3

Central Government had previously paid 100% grant to Local authorities under the
national scheme but on the transfer of responsibility, the grant was reduced to 90%.
This Council, with the support of Cumbria County Council and the Cumbria Police
Authority met the cost of the 10% grant reduction, about £560,000 by making
technical changes to Council Tax. This included removing the discount on second
homes, introducing a 100% Council Tax on properties unoccupied over 6 months and
a 50% premium on properties empty for over 2 years.

3.4

On the 17th December 2013 (Minute C/65) Full Council resolved that the Local
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2014/2015 would remain unchanged subject to
the annual uprating of applicable amounts, premiums etc. in accordance with either
the Housing Benefit Scheme Regulations or the Local Council Tax Reduction
Prescribed Scheme for pensioners.

3.5

Minute C/65 of Full Council on the 17th December 2013 resolved that the next review
of the scheme be undertaken in July 2014. A review was undertaken on the 15th July

Page 144

2014 by Overview and Scrutiny Committee, who recommended that the existing
scheme which mirrors the previous Council Tax Benefit Scheme is the most
appropriate for this Council. Overview and Scrutiny Committee examined some of the
changes made by other local authorities and assessed the impact of those changes
both on applicants and on Council Tax collection levels.
3.6

On the 25th February 2020 (Minute C/69) Full Council resolved to maintain the
existing scheme for 2020/21.

3.7

On 13th January 2022 the Government laid before Parliament The Council Tax
Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England)(Amendment) Regulations
2022 which comes into force on 11th February 2022.

3.8

The Regulations make amendments to include
a) Amendment to regulation 2 to include the DACYP regulations which means
the Disability Assistance for Children and Young people (Scotland) Regulations
2021
b) Amendment to regulation 12 to include the Afghan Relocations and
Assistance Policy or the previous scheme for locally employed staff in
Afghanistan
c) Updated annual upratings of applicable amounts and non-dependant
deductions, the Council Tax Reduction Scheme will be updated to reflect these
requirements

3.9

The Council’s scheme has not been reduced to reflect the changes announced in
the Budgets of July 2015 or March 2016 which would adversely affected some of our
resident’s entitlements to support. These are:


Removal of Family Premium for new claims



Reduction of backdating period from 6 months to 1 month



Freezing of Applicable amounts within Housing Benefit until 2020/21



Withdrawal of Council Tax Reduction where a person leaves the Great Britain for
4 weeks or more



Limiting the number of dependants additions to a maximum of 2 (This applies to
all Housing Benefit cases with effect made on or after 1st April 2017)



Removal of the Employment & Support Allowance Work Related Activity
Component

As it stands the implications and the impact of these changes continue to be limited in
regard the overall cost of the Council’s scheme, however they will be monitored
going forward. It is anticipated that a full review will be required for the 2023/24
scheme as part of the Local Government reorganisation.

3.10

In the current financial year 2021/22 awards under the Local Council Tax
Reduction Scheme were a total of £5,836,609 a reduction of £204,737 from
2020/21 (£5,129,675 in 2019/20). There has been a steadying of the financial
awards and caseload following the significant increase in 2020/21, deriving from
the economic impact of COVID 19 pandemic.

Page 145

3.11

3.12

4.0

The table below gives a breakdown of the caseload and awards in respect of each
group at the end of December 2021 (March 2014 figures in brackets).With Working
Age cases being 57% of the total caseload, any changes made to the current
scheme would only affect this group and could be considered when a full review is
undertaken, which would trigger the legal requirement to undertake a formal
consultation process to amend the council’s scheme.

Group

Number of claimant

Amount
of
awarded

reduction

Pension Age

2,022 (3,146)

£2,477,185 (£3,071,000)

Working Age

2,669 (2,684)

£3,359,424 (£2,293,000)

TOTAL

4,691 (5,830)

£5,836,609 (£5,364,000)

The current scheme in its present state continues to provide those residents in
South Lakeland on the lowest income the maximum amount of support with their
council tax liabilities. In common with all other Cumbrian LA’s maintaining our
current scheme for April 2022 keeps South Lakelands position as one of only 36
councils (April 2018) offering a fully funded Council Tax Reduction scheme for
working age claimants.
Appendices Attached to this Report

Appendix No.

Name of Appendix
South Lakeland District Councils Council Tax Reduction Scheme

5.0

Consultation

5.1 Overview and Scrutiny Committee reviewed the current scheme at a meeting on 15
July 2014 and this formed part of the consultation process. A representative from the
Cumbria Rural Citizens Advice Bureau addressed the meeting. The Committee
resolved (O & S /9) that:
th

5.2 It is recommended to Cabinet that the current Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme is
the most appropriate scheme for this Council for the financial year commencing 1st April
2015.
5.3 There has been no change in circumstances and therefore it is suggested that there is
no reason for Overview and Scrutiny Committee to re-consider the matter in relation to
the scheme commencing on the 1st April 2022.
5.4 Should any significant changes be made to the current scheme then a public
consultation exercise would have to be undertaken.

Page 146

6.0

Alternative Options

6.1.

The Council is under no legal obligation to offer a Council Tax Reduction Scheme for
Working Age residents. Therefore in theory it could reduce the amount of support
offered to this group from 100% to any figure it chose including having a full charge
irrespective of income. If the Council were to reduce the amount of support for this
group, they would also need to consider how viable the collection of the contributions
would be. A number of authorities are reviewing their schemes to reduce the
contributions from claimants as they have found these contributions difficult to collect
and have seen increased levels of write-offs.

6.2.

There are numerous ways in which the current Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme
could be changed: These were fully examined as part of the Overview and Scrutiny
review and were considered as part of the decision making process in approving the
scheme for 2015/16. No further examination has taken place since this review apart
from a brief indication of the likely income that could be generated if a minimum charge
was to be introduced for Working Age Recipients of Council Tax Reduction.

6.3.

It is likely that a review of South Lakeland’s Council Tax Reduction Scheme will not be
undertaken in 2022. It is expected that in light of the Local Government Reorganisation
a full review will be required for Westmorland and Furness Council.

7.0

Implications
Financial, Resources and Procurement

7.1

The Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan assumes that the current scheme will
continue with no savings planned to be met from scheme changes.

7.2

It is important to note that any additional income raised through reducing the amount
of benefit awarded results in an increase in the Council Tax Base. However this
Council would only benefit from around 12% of any additional income generated, net
of irrecoverable debts, but would need to meet the full costs of any additional staffing
resources and the costs of publicising changes and providing what could amount to a
debt counselling service.

7.3

There would be no significant financial advantage to this Council of making changes
to the scheme.

7.4

In theory the County Council and Police and Crime Commissioner should benefit
financially from a change which reduced the amount of awards however this change
may have wider reaching implication in terms of service demands on these
authorities, such as social services or police services.

6.5

The Council’s Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme replicated the previous scheme
and ensured the most vulnerable people in the District were protected. This has
proved a major factor in the council maintaining its high level of collection. Making the
scheme less generous would be likely to result in more debts being written off and
with these factors in mind the collection level of 99.0% currently used in the Council
Tax Base, calculation for this Council would need to be reviewed and reduced.

7.6

Local Authorities are expected to have an additional policy for providing additional
financial assistance in cases of hardship and this policy should be properly managed
with working guidelines and an appeals process built into it. This policy places a
limited financial burden on the authority, as the cost of any reduction would be offset
against the Collection Fund.

Page 147

7.7

The Default Scheme is no longer supported by Central Government, therefore the
Council must document the Local Scheme and make it available to the public. This is
particularly important for documenting the annual uprating’s. A consultant has been
employed to maintain the scheme at minimal cost, as in previous years. The full draft
scheme proposed for 2022/23 including the recommended uprating’s in this report
will be available on the Council’s website in due course.

7.1

Human Resources

7.1.1 If the recommendation not to amend the current scheme is accepted then there will be
no direct Human Resources implications.
7.1.2 If the current scheme is amended and the Council is required to collect what in some
cases could be relatively small amounts this could impact on Council Tax collection
work and additional resources may need to be employed to maintain current
collection levels. It is likely that additional resources would need to be employed to
offer advice on debt, deal with complaints and ensure adequate publicity and contact
points are available as many recipients may not have recently paid Council Tax.
Legal
7.2.1 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 substitutes Section 13A of the Local
Government Finance Act 1992 and makes provision for Local Council Tax Reduction
Schemes. Schedule 1A (4) requires the Secretary of State to prescribe a Default
Scheme. This is the Council’s current scheme subject to the annual uprating changes
from 1st April 2014 agreed by Full Council on 17th December 2013 and disregarded
income from war disablement and war widows pensions and Armed Forces
Compensation Payment Schemes.
7.2.2 If any changes are made to the current scheme it is important that these are
effectively drafted and a specialist consultant would be appointed to assist the
Council. Such changes could be subject to legal challenge.
7.2.3 Under Section 9 of the Local Government Finance Act 2012, the Secretary of State
shall make provision for an independent review of all council tax reduction schemes
made under the provisions of the Act;
a) to consider their effectiveness, efficiency, fairness and transparency and
their impact on the Localism agenda, and
b) to make recommendations as to whether such schemes be brought within
Universal Credit.
This review called “Three Years On” was conducted by Eric Ollerenshaw was published in
March 2016. The review only had three recommendations for councils, one was for councils
to consider joint schemes and procurement, the other two recommendations related to
councils who had decided not to maintain a scheme offering up to 100% for working age
claimants.
Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment
7.3

At this point, a social, economic and environmental impact assessment has not carried
out. Should any changes to the current scheme be recommended to Full Council then
a revised assessment will be undertaken.

Page 148

Equality and Diversity
7.4.

An equality and diversity assessment was undertaken for the current scheme but if any
changes are recommended then that assessment will be reviewed.

7.4.1

If changes are made to the scheme, it will be necessary to assess changes to evaluate
the impact on people who are vulnerable. The DCLG (from January 2018 rebranded
to MHCLG) have defined vulnerable households as those with a carer, children aged
less than 5 years or those with a disability. Protections would need to be considered
and a scheme with multiple protected groups also results in a scheme that is more
complex to administer and for customers to understand.

7.4.2

The DCLG (from January 2018 rebranded to MHCLG) issued a report in February
2014 reminding local authorities of their key duties when deciding on Local Council
Tax Reduction Schemes:
o
o
o
o

Public Sector Equality Duty (The Equality Act 2010)
Duty to mitigate the effects of child poverty (The Child Poverty Act 2010)
The Armed Forces Covenant
Duty to prevent Homelessness (The Housing Act 1996)

Risk Management

Consequence

Controls required

Any changes to the current
scheme are not correctly
embedded in the scheme rules.

The Council’s Local
Council Tax Reduction
Scheme will not stand up
to legal challenges and
the scheme will fall into
disrepute and legal costs
would be incurred
Any scheme changes
may result in awards
differing from those
estimated which will
impact on the County
Council, the Police and
Crime Commissioner and
this Council.
Insufficient finances
could put some family
members at risk.

Seek appropriate advice to
draft any changes
effectively into the scheme.

Difficulty in accurately predicting
the net reductions in awards of
the differing options.

Reductions in awards may cause
hardship to some applicants.

Collection of small amounts may
not be possible in some cases.

An increase in the
amount of debts being
written off which may
negate the changes
made.

Page 149

The forecasting tool within
current software should
produce accurate figures.

It would be advisable to
create a properly
managed hardship fund to
protect vulnerable people
who can apply for monies
from this fund in
exceptional
circumstances.
Be prepared to employ
additional resources to
collect the Council Tax
due.

Contact Officers
Morag Mackenzie Senior Benefit Specialist,
01539 793387, Morag.Mackenzie@southlakeland.gov.uk
Background Documents Available

Name of Background document

Where it is available

Housing Benefit Circular A11/2021 (annual A11/2021: Housing Benefit uprating for the
upratings)
financial year ending March 2023 GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
The Council Tax Reduction Schemes https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2022/25/co
(Prescribed
ntents/made
Requirements)(England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2022

Tracking Information
Signed off by

Date sent

Date Signed off

Section 151 Officer

7.1.22

24.01.2022

Monitoring Officer

7.1.22

31.01.2022

CMT

25.1.22

26.1.2022

Circulated to

Date sent

Lead Specialist

N/A

Human Resources Lead Specialist

N/A

Communications Team

N/A

Leader

N/A

Committee Chairman

N/A

Portfolio Holder

10/01/2022

Ward Councillor(s)

N/A

Committee

N/A

Executive (Cabinet)

10/02/2022

Council

22/02/2022

Page 150

South Lakeland District Council
Council Tax Reduction Scheme

S13A and Schedule 1a of the Local Government Finance Act 1992

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 151

1

1.0 Introduction to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme ........................................................................................ 7
2.0 Interpretation .................................................................................................................................................. 8
3.0 Application of scheme: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners .................................................... 15
4.0 Meaning of “couple”...................................................................................................................................... 15
5.0 Polygamous marriages................................................................................................................................... 16
6.0 Meaning of “family”....................................................................................................................................... 16
7.0 Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible or not responsible for another................ 16
8.0 Households .................................................................................................................................................... 16
9.0 Non-dependants ............................................................................................................................................ 17
10.0 Remunerative work ..................................................................................................................................... 18
CLASSES OF PERSON ENTITLED TO A REDUCTION UNDER THIS SCHEME ............................................................ 20
12.0 Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme...................................................................... 21
13.0 Class A: pensioners whose income is less than the applicable amount....................................................... 21
14.0 Class B: pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount................................................. 21
15.0 Class C: alternative maximum council tax reduction – pensioners.............................................................. 21
16.0 Class D: persons who are not pensioners whose income is less than the applicable amount .................... 22
17.0 Class E: persons who are not pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount ............... 22
18.0 Class F: alternative maximum council tax reduction – persons who are not pensioners ............................ 22
19. Periods of absence from a dwelling............................................................................................................... 23
19A.0 Periods of absence from a dwelling........................................................................................................... 27
CLASSES OF PERSON EXCLUDED FROM THIS SCHEME......................................................................................... 29
20.0 Classes of person excluded from this scheme ............................................................................................. 30
21.0 Class of person excluded from this scheme: persons treated as not being in Great Britain ....................... 30
22.0 Class of person excluded from this scheme: persons subject to immigration control ................................ 32
23.0 Class of person excluded from this scheme: capital limit ............................................................................ 32
24.0 Class of person excluded from this scheme: students................................................................................. 32
APPLICABLE AMOUNTS........................................................................................................................................ 33
25.0 Applicable amounts: pensioners.................................................................................................................. 34
26.0 Applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners................................................................................ 34
27.0 Polygamous marriages: persons who are not pensioners ........................................................................... 35
28.0 Applicable amount: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of universal credit ................... 35
MAXIMUM COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION FOR THE PURPOSES OF CALCULATING ELIGIBILITY FOR A REDUCTION
UNDER THIS SCHEME AND AMOUNT OF REDUCTION......................................................................................... 37
29.0 Maximum council tax reduction amount under this scheme: pensioners and persons who are not
pensioners ........................................................................................................................................................... 38
30.0 Non-dependant deductions: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners.......................................... 38
ALTERNATIVE MAXIMUM COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION FOR THE PURPOSES OF CALCULATING ELIGIBILITY FOR A
REDUCTION UNDER THIS SCHEME AND AMOUNT OF REDUCTION..................................................................... 41
31.0 Alternative maximum council tax reduction under this scheme: pensioners and persons who are not
pensioners ........................................................................................................................................................... 42

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 152

2

AMOUNT OF REDUCTION UNDER THIS SCHEME ................................................................................................. 43
32.0— Amount of reduction under this scheme: Classes A to F.......................................................................... 44
INCOME AND CAPITAL FOR THE PURPOSES OF CALCULATING ELIGIBILITY FOR A REDUCTION UNDER THIS
SCHEME AND AMOUNT OF REDUCTION.............................................................................................................. 45
Income and capital: general................................................................................................................................. 46
33.0 Calculation of income and capital: applicant's family and polygamous marriages ..................................... 46
34.0 Circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependant is to be treated as applicant's .................. 46
Income and capital: pensioners in receipt of guarantee credit or savings credit ................................................ 46
35.0 Applicant in receipt of guarantee credit: pensioners .................................................................................. 46
36.0 Calculation of applicant's income and capital in savings credit only cases: pensioners .............................. 46
Income and capital where there is an award of universal credit......................................................................... 47
37.0 Calculation of income and capital: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of universal credit
............................................................................................................................................................................. 47
Income: other pensioners .................................................................................................................................... 48
38.0 Calculation of income and capital where state pension credit is not payable: pensioners......................... 48
39.0 Meaning of “income”: pensioners ............................................................................................................... 48
40.0 Calculation of weekly income: pensioners................................................................................................... 50
41.0 Earnings of employed earners: pensioners.................................................................................................. 52
42.0 Calculation of net earnings of employed earners: pensioners .................................................................... 53
43.0 Calculation of earnings of self-employed earners: pensioners.................................................................... 53
44.0 Earnings of self-employers earners: pensioners.......................................................................................... 54
45.0 Notional income: pensioners ....................................................................................................................... 54
46.0 Income paid to third parties: pensioners..................................................................................................... 56
Income: persons who are not pensioners ........................................................................................................... 57
47.0 Average weekly earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners ..................................... 57
48.0 Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners: persons who are not pensioners .............................. 57
49.0 Average weekly income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners......................................... 57
50.0 Calculation of weekly income of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners .............................. 58
51.0 Earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners................................................................ 58
52.0 Calculation of net earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners .................................. 59
53.0 Earnings of self-employed earners: persons who are not pensioners......................................................... 60
54.0 Calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners ............................................ 60
55.0 Capital treated as income: persons who are not pensioners ...................................................................... 62
56.0 Notional income: persons who are not pensioners..................................................................................... 62
Income: further provisions applying to pensioners and persons who are not pensioners ................................. 64
57.0 Calculation of income on a weekly basis ..................................................................................................... 65
58.0 Treatment of child care charges .................................................................................................................. 65
61.0 Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners...................................................................................... 70
62.0 Calculation of deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners ............................................. 72
63.0 Calculation of capital.................................................................................................................................... 72
64.0 Income treated as capital: persons who are not pensioners....................................................................... 73

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 153

3

65.0 Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom .............................................................................................. 73
66.0 Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom ..................................................................................... 74
67.0 Notional capital............................................................................................................................................ 74
69.0 Diminishing notional capital rule: persons who are not pensioners............................................................ 78
70.0 Capital jointly held ....................................................................................................................................... 80
71.0 Calculation of tariff income from capital: pensioners.................................................................................. 80
72.0 Calculation of tariff income from capital: persons who are not pensioners................................................ 80
STUDENTS ............................................................................................................................................................ 81
73.0 Interpretation .............................................................................................................................................. 82
74.0Treatment of students .................................................................................................................................. 84
75.0 Students who are excluded from entitlement to a reduction under this scheme....................................... 84
76.0 Calculation of grant income......................................................................................................................... 86
77.0 Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed ............................................................. 87
78.0 Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed.................................................. 87
79.0 Relationship with amounts to be disregarded under Schedule 8................................................................ 88
80.0 Other amounts to be disregarded ............................................................................................................... 88
81.0 Treatment of student loans ......................................................................................................................... 88
82.0 Treatment of payments from access funds ................................................................................................. 89
83.0 Disregard of contribution............................................................................................................................. 90
84.0 Further disregard of student's income ........................................................................................................ 90
85.0 Income treated as capital ............................................................................................................................ 90
86.0Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation ............................................................................ 90
EXTENDED REDUCTIONS...................................................................................................................................... 91
Extended reductions: pensioners ........................................................................................................................ 92
87.0 Extended reductions: pensioners ................................................................................................................ 92
88.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners .......................................................... 92
89.0 Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners ............................. 92
90.0 Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners.......................................... 92
91.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)—movers: pensioners........................................... 93
92.0 Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement to a
reduction by virtue of classes A to C.................................................................................................................... 93
93.0 Continuing reductions where state pension credit claimed: pensioners .................................................... 93
Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners ...................................................................................... 94
94.0 Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners .............................................................................. 94
95.0 Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners .............................................................................. 94
96.0 Duration of extended reduction period: persons who are not pensioners ................................................. 95
97.0 Amount of extended reduction: persons who are not pensioners.............................................................. 95
98.0 Extended reductions—movers: persons who are not pensioners............................................................... 96
99.0 Relationship between extended reduction and entitlement to a reduction by virtue of classes D to F ..... 96
100.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not pensioners ...................... 96

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 154

4

101.0 Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not
pensioners 97
102.0 Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not pensioners ..... 97
103.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)—movers: persons who are not pensioners....... 97
104.0 Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement to
reduction by virtue of classes D to F.................................................................................................................... 98
Extended reductions: movers in the authority's area.......................................................................................... 98
105.0 Extended reductions: applicant moving into the authority's area............................................................. 98
106.0 Date on which entitlement begins............................................................................................................. 98
107.0 Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect.......................................................................... 98
109.0 Making an application.............................................................................................................................. 101
110.0 Date on which an application is made ..................................................................................................... 102
111.0 Back-dating of applications: pensioners .................................................................................................. 104
112.0 Back-dating of applications: persons who are not pensioners ................................................................ 104
113.0 Information and evidence........................................................................................................................ 104
114.0 Amendment and withdrawal of application ............................................................................................ 106
115.0 Duty to notify changes of circumstances................................................................................................. 106
116.0 Decision by authority ............................................................................................................................... 107
117.0 Notification of decision............................................................................................................................ 108
118.0

Payment where there is joint and several liability .............................................................................. 108

119.0

Transitional provisions for restrictions on amounts for children and young persons (pensioners).... 109

Schedule 1.......................................................................................................................................................... 111
Procedural matters ............................................................................................................................................ 111
Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under this scheme.................................................... 112
Procedure by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the authority........................ 112
Procedure for an application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 Act.......... 113
Electronic communication ................................................................................................................................. 113
Schedule 2.......................................................................................................................................................... 115
Applicable amounts: pensioners........................................................................................................................ 115
1. Personal allowance ........................................................................................................................................ 116
2.Child or young person amounts...................................................................................................................... 116
4. Premiums ....................................................................................................................................................... 117
6. Severe disability premium ............................................................................................................................. 117
7. Enhanced disability premium ........................................................................................................................ 119
8. Disabled child premium ................................................................................................................................. 119
9. Carer premium............................................................................................................................................... 119
10. Persons in receipt of concessionary payments............................................................................................ 120
11. Person in receipt of benefit ......................................................................................................................... 120
12.Amounts of premium specified .................................................................................................................... 120
Schedule 3.......................................................................................................................................................... 121
Applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners...................................................................................... 121

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 155

5

Personal allowances .......................................................................................................................................... 122
Family premium ................................................................................................................................................. 122
Premiums........................................................................................................................................................... 123
9. Disability premium......................................................................................................................................... 124
10. Additional condition for the disability premium.......................................................................................... 124
11. Severe disability premium ........................................................................................................................... 126
12. Enhanced disability premium ...................................................................................................................... 127
13. Disabled child premium ............................................................................................................................... 128
14. Carer premium............................................................................................................................................. 128
15. Persons in receipt of concessionary payments............................................................................................ 128
16. Persons in receipt of benefit for another .................................................................................................... 129
17. Amounts of Premiums Specified.................................................................................................................. 129
18. The components .......................................................................................................................................... 130
Schedule 4.......................................................................................................................................................... 134
Amount of alternative maximum council tax reduction: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners..... 134
Schedule 5.......................................................................................................................................................... 137
Sums disregarded from applicant’s earnings: pensioners ................................................................................. 137
Schedule 6.......................................................................................................................................................... 142
Amounts to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: pensioners ............................. 142
Schedule 7.......................................................................................................................................................... 147
Sums disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners ......................................... 147
Schedule 8.......................................................................................................................................................... 153
Sums disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners........... 153
Schedule 9.......................................................................................................................................................... 165
Capital disregards: pensioners........................................................................................................................... 165
Capital disregarded only for the purposes of determining deemed income..................................................... 172
Schedule 10........................................................................................................................................................ 174
Capital disregards: persons who are not pensioners......................................................................................... 174
Schedule 11........................................................................................................................................................ 186
Collection, holding and forwarding of information for Council Tax Reduction purposes.................................. 186
Use of information from and to the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) and Her Majesty’s Revenues and
Customs (HMRC)................................................................................................................................................ 187
Collection of information................................................................................................................................... 187
Recording and holding information ................................................................................................................... 187
Forwarding of information................................................................................................................................. 187

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 156

6

1.0

Introduction to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme

1.1

The following has been adopted by the Council and details the Council Tax Reduction scheme adopted
by the authority for the financial year 2022/23

1.2

This document details how the scheme will operate for both pension credit age and working age applicants and in accordance with Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 specifies the classes
of person who are to be entitled to a reduction under the scheme.

1.3

The scheme in respect of pension age applicants is defined by Central Government within the following:
• Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012;
• Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements and Default Scheme) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012;
• Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Transitional Provision) (England) Regulations 2013;
• Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) Regulations 2013;
• Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) Regulations
2013;
• The Council TaxReduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) (No. 2) Regulations 2014;
• The Council TaxReduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) Regulations
2015;
• The Council TaxReduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) Regulations
2016;
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2017;
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2018;
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2020;
• The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2021:
• Council Tax Reduction Schemes Prescribed Requirements) (Amendment)(England) Regulations
2022: and
• Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended by the Local Government Finance Act 2012)

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 157

7

2.0 Interpretation
(1) In this scheme—
“the 1992 Act” means the Local Government Finance Act 1992;
“Abbeyfield Home” means an establishment run by the Abbeyfield Society including all bodies
corporate or unincorporated which are affiliated to that society;
“adoption leave” means a period of absence from work on ordinary or additional adoption leave by
virtue of section 75A or 75B of the Employment Rights Act 1996;
“an AFIP” means an armed forces independence payment payable in accordance with an armed and
reserve forces compensation scheme established under section 1(2) of the Armed Forces (Pensions
and Compensation) Act 2004;
“alternative maximum council tax reduction” means the amount determined in accordance with
paragraph 31 and Schedule 4:
“applicable amount” means
(a) in relation to a pensioner, the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph 25 and
Schedule 2; and
(b) in relation to a person who is not a pensioner, the amount calculated in accordance with
(i) paragraph 26 and Schedule 3; or
(ii) paragraph 28, as the case may be;
“applicant” means a person who has made an application;
“application” means an application for a reduction under this scheme;
“approved blood scheme” means a scheme established or approved by the Secretary of State, or trust
established with funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the purpose of providing
compensation in respect of a person having been infected from contaminated blood products.
“assessment period” means
(a) in relation to pensioners:
(i) in relation to the earnings of a self-employed earner, the period determined in accordance
with paragraph 43 for the purpose of calculating the weekly earnings of the applicant; or
(ii) in relation to any other income, the period determined in accordance with paragraph 40
for the purpose of calculating the weekly income of the applicant;
(b) in relation to persons who are not pensioners, such period as is set out in paragraphs 47 to
49 over which income falls to be calculated;
“attendance allowance” means
(a) an attendance allowance under Part 3 of the SSCBA;
(b) an increase of disablement pension under section 104 or 105 of that Act;
(c) a payment by virtue of article 14, 15, 16, 43 or 44 of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme
1983 or any analogous payment; or
(d) any payment based on need for attendance which is paid as part of a war disablement pension;
“the authority” means South Lakeland District Council in relation to whose area this scheme has effect
by virtue of paragraph 4(6) of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act;
“basic rate”has the meaning given by the Income Tax Act 2007;
‘Back to Work scheme(s)’ means any scheme defined within the Jobseekers (Back to Work Schemes)
Act 2013 or Jobseeker’s Allowance (Schemes for Assisting Persons to Obtain Employment)
Regulations 2013;
“the benefit Acts” means the SSCBA, the Jobseekers Act 1995, the State Pension Credit Act 2002 and
the Welfare Reform Act 2007;
“board and lodging accommodation” means accommodation provided to a person or, if he is a member
of a family, to him or any other member of his family, for a charge which is inclusive of the provision
of that accommodation and at least some cooked or prepared meals which both are cooked or
prepared (by a person other than the person to whom the accommodation is provided or a member
of his family) and are consumed in that accommodation or associated premises;
“care home” has the meaning given by section 3 of the Care Standards Act 2000 and in Scotland means
a care home service within the meaning given by section 2(3) of the Regulation of Care (Scotland)
Act 2001 and in Northern Ireland means a nursing home within the meaning of Article 11 of the
Health and Personal Social Services (Quality, Improvement and Regulation) (Northern Ireland) Order
2003 or a residential care home within the meaning of Article 10 of that Order;
“the Caxton Foundation” means the charitable trust of that name established on 28th March 2011 out

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 158

8

of funds provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit of certain persons suffering from hepatitis
C and other persons eligible for payment in accordance with its provisions;
“child” means a person under the age of 16;
‘child benefit’ has the meaning given by section 141 of the SSCBA as amended by The Child Benefit
(General), Child Tax Credit (Amendment) Regulations 2014 and The Child Benefit (General)
(Amendment) Regulations 2015;
“child tax credit” means a child tax credit under section 8 of the Tax Credits Act 2002;
“close relative” means a parent, parent-in-law, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter-in-law, step-parent,
step-son, step-daughter, brother, sister, or if any of the preceding persons is one member of a
couple, the other member of that couple;
“concessionary payment” means a payment made under arrangements made by the Secretary of State
with the consent of the Treasury which is charged either to the National Insurance Fund or to a
Departmental Expenditure Vote to which payments of benefit or tax credits under the benefit Acts
or the Tax Credits Act 2002 are charged;
‘contributory employment and support allowance” means an allowance under Part 1 of the Welfare
Reform Act 2007 as amended by the provisions of Schedule 3, and Part 1 of Schedule 14, to the
Welfare Reform Act 2012 that remove references to an income-related allowance and a
contributory allowance under Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 as that Part has effect apart
from those provisions;
“council tax benefit” means council tax benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA;
“couple” has the meaning given by paragraph 4;
“designated office” means the office of the authority designated by it for the receipt of application;
(a) by notice upon or with a form supplied by it for the purpose of making an application; or
(b) by reference upon or with such a form to some other document available from it and sent
by electronic means or otherwise on application and without charge; or
(c) by any combination of the provisions set out in paragraphs (a) and (b);
“disability living allowance” means a disability living allowance under section 71 of the SSCBA;
“earnings” has the meaning given by paragraph 41, 44, 51 or 53 as the case may be;
“the Eileen Trust” means the charitable trust of that name established on 29th March 1993 out of funds
provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit of persons eligible for payment in accordance with
its provisions;
“electronic communication” has the same meaning as in section 15(1) of the Electronic
Communications Act 2000;
“employed earner” is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(a) of the SSCBA and also includes
a person who is in receipt of a payment which is payable under any enactment having effect in
Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay or statutory maternity pay;
‘Employment and Support Allowance Regulations’ means the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 and the Employment and Support Regulations 2013 as appropriate;
‘the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme’ means a scheme under section 17A (schemes for assisting
persons to obtain employment; ‘work for your benefit’ schemes etc.) of the Jobseekers Act 1995 known
by that name and provided pursuant to arrangements made by the Secretary of State that is designed to
assist applicants to obtain employment, including self-employment, and which may include for any individual work-related activity (including work experience or job search). This also includes schemes covered
by The Jobseekers Allowance (Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme) Regulations 2011 as amended
by the Jobseekers (Back to Work Schemes) Act 2013 – see ‘Back to Work Schemes’;
“employment zone” means an area within Great Britain designated for the purposes of section 60 of
the Welfare Reform and Pensions Act 1999 and an “employment zone programme” means a
programme established for such an area or areas designed to assist claimants for a jobseeker's
allowance to obtain sustainable employment;
“enactment” includes an enactment comprised in, or in an instrument made under, an Act of the
Scottish Parliament;
“extended reduction” means a reduction under this scheme for which a person is eligible under Part
12 (extended reductions);
“extended reduction period” means the period for which a person is in receipt of an extended
reduction in accordance with paragraph 89, 96 or 101;
“extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits)” means a reduction under this scheme for
which a person is eligible in accordance with paragraph 88 or 95;

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 159

9

“family” has the meaning given by paragraph 6;
“the Grenfell Tower charitable funds” means the funds identified in the document entitled “Charity Commission for England and Wales – Grenfell Tower charitable funds update – 29th January 2019;
“the Grenfell Tower Residents’ Discretionary Fund” means the £5 million fund announced on 16th June
2017 and administered by Westminster City Council for the benefit of households affected by the fire at
Grenfell Tower on 14th June 2017;
“Grenfell Tower support payment” means any payment made by the council of the Royal Borough of
Kensington and Chelsea to an individual as a result of the fire at Grenfell Tower on 14th June 2017”
“the Fund” means moneys made available from time to time by the Secretary of State for the benefit
of persons eligible for payment in accordance with the provisions of a scheme established by him
on 24th April 1992 or, in Scotland, on 10th April 1992;
“guarantee credit” is to be construed in accordance with sections 1 and 2 of the State Pension Credit
Act 2002;
“a guaranteed income payment” means a payment made under article 15(1)(c) (injury benefits) or
29(1)(a) (death benefits) of the Armed Forces and Reserve Forces (Compensation Scheme) Order
2011;
“housing benefit” means housing benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA;
“an income-based jobseeker's allowance” and “a joint-claim jobseeker's allowance” have the
meanings given by section 1(4) of the Jobseekers Act 1995;
“income-related employment and support allowance” means an income-related allowance under Part
1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007;
“independent hospital”
(a) in England means a hospital as defined by section 275 of the National Health Service Act 2006
that is not a health service hospital as defined by that section;
(b) in Wales has the meaning given by section 2 of the Care Standards Act 2000; and
(c) in Scotland means an independent health care service as defined by section 10F of the National
Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978;
“the Independent Living Fund (2006)” means the Trust of that name established by a deed dated 10th
April 2006 and made between the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions of the one part and
Margaret Rosemary Cooper, Michael Beresford Boyall and Marie Theresa Martin of the other part;
“invalid carriage or other vehicle” means a vehicle propelled by a petrol engine or by electric power
supplied for use on the road and to be controlled by the occupant;
‘Jobseekers Act’ means the Jobseekers Act 1995; ‘Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations’ means the Jobseeker’s
Allowance Regulations 1996 and Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 2013 as appropriate;
“the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund” means the company limited by guarantee (number
5505072), and registered charity of that name established on 11th July 2005 for the purpose of
(amongst other things) relieving sickness, disability or financial need of victims (including families or
dependants of victims) of the terrorist attacks carried out in London on 7th July 2005;
“the London Emergencies Trust” means the company of that name (number 09928465) incorporated
on 23rd December 2015 and the registered charity of that name (number 1172307) established on
28th March 2017;
“lone parent” means a person who has no partner and who is responsible for and a member of the
same household as a child or young person;
“the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust” means the trust of that name, established on 29th January
1990 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the benefit of certain persons
suffering from haemophilia;
“the Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust” means the trust of that name, established on 3rd
May 1991 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the benefit of certain persons
suffering from haemophilia and other beneficiaries;
“the Macfarlane Trust” means the charitable trust, established partly out of funds provided by the
Secretary of State to the Haemophilia Society, for the relief of poverty or distress among those
suffering from haemophilia;
“main phase employment and support allowance” means an employment and support allowance
where the calculation of the amount payable in respect of the applicant includes a component under
section 2(1)(b) or 4(2)(b) of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 or the applicant is a member of the workrelated activity group except in Part 1 of Schedule 3;
“maternity leave” means a period during which a woman is absent from work because she is pregnant

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 160

10

or has given birth to a child, and at the end of which she has a right to return to work either under
the terms of her contract of employment or under Part 8 of the Employment Rights Act 1996;
“maximum council tax reduction amount” means the amount determined in accordance with
paragraph 29 (pensioners) or 29A (persons who are not pensioners);
“member of a couple” means a member of a married or unmarried couple;
“MFET Limited” means the company limited by guarantee (number 7121661) of that name, established
for the purpose in particular of making payments in accordance with arrangements made with the
Secretary of State to persons who have acquired HIV as a result of treatment by the NHS with blood
or blood products;
“mobility supplement” means
(a) in relation to pensioners, a supplement to which paragraph 5(1)(a)(vii) of Schedule 5 refers;
(b) in relation to persons who are not pensioners, a supplement to which paragraph 13 of
Schedule 8 refers;
“mover” means an applicant who changes the dwelling in which the applicant is resident, and in respect
of which the applicant is liable to pay council tax, from a dwelling in the area of the authority to a
dwelling in the area of a second authority;
“net earnings” means such earnings as are calculated in accordance with paragraph 42 or 52, as the
case may be;
“net profit” means such profit as is calculated in accordance with paragraph 61;
“new dwelling” means, for the purposes of the definition of “second authority” and paragraphs 91, 98
and 103, the dwelling to which an applicant has moved, or is about to move, in which the applicant
will be resident;
“non-dependant” has the meaning given by paragraph 9;
“occasional assistance” means any payment or provision made by a local authority, the Welsh
Ministers or the Scottish Ministers for the purposes of:
(a) meeting, or helping to meet an immediate short-term need—
(i) arising out of an exceptional event or exceptional circumstances, or
(ii) that needs to be met to avoid a risk to the well-being of an individual, and
(b) enabling qualifying individuals to establish or maintain a settled home, and—
(i) “local authority” has the meaning given by section 270(1) of the Local Government Act
1972; and
(ii) “qualifying individuals” means individuals who have been, or without the assistance
might otherwise be
(aa) in prison, hospital, an establishment providing residential care or other institution, or
(bb) homeless or otherwise living an unsettled way of life; and “local authority” means a
local authority in England within the meaning of the Local Government Act 1972;
‘occupational pension scheme’ has the same meaning as in section 1 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 as
amended by the Public Service Pension Act 2013;
“occupational pension scheme” has the same meaning as in section 1 of the Pension Schemes Act
1993;
“parental bereavement leave” means leave under section 80EA of the Employment Rights Act 1996;
“partner”, in relation to a person, means:
(a) where that person is a member of a couple, the other member of that couple;
(b) subject to paragraph (c), where that person is polygamously married to two or more members
of his household, any such member to whom he is married; or
(c) where that person is polygamously married and has an award of universal credit with the other
party to the earliest marriage that still subsists, that other party to the earliest marriage;
“paternity leave” means a period of absence from work on ordinary paternity leave by virtue of section
80A or 80B of the Employment Rights Act 1996 or on additional paternity leave by virtue of section
80AA or 80BB of that Act;
“pension fund holder” means with respect to a personal pension scheme or an occupational pension
scheme, the trustees, managers or scheme administrators, as the case may be, of the scheme
concerned;
‘pensionable age’ has the meaning given by the rules in paragraph 1 of Schedule 4 to the Pensions Act
1995 as amended by the Public Services Pension Act 2013 and Pensions Act 2014;
“pensioner” has the meaning given by paragraph 3(2)(a);
“person on income support” means a person in receipt of income support;

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 161

11

“person treated as not being in Great Britain” has the meaning given by paragraph 21;
“person who is not a pensioner” has the meaning given by paragraph 3(2)(b);
‘personal independence payment’ has the meaning given by Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act
2012 and the Social Security (Personal Independence Payments) 2013;
“personal pension scheme” means:
(a) a personal pension scheme as defined by section 1 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 as amended by
the Public Service Pension Act 2013;
(b) an annuity contract or trust scheme approved under section 620 or 621 of the Income and
Corporation Taxes Act 1988 or a substituted contract within the meaning of section 622(3) of
that Act which is treated as having become a registered pension scheme by virtue of paragraph
1(1)(f) of Schedule 36 to the Finance Act 2004;
(c) a personal pension scheme approved under Chapter 4 of Part 14 of the Income and
Corporation Taxes Act 1988 which is treated as having become a registered pension scheme
by virtue of paragraph 1(1)(g) of Schedule 36 to the Finance Act 2004;
“policy of life insurance” means any instrument by which the payment of money is assured on death
(except death by accident only) or the happening of any contingency dependent on human life, or
any instrument evidencing a contract which is subject to payment of premiums for a term
dependent on human life;
“polygamous marriage” means any marriage to which paragraph 5 applies;
“qualifying age for state pension credit” means (in accordance with section 1(2)(b) and (6) of the
State Pension Credit Act 2002)
(a) in the case of a woman, pensionable age; or
(b) in the case of a man, the age which is pensionable age in the case of a woman born on the
same day as the man;
“qualifying contributory benefit” means
(a) severe disablement allowance;
(b) incapacity benefit;
(c) contributory employment and support allowance;
“qualifying income-related benefit” means
(a) income support;
(b) income-based jobseeker's allowance;
(c) income-related employment and support allowance;
“qualifying person”
(a) a person in respect of whom payment has been made from the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited,
the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the Scottish Infected Blood Support Scheme, an approved blood
scheme, the London Emergencies Trust, the We Love Manchester Emergency Fund, the Grenfell Tower
charitable funds, the Grenfell Tower Residents’ Discretionary Fund, the Windrush Compensation Scheme
or the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund; or
(b) a person who has received a Grenfell Tower support payment;
“reduction week” means a period of seven consecutive days beginning with a Monday and ending with
a Sunday;
“relative” means a close relative, grandparent, grandchild, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece;
“relevant week”, in relation to any particular day, means the week within which the day in question
falls;
“remunerative work” has the meaning given by paragraph 10;
“rent” means ““eligible rent”” to which regulation 12 of the Housing Benefit (Persons who have
attained the qualifying age for state pension credit) Regulations 2006 refer, less any deductions in
respect of non-dependants which fall to be made under paragraph 30 (non-dependant deductions);
“savings credit” is to be construed in accordance with sections 1 and 3 of the State Pension Credit Act
2002;
“the Scottish Infected Blood Support Scheme” means the scheme of that name administered by the
Common Services Agency (constituted under section 10 of the National Health Service (Scotland)
Act 1978(b))
“second authority” means the authority to which a mover is liable to make payments for the new
dwelling;
“self-employed earner” is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(b) of the SSCBA;

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 162

12

‘self-employment route’ means assistance in pursuing self-employed earner’s employment whilst participating in–
(a) an employment zone programme;
(b) a programme provided or other arrangements made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act (functions
of the Secretary of State) or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 (functions
in relation to training for employment, etc.);
(c) the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme;
(d) a scheme prescribed in regulation 3 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance (Schemes for Assisting
Persons to Obtain Employment) Regulations 2013;
(e) Back to Work scheme.
‘Service User’ references in this scheme to an applicant participating as a service user are to
(a) a person who is being consulted by or on behalf of—
(i) the Secretary of State in relation to any of the Secretary of State’s functions in
the field of social security or child support or under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act
1973; or
(ii) a body which conducts research or undertakes monitoring for the purpose of
planning or improving such functions in their capacity as a person affected or potentially affected
by the exercise of those functions or the carer of such a person; or
(b) the carer of a person consulted as described in sub-paragraph (a) where the carer is not being
consulted as described in that sub-paragraph;
“single applicant” means an applicant who neither has a partner nor is a lone parent;
“the Skipton Fund” means the ex-gratia payment scheme administered by the Skipton Fund Limited,
incorporated on 25th March 2004, for the benefit of certain persons suffering from hepatitis C and
other persons eligible for payment in accordance with the scheme's provisions;
“sports award” means an award made by one of the Sports Councils named in section 23(2) of the
National Lottery etc. Act 1993 out of sums allocated to it for distribution under that section;
“the SSCBA” means the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992;
“state pension credit” means state pension credit under the State Pension Credit Act 2002;
“statutory parental bereavement pay” means a payment to which a person is entitled in accordance
with section 171ZZ6 of the Social Security Contribution and Benefits Act 1992
“student” has the meaning given by paragraph 73;
“tax year” means a period beginning with 6th April in one year and ending with 5th April in the next;
“training allowance” means an allowance (whether by way of periodical grants or otherwise)
payable:
(a) out of public funds by a Government department or by or on behalf of the Secretary of State,
Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands Enterprise, the Chief
Executive of Skills Funding or the Welsh Ministers;
(b) to a person for his maintenance or in respect of a member of his family; and
(c) for the period, or part of the period, during which he is following a course of training or
instruction provided by, or in pursuance of arrangements made with, that department or
approved by that department in relation to him or so provided or approved by or on behalf of
the Secretary of State, Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and
Islands Enterprise or the Welsh Ministers,
but it does not include an allowance paid by any Government department to or in respect of a person
by reason of the fact that he is following a course of full-time education, other than under
arrangements made under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973, or is training as a
teacher;
“the Trusts” (except where the context otherwise requires) means the Macfarlane Trust, the
Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust and the Macfarla7ne (Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust and
“Trustees” is to be construed accordingly;
‘Universal Credit’ means any payment of Universal Credit payable under the Welfare Reform Act 2012, the
Universal Credit Regulations 2013, The Universal Credit (Consequential, Supplementary, Incidental and
Miscellaneous Provisions) Regulations 2013, Universal Credit (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations
2013 and the Universal Credit (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2014;
‘Uprating Act’ means the Welfare Benefit Up-rating Act 2013, the Welfare Benefits Up-rating Order 2014
and the Welfare Benefits Up-rating Order 2015;

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 163

13

“voluntary organisation” means a body, other than a public or local authority, the activities of which
are carried on otherwise than for profit;
“war disablement pension” means any retired pay or pension or allowance payable in respect of
disablement under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and
Pensions) Act 2003;
“war pension” means a war disablement pension, a war widow's pension or a war widower's pension;
“war widow's pension” means any pension or allowance payable to a woman as a widow under an
instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in respect
of the death or disablement of any person;
“war widower's pension” means any pension or allowance payable to a man as a widower or to a
surviving civil partner under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings
and Pensions) Act 2003 in respect of the death or disablement of any person;
“water charges” means:
(a) as respects England and Wales, any water and sewerage charges under Chapter 1 of Part 5 of
the Water Industry Act 1991,
(b) as respects Scotland, any water and sewerage charges established by Scottish Water under a
charges scheme made under section 29A of the Water Industry (Scotland) Act 2002,
in so far as such charges are in respect of the dwelling which a person occupies as his home;
“the We Love Manchester Emergency Fund” means the registered charity of that name (number
1173260) established on 30th May 2017;
“the Windrush Compensation Scheme” means—
(a)the scheme of that name operated by the Secretary of State for the purpose of compensating individuals
who have suffered loss in connection with being unable to demonstrate their lawful status in the United
Kingdom; and
(b)the policy entitled “Windrush Scheme: Support in urgent and exceptional circumstances” which was operated by the Secretary of State for the purpose of compensating individuals who, for urgent and exceptional
reasons, required support in advance of the scheme referred to in paragraph (a) of this definition becoming
operational;
“working tax credit” means a working tax credit under section 10 of the Tax Credits Act 2002 as
amended1; and
“young person” means a person who falls within the definition of qualifying young person in section
142 of the SSCBA.
(2) In this scheme, where an amount is to be rounded to the nearest penny, a fraction of a penny must
be disregarded if it is less than half a penny and must otherwise be treated as a whole penny.
(3) For the purpose of this scheme, a person is on an income-based jobseeker's allowance on any day
in respect of which an income-based jobseeker's allowance is payable to him and on any day:
(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income-based jobseeker's
allowance but where the allowance is not paid because of a reduction in accordance with section 19
or 19A or regulations made under section 17A or 19B of the Jobseekers Act 1995 (circumstances in
which a jobseeker's allowance is not payable);
(b) which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to that Act and which falls
immediately before a day in respect of which an income-based jobseeker's allowance is payable
to him or would be payable to him but for section 19 or 19A or regulations made under section
17A or 19B of that Act; or
(c) in respect of which an income-based jobseeker's allowance would be payable but for a restriction
imposed pursuant to section 6B, 7, 8 or 9 of the Social Security Fraud Act 2001 (loss of benefit
provisions).
(4) For the purposes of this scheme, a person is on an income-related employment and support
allowance on any day in respect of which an income-related employment and support allowance is
payable to him and on any day:
(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income-related
The Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) (Amendment) Regulations 2013; The Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and
Maximum Rate) (Amendment) Regulations 2015

1

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 164

14

employment and support allowance but where the allowance is not paid in accordance with
section 18 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 (disqualification); or
(b) which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to that Act (employment
and support allowance: supplementary provisions) and which falls immediately before a day
in respect of which an income-related employment and support allowance is payable to him
or would be payable to him but for section 18 of that Act.
(5) For the purposes of this scheme, two persons must be taken to be estranged only if their
estrangement constitutes a breakdown of the relationship between them.
(6) In this scheme, references to any person in receipt of state pension credit includes a person who
would be in receipt of state pension credit but for regulation 13 of the State Pension Credit
Regulations 2002 (small amounts of state pension credit).
3.0 Application of scheme: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners
(1) In this scheme—
(a) a person is a “pensioner” if—
(i) he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; and
(ii), he is not and, if he has a partner, his partner is not—
(aa) a person on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or on an
income-related employment and support allowance, or
(bb) a person with an award of universal credit; and
(b) a person is a “person who is not a pensioner” if—
(i) he has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or
(ii) he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and he, or if he has a partner,
his partner, is—
(aa) a person on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or on an
income-related employment and support allowance, or
(bb) a person with an award of universal credit.
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (a)(ii)(bb) and (b)(ii)(bb) in paragraph (1) an award of universal
credit is to be disregarded during the relevant period.
(3) In this regulation—
“assessment period” has the same meaning as in the Universal Credit Regulations 2013;
“relevant period” means the period beginning with the day on which P and each partner of P has
attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and ending with the day on which the last
assessment period for universal credit ends.
4.0 Meaning of “couple”
(1) In this scheme “couple” means:
(a) a man and woman who are married to each other and are members of the same household;
(b) a man and woman who are not married to each other but are living together as if they were a married
couple or civil partners;
(c) two people of the same sex who are civil partners of each other and are members of the same
household; or
(d) two people of the same sex who are not civil partners of each other but are living together as
if they were civil partners.
(2) Two people of the same sex are to be treated as living together as if they were civil partners if, and
only if, they would be treated as living together as husband and wife were they of opposite sexes.
The above includes the Marriage (Same Sex Couples) Act 2013 and The Marriage (Same Sex Couples)
Act 2013 (Commencement No. 3) Order 2014.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 165

15

5.0 Polygamous marriages
(1) This paragraph applies to any case where—
(a) a person is a husband or wife by virtue of a marriage entered into under a law which permits
polygamy; and
(b) either party to the marriage has for the time being any spouse additional to the other party.
(2) For the purposes of paragraph 4 (meaning of “couple”) neither party to the marriage is to be taken
to be a member of a couple.
6.0 Meaning of “family”
(1) In this scheme “family” means
(a) a couple;
(b) a couple and a member of the same household for whom one of them is or both are
responsible and who is a child or a young person; or
(c) a person who is not a member of a couple and a member of the same household for whom
that person is responsible and who is a child or a young person.
(2) The references to a child or young person in sub-paragraph (1)(b) and (c) include a child or young
person in respect of whom section 145A of the SSCBA applies for the purposes of entitlement to
child benefit, but only for the period prescribed under section 145A(1).
(3) The references to a young person in sub-paragraph (1)(b) and (c) do not include a young person who
is—
(a) on income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an income-related employment
and support allowance, or has an award of universal credit; or
(b) a person to whom section 6 of the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 (exclusion from benefits)
applies.
7.0 Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible or not responsible for another
(1) A person is to be treated as responsible for a child or young person who is normally living with him,
including a child or young person to whom paragraph 6(2) applies.
(2) Where a child or young person spends equal amounts of time in different households, or where
there is a question as to which household he is living in, the child or young person must be treated
for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) as normally living with—
(a) the person who is receiving child benefit in respect of that child or young person, or
(b) if there is no such person—
(i) where only one claim for child benefit has been made in respect of him, the person who
made that claim, or
(ii) in any other case the person who has the primary responsibility for him.
(3) For the purposes of this scheme a child or young person is the responsibility of only one person in
any reduction week and any person other than the one treated as responsible for the child or young
person under this paragraph is to be treated as not so responsible.
8.0 Households
(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), an applicant and any partner and, where the applicant or his
partner is treated (by virtue of paragraph 7) as responsible for a child or young person, that child or
young person and any child of that child or young person, are to be treated as members of the same
household notwithstanding that any of them is temporarily absent from that household.
(2) A child or young person is not be treated as a member of the applicant's household where he is—

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 166

16

(a) placed with the applicant or his partner by a local authority under section 22C or 23(2)(a) of the Children Act 1989 or by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of that Act, or section 81(2) of the
Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 (ways in which looked after children are to be accommodated and maintained)”.
or in Scotland boarded out with the applicant or his partner under a relevant enactment; or
(b) placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with the applicant or his partner prior to adoption; or
(c) placed for adoption with the applicant or his partner in accordance with the Adoption and
Children Act 2002 or the Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 2009 or the Adoption
(Northern Ireland) Order 1987.
(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), sub-paragraph (1) does not apply to a child or young person who is not
living with the applicant and who—
(a) is being looked after by, or in Scotland is in the care of, a local authority under a relevant
enactment; or
(b) has been placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with a person other than the applicant prior to
adoption; or
(c) has been placed for adoption in accordance with the Adoption and Children Act 2002 or the
Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 2009.
(4) The authority must treat a child or young person to whom sub-paragraph (3)(a) applies as being a
member of the applicant's household in any reduction week where—
(a) that child or young person lives with the applicant for part or all of that reduction week; and
(b) the authority considers that it is reasonable to do so taking into account the nature and
frequency of that child's or young person's visits.
(5) In this paragraph “relevant enactment” means:
(a) the Army Act 1955;
(b) the Air Force Act 1955;
(c) the Naval Discipline Act 1957;
(d) the Matrimonial Proceedings (Children) Act 1958;
(e) the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968;
(f) the Family Law Reform Act 1969;
(g) the Children and Young Persons Act 1969;
(h) the Matrimonial Causes Act 1973;
(i) the Children Act 1975;
(j) the Domestic Proceedings and Magistrates’ Courts Act 1978;
(k) the Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 2007;
(l) the Family Law Act 1986;
(m) the Children Act 1989;
(n) the Children (Scotland) Act 1995; and
(o) the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012.
9.0 Non-dependants
(1) In this scheme, “non-dependant” means any person, except someone to whom sub-paragraph (2)
applies, who normally resides with an applicant or with whom an applicant normally resides.
(2) This paragraph applies to—
(a) any member of the applicant's family;
(b) if the applicant is polygamously married—
(i) where the applicant has (alone or jointly with his partner) an award of universal credit,
any:
(aa) party to such a marriage other than the applicant's partner; and
(bb) any child or young person who is a member of his household and for whom he or
his partner or another party to the polygamous marriage is responsible; or
(ii) in any other case, any partner of his and any child or young person who is a member of
his household and for whom he or one of his partners is responsible;

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 167

17

(c) a child or young person who is living with the applicant but who is not a member of his
household by virtue of paragraph 8 (households);
(d) subject to sub-paragraph (3), any person who, with the applicant, is jointly and severally liable
to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling for any day under section 6 or 7 of the 1992 Act
(persons liable to pay council tax);
(e) subject to sub-paragraph (3), any person who is liable to make payments on a commercial
basis to the applicant or the applicant's partner in respect of the occupation of the dwelling;
(f) a person who lives with the applicant in order to care for him or a partner of his and who is
engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation which makes a charge to the applicant or
his partner for the services provided by that person.
(3) Excepting persons to whom sub-paragraph (2)(a) to (c) and (f) refer, a person to whom any of the
following paragraphs applies is a non-dependant:
(a) a person who resides with the person to whom he is liable to make payments in respect of the
dwelling and either—
(i) that person is a close relative of his or his partner; or
(ii) the tenancy or other agreement between them is other than on a commercial basis;
(b) a person whose liability to make payments in respect of the dwelling appears to the authority
to have been created to take advantage of a council tax reduction scheme except someone
who was, for any period within the eight weeks prior to the creation of the agreement giving
rise to the liability to make such payments, otherwise liable to make payments of rent in
respect of the same dwelling;
(c) a person who becomes jointly and severally liable with the applicant for council tax in respect
of a dwelling and who was, at any time during the period of eight weeks prior to his becoming
so liable, a non-dependant of one or more of the other residents in that dwelling who are so
liable for the tax, unless the change giving rise to the new liability was not made to take
advantage of a council tax reduction scheme.
10.0 Remunerative work
(1) Subject to the following provisions of this paragraph, a person must be treated for the purposes of
this scheme as engaged in remunerative work if he is engaged, or, where his hours of work fluctuate,
he is engaged on average, for not less than 16 hours a week, in work for which payment is made or
which is done in expectation of payment.
(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), in determining the number of hours for which a person is engaged in
work where his hours of work fluctuate, regard must be had to the average of hours worked over
(a) if there is a recognisable cycle of work, the period of one complete cycle (including, where the
cycle involves periods in which the person does no work, those periods but disregarding any
other absences);
(b) in any other case, the period of 5 weeks immediately prior to the date of application, or such
other length of time as may, in the particular case, enable the person's weekly average hours
of work to be determined more accurately.
(3) Where, for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a), a person's recognisable cycle of work at a school,
other educational establishment or other place of employment is one year and includes periods of
school holidays or similar vacations during which he does not work, those periods and any other
periods not forming part of such holidays or vacations during which he is not required to work must
be disregarded in establishing the average hours for which he is engaged in work.
(4) Where no recognisable cycle has been established in respect of a person's work, regard must be had
to the number of hours or, where those hours will fluctuate, the average of the hours, which he is
expected to work in a week.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 168

18

(5) A person must be treated as engaged in remunerative work during any period for which he is absent
from work referred to in sub-paragraph (1) if the absence is either without good cause or by reason
of a recognised, customary or other holiday.
(6) A person on income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an income-related
employment and support allowance for more than 3 days in any reduction week is to be treated as
not being in remunerative work in that week.
(7) A person must not be treated as engaged in remunerative work on any day on which the person is on
maternity leave, paternity leave, shared parental leave, parental bereavement leave or adoption
leave, or is absent from work because he is ill.
(8) A person must not be treated as engaged in remunerative work on any day on which he is engaged
in an activity in respect of which—
(a) a sports award has been made, or is to be made, to him; and
(b) no other payment is made or is expected to be made to him.
11.0 Procedure for reduction applications and appeals against reduction decisions
Schedule 1 contains provisions about the procedure
(a) by which a person may apply for a reduction under this scheme;
(b) by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the authority;
(c) by which a person can apply to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the
1992 Act.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 169

19

CLASSES OF PERSON ENTITLED TO A REDUCTION UNDER THIS SCHEME

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 170

20

12.0 Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme
(1) The classes of person described in paragraphs 13 to 18 are entitled to a reduction under this scheme.
(2) In those paragraphs, references to the applicant's income or capital include, in a case where that
income or capital cannot accurately be determined, references to the applicant's estimated income
or capital.
13.0 Class A: pensioners whose income is less than the applicable amount
On any day class A consists of any person who is a pensioner
(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident;
(b) who, subject to paragraph 19 (periods of absence from a dwelling), is not absent from the
dwelling throughout the day;
(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated;
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this scheme;
(e) whose income (if any) for the relevant week does not exceed his applicable amount, and
(f) who has made an application.
14.0 Class B: pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount
On any day class B consists of any person who is a pensioner
(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident;
(b) who, subject to paragraph 19 (periods of absence from a dwelling), is not absent from the
dwelling throughout the day;
(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated;
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this scheme;
(e) whose income for the relevant week is greater than his applicable amount;
(f) in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where—
(i) amount A is the maximum council tax reduction in respect of the day in the applicant's
case; and
(ii) amount B is 2 6/7 per cent of the difference between his income for the relevant week
and his applicable amount, and
(g) who has made an application.
15.0 Class C: alternative maximum council tax reduction – pensioners
(1) On any day class C consists of any person who is a pensioner
(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident;
(b) who, subject to paragraph 19 (periods of absence from a dwelling), is not absent from the
dwelling throughout the day;
(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated;
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this scheme;
(e) who has made an application; and
(f) in relation to whom the condition in sub-paragraph (2) is met.
(2) The condition referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(f) is that no other resident of the dwelling is liable to
pay rent to the applicant in respect of the dwelling and there is an alternative maximum council tax
reduction in respect of the day in the case of that person which is derived from the income, or
aggregate incomes, of one or more residents to whom this sub-paragraph applies.
(3) Sub-paragraph (2) applies to any other resident of the dwelling who:
(a) is not a person who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be disregarded for
the purposes of discount;
(b) is not a person who is liable for council tax solely in consequence of the provisions of section
9 of the 1992 Act (spouse's or civil partner's joint and several liability for tax);
(c) is not a person who is residing with a couple or with the members of a polygamous marriage

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 171

21

where the applicant is a member of that couple or of that marriage and
(i) in the case of a couple, neither member of that couple is a person who, in accordance
with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act (persons disregarded for the purposes of discount), falls
to be disregarded for the purposes of discount; or
(ii) in the case of a polygamous marriage, two or more members of that marriage are not
persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be disregarded for
the purposes of discount;
(d) is not a person who jointly with the applicant falls within the same paragraph of section 6(2)(a)
to (e) of the 1992 Act (persons liable to pay council tax) as applies in the case of the applicant;
or
(e) is not a person who is residing with two or more persons both or all of whom fall within the
same paragraph of section 6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act where two or more of those persons
are not persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be disregarded for
the purposes of discount.
16.0 Class D: persons who are not pensioners whose income is less than the applicable amount
On any day class D consists of any person who is not a pensioner:
(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident;
(b) who, subject to paragraph 19A (periods of absence from a dwelling; persons who are not
pensioners), is not absent from the dwelling throughout the day;
(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated;
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this scheme;
(e) whose income (if any) for the relevant week is less than his applicable amount, and
(f) who has made an application.
17.0 Class E: persons who are not pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount
On any day class E consists of any person who is not a pensioner:
(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident;
(b) who, subject to paragraph 19A (periods of absence from a dwelling; persons who are not
pensioners), is not absent from the dwelling throughout the day;
(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated;
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this scheme;
(e) whose income for the relevant week is greater than his applicable amount;
(f) in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where—
(i) amount A is the maximum council tax reduction in his case; and
(ii) amount B is 2 6/7 per cent of the difference between his income for the relevant week
and his applicable amount, and
(g) who has made an application.
18.0 Class F: alternative maximum council tax reduction – persons who are not pensioners
(1) On any day class F consists of any person who is not a pensioner—
(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident;
(b) who, subject to paragraph 19A (periods of absence from a dwelling; persons who are not
pensioners), is not absent from the dwelling throughout the day;
(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated;
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this scheme;
(e) who has made an application; and
(f) in relation to whom the condition in sub-paragraph (2) is met.
(2) The condition referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(f) is that no other resident of the dwelling is liable to
pay rent to the person in question in respect of the dwelling and there is an alternative maximum
council tax reduction in respect of the day in the case of that person which is derived from the
income, or aggregate incomes, of one or more residents to whom this sub-paragraph applies.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 172

22

(3) Sub-paragraph (2) applies to any other resident of the dwelling who:
(a) is not a person who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be disregarded for
the purposes of discount; and
(b) is not a person who is liable for council tax solely in consequence of the provisions of section
9 of the 1992 Act (spouse's or civil partner's joint and several liability for tax);
(c) is not a person who is residing with a couple or with the members of a polygamous marriage
where the applicant for the reduction is a member of that couple or of that marriage and—
(i) in the case of a couple, neither member of that couple is a person who, in accordance with
Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be disregarded for the purposes of discount; or
(ii) in the case of a polygamous marriage, two or more members of that marriage are not
persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be disregarded for the
purposes of discount;
(d) is not a person who jointly with the applicant for reduction falls within the same paragraph of
section 6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act (persons liable to pay council tax) as applies in the case
of the applicant; or
(e) is not a person who is residing with two or more persons both or all of whom fall within the
same paragraph of section 6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act where two or more of those persons
are not persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be disregarded for
the purposes of discount.
19. Periods of absence from a dwelling
(1)

A person is not absent from a dwelling in relation to any day which falls within a period of
temporary absence from that dwelling.

(2)

In sub-paragraph (1), a “period of temporary absence” means:
(a) a period of absence not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the first whole day on which a
person resides in residential accommodation where and for so long as:
(i) the person resides in that accommodation in Great Britain;
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; and
(iii) that period of absence does not form part of a longer period of absence from the
dwelling of more than 52 weeks,
where he has entered the accommodation for the purpose of ascertaining whether it suits his
needs and with the intention of returning to the dwelling if it proves not to suit his needs;
(b) a period of absence within Great Britain not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the first whole
day of absence from the dwelling, where and for so long as:
(i) the person intends to return to the dwelling;
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let;
(iii) that period is unlikely to exceed 13 weeks; and
(c) a period of absence within Great Britain not exceeding 52 weeks, beginning with the first
whole day of that absence, where and for so long as:
(i) the person intends to return to the dwelling;
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let;
(iii) the person is a person to whom sub-paragraph (3) applies; and
(iv) the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 52 weeks or, in exceptional
circumstances, is unlikely substantially to exceed that period and
(d) subject to sub-paragraphs (2F), (3C), (3E) and (3G) and where sub-paragraph (2E) applies, a period
of absence outside Great Britain not exceeding 4 weeks, beginning with the first day of that absence
from Great Britain where and for so long as:
(i) the person intends to return to the dwelling;
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resides is not let or sub-let; and
(iii) the period of absence from Great Britain is unlikely to exceed 4 weeks.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 173

23

(2A)

The period of 13 weeks referred to in sub-paragraph (2)(b) shall run or continue to run during any
period of absence from Great Britain.

(2B)

Where:
(a)a person returns to Great Britain after a period of absence from Great Britain (period A);
(b) that person has been absent from the dwelling, including any absence within Great Britain, for less
than 13 weeks beginning with the first day of absence from that dwelling; and
(c)at the outset of, or during, period A, period A ceased to be treated as a period of temporary absence,
then any day that follows period A and precedes the person’s return to the dwelling, shall not be
treated as a period of temporary absence under sub-paragraph (2)(b).

(2C)

The period of 52 weeks referred to in sub-paragraph (2)(c) shall run or continue to run during any period
of absence from Great Britain.

(2D)

Where:
(a)a person returns to Great Britain after a period of absence from Great Britain (period A);
(b)that person has been absent from the dwelling, including any absence within Great Britain, for less
than 52 weeks beginning with the first day of absence from that dwelling; and
(c)at the outset of, or during, period A, period A ceased to be treated as a period of temporary absence,
then, any day that follows period A and precedes the person’s return to the dwelling, shall not be
treated as a period of temporary absence under sub-paragraph (2)(c).

(2E)

This sub-paragraph applies where:
(a)a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain;
(b) immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not absent from the
dwelling.

(2F)

If the temporary absence referred to in sub-paragraph (2)(d) is in connection with the death of:
(a) the person’s partner or a child or young person for whom the person or the person’s partner is
responsible;
(b)the person’s close relative;
(c)the close relative of the person’s partner; or
(d) the close relative of a child or young person for whom the person or the person’s partner is responsible,
then the period of 4 weeks in the opening words of sub-paragraph (2)(d) may be extended by up to 4
further weeks if the relevant authority considers it unreasonable to expect the person to return to
Great Britain within the first 4 weeks (and the reference in sub-paragraph (iii) of that paragraph to a
period of 4 weeks shall, where the period is extended, be taken as referring to the period as so extended).

(3)

This sub-paragraph applies to a person who—
(a) is detained in custody on remand pending trial or required, as a condition of bail, to reside—
(i) in a dwelling, other than the dwelling referred to in sub-paragraph (1), or
(ii) in premises approved under section 13 of the Offender Management Act 2007, or is
detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction;
(b) is resident in a hospital or similar institution as a patient;
(c) is undergoing, or whose partner or dependent child is undergoing, medical treatment, or
medically approved convalescence, in accommodation other than residential accommodation;
(d) is following, a training course;
(e) is undertaking medically approved care of a person;
(f) is undertaking the care of a child whose parent or guardian is temporarily absent from the
dwelling normally occupied by that parent or guardian for the purpose of receiving medically
approved care or medical treatment;

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 174

24

(g) is receiving medically approved care provided in accommodation other than residential
accommodation;
(h) is a student;
(i) is receiving care provided in residential accommodation and is not a person to whom subparagraph (2)(a) applies; or
(j) has left the dwelling he resides in through fear of violence, in that dwelling, or by a person
who was formerly a member of the family of the person first mentioned.
(3A)

This sub-paragraph applies to a person (“P”) who is:
(a)detained in custody on remand pending trial;
(b)detained pending sentence upon conviction; or
(c)as a condition of bail required to reside—
(i)in a dwelling, other than a dwelling P occupies as P’s home; or
(ii)in premises approved under section 13 of the Offender Management Act 2007(7),
and who is not also detained in custody following sentence upon conviction.

(3B)

This sub-paragraph applies where:
(a)a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain;
(b) the person is a member of Her Majesty’s forces posted overseas, a mariner or a continental shelf
worker;
(c) immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not absent from the
dwelling.

(3C)

Where sub-paragraph (3B) applies, a period of absence from Great Britain not exceeding 26 weeks,
beginning with the first day of absence from Great Britain, shall be treated as a period of temporary
absence where and for so long as:
(a) the person intends to return to the dwelling;
(b)the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let;
(c)the period of absence from Great Britain is unlikely to exceed 26 weeks.

(3D)

This sub-paragraph applies where—
(a) a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain;
(b) the person is a person described in any of paragraphs (b), (c), (g) or (j) of sub-paragraph (3);
(c) immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not absent from the
dwelling.

(3E)

Where sub-paragraph (3D) applies, a period of absence from Great Britain not exceeding 26 weeks,
beginning with the first day of absence from Great Britain, shall be treated as a period of temporary
absence where and for so long as:
(a) the person intends to return to the dwelling;
(b) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let;
(c) the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 26 weeks, or in exceptional circumstances, is unlikely
substantially to exceed that period.

(3F)

This sub-paragraph applies where:
(a) a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain;
(b) the person is a person described in any of paragraphs (a), (d), (e), (f), (h) or (i) of sub-paragraph (3);
(c)immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not absent from the
dwelling.

(3G)

Where sub-paragraph (3F) applies, a period of absence from Great Britain not exceeding 4 weeks, beginning with the first day of absence from Great Britain, shall be treated as a period of temporary absence where and for so long as:
(a) the person intends to return to the dwelling;
(b) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let;

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 175

25

(c) the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 4 weeks, or in exceptional circumstances, is unlikely
substantially to exceed that period.”;
(4)

This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is—
(a) detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction or under a sentence imposed by a court
(other than a person who is detained in hospital under the provisions of the Mental Health Act 1983,
or, in Scotland, under the provisions of the Mental Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003
or the Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995 or, in Northern Ireland, under Article 4 or 12 of the
Mental Health (Northern Ireland) Order 1986); and
(b) on temporary release from detention in accordance with Rules made under the provisions of the
Prison Act 1952 or the Prisons (Scotland) Act 1989.

(5)

Where sub-paragraph (4) applies to a person, then, for any day when he is on temporary release—
(a) if such temporary release was immediately preceded by a period of temporary absence under subparagraph (2)(b) or (c), he must be treated, for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), as if he continues
to be absent from the dwelling, despite any return to the dwelling;
(b) for the purposes of sub-paragraph (3A), he must be treated as if he remains in detention;
(c) if he does not fall within paragraph (a), he is not to be considered to be a person who is liable to
pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident.

(6)

In this paragraph—
“continental shelf worker” means a person who is employed, whether under a contract of service or
not, in a designated area or a prescribed area in connection with any of the activities mentioned in
section 11(2) of the Petroleum Act 1998;
“designated area” means any area which may from time to time be designated by Order in Council
under the Continental Shelf Act 1964 as an area within which the rights of the United Kingdom with
respect to the seabed and subsoil and their natural resources may be exercised;
“mariner” means a person who is employed under a contract of service either as a master or member
of the crew of any ship or vessel, or in any other capacity on board any ship or vessel, where—
(a) the employment in that capacity is for the purposes of that ship or vessel or its crew or any passengers or cargo or mails carried by the ship or vessel; and
(b) the contract is entered into in the United Kingdom with a view to its performance (in whole or in
part) while the ship or vessel is on its voyage;”;
“medically approved” means certified by a medical practitioner;
“member of Her Majesty’s forces posted overseas” means a person who is a member of the regular
forces or the reserve forces (within the meaning of section 374 of the Armed Forces Act 2006(10)), who
is absent from the main dwelling because the person has been posted outside of Great Britain to perform the duties of a member of Her Majesty’s regular forces or reserve forces;
“patient” means a person who is undergoing medical or other treatment as an in-patient in any
hospital or similar institution;
“prescribed area” means any area over which Norway or any member State (other than the United
Kingdom) exercises sovereign rights for the purpose of exploring the seabed and subsoil and exploiting
their natural resources, being an area outside the territorial seas of Norway or such member State, or
any other area which is from time to time specified under section 10(8) of the Petroleum Act 1998;”
“residential accommodation” means accommodation which is provided in:
(a) a care home;
(b) an independent hospital;
(c) an Abbeyfield Home; or
(d) an establishment managed or provided by a body incorporated by Royal Charter or
constituted by Act of Parliament other than a local social services authority;
“training course” means a course of training or instruction provided wholly or partly by or on
behalf of or in pursuance of arrangements made with, or approved by or on behalf of, Skills
Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise, Highlands and Islands Enterprise, a government
department or the Secretary of State

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 176

26

19A.0 Periods of absence from a dwelling
(1) A person is not absent from a dwelling in relation to any day, which falls within a period of temporary
absence from that dwelling.
(2) In sub-paragraph (1), a “period of temporary absence” means
(a) a period of absence not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the first whole day on which a
person resides in residential accommodation where and for so long as—
(i) the person resides in that accommodation;
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; and
(iii) that period of absence does not form part of a longer period of absence from the dwelling
of more than 52 weeks,
where he has entered the accommodation for the purpose of ascertaining whether it suits his
needs and with the intention of returning to the dwelling if it proves not to suit his needs;
(b) a period of absence not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the first whole day of absence
from the dwelling, where and for so long as:
(i) the person intends to return to the dwelling;
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; and
(iii) that period is unlikely to exceed 13 weeks; and
(c) a period of absence not exceeding 52 weeks, beginning with the first whole day of that
absence, where and for so long as:
(i) the person intends to return to the dwelling;
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let;
(iii) the person is a person to whom sub-paragraph (3) applies; and
(iv) the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 52 weeks or, in exceptional circumstances, is
unlikely substantially to exceed that period.
(3) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who—
(a) is detained in custody on remand pending trial or required, as a condition of bail, to reside—
(i) in a dwelling, other than the dwelling referred to in sub-paragraph (1), or
(ii) in premises approved under section 13 of the Offender Management Act 2007,
or is detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction;
(b) is resident in a hospital or similar institution as a patient;
(c) is undergoing, or whose partner or dependent child is undergoing, in the United Kingdom or
elsewhere, medical treatment, or medically approved convalescence, in accommodation
other than residential accommodation;
(d) is following, in the United Kingdom or elsewhere, a training course;
(e) is undertaking medically approved care of a person residing in the United Kingdom or
elsewhere;
(f) is undertaking the care of a child whose parent or guardian is temporarily absent from the
dwelling normally occupied by that parent or guardian for the purpose of receiving medically
approved care or medical treatment;
(g) is, in the United Kingdom or elsewhere, receiving medically approved care provided in
accommodation other than residential accommodation;
(h) is a student;
(i) is receiving care provided in residential accommodation and is not a person to whom subparagraph (2)(a) applies; or
(j) has left the dwelling he resides in through fear of violence, in that dwelling, or by a person who
was formerly a member of the family of the person first mentioned.
(4) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is
(a) detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction or under a sentence imposed by a court
(other than a person who is detained in hospital under the provisions of the Mental Health
Act 1983 (as amended by the Mental Health (Discrimination) Act 2013), or, in Scotland, under
the provisions of the Mental Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003 or the Criminal
Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995 or, in Northern Ireland, under Article 4 or 12 of the Mental
Health (Northern Ireland) Order 1986); and

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 177

27

(b) on temporary release from detention in accordance with Rules made under the provisions of
the Prison Act 1952 or the Prisons (Scotland) Act 1989.
(5) Where sub-paragraph (4) applies to a person, then, for any day when he is on temporary release—
(a) if such temporary release was immediately preceded by a period of temporary absence under
sub-paragraph (2)(b) or (c), he must be treated, for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), as if he
continues to be absent from the dwelling, despite any return to the dwelling;
(b) for the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(a), he must be treated as if he remains in detention;
(c) if he does not fall within paragraph (a), he is not to be considered to be a person who is liable
to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident.
(6) In this paragraph—
“medically approved” means certified by a medical practitioner;
“patient” means a person who is undergoing medical or other treatment as an in-patient in any
hospital or similar institution;
“residential accommodation” means accommodation which is provided in
(a) a care home;
(b) an independent hospital;
(c) an Abbeyfield Home; or
(d) an establishment managed or provided by a body incorporated by Royal Charter or constituted
by Act of Parliament other than a local social services authority;
“training course” means a course of training or instruction provided wholly or partly by or on behalf
of or in pursuance of arrangements made with, or approved by or on behalf of, Skills Development
Scotland, Scottish Enterprise, Highlands and Islands Enterprise, a government department or the
Secretary of State.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 178

28

CLASSES OF PERSON EXCLUDED FROM THIS SCHEME

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 179

29

20.0 Classes of person excluded from this scheme
The classes of person described in paragraphs 21 to 24 are not entitled to a reduction under this scheme.
21.0 Class of person excluded from this scheme: persons treated as not being in Great Britain
(1)

The class of person described in this paragraph consists of any person treated as not being in Great
Britain.

(2)

Except where a person falls within sub-paragraph (5) or (6), a person is to be treated as not being
in Great Britain if the person is not habitually resident in the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands,
the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland.

(3)

A person must not be treated as habitually resident in the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands,
the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland unless the person has a right to reside in one of those
places.

(4)

For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3), a right to reside does not include a right which exists by
virtue of, or in accordance with—
(a) regulation 13 of the EEA Regulations;
(aa)
regulation 14 of the EEA Regulations but only in a case where the right exists under that
regulation where the person is (i) a jobseeker for the purpose of the definition of a ‘qualified person’ in regulation 6(1)
of those regulations, or,
(ii) a family member (within the meaning of regulation 7 of those regulations) of such a
jobseeker
(b) regulation 16 of the EEA Regulations, but only in a case where the right exists under that regulation because the applicant satisfies the criteria in paragraph 5 of that regulation.
For the purposes of paragraph (3), a right to reside does not include a right which exists by virtue
of a person having been granted limited leave to enter, or remain in, the United Kingdom under
the Immigration Act 1971 by virtue of—
(a) (removed)
(b) (b)Appendix EU to the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of that Act;
(c) (c)being a person with a Zambrano right to reside as defined in Annex 1 of Appendix EU to the
immigration rules made under section 3(2) of that Act;
(d) having arrived in the United Kingdom with an entry clearance that was granted under Appendix EU (Family Permit) to the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of that Act; or

(4A)

(4B)

(5)

Paragraph (4A)(b) does not apply to a person who—
(a) has a right to reside granted by virtue of being a family member of a relevant person of Northern
Ireland; and
(b) would have a right to reside under the EEA Regulations(6) if the relevant person of Northern Ireland were an EEA national, provided that the right to reside does not fall within paragraph (4)(a)
or (b);
A person falls within this sub-paragraph if the person is—
(za)
a person granted leave in accordance with the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of
the Immigration Act 1971, where such leave is granted by virtue of—
(i) the Afghan Relocations and Assistance Policy; or
(ii) the previous scheme for locally-employed staff in Afghanistan (sometimes referred to as
the ex-gratia scheme);
(zb)
a person in Great Britain not coming within sub-paragraph (za) or (e)(iv) who left Afghanistan
in connection with the collapse of the Afghan government that took place on 15th August
2021
(a)
a qualified person for the purposes of regulation 6 of the EEA Regulations as a worker or
a self-employed person;
(b)
a family member of a person referred to in sub-paragraph (a);

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 180

30

(c)

a person who has a right to reside permanently in the United Kingdom by virtue of regulation 15(1)(c), (d) or (e) of the EEA Regulations;

(ca)

a family member of a relevant person of Northern Ireland, with a right to reside which falls
within paragraph (4A)(b), provided that the relevantperson of Northern Ireland falls within
paragraph (5)(a), or would do so but for the fact that they are not an EEA national;

(cb)

a frontier worker within the meaning of regulation 3 of the Citizens’ Rights (Frontier Workers)
(EU Exit) Regulations 2020;
a family member of a person referred to in sub-paragraph (cb), who has been granted
limited leave to enter, or remain in, the United Kingdom by virtue of Appendix EU to the
immigration rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971;
a person recorded by the Secretary of State as a refugee within the definition in Article 1
of the Convention relating to the Status of Refugees done at Geneva on 28th July 1951,
as extended by Article 1(2) of the Protocol relating to the Status of Refugees done at New
York on 31st January 1967;
a person who has been granted, or who is deemed to have been granted, leave outside
the rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 19712 where that leave is—
(i) discretionary leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom,
(ii) leave to remain under the Destitution Domestic Violence concession which came
into effect on 1st April 2012;
(iii) leave deemed to have been granted by virtue of regulation 3 of the Displaced
Persons (Temporary Protection) Regulations 2005; or
(iv) granted under the Afghan Citizens Resettlement Scheme.
a person who has humanitarian protection granted under those rules;
a person who is not a person subject to immigration control within the meaning of section
115(9) of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 and who is in the United Kingdom as a
result of his deportation, expulsion or other removal by compulsion of law from another
country to the United Kingdom;
in receipt of income support or on an income-related employment and support allowance
or
in receipt of an income-based jobseeker’s allowance and has a right to reside other
than a right to reside falling within paragraph (4)

(cc)
(d)

(e)

(f)
(g)

(h)
(ha)
(6)

A person falls within this sub-paragraph if the person is a Crown servant or member of Her Majesty’s forces posted overseas.

(7)

A person mentioned in sub-paragraph (6) is posted overseas if the person is performing overseas
the duties of a Crown servant or member of Her Majesty’s forces and was, immediately before the
posting or the first of consecutive postings, habitually resident in the United Kingdom.

(8)

In this paragraph—
“claim for asylum” has the same meaning as in section 94(1) of the Immigration and Asylum Act
1999;
“EEA Regulations” means the Immigration (European Economic Area) Regulations 2016 and references to the EEA Regulations are to be read with Schedule 4 to the Immigration and Social Security
Co-ordination (EU Withdrawal) Act 2020 (Consequential, Saving, Transitional and Transitory Provisions) Regulations 2020;
“EEA national” has the meaning given in regulation 2(1) of the EEA Regulations;”;
“family member” has the meaning given in regulation 7(1)(a), (b) or (c) of the EEA Regulations, except that
regulation 7(4) of the EEA Regulations does not apply for the purposes of paragraphs (4B) and (5)(ca);”;
“relevant person of Northern Ireland” has the meaning given in Annex 1 of Appendix EU to the
immigration rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971.
.

2

As amended by the Immigration Act 2014 and the Immigration Act 2014 (Commencement No. 2) Order 2014

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 181

31

22.0 Class of person excluded from this scheme: persons subject to immigration control
(1) Persons subject to immigration control are not entitled to a reduction under this scheme.
(2) “Person subject to immigration control” has the meaning given in section 115(9) of the Immigration
and Asylum Act 1999.3
23.0 Class of person excluded from this scheme: capital limit
(1) The class of person described in this paragraph consists of any person whose capital exceeds
£16,000.
(2) Capital for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) is to be calculated in accordance with Part 10 of this
scheme.
24.0 Class of person excluded from this scheme: students
The class of person described in this paragraph consists of any student to whom paragraph 75(1) applies
(except to the extent that a student may be entitled to an alternative maximum council tax reduction by
virtue of paragraph 18).

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 182

32

APPLICABLE AMOUNTS

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 183

33

25.0 Applicable amounts: pensioners
(1) The applicable amount for a pensioner for a week is the aggregate of such of the following amounts
as apply in his case—
(a) an amount in respect of his personal allowance, determined in accordance with paragraph 1
of Schedule 2 (personal allowance);
(b) an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 2 of that Schedule in respect of up to two individuals who are either children or young persons and who are members of his family
(c) if he is a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person, an
amount determined in accordance with paragraph 3 of that Schedule (family premium);
(d) the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him, determined in accordance with
Parts 3 and 4 of that Schedule (premiums).
(1A) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) as it applies apart from sub-paragraph (1C), where the family
includes more than two individuals who are either children or young persons and under paragraph 2 of
that Schedule a different amount applies to different individuals, the two amounts to be included in the
applicable amount shall be those that result in the greatest possible total amount.
(1B) Sub-paragraph (1C) applies where—
(a) (whether or not as part of a tax credit couple as defined in section 3(5A) of the Tax Credits Act 2002)
the applicant has an award of child tax credit (whether or not any amount is payable by way of such
credit) in respect of a child or young person who is a member of his family; and
(b) the total amount to be included in the applicable amount under sub-paragraph (1)(b) as substituted
by sub-paragraph (1C) would be higher than the total amount that would be included under paragraph (1)(b) apart from sub-paragraph (1C).
(1C) Where this paragraph applies, for sub-paragraph (1)(b) substitute—
(b) an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 2 of that Schedule in respect of any child or
young person who is a member of his family and in respect of whom the individual element of child tax
credit has been included in the determination of the maximum rate of that credit;”.
(2) In Schedule 2—
“additional spouse” means a spouse by the party to the marriage who is additional to the party to
the marriage;
“patient” means a person (other than a person who is serving a sentence of imprisonment or
detention in a youth custody institution) who is regarded as receiving free in-patient treatment
within the meaning of regulation 2(4) and (5) of the Social Security (Hospital In-Patients)
Regulations 2005.
26.0 Applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners4
(1) Subject to paragraphs 27 and 28, the applicable amount for a week for a person who is not a
pensioner is the aggregate of such of the following amounts as may apply in his case—
(a) an amount in respect of himself or, if he is a member of a couple, an amount in respect of both
of them, determined in accordance with paragraph 1 of Schedule 3;
(b) an amount in respect of any child or young person who is a member of his family, determined
in accordance with paragraph 3 of that Schedule;
(c) if he is a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person, an
amount determined in accordance with Part 2 of that Schedule (family premium);
(d) the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him, determined in accordance with
Parts 3 and 4 of that Schedule (premiums);
(e) the amount of either the—
(i) work-related activity component; or
(ii) support component,
which may be applicable to him in accordance with Parts 5 and 6 of that Schedule (the
components);
(f) the amount of any transitional addition which may be applicable to him in accordance with
4 The Council has resolved that the Applicable Amounts for persons who are not pensioners will be uprated in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 as amended by the Social Security Benefits Uprating Orders.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 184

34

Parts 7 and 8 of that Schedule (transitional addition).
(2) In Schedule 3—
“additional spouse” means a spouse by the party to the marriage who is additional to the party to
the marriage;
“converted employment and support allowance” means an employment and support allowance
which is not income-related and to which a person is entitled as a result of a conversion decision
within the meaning of the Employment and Support Allowance (Existing Awards) Regulations
2008;
“patient” means a person (other than a person who is serving a sentence of imprisonment or
detention in a youth custody institution) who is regarded as receiving free in-patient treatment
within the meaning of regulation 2(4) and (5) of the Social Security (Hospital In-Patients)
Regulations 2005.
27.0 Polygamous marriages: persons who are not pensioners
(1) This paragraph applies where an applicant who is not a pensioner is a member of a polygamous
marriage and does not have (alone or jointly with a party to a marriage), an award of universal credit.
(2) The applicable amount for a week of an applicant where this paragraph applies is the aggregate of
such of the following amounts as may apply in his case:
(a) the amount applicable to him and one of his partners determined in accordance with
paragraph 1(3) of Schedule 3 as if he and that partner were a couple;
(b) an amount equal to the difference between the amounts specified in sub-paragraphs (3) and
(1)(b) of paragraph 1 of that Schedule in respect of each of his other partners;
(c) an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 2 of that Schedule (main phase
employment and support allowance) in respect of any child or young person for whom he or
a partner of his is responsible and who is a member of the same household;
(d) if he or another partner of the polygamous marriage is responsible for a child or young person
who is a member of the same household, the amount specified in Part 2 of that Schedule
(family premium);
(e) the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him determined in accordance with
Parts 3 and 4 of that Schedule (premiums);
(f) the amount of either the—
(i) work-related activity component; or
(ii) support component,
which may be applicable to him in accordance with Parts 5 and 6 of that Schedule (the
components);
(g) the amount of any transitional addition which may be applicable to him in accordance with
Parts 7 and 8 of that Schedule (transitional addition).
28.0 Applicable amount: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of universal credit
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), in determining the applicable amount for a week of an applicant who
is not a pensioner:
(a) who has, or
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has,
an award of universal credit, the authority must use the calculation or estimate of the maximum
amount of the applicant, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as the case may be), subject to the
adjustment described in sub-paragraph (3).
(2) In determining the applicable amount for a week of an applicant who is a member of a polygamous
marriage, the fact that two people are husband and wife is to be disregarded if:
(a) one of them is a party to an earlier marriage that still subsists; and
(b) the other party to that earlier marriage is living in the same household.
(3) The adjustment referred to in sub-paragraph (1) is to multiply the maximum amount by 12 and divide

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 185

35

the product by 52.
(4) In this paragraph “maximum amount” means the maximum amount calculated by the Secretary of
State in accordance with section 8(2) of the Welfare Reform Act 2012.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 186

36

MAXIMUM COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION FOR THE PURPOSES OF CALCULATING ELIGIBILITY FOR A REDUCTION
UNDER THIS SCHEME AND AMOUNT OF REDUCTION

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 187

37

29.0

Maximum council tax reduction amount under this scheme: pensioners and persons who are not
pensioners

(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) to (4), a person's maximum council tax reduction amount in respect
of a day is 100 per cent of the amount A/B where:
(a) A is the amount set by the authority as the council tax for the relevant financial year in respect
of the dwelling in which he is a resident and for which he is liable, subject to any discount
which may be appropriate to that dwelling under the 1992 Act; and
(b) B is the number of days in that financial year,
less any deductions in respect of non-dependants which fall to be made under paragraph 30
(non-dependant deductions: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners).
(2) In calculating a person's maximum council tax reduction under this scheme any reduction in the
amount that person is liable to pay in respect of council tax, which is made in consequence of any
enactment in, or made under, the 1992 Act (other than a reduction under this scheme), is to be
taken into account.
(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in
respect of a dwelling in which he is resident with one or more other persons, in determining the
maximum council tax reduction in his case in accordance with sub-paragraph (1), the amount A is to
be divided by the number of persons who are jointly and severally liable for that tax.
(4) Where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in respect of a dwelling with only his
partner, sub-paragraph (3) does not apply in his case.
(5) The reference in sub-paragraph (3) to a person with whom an applicant is jointly and severally liable
for council tax, where the applicant is a person who is not a pensioner, does not include a student
to whom paragraph 75(1) (entitlement of students to a reduction under this scheme) applies.
(6) In this paragraph “relevant financial year” means, in relation to any particular day, the financial year
within which the day in question falls.
30.0Non-dependant deductions: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners5
30.—(1) (a)in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over in remunerative work, £12.45 x 1/7;
(b)in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over to whom sub-paragraph (a) does not apply, £4.05 x
1/7.
(2)

In the case of a non-dependant aged 18 or over to whom sub-paragraph (1)(a) applies, where it is shown
to the appropriate authority that his normal gross weekly income is—
(a) less than £217.00, the deduction to be made under this paragraph is that specified in subparagraph (1)(b);
(b) not less than £217.00 but less than £377.00, the deduction to be made under this paragraph
is £8.30 x 1/7
(c) not less than £377.00 but less than £469.00, the deduction to be made under this paragraph is
£10.40 x 1/7.
.
(3)

Only one deduction is to be made under this paragraph in respect of a couple or, as the case may
be, members of a polygamous marriage (other than where there is an award of universal credit)
and, where, but for this paragraph, the amount that would fall to be deducted in respect of one

5 The Council has resolved that the amounts in respect of Non Dependant Deductions for persons who are not pensioners will be uprated
in line with the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2014. Pensioners will be uprated in line
with Central Government requirements.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 188

38

member of a couple or polygamous marriage is higher than the amount (if any) that would fall to
be deducted in respect of the other, or any other, member, the higher amount is to be deducted.
(4) In applying the provisions of sub-paragraph (2) in the case of a couple or, as the case may be, a
polygamous marriage, regard must be had, for the purpose of that sub-paragraph, to the couple's
or, as the case may be, all members of the polygamous marriage's joint weekly gross income.
(5) Where in respect of a day—
(a) a person is a resident in a dwelling but is not himself liable for council tax in respect of that
dwelling and that day;
(b) other residents in that dwelling (the liable persons) have joint and several liability for council
tax in respect of that dwelling and that day otherwise than by virtue of section 9 of the 1992
Act (liability of spouses and civil partners); and
(c) the person to whom paragraph (a) refers is a non-dependant of two or more of the liable
persons,
the deduction in respect of that non-dependant must be apportioned equally between those
liable persons.
(6) No deduction is to be made in respect of any non-dependants occupying an applicant's dwelling if
the applicant or his partner is—
(a) blind or treated as blind by virtue of paragraph 10 of Schedule 3 (additional condition for the
disability premium); or
(b) receiving in respect of himself—
(i) attendance allowance, or would be receiving that allowance but for—
(aa) a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of
the SSCBA; or
(bb) an abatement as a result of hospitalisation; or
(ii) the care component of the disability living allowance, or would be receiving that
component but for—
(aa) a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of
the SSCBA; or
(bb) an abatement as a result of hospitalisation; or
(iii) the daily living component of personal independence payment, or would be receiving
that allowance but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under
section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 (hospital in-patients); or
(iv) an AFIP, or would be receiving that payment but for a suspension of it in accordance
with any terms of the armed and reserve forces compensation scheme which allows for
a suspension because a person is undergoing medical treatment in a hospital or similar
institution.
(7) No deduction is to be made in respect of a non-dependant if:
(a) although he resides with the applicant, it appears to the authority that his normal home is
elsewhere; or
(b) he is in receipt of a training allowance paid in connection with youth training established under
section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 or section 2 of the Enterprise and New
Towns (Scotland) Act 1990; or
(c) he is a full-time student within the meaning of Part 11 (students); or
(d) he is not residing with the applicant because he has been a patient for a period in excess of 52
weeks, and for these purposes—
(i) “patient” has the meaning given in paragraph 19(6), and
(ii) where a person has been a patient for two or more distinct periods separated by one or
more intervals each not exceeding 28 days, he is to be treated as having been a patient
continuously for a period equal in duration to the total of those distinct periods.
(e) he is not residing with the claimant because he is a member of the armed forces away on
operations
(8) No deduction is to be made in respect of a non-dependant:

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 189

39

(a) who is on income support, state pension credit, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an
income-related employment and support allowance; or
(b) to whom Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act applies (persons disregarded for purposes of discount)
but this paragraph does not apply to a non-dependant who is a student to whom paragraph 4
of that Schedule refers
(c) who is entitled to an award of universal credit where the award is calculated on the basis that
the person does not have any earned income.”;
For the purposes of sub-paragraph (c), “earned income” has the meaning given in regulation 52
of the Universal Credit Regulations 2013.
(9) In the application of sub-paragraph (2) there is to be disregarded from the non-dependant's weekly
gross income:
(a) any attendance allowance, disability living allowance, personal independence payment or an
AFIP received by him;
(b) any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund,
the Caxton Foundation, the Scottish Infected Blood Support Scheme, an approved blood scheme, the
London Emergencies Trust, the We Love Manchester Emergency Fund or the Independent Living Fund
(2006) which, had his income fallen to be calculated under paragraph 54 (calculation of income other
than earnings: persons who are not pensioners), would have been disregarded under paragraph 28 of
Schedule 8 (income in kind);
(c) any payment which, had his income fallen to be calculated under paragraph 54, would have
been disregarded under paragraph 41 of Schedule 8 (payments made under certain trusts and
certain other payments); and
(d) any payment made under, or by, a trust which is approved by the Secretary of State and which
is established for the purpose of giving relief and assistance to a disabled person whose
disability was caused by their mother having taken a preparation containing the drug known
as Thalidomide during her pregnancy.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 190

40

ALTERNATIVE MAXIMUM COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION FOR THE PURPOSES OF CALCULATING ELIGIBILITY FOR A
REDUCTION UNDER THIS SCHEME AND AMOUNT OF REDUCTION

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 191

41

31.0

Alternative maximum council tax reduction under this scheme: pensioners and persons who are not
pensioners

(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), the alternative maximum council tax reduction in respect of
a day where the conditions set out in paragraph 15 (alternative maximum council tax reduction:
pensioners) or 18 (alternative maximum council tax reduction: persons who are not pensioners) are
fulfilled, is the amount determined in accordance with Schedule 4 (amount of alternative council tax
reduction).
(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in
respect of a dwelling in which he is resident with one or more other persons, in determining the
alternative maximum council tax reduction in his case, the amount determined in accordance with
Schedule 4 must be divided by the number of persons who are jointly and severally liable for that
tax.
(3) Where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in respect of a dwelling with only his
partner, solely by virtue of section 9 of the 1992 Act (liability of spouses and civil partners), subparagraph (2) does not apply in his case.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 192

42

AMOUNT OF REDUCTION UNDER THIS SCHEME

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 193

43

32.0— Amount of reduction under this scheme: Classes A to F
(1) Where a person is entitled to a reduction under this scheme in respect of a day, the amount of the
reduction to which he is entitled is as follows.
(2) Where the person is within class A or D, that amount is the amount, which is the maximum council
tax reduction in respect of the day in the applicant's case.
(3) Where the person is within class B or E, that amount is the amount found by deducting amount B
from amount A, where “amount A” and “amount B” have the meanings given in paragraph 14(f) or
17(f), as the case may be.
(4) Where the person is within class C or F, that amount is the amount, which is the alternative maximum
council tax reduction in respect of the day in the applicant's case.
(5) Sub-paragraph (6) applies where both:
(a) sub-paragraph (2) or sub-paragraph (3), and
(b) sub-paragraph (4),
apply to a person.
(6) The amount of the reduction to which the person is entitled is whichever is the greater of:
(a) the amount of the reduction given by sub-paragraph (2) or sub-paragraph (3), as the case may
be, and
(b) the amount of the reduction given by sub-paragraph (4).

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 194

44

INCOME AND CAPITAL FOR THE PURPOSES OF CALCULATING ELIGIBILITY FOR A REDUCTION UNDER THIS
SCHEME AND AMOUNT OF REDUCTION

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 195

45

Income and capital: general
33.0 Calculation of income and capital: applicant's family and polygamous marriages
(1) The income and capital of—
(a) an applicant; and
(b) any partner of that applicant,
is to be calculated in accordance with the provisions of this Part.
(2) The income and capital of any partner of the applicant is to be treated as income and capital of the
applicant, and in this Part any reference to the applicant applies equally to any partner of that
applicant.
(3) Except where paragraph 37 applies, where an applicant or the partner of an applicant is married
polygamously to two or more members of his household—
(a) the applicant must be treated as possessing capital and income belonging to each such
member; and
(b) the income and capital of that member is to be calculated in accordance with the following
provisions of this Part in like manner as for the applicant.
34.0 Circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependant is to be treated as applicant's
(1) Sub-paragraph (2) applies where it appears to the authority that a non-dependant and an applicant
have entered into arrangements in order to take advantage of this scheme and the non-dependant
has more income and capital than the applicant.
(2) Except where—
(a) the applicant is a pensioner and is on a guarantee credit, or
(b) the applicant is not a pensioner and is on income support, an income-based jobseeker's
allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance,
the authority must treat the applicant as possessing income and capital belonging to that nondependant and, in such a case, any income and capital which the applicant does possess is to be
disregarded.
(3) Where an applicant is treated as possessing income and capital belonging to a non-dependant under
sub-paragraph (2) the income and capital of that non-dependant must be calculated in accordance
with the following provisions of this Part in like manner as for the applicant and, except where the
context otherwise requires, any reference to the “applicant” is to be construed for the purposes of
this Part as if it were a reference to that non-dependant.
Income and capital: pensioners in receipt of guarantee credit or savings credit
35.0 Applicant in receipt of guarantee credit: pensioners
In the case of an applicant who is a pensioner and who is in receipt, or whose partner is in receipt, of a
guarantee credit, the whole of his capital and income must be disregarded.
36.0 Calculation of applicant's income and capital in savings credit only cases: pensioners
(1) In determining the income and capital of an applicant who is a pensioner and who has, or whose
partner has, an award of state pension credit comprising only the savings credit, subject to the
following provisions of this paragraph, the authority must use the calculation or estimate of the
applicant's or as the case may be, the applicant's partner's income and capital made by the Secretary
of State for the purpose of determining the award of state pension credit.
(2) Where the calculation or estimate provided by the Secretary of State includes the amount taken into

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 196

46

account in that determination in respect of net income, the authority may only adjust that amount
so far as necessary to take into account—
(a) the amount of any savings credit payable;
(b) in respect of any dependent children of the applicant, child care charges taken into account
under paragraph 57(1)(c) (calculation of income on a weekly basis);
(c) the higher amount disregarded under this scheme in respect of—
(i) lone parent's earnings; or
(ii) payments of maintenance, whether under a court order or not, which is made or due to
be made by
(aa) the applicant's former partner, or the applicant's partner's former partner; or
(bb) the parent of a child or young person where that child or young person is a
member of the applicant's family except where that parent is the applicant or the
applicant's partner;
(d) any amount to be disregarded by virtue of paragraph 10(1) of Schedule 5 (sums disregarded
from applicant's earnings: pensioners);
(e) the income and capital of any partner of the applicant who is treated as a member of the
applicant's household under paragraph 8, to the extent that it is not taken into account in
determining the net income of the person claiming state pension credit;
(f) paragraph 34 (circumstances in which capital and income of a non-dependant is to be treated
as applicant's), if the authority determines that that provision applies in the applicant's case;
(g) such further reduction (if any) as the authority thinks fit under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992
Act (power of billing authority to reduce amount of council tax payable);
(h) any amount to be disregarded by virtue of paragraph 6 of Schedule 5 (exempt work).
(3) Paragraphs 39 to 46 (calculation of income: pensioners) and 57 to 61 (calculation of income:
pensioners and persons who are not pensioners) do not apply to the amount of the net income to
be taken into account under sub-paragraph (1), but do apply (so far as relevant) for the purpose of
determining any adjustments to that amount which the authority makes under sub-paragraph (2).
(4) If sub-paragraph (5) applies, the authority must calculate the applicant's capital in accordance with
paragraphs 63, 65 to 68 and 70 (calculation of capital: pensioners).
(5) This sub-paragraph applies if:
(a) the Secretary of State notifies the authority that the applicant's capital has been determined
as being £16,000 or less or the authority determines his capital as being £16,000 or less;
(b) subsequent to that determination the applicant's capital rises to more than £16,000; and
(c) the increase occurs whilst there is in force an assessed income period within the meaning of
sections 6 and 9 of the State Pension Credit Act 2002.
Income and capital where there is an award of universal credit6
37.0 Calculation of income and capital: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of universal
credit
(1) In determining the income of an applicant:
(a) who has, or
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has,
an award of universal credit the authority must, subject to the following provisions of this
paragraph, use the calculation or estimate of the amount of the income of the applicant, or the
applicant and his partner jointly (as the case may be), made by the Secretary of State for the
purpose of determining the award of universal credit.
(2) The authority must adjust the amount of the income referred to in sub-paragraph (1) by multiplying
the amount by 12 and dividing the product by 52.
(3) The authority may only adjust the amount of the income as adjusted in accordance with sub-

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 197

47

paragraph (2) so far as necessary to take into account—
(a) the amount of the award of universal credit, determined in accordance with sub-paragraph
(3);
(b) paragraph 34 (circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependant is to be treated
as applicant's), if the authority determines that the provision applies in the applicant's case;
(c) such further reduction (if any) as the authority thinks fit under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992
Act (power of billing authority to reduce amount of council tax payable).
(4) The amount for the award of universal credit to be taken into account for the purposes of subparagraph (3)(a) is to be determined by multiplying the amount of the award of universal credit by
12 and dividing the product by 52.
(5) Paragraph 34 (income and capital of non-dependant to be treated as applicant's) applies for the
purpose of determining any adjustments which fall to be made to the figure for income under subparagraph (3).
(6) In determining the capital of an applicant—
(a) who has, or
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has,
an award of universal credit, the authority must use the calculation or estimate of the capital of the
applicant, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as the case may be), made by the Secretary of
State for the purpose of determining the award of universal credit.
Income: other pensioners
38.0 Calculation of income and capital where state pension credit is not payable: pensioners
Where neither paragraph 35 (applicant in receipt of guarantee credit: pensioners) nor 36 (applicant in
receipt of savings credit only: pensioners) applies in the applicant's case, his income and capital is to be
calculated or estimated in accordance with paragraphs 39 to 46 and 57 to 62 (calculation of income) and
Chapter 7 of this Part (calculation of capital).
39.0 Meaning of “income”: pensioners
(1)

For the purposes of classes A to C in this scheme, “income” means income of any of the following
descriptions—
(a) earnings;
(b) working tax credit;
(c) retirement pension income within the meaning of the State Pension Credit Act 2002;
(d) income from annuity contracts (other than retirement pension income);
(e) a war disablement pension or war widow’s or widower’s pension;
(f) a foreign war disablement pension or war widow’s or widower’s pension;
(g) a guaranteed income payment;
(h) a payment made under article 29(1)(c) of the Armed Forces and Reserve Forces (Compensation
Scheme) Order 2011, in any case where article 31(2)(c) applies;
(zi) Universal Credit;
(i) income from capital other than capital disregarded under Part 1 of Schedule 9;
(j) social security benefits, other than retirement pension income or any of the following benefits—
(i)disability living allowance;
(ii)personal independence payment;
(iii)an AFIP;
(iv)attendance allowance payable under section 64 of the SSCBA (entitlement to attendance allowance);
(v)an increase of disablement pension under section 104 (increase for constant attendance) or 105
of that Act (increase for exceptionally severe disablement);
(vi)child benefit;
(vii)any guardian’s allowance payable under section 77 of the SSCBA (guardian’s allowance);

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 198

48

(viii)any increase for a dependent, other than the applicant’s partner, payable in accordance with
Part 4 of that Act (increases for dependants);
(ix)any—
(aa)social fund payment made under Part 8 of the SSCBA (the social fund), or
(bb)occasional assistance;
(x)Christmas bonus payable under Part 10 of that Act (Christmas bonus for pensioners);
(xi)housing benefit;
(xii)council tax benefit;
(xiii)bereavement payment;
(xiv)statutory sick pay;
(xv)statutory maternity pay;
(xvi)ordinary statutory paternity pay payable under Part 12ZA of the SSCBA;
(xvia) statutory shared parental pay under Part 12ZC of that Act
(xvib) statutory parental bereavement pay under Part 12ZD of the SSCBA
(xvii)additional statutory paternity pay payable under Part 12ZA of the SSCBA;
(xviii)statutory adoption pay payable under Part 12ZB of that Act (statutory adoption pay);
(xix) Removed
(xx) carer’s allowance supplement payable under section 81 of the Social Security
(Scotland) Act 2018;
(xxi) early years assistance given in accordance with section 32 of the Social Security (Scotland) Act
2018;
(xxii) funeral expense assistance given in accordance with section 34 of that Act;
(xxiii) any Scottish child payment assistance given in accordance with section 79 of that Act;
(xxiv) any assistance given in accordance with the Carer’s Assistance (Young Carer Grants) (Scotland)
Regulations 2019(11);
(xxv) short-term assistance given in accordance with regulations under section 36 of the Social Security
(Scotland) Act 2018(12);
(xxvi) winter heating assistance given in accordance with regulations under section 30 of that Act;
(xxvii) any benefit similar to those mentioned in the preceding provisions of this paragraph payable
under legislation having effect in NorthernIreland;
(k) all foreign social security benefits which are similar to the social security benefits mentioned
above;
(l) a payment made:
(i) under article 30 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement and Death) Service
Pensions Order 2006 (award for children who have reached the child's age limit), in any
case where article 30(1)(b) applies; or
(ii) under article 12(8) of that Order (unemployability allowances: children who have reached
the child's age limit), in any case where sub-paragraph (b) of that article applies;
(m) a pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special provision made
by the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or of the Republic of Austria;
(n) payments under a scheme made under the Pneumoconiosis etc. (Worker's Compensation) Act
1979;
(o) payments made towards the maintenance of the applicant by his spouse, civil partner, former
spouse or former civil partner or towards the maintenance of the applicant's partner by his
spouse, civil partner, former spouse or former civil partner, including payments made—
(i) under a court order;
(ii) under an agreement for maintenance; or
(iii) voluntarily;
(p) payments due from any person in respect of board and lodging accommodation provided by
the applicant;
(q) royalties or other sums paid as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any copyright,
design, patent or trade mark;
(r) any payment in respect of any—
(i) book registered under the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; or
(ii) work made under any international public lending right scheme that is analogous to the

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 199

49

Public Lending Right Scheme 1982;
(s) any payment, other than a payment ordered by a court or made in settlement of a claim, made
by or on behalf of a former employer of a person on account of the early retirement of that
person on grounds of ill-health or disability;
(t) any sum payable by way of pension out of money provided under—
(i) the Civil List Act 1837,
(ii) the Civil List Act 1937,
(iii) the Civil List Act 1952,
(iv) the Civil List Act 1972, or
(v) the Civil List Act 1975;
(u) any income in lieu of that specified in paragraphs (a) to (r);
(v) any payment of rent made to an applicant who:
(i) owns the freehold or leasehold interest in any property or is a tenant of any property;
(ii) occupies part of the property; and
(iii) has an agreement with another person allowing that person to occupy that property on
payment of rent;
(w) any payment made at regular intervals under an equity release scheme;
(x) PPF periodic payments within the meaning of section 17(1) of the State Pension Credit Act
2002.
(2) Where the payment of any social security benefit referred to in sub-paragraph (1) or retirement pension
income to which section 16(1)(za) to (e) of the State Pension Credit Act 2002 applies is subject to any
deduction (other than an adjustment specified in sub-paragraph (4)) the amount to be taken into account
under sub-paragraph (1) is to be the amount before the deduction is made.
(3) Where an award of any working tax credit or child tax credit is subject to a deduction by way of
recovery of an overpayment of working tax credit or child tax credit which arose in a previous tax
year the amount to be taken into account under sub-paragraph (1) is to be the amount of working
tax credit or child tax credit awarded less the amount of that deduction.
(4) The adjustments specified in this sub-paragraph are those made in accordance with—
(a) the Social Security (Overlapping Benefits) Regulations 1979;
(b) the Social Security (Hospital In-Patients) Regulations 1975;
(c) section 30DD or section 30E of the SSCBA (reductions in incapacity benefit in respect of
pensions and councillor's allowances);
(d) section 3 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 (deductions from contributory employment and support
allowance in respect of pensions and councillor's allowances) and regulations made under it;
(e) section 14 of the Pensions Act 2014 (pension sharing: reduction in sharer’s section 4 pension);
(f) section 45B or 55B of the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992 (reduction in
additional pension in Category A retirement pension and shared additional pension: pension
sharing).
(5) In sub-paragraph (1)(w), “equity release scheme” means a loan:
(a) made between a person (“the lender”) and the applicant;
(b) by means of which a sum of money is advanced by the lender to the applicant by way of
payments at regular intervals; and
(c) which is secured on a dwelling in which the applicant owns an estate or interest and which he
occupies as his home.
40.0 Calculation of weekly income: pensioners
(1) Except in a case within sub-paragraph (2) or (4), for the purposes of calculating the weekly income
of an applicant who is a pensioner, where the period in respect of which a payment is made:
(a) does not exceed a week, the whole of that payment is to be included in the applicant's weekly
income;
(b) exceeds a week, the amount to be included in the applicant's weekly income is to be

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 200

50

determined:
(i) in a case where that period is a month, by multiplying the amount of the payment by 12
and dividing the product by 52;
(ii) in a case where that period is three months, by multiplying the amount of the payment
by 4 and dividing the product by 52;
(iii) in a case where that period is a year, by dividing the amount of the payment by 52;
(iv) in any other case, by multiplying the amount of the payment by 7 and dividing the
product by the number of days in the period in respect of which it is made.
(2) Sub-paragraph (3) applies where:
(a) the applicant's regular pattern of work is such that he does not work the same hours every
week; or
(b) the amount of the applicant's income fluctuates and has changed more than once.
(3) The weekly amount of that applicant's income is to be determined:
(a) if, in a case to which sub-paragraph (2)(a) applies, there is a recognised cycle of work, by reference
to his average weekly income over the period of the complete cycle (including, where the cycle
involves periods in which the applicant does no work, those periods but disregarding any other
absences); or
(b) in any other case, on the basis of:
(i) the last two payments if those payments are one month or more apart;
(ii) the last four payments if the last two payments are less than one month apart; or
(iii) calculating or estimating such other payments as may, in the particular circumstances of
the case, enable the applicant's average weekly income to be determined more accurately.
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(b) the last payments are the last payments before the date
the application was made or treated as made.
(5) If the applicant is entitled to receive a payment to which sub-paragraph (6) applies, the amount of
that payment is to be treated as if made in respect of a period of a year.
(6) This sub-paragraph applies to:
(a) royalties or other sums paid as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any copyright,
design, patent or trade mark;
(b) any payment in respect of any:
(i) book registered under the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; or
(ii) work made under any international public lending right scheme that is analogous to the
Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; and
(c) any payment which is made on an occasional basis.
(7) The period under which any benefit under the benefit Acts is to be taken into account is to be the
period in respect of which that benefit is payable.
(8) Where payments are made in a currency other than Sterling, the value of the payment is to be
determined by taking the Sterling equivalent on the date the payment is made.
(9) The sums specified in Schedule 5 are to be disregarded in calculating—
(a) the applicant's earnings; and
(b) any amount to which sub-paragraph (6) applies where the applicant is the first owner of the
copyright, design, patent or trademark, or an original contributor to the book or work referred
to in sub-paragraph (6)(b).
(10) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (9)(b), and for that purpose only, the amounts specified in subparagraph (6) is to be treated as though they were earnings.
(11) Income specified in Schedule 6 is to be disregarded in the calculation of the applicant's income.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 201

51

(12) Schedule 9 (capital disregards: pensioners) has effect so that
(a) the capital specified in Part 1 is disregarded for the purpose of determining an applicant's
income; and
(b) the capital specified in Part 2 is disregarded for the purpose of determining an applicant's
income under paragraph 71 (calculation of tariff income from capital: pensioners).
(13) In the case of any income taken into account for the purpose of calculating a person's income any
amount payable by way of tax is disregarded.
41.0 Earnings of employed earners: pensioners
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), “earnings”, in the case of employment as an employed earner who
is a pensioner, means any remuneration or profit derived from that employment and includes
(a) any bonus or commission;
(b) any payment in lieu of remuneration except any periodic sum paid to an applicant on account
of the termination of his employment by reason of redundancy;
(c) any payment in lieu of notice;
(d) any holiday pay;
(e) any payment by way of a retainer;
(f) any payment made by the applicant's employer in respect of expenses not wholly, exclusively
and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment, including any
payment made by the applicant's employer in respect of—
(i) travelling expenses incurred by the applicant between his home and place of
employment;
(ii) expenses incurred by the applicant under arrangements made for the care of a member
of his family owing to the applicant's absence from home;
(g) the amount of any payment by way of a non-cash voucher which has been taken into account
in the computation of a person's earnings in accordance with Part 5 of Schedule 3 to the Social
Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001 as amended7.
(h) statutory sick pay and statutory maternity pay payable by the employer under the SSCBA;
(i) statutory paternity pay payable under Part 12ZA of that Act;
(j) statutory adoption pay payable under Part 12ZB of that Act;
(ja) statutory shared parental pay under Part 12ZC of that Act
(jb) statutory parental bereavement pay under Part 12ZD of that Act
(k) any sums payable under a contract of service—
(i) for incapacity for work due to sickness or injury; or
(ii) by reason of pregnancy or confinement.
(2) Earnings does not include—
(a) subject to sub-paragraph (3), any payment in kind;
(b) any payment in respect of expenses wholly, exclusively and necessarily incurred in the
performance of the duties of the employment;
(c) any occupational pension;
(d) any lump sum payment made under the Iron and Steel Re-adaptation Benefits Scheme;
(e) any payment of compensation made pursuant to an award by an employment tribunal
established under the Employment Tribunals Act 1996 in respect of unfair dismissal or
unlawful discrimination;
(f) any payment in respect of expenses arising out of the an applicant participating as a service
user.
(3) Sub-paragraph (2)(a) does not apply in respect of any non-cash voucher referred to in sub-paragraph
(1)(g).

7 Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment) Regulations 2013, Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment No.2) Regulations 2013 and
Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment No.2) Regulations 2013

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 202

52

42.0 Calculation of net earnings of employed earners: pensioners
(1) For the purposes of paragraph 57 (calculation of income on a weekly basis), the earnings of an
applicant who is a pensioner derived or likely to be derived from employment as an employed earner
to be taken into account must, subject to paragraph 40(5) and Schedule 5 (sums to be disregarded
from earnings: pensioners), be his net earnings.
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) net earnings must, except where sub-paragraph (5) applies,
be calculated by taking into account the gross earnings of the applicant from that employment over
the assessment period, less—
(a) any amount deducted from those earnings by way of:
(i) income tax;
(ii) primary Class 1 contributions under the SSCBA;
(b) one-half of any sum paid by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an occupational
pension scheme;
(c) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (4) in respect of any
qualifying contribution payable by the applicant; and
(d) where those earnings include a payment which is payable under any enactment having effect
in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay, statutory maternity pay,
ordinary or additional statutory paternity pay or statutory adoption pay, statutory shared
parental pay, statutory bereavement pay any amount deducted from those earnings by way
of any contributions which are payable under any enactment having effect in Northern Ireland
and which correspond to primary Class 1 contributions under the SSCBA.
(3) In this paragraph “qualifying contribution” means any sum which is payable periodically as a
contribution towards a personal pension scheme.
(4) The amount in respect of any qualifying contribution is to be calculated by multiplying the daily
amount of the qualifying contribution by the number equal to the number of days in the assessment
period; and for the purposes of this paragraph the daily amount of the qualifying contribution is to
be determined—
(a) where the qualifying contribution is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the
qualifying contribution by 12 and dividing the product by 365;
(b) in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying contribution by the number equal
to the number of days in the period to which the qualifying contribution relates.
(5) Where the earnings of an applicant are determined under paragraph 40(2)(b) (calculation of weekly
income: pensioners) his net earnings is to be calculated by taking into account those earnings over
the assessment period, less:
(a) an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying to those
earnings the basic rate of tax applicable to the assessment period less only the personal relief
to which the applicant is entitled under sections 35 to 37 the Income Tax Act 2007 (personal
allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances but, if the assessment period is less than a
year, the earnings to which the basic rate of tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal
relief deductible under this sub-paragraph is to be calculated on a pro rata basis;
(b) an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that would be
payable by him under the SSCBA in respect of those earnings if such contributions were
payable; and
(c) one-half of any sum which would be payable by the applicant by way of a contribution towards
an occupational or personal pension scheme, if the earnings so estimated were actual
earnings.
43.0 Calculation of earnings of self-employed earners: pensioners
(1) Where the earnings of an applicant who is a pensioner consist of earnings from employment as a
self-employed earner, the weekly amount of his earnings is to be determined by reference to his
average weekly earnings from that employment:

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 203

53

(a) over a period of one year; or
(b) where the applicant has recently become engaged in that employment or there has been a
change which is likely to affect the normal pattern of business, over such other period
(“computation period”) as may, in the particular case, enable the weekly amount of his
earnings to be determined more accurately.
(2) For the purposes of determining the weekly amount of earnings of an applicant to whom subparagraph (1)(b) applies, his earnings over the computation period are to be divided by the number
equal to the number of days in that period and the product multiplied by 7.
(3) The period over which the weekly amount of an applicant's earnings is calculated in accordance with
this paragraph is to be his assessment period.
44.0 Earnings of self-employers earners: pensioners
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), “earnings”, in the case of employment as a self-employed earner who
is a pensioner, means the gross income of the employment.
(2) “Earnings” in the case of employment as a self-employed earner does not include:
(a) where an applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and he provides in that dwelling board
and lodging accommodation for which payment is made, those payments;
(b) any payment made by a local authority to an applicant—
(i) with whom a person is accommodated by virtue of arrangements made under section
22C or 23(2)(a) of the Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 26 or 26A of the
Children (Scotland) Act 1995; or
(ii) with whom a local authority fosters a child under the Looked After Children (Scotland)
Regulations 2009 or who is a kinship carer under those Regulations;
(c) any payment made by a voluntary organisation in accordance with section 59(1)(a) of the
Children Act 1989 (provision of accommodation by voluntary organisations);
(d) any payment made to the applicant or his partner for a person (“the person concerned”) who
is not normally a member of the applicant's household but is temporarily in his care, by—
(i) a local authority but excluding payments of housing benefit made in respect of the person
concerned;
(ii) a voluntary organisation;
(iii) the person concerned pursuant to section 26(3A) of the National Assistance Act 1948;
(iv) the National Health Service Commissioning Board or a clinical commissioning group
established under section 14D of the National Health Service Act 2006;
(v) a Local Health Board established under section 11 of the National Health Service (Wales)
Act 2006; or
(vi) the persons concerned where the payment is for the provision of accommodation to meet that
person’s needs for care and support under section 35 or 36 of the Social Services and Well-being
(Wales) Act 2014 (respectively, duty and power to meet care and support needs of an adult);
(da) any payment or part of a payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 26A of
the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (duty to provide continuing care) to a person (“A”) which A passes
on to the applicant where A—
(i) was formerly in the applicant’s care;
(ii) is aged 16 or over; and
(iii) continues to live with the applicant;
(db) any payments made to an applicant under section 73(1)(b) of the Children and Young People
(Scotland) Act 2014 (kinship care assistance: further provisions
(e) any sports award.
45.0 Notional income: pensioners
(1) An applicant who is a pensioner is to be treated as possessing:
(a) subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amount of any retirement pension income—
(i) for which no claim has been made; and

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 204

54

(ii) to which he might expect to be entitled if a claim for it were made;
(b) income from an occupational pension scheme which the applicant elected to defer.
(2) Sub-paragraph (1)(a) does not apply to the following where entitlement has been deferred—
(a) a Category A or Category B retirement pension payable under sections 43 to 55 of the SSCBA;
(b) a shared additional pension payable under section 55A of the SSCBA;
(c) graduated retirement benefit payable under sections 36 and 37 of the National Insurance Act
1965.
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), entitlement has been deferred—
(a) in the case of a Category A or Category B pension, in the circumstances specified in section
55(3) of the SSCBA;
(b) in the case of a shared additional pension, in the circumstances specified in section 55C(3) of
the SSCBA; and
(c) in the case of graduated retirement benefit, in the circumstances specified in section 36(4) and
(4A) of the National Insurance Act 1965.
(4) This sub-paragraph applies where a person who has attained the qualifying age for state pension
credit:
(a) is entitled to money purchase benefits under an occupational pension scheme or a personal
pension scheme;
(b) fails to purchase an annuity with the funds available in that scheme; and
(c) either—
(i) defers in whole or in part the payment of any income which would have been payable to
him by his pension fund holder, or
(ii) fails to take any necessary action to secure that the whole of any income which would
be payable to him by his pension fund holder upon his applying for it, is so paid, or
(iii) income withdrawal is not available to him under that scheme.
(5) Where sub-paragraph (4) applies, the amount of any income foregone is to be treated as possessed
by that person, but only from the date on which it could be expected to be acquired were an
application for it to be made.
(6) The amount of any income foregone in a case where sub-paragraph (4)(c)(i) or (ii) applies is to be
the “rate of the annuity which may have been purchased with the fund and must be determined by
the authority, taking account of information provided by the pension fund holder.
(7) The amount of any income foregone in a case where sub-paragraph (4)(c)(iii) applies is to be the
income that the applicant could have received without purchasing an annuity had the funds held
under the relevant scheme been held under a personal pension scheme or occupational pension
scheme where income withdrawal was available and is to be determined in the manner specified in
sub-paragraph (6).
(8) In sub-paragraph (4), “money purchase benefits” has the same meaning as in the Pension Schemes
Act 1993.
(9) Subject to sub-paragraphs (10) and (12), a person is to be treated as possessing income of which he
has deprived himself for the purpose of securing entitlement to a reduction under this scheme or
increasing the amount of the reduction.
(10) Sub-paragraph (9) does not apply in respect of the amount of an increase of pension or benefit
where a person, having made an election in favour of that increase of pension or benefit under
Schedule 5 or 5A to the SSCBA or under Schedule 1 to the Social Security (Graduated Retirement
Benefit) Regulations 2005, changes that election in accordance with regulations made under
Schedule 5 or 5A to that Act in favour of a lump sum.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 205

55

(11) In sub-paragraph (10), “lump sum” means a lump sum under Schedule 5 or 5A to the SSCBA or
under Schedule 1 to the Social Security (Graduated Retirement Benefit) Regulations 2005.
(12) Sub-paragraph (9) does not apply in respect of any amount of income other than earnings, or
earnings of an employed earner, arising out of an applicant participating as a service user.
(13) Where an applicant is in receipt of any benefit under the benefit Acts and the rate of that benefit
is altered with effect from a date on or after 1st April in any year but not more than 14 days
thereafter, the authority must treat the applicant as possessing such benefit at the altered rate from
either 1st April or the first Monday in April in that year, whichever date the authority selects to
apply, to the date on which the altered rate is to take effect.
(14) In the case of an applicant who has, or whose partner has, an award of state pension credit
comprising only the savings credit, where the authority treats the applicant as possessing any
benefit at the altered rate in accordance with sub-paragraph (13), the authority must—
(a) determine the income and capital of that applicant in accordance with paragraph 36(1)
(calculation of applicant's income in savings credit only cases: pensioners) where the
calculation or estimate of that income and capital is altered with effect from a date on or after
1st April in any year but not more than 14 days thereafter; and
(b) treat that applicant as possessing such income and capital at the altered rate by reference to
the date selected by the relevant authority to apply in its area, for the purposes of establishing
the period referred to in sub-paragraph (13).
(15) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (9), a person is not to be regarded as depriving himself of income
where:
(a) his rights to benefits under a registered pension scheme are extinguished and in consequence
of this he receives a payment from the scheme, and
(b) that payment is a trivial commutation lump sum within the meaning given by paragraph 7 of
Schedule 29 to the Finance Act 2004
(16) In sub-paragraph (15), “registered pension scheme” has the meaning given in section 150(2) of the
Finance Act 2004.
46.0 Income paid to third parties: pensioners
(1) Any payment of income, other than a payment specified in sub-paragraph (2) or (3), to a third party
in respect of an applicant who is a pensioner is to be treated as possessed by the applicant.
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in respect of a payment of income made under an occupational
pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other periodical payment made under a personal pension
scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund where—
(a) a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of whom the payment
has been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is subject to sequestration or a judicial
factor has been appointed on that person's estate under section 41 of the Solicitors (Scotland)
Act 1980;
(b) the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting on behalf of the
creditors; and
(c) the person referred to in paragraph (a) and his partner does not possess, or is not treated as
possessing, any other income apart from that payment.
(3) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in respect of any payment of income other than earnings, or
earnings derived from employment as an employed earner, arising out of an applicant participating
as a service user.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 206

56

Income: persons who are not pensioners
47.0 Average weekly earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners
(1) Where the income of an applicant who is not a pensioner consists of earnings from employment as
an employed earner his average weekly earnings must be estimated by reference to his earnings
from that employment—
(a) over a period immediately preceding the reduction week in which the application is made or
treated as made and being a period of—
(i) 5 weeks, if he is paid weekly; or
(ii) 2 months, if he is paid monthly; or
(b) whether or not paragraph (a)(i) or (ii) applies, where an applicant's earnings fluctuate, over
such other period preceding the reduction week in which the application is made or treated
as made as may, in any particular case, enable his average weekly earnings to be estimated
more accurately.
(2) Where the applicant has been in his employment for less than the period specified in sub-paragraph
(1)(a)(i) or (ii)—
(a) if he has received any earnings for the period that he has been in that employment and those
earnings are likely to represent his average weekly earnings from that employment his average
weekly earnings must be estimated by reference to those earnings;
(b) in any other case, the authority must estimate the applicant's average weekly earnings.
(3) Where the amount of an applicant's earnings changes the authority must estimate his average
weekly earnings by reference to his likely earnings from the employment over such period as is
appropriate in order that his average weekly earnings may be estimated accurately but the length
of the period must not in any case exceed 52 weeks.
(4) For the purposes of this paragraph the applicant's earnings are to be calculated in accordance with
paragraphs 51 and 52 (earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners).
48.0 Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners: persons who are not pensioners
(1) Where the income of an applicant who is not a pensioner consists of earnings from employment as
a self-employed earner his average weekly earnings must be estimated by reference to his earnings
from that employment over such period as is appropriate in order that his average weekly earnings
may be estimated accurately but the length of the period must not in any case exceed a year.
(2) For the purposes of this paragraph the applicant's earnings must be calculated in accordance with
paragraphs 53, 61 and 62 (earnings, and net profit, of self-employed earners).
49.0 Average weekly income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners
(1) The income of an applicant who is not a pensioner which does not consist of earnings must, except
where sub-paragraph (2) applies, be estimated over such period as is appropriate in order that his
average weekly income may be estimated accurately but the length of the period must not in any
case exceed 52 weeks; and nothing in this paragraph authorises an authority to disregard any such
income other than that specified in Schedule 8 (sums disregarded in the calculation of income other
than earnings: persons who are not pensioners).
(2) The period over which any benefit under the benefit Acts is to be taken into account is to be the
period in respect of which that benefit is payable.
(3) For the purposes of this paragraph income other than earnings is to be calculated in accordance with
paragraph 54 (calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners).

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 207

57

50.0 Calculation of weekly income of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners
(1) For the purposes of paragraphs 47 (average weekly earnings of employed earners), 49 (average
weekly income other than earnings) and 59 (calculation of average weekly income from tax credits),
where the period in respect of which a payment is made—
(a) does not exceed a week, the weekly amount is to be the amount of that payment;
(b) exceeds a week, the weekly amount is to be determined—
(i) in a case where that period is a month, by multiplying the amount of the payment by 12
and dividing the product by 52;
(ii) in any other case, by dividing the amount of the payment by the number equal to the
number of days in the period to which it relates and multiplying the product by 7.
(2) For the purposes of paragraph 48 (average weekly earnings of self-employed earners) the weekly
amount of earnings of an applicant is to be determined by dividing his earnings over the assessment
period by the number equal to the number of days in that period and multiplying the product by 7.
51.0 Earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), “earnings”, in the case of employment as an employed earner of a
person who is not a pensioner, means any remuneration or profit derived from that employment
and includes:
(a) any bonus or commission;
(b) any payment in lieu of remuneration except any periodic sum paid to an applicant on account
of the termination of his employment by reason of redundancy;
(c) any payment in lieu of notice or any lump sum payment intended as compensation for the loss
of employment but only in so far as it represents loss of income;
(d) any holiday pay except any payable more than 4 weeks after termination or interruption of
the employment;
(e) any payment by way of a retainer;
(f) any payment made by the applicant's employer in respect of expenses not wholly, exclusively
and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment, including any
payment made by the applicant's employer in respect of—
(i) travelling expenses incurred by the applicant between his home and place of
employment;
(ii) expenses incurred by the applicant under arrangements made for the care of a member
of his family owing to the applicant's absence from home;
(g) any award of compensation made under section 112(4) or 117(3)(a) of the Employment Rights
Act 1996 (remedies and compensation for unfair dismissal);
(h) any payment or remuneration made under section 28, 34, 64, 68 or 70 of the Employment
Rights Act 1996 (right to guarantee payments, remuneration on suspension on medical or
maternity grounds, complaints to employment tribunals);
(i) any such sum as is referred to in section 112 of the SSCBA (certain sums to be earnings for
social security purposes);
(j) any statutory sick pay, statutory maternity pay, statutory paternity pay or statutory adoption
pay, or a corresponding payment under any enactment having effect in Northern Ireland;
(k) any remuneration paid by or on behalf of an employer to the applicant who for the time being
is on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave or is absent from work because he is
ill;
(l) the amount of any payment by way of a non-cash voucher which has been taken into account
in the computation of a person's earnings in accordance with Part 5 of Schedule 3 to the Social
Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001 as amended8.
(2) Earnings does not include—
8 Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment) Regulations 2013, Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment No.2) Regulations 2013 and
Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment No.2) Regulations 2013

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 208

58

(a) subject to sub-paragraph (3), any payment in kind;
(b) any payment in respect of expenses wholly, exclusively and necessarily incurred in the
performance of the duties of the employment;
(c) any occupational pension;
(d) any payment in respect of expenses arising out of an applicant participating as a service user.
(3) Sub-paragraph (2)(a) does not apply in respect of any non-cash voucher referred to in sub-paragraph
(1)(l).
52.0 Calculation of net earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners
(1) For the purposes of paragraph 47 (average weekly earnings of employed earners: persons who are
not pensioners), the earnings of an applicant who is not a pensioner derived or likely to be derived
from employment as an employed earner to be taken into account must, subject to sub-paragraph
(2), be his net earnings.
(2) There is to be disregarded from an applicant's net earnings, any sum, where applicable, specified in
paragraphs 1 to 16 of Schedule 7 (sums disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are
not pensioners).
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) net earnings must, except where sub-paragraph (6) applies,
be calculated by taking into account the gross earnings of the applicant from that employment over
the assessment period, less—
(a) any amount deducted from those earnings by way of—
(i) income tax;
(ii) primary Class 1 contributions under the SSCBA;
(b) one-half of any sum paid by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an occupational
pension scheme;
(c) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (5) in respect of any
qualifying contribution payable by the applicant; and
(d) where those earnings include a payment which is payable under any enactment having effect
in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay, statutory maternity pay,
statutory paternity pay or statutory adoption pay, any amount deducted from those earnings
by way of any contributions which are payable under any enactment having effect in Northern
Ireland and which correspond to primary Class 1 contributions under the SSCBA.
(4) In this paragraph “qualifying contribution” means any sum which is payable periodically as a
contribution towards a personal pension scheme.
(5) The amount in respect of any qualifying contribution is to be calculated by multiplying the daily
amount of the qualifying contribution by the number equal to the number of days in the assessment
period; and for the purposes of this paragraph the daily amount of the qualifying contribution is to
be determined—
(a) where the qualifying contribution is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the
qualifying contribution by 12 and dividing the product by 365;
(b) in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying contribution by the number equal
to the number of days in the period to which the qualifying contribution relates.
(6) Where the earnings of an applicant are estimated under paragraph 47(2)(b) (average weekly
earnings of employed earners: classes D to F), his net earnings is to be calculated by taking into
account those earnings over the assessment period, less:
(a) an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying to those
earnings the basic rate of tax applicable to the assessment period less only the personal relief
to which the applicant is entitled under sections 35 to 37 of the Income Tax Act 2007 (personal
allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances but, if the assessment period is less than a
year, the earnings to which the basic rate of tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 209

59

relief deductible under this sub-paragraph is to be calculated on a pro rata basis;
(b) an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that would be
payable by him under the SSCBA in respect of those earnings if such contributions were
payable; and
(c) one-half of any sum which would be payable by the applicant by way of a contribution towards
an occupational or personal pension scheme, if the earnings so estimated were actual
earnings.
53.0 Earnings of self-employed earners: persons who are not pensioners
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), “earnings”, in the case of employment as a self-employed earner of a
person who is not a pensioner, means the gross income of the employment.
(2) “Earnings” does not include any payment to which paragraph 31 or 32 of Schedule 8 refers
(payments in respect of a person accommodated with the applicant under arrangements made by
a local authority or voluntary organisation and payments made to the applicant by a health
authority, local authority or voluntary organisation in respect of persons temporarily in the
applicant's care) nor does it include any sports award.
(3) This paragraph applies to:
(a) royalties or other sums paid as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any copyright,
design, patent or trade mark; or
(b) any payment in respect of any—
(i) book registered under the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; or
(ii) work made under any international public lending right scheme that is analogous to the
Public Lending Right Scheme 1982,
where the applicant is the first owner of the copyright, design, patent or trade mark, or an
original contributor to the book or work concerned.
(4) Where the applicant's earnings consist of any items to which sub-paragraph (3) applies, those
earnings must be taken into account over a period equal to such number of weeks as is equal to the
number obtained (and any fraction is to be treated as a corresponding fraction of a week) by dividing
the earnings by:
(a) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would have been entitled
had the payment not been made, plus
(b) an amount equal to the total of the sums which would fall to be disregarded from the payment
under Schedule 7 (sums disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are not
pensioners) as appropriate in the applicant's case.
54.0 Calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners
(1) For the purposes of paragraph 49 (average weekly income other than earnings: persons who are not
pensioners), the income of an applicant who is not a pensioner which does not consist of earnings
to be taken into account must, subject to sub-paragraphs (2) to (8), be his gross income and any
capital treated as income under paragraph 55 (capital treated as income: persons who are not
pensioners).
(2) There is to be disregarded from the calculation of an applicant's gross income under sub-paragraph
(1), any sum, where applicable, specified in Schedule 8.
(3) Where the payment of any benefit under the benefit Acts is subject to any deduction by way of
recovery the amount to be taken into account under sub-paragraph (1) must be the gross amount
payable.
(4) Where the applicant or, where he is a member of a couple, his partner is receiving a contributory

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 210

60

employment and support allowance and that benefit has been reduced under regulation 63 of the
Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008, the amount of that benefit to be taken into
account is the amount as if it had not been reduced.
(5) Where an award of any working tax credit or child tax credit under the Tax Credits Act 2002 is subject
to a deduction by way of recovery of an overpayment of working tax credit or child tax credit which
arose in a previous tax year the amount to be taken into account under sub-paragraph (1) is to be
the amount of working tax credit or child tax credit awarded less the amount of that deduction.
(6) Sub-paragraphs (7) and (8) apply where—
(a) a relevant payment has been made to a person in an academic year; and
(b) that person abandons, or is dismissed from, his course of study before the payment to him of
the final instalment of the relevant payment.
(7) Where a relevant payment is made quarterly, the amount of a relevant payment to be taken into
account for the assessment period for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) in respect of a person to
whom sub-paragraph (7) applies, is to be calculated by applying the formula—
A - (BxC)
D
Where
(a) A = the total amount of the relevant payment which that person would have received had he
remained a student until the last day of the academic term in which he abandoned, or was
dismissed from, his course, less any deduction under paragraph 81(5) (costs of travel, books
and equipment);
(b) B = the number of reduction weeks from the reduction week immediately following that which
includes the first day of that academic year to the reduction week which includes the day on
which the person abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course;
(c) C = the weekly amount of the relevant payment, before the application of the £10 disregard,
which would have been taken into account as income under paragraph 81(2) (treatment of
student loans) had the person not abandoned or been dismissed from, his course and, in the
case of a person who was not entitled to a reduction under this scheme immediately before
he abandoned or was dismissed from his course, had that person, at that time, been entitled
to housing benefit;
(d) D = the number of reduction weeks in the assessment period.
(8) Where a relevant payment is made by two or more instalments in a quarter, the amount of a relevant
payment to be taken into account for the assessment period for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)
in respect of a person to whom sub-paragraph (7) applies, is to be calculated by applying the formula
in sub-paragraph (8) but as if—
A = the total amount of relevant payments which that person received, or would have received,
from the first day of the academic year to the day the person abandoned the course, or was
dismissed from it, less any deduction under paragraph 81(5).
(9) In this paragraph—
“academic year” and “student loan” have the same meanings as in Part 11 (students);
“assessment period” means
(a) in a case where a relevant payment is made quarterly, the period beginning with the reduction
week which includes the day on which the person abandoned, or was dismissed from, his
course and ending with the reduction week which includes the last day of the last quarter for
which an instalment of the relevant payment was payable to that person;
(b) in a case where the relevant payment is made by two or more instalments in a quarter, the
period beginning with the reduction week which includes the day on which the person
abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course and ending with the reduction week which
includes—
(i) the day immediately before the day on which the next instalment of the relevant
payment would have been due had the payments continued; or
(ii) the last day of the last quarter for which an instalment of the relevant payment was

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 211

61

payable to that person,
whichever of those dates is earlier;
“quarter” in relation to an assessment period means a period in that year beginning on—
(c) 1st January and ending on 31st March;
(d) 1st April and ending on 30th June;
(e) 1st July and ending on 31st August; or
(f) 1st September and ending on 31st December;
“relevant payment” means either a student loan or an amount intended for the maintenance of
dependants referred to in paragraph 76(7) or both.
(10) For the avoidance of doubt there must be included as income to be taken into account under subparagraph (1)—
(a) any payment to which paragraph 41(2) or 51(2) (payments not earnings) applies; or
(b) in the case of an applicant who is receiving support under section 95 or 98 of the Immigration
and Asylum Act 1999 including support provided by virtue of regulations made under Schedule
9 to that Act, the amount of such support provided in respect of essential living needs of the
applicant and his dependants (if any) as is specified in regulations made under paragraph 3 of
Schedule 8 to the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999.
55.0 Capital treated as income: persons who are not pensioners
(1) Any capital payable by instalments which are outstanding at the date on which the application is
made or treated as made, or, at the date of any subsequent revision or supersession, must, if the
aggregate of the instalments outstanding and the amount of the applicant's capital otherwise
calculated in accordance with Chapter 7 of this Part exceeds £16,000, be treated as income.
(2) Any payment received under an annuity is to be treated as income.
(3) Any earnings to the extent that they are not a payment of income is to be treated as income.
(4) Any Career Development Loan paid pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973
is to be treated as income.
(5) Where an agreement or court order provides that payments must be made to the applicant in
consequence of any personal injury to the applicant and that such payments are to be made, wholly
or partly, by way of periodic payments, any such periodic payments received by the applicant (but
not a payment which is treated as capital by virtue of this Part), is to be treated as income.
56.0 Notional income: persons who are not pensioners
(1) An applicant who is not a pensioner is to be treated as possessing income of which he has deprived
himself for the purpose of securing entitlement to a reduction under a council tax reduction scheme
or increasing the amount of the reduction.
(2) Except in the case of—
(a) a discretionary trust;
(b) a trust derived from a payment made in consequence of a personal injury;
(c) a personal pension scheme, occupational pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of
the Pension Protection Fund where the applicant has not attained the qualifying age for state
pension credit;
(d) any sum to which paragraph 50(2)(a) of Schedule 10 (capital disregards: persons who are not
pensioners) applies which is administered in the way referred to in paragraph 50(1)(a);
(e) any sum to which paragraph 51(a) of Schedule 10 refers;
(f) rehabilitation allowance made under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973;
(g) child tax credit;
(h) working tax credit, or
(i) any sum to which sub-paragraph (11) applies,

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 212

62

any income which would become available to the applicant upon application being made, but
which has not been acquired by him, is to be treated as possessed by the applicant but only from
the date on which it could be expected to be acquired were an application made.
(3) Any payment of income, other than a payment of income specified in sub-paragraph (4), made—
(a) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or a member of the family (but not a member
of the third party's family) must, where that payment is a payment of an occupational pension,
a pension or other periodical payment made under a personal pension scheme or a payment
made by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund, be treated as possessed by that single
applicant or, as the case may be, by that member;
(b) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or in respect of a member of the family (but not
a member of the third party's family) must, where it is not a payment referred to in paragraph
(a), be treated as possessed by that single applicant or by that member to the extent that it is
used for the food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of that single applicant
or, as the case may be, of any member of that family or is used for any council tax or water
charges for which that applicant or member is liable;
(c) to a single applicant or a member of the family in respect of a third party (but not in respect of
another member of that family) must be treated as possessed by that single applicant or, as
the case may be, that member of the family to the extent that it is kept or used by him or used
by or on behalf of any member of the family.
(4) Sub-paragraph (3) does not apply in respect of a payment of income made—
(a) under or by the Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust, the Macfarlane
(Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund,
the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006);
(b) pursuant to section 19(1)(a) of the Coal Industry Act 1994 (concessionary coal);
(c) pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 in respect of a person's
participation—
(i) in an employment programme specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) of the Jobseeker's
Allowance Regulations 1996;
(ii) in a training scheme specified in regulation 75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations;
(iii) in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of those Regulations;
(iv) in a qualifying course within the meaning specified in regulation 17A(7) of those
Regulations; or
(v) in the Flexible New Deal specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(v) of those Regulations;
(d) in respect of a person's participation in the Work for Your Benefit Pilot Scheme;
(e) in respect of a person's participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme;
(f) in respect of an applicant's participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme;
(g) under an occupational pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other periodical payment
made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension
Protection Fund where—
(i) a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of whom the
payment has been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is subject to
sequestration or a judicial factor has been appointed on that person's estate under
section 41 of the Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980;
(ii) the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting on behalf
of the creditors; and
(iii) the person referred to in sub-paragraph (i) and any member of his family does not
possess, or is not treated as possessing, any other income apart from that payment.
(5) Where an applicant is in receipt of any benefit under the benefit Acts and the rate of that benefit is
altered with effect from a date on or after 1st April in any year but not more than 14 days thereafter,
the authority must treat the applicant as possessing such benefit at the altered rate from either 1st
April or the first Monday in April in that year, whichever date the authority selects, to the date on
which the altered rate is to take effect.
(6) Subject to sub-paragraph (7), where—

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 213

63

(a) an applicant performs a service for another person; and
(b) that person makes no payment of earnings or pays less than that paid for a comparable
employment in the area,
the authority must treat the applicant as possessing such earnings (if any) as is reasonable for
that employment unless the applicant satisfies the authority that the means of that person are
insufficient for him to pay or to pay more for the service.
(7) Sub-paragraph (6) does not apply—
(a) to an applicant who is engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation or who is a volunteer
if the authority is satisfied in any of those cases that it is reasonable for him to provide those
services free of charge; or
(b) in a case where the service is performed in connection with—
(i) the applicant's participation in an employment or training programme in accordance with
regulation 19(1)(q) of the Jobseeker's Allowance Regulations 1996, other than where the
service is performed in connection with the applicant's participation in the Intense Activity
Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of those Regulations; or
(ii) the applicant's or the applicant's partner's participation in an employment or training
programme as defined in regulation 19(3) of those Regulations for which a training
allowance is not payable or, where such an allowance is payable, it is payable for the sole
purpose of reimbursement of travelling or meal expenses to the person participating in that
programme; or
(c) to an applicant who is participating in a work placement approved by the Secretary of State
(or a person providing services to the Secretary of State) before the placement starts.
(8) In sub-paragraph (7)(c) “work placement” means practical work experience which is not undertaken
in expectation of payment.
(9) Where an applicant is treated as possessing any income under any of sub-paragraphs (1) to (8), the
foregoing provisions of this Part apply for the purposes of calculating the amount of that income as
if a payment had actually been made and as if it were actual income which he does possess.
(10) Where an applicant is treated as possessing any earnings under sub-paragraph (6) the foregoing
provisions of this Part apply for the purposes of calculating the amount of those earnings as if a
payment had actually been made and as if they were actual earnings which he does possess except
that paragraph 42(2) or 52(3) (calculation of net earnings of employed earners: pensioners and
persons who are not pensioners, respectively) do not apply and his net earnings are to be calculated
by taking into account those earnings which he is treated as possessing, less—
(a) an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying to those
earnings the basic rate of tax applicable to the assessment period less only the personal relief
to which the applicant is entitled under sections 35 to 37 of the Income Tax Act 2007 (personal
allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances; but, if the assessment period is less than a
year, the earnings to which the basic rate of tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal
relief deductible under this sub-paragraph is to be calculated on a pro rata basis;
(b) an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that would be
payable by him under the SSCBA in respect of those earnings if such contributions were
payable; and
(c) one-half of any sum payable by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an occupational
or personal pension scheme.
(11) Sub-paragraphs (1), (2), (3) and (6) do not apply in respect of any amount of income other than
earnings, or earnings of an employed earner, arising out of an applicant participating as a service
user.
Income: further provisions applying to pensioners and persons who are not pensioners

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 214

64

57.0 Calculation of income on a weekly basis
(1) Subject to paragraph 60 (disregard of changes in tax, etc.), the income of an applicant is to be
calculated on a weekly basis—
(a) by estimating the amount which is likely to be his average weekly income in accordance with
this Part;
(b) by adding to that amount the weekly income calculated—
(i) if the applicant is a pensioner, under paragraph 71 (tariff income: pensioners);
(ii) if the applicant is a person who is not a pensioner, under paragraph 72 (tariff income:
persons who are not pensioners); and
(c) deducting from the sum of paragraphs (a) and (b) any relevant child care charges to which
paragraph 58 (treatment of child care charges) applies from any earnings which form part of
the average weekly income or, in a case where the conditions in sub-paragraph (2) are met,
from those earnings plus whichever credit specified in paragraph (b) of that sub-paragraph is
appropriate, up to a maximum deduction in respect of the applicant's family of whichever of
the sums specified in sub-paragraph (3) applies in his case.
(2) The conditions of this paragraph are that—
(a) the applicant's earnings which form part of his average weekly income are less than the lower
of either his relevant child care charges or whichever of the deductions specified in subparagraph (3) otherwise applies in his case; and
(b) that applicant or, if he is a member of a couple either the applicant or his partner, is in receipt
of either working tax credit or child tax credit.
(3) The maximum deduction to which sub-paragraph (1)(c) above refers is to be—
(a) where the applicant's family includes only one child in respect of whom relevant child care
charges are paid, £175.00 per week;
(b) where the applicant's family includes more than one child in respect of whom relevant child
care charges are paid, £300 per week.
58.0 Treatment of child care charges
(1) This paragraph applies where an applicant (within the meaning in this paragraph) is incurring
relevant child care charges and—
(a) is a lone parent and is engaged in remunerative work;
(b) is a member of a couple both of whom are engaged in remunerative work; or
(c) is a member of a couple where one member is engaged in remunerative work and the other—
(i) is incapacitated;
(ii) is an in-patient in hospital; or
(iii) is in prison (whether serving a custodial sentence or remanded in custody awaiting trial
or sentence).
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) and subject to sub-paragraph (4), a person to whom subparagraph (3) applies must be treated as engaged in remunerative work for a period not exceeding
28 weeks during which he—
(a) is paid statutory sick pay;
(b) is paid short-term incapacity benefit at the lower rate under sections 30A to 30E of the SSCBA;
(c) is paid an employment and support allowance;
(d) is paid income support on the grounds of incapacity for work under regulation 4ZA of, and
paragraph 7 or 14 of Schedule 1B to, the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987; or
(e) is credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited capability for work
under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 1975.
(3) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who was engaged in remunerative work immediately
before—
(a) the first day of the period in respect of which he was first paid statutory sick pay, short-term

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 215

65

incapacity benefit, an employment and support allowance or income support on the grounds
of incapacity for work; or
(b) the first day of the period in respect of which earnings are credited,
as the case may be.
(4) In a case to which sub-paragraph (2)(d) or (e) applies, the period of 28 weeks begins on the day on
which the person is first paid income support or on the first day of the period in respect of which
earnings are credited, as the case may be.
(5) Relevant child care charges are those charges for care to which sub-paragraphs (6) and (7) apply,
and are to be calculated on a weekly basis in accordance with sub-paragraph (10).
(6) The charges are paid by the applicant for care which is provided—
(a) in the case of any child of the applicant's family who is not disabled, in respect of the period
beginning on that child's date of birth and ending on the day preceding the first Monday in
September following that child's fifteenth birthday; or
(b) in the case of any child of the applicant's family who is disabled, in respect of the period
beginning on that person's date of birth and ending on the day preceding the first Monday in
September following that person's sixteenth birthday.
(7) The charges are paid for care which is provided by one or more of the care providers listed in subparagraph (8) and are not paid—
(a) in respect of the child's compulsory education;
(b) by an applicant to a partner or by a partner to an applicant in respect of any child for whom
either or any of them is responsible in accordance with paragraph 7 (circumstances in which
a person is treated as responsible or not responsible for another); or
(c) in respect of care provided by a relative of the child wholly or mainly in the child's home.
(8) The care to which sub-paragraph (7) refers may be provided—
(a) out of school hours, by a school on school premises or by a local authority—
(i) for children who are not disabled in respect of the period beginning on their eighth
birthday and ending on the day preceding the first Monday in September following their
fifteenth birthday; or
(ii) for children who are disabled in respect of the period beginning on their eighth birthday
and ending on the day preceding the first Monday in September following their
sixteenth birthday; or
(b) by a child care provider approved in accordance with the Tax Credit (New Category of Child
Care Provider) Regulations 1999; or
(c) by persons registered under Part 2 of the Children and Families (Wales) Measure 2010; or
(d) by a person who is excepted from registration under Part 2 of the Children and Families
(Wales) Measure 2010 because the child care that person provides is in a school or
establishment referred to in article 11, 12 or 14 of the Child Minding and Day Care Exceptions
(Wales) Order 2010; or
(e) by—
(i) persons registered under section 59(1) of the Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010;
or
(ii) local authorities registered under section 83(1) of that Act,
where the care provided is child minding or day care of children within the meaning of that
Act; or
(f) by a person prescribed in regulations made pursuant to section 12(4) of the Tax Credits Act
2002; or
(g) by a person who is registered under Chapter 2 or 3 of Part 3 of the Childcare Act 2006; or
(h) by any of the schools mentioned in section 34(2) of the Childcare Act 2006 in circumstances
where the requirement to register under Chapter 2 of Part 3 of that Act does not apply by
virtue of section 34(2) of that Act; or
(i) by any of the schools mentioned in section 53(2) of the Childcare Act 2006 in circumstances
where the requirement to register under Chapter 3 of Part 3 of that Act does not apply by

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 216

66

virtue of section 53(2) of that Act; or
(j) by any of the establishments mentioned in section 18(5) of the Childcare Act 2006 in
circumstances where the care is not included in the meaning of “childcare” for the purposes
of Part 1 and Part 3 of that Act by virtue of that subsection; or
(k) by a foster parent or kinship carer under the Fostering Services Regulations 2011, the Fostering
Services (Wales) Regulations 2003 or the Looked After Children (Scotland) Regulations 2009
in relation to a child other than one whom the foster parent is fostering or kinship carer is
looking after; or
(l) by a provider of personal care within the meaning of paragraph 1 of Schedule 1 to the Health
and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2010 and being a regulated activity
prescribed by those Regulations; or
(m) by a person who is not a relative of the child wholly or mainly in the child's home.
(9) In sub-paragraphs (6) and (8)(a), “the first Monday in September” means the Monday which first
occurs in the month of September in any year.
(10) Relevant child care charges must be estimated over such period, not exceeding a year, as is
appropriate in order that the average weekly charge may be estimated accurately having regard to
information as to the amount of that charge provided by the child minder or person providing the
care.
(11) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(c) the other member of a couple is incapacitated where—
(a) the applicant is a pensioner and the other member of the couple is aged not less than 80;
(b) the applicant is a pensioner and the other member of the couple is aged less than 80, and—
(i) the additional condition specified in paragraph 10 of Schedule 3 (additional condition for
the disability premium) to this scheme is treated as applying in his case; and
(ii) he satisfies that conditions or would satisfy it but for his being treated as capable of work
by virtue of a determination made in accordance with regulations made under section
171E of the SSCBA;
(c) the applicant is not a pensioner, the applicant's applicable amount includes a disability
premium on account of the other member's incapacity or the support component or the workrelated activity component on account of his having limited capability for work;
(d) the applicant is not a pensioner, the applicant's applicable amount would include a disability
premium on account of the other member's incapacity but for that other member being
treated as capable of work by virtue of a determination made in accordance with regulations
made under section 171E of the SSCBA;
(e) the applicant's applicable amount would include the support component or the work-related
activity component on account of the other member having limited capability for work but for
that other member being treated as not having limited capability for work by virtue of a
determination made in accordance with the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations
2008 or 2013 as appropriate;
(f) he is, or is treated as, incapable of work and has been so incapable, or has been so treated as
incapable, of work in accordance with the provisions of, and regulations made under, Part 12A
of the SSCBA (incapacity for work) for a continuous period of not less than 196 days; and for
this purpose any two or more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 56 days
must be treated as one continuous period;
(g) he is, or is treated as having, limited capability for work and has had, or been treated as having,
limited capability for work in accordance with the Employment and Support Allowance
Regulations 2008 or 2013 as appropriate for a continuous period of not less than 196 days and
for this purpose any two or more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 84
days must be treated as one continuous period;
(h) there is payable in respect of him one or more of the following pensions or allowances—
(i) long-term incapacity benefit or short-term incapacity benefit at the higher rate under
Schedule 4 to the SSCBA;
(ii) attendance allowance under section 64 of the SSCBA;
(iii) severe disablement allowance under section 68 of the SSCBA;
(iv) disability living allowance under section 71 of the SSCBA;

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 217

67

(v) personal independence payment;
(vi) an AFIP;
(vii) increase of disablement pension under section 104 of the SSCBA;
(viii) a pension increase paid as part of a war disablement pension or under an industrial
injuries scheme which is analogous to an allowance or increase of disablement pension
under sub-paragraph (ii), (iv), (v) or (vii) above;
(ix) main phase employment and support allowance;
(i) a pension or allowance to which sub-paragraph (vii) or (viii) of paragraph (h) above refers was
payable on account of his incapacity but has ceased to be payable in consequence of his
becoming a patient, which in this paragraph means a person (other than a person who is
serving a sentence of imprisonment or detention in a youth custody institution) who is
regarded as receiving free in-patient treatment within the meaning of regulation 2(4) and (5)
of the Social Security (Hospital In-Patients) Regulations 2005;
(j) an attendance allowance under section 64 of the SSCBA or disability living allowance would be
payable to that person but for—
(i) a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of the SSCBA;
or
(ii) an abatement as a consequence of hospitalisation;
(k) the daily living component of personal independence payment would be payable to that
person but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 86 of the
Welfare Reform Act 2012 (hospital in-patients);
(l) an AFIP would be payable to that person but for any suspension of payment in accordance with
any terms of the armed and reserve forces compensation scheme which allow for a suspension
because a person is undergoing medical treatment in a hospital or similar institution;
(m) paragraph (h), (i), (j) or (k) would apply to him if the legislative provisions referred to in those
paragraphs were provisions under any corresponding enactment having effect in Northern
Ireland; or
(n) he has an invalid carriage or other vehicle provided to him by the Secretary of State or a clinical
commissioning group under paragraph 9 of Schedule 1 to the National Health Service Act 2006
or under section 46 of the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 or provided by the
Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety in Northern Ireland under Article 30(1)
of the Health and Personal Social Services (Northern Ireland) Order 1972.
(12) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (11), once sub-paragraph (11)(f) applies to the person, if he then
ceases, for a period of 56 days or less, to be incapable, or to be treated as incapable, of work, that
sub-paragraph is, on his again becoming so incapable, or so treated as incapable, of work at the end
of that period, immediately thereafter to apply to him for so long as he remains incapable, or is
treated as remaining incapable, of work.
(13) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (11), once sub-paragraph (11)(g) applies to the person, if he
then ceases, for a period of 84 days or less, to have, or to be treated as having, limited capability for
work, that paragraph is, on his again having, or being treated as having, limited capability for work
at the end of that period, immediately thereafter to apply to him for so long as he has, or is treated
as having, limited capability for work.
(14) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (6) and (8)(a), a person is disabled if he is a person—
(a) to whom an attendance allowance or the care component of disability allowance is payable or
would be payable but for—
(i) a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of the SSCBA;
or
(ii) an abatement as a consequence of hospitalisation;
(b) to whom the daily living component of personal independence payment is payable or would
be payable but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 86 of
the Welfare Reform Act 2012 (hospital in-patients);
(c) who is registered as blind in a register compiled under section 29 of the National Assistance
Act 1948 (welfare services) or, in Scotland, has been certified as blind and in consequence he
is registered as blind in a register maintained by or on behalf of a council constituted under

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 218

68

section 2 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994; or
(d) who ceased to be registered as blind in such a register within the period beginning 28 weeks
before the first Monday in September following that person's fifteenth birthday and ending
on the day preceding that person's sixteenth birthday.
(15) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) a person on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave
is to be treated as if he is engaged in remunerative work for the period specified in sub-paragraph (16)
(“the relevant period”) provided that—
(a) in the week before the period of maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave began he was
in remunerative work;
(b) the applicant is incurring relevant child care charges within the meaning of sub-paragraph (5); and
(c) he is entitled to either statutory maternity pay under section 164 of the SSCBA, ordinary statutory
paternity pay by virtue of section 171ZA or 171ZB of that Act, additional statutory paternity pay by
virtue of section 171ZEA or 171ZEB of that Act, statutory adoption pay by of section 171ZL of that
Act, statutory shared parental pay by virtue of section 171ZU or 171ZV of that Act, statutory parental bereavement pay by virtue of section 171ZZ6 of that Act , maternity allowance under section
35 of that Act or qualifying support.
(16) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (15) the relevant period begins on the day on which the person’s
maternity, paternity leave or adoption leave commences and ends on—
(a) the date that leave ends;
if no child care element of working tax credit is in payment on the date that entitlement to maternity allowance, qualifying support, statutory maternity pay, ordinary or additional statutory paternity pay, statutory shared parental pay, statutory parental bereavement pay
(b) or statutory adoption pay ends, the date that entitlement ends; or
(c) if a child care element of working tax credit is in payment on the date that entitlement to maternity allowance or qualifying support, statutory maternity pay, ordinary or additional statutory paternity pay, statutory adoption pay, statutory shared parental pay, statutory parental bereavement
pay (pensioners only) ends, the date that entitlement to that award of the child care element of
the working tax credit ends,
whichever occurs first..
(17) In sub-paragraphs (15) and (16)—
(a) “qualifying support” means income support to which that person is entitled by virtue of
paragraph 14B of Schedule 1B to the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987; and
(b) “child care element” of working tax credit means the element of working tax credit prescribed
under section 12 of the Tax Credits Act 2002 (child care element).
(18) In this paragraph “applicant” does not include an applicant
(a) who has, or
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has,
an award of universal credit.
59.0 Calculation of average weekly income from tax credits
(1) This paragraph applies where an applicant receives a tax credit.
(2) Where this paragraph applies, the period over which a tax credit is to be taken into account is the
period set out in sub-paragraph (3).
(3) Where the instalment in respect of which payment of a tax credit is made is—
(a) a daily instalment, the period is 1 day, being the day in respect of which the instalment is paid;
(b) a weekly instalment, the period is 7 days, ending on the day on which the instalment is due to
be paid;
(c) a two weekly instalment, the period is 14 days, commencing 6 days before the day on which
the instalment is due to be paid;
(d) a four weekly instalment, the period is 28 days, ending on the day on which the instalment is

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 219

69

due to be paid.
(4) For the purposes of this paragraph “tax credit” means child tax credit or working tax credit.
60. Disregard of changes in tax, contributions etc.
In calculating the applicant's income the authority may disregard any legislative change—
(a) in the basic or other rates of income tax;
(b) in the amount of any personal tax relief;
(c) in the rates of national insurance contributions payable under the SSCBA or in the lower
earnings limit or upper earnings limit for Class 1 contributions under that Act, the lower or
upper limits applicable to Class 4 contributions under that Act or the amount specified in
section 11(4) of that Act (small profits threshold in relation to Class 2 contributions);
(d) in the amount of tax payable as a result of an increase in the weekly rate of Category A, B, C
or D retirement pension or any addition thereto or any graduated pension payable under the
SSCBA;
(e) in the maximum rate of child tax credit or working tax credit,
for a period not exceeding 30 reduction weeks beginning with the reduction week immediately following
the date from which the change is effective.
61.0 Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners
(1) For the purposes of paragraphs 48 (average weekly earnings of self-employed earners: persons who
are not pensioners) and 57 (calculation of income on a weekly basis) the earnings of an applicant to
be taken into account must be—
(a) in the case of a self-employed earner who is engaged in employment on his own account, the
net profit derived from that employment;
(b) in the case of a self-employed earner who is a pensioner whose employment is carried on in
partnership, his share of the net profit derived from that employment, less—
(i) an amount in respect of income tax and of national insurance contributions payable
under the SSCBA calculated in accordance with paragraph 62 (deduction of tax and
contributions of self-employed earners); and
(ii) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (11) in respect of
any qualifying premium;
(c) in the case of a self-employed earner who is not a pensioner whose employment is carried on
in partnership or is that of a share fisherman within the meaning of the Social Security
(Mariners’ Benefits) Regulations 1975, his share of the net profit derived from that
employment, less—
(i) an amount in respect of income tax and of national insurance contributions payable
under the SSCBA calculated in accordance with paragraph 62 (deduction of tax and
contributions for self-employed earners); and
(ii) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (11) in respect of
any qualifying premium.
(2) There must be disregarded from the net profit of an applicant who is not a pensioner, any sum,
where applicable, specified in paragraphs 1 to 16 of Schedule 7 (sums disregarded in the calculation
of earnings: persons who are not pensioners).
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(a) the net profit of the employment must, except where subparagraph (9) applies, be calculated by taking into account the earnings of the employment over the
assessment period less—
(a) subject to sub-paragraphs (5) to (8), any expenses wholly and exclusively incurred in that
period for the purposes of that employment;
(b) an amount in respect of—
(i) income tax; and
(ii) national insurance contributions payable under the SSCBA,
calculated in accordance with paragraph 62 (deduction of tax and contributions for self-

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 220

70

employed earners); and
(c) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (11) in respect of any
qualifying premium.
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) the net profit of the employment is to be calculated by
taking into account the earnings of the employment over the assessment period less, subject to subparagraphs (5) to (8), any expenses wholly and exclusively incurred in that period for the purposes
of the employment.
(5) Subject to sub-paragraph (6), no deduction is to be made under sub-paragraph (3)(a) or (4), in
respect of—
(a) any capital expenditure;
(b) the depreciation of any capital asset;
(c) any sum employed or intended to be employed in the setting up or expansion of the
employment;
(d) any loss incurred before the beginning of the assessment period;
(e) the repayment of capital on any loan taken out for the purposes of the employment;
(f) any expenses incurred in providing business entertainment; and
(g) in the case of an applicant who is not a pensioner, any debts, except bad debts proved to be
such, but this paragraph does not apply to any expenses incurred in the recovery of a debt.
(6) A deduction is to be made under sub-paragraph (3)(a) or (4) in respect of the repayment of capital
on any loan used for—
(a) the replacement in the course of business of equipment or machinery; or
(b) the repair of an existing business asset except to the extent that any sum is payable under an
insurance policy for its repair.
(7) The authority must refuse to make a deduction in respect of any expenses under sub-paragraph
(3)(a) or (4) where it is not satisfied given the nature and the amount of the expense that it has been
reasonably incurred.
(8) For the avoidance of doubt—
(a) a deduction must not be made under sub-paragraph (3)(a) or (4) in respect of any sum unless
it has been expended for the purposes of the business;
(b) a deduction must be made thereunder in respect of—
(i) the excess of any value added tax paid over value added tax received in the assessment
period;
(ii) any income expended in the repair of an existing business asset except to the extent that
any sum is payable under an insurance policy for its repair;
(iii) any payment of interest on a loan taken out for the purposes of the employment.
(9) Where an applicant is engaged in employment as a child minder the net profit of the employment is
to be one-third of the earnings of that employment, less—
(a) an amount in respect of—
(i) income tax; and
(ii) national insurance contributions payable under the SSCBA,
calculated in accordance with paragraph 62 (deduction of tax and contributions for selfemployed earners); and
(b) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (11) in respect of any
qualifying premium.
(10) For the avoidance of doubt where an applicant is engaged in employment as a self-employed earner
and he is also engaged in one or more other employments as a self-employed or employed earner
any loss incurred in any one of his employments must not be offset against his earnings in any other
of his employments.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 221

71

(11) The amount in respect of any qualifying premium is to be calculated by multiplying the daily amount
of the qualifying premium by the number equal to the number of days in the assessment period;
and for the purposes of this paragraph the daily amount of the qualifying premium must be
determined—
(a) where the qualifying premium is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the qualifying
premium by 12 and dividing the product by 365;
(b) in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying premium by the number equal to
the number of days in the period to which the qualifying premium relates.
(12) In this paragraph, “qualifying premium” means any premium which is payable periodically in
respect of a personal pension scheme and is so payable on or after the date of application.
62.0 Calculation of deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners
(1) The amount to be deducted in respect of income tax under paragraph 61(1)(b)(i), (3)(b)(i) or (9)(a)(i)
(calculation of net profit of self-employed earners) must be calculated—
(a) on the basis of the amount of chargeable income, and
(b) as if that income were assessable to income tax at the basic rate of tax applicable to the
assessment period less only the personal relief to which the applicant is entitled under
sections 35 to 37 of the Income Tax Act 2007 (personal allowances) as is appropriate to his
circumstances.
(2) But, if the assessment period is less than a year, the earnings to which the basic rate of tax is to be
applied and the amount of the personal reliefs deductible under this paragraph must be calculated
on a pro rata basis.
(3) The amount to be deducted in respect of national insurance contributions under paragraph
60(1)(b)(i), (3)(b)(ii) or (9)(a)(ii) is the total of—
(a) the amount of Class 2 contributions payable under section 11(1) or, as the case may be, 11(3)
of the SSCBA at the rate applicable to the assessment period except where the applicant's
chargeable income is less than the amount specified in section 11(4) of that Act (small profits
threshold) for the tax year applicable to the assessment period; but if the assessment period
is less than a year, the amount specified for that tax year must be reduced pro rata; and
(b) the amount of Class 4 contributions (if any) which would be payable under section 15 of the
SSCBA (Class 4 contributions recoverable under the Income Tax Acts) at the percentage rate
applicable to the assessment period on so much of the chargeable income as exceeds the
lower limit but does not exceed the upper limit of profits and gains applicable for the tax year
applicable to the assessment period; but if the assessment period is less than a year, those
limits must be reduced pro rata.
(4) In this paragraph “chargeable income” means
(a) except where paragraph (b) applies, the earnings derived from the employment less any
expenses deducted under sub-paragraph (3)(a) or, as the case may be, (5) of paragraph 61;
(b) in the case of employment as a child minder, one-third of the earnings of that employment.
63.0 Calculation of capital
(1) The capital of an applicant to be taken into account must be, subject to sub-paragraph (2), the whole
of his capital calculated in accordance with this Part and (in the case of persons who are not
pensioners) any income treated as capital under paragraph 64 (income treated as capital: persons
who are not pensioners).
(2) There must be disregarded from the calculation of an applicant's capital under sub-paragraph (1),
any capital, where applicable, specified in—
(a) Schedule 9, in relation to pensioners;
(b) Schedule 10, in relation to persons who are not pensioners.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 222

72

(3) In the case of an applicant who is a pensioner, his capital is to be treated as including any payment
made to him by way of arrears of—
(a) child tax credit;
(b) working tax credit;
(c) state pension credit,
if the payment was made in respect of a period for the whole or part of which a reduction under this
scheme was allowed before those arrears were paid.
(4) The capital of a child or young person who is a member of the family of an applicant who is not a
pensioner must not be treated as capital of the applicant.
64.0 Income treated as capital: persons who are not pensioners
(1) This paragraph applies in relation to persons who are not pensioners.
(2) Any bounty derived from employment to which paragraph 9 of Schedule 7 (sums disregarded in the
calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners) applies and paid at intervals of at least one
year is to be treated as capital.
(3) Any amount by way of a refund of income tax deducted from profits or emoluments chargeable to
income tax under Schedule D or E is to be treated as capital.
(4) Any holiday pay which is not earnings under paragraph 41(1)(d) or 51(1)(d) (earnings of employed
earners) is to be treated as capital.
(5) Except any income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 4, 5, 7, 11, 17, 30 to 33, 50 or
51 of Schedule 10 (capital disregards: persons who are not pensioners), any income derived from
capital is to be treated as capital but only from the date it is normally due to be credited to the
applicant's account.
(6) In the case of employment as an employed earner, any advance of earnings or any loan made by the
applicant's employer is to be treated as capital.
(7) Any charitable or voluntary payment which is not made or due to be made at regular intervals, other
than a payment which is made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the
Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the Independent Living Fund (2006) or the London Bombings
Charitable Relief Fund, is to be treated as capital.
(8) There is to be treated as capital the gross receipts of any commercial activity carried on by a person
in respect of which assistance is received under the self-employment route, but only in so far as
those receipts were payable into a special account during the period in which that person was
receiving such assistance.
(9) Any arrears of subsistence allowance which are paid to an applicant as a lump sum must be treated
as capital.
(10) Any arrears of working tax credit or child tax credit must be treated as capital.
65.0 Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom
Capital which an applicant possesses in the United Kingdom is to be calculated at its current market or
surrender value less—
(a) where there would be expenses attributable to the sale, 10 per cent; and
(b) the amount of any encumbrance secured on it.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 223

73

66.0 Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom
Capital which an applicant possesses in a country outside the United Kingdom must be calculated—
(a) in a case where there is no prohibition in that country against the transfer to the United
Kingdom of an amount equal to its current market or surrender value in that country, at that
value;
(b) in a case where there is such a prohibition, at the price which it would realise if sold in the
United Kingdom to a willing buyer,
less, where there would be expenses attributable to sale, 10 per cent and the amount of any
encumbrances secured on it.
67.0 Notional capital
(1) An applicant is to be treated as possessing capital of which he has deprived himself for the purpose
of securing entitlement to a reduction or increasing the amount of that reduction except to the
extent that that capital is reduced in accordance with paragraph 68 (diminishing notional capital
rule).
(2) A person who is a pensioner who disposes of capital for the purpose of—
(a) reducing or paying a debt owed by the applicant; or
(b) purchasing goods or services if the expenditure was reasonable in the circumstances of the
applicant's case,
is to be regarded as not depriving himself of it.
(3) Sub-paragraphs (4) to (6) apply in relation to applicants who are not pensioners.
(4) Except in the case of—
(a) a discretionary trust; or
(b) a trust derived from a payment made in consequence of a personal injury; or
(c) any loan which would be obtained only if secured against capital disregarded under Schedule
9; or
(d) a personal pension scheme, occupational pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of
the Pension Protection Fund; or
(e) any sum to which paragraph 50(2)(a) of Schedule 10 (capital disregards: persons who are not
pensioners) applies which is administered in the way referred to in paragraph 50(1)(a); or
(f) any sum to which paragraph 51(a) of Schedule 10 refers; or
(g) child tax credit; or
(h) working tax credit,
any capital which would become available to the applicant upon application being made, but
which has not been acquired by him, is to be treated as possessed by him but only from the date
on which it could be expected to be acquired were an application made.
(5) Any payment of capital, other than a payment of capital specified in sub-paragraph (6), made—
(a) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or a member of the family (but not a member
of the third party's family) must, where that payment is a payment of an occupational pension,
a pension or other periodical payment made under a personal pension scheme or a payment
made by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund, be treated as possessed by that single
applicant or, as the case may be, by that member;
(b) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or in respect of a member of the family (but not
a member of the third party's family) must, where it is not a payment referred to in paragraph
(a), be treated as possessed by that single applicant or by that member to the extent that it is
used for the food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of that single applicant
or, as the case may be, of any member of that family or is used for any council tax or water
charges for which that applicant or member is liable;
(c) to a single applicant or a member of the family in respect of a third party (but not in respect of
another member of the family) must be treated as possessed by that single applicant or, as
the case may be, that member of the family to the extent that it is kept or used by him or used

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 224

74

by or on behalf of any member of the family.
(6) Sub-paragraph (5) does not apply in respect of a payment of capital made—
(a) under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Independent Living
Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, or the London Bombings Relief
Charitable Fund;
(b) pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 in respect of a person's
participation
(i) in an employment programme specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) of the Jobseeker's
Allowance Regulations 1996;
(ii) in a training scheme specified in regulation 75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations;
(iii) in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of those Regulations;
(iv) in a qualifying course within the meaning specified in regulation 17A(7) of those
Regulations; or
(v) in the Flexible New Deal specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(v) of those Regulations;
(c) in respect of a person's participation in the Work for Your Benefit Pilot Scheme;
(d) in respect of a person's participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme;
(e) in respect of an applicant's participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme;
(f) under an occupational pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other periodical payment
made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension
Protection Fund where—
(i) a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of whom the
payment has been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is subject to
sequestration or a judicial factor has been appointed on that person's estate under
section 41 of the Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980;
(ii) the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting on behalf
of the creditors; and
(iii) the person referred to in sub-paragraph (i) and any member of his family does not
possess, or is not treated as possessing, any other income apart from that payment.
(7) Where an applicant stands in relation to a company in a position analogous to that of a sole owner
or partner in the business of that company, he may be treated as if he were such sole owner or
partner and in such a case—
(a) the value of his holding in that company must, notwithstanding paragraph 63 (calculation of
capital) be disregarded; and
(b) he must, subject to sub-paragraph (8), be treated as possessing an amount of capital equal to
the value or, as the case may be, his share of the value of the capital of that company and the
foregoing provisions of this Chapter apply for the purposes of calculating that amount as if it
were actual capital which he does possess.
(8) For so long as the applicant undertakes activities in the course of the business of the company, the
amount which he is treated as possessing under sub-paragraph (7) is to be disregarded.
(9) Where an applicant is treated as possessing capital under any of sub-paragraphs (1), (4) or (5) the
foregoing provisions of this Chapter apply for the purposes of calculating its amount as if it were
actual capital which he does possess.
68.0 Diminishing notional capital rule: pensioners
(1) Where an applicant who is a pensioner is treated as possessing capital under paragraph 67(1)
(notional capital), the amount which he is treated as possessing—
(a) in the case of a week that is subsequent to—
(i) the relevant week in respect of which the conditions set out in sub-paragraph (2) are
satisfied; or
(ii) a week which follows that relevant week and which satisfies those conditions,
is to be reduced by an amount determined under sub-paragraph (3);

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 225

75

(b) in the case of a week in respect of which sub-paragraph (1)(a) does not apply but where—
(i) that week is a week subsequent to the relevant week; and
(ii) that relevant week is a week in which the condition in sub-paragraph (4) is satisfied,
is to be reduced by the amount determined under sub-paragraph (5).
(2) This sub-paragraph applies to a reduction week where the applicant satisfies the conditions that—
(a) he is in receipt of a reduction under this scheme; and
(b) but for paragraph 67(1), he would have received a greater reduction in council tax under this
scheme in that week.
(3) In a case to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, the amount of the reduction in the amount of capital
he is treated as possessing for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(a) must be equal to the aggregate
of—
(a) an amount equal to the additional amount of the reduction in council tax to which subparagraph (2)(b) refers;
(b) where the applicant has also claimed state pension credit, the amount of any state pension
credit or any additional amount of state pension credit to which he would have been entitled
in respect of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of
regulation 21(1) of the State Pension Credit Regulations 2002 (notional capital);
(c) where the applicant has also claimed housing benefit, the amount of any housing benefit or
any additional amount of housing benefit to which he would have been entitled in respect of
the whole or part of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the
application of regulation 47(1) of the Housing Benefit (Persons who have attained the
qualifying age for state pension credit) Regulations 2006 (notional capital);
(d) where the applicant has also claimed a jobseeker's allowance, the amount of an income-based
jobseeker's allowance to which he would have been entitled in respect of the reduction week
to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of regulation 113 of the Jobseeker's
Allowance Regulations 1996 (notional capital); and
(e) where the applicant has also claimed an employment and support allowance, the amount of
an income-related employment and support allowance to which he would have been entitled
in respect of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of
regulation 115 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 (notional capital).
(4) Subject to sub-paragraph (7), for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) the condition is that the
applicant is a pensioner and would have been entitled to a reduction in council tax under this scheme
in the relevant week but for paragraph 67(1).
(5) In such a case the amount of the reduction in the amount of capital he is treated as possessing for
the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) is equal to the aggregate of—
(a) the amount of the reduction in council tax to which the applicant would have been entitled in
the relevant week but for paragraph 67(1);
(b) if the applicant would, but for regulation 21 of the State Pension Credit Regulations 2002, have
been entitled to state pension credit in respect of the benefit week, within the meaning of
regulation 1(2) of those Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of the
relevant week, the amount to which he would have been entitled;
(c) if the applicant would, but for regulation 47(1) of the Housing Benefit (Persons who have
attained the qualifying age for state pension credit) Regulations 2006, have been entitled to
housing benefit or to an additional amount of housing benefit in respect of the benefit week
which includes the last day of the relevant week, the amount which is equal to—
(i) in a case where no housing benefit is payable, the amount to which he would have been
entitled; or
(ii) in any other case, the amount equal to the additional amount of housing benefit to which
he would have been entitled;
(d) if the applicant would, but for regulation 113 of the Jobseeker's Allowance Regulations 1996,
have been entitled to an income-based jobseeker's allowance in respect of the benefit week,
within the meaning of regulation 1(3) of those Regulations (interpretation), which includes the

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 226

76

last day of the relevant week, the amount to which he would have been entitled; and
(e) if the applicant would, but for regulation 115 of the Employment and Support Allowance
Regulations 2008, have been entitled to an income-related employment and support
allowance in respect of the benefit week, within the meaning of regulation 2(1) of those
Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of the relevant week, the amount to
which he would have been entitled.
(6) But if the amount mentioned in paragraph (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e) of sub-paragraph (5) (“the relevant
amount”) is in respect of a part-week, the amount that is to be taken into account under that
paragraph is to be determined by—
(a) dividing the relevant amount by the number equal to the number of days in that part-week,
and
(b) multiplying the result of that calculation by 7.
(7) The amount determined under sub-paragraph (5) is to be re-determined under that sub-paragraph
if the applicant makes a further application and the conditions in sub-paragraph (8) are satisfied,
and in such a case—
(a) paragraphs (a) to (e) of sub-paragraph (5) apply as if for the words ““relevant week”” there
were substituted the words ““relevant subsequent week””; and
(b) subject to sub-paragraph (9), the amount as re-determined has effect from the first week
following the relevant subsequent week in question.
(8) The conditions are that—
(a) a further application is made 26 or more weeks after—
(i) the date on which the applicant made an application in respect of which he was first
treated as possessing the capital in question under paragraph 67(1);
(ii) in a case where there has been at least one re-determination in accordance with subparagraph (11), the date on which he last made an application which resulted in the weekly
amount being re-determined, or
(iii) the date on which he last ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme,
whichever last occurred; and
(b) the applicant would have been entitled to a reduction under this scheme but for paragraph
67(1).
(9) The amount as re-determined pursuant to sub-paragraph (7) must not have effect if it is less than
the amount which applied in that case immediately before the re-determination and in such a case
the higher amount must continue to have effect.
(10) For the purposes of this paragraph—
“part-week”—
(a) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(a), means a period of less than a
week for which a reduction in council tax under this scheme is allowed;
(b) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(b), means a period of less than a
week for which housing benefit is payable;
(c) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(c), (d) or (e), means—
(i) a period of less than a week which is the whole period for which income support, an
income-related employment and support allowance or, as the case may be, an incomebased jobseeker's allowance is payable; and
(ii) any other period of less than a week for which it is payable;
“relevant week” means the reduction week or part-week in which the capital in question of which
the applicant has deprived himself within the meaning of paragraph 67(1)—
(a) was first taken into account for the purpose of determining his entitlement to a reduction;
or
(b) was taken into account on a subsequent occasion for the purpose of determining or redetermining his entitlement to a reduction on that subsequent occasion and that determination
or re-determination resulted in his beginning to receive, or ceasing to receive, a reduction;
and where more than one reduction week is identified by reference to paragraphs (a) and (b) of this

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 227

77

definition, the later or latest such reduction week or, as the case may be, the later or latest such
part-week is the relevant week;
“relevant subsequent week” means the reduction week or part-week which includes the day on
which the further application or, if more than one further application has been made, the last such
application was made.
69.0 Diminishing notional capital rule: persons who are not pensioners
(1) Where an applicant who is not a pensioner is treated as possessing capital under paragraph 67(1)
(notional capital), the amount which he is treated as possessing—
(a) in the case of a week that is subsequent to—
(i) the relevant week in respect of which the conditions set out in sub-paragraph (2) are
satisfied; or
(ii) a week which follows that relevant week and which satisfies those conditions,
is to be reduced by an amount determined under sub-paragraph (3);
(b) in the case of a week in respect of which sub-paragraph (1)(a) does not apply but where—
(i) that week is a week subsequent to the relevant week; and
(ii) that relevant week is a week in which the condition in sub-paragraph (4) is satisfied,
is to be reduced by the amount determined under sub-paragraph (5).
(2) This sub-paragraph applies to a reduction week (or, in the case of persons who are not pensioners,
part-week) where the applicant satisfies the conditions that—
(a) he is in receipt of a reduction in council tax under this scheme; and
(b) but for paragraph 67(1), he would have received a greater reduction in council tax under this
scheme in that week.
(3) In a case to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, the amount of the reduction in the amount of capital
he is treated as possessing for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(a) is equal to the aggregate of—
(a) an amount equal to the additional amount of the reduction in council tax to which subparagraph (2)(b) refers;
(b) where the applicant has also claimed housing benefit, the amount of any housing benefit or
any additional amount of that benefit to which he would have been entitled in respect of the
whole or part of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application
of regulation 49(1) of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 (notional capital);
(c) where the applicant has also claimed income support, the amount of income support to which
he would have been entitled in respect of the whole or part of the reduction week to which
sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of regulation 51(1) of the Income Support
(General) Regulations 1987 (notional capital);
(d) where the applicant has also claimed a jobseeker's allowance, the amount of an income-based
jobseeker's allowance to which he would have been entitled in respect of the whole or part of
the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of regulation 113
of the Jobseeker's Allowance Regulations 1996 (notional capital); and
(e) where the applicant has also claimed an employment and support allowance, the amount of
an income-related employment and support allowance to which he would have been entitled
in respect of the whole or part of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but
for the application of regulation 115 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations
2008 (notional capital).
(4) Subject to sub-paragraph (7), for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) the condition is that the
applicant is not a pensioner and would have been entitled to a reduction in council tax in the relevant
week but for paragraph 67(1).
(5) In such a case the amount of the reduction in the amount of capital he is treated as possessing must
be equal to the aggregate of—
(a) the amount of council tax benefit to which the applicant would have been entitled in the
relevant week but for paragraph 67(1);

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 228

78

(b) if the applicant would, but for regulation 49(1) of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006, have
been entitled to housing benefit or to an additional amount of housing benefit in respect of
the benefit week which includes the last day of the relevant week, the amount which is equal
to—
(i) in a case where no housing benefit is payable, the amount to which he would have been
entitled; or
(ii) in any other case, the amount equal to the additional amount of housing benefit to which
he would have been entitled;
(c) if the applicant would, but for regulation 51(1) of the Income Support (General) Regulations
1987, have been entitled to income support in respect of the benefit week, within the meaning
of regulation 2(1) of those Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of the
relevant week, the amount to which he would have been entitled;
(d) if the applicant would, but for regulation 113 of the Jobseeker's Allowance Regulations 1996,
have been entitled to an income-based jobseeker's allowance in respect of the benefit week,
within the meaning of regulation 1(3) of those Regulations (interpretation), which includes the
last day of the relevant week, the amount to which he would have been entitled; and
(e) if the applicant would, but for regulation 115 of the Employment and Support Allowance
Regulations 2008, have been entitled to an income-related employment and support
allowance in respect of the benefit week, within the meaning of regulation 2(1) of those
Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of the relevant week, the amount to
which he would have been entitled.
(6) But if the amount mentioned in paragraph (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e) of sub-paragraph (5) (“the relevant
amount”) is in respect of a part-week, the amount that is to be taken into account under that
paragraph is to be determined by—
(a) dividing the relevant amount by the number equal to the number of days in that part-week,
and
(b) multiplying the result of that calculation by 7.
(7) The amount determined under sub-paragraph (5) is to be re-determined under the appropriate subparagraph if the applicant makes a further application and the conditions in sub-paragraph (8) are
satisfied, and in such a case—
(a) paragraphs (a) to (e) of sub-paragraph (5) apply as if for the words ““relevant week”” there
were substituted the words ““relevant subsequent week””; and
(b) subject to sub-paragraph (9), the amount as re-determined has effect from the first week
following the relevant subsequent week in question.
(8) The conditions are that—
(a) a further application is made 26 or more weeks after—
(i) the date on which the applicant made an application for a reduction under this scheme
in respect of which he was first treated as possessing the capital in question under
paragraph 67(1);
(ii) in a case where there has been at least one re-determination in accordance with subparagraph (7), the date on which he last made an application under this scheme which
resulted in the weekly amount being re-determined, or
(iii) the date on which he last ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme,
whichever last occurred; and
(b) the applicant would have been entitled to a reduction under this scheme but for paragraph
67(1).
(9) The amount as re-determined pursuant to sub-paragraph (6) must not have effect if it is less than
the amount which applied in that case immediately before the re-determination and in such a case
the higher amount must continue to have effect.
(10) For the purposes of this paragraph—
“part-week”
(a) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(a), means a period of less than a

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 229

79

week for which a reduction under this scheme is allowed;
(b) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(b), means a period of less than a
week for which housing benefit is payable;
(c) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(c), (d) or (e), means—
(i) a period of less than a week which is the whole period for which income support, an
income-related employment and support allowance or, as the case may be, an incomebased jobseeker's allowance is payable; and
(ii) any other period of less than a week for which it is payable;
“relevant week” means the reduction week or part-week in which the capital in question of which
the applicant has deprived himself within the meaning of paragraph 67(1)—(a) was first taken
into account for the purpose of determining his entitlement to a reduction; or
(b) was taken into account on a subsequent occasion for the purpose of determining or redetermining his entitlement to a reduction on that subsequent occasion and that
determination or re-determination resulted in his beginning to receive, or ceasing to receive,
a reduction,
and where more than one reduction week is identified by reference to paragraphs (a) and (b) of
this definition, the later or latest such reduction week or, as the case may be, the later or latest
such part-week is the relevant week;
“relevant subsequent week” means the reduction week or part-week which includes the day on
which the further application or, if more than one further application has been made, the last
such application was made.
70.0 Capital jointly held
Except where an applicant possesses capital which is disregarded under paragraph 67(7) (notional
capital), where an applicant and one or more persons are beneficially entitled in possession to any capital
asset they must be treated, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, as if each of them were entitled
in possession to the whole beneficial interest therein in an equal share and the foregoing provisions of
this Chapter apply for the purposes of calculating the amount of capital which the applicant is treated as
possessing as if it were actual capital which the applicant does possess.
71.0 Calculation of tariff income from capital: pensioners
The capital of an applicant who is a pensioner, calculated in accordance with this Part, is to be treated as
if it were a weekly income of—
(a) £1 for each £500 in excess of £10,000 but not exceeding £16,000; and
(b) £1 for any excess which is not a complete £500.
72.0 Calculation of tariff income from capital: persons who are not pensioners
The capital of an applicant who is not a pensioner, calculated in accordance with this Part, is to be treated
as if it were a weekly income of—
(a) £1 for each £250 in excess of £6,000 but not exceeding £16,000;
(b) £1 for any excess which is not a complete £250.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 230

80

STUDENTS

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 231

81

73.0 Interpretation
(1) In this Part—
“academic year” means the period of twelve months beginning on 1st January, 1st April, 1st July or 1st
September according to whether the course in question begins in the winter, the spring, the summer
or the autumn respectively but if students are required to begin attending the course during August
or September and to continue attending through the autumn, the academic year of the course is to
be considered to begin in the autumn rather than the summer;
“access funds” means
(a) grants made under section 68 of the Further and Higher Education Act 1992 for the purpose
of providing funds on a discretionary basis to be paid to students;
(b) grants made under sections 73(a) and (c) and 74(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980;
(c) grants made under Article 30 of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) Order 1993 or
grants, loans or other payments made under Article 5 of the Further Education (Northern
Ireland) Order 1997 in each case being grants, or grants, loans or other payments as the case
may be, for the purpose of assisting students in financial difficulties;
(d) discretionary payments, known as “learner support funds”, which are made available to
students in further education by institutions out of funds provided by the Secretary of State
under section 14 of the Education Act 2002 or the Chief Executive of Skills Funding under
sections 100 and 101 of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009; or
(e) Financial Contingency Funds made available by the Welsh Ministers;
“college of further education” means a college of further education within the meaning of Part 1 of the
Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992;
“contribution” means
(a) any contribution in respect of the income of a student or any person which the Secretary of
State, the Scottish Ministers or an education authority takes into account in ascertaining the
amount of a student's grant or student loan; or
(b) any sums, which in determining the amount of a student's allowance or bursary in Scotland
under the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, the Scottish Ministers or education authority takes
into account being sums which the Scottish Ministers or education authority considers that it
is reasonable for the following persons to contribute towards the holder's expenses—
(i) the holder of the allowance or bursary;
(ii) the holder's parents;
(iii) the holder's parent's spouse, civil partner or a person ordinarily living with the holder's
parent as if he or she were the spouse or civil partner of that parent; or
(iv) the holder's spouse or civil partner;
“course of study” means any course of study, whether or not it is a sandwich course and whether or
not a grant is made for attending or undertaking it;
“covenant income” means the gross income payable to a full-time student under a Deed of Covenant
by his parent;
“education authority” means a government department, a local authority as defined in section 579 of
the Education Act 1996 (interpretation), a local education authority as defined in section 123 of the
Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973, an education and library board established under Article 3
of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) Order 1986, any body which is a research council
for the purposes of the Science and Technology Act 1965 or any analogous government department,
authority, board or body, of the Channel Islands, Isle of Man or any other country outside Great
Britain;
“full-time course of study” means a full-time course of study which
(a) is not funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the Education
Act 2002, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or by the Welsh Ministers or a full-time course
of study which is not funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers at a college of further
education or a full-time course of study which is a course of higher education and is funded in
whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers;
(b) is funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the Education Act
2002, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or by the Welsh Ministers if it involves more than
16 guided learning hours per week for the student in question, according to the number of
guided learning hours per week for that student set out—

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 232

82

(i) in the case of a course funded by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the Education
Act 2002 or the Chief Executive of Skills Funding, in the student's learning agreement
signed on behalf of the establishment which is funded by either of those persons for the
delivery of that course; or
(ii) in the case of a course funded by the Welsh Ministers, in a document signed on behalf of
the establishment which is funded by that Council for the delivery of that course; or
(c) is not higher education and is funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers at a college
of further education and involves—
(i) more than 16 hours per week of classroom-based or workshop-based programmed
learning under the direct guidance of teaching staff according to the number of hours set
out in a document signed on behalf of the college; or
(ii) 16 hours or less per week of classroom-based or workshop-based programmed learning
under the direct guidance of teaching staff and additional hours using structured learning
packages supported by the teaching staff where the combined total of hours exceeds 21
hours per week, according to the number of hours set out in a document signed on behalf
of the college;
“full-time student” means a person attending or undertaking a full-time course of study and includes a
student on a sandwich course;
“grant” (except in the definition of “access funds”) means any kind of educational grant or award and
includes any scholarship, studentship, exhibition, allowance or bursary but does not include a
payment from access funds or any payment to which paragraph 16 of Schedule 8 or paragraph 55
of Schedule 10 (allowances and payments for courses of study FEHA1992) applies;
“grant income” means
(a) any income by way of a grant;
(b) any contribution whether or not it is paid;
“higher education” means higher education within the meaning of Part 2 of the Further and Higher
Education (Scotland) Act 1992;
“last day of the course” means
(a) in the case of a qualifying course, the date on which the last day of that course falls or the date
on which the final examination relating to that course is completed, whichever is the later;
(b) in any other case, the date on which the last day of the final academic term falls in respect of
the course in which the student is enrolled;
“period of study” means
(a) in the case of a course of study for one year or less, the period beginning with the start of the
course and ending with the last day of the course;
(b) in the case of a course of study for more than one year, in the first or, as the case may be, any
subsequent year of the course, other than the final year of the course, the period beginning
with the start of the course or, as the case may be, that year's start and ending with either—
(i) the day before the start of the next year of the course in a case where the student's grant
or loan is assessed at a rate appropriate to his studying throughout the year or, if he
does not have a grant or loan, where a loan would have been assessed at such a rate
had he had one; or
(ii) in any other case, the day before the start of the normal summer vacation appropriate
to his course;
(c) in the final year of a course of study of more than one year, the period beginning with that
year's start and ending with the last day of the course;
“periods of experience” means periods of work experience which form part of a sandwich course;
“qualifying course” means a qualifying course as defined for the purposes of Parts 2 and 4 of the
Jobseeker's Allowance Regulations 1996;
“sandwich course” has the meaning prescribed in regulation 2(9) of the Education (Student Support)
Regulations 2008, regulation 4(2) of the Education (Student Loans) (Scotland) Regulations 2007 or
regulation 2(8) of the Education (Student Support) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2007, as the case
may be;
“standard maintenance grant” means
(a) except where paragraph (b) or (c) applies, in the case of a student attending or undertaking a
course of study at the University of London or an establishment within the area comprising
the City of London and the Metropolitan Police District, the amount specified for the time

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 233

83

being in paragraph 2(2)(a) of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations
2003 (“the 2003 Regulations”) for such a student;
(b) except where paragraph (c) applies, in the case of a student residing at his parent's home, the
amount specified in paragraph 3 thereof;
(c) in the case of a student receiving an allowance or bursary under the Education (Scotland) Act
1980, the amount of money specified as “standard maintenance allowance” for the relevant
year appropriate for the student set out in the Student Support in Scotland Guide issued by
the Student Awards Agency for Scotland, or its nearest equivalent in the case of a bursary
provided by a college of further education or a local education authority;
(d) in any other case, the amount specified in paragraph 2(2) of Schedule 2 to the 2003
Regulations other than in sub-paragraph (a) or (b) thereof;
“student” means a person, other than a person in receipt of a training allowance, who is attending
or undertaking
(a) a course of study at an educational establishment; or
(b) a qualifying course;
“student loan” means a loan towards a student's maintenance pursuant to any regulations made under
section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, section 73 of the Education (Scotland)
Act 1980 or Article 3 of the Education (Student Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998 and includes,
in Scotland, a young student's bursary paid under regulation 4(1)(c) of the Students’ Allowances
(Scotland) Regulations 2007.
(2) For the purposes of the definition of “full-time student” in sub-paragraph (1), a person must be
regarded as attending or, as the case may be, undertaking a full-time course of study or as being
on a sandwich course—
(a) subject to sub-paragraph (3), in the case of a person attending or undertaking a part of a modular
course which would be a full-time course of study for the purposes of this Part, for the period
beginning on the day on which that part of the course starts and ending—
(i) on the last day on which he is registered with the educational establishment as attending or
undertaking that part as a full-time course of study; or
(ii) on such earlier date (if any) as he finally abandons the course or is dismissed from it;
(b) in any other case, throughout the period beginning on the date on which he starts attending or
undertaking the course and ending on the last day of the course or on such earlier date (if any) as
he finally abandons it or is dismissed from it.
(3) For the purposes of paragraph (a) of sub-paragraph (2), the period referred to in that paragraph
includes—
(a) where a person has failed examinations or has failed successfully to complete a module
relating to a period when he was attending or undertaking a part of the course as a full-time
course of study, any period in respect of which he attends or undertakes the course for the
purpose of retaking those examinations or that module;
(b) any period of vacation within the period specified in that paragraph or immediately following
that period except where the person has registered with the educational establishment to
attend or undertake the final module in the course and the vacation immediately follows the
last day on which he is required to attend or undertake the course.
(4) In sub-paragraph (2), “modular course” means a course of study which consists of two or more
modules, the successful completion of a specified number of which is required before a person is
considered by the educational establishment to have completed the course.
74.0 Treatment of students
This scheme has effect in relation to students who are not pensioners subject to the following provisions
of this Part.
75.0 Students who are excluded from entitlement to a reduction under this scheme
(1) The students who are excluded from entitlement to a reduction under this scheme are, subject to

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 234

84

sub-paragraphs (2) and (7)—
(a) full-time students, and
(b) students who are persons treated as not being in Great Britain.
(2) Sub-paragraph (1)(b) does not apply to a student—
(a) who is a person on income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an incomerelated employment and support allowance;
(b) who is a lone parent;
(c) whose applicable amount would, but for this paragraph, include the disability premium or
severe disability premium;
(d) whose applicable amount would include the disability premium but for his being treated as
capable of work by virtue of a determination made in accordance with regulations made under
section 171E of the SSCBA;
(e) who is, or is treated as, incapable of work and has been so incapable, or has been so treated
as incapable, of work in accordance with the provisions of, and regulations made under, Part
12A of the SSCBA (incapacity for work) for a continuous period of not less than 196 days; and
for this purpose any two or more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 56
days must be treated as one continuous period;
(f) who has, or is treated as having, limited capability for work and has had, or been treated as
having, limited capability for work in accordance with the Employment and Support Allowance
Regulations 2008 or 2013 as appropriate for a continuous period of not less than 196 days,
and for this purpose any two or more separate periods separated by a break of not more than
84 days must be treated as one continuous period;
(g) who has a partner who is also a full-time student, if he or that partner is treated as responsible
for a child or young person;
(h) who is a single applicant with whom a child is placed by a local authority or voluntary
organisation within the meaning of the Children Act 1989 or, in Scotland, boarded out within
the meaning of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968;
(i) who is—
(i) aged under 21 and whose course of study is not a course of higher education,
(ii) aged 21 and attained that age during a course of study which is not a course of higher
education, or
(iii) a qualifying young person or child within the meaning of section 142 of the SSCBA (child
and qualifying young person);
(j) in respect of whom—
(i) a supplementary requirement has been determined under paragraph 9 of Part 2 of
Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003;
(ii) an allowance, or as the case may be, bursary has been granted which includes a sum
under paragraph (1)(d) of regulation 4 of the Students’ Allowances (Scotland)
Regulations 1999 or, as the case may be, under paragraph (1)(d) of regulation 4 of the
Education Authority (Bursaries) (Scotland) Regulations 1995, in respect of expenses
incurred;
(iii) a payment has been made under or by virtue of regulations made under the Teaching
and Higher Education Act 1998;
(iv) a grant has been made under regulation 13 of the Education (Student Support)
Regulations 2005 or under regulation 13 of the Education (Student Support) Regulations
(Northern Ireland) 2000; or
(v) a supplementary requirement has been determined under paragraph 9 of Schedule 6 to
the Students Awards Regulations (Northern Ireland) 1999 or a payment has been made
under Article 50(3) of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) Order 1986,
on account of his disability by reason of deafness.
(3) Sub-paragraph (2)(i)(ii) only applies to an applicant until the end of the course during which the
applicant attained the age of 21.
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), once sub-paragraph (2)(e) applies to a full-time student, if he
then ceases, for a period of 56 days or less, to be incapable, or to be treated as incapable, of work,

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 235

85

that sub-paragraph must, on his again becoming so incapable, or so treated as incapable, of work at
the end of that period, immediately thereafter apply to him for so long as he remains incapable or
is treated as remaining incapable, of work.
(5) In sub-paragraph (2)(i) the reference to a course of higher education is a reference to a course of
any description mentioned in Schedule 6 to the Education Reform Act 1988.
(6) A full-time student to whom sub-paragraph (2)(i) applies must be treated as satisfying that subparagraph from the date on which he made a request for the supplementary requirement,
allowance, bursary or payment as the case may be.
(7) Sub-paragraph (1)(b) does not apply to a full-time student for the period specified in sub-paragraph
(8) if—
(a) at any time during an academic year, with the consent of the relevant educational
establishment, he ceases to attend or undertake a course because he is—
(i) engaged in caring for another person; or
(ii) ill;
(b) he has subsequently ceased to be engaged in caring for that person or, as the case may be, he
has subsequently recovered from that illness; and
(c) he is not eligible for a grant or a student loan in respect of the period specified in sub-paragraph
(8).
(8) The period specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (7) is the period, not exceeding one year,
beginning on the day on which he ceased to be engaged in caring for that person or, as the case may
be, the day on which he recovered from that illness and ending on the day before—
(a) the day on which he resumes attending or undertaking the course; or
(b) the day from which the relevant educational establishment has agreed that he may resume
attending or undertaking the course,
whichever first occurs.
76.0 Calculation of grant income
(1) The amount of a student's grant income to be taken into account in assessing his income must,
subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), be the whole of his grant income.
(2) There must be excluded from a student's grant income any payment—
(a) intended to meet tuition fees or examination fees;
(b) in respect of the student's disability;
(c) intended to meet additional expenditure connected with term time residential study away
from the student's educational establishment;
(d) on account of the student maintaining a home at a place other than that at which he resides
during his course;
(e) on account of any other person but only if that person is residing outside the United Kingdom
and there is no applicable amount in respect of him;
(f) intended to meet the cost of books and equipment;
(g) intended to meet travel expenses incurred as a result of his attendance on the course;
(h) intended for the child care costs of a child dependant;
(i) of higher education bursary for care leavers made under Part 3 of the Children Act 1989.
(3) Where a student does not have a student loan and is not treated as possessing such a loan, there
must be excluded from the student's grant income—
(a) the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and
(b) the sum of £390 per academic year towards the costs of books and equipment,
whether or not any such costs are incurred.
(4) There must also be excluded from a student's grant income the grant for dependants known as the
parents’ learning allowance paid pursuant to regulations made under Article 3 of the Education

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 236

86

(Student Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998 or section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education
Act 1998.
(5) Subject to sub-paragraphs (6) and (7), a student's grant income must be apportioned—
(a) subject to sub-paragraph (8), in a case where it is attributable to the period of study, equally
between the weeks in that period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of which
coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the period of study and ending with the
reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last day of
the period of study;
(b) in any other case, equally between the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction week,
the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the period for
which it is payable and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with,
or immediately precedes, the last day of the period for which it is payable.
(6) Any grant in respect of dependants paid under section 63(6) of the Health Services and Public Health
Act 1968 (grants in respect of the provision of instruction to officers of hospital authorities) and any
amount intended for the maintenance of dependants under Part 3 of Schedule 2 to the Education
(Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003 must be apportioned equally over the period of 52 weeks or,
if there are 53 reduction weeks (including part-weeks) in the year, 53.
(7) In a case where a student is in receipt of a student loan or where he could have acquired a student
loan by taking reasonable steps but had not done so, any amount intended for the maintenance of
dependants to which neither sub-paragraph (6) nor paragraph 80(2) (other amounts to be
disregarded) applies, must be apportioned over the same period as the student's loan is apportioned
or, as the case may be, would have been apportioned.
(8) In the case of a student on a sandwich course, any periods of experience within the period of study
must be excluded and the student's grant income must be apportioned equally between the weeks
in the period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of which immediately follows the last
day of the period of experience and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides
with, or immediately precedes, the last day of the period of study.
77.0 Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed
(1) Where a student is in receipt of income by way of a grant during a period of study and a contribution
has been assessed, the amount of his covenant income to be taken into account for that period and
any summer vacation immediately following must be the whole amount of the covenant income
less, subject to sub-paragraph (3), the amount of the contribution.
(2) The weekly amount of the student's covenant must be determined—
(a) by dividing the amount of income which falls to be taken into account under sub-paragraph
(1) by 52 or 53, whichever is reasonable in the circumstances; and
(b) by disregarding £5 from the resulting amount.
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the contribution must be treated as increased by the amount
(if any) by which the amount excluded under paragraph 76(2)(g) falls short of the amount specified
in paragraph 7(2) of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003 (travel
expenditure).
78.0 Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed
(1) Where a student is not in receipt of income by way of a grant the amount of his covenant income
must be calculated as follows—
(a) any sums intended for any expenditure specified in paragraph 76(2)(a) to (e) necessary as a
result of his attendance on the course must be disregarded;
(b) any covenant income, up to the amount of the standard maintenance grant, which is not so
disregarded, must be apportioned equally between the weeks of the period of study;

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 237

87

(c) there must be disregarded from the amount so apportioned the amount which would have
been disregarded under paragraph 76(2)(f) and (3) had the student been in receipt of the
standard maintenance grant; and
(d) the balance, if any, must be divided by 52 or 53 whichever is reasonable in the circumstances
and treated as weekly income of which £5 must be disregarded.
(2) Where a student is in receipt of income by way of a grant and no contribution has been assessed,
the amount of his covenanted income must be calculated in accordance with paragraphs (a) to (d)
of sub-paragraph (1), except that—
(a) the value of the standard maintenance grant must be abated by the amount of such grant
income less an amount equal to the amount of any sums disregarded under paragraph 76(2)(a)
to (e); and
(b) the amount to be disregarded under sub-paragraph (1)(c) must be abated by an amount equal
to the amount of any sums disregarded under paragraph 76(2)(f) and (g) and (3).
79.0 Relationship with amounts to be disregarded under Schedule 8
No part of a student's covenant income or grant income is to be disregarded under paragraph 19 of Schedule
8 (disregard of certain charitable and voluntary, etc., payments).
80.0 Other amounts to be disregarded
(1) For the purposes of ascertaining income other than grant income, covenant income and loans
treated as income in accordance with paragraph 81 (treatment of student loans), any amounts
intended for any expenditure specified in paragraph 76(2) (calculation of grant income), necessary
as a result of his attendance on the course must be disregarded.
(2) But sub-paragraph (1) applies only if, and to the extent that, the necessary expenditure exceeds or
is likely to exceed the amount of the sums disregarded under paragraph 76(2) or (3), 77(3), 78(1)(a)
or (c) or 81(5) (calculation of grant income, covenant income and treatment of student loans) on
like expenditure.
81.0 Treatment of student loans
(1) A student loan is to be treated as income.
(2) In calculating the weekly amount of the loan to be taken into account as income—
(a) in respect of a course that is of a single academic year's duration or less, a loan which is payable
in respect of that period is to be apportioned equally between the weeks in the period
beginning with—
(i) except in a case where sub-paragraph (ii) applies, the reduction week, the first day of
which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the single academic year;
(ii) where the student is required to start attending the course in August or where the
course is less than an academic year's duration, the reduction week, the first day of
which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the course,
and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately
precedes, the last day of the course;
(b) in respect of an academic year of a course which starts other than on 1st September, a loan
which is payable in respect of that academic year is to be apportioned equally between the
weeks in the period—
(i) beginning with the reduction week, the first day of which coincides with or immediately
follows, the first day of that academic year, and
(ii) ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with or immediately
precedes, the last day of that academic year,
but excluding any reduction weeks falling entirely within the quarter during which, in the opinion
of the authority, the longest of any vacation is taken and for the purposes of this paragraph,
“quarter” has the same meaning as for the purposes of the Education (Student Support)

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 238

88

Regulations 2005;
(c) in respect of the final academic year of a course (not being a course of a single year's duration),
a loan which is payable in respect of that final academic year is to be apportioned equally
between the weeks in the period beginning with—
(i) except in a case where sub-paragraph (ii) applies, the reduction week, the first day of
which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of that academic year;
(ii) where the final academic year starts on 1st September, the reduction week, the first day
of which coincides with, or immediately follows, the earlier of 1st September or the first day
of the autumn term,
and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately
precedes, the last day of the course;
(d) in any other case, the loan is to be apportioned equally between the weeks in the period
beginning with the earlier of—
(i) the first day of the first reduction week in September; or
(ii) the reduction week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows the
first day of the autumn term,
and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately
precedes, the last day of June,
and, in all cases, from the weekly amount so apportioned £10 is to be disregarded.
(3) A student is to be treated as possessing a student loan in respect of an academic year where—
(a) a student loan has been made to him in respect of that year; or
(b) he could acquire such a loan in respect of that year by taking reasonable steps to do so.
(4) Where a student is treated as possessing a student loan under sub-paragraph (3), the amount of the
student loan to be taken into account as income must be, subject to sub-paragraph (5)—
(a) in the case of a student to whom a student loan is made in respect of an academic year, a sum
equal to—
(i) the maximum student loan he is able to acquire in respect of that year by taking
reasonable steps to do so; and
(ii) any contribution whether or not it has been paid to him;
(b) in the case of a student to whom a student loan is not made in respect of an academic year,
the maximum student loan that would be made to the student if—
(i) he took all reasonable steps to obtain the maximum student loan he is able to acquire in
respect of that year; and
(ii) no deduction in that loan was made by virtue of the application of a means test.
(5) There must be deducted from the amount of income taken into account under sub-paragraph (4)—
(a) the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and
(b) the sum of £390 per academic year towards the cost of books and equipment,
whether or not any such costs are incurred.
(6) A loan for fees, known as a fee loan or a fee contribution loan, made pursuant to regulations made
under Article 3 of the Education (Student Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998, section 22 of the
Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998 or section 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, shall
be disregarded as income.
82.0 Treatment of payments from access funds
(1) This paragraph applies to payments from access funds that are not payments to which paragraph
85(2) or (3) (income treated as capital) applies.
(2) A payment from access funds, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (3) applies, must be

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 239

89

disregarded as income.
(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4) of this paragraph and paragraph 40 of Schedule 8 (disregards in the
calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners)—
(a) any payments from access funds which are intended and used for an item of food, ordinary
clothing or footwear, household fuel, or rent of a single applicant or, as the case may be, of
the applicant or any other member of his family, and
(b) any payments from access funds which are used for any council tax or water charges for which
that applicant or member is liable,
must be disregarded as income to the extent of £20 per week.
(4) Where a payment from access funds is made—
(a) on or after 1st September or the first day of the course, whichever first occurs, but before
receipt of any student loan in respect of that year and that payment is intended for the
purpose of bridging the period until receipt of the student loan; or
(b) before the first day of the course to a person in anticipation of that person becoming a student,
that payment must be disregarded as income.
83.0 Disregard of contribution
Where the applicant or his partner is a student and, for the purposes of assessing a contribution to the
student's grant or student loan, the other partner's income has been taken into account, an amount equal
to that contribution must be disregarded for the purposes of assessing that other partner's income.
84.0 Further disregard of student's income
Where any part of a student's income has already been taken into account for the purposes of assessing
his entitlement to a grant or student loan, the amount taken into account must be disregarded in
assessing that student's income.
85.0 Income treated as capital
(1) Any amount by way of a refund of tax deducted from a student's covenant income must be treated
as capital.
(2) An amount paid from access funds as a single lump sum must be treated as capital.
(3) An amount paid from access funds as a single lump sum which is intended and used for an item other
than food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent, or which is used for an item other
than any council tax or water charges for which that applicant or member is liable, must be
disregarded as capital but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the payment.
86.0

Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation
In calculating a student's income the authority must disregard any change in the standard maintenance
grant, occurring in the recognised summer vacation appropriate to the student's course, if that vacation
does not form part of his period of study from the date on which the change occurred to the end of that
vacation.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 240

90

EXTENDED REDUCTIONS

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 241

91

Extended reductions: pensioners
87.0 Extended reductions: pensioners
Paragraphs 88 to 93 apply in relation to applicants who are pensioners.
88.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners
(1) Except in the case of an applicant who is in receipt of state pension credit, an applicant who is
entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of falling within any of classes A to C is entitled
to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) where—
(a) the applicant or the applicant's partner was entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit;
(b) entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased because the applicant or the
applicant's partner—
(i) commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner;
(ii) increased their earnings from such employment; or
(iii) increased the number of hours worked in such employment,
and that employment is or, as the case may be, those increased earnings or increased number
of hours are expected to last five weeks or more;
(c) the applicant or the applicant's partner had been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying
contributory benefit or a combination of qualifying contributory benefits for a continuous
period of at least 26 weeks before the day on which the entitlement to a qualifying
contributory benefit ceased; and
(d) the applicant or the applicant's partner was not entitled to and not in receipt of a qualifying
income-related benefit in the last reduction week in which the applicant, or the applicant's
partner, was entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit.
(2) An applicant must be treated as entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of falling within
any of classes A to C where—
(a) the applicant ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme because the applicant
vacated the dwelling in which the applicant was resident;
(b) the day on which the applicant vacated the dwelling was either in the week in which
entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased, or in the preceding week; and
(c) entitlement to the qualifying contributory benefit ceased in any of the circumstances listed in
sub-paragraph (1)(b).
89.0 Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners
(1) Where an applicant is entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits), the
extended reduction period starts on the first day of the reduction week immediately following the
reduction week in which the applicant, or the applicant's partner, ceased to be entitled to a
qualifying contributory benefit.
(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant or an applicant's partner ceases to be entitled to
a qualifying contributory benefit on the day immediately following the last day of entitlement to
that benefit.
(3) The extended reduction period ends—
(a) at the end of a period of four weeks; or
(b) on the date on which the applicant who is receiving the extended reduction (qualifying
contributory benefits) has no liability for council tax, if that occurs first.
90.0 Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners
(1) For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended reduction
(qualifying contributory benefits) the applicant is entitled to is the greater of—

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 242

92

(a) the amount of council tax reduction to which the applicant was entitled by virtue of falling
within any of classes A to C in the last reduction week before the applicant or the applicant's
partner ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit;
(b) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would be entitled under by
virtue of falling within any of classes A to C for any reduction week during the extended
reduction period, if paragraph 88 (extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits):
pensioners) did not apply to the applicant; or
(c) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant's partner would be entitled
by virtue of falling within any of classes A to C, if paragraph 88 did not apply to the applicant.
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in the case of a mover.
(3) Where an applicant is in receipt of an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) under
this paragraph and the applicant's partner makes an application for a reduction under this scheme,
the authority must not award a reduction in pursuance of that application during the extended
reduction period.
91.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)—movers: pensioners
(1) This paragraph applies—
(a) to a mover; and
(b) from the Monday following the day of the move.
(2) The amount of the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) awarded from the Monday
from which this paragraph applies until the end of the extended reduction period is to be the
amount of reduction under this scheme which was payable to the mover for the last reduction week
before the mover, or the mover's partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit.
(3) Where a mover's liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to a second authority,
the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) may take the form of a payment from this
authority to—
(a) the second authority; or
(b) the mover directly.
92.0 Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement to a reduction by virtue of classes A to C
(1) Where an applicant's reduction under this scheme would have ended when the applicant ceased to
be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit in the circumstances listed in paragraph 88(1)(b),
that reduction does not cease to have effect until the end of the extended reduction period.
(2) Part 13 (when entitlement begins and change of circumstances) does not apply to any extended
reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) payable in accordance with paragraph 90(1)(a) or
paragraph 91(2) (amount of extended reduction — movers: pensioners).
93.0 Continuing reductions where state pension credit claimed: pensioners
(1) This paragraph applies where—
(a) the applicant is entitled to a reduction under this scheme;
(b) sub-paragraph (2) is satisfied; and
(c) either—
(i) the applicant has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or, if his entitlement
to income-based jobseeker's allowance; or
(ii) the applicant's partner has actually claimed state pension credit.
(2) This sub-paragraph is only satisfied if the Secretary of State has certified to the authority that the
applicant's partner has actually claimed state pension credit or that—

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 243

93

(a) the applicant's award of—
(i) income support has terminated because the applicant has attained the qualifying age for
state pension credit; or
(ii) income-based jobseeker's allowance or income-related employment and support
allowance has terminated because the applicant has attained the qualifying age for state
pension credit; and
(b) the applicant has claimed or is treated as having claimed or is required to make a claim for
state pension credit.
(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), in a case to which this paragraph applies, a person continues to be
entitled to a reduction under this scheme for the period of 4 weeks beginning on the day following
the day the applicant's entitlement to income support or, as the case may be, income-based
jobseeker's allowance, income-related employment and support allowance, ceased, if and for so
long as the applicant otherwise satisfies the conditions for entitlement to a reduction under this
scheme.
(4) Where a reduction under this scheme is awarded for the period of 4 weeks in accordance with subparagraph (3) above, and the last day of that period falls on a day other than the last day of a
reduction week, then a reduction under this scheme must continue to be awarded until the end of
the reduction week in which the last day of that period falls.
(5) Throughout the period of 4 weeks specified in sub-paragraph (3) and any further period specified in
sub-paragraph (4)—
(a) the whole of the income and capital of the applicant is to be disregarded;
(b) the maximum council tax reduction amount of the applicant is to be that which was applicable
in his case immediately before that period commenced.
(6) The maximum reduction is to be calculated in accordance with paragraph 29(1) if, since the date it
was last calculated—
(a) the applicant's council tax liability has increased; or
(b) a change in the deduction under paragraph 30 falls to be made.
Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners
94.0 Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners
Paragraphs 95 to 104 apply in relation to applicants who are not pensioners.
95.0 Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners
(1) An applicant who is entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of falling within any of classes
D to F is entitled to an extended reduction where—
(a) the applicant or the applicant's partner was entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit;
(b) entitlement to a qualifying income-related benefit ceased because the applicant or the
applicant's partner—
(i) commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner;
(ii) increased their earnings from such employment; or
(iii) increased the number of hours worked in such employment,
and that employment is or, as the case may be, those increased earnings or increased
number of hours are expected to last five weeks or more; and
(c) the applicant or the applicant's partner had been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying
income-related benefit, jobseeker's allowance or a combination of those benefits for a
continuous period of at least 26 weeks before the day on which the entitlement to a qualifying
income-related benefit ceased.
(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1)(c), an applicant or an applicant's partner is to be treated as
having been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying income-related benefit or jobseeker's

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 244

94

allowance during any period of less than five weeks in respect of which the applicant or the
applicant's partner was not entitled to any of those benefits because the applicant or the applicant's
partner was engaged in remunerative work as a consequence of their participation in an
employment zone programme.
(3) For the purpose of this paragraph, where an applicant or an applicant's partner is entitled to and in
receipt of joint-claim jobseeker's allowance they must be treated as being entitled to and in receipt
of jobseeker's allowance.
(4) An applicant must be treated as entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of falling within
any of classes D to F where—
(a) the applicant ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme because the applicant
vacated the dwelling in which the applicant was resident;
(b) the day on which the applicant vacated the dwelling was either in the week in which
entitlement to a qualifying income-related benefit ceased, or in the preceding week; and
(c) entitlement to the qualifying income-related benefit ceased in any of the circumstances listed
in sub-paragraph (1)(b).
(5) This paragraph does not apply where, on the day before an applicant's entitlement to income
support ceased, regulation 6(5) of the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987 (remunerative
work: housing costs) applied to that applicant.
96.0 Duration of extended reduction period: persons who are not pensioners
(1) Where an applicant is entitled to an extended reduction, the extended reduction period starts on
the first day of the reduction week immediately following the reduction week in which the applicant,
or the applicant's partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit.
(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant or an applicant's partner ceases to be entitled to
a qualifying income-related benefit on the day immediately following the last day of entitlement to
that benefit.
(3) The extended reduction period ends—
(a) at the end of a period of four weeks; or
(b) on the date on which the applicant to whom the extended reduction is payable has no liability
for council tax, if that occurs first.
97.0 Amount of extended reduction: persons who are not pensioners
(1) For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended reduction to which
an applicant is entitled is to be the higher of—
(a) the amount of the reduction under this scheme to which the applicant was entitled by virtue
of falling within any of classes D to F in the last reduction week before the applicant or the
applicant's partner ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit;
(b) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would be entitled by virtue
of falling within any of classes D to F for any reduction week during the extended reduction
period, if paragraph 95 (extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners) did not apply
to the applicant; or
(c) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant's partner would be entitled
by virtue of falling within any of classes D to F, if paragraph 95 did not apply to the applicant.
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in the case of a mover.
(3) Where an applicant is in receipt of an extended reduction under this paragraph and the applicant's
partner makes an application for a reduction under this scheme, no amount of reduction under this
scheme is to be awarded by the authority during the extended reduction period.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 245

95

98.0 Extended reductions—movers: persons who are not pensioners
(1) This paragraph applies—
(a) to a mover; and
(b) from the Monday following the day of the move.
(2) The amount of the extended reduction awarded from the Monday from which this paragraph applies
until the end of the extended reduction period is to be the amount of reduction under this scheme
to which the mover would have been entitled had they, or their partner, not ceased to be entitled
to a qualifying income-related benefit.
(3) Where a mover's liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to a second authority,
the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) may take the form of a payment from this
authority to—
(a) the second authority; or
(b) the mover directly.
99.0 Relationship between extended reduction and entitlement to a reduction by virtue of classes D to F
(1) Where an applicant's entitlement to a reduction under this scheme would have ended when the
applicant ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit in the circumstances listed in
paragraph 95(1)(b), that entitlement does not cease until the end of the extended reduction period.
(2) Paragraphs 106 and 107 do not apply to any extended reduction payable in accordance with
paragraph 95(1)(a) or 98(2) (amount of extended reduction—movers: persons who are not
pensioners).
100.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not pensioners
(1) An applicant who is entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of falling within any of classes
D to F is entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) where—
(a) the applicant or the applicant's partner was entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit;
(b) entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased because the applicant or the
applicant's partner—
(i) commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner;
(ii) increased their earnings from such employment; or
(iii) increased the number of hours worked in such employment,
and that employment is or, as the case may be, those increased earnings or increased number
of hours are expected to last five weeks or more;
(c) the applicant or the applicant's partner had been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying
contributory benefit or a combination of qualifying contributory benefits for a continuous
period of at least 26 weeks before the day on which the entitlement to a qualifying
contributory benefit ceased; and
(d) the applicant or the applicant's partner was not entitled to and not in receipt of a qualifying
income-related benefit in the last reduction week in which the applicant, or the applicant's
partner, was entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit.
(2) An applicant must be treated as entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of falling within
any of classes D to F where—
(a) the applicant ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme because the applicant
vacated the dwelling in which the applicant was resident;
(b) the day on which the applicant vacated the dwelling was either in the week in which
entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased, or in the preceding week; and
(c) entitlement to the qualifying contributory benefit ceased in any of the circumstances listed in
sub-paragraph (1)(b).

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 246

96

101.0

Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not
pensioners

(1) Where an applicant is entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits), the
extended reduction period starts on the first day of the reduction week immediately following the
reduction week in which the applicant, or the applicant's partner, ceased to be entitled to a
qualifying contributory benefit.
(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant or an applicant's partner ceases to be entitled to
a qualifying contributory benefit on the day immediately following the last day of entitlement to
that benefit.
(3) The extended reduction period ends—
(a) at the end of a period of four weeks; or
(b) on the date on which the applicant entitled to the extended reduction (qualifying contributory
benefits) has no liability for council tax, if that occurs first.
102.0

Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not pensioners

(1) For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended reduction
(qualifying contributory benefits) payable to an applicant is to be the greater of—
(a) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant was entitled by virtue of
falling within any of classes D to F in the last reduction week before the applicant or the
applicant's partner ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit;
(b) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would be entitled by virtue
of falling within any of classes D to F for any reduction week during the extended reduction
period, if paragraph 100 (extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who
are not pensioners) did not apply to the applicant; or
(c) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant's partner would be entitled
by virtue of falling within any of classes D to F, if paragraph 100 did not apply to the applicant.
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in the case of a mover.
(3) Where an applicant is in receipt of an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) under
this paragraph and the applicant's partner makes an application for a reduction under this scheme,
no amount of reduction may be allowed by the appropriate authority during the extended reduction
period.
103.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)—movers: persons who are not pensioners
(1) This paragraph applies—
(a) to a mover; and
(b) from the Monday following the day of the move.
(2) The amount of the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefit) payable from the Monday
from which this paragraph applies until the end of the extended reduction period is to be the
amount of reduction under this scheme which was awarded to the mover for the last reduction
week before the mover, or the mover's partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory
benefit.
(3) Where a mover's liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to a second authority,
the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) may take the form of a payment from this
authority to—
(a) the second authority; or
(b) the mover directly.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 247

97

104.0

Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement to
reduction by virtue of classes D to F

(1) Where an applicant's reduction under this scheme would have ended when the applicant ceased to
be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit in the circumstances listed in paragraph 100(1)(b),
that reduction does not cease until the end of the extended reduction period.
(2) Paragraphs 106 and 107 (dates on which entitlement begins and change of circumstances take
effect) do not apply to any extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) payable in
accordance with paragraph 102(1)(a) or 103(2) (amount of extended reduction—movers: persons
who a re not pensioners).
Extended reductions: movers in the authority's area
105.0 Extended reductions: applicant moving into the authority's area
Where—
(a) an application is made to the authority (“the current authority”) for a reduction under this
scheme, and
(b) the applicant, or the partner of the applicant, is in receipt of an extended reduction from—
(i) another billing authority in England; or
(ii) a billing authority in Wales,
the current authority must reduce any reduction to which the applicant is entitled under this scheme by
the amount of that extended reduction.
106.0 Date on which entitlement begins
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any person by whom or in respect of whom an application for a
reduction under this scheme is made and who is otherwise entitled to that reduction is so entitled
from the reduction week following the date on which that application is made or is treated as made.
(2) Where a person is otherwise entitled to a reduction under this scheme and becomes liable for the
first time for the authority's council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident in the
reduction week in which his application is made or is treated as made, he is so entitled from that
reduction week.
107.0 Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect
(1) Except in cases where paragraph 60 (disregard of changes in tax, contributions, etc.) applies and
subject to the following provisions of this paragraph and (in the case of applicants who are
pensioners) paragraph 108 (change of circumstance where state pension credit in payment), a
change of circumstances which affects entitlement to, or the amount of, a reduction under this
scheme (“change of circumstances”), takes effect from the first day of the reduction week following
the date on which the change actually occurs.
(2) Where that change is cessation of entitlement to any benefit under the benefit Acts, the date on
which the change actually occurs is the day immediately following the last day of entitlement to that
benefit.
(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), where the change of circumstances is a change in the amount of
council tax payable, it takes effect from the day on which it actually occurs.
(4) Where the change of circumstances is a change in the amount a person is liable to pay in respect of
council tax in consequence of regulations under section 13 of the 1992 Act (reduced amounts of
council tax) or changes in the discount to which a dwelling may be subject under section 11 or 11A
of that Act (discounts), it takes effect from the day on which the change in amount has effect.
(5) Where the change of circumstances is the applicant's acquisition of a partner, the change takes

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 248

98

effect on the day on which the acquisition takes place.
(6) Where the change of circumstances is the death of an applicant's partner or their separation, it takes
effect on the day the death or separation occurs.
(7) If two or more changes of circumstances occurring in the same reduction week would, but for this
paragraph, take effect in different reduction weeks in accordance with sub-paragraphs (1) to (6)
they take effect from the day to which the appropriate sub-paragraph from (3) to (6) above refers,
or, where more than one day is concerned, from the earlier day.
(8) Where the change of circumstances is that income, or an increase in the amount of income, other
than a benefit or an increase in the amount of a benefit under the SSCBA, is paid in respect of a past
period and there was no entitlement to income of that amount during that period, the change of
circumstances takes effect from the first day on which such income, had it been paid in that period
at intervals appropriate to that income, would have fallen to be taken into account for the purposes
of this scheme.
(9) Without prejudice to sub-paragraph (8), where the change of circumstances is the payment of
income, or arrears of income, in respect of a past period, the change of circumstances takes effect
from the first day on which such income, had it been timeously paid in that period at intervals
appropriate to that income, would have fallen to be taken into account for the purposes of this
scheme.
(10) Sub-paragraph (11) applies if—
(a) not used
(b) either—
(i) a non-dependant took up residence in the applicant's dwelling; or
(ii) there has been a change of circumstances in respect of a non-dependant so that the
amount of the deduction which falls to be made under paragraph 30 increased.
(11) Where this sub-paragraph applies, the change of circumstances referred to in sub-paragraph
(10)(b) takes effect from the effective date.
(12) In sub-paragraph (11), but subject to sub-paragraph (13), “the effective date” means
(a) where more than one change of a kind referred to in sub-paragraph (10)(b) relating to the
same non-dependant has occurred since—
(i) the date on which the applicant's entitlement to a reduction under this scheme first
began; or
(ii) the date which was the last effective date in respect of such a change,
whichever is the later, the date which falls 26 weeks after the date on which the first such
change occurred;
(b) where paragraph (a) does not apply, the date which falls 26 weeks after the date on which the
change referred to in sub-paragraph (10)(b) occurred.
(13) If in any particular case the date determined under sub-paragraph (12) is not the first day of a
reduction week, the effective date in that case is to be the first day of the next reduction week to
commence after the date determined under that sub-paragraph.
108.0 Change of circumstances where state pension credit in payment
(1) Sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) apply where—
(a) the applicant is in receipt of state pension credit;
(b) the amount of state pension credit awarded to him is changed in consequence of a change in
the applicant's circumstances or the correction of an official error; and
(c) the change in the amount of state pension credit payable to the applicant results in a change
in the amount of a reduction he receives under this scheme.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 249

99

(2) Where the change of circumstance is that an increase in the amount of state pension credit payable
to the applicant results in—
(a) an increase in the reduction he receives under this scheme, the change takes effect from the
first day of the reduction week in which state pension credit becomes payable at the increased
rate; or
(b) a decrease in the reduction he receives under this scheme, the change takes effect from the
first day of the reduction week next following the date on which—
(i) the local authority receives notification from the Secretary of State of the increase in the
amount of state pension credit; or
(ii) state pension credit is increased,
whichever is the later.
(3) Where the change of circumstance (“the relevant change”) is that the applicant's state pension credit
has been reduced and in consequence the reduction the applicant receives under this scheme
reduces—
(a) in a case where the applicant's state pension credit has been reduced because the applicant
failed to notify the Secretary of State timeously of a change of circumstances, the relevant
change takes effect from the first day of the reduction week from which state pension credit
was reduced; or
(b) in any other case the relevant change takes effect from the first day of the reduction week
next following the date on which—
(i) the authority receives notification from the Secretary of State of the reduction in the
amount of state pension credit; or
(ii) state pension credit is reduced,
whichever is the later.
(4) Where the change of circumstance is that state pension credit is reduced and in consequence of the
change, the amount of a reduction he receives under this scheme is increased, the change takes
effect from the first day of the reduction week in which state pension credit becomes payable at the
reduced rate.
(5) Where a change of circumstance occurs in that an award of state pension credit has been made to
the applicant or his partner and this would result in a decrease in the amount of reduction he
receives under this scheme, the change takes effect from the first day of the reduction week next
following the date on which—
(a) the authority receives notification from the Secretary of State of the award of state pension
credit; or
(b) entitlement to state pension credit begins,
whichever is the later.
(6) Where, in the case of an applicant who, or whose partner, is or has been awarded state pension
credit comprising only the savings credit, there is—
(a) a change of circumstances of a kind described in any of sub-paragraphs (2) to (5) which results
from a relevant calculation or estimate; and
(b) a change of circumstances which is a relevant determination,
each of which results in a change in the amount of reduction the applicant receives under this
scheme, the change of circumstances referred to in sub-paragraph (b) takes effect from the day
specified in sub-paragraph (2), (3), (4) or (5) as the case may be, in relation to the change referred
to in paragraph (a).
(7) Where a change of circumstance occurs in that a guarantee credit has been awarded to the applicant
or his partner and this would result in an increase in the amount of a reduction the applicant receives
under this scheme, the change takes effect from the first day of the reduction week next following
the date in respect of which the guarantee credit is first payable.
(8) Where a change of circumstances would, but for this sub-paragraph, take effect under the preceding

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 250

100

provisions of this paragraph within the 4 week period specified in paragraph 93 (continuing
reductions where state pension credit claimed), that change takes effect on the first day of the first
reduction week to commence after the expiry of the 4 week period.
(9) In this paragraph—
“official error” means an error made by
(a) the authority or a person—
(i) authorised to carry out any function of the authority relating to this scheme; or
(ii) providing services relating to this scheme directly or indirectly to the authority; or
(b) an officer of—
(i) the Department for Work and Pensions; or
(ii) the Commissioners of Inland Revenue,
acting as such,
but excludes any error caused wholly or partly by any person or body not specified in paragraph (a) or
(b) of this definition and any error of law which is shown to have been an error only by virtue of a
subsequent decision of the court;
“relevant calculation or estimate” means the calculation or estimate made by the Secretary of State of
the applicant's or, as the case may be, the applicant's partner's income and capital for the purposes
of the award of state pension credit;
“relevant determination” means a change in the determination by the authority of the applicant's
income and capital using the relevant calculation or estimate, in accordance with paragraph 36(1).
109.0 Making an application
(1) In the case of—
(a) a couple or (subject to paragraph (b)) members of a polygamous marriage an application is to
be made by whichever one of them they agree should so apply or, in default of agreement, by
such one of them as the authority determines; or
(b) in the case of members of a polygamous marriage to whom paragraph 37 (income and capital:
award of universal credit) applies, an application is to be made by whichever one of the parties
to the earliest marriage that still subsists they agree should so apply or, in default of
agreement, by such one of them as the authority determines.
(2) Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is unable for the time being
to act, and—
(a) a deputy has been appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as the case
may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or
(b) in Scotland, his estate is being administered by a judicial factor or any guardian acting or
appointed under the Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 who has power to apply or, as
the case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or
(c) an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may be, receive benefit,
has been appointed by that person under the Powers of Attorney Act 1971, the Enduring
Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise,
that deputy, judicial factor, guardian or attorney, as the case may be, may make an application on
behalf of that person.
(3) Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is unable for the time being
to act and sub-paragraph (2) does not apply to him, the authority may, upon written application
made to them by a person who, if a natural person, is over the age of 18, appoint that person to
exercise on behalf of the person who is unable to act, any right to which that person might be
entitled under this scheme and to receive and deal on his behalf with any sums payable to him.
(4) Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is for the time being unable
to act and the Secretary of State has appointed a person to act on his behalf under regulation 33 of

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 251

101

the Social Security (Claims and Payments) Regulations 1987 (persons unable to act), the authority
may if that person agrees, treat him as if he had been appointed by them under sub-paragraph (3).
(5) Where the authority has made an appointment under sub-paragraph (3) or treated a person as an
appointee under sub-paragraph (4)—
(a) it may at any time revoke the appointment;
(b) the person appointed may resign his office after having given 4 weeks notice in writing to the
authority of his intention to do so;
(c) any such appointment must terminate when the authority is notified of the appointment of a
person mentioned in sub-paragraph (2).
(6) Anything required by this scheme to be done by or to any person who is for the time being unable
to act may be done by or to the persons mentioned in sub-paragraph (2) above or by or to the person
appointed or treated as appointed under this paragraph and the receipt of any such person so
appointed shall be a good discharge to the authority for any sum paid.
(7) The authority must—
(a) inform any person making an application of the duty imposed by paragraph 115(1)(a);
(b) explain the possible consequences (including prosecution) of failing to comply with that duty;
and
(c) set out the circumstances a change in which might affect entitlement to the reduction or its
amount.
110.0 Date on which an application is made
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (7), the date on which an application is made is—
(a) in a case where—
(i) an award of state pension credit which comprises a guarantee credit has been made to
the applicant or his partner, and
(ii) the application is made within one month of the date on which the claim for that state
pension credit which comprises a guarantee credit was received at the appropriate
DWP office,
the first day of entitlement to state pension credit which comprises a guarantee credit
arising from that claim;
(b) in a case where—
(i) an applicant or his partner is a person in receipt of a guarantee credit,
(ii) the applicant becomes liable for the first time to pay council tax in respect of the
dwelling which he occupies as his home, and
(iii) the application to the authority is received at the designated office within one month
of the date of the change,
the date on which the change takes place;
(c) in a case where—
(i) an award of income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an incomerelated employment and support allowance or an award of universal credit has been
made to the applicant or his partner, and
(ii) the application is made within one month of the date on which the claim for that
income support, jobseeker's allowance, employment and support allowance or
universal credit was received,
the first day of entitlement to income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance, an
income-related employment and support allowance or universal credit arising from that claim;
(d) in a case where—
(i) an applicant or his partner is a person on income support, an income-based jobseeker's
allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance or has an award
of universal credit,
(ii) the applicant becomes liable for the first time to pay council tax in respect of the
dwelling which he occupies as his home, and
(iii) the application to the authority is received at the designated office within one month

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 252

102

of the date of the change,
the date on which the change takes place;
(e) in a case where—
(i) the applicant is the former partner of a person who was, at the date of his death or
their separation, entitled to a reduction under this scheme, and
(ii) where the applicant makes an application for a reduction under this scheme within
one month of the date of the death or the separation,
the date of the death or separation;
(f) except where paragraph (a), (b) or (e) is satisfied, in a case where a properly completed
application is received within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers
reasonable) of the date on which an application form was issued to the applicant following
the applicant first notifying, by whatever means, the authority of an intention to make an
application, the date of first notification;
(g) in any other case, the date on which the application is received at the designated office.
(2) For the purposes only of sub-paragraph (1)(c) a person who has been awarded an income-based
jobseeker's allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance is to be treated as
entitled to that allowance for any days which immediately precede the first day in that award and
on which he would, but for regulations made under—
(a) in the case of income-based jobseeker's allowance, paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to the
Jobseekers Act 1995 (waiting days); or
(b) in the case of income-related employment and support allowance, paragraph 2 of Schedule 2
to the Welfare Reform Act 2007 (waiting days),
have been entitled to that allowance.
(3) Where the defect referred to in paragraph 7 of Schedule 1 to this scheme (application by
telephone)—
(a) is corrected within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers reasonable)
of the date the authority last drew attention to it, the authority must treat the application as
if it had been duly made in the first instance;
(b) is not corrected within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers
reasonable) of the date the authority last drew attention to it, the authority must treat the
application as if it had been duly made in the first instance where it considers it has sufficient
information to decide on the application.
(4) The authority is to treat a defective application as if it had been validly made in the first instance if,
in any particular case, the conditions specified in sub-paragraph (5)(a), (b) or (c) are satisfied.
(5) The conditions are that—
(a) where paragraph 4(a) of Schedule 1 (incomplete form) applies, the authority receives at its
designated office the properly completed application or the information requested to
complete it or the evidence within one month of the request, or such longer period as the
authority may consider reasonable; or
(b) where paragraph 4(b) of Schedule 1 (application not on approved form or further information
requested by authority) applies—
(i) the approved form sent to the applicant is received at the designated office properly
completed within one month of it having been sent to him; or, as the case may be,
(ii) the applicant supplies whatever information or evidence was requested under
paragraph 4 of that Schedule within one month of the request,
or, in either case, within such longer period as the authority may consider reasonable; or
(c) where the authority has requested further information, the authority receives at its designated
office the properly completed application or the information requested to complete it within
one month of the request or within such longer period as the authority considers reasonable.
(6) Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in Great Britain, where a
person has not become liable for council tax to the authority but it is anticipated that he will become
so liable within the period of 8 weeks (the relevant period), he may apply for a reduction under this

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 253

103

scheme at any time in that period in respect of that tax and, provided that liability arises within the
relevant period, the authority is to treat the application as having been made on the day on which
the liability for the tax arises.
(7) Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in Great Britain, where
the applicant is not entitled to a reduction under this scheme in the reduction week immediately
following the date of his application but the authority is of the opinion that unless there is a change
of circumstances he will be entitled to a reduction under this scheme for a period beginning not
later than—
(a) in the case of an application made by—
(i) a pensioner, or
(ii) a person who has attained, or whose partner has attained, the age which is 17 weeks
younger than the qualifying age for state pension credit,
the seventeenth reduction week following the date on which the application is made, or
(b) in the case of an application made by a person who is not a pensioner, the thirteenth reduction
week following the date on which the application is made,
the authority may treat the application as made on a date in the reduction week immediately
preceding the first reduction week of that period of entitlement and award a reduction
accordingly.
(8) In this paragraph “appropriate DWP office” means an office of the Department for Work and
Pensions dealing with state pension credit or an office which is normally open to the public for the
receipt of claims for income support, a jobseeker's allowance or an employment and support
allowance.
111.0 Back-dating of applications: pensioners
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the time for the making of an application under this scheme by a
pensioner is as regards any day on which, apart from satisfying the condition of making an
application, the applicant is entitled to such a reduction, that day and the period of three months
immediately following it.
(2) In any case where paragraph 110(1)(a) applies, sub-paragraph (1) does not entitle a person to apply
for a reduction under this scheme in respect of any day earlier than three months before the date
on which the claim for state pension credit is made (or treated as made by virtue of any provision
of the Social Security (Claims and Payments) Regulations 1987).
112.0 Back-dating of applications: persons who are not pensioners
(1) Where an applicant who is a person who is not a pensioner—
(a) makes an application under this scheme which includes (or which he subsequently requests
should include) a period before the application is made; and
(b) from a day in that period, up to the date he made the application (or subsequently requested
that the application should include a past period), the applicant had continuous good cause
for failing to make an application (or request that the application should include that period),
the application is to be treated as made on the date determined in accordance with sub-paragraph
(2).
(2) That date is the latest of—
(a) the first day from which the applicant had continuous good cause;
(b) the day 6 months before the date the application was made;
(c) the day 6 months before the date when the applicant requested that the application should
include a past period.
113.0 Information and evidence
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), a person who makes an application for a reduction under this scheme

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 254

104

must satisfy sub-paragraph (2) in relation both to himself and to any other person in respect of
whom he is making the application.
(2) This sub-paragraph is satisfied in relation to a person if—
(a) the application is accompanied by—
(i) a statement of the person's national insurance number and information or evidence
establishing that that number has been allocated to the person; or
(ii) information or evidence enabling the authority to ascertain the national insurance
number that has been allocated to the person; or
(b) the person has made an application for a national insurance number to be allocated to him
and the application for the reduction is accompanied by—
(i) evidence of the application for a national insurance number to be so allocated; and
(ii) the information or evidence enabling it to be so allocated.
(3) Sub-paragraph (2) does not apply—
(a) in the case of a child or young person in respect of whom an application for a reduction is
made;
(b) to a person who—
(i) is a person treated as not being in Great Britain for the purposes of this scheme;
(ii) is subject to immigration control within the meaning of section 115(9)(a) of the
Immigration and Asylum Act 1999; and
(iii) has not previously been allocated a national insurance number.
(4) Subject to sub-paragraph (5), a person who makes an application, or a person to whom a reduction
under this scheme has been awarded, must furnish such certificates, documents, information and
evidence in connection with the application or the award, or any question arising out of the
application or the award, as may reasonably be required by the authority in order to determine that
person's entitlement to, or continuing entitlement to a reduction under this scheme and must do so
within one month of the authority requiring him to do so or such longer period as the authority may
consider reasonable.
(5) Nothing in this paragraph requires a person to furnish any certificates, documents, information or
evidence relating to a payment to which sub-paragraph (7) applies.
(6) Where a request is made under sub-paragraph (4), the authority must—
(a) inform the applicant or the person to whom a reduction under this scheme has been awarded
of his duty under paragraph 115 (duty to notify change of circumstances) to notify the
authority of any change of circumstances; and
(b) without prejudice to the extent of the duty owed under paragraph 115, indicate to him either
orally or by notice or by reference to some other document available to him on application
and without charge, the kind of change of circumstances which is to be notified.
(7) This sub-paragraph applies to any of the following payments—
(a) a payment which is—
(i)disregarded under paragraph 28 of Schedule 8 (sums disregarded in the calculation of income
other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners) or paragraph 38 of Schedule 10 (capital
disregards: persons who are not pensioners); or
(ii) made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the
Caxton Foundation, the Caxton Foundation” insert “, the London Emergencies Trust, the We Love
Manchester Emergency Fund, the Grenfell Tower charitable funds, the Grenfell Tower Residents’
Discretionary Fund, the Windrush Compensation Scheme or the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund;
(aa) a Grenfell Tower support payment;
(b) a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 16 of Schedule 9 (payments made under
certain trusts and certain other payments), other than a payment under the Independent
Living Fund (2006);

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 255

105

(c) a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 30(9)(b) or (c) (payment made under certain
trusts etc.) or paragraph 2(b) or (c) of Schedule 4 (payments made under certain trusts etc.)
other than a payment under the Independent Living Fund (2006).
(8) Where an applicant or a person to whom a reduction under this scheme has been awarded or any
partner has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and is a member of, or a person
deriving entitlement to a pension under, a personal pension scheme, he must where the authority
so requires furnish the following information—
(a) the name and address of the pension fund holder;
(b) such other information including any reference or policy number as is needed to enable the
personal pension scheme to be identified.
114.0 Amendment and withdrawal of application
(1) A person who has made an application may amend it at any time before a decision has been made
on it by a notice in writing delivered or sent to the designated office.
(2) Where the application was made by telephone in accordance with Part 1 of Schedule 1, the
amendment may also be made by telephone.
(3) Any application amended in accordance with sub-paragraph (1) or (2) is to be treated as if it had
been amended in the first instance.
(4) A person who has made an application may withdraw it by notice to the designated office at any
time before a decision has been made on it.
(5) Where the application was made by telephone in accordance with Part 1 of Schedule 1, the
withdrawal may also be made by telephone.
(6) Any notice of withdrawal given in accordance with sub-paragraph (4) or (z5) has effect when it is
received.
(7) Where a person, by telephone, amends or withdraws an application the person must (if required to
do so by the authority) confirm the amendment or withdrawal by a notice in writing delivered or
sent to the designated office.
115.0 Duty to notify changes of circumstances
(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (3), (6) and (7), the applicant (or any person acting on his behalf) must
comply with sub-paragraph (2) if there is a relevant change of circumstances at any time—
(a) between the making of an application and a decision being made on it, or
(b) after the decision is made (where the decision is that the applicant is entitled to a reduction
under this scheme) including at any time while the applicant is in receipt of such a reduction.
(2) The applicant (or any person acting on his behalf) must notify any change of circumstances which
the applicant (or that person) might reasonably be expected to know might affect his entitlement
to, or the amount of, a reduction under this scheme (a “relevant change of circumstances”) by giving
notice to the authority—
(a) in writing; or
(b) by telephone—
(i) where the authority has published a telephone number for that purpose or for the
purposes of Part 1 of Schedule 1 unless the authority determines that in any particular
case or class of case notification may not be given by telephone; or
(ii) in any case or class of case where the authority determines that notice may be given by
telephone; or
(c) by any other means which the authority agrees to accept in any particular case,
within a period of 21 days beginning with the day on which the change occurs, or as soon as

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 256

106

reasonably practicable after the change occurs, whichever is later.
(3) The duty imposed on a person by sub-paragraph (1) does not extend to notifying—
(a) changes in the amount of council tax payable to the authority;
(b) changes in the age of the applicant or that of any member of his family;
(c) in the case of an applicant in receipt of a relevant benefit, changes in circumstances which
affect the amount of the benefit but not the amount of the reduction under this scheme to
which he is entitled, other than the cessation of that entitlement to the benefit.
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(c) “relevant benefit” means income support, an income-based
jobseeker's allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance or universal credit.
(5) Notwithstanding sub-paragraph (3)(b) or (c) an applicant is required by sub-paragraph (1) to notify
the authority of any change in the composition of his family arising from the fact that a person who
was a member of his family is now no longer such a person because he has ceased to be a child or
young person.
(6) The duty imposed on a person by sub-paragraph (1) includes—
(a) in the case of a person falling within class C (pensioners: alternative maximum council tax
reduction) giving written notice to the authority of changes which occur in the number of
adults in the dwelling or in their total gross incomes and, where any such adult ceases to be
in receipt of state pension credit, the date when this occurs;
(b) in the case of a person falling within class F (persons who are not pensioners: alternative
maximum council tax reduction) giving written notice to the authority of changes which occur
in the number of adults in the dwelling or in their total gross incomes and, where any such
adult ceases to be in receipt of income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an
income-related employment and support allowance, the date when this occurs.
(7) A person who has been awarded a reduction under this scheme who is also on state pension credit
must report—
(a) changes affecting the residence or income of any non-dependant normally residing with the
applicant or with whom the applicant normally resides;
(b) any absence from the dwelling which exceeds or is likely to exceed 13 weeks or where the
absence is from Great Britain, which exceeds or is likely to exceed 4 weeks.
(8) In addition to the changes required to be reported under sub-paragraph (7), a person whose state
pension credit comprises only the savings credit must also report—
(a) changes affecting a child living with him which may result in a change in the amount of
reduction under this scheme allowed in his case, but not changes in the age of the child;
(b) any change in the amount of the applicant's capital to be taken into account which does or
may take the amount of his capital to more than £16,000;
(c) any change in the income or capital of—
(i) a non-dependant whose income and capital are treated as belonging to the applicant in
accordance with paragraph 34 (circumstances in which income of a non-dependant is to
be treated as applicant's); or
(ii) a person to whom paragraph 36(2)(e) (partner treated as member of the household
under paragraph 8) refers,
and whether such a person or, as the case may be, non-dependant stops living or begins or
resumes living with the applicant.
(9) A person who is entitled to a reduction under this scheme and on state pension credit need only
report to the authority the changes specified in sub-paragraphs (7) and (8).
116.0 Decision by authority
The authority must make a decision on an application for a reduction under this scheme within 14 days
of paragraphs 110 and 113 and Part 1 of Schedule 1 being satisfied, or as soon as reasonably practicable

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 257

107

thereafter.
117.0 Notification of decision
(1) The authority must notify in writing any person affected by a decision made by it under this
scheme—
(a) in the case of a decision on an application, forthwith or as soon as reasonably practicable
thereafter;
(b) in any other case, within 14 days of that decision or as soon as reasonably practicable
thereafter.
(2) Where the decision is to award a reduction the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must include a
statement—
(a) informing the person affected of the duty imposed by paragraph 115(1)(b);
(b) explaining the possible consequences (including prosecution) of failing to comply with that
duty; and
(c) setting out the circumstances a change in which might affect entitlement to the reduction or
its amount.
(3) Where the decision is to award a reduction, the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must include a
statement as to how that entitlement is to be discharged.
(4) In any case, the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must inform the person affected of the
procedure by which an appeal may be made and must refer the person to the provisions in this
scheme relating to the procedure for making an appeal.
(5) A person affected to whom the authority sends or delivers a notification of decision may, within one
month of the date of the notification of that decision request in writing the authority to provide a
written statement setting out the reasons for its decision on any matter set out in the notice.
(6) The written statement referred to in sub-paragraph (5) must be sent to the person requesting it
within 14 days or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter.
(7) For the purposes of this paragraph a person is to be treated as a person affected by a decision of the
authority under this scheme where the rights, duties or obligations of that person are affected by
that decision and the person falls within sub-paragraph (8).
(8) This sub-paragraph applies to—
(a) the applicant;
(b) in the case of a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling and is unable
for the time being to act—
(i) a deputy appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as the case may
be, receive benefit on his behalf; or
(ii) in Scotland, a judicial factor or any guardian acting or appointed under the Adults with
Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 who has power to apply or, as the case may be, receive
benefit on the person's behalf; or
(iii) an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may be, receive
benefit, has been appointed by that person under the Powers of Attorney Act 1971, the
Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise,
(c) a person appointed by the authority under paragraph 109(3).
118.0

Payment where there is joint and several liability

(1) Where—
(a) a person is entitled to a reduction under this scheme in respect of his liability for the authority's
council tax as it has effect in respect of a financial year;

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 258

108

(b) the person entitled to the reduction is jointly and severally liable for the council tax; and
(c) the authority determines that discharging his entitlement by reducing the amount of his
liability to which regulation 20(2) of the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement)
Regulations 1992 refers would be inappropriate,
it may make a payment to him of the amount of reduction to which he is entitled, rounded where
necessary to the nearest penny.
(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), any payment made under sub-paragraph (1) must be made to the
person who is entitled to the reduction.
(3) Where a person other than the person who is entitled to the reduction under this scheme made the
application for the reduction and that first person is a person acting pursuant to an appointment
under paragraph 109(3) (persons appointed to act for a person unable to act) or is treated as having
been so appointed by virtue of paragraph 109(5), the amount of the reduction may be paid to that
person.
119.0

Transitional provisions for restrictions on amounts for children and young persons (pensioners)

(1)

This regulation applies where—
(a) on 31st March 2018, a person is liable to pay council tax at a reduced rate by virtue of a council tax
reduction under an authority’s scheme established under section 13A(2) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (“a section 13A(2) scheme”); and
(b) the person is, or the person and the person’s partner are between them, responsible for more than
two individuals who are either children or young persons and who are members of the same household
(each such individual is referred to as a protected individual”).

(2)

Where this regulation applies, the amendments made by regulation 7 do not apply to the person entitled to a council tax reduction referred to in paragraph (1) until—
(a) the person makes a new application for a reduction under an authority’s section 13A(2) scheme; or
(b) the person or the person’s partner (if any) becomes responsible for a new individual, whichever is
the first to occur.

(3)

Paragraphs (4) to (8) apply where—
(a) the amendments made by regulation 7 apply by virtue of paragraph (2)(b);
(b) the child tax credit provisions do not apply; and
(c) the person has not made a new application for a reduction under an authority’s scheme for a reduction under an authority’s section 13A(2) scheme.

(4)

Notwithstanding the default provisions, a child amount shall be included in the applicable amount in
relation to any protected individual, in relation to any time when the person or the person’s partner
(if any) is responsible for the individual and the individual is a member of the same household.

(5)

Paragraph (6) applies where—
(a) the person or the person’s partner (if any) is responsible for one or more protected individuals
who are members of the same household; and
(b) either of them is responsible for one or more new individuals who are members of the same
household.

(6)

Where this paragraph applies, any protected individual for whom the person or the person’s partner
is responsible is to be counted for the purpose of deciding whether, under the default provisions, an
additional child amount is to be included in the applicable amount with respect to the new individual
or individuals referred to in paragraph (5)(b).

(7)

Paragraph (8) applies where—
(a) the number of protected individuals for whom either the person or the person’s partner (if any) is
responsible, and who are members of the same household, is one;

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 259

109

(b) the number of new individuals for whom either the person or the person’s partner is responsible,
and who are members of the same household, is two or more; and
(c) a different child amount would apply to different individuals.
(8)

Where this paragraph applies, the child amounts to be included in the applicable amount shall be—
(a) the child amount in relation to the protected individual; and
(b) a child amount in relation to such one of the new individuals as will result in the greatest possible
total amount.

(9)

Under paragraph (3), for the purposes of determining whether the child tax credit provisions apply,
by virtue of paragraph 6(1B) of Schedule 1 to the 2012 Regulations, where the person or the person’s
partner is responsible for one or more protected individuals, the total amount that would be included
in the applicable amount under the default provisions shall be taken to be the total that would be included under paragraphs (4), (6) and (8).

(10)

For the purposes of this regulation—
(a) “the 2012 Regulations” means the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements)
(England) Regulations 2012;
(b) “applicable amount”, “child”, “partner” and “young person” have the same meanings as in the
2012 Regulations;
(c) “child amount” means the amount determined under paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to the 2012 Regulations;
(d) “child tax credit provisions” means the provisions of paragraph 6(1)(b) of Schedule 1 to the 2012
Regulations (as substituted by paragraph 6(1C) of that Schedule);
(e) “default provisions” means the provisions of paragraph 6(1)(b) of Schedule 1 to the 2012 Regulations (as substituted by paragraph 6(1C) of that Schedule);
(f) “new individual” means a child or young person who is not a protected individual;
(g) any reference to an individual being part of the same household means being part of the same
household with the person who is entitled to a reduction under an authority’s section 13A(2) scheme
and the person’s partner (if any);
(h) a person is to be treated as responsible for a child or young person in the circumstances set out in
regulation 7 of the 2012 Regulations.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 260

110

Schedule 1
Procedural matters

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 261

111

Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under this scheme
1. Paragraphs 2 to 7 apply to an application for a reduction under this scheme.
2.
An application may be made—
(a) in writing,
(b) by means of an electronic communication in accordance with Part 4 of this Schedule;
(c) where the authority has published a telephone number for the purpose of receiving such
applications, by telephone.
The authority will accept a claim for Universal Credit (as notified by the Secretary of State for Work
and Pensions) as a claim for reduction.
3.
(1) An application which is made in writing must be made to the designated office on a properly completed
form.
(2) The form must be provided free of charge by the authority for the purpose.
4.
(1) Where an application made in writing is defective because—
(a) it was made on the form supplied for the purpose but that form is not accepted by the
authority as being properly completed; or
(b) it was made in writing but not on the form supplied for the purpose and the authority does
not accept the application as being in a written form which is sufficient in the circumstances
of the case having regard to the sufficiency of the written information and evidence,
the authority may, in a case to which sub-paragraph (a) applies, request the applicant to complete the
defective application or, in the case to which sub-paragraph (b) applies, supply the applicant with the
approved form or request further information and evidence.
(2) An application made on a form provided by the authority is properly completed if completed in
accordance with the instructions on the form, including any instructions to provide information and
evidence in connection with the application.
5.
(1) If an application made by electronic communication is defective the authority must provide the
person making the application with an opportunity to correct the defect.
(2) An application made by electronic communication is defective if the applicant does not provide all
the information the authority requires.
6.

In a particular case the authority may determine that an application made by telephone is only valid if
the person making the application approves a written statement of his circumstances provided by the
authority.

7.
(1) If an application made by telephone is defective the authority must provide the person making the
application with an opportunity to correct the defect.

(2) An application made by telephone is defective if the applicant does not provide all the information
the authority requests during the telephone call.
Procedure by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the authority
8.
A person who is aggrieved by a decision of the authority which affects—
(a) the person's entitlement to a reduction under this scheme, or
(b) the amount of any reduction under this scheme,
may serve a written notice on the authority stating the matter by which, and the grounds on which, he is
aggrieved.
9.
The authority must—

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 262

112

(a) consider the matter to which the notice relates;
(b) notify the aggrieved person in writing—
(i) that the ground is not well founded, giving reasons for that belief; or
(ii) that steps have been taken to deal with the grievance, stating the steps taken.
10.

Where, following notification under paragraph 9(b)(i) or (ii), the person is still aggrieved, or if the
authority fails to notify the person aggrieved in accordance with paragraph 9(b) within two months of
the service of his notice, he may appeal to a valuation tribunal under section 16 of the 1992 Act.

Procedure for an application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 Act
11.
(1) An application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 Act may be made
(a) in writing;
(b) by means of an electronic communication in accordance with Part 4 of this Schedule; or
(c) where the authority has published a telephone number for the purposes of receiving such
applications, by telephone.
(2) Where—
(a) the authority has made a determination under section 13A(1)(c) in relation to a class of case
in which liability is to be reduced; and
(b) a person in that class would otherwise be entitled to a reduction under this scheme,
that person's application for a reduction under this scheme may also be treated as an application
for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c).
Electronic communication
12. Interpretation
In this Part—
“information” includes an application, certificate, notice or other evidence;
“official computer system” means a computer system maintained by or on behalf of the authority for
the sending, receiving, processing or storing of any information.
13. Conditions for the use of electronic communication
(1) The authority may use an electronic communication in connection with applications for, and awards
of, reductions under this scheme.
(2) A person other than the authority may use an electronic communication in connection with the
matters referred to in sub-paragraph (1) if the conditions specified in sub-paragraphs (3) to (6) are
satisfied.
(3) The first condition is that the person is for the time being permitted to use an electronic
communication by an authorisation given by means of a direction of the Chief Executive of the
authority.
(4) The second condition is that the person uses an approved method of—
(a) authenticating the identity of the sender of the communication;
(b) electronic communication;
(c) authenticating any application or notice delivered by means of an electronic communication;
and
(d) subject to sub-paragraph (7), submitting to the authority any information.
(5) The third condition is that any information sent by means of an electronic communication is in a
form supplied for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule.
(6) The fourth condition is that the person maintains such records in written or electronic form as may

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 263

113

be specified in a direction given by the Chief Executive of the authority.
(7) Where the person uses any method other than the method approved of submitting any information,
that information is to be treated as not having been submitted.
(8) In this paragraph “approved” means approved by means of a direction given by the Chief Executive
of the authority for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule.
14. Use of intermediaries
The authority may use intermediaries in connection with—
(a) the delivery of any information by means of an electronic communication; and
(b) the authentication or security of anything transmitted by such means,
and may require other persons to use intermediaries in connection with those matters.
15.— Effect of delivering information by means of electronic communication
(1) Any information which is delivered by means of an electronic communication is to be treated as
having been delivered in the manner or form required by any provision of this scheme, on the day
the conditions imposed—
(a) by this Part; and
(b) by or under an enactment,
are satisfied.
(2) The authority may determine that any information is to be treated as delivered on a different day
(whether earlier or later) from the day provided for in sub-paragraph (1).
(3) Information must not be taken to have been delivered to an official computer system by means of
an electronic communication unless it is accepted by the system to which it is delivered.
16. Proof of identity of sender or recipient of information
If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the identity of—
(a) the sender of any information delivered by means of an electronic communication to an official
computer system; or
(b) the recipient of any such information delivered by means of an electronic communication from
an official computer system,
the sender or recipient, as the case may be, is to be presumed to be the person whose name is recorded
as such on that official computer system.
17.— Proof of delivery of information
(1) If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use of an electronic
communication has resulted in the delivery of any information this must be presumed to have been
the case where—
(a) any such information has been delivered to the relevant authority, if the delivery of that
information has been recorded on an official computer system; or
(b) any such information has been delivered by the relevant authority, if the delivery of that
information has been recorded on an official computer system.
(2) If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use of an electronic
communication has resulted in the delivery of any such information, this must be presumed not to
be the case, if that information delivered to the relevant authority has not been recorded on an
official computer system.
(3) If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, when any such information sent
by means of an electronic communication has been received, the time and date of receipt must be
presumed to be that recorded on an official computer system.
18. Proof of content of information
If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the content of any information sent
by means of an electronic communication, the content must be presumed to be that recorded on an
official computer system.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 264

114

Schedule 29
Applicable amounts: pensioners

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 265

115

1. Personal allowance
The amount specified in column (2) below in respect of each person or couple specified in column (1) is
the amount specified for the purposes of paragraph 25(1)(a) is the amount specified in column (2) of
Table 1 below in respect of each person or couple referred to in column (1) of that Table.
Table 1
Column (1)
Person, couple or polygamous marriage

Column (2)
Amount

(1) Single applicant or lone parent who has attained pensionable age before
1st April 2021

£197.10

(2) Couple one or both members before 1st April 2021

£294.90

(3) If the applicant is a member of a polygamous marriage and one or more
members of the marriage have attained pensionable age before 1st April 2021
(a) for the applicant and the other party to the marriage;
(b) for each additional spouse who is a member of the same household as the
applicant.
(4) Single applicant or lone parent who has attained pensionable age on
or after 1st April 2021
(5) Couple where both members have attained pensionable age on or after 1st April 2021
(6) If the applicant is a member of a polygamous marriage and all members of the marriage have attained pensionable age on or after 1st
April 2021—
(a) for the applicant and the other party to the marriage;
(b) for each additional spouse who is a member of the same household as the applicant

(a) 294.90;
(b) £97.80
£182.60
£278.70

£278.70
£96.10

2.Child or young person amounts
(1) The amounts specified in column (2) below in respect of each person specified in column (1) are
the amounts, for the relevant period specified in column (1), specified for the purposes of
paragraph 25(1)(b).
(2)
Column (1)
Column (2)
Child or young Person

Amount

Person in respect of the period—
(a) beginning on that person's date of birth and ending on the day preceding the
first Monday in September following that person's sixteenth birthday;
(b) beginning on the first Monday in September following that person's sixteenth
birthday and ending on the day preceding that person's twentieth birthday.

(a) £70.80;
(b) £70.80.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 266

116

(2) In column (1) of the table “the first Monday in September” means the Monday which first occurs in
the month of September in any year.
3. Family premium
The amount for the purposes of paragraph 25(1)(c) in respect of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person is
a) £17.85 in respect of a reduction week which begins in the period beginning with 1st April 2016
and ending with 30th April 2016;
b) is nil in respect of a reduction week which begins after 1st May 2016. This does not apply to a person
who, on 30th April 2016, is liable to pay council tax at a reduced rate by virtue of a council tax reduction
under an authority’s scheme established under section 13A(2) of the Act and is—
(a) a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person; or
(b) a partner in a polygamous marriage, where he or she, or another partner of the polygamous marriage, is responsible for a child or young person who is a member of the same household.
The above does not apply if—
(a) sub-paragraph (a) or (b) of that paragraph ceases to apply; or
(b) the person makes a new application for a reduction under an authority’s scheme under section
13A(2) of the Act.
For the purposes of this regulation—
(a) “the Act” means the Local Government Finance Act 1992;
(b) “child”, “family”, “partner”, “polygamous marriage” and “young person” have the meanings given
by regulation 2 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations
2012
4. Premiums
The premiums specified in Part 4 are, for the purposes of paragraph 25(1)(d), applicable to an applicant
who satisfies the condition specified in this Part in respect of that premium.
5.
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule, once a premium is
applicable to an applicant under this Part, a person is to be treated as being in receipt of any benefit
for—
(a) in the case of a benefit to which the Social Security (Overlapping Benefits) Regulations 1979
applies, any period during which, apart from the provision of those Regulations, he would be
in receipt of that benefit; and
(b) any period spent by a person in undertaking a course of training or instruction provided or
approved by the Secretary of State under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973,
or by Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highland and Islands Enterprise
under section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 or for any period during
which he is in receipt of a training allowance.
(2) For the purposes of the carer premium under paragraph 9, a person is to be treated as being in receipt
of a carer's allowance by virtue of sub-paragraph (1)(a) only if and for so long as the person in respect
of whose care the allowance has been claimed remains in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care
component of disability living allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with
section 72(3) of the SSCBA, or the care component of child disability payment at the highest or middle
rate in accordance with regulation 11(5) of the DACYP Regulations, or the daily living component of personal independence payment paid at either rate prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare
Reform Act 2012 or an AFIP.
6.

Severe disability premium
(1) The condition is that the applicant is a severely disabled person.
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant is to be treated as being a severely disabled
person if, and only if—
(a) in the case of a single applicant, a lone parent or an applicant who is treated as having no partner
in consequence of sub-paragraph (3) —

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 267

117

(i) he is in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living allowance
at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the SSCBA, or
the daily living component of personal independence payment paid at either rate
prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, or an AFIP; and
(ii) subject to sub-paragraph (6), he has no non-dependants aged 18 or over normally residing
with him or with whom he is normally residing; and
(iii) no person is entitled to, and in receipt of, a carer's allowance or an award of universal credit
which includes the carer element in respect of caring for him;
(b) in the case of an applicant who has a partner—
(i) the applicant is in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living
allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the
SSCBA, or the daily living component of personal independence payment paid at either rate
prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, or an AFIP;
(ii) his partner is also in receipt of such an allowance or, if he is a member of a polygamous
marriage, each other member of that marriage is in receipt of such an allowance; and
(iii) subject to sub-paragraph (6), the applicant has no non-dependants aged 18 or over
normally residing with him or with whom he is normally residing,
and either a person is entitled to and in receipt of a carer's allowance or an award of universal credit
which includes the carer element in respect of caring for only one of the couple or, if he is a
member of a polygamous marriage, for one or more but not all the members of the marriage, or
as the case may be, no person is entitled to and in receipt of such an allowance in respect of
caring for either member of a couple or any of the members of the marriage.
(3) Where an applicant has a partner who does not satisfy the condition in sub-paragraph (2)(b)(ii), and
that partner is blind or is treated as blind within the meaning of sub-paragraph (4), that partner is
to be treated for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) as if he were not a partner of the applicant.
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3), a person is blind if he is registered in a register compiled by
a local authority under section 29 of the National Assistance Act 1948 (welfare services) or, in
Scotland, has been certified as blind and in consequence he is registered in a register maintained by
or on behalf of a council constituted under section 2 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994.
(5) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (4), a person who has ceased to be registered as blind on
regaining his eyesight is nevertheless to be treated as blind and as satisfying the additional condition
set out in that sub-paragraph for a period of 28 weeks following the date on which he ceased to be
so registered.
(6) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a)(ii) and (2)(b)(iii) no account is to be taken of—
(a) a person receiving attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living allowance
at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the SSCBA, or the
daily living component of personal independence payment paid at either rate prescribed in
accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, or an AFIP; or
(b) a person who is blind or is treated as blind within the meaning of sub-paragraphs (4) and (5).
(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(b) a person is to be treated—
(a) as being in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living
allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the
SSCBA, if he would, but for his being a patient for a period exceeding 28 days, be so in receipt;
(b) as being in receipt of the daily living component of personal independence payment paid at
the rate prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 if he would, but
for his being a patient for a period exceeding 28 days, be so in receipt, notwithstanding section
86 of that Act and regulations made thereunder;
(c) as being in receipt of an AFIP if he would be so in receipt but for a suspension of payment in
accordance with any terms of the armed and reserve forces compensation scheme which
allow for a suspension because a person is undergoing medical treatment in a hospital or
similar institution;

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 268

118

(d) as being entitled to and in receipt of a carer's allowance or an award of universal credit
which includes the carer element if he would, but for the person for whom he was caring being
a patient in hospital for a period exceeding 28 days, be so entitled and in receipt.
(8) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a)(iii) and (b) —
(a) no account is to be taken of an award of carer's allowance to the extent that payment of such
an award is back-dated for a period before the date on which the award is first paid; and
(b) references to a person being in receipt of a carer's allowance include reference to a person
who would have been in receipt of that allowance but for the application of a restriction under
section 6B or 7 of the Social Security Fraud Act 2001 (loss of benefit).
7. Enhanced disability premium
(1) The condition is that—
(a) the care component of disability living allowance is, or would, but for a suspension of benefit
in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of the SSCBA or but for an abatement as
a consequence of hospitalisation, be payable at the highest rate prescribed under section
73(2) of that Act;
(aa)the care component of child disability payment is payable at the highest rate in accordance with
regulation 11(5) of the DACYP Regulations; or
(b) (as the case may be) the daily living component of personal independence payment is, or
would, but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 86 of the
Welfare Reform Act 2012, be payable at the enhanced rate prescribed in accordance with
section 78(2) of that Act,
in respect of a child or young person who is a member of the applicant's family.
(2) Where the condition in sub-paragraph (1) ceases to be satisfied because of the death of a child or
young person, the condition is that the applicant or partner is entitled to child benefit in respect of
that person under section 145A of the SSCBA (entitlement after death of child or qualifying young
person).
8. Disabled child premium
The condition is that a child or young person for whom the applicant or a partner of his is responsible and
who is a member of the applicant's household—
(a) is in receipt of disability living allowance, personal independence payment or is no longer in
receipt of such allowance or payment because he is a patient, provided that the child or
young person continues to be a member of the family;
(aa) is in receipt of child disability payment; or
(b) is blind within the meaning of paragraph 6(4) or treated as blind in accordance with paragraph
6(5); or
(c) is a child or young person in respect of whom section 145A of the SSCBA (entitlement after
death of child or qualifying young person) applies for the purposes of entitlement to child
benefit but only for the period prescribed under that section, and in respect of whom a
disabled child premium was included in the applicant's applicable amount immediately before
the death of that child or young person, or ceased to be included in the applicant's applicable
amount because of that child or young person's death.
9. Carer premium
(1) The condition is that the applicant or his partner is, or both of them are, entitled to a carer's
allowance.
(2) Where a carer premium has been awarded but—
(a) the person in respect of whose care the carer's allowance has been awarded dies; or
(b) the person in respect of whom the premium was awarded ceases to be entitled, or ceases to
be treated as entitled, to a carer's allowance,
this paragraph is to be treated as satisfied for a period of eight weeks from the relevant date
specified in sub-paragraph (3).

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 269

119

(3) The relevant date for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) is—
(a) in a case within sub-paragraph (2)(a), the Sunday following the death of the person in respect
of whose care the carer's allowance has been awarded (or beginning with the date of death if
the date occurred on a Sunday);
(b) in a case within sub-paragraph (2)(b), the date on which that person who was entitled to a
carer's allowance ceases to be entitled to it.
(4) For the purposes of this paragraph, a person is to be treated as being entitled to and in receipt of a
carer's allowance for any period not covered by an award but in respect of which a payment is made
in lieu of an award.
10. Persons in receipt of concessionary payments
For the purpose of determining whether a premium is applicable to a person under paragraphs 6 to 9,
any concessionary payment made to compensate that person for the non-payment of any benefit
mentioned in those paragraphs is to be treated as if it were a payment of that benefit.
11. Person in receipt of benefit
For the purposes of this Part of this Schedule, a person is to be regarded as being in receipt of any benefit
if, and only if, it is paid in respect of him and is to be so regarded only for any period in respect of which
that benefit is paid.
12.Amounts of premium specified
(1) Severe Disability Premium—
Provision

Amount

(a) where the applicant satisfies the condition in paragraph 6(2)(a);

(a) £69.40;

(b) where the applicant satisfies the condition in paragraph 6(2)(b)—

(b)

(a) in a case where there is someone in receipt of a carer’s allowance or who has an award of universal credit which includes the
carer element under regulation 29 of the Universal Credit Regulations 2013, or if he or any partner satisfies that condition
only by virtue of paragraph 6(7);
(b) in a case where there is no-one in receipt of such an allowance
or such an award of universal credit.
(2) Enhanced disability premium

(i) £69.40;

(ii) £138.80.
(2) £27.44 in respect of
each child or young person in respect of whom
the conditions specified
in paragraph 7 are satisfied.
(3) £69.40 in respect of
each child or young person in respect of whom
the condition specified
in paragraph 8 is satisfied
(4) £38.85 in respect of
each person who satisfies the condition specified in paragraph 9.

(3) Disabled Child Premium.

(4) Carer Premium.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 270

120

Schedule 3
Applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners
The following amounts shall be uprated annually in line with the amounts specified within the Housing Benefits Regulations 2006 (as amended)

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 271

121

Personal allowances
1.
The amounts specified in column (2) below in respect of each person or couple specified in column (1)
are the amounts specified for the purposes of paragraphs 26(1)(a) and 27(1)(a) and (b)—
Person or couple
Amount
(1) A single applicant who—
(1)
(a) is entitled to main phase employment and sup(a) £77.00
port allowance;
(b) is aged not less than 25;
(b) £77.00
(c) is aged not less than 18 but less than 25.
(c) £61.05
(2) Lone parent.
(2) £77.00
(3) Couple.
(3) £121.05
(4) If the applicant is a member of a polygamous
marriage
(a) for the applicant and the other party to the
(a) £121.05
marriage;
(b) for each additional spouse who is a member of
(b) £42.70
the same household as the applicant.
2.
For the purposes of paragraph 1 an applicant is entitled to main phase employment and support allowance
if—
(a) paragraph 18 is satisfied in relation to the applicant; or
(b) the applicant is entitled to a converted employment and support allowance.
3.
(1) The amounts specified in column (2) below in respect of each person specified in column (1) are, for
the relevant period specified in column (1), the amounts specified for the purposes of paragraphs
26(1)(b) and 27(1)(c)—
Column (1)

Column (2)

Child or Young person

Amount

Person in respect of the period—
(a) beginning on that person's date of birth and ending on
preceding the first Monday in September following that
sixteenth birthday;
(b) beginning on the first Monday in September following that
sixteenth birthday and ending on the day preceding that
twentieth birthday.

£70.80
£70.80

the day
person's
person's
person's

(2) In column (1) of the table in sub-paragraph (1), “the first Monday in September” means the Monday
which first occurs in the month of September in any year.
Family premium
4.
(1) The amount for the purposes of paragraphs 26(1)(c) and 27(1)(d) in respect of a family of which at
least one member is a child or young person is—
(a) where the applicant is a lone parent to whom sub-paragraph (2) applies, £22.20
(b) in any other case, £17.85

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 272

122

(2) The amount in sub-paragraph (1)(a) is applicable to a lone parent—
(a) who was entitled to council tax benefit on 5th April 1998 and whose applicable amount on
that date included the amount applicable under paragraph 3(1)(a) of Schedule 1 to the Council
Tax Benefit (Persons who have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit) Regulations
2006 as in force on that date; or
(b) on becoming entitled to council tax benefit where that lone parent—
(i) had been treated as entitled to that benefit in accordance with sub-paragraph (3) as at
the day before the date of claim for that benefit; and
(ii) was entitled to housing benefit as at the date of claim for council tax benefit or would
have been entitled to housing benefit as at that date had that day not fallen during a
rent free period as defined in regulation 81 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006,
and in respect of whom, all of the conditions specified in sub-paragraph (3) have continued to
apply.
(3) The conditions specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) are that, in respect of the period
commencing on 6th April 1998—
(a) the applicant has not ceased to be entitled, or has not ceased to be treated as entitled, to
(i) council tax benefit (in relation to the period prior to 1st April 2013), and
(ii) a reduction under this scheme (in relation to the period commencing on 1st April 2013);
(b) the applicant has not ceased to be a lone parent;
(c) where the applicant was entitled to income support or to an income-based jobseeker's
allowance on 5th April 1998, he has continuously, since that date, been entitled to income
support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or income-related employment and support
allowance or a combination of those benefits;
(d) where the applicant was not entitled to income support or to an income-based jobseeker's
allowance on 5th April 1998, he has not become entitled to income support, an income-based
jobseeker's allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance; and
(e) a premium under paragraph 9 or a component under paragraph 21 or 22 has not become
applicable to the applicant.
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2)(b)(i) and (3)(a), an applicant is to be treated as entitled to
council tax benefit during any period where he was not, or had ceased to be, so entitled and—
(a) throughout that period, he had been awarded housing benefit and his applicable amount
included the amount applicable under paragraph 3(1)(a) of Schedule 3 to the Housing Benefit
Regulations 2006 (lone parent rate of family premium); or
(b) he would have been awarded housing benefit during that period had that period not been a
rent free period as defined in regulation 81 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 and his
applicable amount throughout that period would have included the amount applicable under
paragraph 3(1)(a) of Schedule 3 to those Regulations.
Premiums
5.
Except as provided in paragraph 6, the premiums specified in this scheme are, for the purposes of
paragraphs 26(1)(d) and 27(1)(e) (premiums), applicable to an applicant who satisfies the condition
specified in paragraphs 9 to 14 in respect of that premium.
6.
Subject to paragraph 7, where an applicant satisfies the conditions in respect of more than one premium
in this Schedule, only one premium is applicable to him and, if they are different amounts, the higher or
highest amount applies.
7.
The following premiums, namely—
(a) a severe disability premium to which paragraph 11 applies;
(b) an enhanced disability premium to which paragraph 12 applies;
(c) a disabled child premium to which paragraph 13 applies; and

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 273

123

(d) a carer premium to which paragraph 14 applies,
may be applicable in addition to any other premium which may apply under this Schedule.
8.
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), for the purposes of this Schedule, once a premium is applicable to an
applicant under this Part, a person is to be treated as being in receipt of any benefit for—
(a) in the case of a benefit to which the Social Security (Overlapping Benefits) Regulations 1979
applies, any period during which, apart from the provisions of those Regulations, he would be
in receipt of that benefit; and
(b) any period spent by a person in undertaking a course of training or instruction provided or
approved by the Secretary of State under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973
or by Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands Enterprise
under section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 for any period during
which he is in receipt of a training allowance.
(2) For the purposes of the carer premium under paragraph 14, a person is to be treated as being in
receipt of carer's allowance by virtue of sub-paragraph (1)(a) only if and for so long as the person in
respect of whose care the allowance has been claimed remains in receipt of attendance allowance,
or the care component of disability living allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in
accordance with section 72(3) of the SSCBA or the daily living component of personal independence
payment payable under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012.
9. Disability premium
The condition is that—
(a) where the applicant is a single applicant or a lone parent, he has not attained the qualifying age
for state pension credit and the additional condition specified in paragraph 10 is satisfied; or
(b) where the applicant has a partner, either—
(i) the applicant has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and the additional
condition specified in paragraph 10(1)(a) or (b) is satisfied by him; or
(ii) his partner has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and the additional
condition specified in paragraph 10(1)(a) is satisfied by his partner.
10. Additional condition for the disability premium
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2) and paragraph 8, the additional condition referred to in paragraph 9 is
that either—
(a) the applicant or, as the case may be, his partner—
(i) is in receipt of one or more of the following benefits: attendance allowance, disability living
allowance, personal independence payment, an AFIP, the disability element or the severe
disability element of working tax credit as specified in regulation 20(1)(b) and (f) of the
Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) Regulations 2002 as amended,
mobility supplement, long-term incapacity benefit under Part 2 of the SSCBA or severe
disablement allowance under Part 3 of that Act but, in the case of long-term incapacity
benefit or severe disablement allowance, only where it is paid in respect of him; or
(ii) was in receipt of long-term incapacity benefit under Part 2 of the SSCBA when entitlement
to that benefit ceased on account of the payment of a retirement pension under that Act
and the applicant remained continuously entitled to—
(aa) council tax benefit (in relation to the period prior to 1st April 2013, and
(bb) a reduction under this scheme (in relation to the period commencing on 1st April
2013), and
if the long-term incapacity benefit was payable to his partner, the partner is still a member
of the family; or
(iii) was in receipt of attendance allowance or disability living allowance but payment of
benefit has been suspended in accordance with regulations made under section 113(2) of

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 274

124

the SSCBA or otherwise abated as a consequence of the applicant or his partner becoming
a patient within the meaning of paragraph 58(11)(i) (treatment of child care charges); or
(iv) was in receipt of personal independence payment, but payment of that benefit has been
suspended in accordance with section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 as a
consequence of the applicant becoming a patient within the meaning of paragraph
58(11)(i) (treatment of child care charges); or
(v) was in receipt of an AFIP, but payment has been suspended in accordance with any terms
of the armed and reserve forces compensation scheme which allow for suspension
because a person is undergoing medical treatment in a hospital or similar institution; or
(vi) he has an invalid carriage or other vehicle provided to him by the Secretary of State or a
clinical commissioning group under paragraph 9 of Schedule 1 to the National Health
Service Act 2006 or under section 46 of the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978
or provided by the Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety in Northern
Ireland under Article 30(1) of the Health and Personal Social Services (Northern Ireland)
Order 1972; or
(vii) is blind and in consequence registered in a register compiled by a local authority under
section 29 of the National Assistance Act 1948 (welfare services) or, in Scotland, has been
certified as blind and in consequence he is registered in a register maintained by or on
behalf of a council constituted under section 2 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act
1994; or
(b) the applicant—
(i) is, or is treated as, incapable of work in accordance with the provisions of, and regulations
made under, Part 12A of the SSCBA (incapacity for work); and
(ii) has been incapable, or has been treated as incapable, of work for a continuous period
of not less than—
(aa) in the case of an applicant who is terminally ill within the meaning of section 30B(4)
of the SSCBA, 196 days;
(bb) in any other case, 364 days.
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(a)(vii), a person who has ceased to be registered as blind on
regaining his eyesight is nevertheless to be treated as blind and as satisfying the additional condition
set out in that sub-paragraph for a period of 28 weeks following the date on which he ceased to be
so registered.
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b), once the disability premium is applicable to an applicant
by virtue of his satisfying the additional condition specified in that provision, if he then ceases, for a
period of 8 weeks or less, to be treated as incapable of work or to be incapable of work he is, on
again becoming so incapable of work, immediately thereafter to be treated as satisfying the
condition in sub-paragraph (1)(b).
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b), once the disability premium is applicable to an applicant
by virtue of his satisfying the additional condition specified in that provision, he is to continue to be
treated as satisfying that condition for any period spent by him in undertaking a course of training
provided under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 or section 2 of the Enterprise
and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 or for any period during which he is in receipt of a training
allowance.
(5) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b), where any two or more periods of incapacity are separated
by a break of not more than 56 days, those periods are to be treated as one continuous period.
(6) For the purposes of this paragraph, a reference to a person who is or was in receipt of long-term

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 275

125

incapacity benefit includes a person who is or was in receipt of short-term incapacity benefit at a
rate equal to the long-term rate by virtue of section 30B(4)(a) of the Act (short-term incapacity
benefit for a person who is terminally ill), or who would be or would have been in receipt of shortterm incapacity benefit at such a rate but for the fact that the rate of short-term incapacity benefit
already payable to him is or was equal to or greater than the long-term rate.
(7) In the case of an applicant who is a welfare to work beneficiary (a person to whom regulation 13A(1)
of the Social Security (Incapacity for Work) (General) Regulations 1995 applies, and who again
becomes incapable of work for the purposes of Part 12A of the SSCBA)—
(a) the reference to a period of 8 weeks in sub-paragraph (3); and
(b) the reference to a period of 56 days in sub-paragraph (5),
in each case is to be treated as a reference to a period of 104 weeks.
(8) The applicant is not entitled to the disability premium if he has, or is treated as having, limited
capability for work.
11. Severe disability premium
(1) The condition is that the applicant is a severely disabled person.
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant is to be treated as being a severely disabled
person if, and only if—
(a) in the case of a single applicant, a lone parent or an applicant who is treated as having no
partner in consequence of sub-paragraph (3)—
(i) he is in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living
allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the
SSCBA, or the daily living component of personal independence payment payable at either
rate under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, or an AFIP; and
(ii) subject to sub-paragraph (4), he has no non-dependants aged 18 or over normally residing
with him or with whom he is normally residing; and
(iii) no person is entitled to, and in receipt of, a carer's allowance under section 70 of the
SSCBA in respect of caring for him;
(b) in the case of an applicant who has a partner—
(i) the applicant is in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability
living allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3)
of the SSCBA or the daily living component of personal independence payment payable
at either rate under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, or an AFIP; and
(ii) his partner is also in receipt of such an allowance or, if he is a member of a polygamous
marriage, all the partners of that marriage are in receipt of such an allowance; and
(iii) subject to sub-paragraph (4), the applicant has no non-dependants aged 18 or over
normally residing with him or with whom he is normally residing,
and either a person is entitled to and in receipt of a carer's allowance in respect of caring for
only one of a couple or, in the case of a polygamous marriage, for one or more but not all the
partners of the marriage, or as the case may be, no person is entitled to and in receipt of such
an allowance in respect of caring for either member of a couple or any partner of a
polygamous marriage.
(3) Where an applicant has a partner who does not satisfy the condition in sub-paragraph (2)(b)(ii), and
that partner is blind or is treated as blind within the meaning of paragraph 10(1)(a)(v) and (2), that
partner is to be treated for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(b)(ii) as if he were not a partner of

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 276

126

the applicant.
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a)(ii) and (2)(b)(iii) no account is to be taken of—
(a) a person receiving attendance allowance, or disability living allowance by virtue of the care
component at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the
SSCBA, or the daily living component of personal independence payment payable at either
rate prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012; or
(b) a person who is blind or is treated as blind within the meaning of paragraph 10(1)(a)(v) and
(2).
(5) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(b) a person is to be treated—
(a) as being in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living
allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the
SSCBA, or the daily living component of personal independence payment payable at either
rate under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, or an AFIP if he would, but for his being a
patient for a period exceeding 28 days, be so in receipt;
(b) as being entitled to and in receipt of a carer's allowance if he would, but for the person for
whom he was caring being a patient in hospital for a period exceeding 28 days, be so entitled
and in receipt.
(6) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a)(iii) and (2)(b), no account is to be taken of an award of
carer's allowance to the extent that payment of such an award is back-dated for a period before the
date on which the award is first paid.
(7) In sub-paragraph (2)(a)(iii) and (b), references to a person being in receipt of a carer's allowance
include references to a person who would have been in receipt of that allowance but for the
application of a restriction under section 6B or 7 of the Social Security Fraud Act 2001 (loss of benefit
provisions).
12. Enhanced disability premium
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the condition is that—
(a) the Secretary of State has decided that the applicant has, or is to be treated as having, limited
capability for work-related activity; or
(b) the care component of disability living allowance is, or would be payable at the highest rate
prescribed under section 72(3) of the SSCBA, but for a suspension of benefit in accordance
with regulations made under section 113(2) of the SSCBA or but for an abatement as a
consequence of hospitalisation be payable at the highest rate prescribed under section 72(3)
of the SSCBA in respect of—
(i) the applicant; or
(ii) a member of the applicant's family,
who has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or
(c) the daily living component of personal independence payment is, or would be payable at either
rate under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, but for a suspension of benefit in
accordance with section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 in respect of—
(i) the applicant; or
(ii) a member of the applicant's family,
who has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit.
(2) Where the condition in sub-paragraph (1) ceases to be satisfied because of the death of a child or
young person, the condition is that the applicant or partner is entitled to child benefit in respect of
that person under section 145A of the SSCBA (entitlement after death of child or qualifying young
person).

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 277

127

(3) The condition is not satisfied if the person to whom sub-paragraph (1) refers is—
(a) an applicant who—
(i) is not a member of a couple or a polygamous marriage; and
(ii) is a patient within the meaning of paragraph 58(11)(i) (treatment of child care charges)
and has been for a period of more than 52 weeks; or
(b) a member of a couple or a polygamous marriage where each member is a patient within the
meaning of paragraph 58(11)(i) and has been for a period of more than 52 weeks.
13. Disabled child premium
The condition is that a child or young person for whom the applicant or a partner of his is responsible and
who is a member of the applicant's household—
(a) is in receipt of disability living allowance or personal independence payment or is no longer in
receipt of such allowance because he is a patient, provided that the child or young person
continues to be a member of the family; or
(b) is blind or treated as blind within the meaning of paragraph 10; or
(c) is a child or young person in respect of whom section 145A of the SSCBA (entitlement after
death of child or qualifying young person) applies for the purposes of entitlement to child
benefit but only for the period prescribed under that section, and in respect of whom a
disabled child premium was included in the applicant's applicable amount immediately before
the death of that child or young person, or ceased to be included in the applicant's applicable
amount because of that child or young person's death.
14. Carer premium
(1) The condition is that the applicant or his partner is, or both of them are, entitled to a carer's
allowance under section 70 of the SSCBA.
(2) Where a carer premium is awarded but—
(a) the person in respect of whose care the carer's allowance has been awarded dies; or
(b) in any other case the person in respect of whom a carer premium has been awarded ceases
to be entitled to a carer's allowance,
the condition for the award of the premium is to be treated as satisfied for a period of eight
weeks from the relevant date specified in sub-paragraph (3).
(3) The relevant date for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) is—
(a) where sub-paragraph (2)(a) applies, the Sunday following the death of the person in respect
of whose care a carer's allowance has been awarded or the date of death if the death occurred
on a Sunday;
(b) in any other case, the date on which the person who has been entitled to a carer's allowance
ceases to be entitled to that allowance.
(4) Where a person who has been entitled to a carer's allowance ceases to be entitled to that allowance
and makes an application for a reduction, the condition for the award of the carer premium is to be
treated as satisfied for a period of eight weeks from the date on which—
(a) the person in respect of whose care the carer's allowance has been awarded dies; or
(b) in any other case, the person who has been entitled to a carer's allowance ceased to be
entitled to that allowance.
15. Persons in receipt of concessionary payments
For the purpose of determining whether a premium is applicable to a person under paragraphs 10 to 14,
any concessionary payment made to compensate that person for the non-payment of any benefit
mentioned in those paragraphs is to be treated as if it were a payment of that benefit.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 278

128

16. Persons in receipt of benefit for another
For the purposes of this Schedule, a person is to be regarded as being in receipt of any benefit if, and only
if, it is paid in respect of him and is to be so regarded only for any period in respect of which that benefit
is paid.
17. Amounts of Premiums Specified

Premium

Amount
(1)

(1) Disability Premium—
(a) where the applicant satisfies the condition in paragraph 9(a);
(b) where the applicant satisfies the condition in paragraph 9(b).

(a) £36.20
(b) £51.60
(2)

(2) Severe Disability Premium—
(a) where the applicant satisfies the condition in paragraph 11(2)(a);

(a) £69.40

(b) where the applicant satisfies the condition in paragraph 11(2)(b)—
(i) in a case where there is someone in receipt of a carer’s allowance
or has an award of universal credit which includes the carer element
under regulation 29 of the Universal Credit Regulations 2013; and if
he or any partner satisfies that condition only by virtue of paragraph
11(5);
(ii) (ii) in a case where there is no-one in receipt of such an allowance
or such an award of universal credit

(b)(i) £69.40

(b)(ii) £138.80

(3) £68.04 in respect of
each child or young person
in respect of whom the
condition specified in paragraph 13 of Part 3 of this
Schedule is satisfied.
(4) £38.85 in respect of
each person who satisfies
the condition specified in
paragraph 14.

(3) Disabled Child Premium.

(4) Carer Premium.

(5)

(5) Enhanced disability premium

(a) £27.44 in respect of each child or young person in respect of whom the conditions specified in
paragraph 12 are satisfied;

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 279

129

(b) £17.75 in respect of each person who is neither—
(i) a child or young person; nor
(ii) a member of a couple or a polygamous marriage,
in respect of whom the conditions specified in paragraph 12 are satisfied;
(c) £25.35 where the applicant is a member of a couple or a polygamous marriage and the conditions
specified in paragraph 12 are satisfied in respect of a member of that couple or polygamous marriage.
18. The components
Subject to paragraph 20 the applicant is entitled to one, but not both, of the components in paragraph
21 or 22 if—
(a) the applicant or the applicant's partner has made a claim for employment and support
allowance;
(b) the Secretary of State has decided that the applicant or the applicant's partner has, or is to be
treated as having, limited capability for work or limited capability for work-related activity;
and
(c) either—
(i) the assessment phase as defined in section 24(2) of the Welfare Reform Act has ended;
or
(ii) regulation 7 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 or 2013 as
appropriate (circumstances where the condition that the assessment phase has ended
before entitlement to the support component or the work related activity component
arises does not apply) applies.
19.

Subject to paragraph 20, the applicant is entitled to one, but not both, of the components in paragraphs
21 and 22 if the applicant or his partner is entitled to a converted employment and support allowance.

20.
(1) The applicant has no entitlement under paragraph 21 or 22 if the applicant is entitled to the disability
premium under paragraphs 9 and 10.
(2) Where the applicant and the applicant's partner each satisfies paragraph 21 or 22, the component
to be included in the applicant's applicable amount is that which relates to the applicant.
21. The work-related activity component

The applicant is entitled to the work-related activity component if the Secretary of State has decided that
the applicant or the applicant's partner has, or is to be treated as having, limited capability for work.
22. The support component
The applicant is entitled to the support component if the Secretary of State has decided that the applicant
or the applicant's partner has, or is to be treated as having, limited capability for work-related activity.
23. Amount of Components
The amount of the work-related activity component is £29.70
24.
The amount of the support component is £39.40.
25. Transitional Addition
(1) The applicant is entitled to the transitional addition calculated in accordance with paragraph 28
where the applicant or the applicant's partner (“the relevant person”)—
(a) is entitled to a converted employment and support allowance; or
(b) is appealing a conversion decision as described in regulation 5(2)(b) of the Employment and
Support Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit) (Existing
Awards) (No. 2) Regulations 2008 and—
(i) is treated as having limited capability for work by virtue of regulation 30 of the
Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 or 2013 as appropriate as
modified by the Employment and Support Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 280

130

Benefit and Council Tax Benefit) (Existing Awards) (No. 2) Regulations 2008; and
(ii) is not in receipt of an income-related employment and support allowance,
unless the amount of the transitional addition calculated in accordance with paragraph 28 would
be nil.
(2) The applicant's entitlement to a transitional addition by virtue of this paragraph ends on any of the
following—
(a) the reduction of the transitional addition to nil in accordance with paragraph 29;
(b) the termination of the applicant's award of reduction under this scheme;
(c) the relevant person ceasing to meet the requirements of sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (b), as the
case may be;
(d) the applicant or the applicant's partner becoming entitled to an income-related employment
and support allowance, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or income support;
(e) 5th April 2020.
26.
(1) This paragraph applies where—
(a) the applicant's entitlement to a transitional addition ends, by virtue of the termination of the
applicant's award of reduction, under—
(i) paragraph 25(2)(b);
(ii) sub-paragraph (3)(b); or
(iii) paragraph 27(3)(b);
(b) within 12 weeks of that termination but before 5th April 2020 the applicant again becomes
entitled to a reduction under this scheme;
(c) in the reduction week in which the applicant again becomes entitled to a reduction under this
scheme the relevant person is entitled to an employment and support allowance which is not
income-related; and
(d) at the date on which the applicant again becomes entitled to a reduction under this scheme,
neither the applicant nor the applicant's partner is entitled to an income-related employment
and support allowance, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or income support.
(2) Where this paragraph applies, the applicant is entitled, with effect from the day on which the
applicant again becomes entitled to a reduction under this scheme, to a transitional addition of the
amount of the transitional addition that would have applied had the applicant's entitlement to a
transitional addition not ended (but taking account of the effect which any intervening change of
circumstances would have had by virtue of paragraph 29), unless the amount of the transitional
addition would be nil.
(3) The applicant's entitlement to a transitional addition by virtue of this paragraph ends on any of the
following—
(a) the reduction of the transitional addition to nil in accordance with paragraph 29;
(b) the termination of the applicant's award of a reduction under this scheme;
(c) the relevant person no longer being entitled to the employment and support allowance
referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c);
(d) the applicant or the applicant's partner becoming entitled to an income-related employment
and support allowance, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or income support;
(e) 5th April 2020.
27.
(1) This paragraph applies where—
(a) the applicant's entitlement to a transitional addition ends, by virtue of the relevant person
ceasing to be entitled to an employment and support allowance, under—
(i) paragraph 25(2)(c);
(ii) paragraph 26(3)(c); or
(iii) sub-paragraph (3)(c);
(b) before 5th April 2020 the relevant person again becomes entitled to an employment and

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 281

131

support allowance which is not income-related;
(c) at the date on which the relevant person again becomes entitled to an employment support
allowance which is not income-related regulation 145(1) of the Employment and Support
Allowance Regulations 2008 or 2013 as appropriate applies to the relevant person; and
(d) at the date on which the relevant person again becomes entitled to an employment support
allowance which is not income-related, neither the applicant nor the applicant's partner is
entitled to an income-related employment and support allowance, an income-based
jobseeker's allowance or income support.
(2) Where this paragraph applies, the applicant is entitled, with effect from the day that the relevant
person's entitlement to employment and support allowance takes effect for the purposes of a
reduction under this scheme, to a transitional addition of the amount of the transitional addition
that would have applied had the applicant's entitlement to a transitional addition not ended (but
taking account of the effect which any intervening change of circumstances would have had by
virtue of paragraph 29), unless the amount of the transitional addition would be nil.
(3) The applicant's entitlement to a transitional addition by virtue of this paragraph ends on any of the
following—
(a) the reduction of the transitional addition to nil in accordance with paragraph 29;
(b) the termination of the applicant's award of a reduction under this scheme;
(c) the relevant person no longer being entitled to the employment and support allowance
referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(b);
(d) the applicant or the applicant's partner becoming entitled to an income-related employment
and support allowance, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or income support;
(e) 5th April 2020.
28. Amount of Transitional Addition
(1) Subject to paragraph 29, the amount of the transitional addition is the amount by which Amount A
exceeds Amount B.
(2) Where a conversion decision as described in regulation 5(2)(a) of the Employment and Support
Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit) (Existing Awards) (No.
2) Regulations 2010 (“the 2010 Regulations”) is made in respect of the relevant person—
(a) Amount A is the basic amount that would have applied on the day that decision took effect
had that decision not been made; and
(b) Amount B is the basic amount that applied on that day as a result of that decision.
(3) Where the relevant person is appealing a conversion decision as described in regulation 5(2)(b) of
the 2010 Regulations and is treated as having limited capability for work by virtue of regulation 30
of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 or 2013 as appropriate as modified by
the 2010 Regulations—
(a) Amount A is the basic amount that would have applied on the day the relevant person was
first treated as having limited capability for work if the relevant person had not been so
treated; and
(b) Amount B is the basic amount that applied on that day as a result of the relevant person being
so treated.
(4) In this paragraph and paragraph 29, “basic amount” means the aggregate of such amounts as may
apply in the applicant's case in accordance with paragraph 26(1)(a) to (e) or paragraph 27(1)(a) to
(f) (applicable amounts).
29.
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where there is a change of circumstances which leads to an increase
in the applicant's basic amount, the transitional addition that applies immediately before the change
of circumstances must be reduced by the amount by which Amount C exceeds Amount D.
(2) If Amount C exceeds Amount D by more than the amount of the transitional addition that applies
immediately before the change of circumstances, that transitional addition must be reduced to nil.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 282

132

(3) Amount C is the basic amount that applies as a result of the increase.
(4) Amount D is the basic amount that applied immediately before the increase.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 283

133

Schedule 4
Amount of alternative maximum council tax reduction: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners10

10 The following amounts shall be uprated annually in line with the amounts specified within the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 284

134

(1) Subject to paragraphs 2 and 3, the alternative maximum council tax reduction in respect of a day for
the purpose of paragraph 31 (alternative maximum council tax reduction: pensioners and persons
who are not pensioners) is determined in accordance with the following Table and in this Table—
(a) “second adult” means any person or persons residing with the applicant to whom paragraph
15(2) (class C) or 18(2) (class F) (as the case may be) applies; and
(b) “persons to whom paragraph 75(1) of this scheme applies” includes any person to whom that
paragraph would apply were they, and their partner if they had one, below the qualifying age
for state pension credit.
(2) In this Schedule “council tax due in respect of that day” means the council tax payable under
section 10 of the 1992 Act less:
(a) any reductions made in consequence of any enactment in, or under, the 1992 Act (other than
a reduction under this scheme); and
(b) in a case to which sub-paragraph (c) in column (1) of the table below applies, the amount of
any discount which may be appropriate to the dwelling under the 1992 Act.
(1)
Second adult
(a) Where the second adult or all second adults are in receipt of
income support, an income-related employment and support
allowance or state pension credit or are persons on an incomebased jobseeker’s allowance, or are under the age of 25 and in
receipt of Universal Credit where the award is calculated on the
basis that the second adult does not have any earned income
(as given in regulation 52 of the Universal Credit Regulations
2013)
(b) where the gross income of the second adult or, where there
is more than one second adult, their aggregate gross income
disregarding any income of persons on income support, an income-related employment and support allowance, state pension credit or an income-based jobseeker’s allowance—
(i) is less than £222.00 per week;
(ii) is not less than £222.00 per week but less than £288.00 per
week;
(c) where the dwelling would be wholly occupied by one or
more persons to whom paragraph 71(1) of this scheme applies
but for the presence of one or more second adults who are in
receipt of income support, state pension credit, an income-related employment and support allowance or are persons on an
income-based jobseeker’s allowance.

(2)
Alternative maximum council tax support
(a) 25 per cent of the council
tax due in respect of that
day;

(b)

(i) 15 per cent of the council
tax due in respect of that
day;
(ii) 7.5 per cent of the council tax due in respect of that
day;
(c) 100 per cent of the council tax due in respect of that
day.

2.
In determining a second adult's gross income for the purposes of this Schedule, the following must be
disregarded from that income—
(a) any attendance allowance, any disability living allowance, any personal independence payment
under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 or an AFIP;
(b) any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton
Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006) which, had his income fallen
to be calculated under paragraph 54 (calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are
not pensioners), would have been disregarded under paragraph 28 of Schedule 8 (income in kind);

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 285

135

and
(c) any payment which, had his income fallen to be calculated under paragraph 54, would have been
disregarded under paragraph 41 of Schedule 8 (payments made under certain trusts and certain
other payments).
3.

Where there are two or more second adults residing with the applicant for a reduction under this
scheme and any such second adult falls to be disregarded for the purposes of discount in accordance
with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, his income must be disregarded in determining the amount of any alternative maximum council tax reduction, unless that second adult is a member of a couple and his
partner does not fall to be disregarded for the purposes of discount.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 286

136

Schedule 5
Sums disregarded from applicant’s earnings: pensioners

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 287

137

1.
Where two or more of paragraphs 2 to 5 apply in any particular case the overall maximum sum which falls
to be disregarded in that case under those paragraphs is restricted to—
(a) £25 in the case of a lone parent;
(b) £20 in any other case.
2.
In a case where an applicant is a lone parent, £25 of earnings.
3.
(1) In a case of earnings from any employment or employments to which sub-paragraph (2) applies,
£20.
(2) This paragraph applies to employment—
(a) as a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority constituted by a scheme
under section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to which section 4 of
that Act applies;
(b) a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority (as defined in section 1 of the
Fire (Scotland) Act 2005) or a joint fire and rescue board constituted by an amalgamation
scheme made under section 2(1) of that Act;
(c) as an auxiliary coastguard in respect of coast rescue activities;
(d) in the manning or launching of a lifeboat if the employment is part-time;
(e) as a member of any territorial or reserve force prescribed in Part I of Schedule 6 to the Social
Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001.
(3) If
(a) any of the earnings of the applicant or, if he has a partner, his partner, or both of them, are
disregarded under sub-paragraph (1); and
(b) either of them has, or both of them have, other earnings,
so much of those other earnings as would not, in the aggregate with the earnings disregarded under
that sub-paragraph, exceed £20.
4.
(1) If the applicant or, if he has a partner, his partner is a carer, or both are carers, £20 of any earnings
received from his or their employment.
(2) Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of the applicant and of any partner of his, their
earnings must for the purposes of this paragraph be aggregated, but the amount to be disregarded
in accordance with sub-paragraph (1) must not exceed £20 of the aggregated amount.
(3) In this paragraph the applicant or his partner is a carer if paragraph 14 of Part 3 of Schedule 3
(amount applicable for carers) is satisfied in respect of him.
5.
(1) £20 is disregarded if the applicant or, if he has a partner, his partner—
(a) is in receipt of—
(i) long-term incapacity benefit under section 30A of the SSCBA;
(ii) severe disablement allowance under section 68 of that Act;
(iii) attendance allowance under sections 64 of that Act;
(iv) disability living allowance;
(v) personal independence payment;
(vi) an AFIP;
(vii) any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc.
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a supplement by
virtue of any other scheme or order) or under article 25A of the Personal Injuries

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 288

138

(Civilians) Scheme 1983;
(viii) the disability element or the severe disability element of working tax credit under
Schedule 2 to the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) Regulations 2002;
or
(ix) main phase employment and support allowance; or
(b) is or are registered as blind in a register compiled by a local authority under section 29 of the
National Assistance Act 1948 (welfare services) or, in Scotland, has been certified as blind and in
consequence is registered in a register maintained by or on behalf of a council constituted under
section 2 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994; or
(c) is, or is treated as, incapable of work in accordance with the provisions of, and regulations made
under, Part 12A of the SSCBA (incapacity for work), and has been incapable, or has been treated
as incapable, of work for a continuous period of not less than—
(i) in the case of an applicant who is terminally ill within the meaning of section 30B(4) of the
Act, 196 days;
(ii) in any other case, 364 days; or
(d) has, or is treated as having, limited capacity for work within the meaning of section 1(4) of the
Welfare Reform Act 1997 or limited capability for work-related activity within the meaning of
section 2(5) of that Act and either—
(i) the assessment phase as defined in section 24(2) of the Welfare Reform Act has ended; or
(ii) regulation 7 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 (circumstances
where the condition that the assessment phase has ended before entitlement to the
support component or the work-related activity component arising does not apply) applies.
(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), £20 is disregarded if the applicant or, if he has a partner, his partner
has, within a period of 8 weeks ending on the day in respect of which the applicant or his partner
attains the qualifying age for state pension credit, had an award of housing benefit or council tax
benefit or been in receipt of a reduction under this scheme and—
(a) £20 was disregarded in respect of earnings taken into account in that award; and
(b) the person whose earnings qualified for the disregard continues in employment after the
termination of that award.
(3) The disregard of £20 specified in sub-paragraph (2) applies so long as there is no break, other than
a break which does not exceed 8 weeks, in a person's—
(a) entitlement to housing benefit; or
(b) receipt of a reduction under a council tax reduction scheme; or
(c) employment,
following the first day in respect of which that benefit is awarded under this scheme.
(4) £20 is the maximum amount which may be disregarded under this paragraph, notwithstanding that,
where the applicant has a partner, both the applicant and his partner satisfy the requirements of
this paragraph.
6.
(1) Where—
(a) the applicant (or if the applicant is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple)
is a person to whom sub-paragraph (5) applies;
(b) the Secretary of State is satisfied that that person is undertaking exempt work as defined in
sub-paragraph (6); and
(c) paragraph 35 (applicant in receipt of guarantee credit: pensioners) does not apply,
the amount specified in sub-paragraph (7) (“the specified amount”).
(2) Where this paragraph applies, paragraphs 1 to 5 and 8 do not apply; but in any case where the
applicant is a lone parent, and the specified amount would be less than the amount specified in
paragraph 2, then paragraph 2 applies instead of this paragraph.
(3) Notwithstanding paragraph 33 (calculation of income and capital of members applicant's family and

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 289

139

of a polygamous marriage), if sub-paragraph (1) applies to one member of a couple (““A””) it does
not apply to the other member of that couple (“B”) except to the extent provided in sub-paragraph
(4).
(4) Where A's earnings are less than the specified amount, there is also to be disregarded so much of
B's earnings as would not when aggregated with A's earnings exceed the specified amount; but the
amount of B's earnings which may be disregarded under this sub-paragraph is limited to a maximum
of £20 unless the Secretary of State is satisfied that B is also undertaking exempt work.
(5) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is—
(a) in receipt of a contributory employment and support allowance;
(b) in receipt of incapacity benefit;
(c) in receipt of severe disablement allowance;
(d) being credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited capability for
work under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 1975.
(6) “Exempt work” means work of the kind described in;
(a) regulation 45(2), (3) or (4) of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008; or (as
the case may be); or
(b) regulation 17(2), (3) or (4) of the Social Security (Incapacity for Work) (General) Regulations
1995,
and, in determining for the purposes of this paragraph whether an applicant or a member of a
couple is undertaking any type of exempt work, it is immaterial whether that person or their
partner is also undertaking other work.
(7) The specified amount is the amount of money from time to time mentioned in any provision referred
to in sub-paragraph (6) by virtue of which the work referred to in sub-paragraph (1) is exempt (or,
where more than one such provision is relevant and those provisions mention different amounts of
money, the highest of those amounts).
7.

8.

9.

Any amount or the balance of any amount which would fall to be disregarded under paragraph 18 or 19
of Schedule 6 had the applicant's income which does not consist of earnings been sufficient to entitle
him to the full amount disregarded thereunder.
Except where the applicant or his partner qualifies for a £20 disregard under the preceding provisions of
this Schedule—
(a) £10 is to be disregarded if an applicant who has no partner has earnings;
(b) £20 is to be disregarded if an applicant who has a partner has earnings.
Any earnings, other than earnings referred to in paragraph 40(9)(b), derived from employment which
ended before the day in respect of which the applicant first satisfies the conditions for entitlement to a
reduction under this scheme.

10.
(1) In a case where the applicant is a person who satisfies at least one of the conditions set out in subparagraph (2), and his net earnings equal or exceed the total of the amounts set out in subparagraph (3), the amount of his earnings that falls to be disregarded under this Schedule is to be
increased by £17.10.
(2) The conditions of this sub-paragraph are that—
(a) the applicant, or if he has a partner, either the applicant or his partner, is a person to whom
regulation 20(1)(c) of the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) Regulations
2002 applies; or
(b) the applicant—
(i) is, or any partner of his is, aged at least 25 and is engaged in remunerative work for on
average not less than 30 hours per week; or
(ii) if he is a member of a couple—

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 290

140

(aa) at least one member of that couple is engaged in remunerative work for on average
not less than 16 hours per week; and
(bb) his applicable amount includes a family premium under paragraph 3 of Schedule
2; or
(iii) is a lone parent who is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 16
hours per week; or
(iv) is, or if he has a partner, one of them is, engaged in remunerative work for on average
not less than 16 hours per week and paragraph 5(1) above is satisfied in respect of that
person.
(3) The following are the amounts referred to in sub-paragraph (1)—
(a) any amount disregarded under this Schedule;
(b) the amount of child care charges calculated as deductible under paragraph 57(1)(c)
(deductions from income of certain child care charges); and
(c) £17.10.
(4) The provisions of paragraph 10 (remunerative work) apply in determining whether or not a person
works for on average not less than 30 hours per week, but as if the reference to 16 hours in subparagraph (1) of that paragraph was a reference to 30 hours.
11.

Where a payment of earnings is made in a currency other than Sterling, any banking charge or
commission payable in converting to that payment into Sterling.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 291

141

Schedule 6
Amounts to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: pensioners

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 292

142

1.11
100% of any of the following—
(a) a war disablement pension (except insofar as such a pension falls to be disregarded under
paragraph 2 or 3);
(b) a war widow's pension or war widower's pension;
(c) a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under any power
of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision about pensions for or
in respect of persons who have been disabled or have died in consequence of service as
members of the armed forces of the Crown;
(d) a guaranteed income payment and, if the amount of that payment has been abated to less
than £10 by a pension or payment falling within article 39(1)(a) or (b) of the Armed Forces and
Reserve Forces (Compensation Scheme) Order 2011, so much of that pension or payment as
would not, in aggregate with the amount of any guaranteed income payment disregarded,
exceed £10;
(e) a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment as is
mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs;
(f) a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is analogous to any
of the pensions or payments mentioned in sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) above;
(g) a pension paid by a government to victims of National Socialist persecution.
2.

3.

4.

5.

The whole of any amount included in a pension to which paragraph 1 relates in respect of—
(a) the applicant's need for constant attendance;
(b) the applicant's exceptionally severe disablement.
Any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement and
Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a supplement by virtue of any other scheme or order)
or under article 25A of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983 or any payment intended to
compensate for the non-payment of such a supplement.
Any supplementary pension under article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement
and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (pensions to surviving spouses and surviving civil partners) and
any analogous payment made by the Secretary of State for Defence to any person who is not a person
entitled under that Order.
In the case of a pension awarded at the supplementary rate under article 27(3) of the Personal Injuries
(Civilians) Scheme 1983 (pensions to widows, widowers or surviving civil partners), the sum specified in
paragraph 1(c) of Schedule 4 to that Scheme.

6.
(1) Any payment which is—
(a) made under any of the Dispensing Instruments to a widow, widower or surviving civil partner
of a person—
(i) whose death was attributable to service in a capacity analogous to service as a member
of the armed forces of the Crown; and
(ii) whose service in such capacity terminated before 31st March 1973; and
(b) equal to the amount specified in article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc.
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006.
(2) In this paragraph “the Dispensing Instruments” means the Order in Council of 19th December 1881,
the Royal Warrant of 27th October 1884 and the Order by His Majesty of 14th January 1922
(exceptional grants of pay, non-effective pay and allowances).

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 293

143

7.
8.
9.

10.

11.

12.

£15 of any widowed parent's allowance to which the applicant is entitled under section 39A of the SSCBA.
£15 of any widowed mother's allowance to which the applicant is entitled under section 37 of the SSCBA.
Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and he provides in that dwelling board and lodging
accommodation, an amount, in respect of each person for whom such accommodation is provided for
the whole or any part of a week, equal to—
(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect of such
accommodation provided to such person does not exceed £20, 100 per cent. of such
payments; or
(b) where the aggregate of any such payments exceeds £20, £20 and 50 per cent. of the excess
over £20.
If the applicant—
(a) owns the freehold or leasehold interest in any property or is a tenant of any property; and
(b) occupies a part of that property; and
(c) has an agreement with another person allowing that person to occupy another part of that
property on payment of rent and—
(i) the amount paid by that person is less than £20 per week, the whole of that amount; or
(ii) the amount paid is £20 or more per week, £20.
Where an applicant receives income under an annuity purchased with a loan, which satisfies the following
conditions—
(a) that the loan was made as part of a scheme under which not less than 90 per cent. of the
proceeds of the loan were applied to the purchase by the person to whom it was made of an
annuity ending with his life or with the life of the survivor of two or more persons (in this
paragraph referred to as “the annuitants”) who include the person to whom the loan was
made;
(b) that at the time the loan was made the person to whom it was made or each of the annuitants
had attained the age of 65 or if it was higher at the time, pensionable age;
(c) that the loan was secured on a dwelling in Great Britain and the person to whom the loan was
made or one of the annuitants owns an estate or interest in that dwelling;
(d) that the person to whom the loan was made or one of the annuitants occupies the dwelling
on which it was secured as his home at the time the interest is paid; and
(e) that the interest payable on the loan is paid by the person to whom the loan was made or by
one of the annuitants,
the amount, calculated on a weekly basis, equal to—
(i) where, or insofar as, section 369 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 (mortgage
interest payable under deduction of tax) applies to the payments of interest on the loan,
the interest which is payable after deduction of a sum equal to income tax on such
payments at the applicable percentage of income tax within the meaning of section
369(1A) of that Act;
(ii) in any other case, the interest which is payable on the loan without deduction of such a
sum.
(1) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, made to the applicant
by Trustees in exercise of a discretion exercisable by them.
(2) This sub-paragraph applies to payments made to the applicant by Trustees in exercise of a
discretion exercisable by them for the purpose of—
(a) obtaining food, ordinary clothing or footwear or household fuel;

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 294

144

(b) the payment of rent, council tax or water charges for which that applicant or his partner is
liable;
(c) meeting housing costs of a kind specified in Schedule 2 to the State Pension Credit
Regulations 2002.
(3) In a case to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, £20 or—
(a) if the payment is less than £20, the whole payment;
(b) if, in the applicant's case, £10 is disregarded in accordance with paragraph 1(a) to (g), £10
or the whole payment if it is less than £10; or
(c) if, in the applicant's case, £15 is disregarded under paragraph 7 or paragraph 8 and—
(i) he has no disregard under paragraph 1(a) to (g), £5 or the whole payment if it is less
than £5;
(ii) he has a disregard under paragraph 1(a) to (g), nil.
(4) For the purposes of this paragraph, “ordinary clothing or footwear” means clothing or footwear
for normal daily use, but does not include school uniforms, or clothing and footwear used solely
for sporting activities.
13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

Any increase in pension or allowance under Part 2 or 3 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc.
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 paid in respect of a dependent other than the
pensioner's partner.
Any payment ordered by a court to be made to the applicant or the applicant's partner in consequence
of any accident, injury or disease suffered by the person or a child of the person to or in respect of whom
the payments are made.
Periodic payments made to the applicant or the applicant's partner under an agreement entered into in
settlement of a claim made by the applicant or, as the case may be, the applicant's partner for an injury
suffered by him.
Any income which is payable outside the United Kingdom for such period during which there is a
prohibition against the transfer to the United Kingdom of that income.
Any banking charges or commission payable in converting to Sterling payments of income made in a
currency other than Sterling.
Where the applicant makes a parental contribution in respect of a student attending a course at an
establishment in the United Kingdom or undergoing education in the United Kingdom, which contribution
has been assessed for the purposes of calculating—
(a) under, or pursuant to regulations made under powers conferred by, section 22 of the Teaching
and Higher Education Act 1998, that student's award;
(b) under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 49 of the Education
(Scotland) Act 1980, that student's bursary, scholarship, or other allowance under that section
or under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 73 of that Act of
1980, any payment to that student under that section; or
(c) the student's student loan,
an amount equal to the weekly amount of that parental contribution, but only in respect of the period
for which that contribution is assessed as being payable.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 295

145

19.

(1) Where the applicant is the parent of a student aged under 25 in advanced education who
either—
(a) is not in receipt of any award, grant or student loan in respect of that education; or
(b) is in receipt of an award bestowed by virtue of the Teaching and Higher Education Act
1998, or regulations made thereunder, or a bursary, scholarship or other allowance under
section 49(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, or a payment under section 73 of that
Act of 1980,
and the applicant makes payments by way of a contribution towards the student's maintenance,
other than a parental contribution falling within paragraph 18, an amount specified in subparagraph (2) in respect of each week during the student's term.
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the amount is to be equal to—
(a) the weekly amount of the payments; or
(b) the amount by way of a personal allowance for a single applicant under 25 less the weekly
amount of any award, bursary, scholarship, allowance or payment referred to in subparagraph (1)(b),
whichever is less.

20.

(1) Where an applicant's applicable amount includes an amount by way of a family premium, £15 of
any payment of maintenance, whether under a court order or not, which is made or due to be
made by the applicant's spouse, civil partner, former spouse or former civil partner or the
applicant's partner's spouse, civil partner, former spouse, or former civil partner.
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), where more than one maintenance payment falls to be
taken into account in any week, all such payments must be aggregated and treated as if they
were a single payment.

21.

22.

23.
24.

Except in a case which falls under paragraph 10 of Schedule 5, where the applicant is a person who
satisfies any of the conditions of sub-paragraph (2) of that paragraph, any amount of working tax credit
up to £17.10.
Where the total value of any capital specified in Part 2 (capital disregarded only for the purposes of
determining deemed income) of Schedule 9 does not exceed £10,000, any income actually derived from
such capital.
Except in the case of income from capital specified in Part 2 of Schedule 9, any actual income from capital.
Where the applicant, or the person who was the partner of the applicant on 31st March 2003, was
entitled on that date to income support or an income-based jobseeker's allowance but ceased to be so
entitled on or before 5th April 2003 by virtue only of regulation 13 of the Housing Benefit (General)
Amendment (No. 3) Regulations 1999 as in force at that date, the whole of his income.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 296

146

Schedule 7
Sums disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 297

147

1.

In the case of an applicant who has been engaged in remunerative work as an employed earner or, had
the employment been in Great Britain, would have been so engaged—
(a) where—
(i) the employment has been terminated because of retirement; and
(ii) on retirement he is entitled to a retirement pension under the Act, or is not so entitled
solely because of his failure to satisfy the contribution conditions,
any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment, but only for a period
commencing on the day immediately after the date on which the employment was
terminated;
(b) where before the first day of entitlement to a reduction under this scheme the employment
has been terminated otherwise than because of retirement, any earnings paid or due to be
paid in respect of that employment except—
(i) any payment of the nature described in—
(aa) paragraph 51(1)(e) (retainer), or
(bb) section 28, 64 or 68 of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (guarantee
payments, suspension from work on medical or maternity grounds); and
(ii) any award, sum or payment of the nature described in—
(aa) paragraph 51(1)(g) or (i) (compensation etc. relating to employment), or
(bb) section 34 or 70 of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (guarantee payments and
suspension from work: complaints to employment tribunals),
including any payment made following the settlement of a complaint to an employment
tribunal or of court proceedings;
(c) where before the first day of entitlement to a reduction under this scheme—
(i) the employment has not been terminated, but
(ii) the applicant is not engaged in remunerative work,
any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except any payment or
remuneration of the nature described in paragraph (b)(i) or (ii)(bb) or paragraph 51(1)(j)
(statutory sick pay etc.).

2.
In the case of an applicant who, before the first day of entitlement to a reduction under this scheme—
(a) has been engaged in part-time employment as an employed earner or, where the employment
has been outside Great Britain, would have been so engaged had the employment been in
Great Britain; and
(b) has ceased to be engaged in that employment, whether or not that employment has been
terminated,
any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except—
(i) where that employment has been terminated, any payment of the nature described in
paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb);
(ii) where that employment has not been terminated, any payment or remuneration of the
nature described in paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb) or paragraph 51(1)(j) (statutory sick pay
etc.).
3.

4.

In the case of an applicant who has been engaged in remunerative work or part-time employment as a
self-employed earner or, had the employment been in Great Britain, would have been so engaged and
who has ceased to be so employed, from the date of the cessation of his employment, any earnings
derived from that employment except earnings to which paragraph 53(3) and (4) (earnings of selfemployed earners) apply.
(1) In a case to which this paragraph applies and paragraph 5 does not apply, £20; but
notwithstanding paragraph 33 (calculation of income and capital of members of an applicant's
family and of a polygamous marriage) if this paragraph applies to an applicant it does not apply
to his partner except where, and to the extent that, the earnings of the applicant which are to

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 298

148

be disregarded under this paragraph are less than £20.
(2) This paragraph applies where the applicant's applicable amount includes an amount by way of
the disability premium, severe disability premium, work-related activity component or support
component under Schedule 3 (applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners).

5.
6.

(3) This paragraph applies where—
(a) the applicant is a member of a couple and his applicable amount includes an amount by
way of the disability premium under Schedule 3; and
(b) he or his partner has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and at least
one is engaged in employment.
In a case where the applicant is a lone parent, £25.
(1) In a case to which neither paragraph 4 nor paragraph 5 applies to the applicant and, subject to
sub-paragraph (2), where the applicant's applicable amount includes an amount by way of the
carer premium under Schedule 3 (applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners), £20 of
the earnings of the person who is, or at any time in the preceding eight weeks was, in receipt of
carer's allowance or treated in accordance with paragraph 14(2) of that Schedule as being in
receipt of carer's allowance.
(2) Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of the applicant and of any partner of his, their
earnings must for the purposes of this paragraph be aggregated, but the amount to be
disregarded in accordance with sub-paragraph (1) must not exceed £20 of the aggregated
amount.

7.

8.

9.

Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of an applicant who is a member of a couple and whose
earnings are less than £20, but is not awarded in respect of the other member of the couple, and that
other member is engaged in an employment—
(a) specified in paragraph 9(1), so much of the other member's earnings as would not when
aggregated with the amount disregarded under paragraph 6 exceed £20;
(b) other than one specified in paragraph 9(1), so much of the other member's earnings from such
other employment up to £20 as would not when aggregated with the amount disregarded
under paragraph 5 exceed £20.
In a case where paragraphs 4, 6, 7 and 9 do not apply to the applicant and he is one of a couple and a
member of that couple is in employment, £20; but, notwithstanding paragraph 33 (calculation of income
and capital of members of applicant's family and of a polygamous marriage), if this paragraph applies to
an applicant it must not apply to his partner except where, and to the extent that, the earnings of the
applicant which are to be disregarded under this paragraph are less than £20.
(1) In a case where paragraphs 4, 6, 7 and 9 do not apply to the applicant, £20 of earnings derived
from one or more employments as—
(a) a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority constituted by a scheme
under section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to which section 4 of
that Act applies;
(b) a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority (as defined in section 1 of
the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005) or a joint fire and rescue board constituted by an
amalgamation scheme made under section 2(1) of that Act;
(c) an auxiliary coastguard in respect of coast rescue activities;
(d) a person engaged part-time in the manning or launching of a life boat;
(e) a member of any territorial or reserve force prescribed in Part I of Schedule 6 to the Social
Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001;
but, notwithstanding paragraph 33 (calculation of income and capital of members of applicant's

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 299

149

family and of a polygamous marriage), if this paragraph applies to an applicant it must not apply
to his partner except to the extent specified in sub-paragraph (2).

10.

11.
12.

(2) If the applicant's partner is engaged in employment—
(a) specified in sub-paragraph (1), so much of his earnings as would not in aggregate with the
amount of the applicant's earnings disregarded under this paragraph exceed £20;
(b) other than one specified in sub-paragraph (1), so much of his earnings from that
employment up to £20 as would not in aggregate with the applicant's earnings disregarded
under this paragraph exceed £20.
Where the applicant is engaged in one or more employments specified in paragraph 9(1), but his earnings
derived from such employments are less than £20 in any week and he is also engaged in any other
employment, so much of his earnings from that other employment, up to £10 if he is a single applicant,
or up to £20 if he has a partner, as would not in aggregate with the amount of his earnings disregarded
under paragraph 9 exceed £20.
In a case to which none of the paragraphs 4 to 10 applies, £10.
(1) Where—
(a) the applicant (or if the applicant is a member of a couple, at least one member of that
couple) is a person to whom sub-paragraph (5) applies;
(b) the Secretary of State is satisfied that that person is undertaking exempt work as defined
in sub-paragraph (6); and
(c) paragraph 14 does not apply,
the amount specified in sub-paragraph (7) (“the specified amount”).
(2) Where this paragraph applies, paragraphs 4 to 11 do not apply; but in any case where the
applicant is a lone parent, and the specified amount would be less than the amount specified in
paragraph 5, then paragraph 5 applies instead of this paragraph.
(3) Notwithstanding paragraph 33 (calculation of income and capital of members of applicant's
family and of a polygamous marriage), if sub-paragraph (1) applies to one member of a couple
(“A”) it does not apply to the other member of that couple (“B”) except to the extent provided
in sub-paragraph (4).
(4) Where A's earnings are less than the specified amount, there must also be disregarded so much
of B's earnings as would not when aggregated with A's earnings exceed the specified amount;
but the amount of B's earnings which may be disregarded under this sub-paragraph is limited to
a maximum of £20 unless the Secretary of State is satisfied that B is also undertaking exempt
work.
(5) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is—
(a) in receipt of a contributory employment and support allowance;
(b) in receipt of incapacity benefit;
(c) in receipt of severe disablement allowance; or
(d) being credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited capability for
work under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 1975.
(6) “Exempt work” means work of the kind described in
(a) regulation 45(2), (3) or (4) of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008; or
(as the case may be)
(b) regulation 17(2), (3) or (4) of the Social Security (Incapacity for Work) (General) Regulations
1995,
and, in determining for the purposes of this paragraph whether an applicant or a member of a

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 300

150

couple is undertaking any type of exempt work, it is immaterial whether that person or their
partner is also undertaking other work.
(7) The specified amount is the amount of money from time to time mentioned in any provision
referred to in sub-paragraph (6) by virtue of which the work referred to in sub-paragraph (1) is
exempt (or, where more than one such provision is relevant and those provisions mention
different amounts of money, the highest of those amounts).
13.

14.

15.

16.
17.
18.

Any amount or the balance of any amount which would fall to be disregarded under paragraph 23 or 24
of Schedule 8 had the applicant's income which does not consist of earnings been sufficient to entitle
him to the full disregard thereunder.
Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an income-related
employment and support allowance, his earnings.
Any earnings derived from employment which are payable in a country outside the United Kingdom for
such period during which there is a prohibition against the transfer to the United Kingdom of those
earnings.
Where a payment of earnings is made in a currency other than Sterling, any banking charge or
commission payable in converting that payment into Sterling.
Any earnings of a child or young person.
(1) In a case where the applicant is a person who satisfies at least one of the conditions set out in
sub-paragraph (2), and his net earnings equal or exceed the total of the amounts set out in subparagraph (3), the amount of his earnings that falls to be disregarded under paragraphs 4 to 12
must be increased by £17.10.
(2) The conditions of this sub-paragraph are that—
(a) the applicant, or if he is a member of a couple, either the applicant or his partner, is a
person to whom regulation 20(1)(c) of the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum
Rate) Regulations 2002 applies; or
(b) the applicant—
(i) is, or if he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple is aged at least
25 and is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 30 hours per
week; or
(ii) is a member of a couple and—
(aa) at least one member of that couple, is engaged in remunerative work for on
average not less than 16 hours per week; and
(bb) his applicable amount includes a family premium under paragraph 4 of
Schedule 3; or
(iii) is a lone parent who is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than
16 hours per week; or
(iv) is, or if he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple is engaged
in remunerative work for on average not less than 16 hours per week; and—
(aa) the applicant's applicable amount includes a disability premium under
paragraph 9, the work-related activity component under paragraph 21 or the
support component under paragraph 22 of Schedule 3 respectively;
(bb) where he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple
satisfies the qualifying conditions for the disability premium or either of the
components referred to in paragraph (aa) above and is engaged in
remunerative work for on average not less than 16 hours per week; or
(c) the applicant is, or if he has a partner, one of them is, a person to whom regulation

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 301

151

18(3) of the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) Regulations 2002
(eligibility for 50 plus element) applies, or would apply if an application for working tax
credit were to be made in his case.
(3) The following are the amounts referred to in sub-paragraph (1) —
(a) the amount calculated as disregardable from the applicant's earnings under paragraphs 4
to 12;
(b) the amount of child care charges calculated as deductible under paragraph 57(1)(c); and
(c) £17.10.
(4) The provisions of paragraph 10 (remunerative work) apply in determining whether or not a
person works for on average not less than 30 hours per week, but as if the reference to 16 hours
in sub-paragraph (1) of that paragraph were a reference to 30 hours.
19.

In this Schedule “part-time employment” means employment in which the person is engaged on average
for less than 16 hours a week.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 302

152

Schedule 8
Sums disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 303

153

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

6.
7.
8.
9.
10.

11.
12.

13.

14.
15.

Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any child care, travel or other expenses incurred, or to
be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Work for Your Benefit Pilot Scheme.
Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to be incurred,
by him in respect of his participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme.
Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to be incurred,
by him in respect of his participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme.
Any amount paid by way of tax on income which is to be taken into account under regulation 30
(calculation of income other than earnings).
Any payment in respect of any expenses incurred or to be incurred by an applicant who is—
(a) engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation, or
(b) a volunteer,
if he otherwise derives no remuneration or profit from the employment and is not to be treated as
possessing any earnings under paragraph 56(5) (notional income: persons who are not pensioners).
Any payment in respect of expenses arising out of an applicant participating as a service user.
In the case of employment as an employed earner, any payment in respect of expenses wholly,
exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment.
Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an income-related
employment and support allowance, the whole of his income.
Where the applicant is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the Jobseekers Act and his
partner is on an income-based jobseeker's allowance, the whole of the applicant's income.
Where the applicant, or the person who was the partner of the applicant on 31st March 2003, was
entitled on that date to income support or an income-based jobseeker's allowance but ceased to be so
entitled on or before 5th April 2003 by virtue only of regulation 13 of the Housing Benefit (General)
Amendment (No. 3) Regulations 1999 as in force at that date, the whole of his income.
Any disability living allowance, personal independence payment or an AFIP.
Any concessionary payment made to compensate for the non-payment of—
(a) any payment specified in paragraph 11 or 14;
(b) income support;
(c) an income-based jobseeker's allowance;
(d) an income-related employment and support allowance.
Any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement and
Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a supplement by virtue of any other scheme or order)
or under article 25A of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983 or any payment intended to
compensate for the non-payment of such a supplement.
Any attendance allowance.
Any payment to the applicant as holder of the Victoria Cross or of the George Cross or any analogous
payment.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 304

154

16.

17.

18.

(1) Any payment
(a) by way of an education maintenance allowance made pursuant to—
(i) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996 (payment of school
expenses; grant of scholarships etc.);
(ii) regulations made under section 49 or 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980
(power to assist persons to take advantage of educational facilities);
(iii) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid
under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992;
(b) corresponding to such an education maintenance allowance, made pursuant to—
(i) section 14 or section 181 of the Education Act 2002 (power of Secretary of State and
the Welsh Ministers to give financial assistance for purposes related to education or
childcare, and allowances in respect of education or training); or
(ii) regulations made under section 181 of that Act; or
(c) in England, by way of financial assistance made pursuant to section 14 of the Education Act
2002.
(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1) applies, made pursuant to—
(a) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996;
(b) regulations made under section 49 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; or
(c) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid under
section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992,
in respect of a course of study attended by a child or a young person or a person who is in receipt
of an education maintenance allowance or other payment made pursuant to any provision
specified in sub-paragraph (1).
Any payment made to the applicant by way of a repayment under regulation 11(2) of the Education
(Teacher Student Loans) (Repayment etc.) Regulations 2002.
(1) Any payment made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act or section 2 of the Enterprise and New
Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 except a payment—
(a) made as a substitute for income support, a jobseeker's allowance, incapacity benefit,
severe disablement allowance or an employment and support allowance;
(b) of an allowance referred to in section 2(3) of the Employment and Training Act 1973 or
section 2(5) of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990; or
(c) intended to meet the cost of living expenses which relate to any one or more of the items
specified in sub-paragraph (2) whilst an applicant is participating in an education, training
or other scheme to help him enhance his employment prospects unless the payment is a
Career Development Loan paid pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act and the period of
education or training or the scheme, which is supported by that loan, has been completed.
(2) The items specified in this sub-paragraph for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(c) are food,
ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of the applicant or, where the applicant is
a member of a family, any other member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for
which that applicant or member is liable.

19.

(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any of the following payments—
(a) a charitable payment;
(b) a voluntary payment;
(c) a payment (not falling within paragraph (a) or (b) above) from a trust whose funds are
derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant;
(d) a payment under an annuity purchased—
(i) pursuant to any agreement or court order to make payments to the applicant; or
(ii) from funds derived from a payment made,
in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant; or

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 305

155

(e) a payment (not falling within paragraphs (a) to (d)) received by virtue of any agreement or
court order to make payments to the applicant in consequence of any personal injury to
the applicant.
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply to a payment which is made or due to be made by—
(a) a former partner of the applicant, or a former partner of any member of the applicant's
family; or
(b) the parent of a child or young person where that child or young person is a member of the
applicant's family.
2012.
100% of any of the following, namely
(a) a war disablement pension (except insofar as such a pension falls to be disregarded under
paragraph 13 or 14 );
(b) a war widow's pension or war widower's pension;
(c) a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under any
power of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision about
pensions for or in respect of persons who have been disabled or have died in consequence
of service as members of the armed forces of the Crown;
(d) a guaranteed income payment and, if the amount of that payment has been abated to less
than £10 by a pension or payment falling within article 31(1)(a) or (b) of the Armed Forces
and Reserve Forces (Compensation Scheme) Order 2005, so much of that pension or
payment as would not, in aggregate with the amount of any guaranteed income payment
disregarded, exceed £10;
(e) a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment as is
mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs;
(f) a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is analogous to
any of the pensions or payments mentioned in paragraphs (a) to (d) above;
(g) pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special provision made
by the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or of the Republic of
Austria.
21.
Subject to paragraph 40, £15 of any
(a) widowed mother's allowance paid pursuant to section 37 of the SSCBA;
(b) widowed parent's allowance paid pursuant to section 39A of the SSCBA.
22.

(1) Any income derived from capital to which the applicant is or is treated under paragraph 70
(capital jointly held) as beneficially entitled but, subject to sub-paragraph (2), not income derived
from capital disregarded under paragraphs 4, 5, 7, 11, 17 or 30 to 33 of Schedule 10.
(2) Income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 5, 7 or 30 to 33 of Schedule 10 but
only to the extent of—
(a) any mortgage repayments made in respect of the dwelling or premises in the period during
which that income accrued; or
(b) any council tax or water charges which the applicant is liable to pay in respect of the
dwelling or premises and which are paid in the period during which that income accrued.
(3) The definition of ““water charges”” in paragraph 2(1) (interpretation) applies to sub-paragraph
(2) of this paragraph with the omission of the words ““in so far as such charges are in respect of
the dwelling which a person occupies as his home””.

23.

Where the applicant makes a parental contribution in respect of a student attending a course at an

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 306

156

establishment in the United Kingdom or undergoing education in the United Kingdom, which contribution
has been assessed for the purposes of calculating—
(a) under, or pursuant to regulations made under powers conferred by, section 22 of the Teaching
and Higher Education Act 1998, that student's award;
(b) under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 49 of the Education
(Scotland) Act 1980, that student's bursary, scholarship, or other allowance under that section
or under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 73 of that Act of
1980, any payment to that student under that section; or
(c) the student's student loan,
an amount equal to the weekly amount of that parental contribution, but only in respect of the period
for which that contribution is assessed as being payable.
24.

(1) Where the applicant is the parent of a student aged under 25 in advanced education who
either—
(a) is not in receipt of any award, grant or student loan in respect of that education; or
(b) is in receipt of an award bestowed by virtue of the Teaching and Higher Education Act
1998, or regulations made thereunder, or a bursary, scholarship or other allowance under
section 49(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, or a payment under section 73 of that
Act of 1980,
and the applicant makes payments by way of a contribution towards the student's maintenance,
other than a parental contribution falling within paragraph 23, an amount specified in subparagraph (2) in respect of each week during the student's term.
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the amount must be equal to—
(a) the weekly amount of the payments; or
(b) the amount by way of a personal allowance for a single applicant under 25 less the weekly
amount of any award, bursary, scholarship, allowance or payment referred to in subparagraph (1)(b),
whichever is less.

25.
Any payment made to the applicant by a child or young person or a non-dependant.
26.
Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and the dwelling is also occupied by a person other
than one to whom paragraph 25 or 27 refers and there is a contractual liability to make payments to the
applicant in respect of the occupation of the dwelling by that person or a member of his family—
(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect of the
occupation of the dwelling by that person or a member of his family, or by that person and a
member of his family, is less than £20, the whole of that amount; or
(b) where the aggregate of any such payments is £20 or more per week, £20.
27.
Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and he provides in that dwelling board and lodging
accommodation, an amount, in respect of each person for which such accommodation is provided for
the whole or any part of a week, equal to—
(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect of such
accommodation provided to such person does not exceed £20, 100 per cent of such payments;
(b) where the aggregate of any such payments exceeds £20, £20 and 50 per cent of the excess
over £20.
28.

(1) Any income in kind, except where paragraph 54(10)(b) (provision of support under section 95 or
98 of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 in the calculation of income other than earnings)

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 307

157

applies.
(2) The reference in sub-paragraph (1) to ““income in kind”” does not include a payment to a third
party made in respect of the applicant which is used by the third party to provide benefits in kind
to the applicant.
29.

30.

31.

32.

Any income which is payable in a country outside the United Kingdom for such period during which there
is a prohibition against the transfer to the United Kingdom of that income.
(1) Any payment made to the applicant in respect of a person who is a member of his family—
(a) pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and Children Act 2002
or in accordance or with a scheme approved by the Scottish Ministers under section 51A
of the Adoption (Scotland) Act 1978 (schemes for payments of allowances to adopters) or
in accordance with an adoption allowance scheme made under section 71 of the Adoption
and Children (Scotland) Act 2007 (adoption allowances schemes);
(b) which is a payment made by a local authority in pursuance of section 15(1) of, and
paragraph 15 of Schedule 1 to, the Children Act 1989 (local authority contribution to a
child's maintenance where the child is living with a person as a result of a residence order)
or in Scotland section 50 of the Children Act 1975 (payments towards maintenance of
children);
(c) which is a payment made by an authority, as defined in Article 2 of the Children (Northern
Ireland) Order 1995, in pursuance of Article 15 of, and paragraph 17 of Schedule 1 to, that
Order (contribution by an authority to child's maintenance);
(d) in accordance with regulations made pursuant to section 14F of the Children Act 1989
(special guardianship support services);
(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) applies, made to the applicant
pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and Children Act 2002.
Any payment made to the applicant with whom a person is accommodated by virtue of arrangements
made—
(a) by a local authority under—
(i) section 23(2)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision of accommodation and maintenance
for a child whom they are looking after),
(ii) section 26 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (manner of provision of accommodation to
child looked after by local authority), or
(iii) regulations 33 or 51 of the Looked After Children (Scotland) Regulations 2009 (fostering
and kinship care allowances and fostering allowances); or
(b) by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision of
accommodation by voluntary organisations).
Any payment made to the applicant or his partner for a person (“the person concerned”), who is not
normally a member of the applicant's household but is temporarily in his care, by—
(a) a health authority;
(b) a local authority but excluding payments of housing benefit made in respect of the person
concerned;
(c) a voluntary organisation;
(d) the person concerned pursuant to section 26(3A) of the National Assistance Act 1948;
(e) a primary care trust established under section 16A of the National Health Service Act 1977 or
established by an order made under section 18(2)(c) of the National Health Service Act 2006;
or
(f) a Local Health Board established under section 11 of the National Health Service (Wales) Act
2006.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 308

158

33.

Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C or 24A of the Children
Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 or section 22, 29 or 30
of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (provision of services for children and their families and advice and
assistance to certain children).

34.
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by a local authority in
accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989 or section 29 of the Children (Scotland) Act
1995 (local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of children and powers to grant financial assistance
to persons in, or formerly in, their care) to a person (“A”) which A passes on to the applicant.
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A—
(a) was formerly in the applicant's care, and
(b) is aged 18 or over, and
(c) continues to live with the applicant.
35.
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment received under an insurance policy taken out to insure
against the risk of being unable to maintain repayments—
(a) on a loan which is secured on the dwelling which the applicant occupies as his home; or
(b) under a regulated agreement as defined for the purposes of the Consumer Credit Act 1974 or
under a hire-purchase agreement or a conditional sale agreement as defined for the purposes
of Part 3 of the Hire-Purchase Act 1964.
(2) A payment referred to in sub-paragraph (1) is only to be disregarded to the extent that the payment
received under that policy does not exceed the amounts, calculated on a weekly basis, which are
used to—
(a) maintain the repayments referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or, as the case may be, (1)(b); and
(b) meet any amount due by way of premiums on—
(i) that policy; or
(ii) in a case to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) applies, an insurance policy taken out to insure
against loss or damage to any building or part of a building which is occupied by the
applicant as his home and which is required as a condition of the loan referred to in subparagraph (1)(a).
36.
Any payment of income which by virtue of paragraph 64 (income treated as capital: persons who are not
pensioners) is to be treated as capital.
37.
Any
(a) social fund payment made pursuant to Part 8 of the SSCBA (the social fund); or
(b) occasional assistance.
38.
39.

40.

Any payment under Part 10 of the SSCBA (Christmas bonus for pensioners).
Where a payment of income is made in a currency other than sterling, any banking charge or commission
payable in converting that payment into sterling.
The total of an applicant's income or, if he is a member of a family, the family's income and the income
of any person which he is treated as possessing under paragraph 33(3) (calculation of income and capital
of members of applicant's family and of a polygamous marriage) to be disregarded under paragraph
77(2)(b) and paragraph 78(1)(d) (calculation of covenant income where a contribution assessed,
covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed), paragraph 81(2) (treatment of
student loans), paragraph 82(3) (treatment of payments from access funds) and paragraphs 20 and 21

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 309

159

must in no case exceed £20 per week.
41.

(1) Any payment made under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the
Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006).
(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia or
who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made under or by any of the
Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of—
(a) that person's partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that person has
died was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that
has not been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not been dissolved at the time
of that person's death;
(b) any child who is a member of that person's family or who was such a member and who is
a member of the applicant's family; or
(c) any young person who is a member of that person's family or who was such a member and
who is a member of the applicant's family.
(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering or
who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person provided that the partner
or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were not, estranged or
divorced or, where the partner or former partner and that person have formed a civil
partnership, the civil partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, had not
been dissolved at the time of the death, which derives from a payment made under or by any of
the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of—
(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person;
(b) any child who is a member of that person's family or who was such a member and who is
a member of the applicant's family; or
(c) any young person who is a member of that person's family or who was such a member and
who is a member of the applicant's family.
(4) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, which
derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers, where—
(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or divorced
or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor any child
or young person who is or had been a member of that person's family; and
(b) the payment is made either—
(i) to that person's parent or step-parent, or
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child, a young person or a student
who has not completed his education and has no parent or step-parent, to his
guardian,
but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that person's
death.
(5) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a
qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which subparagraph (1) refers, where—
(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former partner
from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil
partnership that has not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was or had
been a member of his family; and
(b) the payment is made either—
(i) to that person's parent or step-parent, or
(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student who
had not completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, to his
guardian,

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 310

160

but only for a period of two years from the relevant date.
(6) In the case of a person to whom or for whose benefit a payment referred to in this paragraph is
made, any income which derives from any payment of income or capital made under or deriving
from any of the Trusts.

42.
43.

44.

45.

(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts is to be construed as
including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton
Foundation and the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund.
Any housing benefit.
Any payment made by the Secretary of State to compensate for the loss (in whole or in part) of
entitlement to housing benefit.
Any payment to a juror or witness in respect of attendance at a court other than compensation for loss
of earnings or for the loss of a benefit payable under the benefit Acts.
Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 of the 1992 Act (reduction of
liability for council tax).

46.
(1) Any payment or repayment made—
(a) as respects England, under regulation 5, 6 or 12 of the National Health Service (Travel Expenses
and Remission of Charges) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and health service supplies);
(b) as respects Wales, under regulation 5, 6 or 11 of the National Health Service (Travelling
Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (travelling expenses and health
service supplies);
(c) as respects Scotland, under regulation 3, 5 or 11 of the National Health Service (Travelling
Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Scotland) (No. 2) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses
and health service supplies).
(2) Any payment or repayment made by the Secretary of State for Health, the Scottish Ministers or the
Welsh Ministers which is analogous to a payment or repayment mentioned in sub-paragraph (1).
47.

48.

Any payment made to such persons entitled to receive benefits as may be determined by or under a
scheme made pursuant to section 13 of the Social Security Act 1988 in lieu of vouchers or similar
arrangements in connection with the provision of those benefits (including payments made in place of
healthy start vouchers, milk tokens or the supply of vitamins).
Any payment made by either the Secretary of State for Justice or by the Scottish Ministers under a
scheme established to assist relatives and other persons to visit persons in custody.

49.
(1) Where an applicant's applicable amount includes an amount by way of family premium, £15 of any
payment of maintenance, other than child maintenance, whether under a court order or not, which
is made or due to be made by the applicant's former partner, or the applicant's partner's former
partner.
(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1) where more than one maintenance payment falls to be taken
into account in any week, all such payments must be aggregated and treated as if they were a single
payment.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 311

161

(3) A payment made by the Secretary of State in lieu of maintenance must, for the purpose of subparagraph (1), be treated as a payment of maintenance made by a person specified in sub-paragraph
(1).
50.
(1) Any payment of child maintenance made or derived from a liable relative where the child or young
person in respect of whom the payment is made is a member of the applicant's family, except where
the person making the payment is the applicant or the applicant's partner.
(2) In sub-paragraph (1) —
“child maintenance” means any payment towards the maintenance of a child or young person,
including any payment made voluntarily and payments made under
(a) the Child Support Act 1991;
(b) the Child Support (Northern Ireland) Order 1991;
(c) a court order;
(d) a consent order;
(e) a maintenance agreement registered for execution in the Books of Council and Session or the
sheriff court books;
“liable relative” means a person listed in regulation 54 (interpretation) of the Income Support
(General) Regulations 1987, other than a person falling within sub-paragraph (d) of that definition.
51.

52.

Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of State or any other
person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944 to assist disabled persons to obtain or retain
employment despite their disability.
Any guardian's allowance.

53.
(1) If the applicant is in receipt of any benefit under Part 2, 3 or 5 of the SSCBA, any increase in the rate
of that benefit arising under Part 4 (increases for dependants) or section 106(a) (unemployability
supplement) of that Act, where the dependant in respect of whom the increase is paid is not a
member of the applicant's family.
(2) If the applicant is in receipt of any pension or allowance under Part 2 or 3 of the Naval, Military and
Air Forces Etc. (Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006, any increase in the rate of
that pension or allowance under that Order, where the dependant in respect of whom the increase
is paid is not a member of the applicant's family.
54.

55.

Any supplementary pension under article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement
and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (pensions to surviving spouses and surviving civil partners) and
any analogous payment made by the Secretary of State for Defence to any person who is not a person
entitled under that Order.

In the case of a pension awarded at the supplementary rate under article 27(3) of the Personal Injuries
(Civilians)Scheme 1983 (pensions to widows, widowers or surviving civil partners), the sum specified in
paragraph 1(c) of Schedule 4 to that Scheme.

56.
(1) Any payment which is—
(a) made under any of the Dispensing Instruments to a widow, widower or surviving civil partner
of a person—
(i) whose death was attributable to service in a capacity analogous to service as a member

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 312

162

of the armed forces of the Crown; and
(ii) whose service in such capacity terminated before 31st March 1973; and
(b) equal to the amount specified in article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc.
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006.
(2) In this paragraph “the Dispensing Instruments” means the Order in Council of 19th December 1881,
the Royal Warrant of 27th October 1884 and the Order by His Majesty of 14th January 1922
(exceptional grants of pay, non-effective pay and allowances).
57.
58.

59.

Any council tax benefit to which the applicant is entitled.
Except in a case which falls under sub-paragraph (1) of paragraph 18 of Schedule 7, where the applicant
is a person who satisfies any of the conditions of sub-paragraph (2) of that paragraph, any amount of
working tax credit up to £17.10.
Any payment made under section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968, or under sections 12A to
12D of the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for health care) or under regulations made
under section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001 (direct payments).

60.
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), in respect of a person who is receiving, or who has received, assistance
under the self-employment route, any payment to that person—
(a) to meet expenses wholly and necessarily incurred whilst carrying on the commercial activity;
(b) which is used or intended to be used to maintain repayments on a loan taken out by that
person for the purpose of establishing or carrying on the commercial activity,
in respect of which such assistance is or was received.
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only in respect of payments which are paid to that person from the special
account.
61.
(1) Any payment of a sports award except to the extent that it has been made in respect of any one or
more of the items specified in sub-paragraph (2).
(2) The items specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) are food, ordinary clothing or footwear,
household fuel or rent of the applicant or where the applicant is a member of a family, any other
member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for which that applicant or member is
liable.
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) “food” does not include vitamins, minerals or other special
dietary supplements intended to enhance the performance of the person in the sport in respect of
which the award was made.
62.

63.

Where the amount of subsistence allowance paid to a person in a reduction week exceeds the amount
of income-based jobseeker's allowance that person would have received in that reduction week had it
been payable to him, less 50p, that excess amount.
In the case of an applicant participating in an employment zone programme, any discretionary payment
made by an employment zone contractor to the applicant, being a fee, grant, loan or otherwise.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 313

163

64.

Any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the Discretionary Financial
Assistance Regulations 2001.

65.
(1) Any payment made by a local authority or by the Welsh Ministers, to or on behalf of the applicant
or his partner relating to a service which is provided to develop or sustain the capacity of the
applicant or his partner to live independently in his accommodation.
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) ““local authority”” includes, in England, a county council.
66.
Any payment of child benefit.
67
Any payments to a claimant made under section 49 of the Children and Families Act 2014 (personal budgets
and direct payments)

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 314

164

Schedule 9
Capital disregards: pensioners

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 315

165

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.
9.

10.

Any premises acquired for occupation by the applicant which he intends to occupy as his home within 26
weeks of the date of acquisition or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable the
applicant to obtain possession and commence occupation of the premises.
Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home, and in respect of which he is taking
steps to obtain possession and has sought legal advice, or has commenced legal proceedings, with a view
to obtaining possession, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first sought such advice or
first commenced such proceedings whichever is the earlier, or such longer period as is reasonable in the
circumstances to enable him to obtain possession and commence occupation of those premises.
Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home to which essential repairs or alterations
are required in order to render them fit for such occupation, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on
which the applicant first takes steps to effect those repairs or alterations, or such longer period as is
necessary to enable those repairs or alterations to be carried out.
Any premises occupied in whole or in part—
(a) by a person who is a relative of the applicant or his partner as his home where that person has
attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or is incapacitated;
(b) by the former partner of the applicant as his home; but this provision does not apply where
the former partner is a person from whom the applicant is estranged or divorced or with
whom he had formed a civil partnership that has been dissolved.
Any future interest in property of any kind, other than land or premises in respect of which the applicant
has granted a subsisting lease or tenancy, including sub-leases or sub-tenancies.
Where an applicant has ceased to occupy what was formerly the dwelling occupied as the home following
his estrangement or divorce from his former partner or the dissolution of a civil partnership with his
former partner, that dwelling for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he ceased to occupy that
dwelling or, where the dwelling is occupied as the home by the former partner who is a lone parent, for
so long as it is so occupied.
Any premises where the applicant is taking reasonable steps to dispose of the whole of his interest in
those premises, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first took such steps, or such longer
period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to dispose of those premises.
All personal possessions.
The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant and for the purposes of which he
is engaged as a self-employed earner or, if he has ceased to be so engaged, for such period as may be
reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of those assets.
The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant if—
(a) he is not engaged as a self-employed earner in that business by reason of some disease or
bodily or mental disablement; but
(b) he intends to become engaged (or, as the case may be, re-engaged) as a self-employed
earner in that business as soon as he recovers or is able to become engaged, or re-engaged,

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 316

166

in that business,
for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which the application for a reduction under this scheme is
made or, if it is unreasonable to expect him to become engaged or re-engaged in that business within
that period, for such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to become so
engaged or re-engaged.
11.
12.

13.

The surrender value of any policy of life insurance.
The value of any funeral plan contract; and for this purpose, ““funeral plan contract”” means a contract
under which—
(a) the applicant makes one or more payments to another person (““the provider””);
(b) the provider undertakes to provide, or secure the provision of, a funeral in the United Kingdom
for the applicant on his death; and
(c) the sole purpose of the plan is to provide or secure the provision of a funeral for the applicant
on his death.
Where an ex-gratia payment has been made by the Secretary of State on or after 1st February 2001 in
consequence of the imprisonment or internment of—
(a) the applicant;
(b) the applicant's partner;
(c) the applicant's deceased spouse or deceased civil partner; or
(d) the applicant's partner's deceased spouse or deceased civil partner,
by the Japanese during the Second World War, an amount equal to that payment.

14.
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amount of any trust payment made to an applicant or an
applicant's partner who is
(a) a diagnosed person;
(b) a diagnosed person's partner or was a diagnosed person's partner at the time of the diagnosed
person's death; or
(c) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person's parents or
a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person's death.
(2) Where a trust payment is made to—
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (b), that sub-paragraph applies for the period
beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending on the date on which
that person dies;
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c), that sub-paragraph applies for the period
beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending two years after that
date.
(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), the amount of any payment by a person to whom a trust payment has
been made or of any payment out of the estate of a person to whom a trust payment has been
made, which is made to an applicant or an applicant's partner who is—
(a) the diagnosed person;
(b) a diagnosed person's partner or was a diagnosed person's partner at the date of the diagnosed
person's death; or
(c) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person's parents or
a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person's death.
(4) Where a payment such as referred to in sub-paragraph (3) is made to—
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(a) or (b), that sub-paragraph applies for the period

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 317

167

beginning on the date on which the payment is made and ending on the date on which that
person dies;
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(c), that sub-paragraph applies for the period
beginning on the date on which the payment is made and ending two years after that date.
(5) In this paragraph, a reference to a person
(a) being the diagnosed person's partner;
(b) acting in place of the diagnosed person's parents,
at the date of the diagnosed person's death includes a person who would have been such a person
or a person who would have been so acting, but for the diagnosed person residing in a care home
or an independent hospital.
(6) In this paragraph—
“diagnosed person” means a person who has been diagnosed as suffering from, or who, after his
death, has been diagnosed as having suffered from, variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease;
“relevant trust” means a trust established out of funds provided by the Secretary of State in respect
of persons who suffered, or who are suffering, from variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease for the
benefit of persons eligible for payments in accordance with its provisions;
“trust payment” means a payment under a relevant trust.
15.

The amount of any payment, other than a war pension, to compensate for the fact that the applicant,
the applicant's partner, the applicant's deceased spouse or civil partner or the applicant's partner's
deceased spouse or civil partner—
(a) was a slave labourer or a forced labourer;
(b) had suffered property loss or had suffered personal injury; or
(c) was a parent of a child who had died,
during the Second World War.

16.
(1) Any payment made under or by—
(a) the Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments)
(No. 2) Trust, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, “the
Scottish Infected Blood Support Scheme, an approved blood scheme, the London Emergencies Trust, the
We Love Manchester Emergency Fund, the Grenfell Tower charitable funds, the Grenfell Tower Residents’ Discretionary Fund, the Windrush Compensation Scheme or the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund (collectively referred to in this paragraph as “the Trusts”); or
(aa) a Grenfell Tower support payment
(b) the Independent Living Fund (2006)
(c) Any historical child abuse payment
(d) Any Windrush payment.
(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia or who is
or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made under or by any of the Trusts or from a
Grenfell Tower support payment, a historical child abuse payment or a Windrush payment and which is
made to or for the benefit of that person's partner or former partner—
(a) from whom he is not, or where that person has died was not, estranged or divorced, or
(b) with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved or, where that person has
died, had not been dissolved at the time of that person's death.
(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering or who suffered
from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person which derives from a payment made under or by
any of the Trusts or from a Grenfell Tower support payment, a historical child abuse payment or a

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 318

168

Windrush payment and which is made to or for the benefit of the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person.
(4) Sub-paragraph (3) does not apply if—
(a) the partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were not, estranged or divorced, or
(b) where the partner or former partner and that person have formed a civil partnership, the civil
partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, had not been dissolved at the time
of the death.
(5)

Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts or from a Grenfell Tower support payment, a historical child abuse payment or a Windrush payment where—
(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or divorced or with
whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor any child who is or had been
a member of that person's household; and
(b) the payment is made either—
(i) to that person's parent or step-parent; or
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child or a student who has not completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, to any person standing in
the place of his parent,
but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that person's
death.

(6)

Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a qualifying
person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts or from a Grenfell Tower support
payment ,a historical child abuse payment or a Windrush payment, where—
(a) that person at the date of his death (“the relevant date”) had no partner or former partner from
whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he had formed a civil partnership that had not
been dissolved, nor any child who was or had been a member of his household;
and
(b) the payment is made either—
(i) to that person's parent or step-parent; or
(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child or a student who had not completed
his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, to any person standing in place of
his parent, but only for a period of two years from the relevant date.

(7)

In the case of a person to whom or for whose benefit a payment referred to in this paragraph is made,
any capital resource which derives from—
(a)any payment of income or capital made under or deriving from any of the Trusts; or
(b)a Grenfell Tower support payment, a historical child abuse payment or a Windrush payment.

16A.
Any payment made under, or by, a trust which is approved by the Secretary of State and which is
established for the purpose of giving relief and assistance to a disabled person whose disabilities
were caused by their mother having taken a preparation containing the drug known as Thalidomide
during her pregnancy
17.
(1) An amount equal to the amount of any payment made in consequence of any personal injury to the
applicant or, if the applicant has a partner, to the partner.
(2) Where the whole or part of the payment is administered—
(a) by the High Court or the County Court under Rule 21.11(1) of the Civil Procedure Rules 1998,
or the Court of Protection, or on behalf of a person where the payment can only be disposed
of by order or direction of any such court;
(b) in accordance with an order made under Rule 36.14 of the Ordinary Cause Rules 1993 or under
Rule 128 of those Rules; or

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 319

169

(c) in accordance with the terms of a trust established for the benefit of the applicant or his
partner,
the whole of the amount so administered.
18.

19.

20.

Any amount specified in paragraph 19, 19A, 20, 21 or 25 for a period of one year beginning with the date
of receipt.
Amounts paid under a policy of insurance in connection with the loss of or damage to the property
occupied by the applicant as his home and to his personal possessions.
So much of any amounts paid to the applicant or deposited in the applicant's name for the sole purpose
of
(a) purchasing premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home; or
(b) effecting essential repairs or alterations to the premises occupied or intended to be occupied
by the applicant as his home.

21.
(1) Subject to paragraph 22 any amount paid—
(a) by way of arrears of benefit;
(b) by way of compensation for the late payment of benefit;
(c) in lieu of the payment of benefit;
(d) to rectify, or compensate for, an official error or an error on a point of law, as defined for the purposes of paragraph 22, being an amount to which that paragraph does not apply;
(e) by a local authority out of funds provided under either section 93 of the Local Government Act
2000 under a scheme known as “Supporting People” or section 91 of the Housing (Scotland)
Act 2001.
(2) In sub-paragraph (1), “benefit” means
(a) attendance allowance under section 64 of the Act;
(b) disability living allowance;
(c) personal independence payment;
(d) an AFIP;
(e) income support;
(f) income-based jobseeker's allowance;
(g) state pension credit;
(h) housing benefit;
(i) council tax benefit;
(j) child tax credit;
(k) an increase of a disablement pension under section 104 of the SSCBA (increase where constant
attendance is needed), and any further increase of such a pension under section 105 of the
Act (increase for exceptionally severe disablement);
(l) any amount included on account of the applicant's exceptionally severe disablement or need
for constant attendance in a war disablement pension or a war widow's or widower's pension;
(m) any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the Discretionary
Financial Assistance Regulations 2001;
(n) working tax credit; or
(o) income-related employment and support allowance.
(p) universal credit,
(q) maternity allowance under section 35 of the SSCBA (state maternity allowance for employed or selfemployed earner);
(r) early years assistance given in accordance with section 32 of the Social Security (Scotland) Act 2018;
or
(s) funeral expense assistance given in accordance with section 34 of that Act

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 320

170

22.
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), any payment of £5,000 or more which has been made to rectify, or to
compensate for, an official error relating to a relevant benefit and which has been received by the
applicant in full on or after the day on which he became entitled to a reduction under this scheme.
(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), the total amount of any payments disregarded under—
(a) paragraph 7(2) of Schedule 10 to the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987;
(b) paragraph 12(2) of Schedule 8 to the Jobseeker's Allowance Regulations 1996;
(c) paragraph 9(2) of Schedule 5 to the Council Tax Benefit Regulations 2006;
(d) paragraph 20A of Schedule 5 to the State Pension Credit Regulations 2002,
(e) paragraph 11(2) of Schedule 9 to the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008,
where the award in respect of which the payments last fell to be disregarded under those
Regulations either terminated immediately before the relevant date or is still in existence at that
date.
(3) Any disregard which applies under sub-paragraph (1) or (2) has effect until the award comes to an
end.
(4) In this paragraph—
“the award”, except in sub-paragraph (2), means
(a) the award of a reduction under the authority's scheme during which the relevant sum or,
where it is paid in more than one instalment, the first instalment of that sum is received; and
(b) where that award is followed by one or more further awards which, or each of which, begins
immediately after the previous award ends, such further awards until the end of the last such
award, provided that, for such further awards, the applicant—
(i) is the person who received the relevant sum;
(ii) is the partner of that person; or
(iii) was the partner of that person at the date of his death;
“official error”
(a) where the error relates to housing benefit, or council tax benefit (in respect of any period
before 1st April 2013), has the meaning given by regulation 1(2) of the Housing Benefit and
Council Tax Benefit (Decisions and Appeals) Regulations 2001; and
(b) where the error relates to any other relevant benefit, has the meaning given by regulation 1(3)
of the Social Security and Child Support (Decisions and Appeals) Regulations 1999;
“the relevant date” means the date on which the application for a reduction under this scheme was
made;
“relevant benefit” means any benefit specified in paragraph 21(2); and
“the relevant sum” means the total amount referred to in sub-paragraph (1).
23.

24.

25.

26.

Where a capital asset is held in a currency other than Sterling, any banking charge or commission payable
in converting that capital into Sterling.
The value of the right to receive income from an occupational pension scheme or a personal pension
scheme.
Any arrears of supplementary pension which is disregarded under paragraph 4 of Schedule 6 (amounts
to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings) or of any amount which is disregarded
under paragraph 5 or 6 of that Schedule.
The dwelling occupied as the home; but only one dwelling is to be disregarded under this paragraph.

27.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 321

171

(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where an applicant falls within class C (alternative maximum council
tax reduction: pensioners), the whole of his capital.
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply where an applicant falls within class B and class C.
28.

Where a person elects to be entitled to a lump sum under Schedule 5 or 5A to SSCBA or under Schedule
1 to the Social Security (Graduated Retirement Benefit) Regulations 2005, or is treated as having made
such an election, and a payment has been made pursuant to that election, an amount equal to—
(a) except where sub-paragraph (b) applies, the amount of any payment or payments made on
account of that lump sum;
(b) the amount of that lump sum,
but only for so long as that person does not change that election in favour of an increase of pension or
benefit.

29.

Any payments made by virtue of regulations made under—
(a) section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001 (direct payments);
(b) section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 (direct payments in respect of community
care services);
(c) sections 12A to 12C of the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for health care);
(d) Article 15 of the Health and Personal Social Services (Northern Ireland) Order 1972 (general
social welfare);
(e) section 8 of the Carers and Direct Payments Act (Northern Ireland) 2002 (direct payments);
or
(f) by virtue of regulations made under section 50 or 52 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales)
Act 2014 (direct payments)

29A.
(1) Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 26A of the Children (Scotland) Act
1995 (duty to provide continuing care)(a).
(2) Any payment or part of a payment made by a local authority in accordance with that section to a person
(“A”) which A passes on to the applicant where A—
(a) was formerly in the applicant’s care;
(b) is aged 16 or over; and
(c) continues to live with the applicant.”.
Capital disregarded only for the purposes of determining deemed income
30.
The value of the right to receive any income under a life interest or from a life rent.
31.

32.

The value of the right to receive any rent except where the applicant has a reversionary interest in the
property in respect of which rent is due.
The value of the right to receive any income under an annuity or the surrender value (if any) of such an
annuity.

33.
Where property is held under a trust, other than
(a) a charitable trust within the meaning of the Charities Act 1993; or
(b) a trust set up with any payment to which paragraph 16 applies,
and under the terms of the trust, payments fall to be made, or the trustees have a discretion to make
payments, to or for the benefit of the applicant or the applicant's partner, or both, that property.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 322

172

34
Any payments to a claimant made under section 49 of the Children and Families Act 2014 (personal budgets and direct payments)

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 323

173

Schedule 10
Capital disregards: persons who are not pensioners

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 324

174

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any child care, travel or other expenses incurred, or to
be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Work for Your Benefit Scheme but only for 52
weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment.
Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to be incurred,
by him in respect of his participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme but only for 52 weeks
beginning with the date of receipt of the payment.
Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to be incurred,
by him in respect of his participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme but only for 52
weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment.
The dwelling together with any garage, garden and outbuildings, normally occupied by the applicant as
his home including any premises not so occupied which it is impracticable or unreasonable to sell
separately, but, notwithstanding paragraph 33 (calculation of income and capital of members of
applicant's family and of a polygamous marriage), only one dwelling is to be disregarded under this
paragraph.
Any premises acquired for occupation by the applicant which he intends to occupy as his home within 26
weeks of the date of acquisition or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable the
applicant to obtain possession and commence occupation of the premises.
Any sum directly attributable to the proceeds of sale of any premises formerly occupied by the applicant
as his home which is to be used for the purchase of other premises intended for such occupation within
26 weeks of the date of sale or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable the
applicant to complete the purchase.
Any premises occupied in whole or in part
(a) by a partner or relative of a single applicant or any member of the family as his home where
that person has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or is incapacitated;
(b) by the former partner of the applicant as his home; but this provision does not apply where
the former partner is a person from whom the applicant is estranged or divorced or with
whom he had formed a civil partnership that has been dissolved.
Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an income-related
employment and support allowance, the whole of his capital.
Where the applicant is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the Jobseekers Act 1995 and
his partner is on income-based jobseeker's allowance, the whole of the applicant's capital.
Any future interest in property of any kind, other than land or premises in respect of which the applicant
has granted a subsisting lease or tenancy, including sub-leases or sub-tenancies.

11.
(1) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant and for the purposes of which
he is engaged as a self-employed earner, or if he has ceased to be so engaged, for such period as

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 325

175

may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of any such asset.
(2) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant where—
(a) he is not engaged as a self-employed earner in that business by reason of some disease or
bodily or mental disablement; but
(b) he intends to become engaged or, as the case may be, re-engaged as a self-employed earner
in that business as soon as he recovers or is able to become engaged or re-engaged in that
business,
for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which the application for a reduction under this scheme
is made, or is treated as made, or, if it is unreasonable to expect him to become engaged or reengaged in that business within that period, for such longer period as is reasonable in the
circumstances to enable him to become so engaged or re-engaged.
(3) In the case of a person who is receiving assistance under the self-employment route, the assets
acquired by that person for the purpose of establishing or carrying on the commercial activity in
respect of which such assistance is being received.
(4) In the case of a person who has ceased carrying on the commercial activity in respect of which
assistance was received as specified in sub-paragraph (3), the assets relating to that activity for such
period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of any such asset.
12.
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any arrears of, or any concessionary payment made to compensate for
arrears due to the non-payment of—
(a) any payment specified in paragraphs 11, 13 or 14 of Schedule 8;
(b) an income-related benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA;
(c) an income-based jobseeker's allowance;
(d) any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the Discretionary
Financial Assistance Regulations 2001;
(e) working tax credit and child tax credit;
(f) an income-related employment and support allowance,
but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of arrears or of the concessionary
payment.
(2) In a case where the total of any arrears and, if appropriate, any concessionary payment referred to
in sub-paragraph (1) relating to one of the specified payments, benefits or allowances amounts to
£5,000 or more (referred to in this sub-paragraph and in sub-paragraph (3) as “the relevant sum”)
and is—
(a) paid in order to rectify or to compensate for, an official error as defined in regulation 1(2) of
the Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit (Decisions and Appeals) Regulations 2001; and
(b) received by the applicant in full on or after 14th October 2001,
sub-paragraph (1) has effect in relation to such arrears or concessionary payment either for a period
of 52 weeks from the date of receipt, or, if the relevant sum is received in its entirety during the
period of an award of a reduction under this scheme, for the remainder of that period if that is
a longer period.
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), “the period of an award of a reduction under this scheme”
means
(a) the award in which the relevant sum is first received (or the first part thereof where it is paid
in more than one instalment); and
(b) where that award is followed by one or more further awards which, or each of which, begins
immediately after the end of the previous award, such further award provided that for that
further award the applicant—
(i) is the person who received the relevant sum; or
(ii) is the partner of the person who received the relevant sum, or was that person's partner

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 326

176

at the date of his death.
13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

Any sum
(a) paid to the applicant in consequence of damage to, or loss of the home or any personal
possession and intended for its repair or replacement; or
(b) acquired by the applicant (whether as a loan or otherwise) on the express condition that it
is to be used for effecting essential repairs or improvement to the home,
which is to be used for the intended purpose, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which it was
so paid or acquired or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to effect the repairs,
replacement or improvement.
Any sum
(a) deposited with a housing association as defined in section 1(1) of the Housing Associations
Act 1985 as a condition of occupying the home;
(b) which was so deposited and which is to be used for the purchase of another home,
for the period of 26 weeks or such longer period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to enable
the applicant to complete the purchase.
Any personal possessions except those which have been acquired by the applicant with the intention of
reducing his capital in order to secure entitlement to a reduction under this scheme or to increase the
amount of that reduction.
The value of the right to receive any income under an annuity or the surrender value (if any) of such an
annuity.
Where the funds of a trust are derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal injury to
the applicant or applicant's partner, the value of the trust fund and the value of the right to receive any
payment under that trust.

18.
(1) Any payment made to the applicant or the applicant's partner in consequence of any personal injury
to the applicant or, as the case may be, the applicant's partner.
(2) But sub-paragraph (1)—
(a) applies only for the period of 52 weeks beginning with the day on which the applicant first
receives any payment in consequence of that personal injury;
(b) does not apply to any subsequent payment made to him in consequence of that injury
(whether it is made by the same person or another);
(c) ceases to apply to the payment or any part of the payment from the day on which the applicant
no longer possesses it;
(d) does not apply to any payment from a trust where the funds of the trust are derived from a
payment made in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant.
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(c), the circumstances in which an applicant no longer
possesses a payment or a part of it include where the applicant has used a payment or part of it to
purchase an asset.
(4) References in sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) to the applicant are to be construed as including references
to his partner (where applicable).
19.

The value of the right to receive any income under a life interest or from a life rent.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 327

177

20.

21.
22.

23.

The value of the right to receive any income which is disregarded under paragraph 15 of Schedule 7 or
paragraph 29 of Schedule 8.
The surrender value of any policy of life insurance.
Where any payment of capital falls to be made by instalments, the value of the right to receive any
outstanding instalments.
Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C or 24A of the Children
Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 or sections 22, 29 or
30 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (provision of services for children and their families and advice and
assistance to certain children).

24.
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by a local authority in
accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989 or section 29 of the Children (Scotland) Act
1995 (local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of children and powers to grant financial assistance
to persons in, or formerly in, their care) to a person (“A”) which A passes on to the applicant.
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A—
(a) was formerly in the applicant's care, and
(b) is aged 18 or over, and
(c) continues to live with the applicant.
25.

26.

27.

28.

Any
(a) social fund payment made pursuant to Part 8 of the SSCBA (the social fund); or
(b) occasional assistance.
Any refund of tax which falls to be deducted under section 369 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act
1988 (deduction of tax from certain loan interest) on a payment of relevant loan interest for the purpose
of acquiring an interest in the home or carrying out repairs or improvements to the home.
Any capital which by virtue of paragraph 55 or 81 (capital treated as income: persons who are not
pensioners, treatment of student loans) is to be treated as income.
Where any payment of capital is made in a currency other than sterling, any banking charge or
commission payable in converting that payment into sterling.

29.
(1) Any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the
Independent Living Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the London Bombings
Relief Charitable Fund.
(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia or who
is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made under or by any of the Trusts to
which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of—
(a) that person's partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that person has died
was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not
been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not been dissolved at the time of that

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 328

178

person's death;
(b) any child who is a member of that person's family or who was such a member and who is a
member of the applicant's family; or
(c) any young person who is a member of that person's family or who was such a member and
who is a member of the applicant's family.
(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering or who
suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person which derives from a payment made
under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the
benefit of—
(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person;
(b) any child who is a member of that person's family or who was such a member and who is a
member of the applicant's family; or
(c) any young person who is a member of that person's family or who was such a member and
who is a member of the applicant's family.
(4) Sub-paragraph (3) does not apply if—
(a) the partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were not,
estranged or divorced, or
(b) where the partner or former partner and that person have formed a civil partnership, the civil
partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, had not been dissolved at
the time of the death.
(5) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, which
derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers, where—
(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or divorced or
with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor any child or
young person who is or had been a member of that person's family; and
(b) the payment is made either—
(i) to that person's parent or step-parent; or
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child, a young person or a student
who has not completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, to his
guardian,
but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that person's
death.
(6) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a qualifying
person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1)
refers, where—
(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former partner from
whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he had formed a civil partnership that
had not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was or had been a member of his
family; and
(b) the payment is made either—
(i) to that person's parent or step-parent; or
(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student who had
not completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, to his guardian,
but only for a period of two years from the relevant date.
(7) In the case of a person to whom or for whose benefit a payment referred to in this paragraph is
made, any capital resource which derives from any payment of income or capital made under or
deriving from any of the Trusts.
(8) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts is to be construed as
including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton
Foundation, and the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 329

179

30.
(1) Where an applicant has ceased to occupy what was formerly the dwelling occupied as the home
following his estrangement or divorce from, or dissolution of his civil partnership with, his former
partner, that dwelling for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he ceased to occupy that
dwelling or, where the dwelling is occupied as the home by the former partner who is a lone parent,
for so long as it is so occupied.
(2) In this paragraph “dwelling” includes any garage, garden and outbuildings, which were formerly
occupied by the applicant as his home and any premises not so occupied which it is impracticable
or unreasonable to sell separately, in particular, in Scotland, any croft land on which the dwelling is
situated.
31.

32.

33.

34.

35.
36.
37.

38.

39.

40.

Any premises where the applicant is taking reasonable steps to dispose of those premises, for a period
of 26 weeks from the date on which he first took such steps, or such longer period as is reasonable in the
circumstances to enable him to dispose of those premises.
Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home, and in respect of which he is taking
steps to obtain possession and has sought legal advice, or has commenced legal proceedings, with a view
to obtaining possession, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first sought such advice or
first commenced such proceedings whichever is the earlier, or such longer period as is reasonable in the
circumstances to enable him to obtain possession and commence occupation of those premises.
Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home to which essential repairs or alterations
are required in order to render them fit for such occupation, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on
which the applicant first takes steps to effect those repairs or alterations, or such longer period as is
necessary to enable those repairs or alterations to be carried out.
Any payment made by the Secretary of State to compensate for the loss (in whole or in part) of
entitlement to housing benefit.
The value of the right to receive an occupational or personal pension.
The value of any funds held under a personal pension scheme.
The value of the right to receive any rent except where the applicant has a reversionary interest in the
property in respect of which rent is due.
Any payment in kind made by a charity or under or by the Trusts, the Fund, MFET Limited, the Skipton
Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006).
Any payment made pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 or section 2 of the
Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990, but only for the period of 52 weeks beginning on the
date of receipt of the payment.

Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 of the 1992 Act (reduction of
liability for council tax), but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of the payment.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 330

180

41.

Any grant made in accordance with a scheme made under section 129 of the Housing Act 1988 or section
66 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1988 (schemes for payments to assist local housing authority and local
authority tenants to obtain other accommodation) which is to be used—
(a) to purchase premises intended for occupation as his home; or
(b) to carry out repairs or alterations which are required to render premises fit for occupation as
his home,
for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he received such a grant or such longer period as is
reasonable in the circumstances to enable the purchase, repairs or alterations to be completed and the
applicant to commence occupation of those premises as his home.

42.

Any arrears of supplementary pension which is disregarded under paragraph 54 of Schedule 8 (sums to
be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings) or of any amount which is disregarded
under paragraph 55 or 56 of that Schedule, but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of
the arrears.

43.
(1) Any payment or repayment made—
(a) as respects England, under regulation 5, 6 or 12 of the National Health Service (Travel Expenses
and Remission of Charges) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and health service supplies);
(b) as respects Wales, under regulation 5, 6 or 11 of the National Health Service (Travelling
Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (travelling expenses and health
service supplies);
(c) as respects Scotland, under regulation 3, 5 or 11 of the National Health Service (Travelling
Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Scotland) (No. 2) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses
and health service supplies),
but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment or repayment.
(2) Any payment or repayment made by the Secretary of State for Health, the Scottish Ministers or the
Welsh Ministers which is analogous to a payment or repayment mentioned in sub-paragraph (1),
but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment or repayment.
44.
Any payment made to such persons entitled to receive benefits as may be determined by or under a scheme
made pursuant to section 13 of the Social Security Act 1988 in lieu of vouchers or similar arrangements
in connection with the provision of those benefits (including payments made in place of healthy start
vouchers, milk tokens or the supply of vitamins), but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of
receipt of the payment.
45.
46.

47.

Any payment made under Part 8A of the SSCBA (entitlement to health in pregnancy grant).
Any payment made either by the Secretary of State for Justice or by Scottish Ministers under a scheme
established to assist relatives and other persons to visit persons in custody, but only for a period of 52
weeks from the date of the receipt of the payment.

Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of State or any other
person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944 to assist disabled persons to obtain or retain
employment despite their disability.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 331

181

48.

Any payment made by a local authority under section 3 of the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1958.
to homeworkers assisted under the Blind Homeworkers’ Scheme.

49.
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where an applicant falls within class F (alternative maximum council
reduction: persons who are not pensioners), the whole of his capital.
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply where an applicant falls within class E and class F.
50.
(1) Any sum of capital to which sub-paragraph (2) applies and—
(a) which is administered on behalf of a person by the High Court or the County Court under Rule
21.11(1) of the Civil Procedure Rules 1998 or by the Court of Protection;
(b) which can only be disposed of by order or direction of any such court; or
(c) where the person concerned is under the age of 18, which can only be disposed of by order or
direction prior to that person attaining age 18.
(2) This sub-paragraph applies to a sum of capital which is derived from—
(a) an award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or
(b) compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned is under the
age of 18.
51.

52.
53.

Any sum of capital administered on behalf of a person in accordance with an order made under section
13 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995, or under Rule 36.14 of the Ordinary Cause Rules 1993 or under
Rule 128 of those Rules, where such sum derives from—
(a) award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or
(b) compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned is under
the age of 18.
Any payment to the applicant as holder of the Victoria Cross or George Cross.
In the case of a person who is receiving, or who has received, assistance under the self-employment
route, any sum of capital which is acquired by that person for the purpose of establishing or carrying on
the commercial activity in respect of which such assistance is or was received but only for a period of 52
weeks from the date on which that sum was acquired.

54.
(1) Any payment of a sports award for a period of 26 weeks from the date of receipt of that payment
except to the extent that it has been made in respect of any one or more of the items specified in
sub-paragraph (2).
(2) The items specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) are food, ordinary clothing or footwear,
household fuel or rent of the applicant or, where the applicant is a member of a family, any other
member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for which that applicant or member is
liable.
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) “food” does not include vitamins, minerals or other special
dietary supplements intended to enhance the performance of the person in the sport in respect of
which the award was made.
55.
(1) Any payment—
(a) by way of an education maintenance allowance made pursuant to—

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 332

182

(i) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996;
(ii) regulations made under section 49 or 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980;
(iii) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid under
section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992;
(b) corresponding to such an education maintenance allowance, made pursuant to—
(i) section 14 or section 181 of the Education Act 2002 (power of Secretary of State and the
Welsh Ministers to give financial assistance for purposes related to education or childcare,
and allowances in respect of education or training); or
(ii) regulations made under section 181 of that Act; or
(c) in England, by way of financial assistance made pursuant to section 14 of the Education Act
2002.
(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1) applies, made pursuant to—
(a) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996;
(b) regulations made under section 49 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; or
(c) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid under
section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992,
in respect of a course of study attended by a child or a young person or a person who is in receipt
of an education maintenance allowance or other payment made pursuant to any provision specified
in sub-paragraph (1).
56.

57.

58.

In the case of an applicant participating in an employment zone programme, any discretionary payment
made by an employment zone contractor to the applicant, being a fee, grant, loan or otherwise, but only
for the period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment.
Any arrears of subsistence allowance paid as a lump sum but only for the period of 52 weeks from the
date of receipt of the payment.
Where an ex-gratia payment of £10,000 has been made by the Secretary of State on or after 1st February
2001 in consequence of the imprisonment or internment of—
(a) the applicant;
(b) the applicant's partner;
(c) the applicant's deceased spouse or deceased civil partner; or
(d) the applicant's partner's deceased spouse or deceased civil partner,
by the Japanese during the Second World War, £10,000.

59.
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amount of any trust payment made to an applicant or a member
of an applicant's family who is—
(a) a diagnosed person;
(b) the diagnosed person's partner or the person who was the diagnosed person's partner at the
date of the diagnosed person's death;
(c) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person's parents or
a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person's death; or
(d) a member of the diagnosed person's family (other than his partner) or a person who was a
member of the diagnosed person's family (other than his partner) at the date of the diagnosed
person's death.
(2) Where a trust payment is made to—
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (b), that sub-paragraph applies for the period
beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending on the date on which
that person dies;

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 333

183

(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c), that sub-paragraph applies for the period
beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending two years after that
date;
(c) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(d), that sub-paragraph applies for the period
beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending—
(i) two years after that date; or
(ii) on the day before the day on which that person—
(aa) ceases receiving full-time education; or
(bb) attains the age of 20,
whichever is the latest.
(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), the amount of any payment by a person to whom a trust payment has
been made or of any payment out of the estate of a person to whom a trust payment has been
made, which is made to an applicant or a member of an applicant's family who is—
(a) the diagnosed person's partner or the person who was the diagnosed person's partner at the
date of the diagnosed person's death;
(b) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person's parents or
a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person's death; or
(c) a member of the diagnosed person's family (other than his partner) or a person who was a
member of the diagnosed person's family (other than his partner) at the date of the diagnosed
person's death,
but only to the extent that such payments do not exceed the total amount of any trust payments
made to that person.
(4) Where a payment as referred to in sub-paragraph (3) is made to—
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(a), that sub-paragraph applies for the period
beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending on the date on which that
person dies;
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(b), that sub-paragraph applies for the period
beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending two years after that date;
or
(c) person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(c), that sub-paragraph applies for the period beginning
on the date on which that payment is made and ending—
(i) two years after that date; or
(ii) on the day before the day on which that person—
(aa) ceases receiving full-time education; or
(bb) attains the age of 20,
whichever is the latest.
(5) In this paragraph, a reference to a person—
(a) being the diagnosed person's partner;
(b) being a member of a diagnosed person's family;
(c) acting in place of the diagnosed person's parents,
at the date of the diagnosed person's death includes a person who would have been such a person
or a person who would have been so acting, but for the diagnosed person residing in a care home,
an Abbeyfield Home or an independent hospital on that date.
(6) In this paragraph—
“diagnosed person” means a person who has been diagnosed as suffering from, or who, after his death,
has been diagnosed as having suffered from, variant Creutzfeld-Jakob disease;
“relevant trust” means a trust established out of funds provided by the Secretary of State in respect of
persons who suffered, or who are suffering, from variant Creutzfeld-Jakob disease for the benefit of
persons eligible for payments in accordance with its provisions;
“trust payment” means a payment under a relevant trust.

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 334

184

60.

The amount of any payment, other than a war pension, to compensate for the fact that the applicant,
the applicant's partner, the applicant's deceased spouse or deceased civil partner or the applicant's
partner's deceased spouse or deceased civil partner—
(a) was a slave labourer or a forced labourer;
(b) had suffered property loss or had suffered personal injury; or
(c) was a parent of a child who had died,
during the Second World War.

61.
(1) Any payment made by a local authority, or by the Welsh Ministers, to or on behalf of the applicant
or his partner relating to a service which is provided to develop or sustain the capacity of the
applicant or his partner to live independently in his accommodation.
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) “local authority” includes in England a county council.
62.

63.

64.

65

Any payment made under regulations made under section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001 or
under section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968, or under sections 12A to 12D of the National
Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for health care).
Any payment made to the applicant pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption
and Children Act 2002.
Any payment made to the applicant in accordance with regulations made pursuant to section 14F of the
Children Act 1989 (special guardianship support services).
Any payments to a claimant made under section 49 of the Children and Families Act 2014 (personal
budgets and direct payments)

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 335

185

Schedule 11
Collection, holding and forwarding of information for Council Tax Reduction purposes

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 336

186

Use of information from and to the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) and Her Majesty’s Revenues and Customs (HMRC)
1

The authority will use information provided by the DWP and HMRC for the purposes of Council Tax Reduction, council tax liability, billing, administration and enforcement as outlined within Schedule 2 of the
Local Government Finance Act 1992 as amended by the Local Government Finance Act 2012 and the
Social Security (Information-sharing in relation to Welfare Services etc.) (Amendment) Regulations 2013

2

Where required by the relevant department and where required by law, the authority will share information obtained for Council Tax Reduction with the DWP or HMRC as appropriate and in accordance with
Data Protections requirements13.

Collection of information
3

The authority may receive and obtain information and evidence relating to claims for Council Tax Reduction, the council may receive or obtain the information or evidence from:
a. persons making claims for Council Tax Reduction;
b. other persons in connection with such claims;
c. other local authorities; or
d. central government departments including the DWP and HMRC

4

The authority may verify relevant information supplied to, or obtained.

Recording and holding information
5

The authority may:
a. may make a record of such information; and
b. may hold that information, whether as supplied or obtained or recorded, for the purpose of forwarding it to the person or authority for the time being administering Council Tax Reduction.

Forwarding of information
6

The authority may forward it to the person or authority for the time being administering claims to or
awards of Council Tax Reduction to which the relevant information relates, being:
a. a local authority;
b. a person providing services to a local authority; or
a person authorised to exercise any function of a local authority relating to Council Tax Reduction.

Data Retention and Investigatory Powers Act 2014,Data Retention Regulations 2014 and The Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Acquisition and Disclosure of Communications Data: Code of Practice) Order 2015

13

South Lakeland District Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23

Page 337

187

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 338

Item No.15
South Lakeland District Council
Cabinet
Wednesday 9th February 2022

2022/23 to 2026/27 Draft Budget
Portfolio:

Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder

Report from:

Section 151 Officer

Report Author:

Helen Smith, Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer)
Claire Read, Finance Specialist and Deputy Section 151

Wards:

(All Wards)

Forward Plan:

The draft budget forms part of the Budget and Policy Framework
Decision included in the Forward Plan as published on 8 November
2021, the decision due to be taken on 22 February 2022.

Links to Council Plan Priorities: This report sets out the latest draft Budget to enable the
consideration of how the Council’s priorities will be delivered. Setting a sound framework for
budget preparation assists in the delivery of all corporate outcomes. This draft budget has
been developed within the context of the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and supports
all Council Plan priorities (working across boundaries; delivering a balanced community; a
fairer South Lakeland; and addressing the climate emergency) through ensuring financial
resources to deliver each priority.

1.0

Expected Outcome and Measures of Success
1.1
This report presents the 2022/23 Five Year Draft Budget. The expected
outcome is that Council will be in a position to deliver the priorities set out in the
Council Plan within its resources. This will enable the statutory requirement to agree
a balanced budget and to set the appropriate Council Tax level for 2022/23. Cabinet
on 14th December 2021 approved the re-profiling of the 2021/22 – 2025/26 capital
budgets which form part of the draft capital programme. The final proposed revenue
budget and capital programme will be approved by Council on 22nd February 2022.
The local government finance settlement was announced in late December and, as
expected, delayed the reduction in income expected as part of reform of local
government funding until at least April 2023.
The successful implementation of staffing changes as part of Customer Connect
have permanently delivered savings of over £1.5m. However, subsequently we have
seen one-off costs around Covid-19 and Local Government Reorganisation, shortterm, demand-driven pressures and inflation, particularly on fuel, which have created
significant new pressures and gaps in the budget. The latest draft budget presents a
balanced budget for 2022/23 with significant deficits from 1 April 2023. Options are
being developed to balance future budget deficits.

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:(1)

Consider and comment on the proposals contained in this report to
achieve a balanced budget from April 2022; and

Page 339

(2)

3.0

Recommends the Draft Budget 2022-2023 to 2026-2027and Appendices
3 to 10 to Council for approval subject to any further amendments
identified with the S151 Officer be delegated to amend the proposals in
consultation with the Leader and Finance and Assets Portfolio Holder.

Background and Proposals

3.1.

The Council, at its meeting on 27 July 2021 agreed to the proposed Budget Strategy
for the current year’s budget process as part of the Medium Term Financial Plan
(MTFP). The Budget Strategy (Appendix 1) set out some broad principles which are
being used in the preparation of the 2022/23 – 2026/27 Budget.

3.2.

Internal and external consultation received will be presented to this 9th February
2022 Cabinet meeting. This will include consideration by the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee at their meeting on the 4th February 2022. Any further amendments
following the Cabinet meeting are being requested to be delegated to the S151
Officer in consultation with the Leader and Portfolio Holder prior to the report’s
consideration at the Council meeting on the 22th February 2022 when Council will
be requested to approve the final Budget, Treasury Management strategy,
Procurement Strategy and Council Tax. The budget timetable is presented for
information at Appendix 2.

3.3.

Although the Council’s services, income, expenditure, assets and liabilities will
transfer to the new Westmorland and Furness Council on 1 April 2023 as part of
LGR, the draft budgets still include projections for a full 5-years based on the current
structure and arrangements. This reflects good practice and the requirement to
consider the long term sustainability of local services through long term financial
sustainability regardless of the provider of those services and the statutory
responsibility to set balanced budgets.

DRAFT GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET
3.4.

The Medium Term Financial Plan provides a summary five year annual position
which includes a projection of the overall surplus or deficit on the General Fund
Revenue Budget. The assumptions and financial implications are kept constantly
under review as circumstances change. A summary of the known changes at this
stage are provided in the table below, the more detailed analysis of expenditure and
income is set out in Appendix 3.

3.5.

Table 1 sets out the summarised estimated annual General Fund Budget
requirement across the review period, including the projected deficits.

Table 1: Projected budget deficits

Service Expenditure
Service Income
Net Service Budget (excl capital charges)
Council Tax
Business Rates
Government Grant
Interest Receivable/Payable
Minimum Revenue Provision
Other Corporate Items
(Surplus)/Deficit assuming £5 Band D
Council Tax increase from April 2022
onwards

2022/23
£000

2023/24
£000

2024/25
£000

2025/26
£000

2026/27
£000

25,403.3
(13,012.8)
12,390.5
(9,677.6)
(3,777.4)

24,933.2
(13,107.7)
11,825.5
(9,962.2)
(2,161.2)

25,234.2
(13,490.3)
11,743.9
(10,249.3)
(2,302.0)

25,493.3
(13,844.1)
11,649.2
(10,538.8)
(1,956.7)

25,811.7
(13,845.5)
11,966.2
(10,830.9)
(1,956.7)

(856.5)
736.3
1,271.3
(177.6)
(91.0)

(145.7)
898.4
1,359.5
399.1
2,213.4

0.0
1,039.5
1,532.7
410.0
2,174.8

0.0
1,172.7
1,783.1
723.2
2,832.7

0.0
1,184.1
1,643.5
748.2
2,754.4

Page 340

3.6.

This is the third iteration of the budget and these annual projections are based on
information available at the time of preparation along with the broad set of
assumptions detailed in paragraph 3.8 below. Final amendments may be required,
for example when the final income figures for business rates income and the final
Government grant settlement for 2022/23 are announced or if there are further
Covid-19 amendments. A verbal update will be given to Cabinet if figures are
received before this report is considered on 9th February 2022.

Table 2: Changes in budget projections since Draft Budget December 2021

Projected (Surplus) / Deficit December 2021
Taxbase higher than projected
New Homes Bonus
less NHB to reserves
Lower Tier Services Grant
2022/23 Services Grant
Homelessness Prevention Grant
Homelessness Prevention spend
Budget Pressures: further pressures identified
(income, homelessness accommodation)
Budget Growth: further growth requested (Climate
Change: CAFS)
less use of Business Rate reserve
Council tax deficit
Further Adjustments
Projected (Surplus) / Deficit January 2022
Additional business rate income
Projected (Surplus) / Deficit February 2022
(Cabinet)

3.7.

2022/23
£000
173.1
(112.8)
(85.9)
85.9
(53.0)
(155.0)
(133.4)
133.4
37.0

2023/24
£000
2,223.8
(115.5)
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
37.0

2024/25
£000
2,311.7
(118.2)
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
(27.0)

2025/26
£000
2,972.3
(120.9)
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
(27.0)

2026/27
£000
3,185.9
(413.0)
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
(27.0)

50.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

(50.0)
94.6
7.7
(8.4)
(82.6)
(91.0)

0.0
0.0
68.1
2,213.4
0.0
2,213.4

0.0
0.0
8.3
2,174.8
0.0
2,174.8

0.0
0.0
8.3
2,832.7
0.0
2,832.7

0.0
0.0
8.5
2,754.4
0.0
2,754.4

The Council has a statutory duty to set a balanced budget. Work is underway to
resolve the projected deficits from April 2023 onwards with estimates will be kept
under review as part of the preparation of a MTFP for the new Westmorland and
Furness Council to ensure that overall savings plans are sufficient to set balanced
budgets. Any additional budget pressures or discretionary, fixed term growth items
will need to be funded by savings in existing budgets.

BUDGET STRATEGY ASSUMPTIONS
3.8.

The draft budget proposals for 2022/23 and onwards include:
a)

Inflation in the base budget in accordance with the Budget Strategy (only where
contractually committed or unavoidable). Inflation has been estimated at 2%
except where specific contracts require a rate at a known point in time or where
specific indices are available (for example electricity and gas).

b)

Salary budgets have been prepared based on the establishment list considered
by Human Resources Committee on 1st February 2022

c)

From April 2021 onwards the detailed budgets include 2% for inflationary pay
awards. The pay award for April 2021 has not yet been settled: unions had
rejected an offer of 1.75% and consulted their members on strike action, which
was not supported through ballots. The cost of a 1% change in the pay
settlement is around £145,000 per year.

Page 341

d)

The National Living Wage (NLW) will increase to £9.50 an hour from April 2022.
The local government pay settlement for 2022/23, including a 2% inflation uplift
would have a minimum hourly rate (excluding apprentices) of £9.59 per hour
which is higher than the new NLW levels. Any increases in the National Living
Wage above 2% will be a budget pressure in future budget drafts.

e)

The staffing budgets for all services currently include a vacancy allowance of
4% across all services except for front line delivery services which have been
reduced to 2% following a budget pressure identified as part of the 2020/21
budget setting. In theory there are savings when posts are vacant and usually a
saving where a new appointment is at the bottom of the pay scale while staff
budgets assume existing staff receive an annual increment, as required by the
local government terms and conditions (known as the Green Book).

f)

In December 2020 member’s allowances were set for four years by linking them
to staff pay awards. The assumption of a 2% pay award has also been applied
when calculating the members allowance budget: the actual pay award is will be
applied once it is settled using the main % increase.

g)

Estimates for interest payable reflects the current borrowing rates and the
proposed new Capital Programme at Appendix 9.

h)

Capital charges are based on the Capital Programme approved by Council on
14th December 2021. These have no impact on the MTFP projections as they
are not charged against Council Tax.

GOVERNMENT FUNDING AND OTHER REVENUE BUDGET UNCERTAINTIES
3.9.

The figures presented include certain assumptions where work is on-going or where
information is not yet available. A key factor going forward will continue to be
central government funding. The expected change to 75% business rates retention
has now been abandoned and a new funding distribution model from April 2020 has
been delayed until at least April 2023.

3.10.

The Government announced their three-year spending review on 27 October 2021
and a single-year local government finance settlement was published on 16th
December 2021. Until the fundamental review of local government funding is
completed, the 2021/22 funding has largely been rolled forward with minor
amendments. The provisional settlement includes an increase in the Lower Tier
Services Grant from £96k to £101k, a new unearmarked grant (2022/23 Services
Grant) of £155k, the continuation of the Rural Services Delivery Grant at £455k and
New Homes Bonus of £130k. Consultation on the provisional local government
finance settlement closed on 13th January 2022; it is expected that proposals will be
finalised soon after these dates but had not been announced when this report was
prepared.

3.11.

The key remaining uncertainties are:
a)

From April 2023 the whole system of Government funding could change.
The financial model assumes the overall funding from Government through
general grants or retained business rates will continue to decline but by a
lower rate as has was seen during the multi-year settlement from 20152019 (excluding one-off adjustments such as the negative Revenue
Support Grant). This reflects the current indications from the Spending
Review of modest increases in funding for local government overall
(excluding one-off adjustments for Covid-19) but that funding will be
targeted at social care.

Page 342

3.12.

b)

The existing business rate pool will continue for 2022/23. Due to the level
of uncertainty around these arrangements, the funding is built into budgets
1 year in arrears so this can be used to support financial years 2023/24
onwards. Any unallocated balance remains within the NNDR pool reserve,
which is earmarked for economic development. It is currently projected
that the Council will receive around £876k from the pool in 2022/23 and
that all this income will be transferred to the pool reserve.

c)

The potential additional costs related to the implementation of new unitary
authorities in Cumbria as a result of Local Government Reorganisation, as
detailed in paragraph 3.15 onwards.

d)

Following consultation, the Government will now bring changes to the tax
system which mean second homeowners must pay Council Tax if they are
not genuine holiday lets. From April 2023, second homeowners will have
to prove holiday lets are being rented out for a minimum of 70 days a year
to qualify as a business property and potentially qualify for small business
rate relief. Holiday let owners will have to provide evidence such as the
website or brochure used to advertise the property, letting details and
receipts. Properties will also have to be available to be rented out for 140
days a year to qualify for this relief. No adjustments have been made to
future projected Council taxbases and business rate bases for this change.

Overall, there are still uncertainties around the Council’s future financial position due
to these changes in Government funding.

IMPACT OF COVID-19 AND ASSUMPTIONS
3.13.

Although the impact of Covid-19 mainly hit the Council’s income and expenditure in
the 2020/21 financial year the medium to long-term financial impact is still to be fully
understood. The largest single impact on revenue income in 2020/21 was from
reductions in car parking income while car parks were closed to visitors during
lockdown. The first six months of the 2021/22 financial year saw only a minor drop
in car park cash income of £22k (a total of £3.08m was collected, some of which
was collected under management agreements) but income was down in
Kendal(£172k), Ulverston (£35k) and Kirkby Lonsdale (£50k), offset by increased
income in the Lake District National Park. The budgets for 2021/22 onwards include
a contingency for ongoing additional costs of Covid-19 of £697.5 for 2021/22 and
reducing to £174.4k for 2024/25. It is suggested that this contingency can be
prudently reduced by 50% each year to reflect the lower than expected impact on
income in 2021/22 and has been included as a budget saving in Appendix 6.

3.14.

Council approved use of the General Reserve to fund the one-off impact of Covid-19
in the current financial year up to £2.0m. Due to the lower than budgeted use of
General Reserve in 2020/21 for Covid-19 costs it has not been necessary to re-build
the General Reserve, resulting in a saving for 2021/22 onwards of £316k pa.

IMPACT OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION AND ASSUMPTIONS
3.15.

Although the Local Government Reorganisation will abolish this Council from 1 April
2023, all the income, expenditure, assets and liabilities of this Council will transfer to
the new Westmorland and Furness Council on that date to be merged with the
amounts for Barrow Borough Council, Eden District Council and part of Cumbria
County Council.

3.16.

The Chief Finance Officers of all seven councils within Cumbria are working
collectively to both identify future income and expenditure and to propose a
methodology for splitting budgets for Cumbria County Council between the two new
unitary authorities. Once this is complete, a Medium Term Financial Plan and

Page 343

financial projections can be produced for the two new unitary authorities. For
2022/23 budgets each of the seven authorities will continue to project future budgets
based on the current structures and Council Plans. It is expected Article 24
Directions will be issued in March 2022, requiring approval from the Joint
Committee and the Shadow Westmorland and Furness Council before the incurring
of spend over certain limits, disposal of assets and controlling new contracts beyond
vesting date in order to protect the financial sustainability of the new unitary
authorities.
3.17.

Council in December 2021 approved the request for resources to implement the new
authorities, with a request for a contribution from this authority of £1.6m towards
projected costs of £18.9m to establish the two new unitary authorities. During
2022/23 there is expected to be a further request for funding for transition and
transformation preparation work to be undertaken before vesting day. The current
implementation costs also assume no redundancy costs prior to vesting day. While
this is likely to be the case for the majority of potential redundancies, accounting
principles require employee exit payments to be recognised in full when the exit is
agreed with the employee, not when employment ceases and any payment (either
redundancy payments to the employee or relating to future pension deficits to the
pension fund) is made. This would potentially reduce levels of projected reserves at
31 March 2023 that would be transferred to the new authority.

3.18.

The Government makes no additional funding available for Councils undergoing
LGR. Any additional costs of implementation or transformation must be met either
from existing resources or from delivering future savings. All the unitary bids for
Cumbria included proposed costs of transformation and projected levels of savings
which varied depending on assumptions made about the number and nature of the
new authorities.

3.19.

There are also specific rules for harmonisation of Council taxes for new authorities
following LGR. Proposals for this and for the splitting of existing Government
funding streams will need to be agreed with the Department of Levelling Up,
Housing and Communities (DLUHC) by October 2022.

RECURRING REVENUE BUDGET PRESSURES AND REVIEWS
3.20.

There are a number of recurring budget pressures and adjustments that have been
identified through the budget process. As identified in Table 1, these total £911k for
2022/23 and reduce to £221k by 2026/27. The details of these are contained within
Appendix 4.

3.21.

The largest revenue budget pressures relates to a request for additional temporary
staffing brought about the Local Government Reorganisation requirements and by
additional customer service demands in several areas including legal services,
support services, welfare, ICT, housing options and development management. The
LGR process, involving 3 critical themes of work including People, Place and
Enabling Services, also requires significant officer support in numerous work
streams within each theme. Cabinet on 7th December agreed these requests, as set
out in Appendix 4, and Council on 14th December 2021 approved the use of the
increased balance on General Reserve arising from 2020/21 outturn amendments
identified during audit will be used to fund these costs.

3.22.

The other large budget pressures are related to inflation increases, particularly
relating to fuel. The budget pressures include the net effect of a review of housing
benefit income and expenditure where both expenditure and the subsidy budgets
need to be reduced to reflect reductions in claimant numbers as new working age
claimants will receive Universal Credit rather than housing benefit.

Page 344

2021/22 GROWTH PROPOSALS
3.23.

The detail of revenue growth items is included at Appendix 5. There are two
significant growth requests, one for £75k for 2021/22 and 2022/23 to support
Ulverston Community Enterprise (UCE): these figures are currently only indicative
until the business plan received from UCE is reviewed. The other growth bid is to
continue funding Cumbria Action for Sustainability (CAfS) by £50k for 2022/23.

SAVINGS PROPOSALS
3.24.

A number of savings proposals and expenditure reductions have been considered
as part of the budget exercise and these total £536k in 2022/23 reducing to £38k by
2026/27. The only recurring saving proposed relates to the Community Toilet
scheme where payments to Town and Parish Councils cease from the end of the
current financial year. One-off savings have been proposed where there have been
recurring underspends or where expenditure will not occur during 2022/23 due to the
activity required to implement LGR. The proposed reduction in the Covid-19
contingency is also included here. These are detailed in Appendix 6. The amount
and nature of the savings identified are considered reasonable and deliverable from
2022/23.

REVENUE IMPACT OF CAPITAL REQUESTS
3.25.

New capital proposals are listed in Appendix 7. Currently the only impact of these
proposals is the updated minimum revenue provision (MRP) resulting from
reprofiling of the capital programme for 2021/22.

3.26.

Section 4 below gives more details on the current proposals concerning Capital
Programme. Once changes to capital programme have been agreed and financing
identified the revenue impact will be updated. This could include either costs of
borrowing (repayment represented through the Minimum Revenue Provision and
interest payable) or through revenue contributions to fund the capital expenditure.

CARRY FORWARD OF ESTIMATES
3.27.

Budget monitoring has identified areas where projects have been delayed or where
expenditure will now fall into 2022/23. These are listed in Appendix 8.

FURTHER SAVINGS AND EFFICIENCIES
3.28.

Significant savings targets of £740k rising to £1.550m were agreed in July 2018 from
the Customer Connect Programme and have been delivered,

3.29.

Further work will be carried out to identify proposals to meet the additional amounts
of saving required, initially for 2023/24 by the Westmorland and Furness Council.
This process needs to be flexible according to the challenges and opportunities that
arise to meet the projected deficits, which are very likely in themselves to change as
proposals for the operation of the unitary authorities and the split of income and
expenditure from Cumbria County Council progress on top of the large uncertainty
over Government funding reforms. Updates will be provided in subsequent budget
reports.

FEES AND CHARGES
3.30.

The MTFP assumes that income to be generated from fees and charges will total
£10.6m for 2021/22. This figure has been adjusted to reflect the budget pressures
from Appendix 4, where these relate to fees and charges. Following the increase in
car parking fees and charges for 2021/22 no further amendments are proposed.

3.31.

Lake Administration Committee approved fees and charges relating to Lake
Windermere on 21 January 2022 and Licensing Committee considered its fees on
29 November 2021.

Page 345

3.32.

The full details are shown in the draft Fees &Charges book included as Appendix 10.

COUNCIL TAX, BUSINESS RATES AND COLLECTION FUND
3.33.

Levels of Council tax increases are heavily influenced by Government policies which
assume individual Councils increase their Council tax by the maximum amount
permitted by the Government. This maximum has varied between 2% and 3% for
the last few years or £5, whichever is the higher. Through this policy the
Government has encouraged Councils to move towards financial self-sufficiency
through increasing the proportion of income raised by Council tax rather than
government grant. The MTFP assumes increases £5 per annum for a Band D
equivalent property. Each 1% increase in Council Tax generates an additional £95k
of income to the Council.

3.34.

The £5 increase in Council tax is a planning assumption for budgeting purposes only
at this stage. The actual level of Council tax to be charged is a decision by Council
as part of the budget approval process in February.

3.35.

The MTFP assumes an increase in the Council tax base of 250 band D properties
annually. This is equivalent to an additional £50k of Council tax each year for this
Council. The actual tax base for 2022/23 was calculated in December 2021 \at
46,185.2 Band D equivalent properties, an increase of 788.5 properties or 1.75%
and above the assumed increase of 250 properties. The increase is a combination
of fewer properties receiving exemptions as empty, an increase in premiums on
long-term properties and a reduction in discounts relating to the Council Tax
Reduction Scheme.

3.36.

Covid-19 saw increases in applications for the Council Tax Reduction Scheme
(CTRS) from working age claimants. There were 2,716 claimants at the end of
October 2020 but this has reduced to 2,663 at the end of October 2021. CTRS is
treated as a discount which reduces the Council’s taxbase: in 2021/22 the reduction
was 3,772.7 properties which has reduced to 3,533.5 properties for 2022/23.
Cabinet will be requested to approve the CTRS scheme in February 2022: It is not
intended to amend the Council’s CTRS scheme for 2022/23.

3.37.

From April 2021 discounts on empty homes were reduced and premiums were
increased: the increases in council tax payable on empty homes is intended to
encourage the use of homes rather than to increase income.

3.38.

On 1 December 2020 the Local Authorities (Collection Fund: Surplus and Deficit)
(Coronavirus) (England) Regulations 2020 came into force. This required Councils
to spread the repayment of collection fund deficits arising in 2020/21 over the next
three years rather than the usual period of a year. This recognised the difficulties
being faced by Council’s in collecting Council Tax and Business rates in 2020/21 as
a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and was done to allow Council’s breathing space
when setting budgets for next year. The budget assumes that the Council will take
advantage of this opportunity and has split the estimated deficit for both Council Tax
and NNDR in 2020/21 over the next three years. As a result the projected Council
Tax deficit to be charged to 2022/23 is £94.6k

3.39.

All parishes have been requested to provide their precept requests by the end of
January 2022. These will be collated for the final Budget report to Council on 22ndd
February 2022.

3.40.

Overall income from National Non Domestic Rates (NNDR), better known as
business rates is assumed to be slightly higher than originally estimated at £4.7m,
including £896k of income from the business rate pool which will be added to the
business rate pooling reserve. The business rates budgets assume £39.3m of rates
will be collected, including a reduction of £6.8m for Covid-19 reliefs which will be

Page 346

offset by Government grant. Estimated empty premises relief has more than
doubled from £416k to £953k, reflecting the current use of properties. Due to
changes in reliefs during 2021/22 relating to Covid-19 there is estimated to be a
deficit of £16m on the NNDR collection fund but this is just due to timing differences
as the additional reliefs will be offset by additional grants. Under local government
accounting rules the additional grants are recognised in the year they are received
but the lost income from business rates due to the reliefs are recognised the
following year. This creates surplus income in 2021/22 from the grants which will be
transferred to the NNDR surplus/deficit reserve and then withdrawn in 2022/23 to
match the deficit. A similar adjustment for £11m was required for 2020/21 reliefs.
4

CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1

Proposals for new areas of capital expenditure as set out in Appendix 7 have been
considered by CMT in November and form the basis of the resulting proposed
capital programme as presented in Appendix 9.

4.2

It was reported in the Quarter 2, 2021/22 Financial Update Report that certain
elements of the capital programme would be underspent in year and would require
re-profiling into subsequent years. These are reflected in Appendix 9 within the
updated 2021/22 programme along with other schemes where the need for reprofiling has been highlighted.

4.3

A summary of the proposed capital expenditure up to 2026/27 is shown below:
Table 4: Summary Draft Capital Programme Expenditure
2021/22
Latest
£000
14,928.7

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

£000
15,861.8

£000
9,055.0

£000
7,183.0

£000
2,343.0

Total 2021/22
to 2025/26
£000
14,928.7

4.4

Although the capital programme contains estimates of expenditure for future years,
these rely on the income budgets being met (e.g. Capital Receipts, Right to Buy and
VAT shelter). All elements of the programme, and particularly those areas with
recurring budgets, will be reviewed annually with reference to the actual resources
available.

4.5

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) has now been included in the capital
programme and it’s funding, net of the 6-monthly payments to parish councils of
their shares of CIL. The governance arrangements over when and how to allocate
this and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan were approved by Cabinet on 13 September
2017 and Cabinet approved the use of £75k of CIL to fund Gooseholme Bridge on 1
September 2021.

4.6

A summary of the draft capital programme funding is in the table below. This shows
the proposed use of capital resources in support of the capital programme (see
Appendix 9).
Table 5: Capital Funding 2021/22 to 2026/27
Balance
April 2021
£000

General
Usable Capital Receipts
New homes bonus / LIPS****

(2,020.3)
(1,954.0)

Page 347

Estimated
Income
£000

(1,169.0)
(467.1)

Use in capital
programme
£000

2,611.8
2,421.1

Projected
Balance
March 2026
£000
(577.5)
0.0

Balance
April 2021
£000
Earmarked or allocated
IT replacement reserve
Major Repairs Reserve
General Revenue contributions
Other Reserves
Cap grants and contributions (inc S106)
Disabled Facilities Grants
Community Housing Fund*
Right to Buy receipt**
Community Infrastructure Levy
Borrowing
Funding from borrowing***.
Sub Total
Funding to be agreed
Total

4.7

5

Estimated
Income
£000

Use in capital
programme
£000

Projected
Balance
March 2026
£000

(13.6)
(399.4)
0.0
(456.6)
(4,184.2)
(833.8)
(1,821.0)
(5,469.9)
(2,112.5)

(400.0)
(410.0)
(210.1)
(1,350.0)
(11,021.4)
(3,073.0)
0.0
(2,100.0)
(442.9)

380.3
793.6
210.1
1,642.7
13,330.1
3,636.8
543.0
6,000.0
75.0

(33.3)
(15.8)
0.0
(163.9)
(1,875.6)
(270.0)
(1,278.0)
(1,569.9)
(2,480.4)

0.0
(19,265.3)
0.0
(19,265.3)

(17,702.0)
(38,345.5
0.0
(38,345.5

17,702.0
49,346.5
25.0
49,371.5

0.0
(8,264.4)
25.0
(8,239.4)

Table 5 illustrates the pressure of capital funding as unearmarked income has
declined and accumulated balances are committed. It is proposed to increase the
annual contribution to the Major Repairs Reserve from £50k to £65k to match
funding for renewals of play equipment of £65k per annum.
RESERVES AND WORKING BALANCE

WORKING BALANCE
5.1

The Council’s working balance at 1 April 2021 was £1.5m. Working balances are
used to help cushion the organisation against uneven cash-flows and avoid
unnecessary borrowing. The balance on the working balance should be maintained
at £1.5m.
OTHER RESERVES

5.2

5.3

The Council holds a General Reserve of monies set aside to form a buffer against
future financial risks in the medium term and to enable the Council to progress
major organisational and transformational changes by providing resources to fund
the initial costs of these developments.
Authorities in England and Wales are required to have regard to the level of
reserves needed for meeting estimated future expenditure when calculating the
budget requirement. An annual review is carried out to assess risks including:
pay and pension costs
inflationary pressures
interest rates
Government grant
income from fees and charges
The Council considers the impact of holding monies unnecessarily in reserves
giving the ongoing impact on local residents and taxpayers. The External Auditor
considers the level of reserves each year to ensure the amounts held are sufficient
but not excessive. There is no theoretical “correct” level of reserves because the
issues that affect an authority’s need for reserves will vary over time.

Page 348

5.4

Reserves are also available to support the strategically important projects listed in
the capital programme that have yet to be allocated a budget including land
acquisition for car parking and employment sites and the depot review. These are
subject to further option appraisal and business case development.

5.5

The full analysis of reserves, proposed uses, and the risk assessment of reserves
will be prepared based on the revised budget proposals for consideration by
Council in February 2022.

6

NEXT STEPS

6.1

This draft Budget Report will be updated as the last few outstanding issues
identified in paragraph 3.11 are resolved. The final local government finance
settlement and business rate income will be reflected in the final budget proposals
to be presented to Cabinet on 9th February 2022 and Council on 22nd February
2022 for approval. Additional reports will be produced if required.

7.0 Appendices Attached to this Report
Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

Budget process and strategy

2

Budget Timetable

3a

General Fund Revenue Account Forecast 2022/23 - 2025/26

4

Budget Pressures

5

One-off Revenue Growth Proposals

6

Savings Proposals

7

Capital Requests

8

Carry forward request

9

Draft Capital Programme 2021/22 to 2026/27

10

Draft Fees and Charges book

8.0

Consultation and Alternative Options

8.1

This report updates the first draft of the 2022/23 Five Year Budget reported to
Cabinet and Council in December 2021. Consultation responses received will be
reported back to Cabinet on 9th February 2022 with final responses included in the
report to Council on 22nd February 2022. The Council’s Budget and Policy framework
procedure rules states “The consultation period in each instance will ideally be not
less than 8 weeks but no longer than 12 weeks.”

8.2

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is being consulted on the draft budget at its
meeting on the 4th February 2022.

8.3

This report presents alternative options in relation to potential budget pressures and
savings, new capital programme bids, one off revenue growth bids and fees and
charges. The proposals together aim to meet the Council’s statutory duty to set a
balanced Budget for 2022/23.

9.0

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
9.1.1

The draft Budget aims to safeguard the Council’s financial position and ensure a
balanced budget for 2022/23 and an improved position in the years that follow.

Page 349

9.1.2

Councils are required to set a balanced budget and the Section 151 is required to
submit a report on the robustness of estimates and adequacy of reserves as part of
the budget setting process in February 2022. The Section 151 Officer also has an
obligation to make a report under Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act
1988, which dictates that:
“The chief finance officer of a relevant authority shall make a report under this section
if it appears to him that the expenditure of the authority incurred (including
expenditure it proposes to incur) in a financial year is likely to exceed the resources
(including sums borrowed) available to it to meet that expenditure”.
Section 114 notices are very rare and give the Section 151 Officer the power and
responsibility to legally suspend spending for a period of time if they judge the
Council does not have a balanced budget or the imminent prospect of one. It means
that no new expenditure is permitted, with the exception of that funding statutory
services, including safeguarding vulnerable people, however existing commitments
and contracts will continue to be honoured.
In my opinion as Section 151 Officer the Council is not close to this position but is
dependent upon Government not reforming local government finance from 1 April
2022.

Human Resources
9.2

This report has no direct impact on the staffing of the Council; individual savings and
growth proposals may have direct staffing implications. The establishment for 2022/23
was reported to Human Resources Committee on 1st February 2022.

Legal
9.3

The Council is required to approve its budget and set its Council tax before 11th March
2022 immediately prior to the start of the financial year (Local Government Act 1992)
This report outlines the Councils proposals and starts the process of consultation on
the budget with the final approval of the budget by Council at its meeting on 22
February 2022.

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment
9.4

Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment? No

9.5

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: A full
Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment will be produced based on the revised
budget proposals for consideration by Council in February 2022.

9.6

Summary of Health and Sustainability Impacts
Positive

Environment
and Health

Neutral

Negative Unknown

Greenhouse gases
emissions

X

Air Quality

X

Biodiversity

X

Impacts of Climate
Change

X

Reduced or zero
requirement for energy,
building space, materials
or travel

X

Page 350

Positive

Economy and
Culture

Housing and
Communities

Neutral

Negative Unknown

Active Travel

X

Inclusive and sustainable
development

X

Jobs and levels of pay

X

Healthier high streets

X

Culture, creativity and
heritage

X

Standard of housing

X

Access to housing

X

Crime

X

Social connectedness

X

Equality and Diversity
9.7

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No

9.8

If you have not completed an Impact Analysis, please explain your reasons: A full
Equalities Impact Asessment will be produced based on the revised budget
proposals for consideration by Council in February 2022.

9.9

Summary of Equality and Diversity impacts

Please indicate: P = Positive impact; 0 = Neutral; N = Negative; Enter “X”
Age

P

0

N

Disability

P

0

N

Gender reassignment (transgender)

P

0

N

Marriage & civil partnership

P

0

N

Pregnancy & maternity

P

0

N

Race/ethnicity

P

0

N

Religion or belief

P

0

N

Sex/gender

P

0

N

Sexual orientation

P

0

N

Armed forces families

P

0

N

Rurality

P

0

N

Socio-economic disadvantage

P

0

N

Page 351

Risk Management

Consequence

Controls required

Failure to create a balanced and
sustainable budget by February
2022.

Includes: inability to deliver
corporate priorities,
inappropriate spending,
and inappropriate
reductions in services.

Identification of sound
budget guidelines in an
agreed strategy reduces
the risk of an unaffordable
budget and/or precipitate
budget reductions.
Monitoring of progress
against the budget
timetable reduces the
need for last-minute
budget adjustments.

Insufficient staff capacity to
deliver on growth items within
capital and revenue budgets

Inability to deliver services
to expected levels or
additional costs of
temporary staff. Potential
underspends and potential
slippage in expenditure to
subsequent years.

Review resources required
to ensure growth bids are
realistic and deliverable,
including other
unavoidable staffing
pressures

Revenue budget and Capital
Programme may not be
integrated and aligned with
Council Plan.

Resources not directed to
achieving corporate
outcomes, leading to
inappropriate spending.

Both the revenue budget
and the Capital
Programme are now
embedded in the
corporate planning cycle.
All revenue budgets and
capital programme
schemes are linked to
Council plan priorities

Reduction in funding from
Government is greater than
estimated or announced too late
for adjustments to be made to
budgets

In-year budgetary
pressure and potential
overspending, jeopardising
service delivery.

Close monitoring of
Government
announcements, potential
short-term use of revenue
contingency provision and
General Reserve followed
by review for following
year.

The impact of Covid-19 and
other unexpected events on the
Councils finances is more
substantial or lasts longer than
projected

Failure to create a
balanced and sustainable
budget by February 2022

Regular monitoring of
announcements,
performance, expenditure
and income

The implementation of LGR for Failure
to
create
a
April 2023 requires greater than balanced and sustainable
predicted use of resources
budget by February 2022
for 2022/23

Regular monitoring of
announcements,
performance, expenditure
and income

Contact Officers
Helen Smith, Finance Lead Specialist, h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk, 01539 793147
Claire Read, Finance Specialist, Claire.Read@southlakeland.gov.uk, 01539 793152

Page 352

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document

Where it is available

Medium Term Financial Plan approved Council 27 July 2021 https://tinyurl.com/yuuc3s4n
Corporate Financial Update Quarter 1, 2021/22

https://tinyurl.com/ah2su44k

Corporate Financial Update Quarter 2, 2021/22

https://tinyurl.com/2p846j6c

2022/23 to 2026/27 Draft Budget reported to Council 14 https://tinyurl.com/yckuxxxz
December 2021
Tracking Information
Signed off by
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
CMT

Date sent
31/01/2022
31/01/2022
31/01/2022

Circulated to
Lead Specialist
Human Resources Lead Specialist
Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
N/A
31/01/2022
31/01/2022
N/A
N/A
31/01/2022
N/A
N/A
09/02/2022
22/02/2022

Page 353

Date Signed off
Report of S151 Officer
01/02/2022
31/01/2022

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 354

Appendix 1

Budget process and strategy 2022/23 to 2026/27
(As approved as part of the MTFP in July 2021)
By incorporating the Budget Strategy within the Medium Term Financial Plan the Council ensures
the two parts of the budget process are seamless and consistent. The proposed budget strategy is
shown below:

Proposed 2022/23 Budget Strategy
1. This proposed Budget Strategy explains the approach to setting a balanced budget for 2022/23
in accordance with the principles set out in the Medium Term Financial Plan. Through the MTFP
updates, corporate issues have been addressed that will alter the future years position from the
budget that was approved on 23 February 2021.
2. To address future deficits, savings options have been approved for 2021/22 and for future years.
Savings will also be sought to provide funding for budget pressures to ensure the Council Plan
priorities are delivered. Members will be asked to consider the range of options for savings put
forward and which are to be consulted on. These may include critically evaluating the impact of
expenditure on the achievement of council priorities and as a result:
2.1. increasing income
2.2. reducing costs by improving service efficiency including the use of assets
2.3. reduction of costs through cutting overheads
2.4. alternative service delivery mechanisms
2.5. ceasing to deliver services
3. Leadership team will use the following approach to inform the proposals:
3.1. business as usual budget monitoring, ensuring value for money in all transactions during
the year. Identifying issues and agreeing action plans to address issues early to prevent
significant financial variances.
3.2. using the Commissioning Strategy to prioritise services and spend
3.3. priority based budgeting to clearly link business planning and budgeting and focus on
Council Plan priorities.
3.4. review of procurement strategy & contract management.
3.5. further delivery of the Customer Connect programme
3.6. review of human resources policies and procedures, particularly around temporary and
agency staff, expenses, sickness and absence management
3.7. Commercial strategy: a Commercial Strategy is being developed. The Council will provide
the right services, to the right markets, at the right time and at the right price.
3.8. working with partners

Page 355

Appendix 1
3.9. Reviewing potential use of alternative funding to delivery Council priorities, including new
Government initiatives which may duplicate planned Council spend, or more focussed use
of earmarked reserves.
4. The detailed service and capital budgets will be reviewed to ensure that these remain
reasonable, with reference to the 2020/21 out-turn, monitoring during 2021/22 and the Service
Managers’ knowledge of any changes due to take effect over the budgeting time frame.

General Fund Services
5. The overall General Fund Service budget strategy is that:
5.1. budgets will be updated by Finance for known, externally-driven changes to salaries
including inflation; they will also update capital charges and recharges;
5.2. all establishment changes must be treated as growth bids or savings and forwarded to
Human Resources Committee at the appropriate time;
5.3. minor virements and cost neutral changes (less than £10k gross) can be made to base
budgets without bid documents;
5.4. changes identified as part of the Customer Connect programme and savings identified as
part of the corporate prioritisation exercise will be worked up into budget amendments as
part of the budget process;
5.5. all other changes, including those that are statutory or demand led will need to be brought
forward for consideration as part of a budget amendment process, signed-off by the Lead
Officer and Portfolio Holder.
6. More detail of the approach is given below:
6.1. Salary budgets are increased by known incremental advances. From April 2022 2% will be
included for inflationary pay awards. A 4% reduction will be allowed for vacancies and
turnover on all salary cost centres except for rota-ed services; posts which are currently
vacant will be budgeted at the scale mid-point; rates and thresholds for PAYE, NI and
pension deductions will be updated.
6.2. No allowance will be made for inflation in expenditure budgets unless contractually
committed or unavoidable (e.g. energy, fuel and utility bills); the current inflation
assumptions built in to the base will be reviewed and updated where necessary. Where a
contract is due for re-tendering a review of the appropriate inflation rate and budget should
be undertaken and a budget pressure bid prepared where necessary.
6.3. Future year’s income base budgets already have inflationary growth built into them. Where
this cannot be met or managed through reductions in expenditure, this will be identified as a
budget pressure.
6.4. Fees and Charges need to be consistent with income budgets. This process must involve:
6.4.1.

review of 2020/21 out-turn and any relevant multi-year trends;

6.4.2.

review of current 2021/22 budget position and the likely impact of Covid-19;

6.4.3.

review of future year income budget; and

6.4.4.

assessment of the options for any changes to fees (structures as well as tariff)
and the impact of this on the income budget.

Page 356

Appendix 1
6.4.5.

For any service area where income budgets are £100k or more per annum,
this process will be documented. All services must review the potential for new
fees.

6.4.6.
Fees and Charges must be consistent with the Council’s Corporate Charging
Policy as approved in July 2017.
6.5. Existing base budgets will be challenged to identify savings that can be released to offset
projected budget deficits.
6.6. Budget Pressures: the delivery of the Council Plan requires constant review of budgets to
ensure funding is available to deliver the Council Plan priorities. Any increases to
expenditure or decreases to income base budgets (excluding 1 and 2 above) will be either
matched corporately by a compensating saving or will need to be submitted as budget
pressures. The de-minimis is set at £10k.
6.7. No growth bids will be accepted unless growth is to be funded from earmarked resources.
6.8. Reserves will be used in accordance with their agreed policies with the fundamental
principle that they are not used to fund recurring expenditure.
6.9. Effective consultation will be carried out in accordance with the Corporate Consultation
strategy.
6.10. Schemes which attract external funding need to be considered with reference to the
Council Plan and capacity to deliver.
6.11. The Budget assumes a £5 Council tax increase annually from April 2022 onwards. The
decision on the actual Council tax each year will be taken by Council in February and will
be influenced by current Government policy and the influence of this on local government
funding.
6.12. The working balance contributions be reviewed against the current long-term target
minimum General Fund working balance of £1,500,000 by 31 March 2022; any surplus
over this target should be transferred to the General Reserve.

Capital
7. The approach to setting the capital programme will be as follows:
7.1. A longer-term view will be taken of spending needs to balance priorities and resources more
evenly over the life of the capital programme and to reflect the Property and Land
Management Strategy. The Council’s property advisors will be consulted as to the on-going
maintenance programme with the aim being to develop a 10 year programme for recurring
capital costs.
7.2. It is assumed that no new Bids will be considered unless they are invest to save or
unavoidable. Schemes which attract external funding should be considered in the light of
capacity to deliver, with resources identified to deliver these and need to be prioritised with
reference to the Council Plan.
7.3. Capital Bid documents will be required prior to a scheme being accepted as part of the
Capital Programme. These are to be signed-off by the relevant Portfolio Holder and will be
prioritised by Members as part of developing the 2022/23 to 2030/31 Capital Programme.

Page 357

Appendix 1
Bids will be considered alongside future expected spend on major projects, as indicated in
the capital programme.
7.4. Existing schemes within the programme will also be reviewed with reference to their
progress and any external funding restrictions with the assumption that all schemes should
be deferred by at least 12 months.
7.5. Capital receipts will only be committed once they have been received. Although there are
known sources of capital receipts (e.g. South Lakes Housing VAT Shelter/Right to Buy
receipts), future aspirations will take into account the resources required to support
unavoidable recurring costs. Right to Buy receipts will be earmarked for social housing to
replace the units sold that generated the receipt.

Budget Process
7.6. The approach to the review of the current-year budget, based on budget monitoring, will
continue. The 5 year position will be set out as part of the process.
7.7. Regular budget reports will be provided to inform Members on the emerging issues. This will
integrate information from review of base budgets, higher level factors (such as the grant
settlement) represented in the MTFP and the corporate savings process.
7.8. Following approval of these proposals, Lead Officers, managers and finance staff will work
together on the preparation of budgets based on the strategy set out (ensuring consultation
with the relevant Portfolio Holders). Work will continue to be undertaken on refining the
options for reducing the deficits currently projected and inclusion in the future Budget
reports.

Page 358

Appendix 2
High level 2022/23 Budget and Council Plan timetable
Task
Update the Medium Term Financial Plan and Budget
Strategy
Preparation of detailed base budgets
Review of Council Plan and Options for Closing
the Gap
Develop proposals for change
Revenue Savings/Increased Income Proposals
Vehicle and Plant budget proposals
CMT Bid consideration
Informal Cabinet/SMT Meeting – Budget Prioritisation
Meeting
•review savings proposals
•consider fees and charges proposals
•consider score the Revenue and Capital bids
•consider consultation process
Public consultation on proposals
Fees and Charges - Lake Admin
Fees and Charges - Licensing
Quarter 2 Monitoring and Capital Programme phasing
update
1st Draft Budget Report including:
1) Updated MTFP
2) Draft 5 year detailed Base Revenue and
Capital Budgets
3) Draft 5 year Budget Options for Service
Growth and Savings (including increases in income)
4) Draft Fees and Charges Options
5) Repairs and Maintenance Budget
Final draft Council Plan

Who
CMT and Cabinet
Members/ S151
Officer
Budget Holders and
Finance

Date
Cabinet 21 July;
Council 27 July,
O&S 27 August
August – 7
December Cabinet

Develop July &
August
Special CMT
Leadership Team,
Cabinet Members
and Finance
Finance Lead
Specialist
Operational Lead
Place and
Environment
Finance Specialist,
Finance & Assets
PH and Cabinet
Members

Leadership Team
and Finance

Cabinet 20 October
2021

8 weeks, 20 Oct 20 Dec
tbc
tbc

Cabinet 7
December 2021

Cabinet Members
4 weeks (statutory)
consultation period
commences

10 Dec - 17 Jan
(not counting
Christmas/New
Year)

Council

14 December 2021

Budget Briefing before Council with Draft Council Plan
Budget update as appendix to Q2 monitoring
Approve Council Plan

Page 359

Appendix 2
1st Draft Service Budget
Update for provisional settlement
Draft Treasury Management Strategy
Procurement Schedule

O&S

Relevant Service Budget Report extracts including
Fees and Charges

Quarter 3 Monitoring

Formulation of Final Budget proposal (including impact
of final settlement)
Consideration of O&S and other consultees comments
from 9 Dec draft Budget proposals
Final Treasury Management Strategy
Procurement Schedule
Approval of Budget, Council Tax, Procurement
Schedule and Treasury Management Strategy

Page 360

Planning
Committee
Licensing
Committee
Lake Admin
Committee
Finance
Specialist/Finance
and Resources PH
and Cabinet
Members

Special Meeting
early January 2022

O&S 4 Feb
Cabinet 9 Feb
Council 22 Feb

Cabinet

9 February 2022

Council

22 February 2022

Medium Term Financial Plan Forecast 2021/22 - 2026/27

Budget
2022/23
£000
Base Budget:
Expenditure
Employee Costs
Running Costs
Total Service Expenditure
Income
Car Parking Income
Contributions from other Local Authorities and Public
Bodies
General Income
Government Grants
New Homes Bonus
Lake Income
Recycling Credits
Total Service Income

Budget
2023/24
£000

Appendix 3

Budget
2024/25
£000

Budget
2025/26
£000

Budget
2026/27
£000

16,000.3
9,403.0
25,403.3

15,513.3
9,419.9
24,933.2

15,609.7
9,624.5
25,234.2

15,922.7
9,570.6
25,493.3

16,234.9
9,576.8
25,811.7

(5,156.9)
(10.3)

(5,258.9)
(9.9)

(5,363.0)
(9.6)

(5,465.9)
(9.6)

(5,465.9)
(9.6)

(4,096.7)
(4,279.2) (4,318.6) (4,366.2) (4,367.6)
(518.5)
(375.1)
(575.1)
(715.1)
(715.1)
(129.9)
(23.0)
0.0
0.0
0.0
(1,548.7)
(1,579.6) (1,611.1) (1,643.0) (1,643.0)
(1,551.8)
(1,582.0) (1,612.9) (1,644.3) (1,644.3)
(13,012.8) (13,107.7) (13,490.3) (13,844.1) (13,845.5)

Net Service Budget before Capital Charges

12,390.5

11,825.5

11,743.9

11,649.2

11,966.2

Capital Charges

10,420.2

5,564.0

5,118.7

5,220.7

4,109.4

Net Service Budget after Capital Charges

22,810.7

17,389.5

16,862.6

16,869.9

16,075.6

(39.5)
775.8

(44.4)
942.8

(52.3)
1,091.8

(59.1)
1,231.8

(59.1)
1,243.2

(454.9)
(100.9)
(155.0)
0.0
(145.7)

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
(145.7)

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

Corporate items
Interest Receivable
Interest Payable
Other Government Grants
Rural Services Delivery Grant
Lower Tier Services Grant
2022/23 Services Grant
Local Council Tax Support Grant
Local Tax Income Guarantee
Income from Council Tax (net of Parish Precept)
Parish Grant
Retained Business Rates
Contribution to pool Reserve

(9,677.6)
92.0
(4,669.4)
892.0

Direct Revenue Financing of Capital Programme
Minimum Revenue Provision
Reversal of Capital Charges

99.0
1,271.3
(10,420.2)

78.0
1,359.5
(5,564.0)

55.0
1,532.7
(5,118.7)

55.0
1,783.1
(5,220.7)

55.0
1,643.5
(4,109.4)

554.8
0.0
(923.4)

460.2
0.0
(231.1)

0.0
0.0
263.0

0.0
0.0
576.2

0.0
0.0
601.2

Collection Fund surplus/deficit
Adjustment from NNDR surplus/deficit reserve
Transfers to/from Reserves
Total Corporate Items

February 2022: Projected (Surplus)/Deficit assuming
£5 Band D Council Tax increase from April 2022
onwards

(9,962.2) (10,249.3) (10,538.8) (10,830.9)
92.0
92.0
92.0
92.0
(2,161.2) (2,302.0) (1,956.7) (1,956.7)
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

(22,901.7) (15,176.1) (14,687.8) (14,037.2) (13,321.2)

(91.0)

2,213.4

Page 361

2,174.8

2,832.7

2,754.4

Budget
2022/23
£000
February 2021 Council: (Surplus)/Deficit
Amendments for Medium Term Financial Plan July
2021:
Projected Pay award - reinstate 2% pay award
assumption for 2021/22
Covid-19 - remove rebuilding of General Reserve - not
required
Local Government Reorganisation
Delay in Local Government funding reform
- Rurual Services Delivery Grant
- Lower Tier Services Grant
- Business Rate Retention
- Cumbria Businss Rate Pool income received
- Cumbria Businss Rate Pool income to reserve
Interest Payable - lower borrowing in 2020/21, higher
interest rate
Projected (Surplus) / Deficit July 2021
Budget bids:
Growth
Pressures
Savings
Projected NI increase
Q2 overspend
MRP review
Interest payable review
Increase in contribution to Major Repairs Reserve
Additional use of Reserves to fund Budget Pressures
(Appendix 4)
Further Adjustments
Projected (Surplus) / Deficit December 2021
Taxbase higher than projected
New Homes Bonus
less NHB to reserves
Lower Tier Services Grant
2022/23 Services Grant
Homelessness Prevention Grant
Homelessness Prevention spend
Budget Pressures: further pressures identified (income,
homelessness accommodation)
Budget Growth: further growth requested (Climate
Change: CAFS)
less use of Business Rate reserve
Council tax deficit
Further Adjustments
Projected (Surplus) / Deficit January 2022
Additional business rate income
Projected (Surplus) / Deficit February 2022 (Cabinet)

Budget
2023/24
£000

Budget
2024/25
£000

Budget
2025/26
£000

Budget
2026/27
£000

2,368.5

2,110.3

2,128.7

2,235.7

n/a

213.8

223.1

227.3

231.8

n/a

(315.8)

(315.8)

(315.8)

0.0

n/a

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

(454.9)
(47.9)
(1,434.6)
(876.4)
876.4
(31.5)

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
80.9

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
111.5

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
163.6

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

297.6

2,098.6

2,151.7

2,631.1

0.0

76.0
874.2
(536.6)
91.0
0.0
(108.1)
74.3
15.0
(568.4)

0.0
266.9
(212.4)
94.0
0.0
(36.0)
136.3
15.0
0.0

0.0
166.8
(125.2)
97.1
0.0
(123.8)
205.6
15.0
0.0

0.0
204.2
(38.0)
100.3
0.0
(128.5)
316.5
15.0
0.0

0.0
248.2
(38.0)
100.3
0.0
1,643.5
1,243.2
55.0
0.0

(41.9)
173.1
(112.8)
(85.9)
85.9
(53.0)
(155.0)
(133.4)
133.4
37.0

(138.6)
2,223.8
(115.5)
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
37.0

(75.5)
2,311.7
(118.2)
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
(27.0)

(128.3)
2,972.3
(120.9)
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
(27.0)

(66.3)
3,185.9
(413.0)
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
(27.0)

50.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

(50.0)
94.6
7.7
(8.4)
(82.6)
(91.0)

0.0
0.0
68.1
2,213.4
0.0
2,213.4

0.0
0.0
8.3
2,174.8
0.0
2,174.8

0.0
0.0
8.3
2,832.7
0.0
2,832.7

0.0
0.0
8.5
2,754.4
0.0
2,754.4

Page 362

Appendix 4
The purpose of this table is to set out the revenue budget pressures from
Revenue Pressures - Unavoidable
Scheme

Portfolio

Council Tax Collection and Customer &
Associated Costs
Locality Services

NNDR Collection and
Associated Costs

Customer &
Locality Services

Lead

Description

2021/22
£

2022/23
£

2023/24
£

2024/25
£

2025/26
£

2026/27
£

Page 363

Vicki McDonald

10% reduction in legal and court costs year on
year due to changes in working practices being more proactive with customers with debt
recovery to avoid court costs. Corresponding
reduction by 10% year on year for GFT01
14420 and 14533

0

20,703

18,633

16,769

15,094

13,582

Vicki McDonald

10% reduction in legal and court costs year on
year but to changes in working practices being more proactive with customers with debt
recovery to avoid court costs. Corresponding
reduction by 10% year on year for GFT01
14420 and 14533

0

5,282

1,002

950

903

859

Vicki McDonald

Creation of fixed term (2 years) Case
Management Level 2 (Grade E) post to deliver
disabled facilities grants which are
experiencing significantly increased demand
as a direct result of Covid 19 pandemic
Necessary to maintain service delivery and
support NHS partners in managing the impacts
of COVID 19 pandemic (current health and
social care crisis)

13,836

28,832

15,020

0

0

0

0

11,000

11,000

11,000

11,000

11,000

Covid Resource - DFG
delivery

Housing

Grange Hostel

Customer &
Locality Services

Sion Thomas

Budgets needs adjusting to reflect actual
expenditure against Grange Hostel . 10k to be
assigned to Premises Expenses and 1k
assigned to Supplies and Services.

Legal - Corporate Land
Search Fees

Customer &
Locality Services

Linda Fisher

Corporate land search budget needs
increasing to match possible increase in
workload

0

3,000

0

0

0

0

Legal - Road Closure
Advertising Budget

Customer &
Locality Services

Linda Fisher

Budget for cost of advertising road closure
orders, currently there is no budget for cost
currently in place

0

3,000

0

0

0

0

Legal - Dragon Dictation

Customer &
Locality Services

Linda Fisher

provides real time savings using this

0

1,001

0

0

0

0

Legal - On line resources

Customer &
Locality Services

Linda Fisher

Cost of online resource has risen to £12,854
against budget of £10,000.

0

2,854

0

0

0

0

0

2,487,156

2,881,187

3,263,792

3,635,300

3,996,035

Vicki McDonald

Reduction in DWP funding allocations for HB
Subsidy, and increase in External Audit fees to
bring budget in line with actual charged.
These need to be considered together as
relates to same thing and can't take one with
out the over.

0

-2,391,050

-2,785,573

-3,168,660

-3,540,644

-3,901,846

Housing Benefit
Income & expenditure

Customer &
Locality Services

Scheme

Portfolio

Lead

Description

All

Helen Smith

Following review of Corporate Budgets for
increases over 2% currently allowed for. This is
the net result, some budgets have increased
and some decreased. Budgets covered include
Insurance, Utilities, Rates and Car Allowances

Additional Utility Pressure All

Helen Smith

Price increases for Gas and Electric have
come in higher than orginally accessed in the
Corporate budget review.

All

Additional staffing requests to reflect additional
demand pressure and inability to recruit for
some specialist services with national
shortages which require use of agency
resources, which are much more expensive
than employees.

Corporate budget review

Business as Usual Staffing
Pressure 2021/22 and
All
2022/23

Reported in December 2021

Page 364

Grange Hostel

Customer &
Locality Services

Reported in February 2022

Sion Thomas

Adjustment to reflect actual number of units
delievered compared to original bid

2021/22
£

2022/23
£

2023/24
£

2024/25
£

2025/26
£

2026/27
£

0

45,643

35,435

-48,998

-11,310

32,897

0

88,397

90,165

91,969

93,808

95,684

150,385

568,425

0

0

0

0

164,221

874,244

266,869

166,821

204,151

248,212

0

37,000

37,000

-27,000

-27,000

-27,000

164,221

911,244

303,869

139,821

177,151

221,212

1,917,518

Appendix 5
The purpose of this table is to set out the revenue growth proposals
Revenue Growth

2021/22
£

2022/23
£

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26
£
£
£

2026/27
£

Name

Portfolio

Lead

Description

Legal - Training Budget

Customer & Locality
Services

Linda Fisher

More budget required to support larger legal team

0

1,000

0

0

0

0

Sion Thomas

UCE have approached the Council in September
2021 seeking additional grant support for this FY
and next. This was after agreeing to a new 2 year
short term lease and long term lease. Currently
they have a deficit of circa £250k that they are
looking to find and have approached the Council
to seek support.

75,000

75,000

0

0

0

0

75,000

76,000

0

0

0

0

0

50,000

0

0

0

0

75,000

126,000

0

0

0

0

UCE Support Grant

Economy Culture and
Leisure

Reported in December 2021

Page 365

Contribution to CAFS

Climate Action and
Biodiversity

Reported in February 2022

Dan Hudson

Cumbria Action for Sustainability (CAfS) is a key
partner for SLDC in implementing the Council
Plan priority of “addressing the climate
emergency”. The Council has a target for South
Lakeland to be carbon neutral by 2037 - the
proposed funding agreement with CAfS will
deliver projects designed to significantly progress
this aspiration.

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 366

Appendix 6
The purpose of this table is to set out the revenue savings
Revenue Savings

Name

Portfolio

Lead

Page 367

Fixed Penalty Charge
Customer & Locality
Notice & Community
Services
Protection Notice

Claire Gould

Community Toliet
Shceme

Customer & Locality
Services

Dan Hudson

Finance Budget
Review

All services

Helen Smith

Covid-19
Contingency

All services

Helen Smith

General Savings

Description

2021/22
£

2022/23
£

2023/24
£

2024/25
£

2025/26
£

2026/27
£

0.0

(3,000.0)

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Due to the end of the Community Toilet
Scheme payments to Town/Parish Councils
this budget is no longer required
Following review of all budgets for regular
underspends, single-year savings for LGR
etc. This is the net result, some budgets
have increased and some decreased.

0.0

(38,000.0)

(38,000.0)

(38,000.0)

(38,000.0)

(38,000.0)

0.0

(234,000.0)

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Reduce Covid-19 contingency for future
years by 50% to reflect use to date in
2021/22

0.0

(261,550.0)

(174,400.0)

(87,200.0)

0.0

0.0

0.0 (536,550.0) (212,400.0) (125,200.0)

(38,000.0)

(38,000.0)

Income generation for locality enforcement

(950,150.0)

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 368

Appendix 7
Capital Bids and Revenue Impact of Capital Requests

Name

2021/22
£

2022/23
£

2023/24
£

2024/25
£

2025/26
£

2026/27
£

Portfolio

Lead

Description

Economy Culture
and Leisure

Sion Thomas

Looking to agree long term lease with UCE
to take on Ulverston Market Hall. Boiler
replacement will be needed if UCE are to
agree a long term lease.

0.0

50,000.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Economy Culture
and Leisure

Sion Thomas

Looking to agree long term lease with UCE
to take on Coronation Hall. Lift replacement
will be needed if UCE are to agree a long
term lease.

0.0

65,000.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Economy Culture
and Leisure

Sion Thomas

Looking to agree long term lease with UCE
to take on Ulverston Market Hall. Roof works
will be needed if UCE are to agree a long
term lease.

0.0

125,000.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Deputy Leader and
Finance and Assets

Sion Thomas

CCC are undertaking a pedestrian protection
scheme in Bowness. CCC have approached
SLDC to seek a contribution of £50k towards
the scheme in order to provide a premium
flagged pavement area as opposed to
retaining the existing finish. CCC are
investing ica £350-400k into the scheme.

0.0

50,000.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Deputy Leader and
Finance and Assets

Sion Thomas

Significant surface water evident on playing
fields, temporary works has been undertaien
to reduce surface water but this is currently
impacting on the s]chool and local communiy
groups when using the field for sports
activities.

0.0

25,000.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Deputy Leader and
Finance and Assets

Sion Thomas

Further deterioration of river walls in Rothay
Park. These areas are different to those
previously re-built following Storm Desmond.
Scour at base of walls evident following
inspections of the site.
Potential impact on pathways around
Rothway Park and Health and Safety Risk.

0.0

0.0

40,000.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Deputy Leader and
Finance and Assets

Sion Thomas

LDC already has £50k earmarked for this
work. During detailed invesitgations of the
jetty, it appears that further work is needed
to replace the jetty in full due to structural
timebrs showing signs of rot. This bid is to
seek a top up to the original £50k previously
awarded and to seek an additional £35k for
the scheme.

0.0

0.0

25,000.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Capital Bids
C2

Ulverston Market Hall Boiler
Replacement

C3

UlverstonCoronation Hall Lift
Replacement

C4

Ulverston Market Hall Roof
Repair/Replacement

Page 369

C5

C6

C7

C8

Pavement/highway improvement
works

Dean Gibson - Drainage Works

Rothay Park Retaining Wall Repairs

Repairs to Ferry Nab Jetty

Name

C9

C10

Total Capital Programme Bids

2022/23
£

2023/24
£

2024/25
£

2025/26
£

2026/27
£

Lead

Description

Deputy Leader and
Finance and Assets

Sion Thomas

Roof replacement to Cemetry Roof on
Parkside Road, Kendal. Potential impact on
Bereavement Service.

0.0

0.0

45,000.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Deputy Leader and
Finance and Assets

Sion Thomas

CCC reported defects to base of retaining
wall next to Kiosk on Gooseholme whilst
undertaking surveys of the bridges in
Kendal. EA have flagged this as a risk as
their flood defence wall, due to be built on
this wall. If SLDC do not progress with the
repair, EA will need to fund this repair to
ensure that the flood defence wall can be
sited and built in this area.

0.0

265,000.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Parkside Road Cemetry Roof
Replacement

Repairs to Gooseholme/ Stramongate
Retaining Wall

2021/22
£

Portfolio

0.0

580,000.0

110,000.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Page 370

690,000.0

Appendix 8

Carry forward of budgets requested

R7

2022/23
£

2023/24
£

2024/25
£

2025/26
£

Page 371

Lead

Description

Specialist Level 2 Food and Safety
Fixed Term

Gareth Candlin

Temporary additonal staffing to support work
on Covid-19 Test and Trace work

(24,561.0)

24,561.0

Ulverston Leisure Centre

Sion Thomas

Preparation of full business case

(76,050.0)

76,050.0

Shared ICT Business Partner Fixed
Term

Ben Wright

Part of business case for development
management system

(15,284.0)

15,284.0

Extended Support for Microsoft SQL
Server 2012

Ben Wright

Failure to have the extended support will
leave SLDC vulnerable to potential Cyber
Attack

(75,000.0)

25,000.0

25,000.0

25,000.0

Fund Change to Backup and Disaster
Recovery Contract

Ben Wright

Moving SharePoint and Exchange (e-mail)
into the cloud will enable us to reduce the
cost of extended support for windows 2012
servers listed below and help create some
resource capacity in the Shared ICT service

(30,000.0)

10,000.0

10,000.0

10,000.0

Extended Support for Microsoft
Windows Server 2012

Ben Wright

Failure to have the extended support will
leave SLDC vulnerable to potential Cyber
Attack

(75,000.0)

25,000.0

25,000.0

25,000.0

BAU Staffing Requests

All

Digital Development Officer and
Procurement Specialist included in BAU
staffing requests

(105,010.0)

105,010.0

Digital Innovation

Ben Wright

Digital Innovation Budget not yet spent and
required in 2022/23

(180,000.0)

180,000.0

60,000.0

60,000.0

25,000.0

R8

R9

2021/22
£

Name

R22

Total Carry forward of budgets requested

(580,905.0)

435,905.0

2026/27
£

0.0

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 372

Appendix 9

Capital Programme 2021/22-2025/26
GL Code

Programme Spending by Project

2021/22
Approved
Feb 2021

amendments
March 2020

amendments
Outturn

amendments amendments
Dec 2021
Jan 2022

2021/22
Latest

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Total
2021/22 to
2025/26

260.0

0.0

-39.0

-221.0

0.0

£000
0.0

£000
481.0

£000
0.0

£000
0.0

£000
0.0

£000
481.0

KAH11
KAH13
KAH14
KAH15
KCH01

Affordable & Empty Homes, Town Centre
Properties.
Cross-a-Moor junction improvement
S106 funded affordable homes purchase
Homeless Accommodation for Families
Next Steps Accommodation Programme
Community Housing Fund

4,531.7
56.0
0.0
152.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
30.0
115.4
237.0
543.0

0.0
-56.0
-115.4
-389.0
-100.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

4,531.7
30.0
0.0
0.0
443.0

0.0
56.0
0.0
0.0
100.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

4,531.7
86.0
0.0
0.0
543.0

KCI01
KDE06
KDE07

Scaling On Street Charging infrastructure
ERDF funded flood defence works
Coastal Communities Fund (includes £1.1 million

0.0
2,163.0
1,151.2

173.8
0.0
1,050.0

10.0
-407.5
150.0

0.0
0.0
-2,231.2

0.0
0.0
0.0

183.8
1,755.5
120.0

0.0
2,273.0
2,231.2

0.0
381.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

183.8
4,409.5
2,351.2

550.0

0.0

0.0

-500.0

0.0

50.0

250.0

250.0

0.0

0.0

550.0

0.0
60.0
80.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
7.6

0.0
0.0
-87.6

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
60.0
0.0

150.0
0.0
87.6

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

150.0
60.0
87.6

0.0
59.5

40.0
0.0

0.0
12.5

0.0
-72.0

0.0
0.0

40.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
72.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

40.0
72.0

25.0
661.0
3,000.0

85.0
363.0
0.0

0.0
200.8
0.0

-110.0
-458.0
-2,150.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
766.8
850.0

0.0
1,061.0
578.3

0.0
603.0
1,000.0

0.0
603.0
1,000.0

0.0
603.0
1,000.0

0.0
3,636.8
4,428.3

0.0

0.0

90.0

-49.5

0.0

40.5

49.5

0.0

0.0

0.0

90.0

0.0
0.0

120.0
260.0

0.0
24.5

-120.0
-201.6

0.0
0.0

0.0
82.9

0.0
30.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

120.0
0.0

120.0
112.9

35.0
40.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
121.6

0.0
0.0
0.0

35.0
40.0
121.6

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

35.0
40.0
121.6

80.0
250.0
79.8
947.5
0.0
0.0
38.0
0.0

15.0
0.0
0.0
1,500.0
615.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

15.3
0.0
0.0
262.4
0.0
1.4
0.0
3.9

-4.0
-250.0
-79.8
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
350.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

106.3
0.0
0.0
3,059.9
615.0
1.4
38.0
3.9

134.0
2,000.0
79.8
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

80.0
4,000.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

80.0
3,200.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

80.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

480.3
9,200.0
79.8
3,059.9
615.0
1.4
38.0
3.9

KAH10

for Grande Promenade)

KDE08

Page 373

KDE09
KDE10
KDP03
KEP52
KEP53
KFL01
KGD21
KIF01

KIP01
KIT27
KIT30

KIT32
KIT33
KIT34
KIT90
KLC03
KLH02
KLH07
KLH08
KLL18
KLL19
KLR31

Environment Agency lead Flood Relief Scheme
Improvements
Windermere Road Grange - Flood Aliviation
Kendal Market Lift
Refurbishment of Ellerthwaite Depot to create
office accommodation for rent
Disabled Toilet improvements
Extension and refurbishment to Rothay Park
toilets (incl Changing Places toilet)
Footway Lighting
Disabled Facilities Grants
Housing Investment Fund

LIPS (excluding contributions to SLDC property
included under individual properties)
Mobile Working
Customer Connect

Transport Software
Income Management System Upgrade
Development Management System
Replacement
IT Replacements
New Ulverston Leisure Centre
Coronation Hall alterations
Kendal Town Hall/South Lakeland House
Abbot Hall redevelopment
Cockshott Point Entrance Improvements
Millerground Pumping Station
Nobles Rest

Appendix 9

Capital Programme 2021/22-2025/26
GL Code

Programme Spending by Project

2021/22
Approved
Feb 2021

amendments
March 2020

amendments
Outturn

amendments amendments
Dec 2021
Jan 2022

2021/22
Latest

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Total
2021/22 to
2025/26

85.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.9
38.1
106.3

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

£000
85.0
0.9
38.1
106.3

£000
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

£000
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

£000
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

£000
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

£000
85.0
0.9
38.1
106.3

0.0

0.0

20.7

0.0

0.0

20.7

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

20.7

45.0
50.0
159.8

0.0
0.0
12.4

0.0
0.0
-77.2

-45.0
0.0
136.5

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
50.0
231.5

0.0
0.0
65.0

45.0
0.0
65.0

0.0
0.0
65.0

0.0
0.0
65.0

45.0
50.0
491.5

120.0
0.0
197.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
18.0

-120.0
75.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
75.0
215.0

120.0
0.0
240.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

120.0
75.0
455.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
493.5

84.2
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
8.7
144.1
0.0

-84.2
0.0
-144.1
-493.5

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
8.7
0.0
0.0

84.2
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
400.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

84.2
8.7
0.0
400.0

157.3
1,091.0
1,890.0
30.0

0.0
0.0
867.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
28.7
0.0

-157.3
-1,091.0
-2,700.1
-30.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
85.6
0.0

157.3
1,091.0
2,700.1
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

157.3
1,091.0
2,785.7
0.0

KRE04
KRE66
KRE67
KRE68

KSC91

Vehicle & Plant Programme (inc bins and boxes)

564.0

860.0

-22.5

-442.8

0.0

958.7

1,262.8

2,049.0

2,235.0

475.0

6,980.5

Service Redesign - New Vehicles
Energy-saving building enhancements
Bids Autumn 2021:
Cap Bid1 Ulverston Market Hall Boiler Replacement
Cap Bid2 Ulverston Coronation Hall Lift Replacement
Cap Bid3 Ulverston Market Hall Roof Repair/ Replacement

68.0
0.0

0.0
30.0

0.0
47.9

-68.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
77.9

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
77.9
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

50.0
65.0
125.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

50.0
65.0
125.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

50.0
25.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

50.0
25.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
265.0

40.0
25.0
45.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

40.0
25.0
45.0
265.0

KMR36
KMR37
KMR38
KNMxx

Page 374

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

Kendal Museum contribution
Braithwaite Fold Caravan Park extention
Kendal Castle (funded from LIPS)
Burton Hertiage Grant Scheme (funded from
LIPS)
Roofing repairs to The Monument, Kirkby
Lonsdale
Ulverston Bank Clock Repairs
Gooseholme - Retaining Wall Repairs
Play Areas (including community funded
schemes and schemes arising from the Play
Space Audit)
Kendal to Lancaster towpath trail
Gooseholme Footbridge contribution
Structural Repair works to Westmorland
Shopping Centre MSCP
Car Parking Machines
Town and Car Park signing
Parkside Road, Kendal car park
Kendal Car Parking improvements including
potential purchase of site, machine upgrades
and signage
Grange Regeneration
Grange Promenade Structural works
Grange Lido
Windemere Jetty Repairs

KMR21
KMR33
KMR34
KMR35

KPE18
KPE19
KPY38
KPY42
KPY44
KPY48
KPY51

KSC94
KXB27

Cap Bid4 Pavement/ highway improvement works
Cap Bid5 Dean Gibson - Drainage Works
Cap Bid6
Cap Bid7
Cap Bid8
Cap Bid9

Rothay Park Retaining Wall Repairs
Repairs to Ferry Nab Jetty
Parkside Road Cemetery Roof Replacement
Repairs to Gooseholme/ Stramongate Retaining
Wall

Appendix 8

Capital Programme 2021/22-2025/26
GL Code

Programme Spending by Project

Bids subject to further assessment:
Car park investments*
Employment site land acquisition
Depot review

2021/22
Approved
Feb 2021

0.0
0.0
0.0

amendments
March 2020

0.0
0.0
0.0

amendments
Outturn

0.0
0.0
0.0

amendments amendments
Dec 2021
Jan 2022

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

2021/22
Latest

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Total
2021/22 to
2025/26

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

Total
19,085.3
6,160.4
1,571.0 -12,238.1
350.0 14,928.7 15,861.8
9,055.0
7,183.0
*subject to detailed review of car parking strategy including potential new car parks, reconfiguration options on existing car parks and electric charging points

2,343.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
49,371.5

Page 375

Appendix 9

Capital Funding 2021/22 - 2025/26
Balance April
2021
£000
General
Usable Capital Receipts
New homes bonus / LIPS****

Page 376

Earmarked or allocated
IT replacement reserve
Major Repairs Reserve
General Revenue contributions
Other Reserves
Cap grants and contributions (inc S106)
Disabled Facilities Grants
Community Housing Fund*
Right to Buy receipt**
Community Infrastructure Levy
Borrowing
Funding from borrowing***.
Sub Total
Funding to be agreed
Total

Estimated
Income
£000

Use in capital
programme
£000

Projected
Balance March
2026
£000

(2,020.3)
(1,954.0)

(1,169.0)
(467.1)

2,611.8
2,421.1

(577.5)
0.0

(13.6)
(399.4)
0.0
(456.6)
(4,184.2)
(833.8)
(1,821.0)
(5,469.9)
(2,112.5)

(400.0)
(410.0)
(210.1)
(1,350.0)
(11,021.4)
(3,073.0)
0.0
(2,100.0)
(442.9)

380.3
793.6
210.1
1,642.7
13,330.1
3,636.8
543.0
6,000.0
75.0

(33.3)
(15.8)
0.0
(163.9)
(1,875.6)
(270.0)
(1,278.0)
(1,569.9)
(2,480.4)

0.0
(19,265.3)
0.0
(19,265.3)

(17,702.0)
(38,345.5)
0.0
(38,345.5)

17,702.0
49,346.5
25.0
49,371.5

0.0
(8,264.4)
25.0
(8,239.4)

*Ring fenced for Community Housing Schemes
**Ring fenced to support replacement of affordable housing. A further £925k is earmarked as contingency for
Cross-a-Moor junction improvements
***'Prudential Borrowing'; this may not result in taking on new loans but requires revenue charge to cover the cost
****Subject to annual confirmation and settlement

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22

327.00

0.00

327.00

327.00
115.00

0.00
0.00

327.00
115.00

NET CHARGE
2022/23

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23

X

334.00

0.00

334.00

X

0%

2%

Increased by 2% in line with MTFP

X
X

334.00
117.00

0.00
0.00

334.00
117.00

X
X

0%
0%

2%
2%

Increased by 2% in line with MTFP
Increased by 2% in line with MTFP

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

CEMETERY CHARGES
The fees, payments and sums set out below apply
where the person to be interred or in respect of whom
a right is to be granted, is, or immediately before his/
her death or application for the right, was an inhabitant
of the area administered by South Lakeland District
Council or, in the case of a still born child, where
the parents (or one of them) are, or at the time were,
such inhabitants.
In all other cases the fees, payments and sums
shall be doubled.
Interment
The fees indicated below apply only where the interment
is made between the hours of 9.30 and 15.00 on
Monday to Friday. In any other cases an additional
fee will be payable and such cases will
include any days which are or may in future be
classed as public holidays.

Page 377

Funerals on a Saturday are at the discretion of the
Council and can only be considered when staff
are available to carry out the necessary works.
An additional fee will be payable:
Full grave interment
Ashes interment or scattering
Interments will not be permitted on Sundays,
Good Friday or Christmas Day.
For the interment in a grave in respect of which
no exclusive right of burial has been granted:
Of the body of a still-born child, or of a child whose
age at the time of death did not exceed one month.

Single Depth

Of the body of a person whose age at the time of
death exceeded one month but did not exceed
12 years.

Single Depth

Of the body of a person whose age at the time of
death exceeded 12 years.

No Fee

No Fee

88.00

0.00

88.00

X

90.00

0.00

90.00

X

0%

2%

Increased by 2% in line with MTFP

490.00

0.00

490.00

X

500.00

0.00

500.00

X

0%

2%

Increased by 2% in line with MTFP

For the interment in an earthen grave, walled
grave or vault in respect of which an exclusive right
of burial has been granted:
Interment
Of the body of a still-born child, or of a child whose
age at the time of death did not exceed one month.
Of the body of a person whose age at the time of
death exceeded one month but did not exceed
12 years. (Including dressing of the grave)

No Fee

No Fee

88.00

0.00

88.00

X

90.00

0.00

90.00

X

0%

2%

Increased by 2% in line with MTFP

699.00
725.00

0.00
0.00

699.00
725.00

X
X

750.00
775.00

0.00
0.00

750.00
775.00

X
X

0%
0%

7%
7%

Benchmarked with Cumbrian LAs
Benchmarked with Cumbrian LAs

Of the body of a person whose age at the time of
death exceeded 12 years (Including dressing of the
grave) at
up to Double depth (Includes grave lining)
Treble depth** (Includes grave lining)
** applies only to graves purchased with an

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22

NET CHARGE
2022/23

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23

The internment or scattering of cremated remains

204.00

0.00

204.00

For a search of an entry in any of the
Cemetery Registers maintained by the Council

X

210.00

0.00

210.00

X

0%

3%

Benchmarked with Cumbrian LAs

25.00

0.00

25.00

X

25.50

0.00

25.50

X

0%

2%

Increased by 2% in line with MTFP

25.00

0.00

25.00

X

25.50

0.00

25.50

X

0%

2%

Increased by 2% in line with MTFP

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

option to bury at this depth, if possible.

For a search and a certified copy of an entry in any
of the Cemetery Registers maintained by the Council

128,914

132,832

Exclusive Rights of Burial
For the exclusive right of burial for a period not
exceeding 100 years from the date of grant in:

Page 378

A standard size earthen grave
A small grave specifically allocated for the burial
of a child whose age at the time of death did not
exceed 12 years
A space not exceeding 1.8m by 1.2m in such
parts of the burial grounds as may have been set
aside for the burial of cremated remains.

699.00
67.00

0.00
0.00

699.00
67.00

X
X

750.00
68.50

0.00
0.00

750.00
68.50

X
X

0%
0%

7%
2%

Benchmarked with Cumbrian LAs
Increased by 2% in line with MTFP

276.00

0.00

276.00

X

300.00

0.00

300.00

X

0%

9%

Benchmarked with Cumbrian LAs

b. For the right to construct a walled grave or vault in
grave spaces in respect of which an exclusive right
of burial has been granted, there shall be payable
(in addition to the appropriate fee for such a grant)
in respect of each grave space for which the right is
acquired.

306.00

0.00

306.00

X

312.00

0.00

312.00

X

0%

2%

Increased by 2% in line with MTFP

51.00

0.00

51.00

X

60.00

0.00

60.00

X

0%

18%

Benchmarked with Cumbrian LAs

Transfer of Exclusive Right of Burial
Registers maintained by the Council.

61,806

67,232

Monuments, Gravestones, Tablets and
Monumental Inscriptions
For the right to erect or place on a grave or vault
in respect of which the exclusive right of burial has
been granted:
A flat tablet occupying a superficial area not
exceeding 450mm by 520mm.

104.00

0.00

104.00

X

106.00

0.00

106.00

X

0%

2%

Increased by 2% in line with MTFP

A flat tablet occupying a greater area of the
grave space.

219.00

0.00

219.00

X

223.00

0.00

223.00

X

0%

2%

Increased by 2% in line with MTFP

187.00

0.00

187.00

X

191.00

0.00

191.00

X

0%

2%

Increased by 2% in line with MTFP

83.00
104.00

0.00
0.00

83.00
104.00

X
X

105.00
106.00

0.00
0.00

105.00
106.00

X
X

0%
0%

27%
2%

Benchmarked with Cumbrian LAs
Increased by 2% in line with MTFP

68.00

0.00

68.00

X

69.50

0.00

69.50

X

0%

2%

Increased by 2% in line with MTFP

Depends on
length of entry

V

Depends on
length of entry

V

116.40

V

118.80

V

20%

2%

Increased by 2% in line with MTFP

A headstone, scroll or similar monument
Not exceeding 1 metre in height
Exceeding 1 metre, for each 0.3 metres
or part thereof, where permitted
A vase in lieu of a headstone
For the right to place an additional inscription on
an existing monument. (or inscription in Book of
Remembrance (Ulverston)
For an entry in the Book of Remembrance
maintained at Ulverston Cemetery (in addition to the
fee for Right to insert inscription)
For installation of a bronze memorial plaque

97.00

19.40

99.00

19.80

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22

49.00

9.80

58.80

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22

NET CHARGE
2022/23

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23

50.00

10.00

60.00

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

(in addition to appropriate fee as set out above)
Annual registration fee for Memorial Mason
Registration Scheme

V

V

20%

33,976

2%

Increased by 2% in line with MTFP

35,696

Miscellaneous Fees
The fees for burials and graves listed below are doubled if they are in respect of a non-resident of the
district. Memorial fees are also doubled if applied for by a non-resident of the district

The fees for burials and graves listed below are doubled if
they are in respect of a non-resident of the district. Memorial
fees are also doubled if applied for by a non-resident of the
district

Use of Chapel of Rest for funeral purposes

71.40

0.00

71.40

Exhumations on Request

0.00

0.00

0.00

X

Price on Application

90.00

Assisted Funerals under the Public Health (Control of Disease Act 1984) - Administration costs (per
funeral)

0.00

0.00

0.00

300.00

0.00

0.00

90.00

300.00

X

0%

26%

E

0%

-

E

0%

-

1,762

Benchmarked with Cumbrian LAs

Benchmarked with Cumbrian LAs

2,227

ENVIRONMENTAL SEARCH
Charge per hour (minimum charge of 1 hour)

25.50

5.10

30.60

V

134

26.01

5.20

31.21

V

20%

137

2%

Selling of animals for pets (Grant)
Selling of animals for pets (Renewal)
Animal Boarding (including kennels and cattery) (Grant) plus cost of veterinary advice and any other
cost
Animal Boarding (including kennels and cattery) (renewal) plus cost of veterinary advice and any
other cost
Home Boarding and dog day care (Grant)
Home Boarding and dog day care (Renewal)
Hiring of horses (Grant) plus cost of veterinary advice and any other costs
Hiring of horses (Renewal) plus cost of veterinary advice and any other costs
Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976 per application plus cost of veterinary advice and any other costs

225.51
208.62
238.92

0.00
0.00
0.00

225.51
208.62
238.92

X
X
X

709

230.02
212.79
243.70

0.00
0.00
0.00

230.02
212.79
243.70

X
X
X

0%
0%
0%

723

2,986

3,046

2%
2%
2%

205.37

0.00

205.37

X

209.48

0.00

209.48

X

0%

192.22
181.00
286.49
258.14
241.58

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

192.22
181.00
286.49
258.14
241.58

X
X
X
X
X

1,166

196.06
184.62
292.22
263.30
246.41

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

196.06
184.62
292.22
263.30
246.41

X
X
X
X
X

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

1,189

Dog Breeding (Grant) plus cost of veterinary advice and any other costs
Dog Breeding (Renewal) plus cost of veterinary advice and any other costs
Zoo Licence (every four or six years) plus cost of veterinary advice and any other costs
Informal Zoo Inspections
Administration fee for transfer of licence to another name
Late admin charge
Keeping of animals for training or exhibition (Grant)
Keeping of animals for training or exhibition (Renewal)
Variation of licence/re-evaluating of rating of Animal boarding/Selling of animals for Pets/Keeping of
Animals for Training or Exhibition/
Home Boarding/Dog Day Care
Variation of licence/re-evaluating of rating of Breeding or Hiring of Horses plus cost of veterinary
advice and any other costs
Variation to reduce the licensable activity or number of animals
Combination of activities - equal to the highest activity fee and vets fees where required as above

241.58
230.30
537.97
228.29
114.44
23.41
238.38
205.37
124.91

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
4.68
0.00
0.00
0.00

241.58
230.30
537.97
228.29
114.44
28.09
238.38
205.37
124.91

X
X
X
X
X
V
X
X
X

586

246.41
234.91
548.73
232.86
116.73
23.88
243.15
209.48
127.41

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
4.78
0.00
0.00
0.00

246.41
234.91
548.73
232.86
116.73
28.65
243.15
209.48
127.41

X
X
X
X
X
V
X
X
X

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
20%
0%
0%
0%

598

34.96

0.00

34.96

X

35.66

0.00

35.66

X

0%

2%

34.96

0.00

34.96

X

35.66

0.00

35.66

X

0%

2%

255.00
57.00

0.00
0.00

255.00
57.00

X
X

260.10
58.14

0.00
0.00

260.10
58.14

X
X

0%
0%

3,366.70
752.60
770.91
365.67

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

3,366.70
752.60
770.91
365.67

X
X
X
X

3,434.03
767.65
786.33
372.98

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

3,434.03
767.65
786.33
372.98

X
X
X
X

0%
0%
0%
0%

LICENCES IN RESPECT OF ANIMALS

Page 379

5,856
2,395

0
0
0

2%

5,973
2,443

0
0
0

2%
2%
2%
2%
2%
2%
2%
2%
2%
2%
2%
2%
2%
2%

STREET TRADING LICENCES
Application Fee
per week

236

241

2%
2%

MISCELLANEOUS LICENCES
Sex Establishments (SEV Grant)
Sex Establishments (SEV Renewal)
Sex Establishments (Sex Shop Grant)
Sex Establishments (Sex Shop renewal)

0

0

2%
2%
2%
2%

2% increase in line with MTFP

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22
153.62
161.14

VAT
0.00
0.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
153.62
161.14

NET CHARGE
2022/23
156.69
164.36

VAT
0.00
0.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23
156.69
164.36

Scrap Metal
Site - Grant
Renewal
Variation

406.84
295.10
129.40

0.00
0.00
0.00

406.84
295.10
129.40

X
X
X

4,000

414.98
301.00
131.99

0.00
0.00
0.00

414.98
301.00
131.99

X
X
X

0%
0%
0%

Collector - Grant
Renewal
Variation

275.89
167.38
133.77

0.00
0.00
0.00

275.89
167.38
133.77

X
X
X

0

281.41
170.73
136.45

0.00
0.00
0.00

281.41
170.73
136.45

X
X
X

0%
0%
0%

Condemned Food Certificate

102.00

0.00

102.00

X

104.04

0.00

104.04

X

0%

2%

Export Food Certificates - visit charge
Export Food Certificates - Subsequent admin charge
Non-statutory sampling
Officer time non-statutory

51.00
25.50

0.00
0.00

51.00
25.50

X
X

52.02
26.01

0.00
0.00

52.02
26.01

X
X

0%
0%

2%
2%

New Application and Variation fee
Rateable Band
A (nil-£4,300)
B (£4,301-£33,000)
C (£33,001-£87,000)
D (£87,001-£125,000)
E (£125,001 plus)

100.00
190.00
315.00
450.00
635.00

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

100.00
190.00
315.00
450.00
635.00

X
X
X
X
X

100.00
190.00
315.00
450.00
635.00

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

100.00
190.00
315.00
450.00
635.00

X
X
X
X
X

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

Annual Fee - payable 1 year after grant of licence
Rateable Band
A (nil-£4,300)
B (£4,301-£33,000)
C (£33,001-£87,000)
D (£87,001-£125,000)
E (£125,001 plus)

70.00
180.00
295.00
320.00
350.00

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

70.00
180.00
295.00
320.00
350.00

X
X
X
X
X

70.00
180.00
295.00
320.00
350.00

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

70.00
180.00
295.00
320.00
350.00

X
X
X
X
X

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

D (x2)
Application fee
Annual Charge

900.00
640.00

0.00
0.00

900.00
640.00

X
X

900.00
640.00

0.00
0.00

900.00
640.00

X
X

0%
0%

0%
0%

E (x3)
Application fee
Annual Charge

1,905.00
1,050.00

0.00
0.00

1,905.00
1,050.00

X
X

1,905.00
1,050.00

0.00
0.00

1,905.00
1,050.00

X
X

0%
0%

0%
0%

1,000.00
2,000.00
4,000.00
8,000.00
16,000.00
24,000.00
32,000.00
40,000.00
48,000.00
56,000.00

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

1,000.00
2,000.00
4,000.00
8,000.00
16,000.00
24,000.00
32,000.00
40,000.00
48,000.00
56,000.00

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

1,000.00
2,000.00
4,000.00
8,000.00
16,000.00
24,000.00
32,000.00
40,000.00
48,000.00
56,000.00

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

1,000.00
2,000.00
4,000.00
8,000.00
16,000.00
24,000.00
32,000.00
40,000.00
48,000.00
56,000.00

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

Skin Piercing & misc (premises) Acupuncture, Tattooing and Electrolysis Licence
Skin Piercing & misc (personal) Acupuncture, Tattooing and Electrolysis Licence

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22
X
1,000
X
296

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
X
0%
1,020
X
0%
302

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
2%
2%

4,080

2%
2%
2%

0

2%
2%
2%

LICENCES IN RESPECT OF FOOD

PREMISES & CLUB CERTIFICATES
Premises and club application- each premise that is licensable will be allocated to a fee band
according to the non domestic rateable value. Evidence of premises band will be required.

Page 380

Multiplier applied to premises in bands D & E
where the premises are exclusively or primarily in the business of selling alcohol

Exceptionally Large Events
(an additional premises fee for large events)
No's in attendance
5,000-9,999
10,000-14,999
15,000- 19,999
20,000- 29,999
30,000- 39,999
40,000- 49,999
50,000- 59,999
60,000- 69,999
70,000- 79,999
80,000- 89,999

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22
64,000.00

VAT
0.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
64,000.00

a) Application for grant of personal licence
b)Temporary event notice
c) Replacement of premises licence(loss)

37.00
21.00
10.50

0.00
0.00
0.00

37.00
21.00
10.50

X
X
X

d) Application for provisional statement where premises being built
e) Notification of change name or address

315.00
10.50

0.00
0.00

315.00
10.50

f) Application to vary licence to specify individual as premises supervisor
g) Application for transfer of premises licence
h) Interim authority notice following death, etc of licence holder

23.00
23.00
23.00

0.00
0.00
0.00

i) Theft, loss, etc of certificate or summary

10.50

j) Notification of change of name or alteration of rules of club
k) Change of relevant registered address of club
l) Theft, loss, etc of temporary event notice
m) Theft, loss, etc of personal licence
n) Duty to notify change of name or address

10.50
10.50
10.50
10.50
10.50

o) Right of freeholder etc. to be notified of licensing matters

21.00

90,000 plus

NET CHARGE
2022/23
64,000.00

VAT
0.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23
64,000.00

37.00
21.00
10.50

0.00
0.00
0.00

37.00
21.00
10.50

X
X
X

0%
0%
0%

X
X

315.00
10.50

0.00
0.00

315.00
10.50

X
X

0%
0%

0%
0%

23.00
23.00
23.00

X
X
X

23.00
23.00
23.00

0.00
0.00
0.00

23.00
23.00
23.00

X
X
X

0%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%

0.00

10.50

X

10.50

0.00

10.50

X

0%

0%

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

10.50
10.50
10.50
10.50
10.50

X
X
X
X
X

10.50
10.50
10.50
10.50
10.50

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

10.50
10.50
10.50
10.50
10.50

X
X
X
X
X

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

0.00

21.00

X

21.00

0.00

21.00

X

0%

0%

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22
X

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
X
0%

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
0%

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Personal Licences, Temporary Events & Other Fees
12
10,757

12
10,972

0%
0%
0%

Exemptions from payment of Premises Licence fee
Applications covering the provision of regulated
entertainment only (excluding the sale of alcohol)

Page 381

Application by a proprietor of an educational
institution(school or college) in respect of
premises that are, or form part of, the
educational institution and the provision of
regulated entertainment on the premises
is carried on by the educational institution
for and on behalf of the purposes of the
establishment.
Application is in respect of premises that
are or form part of a church or chapel hall
or other similar building or village, parish or
community hall or similar building

No Charge

No Charge

No Charge

No Charge

No Charge

No Charge

No Charge

No Charge

195,706

199,620

GAMBLING ACT 2005
Schedule of fees as per Government guidelines.
Regulation of
Application
Bingo

3,500.00

0.00

3,500.00

X

3,500.00

0.00

3,500.00

X

0%

0%

Adult Gaming Centre

2,000.00

0.00

2,000.00

X

2,000.00

0.00

2,000.00

X

0%

0%

Betting (track)

2,500.00

0.00

2,500.00

X

2,500.00

0.00

2,500.00

X

0%

0%

Family entertainment centre

2,000.00

0.00

2,000.00

X

2,000.00

0.00

2,000.00

X

0%

0%

Betting (Other)

3,000.00

0.00

3,000.00

X

3,000.00

0.00

3,000.00

X

0%

0%

Bingo

1,000.00

0.00

1,000.00

X

1,000.00

0.00

1,000.00

X

0%

0%

Adult gaming centre

1,000.00

0.00

1,000.00

X

1,000.00

0.00

1,000.00

X

0%

0%

Betting (Track)

1,000.00

0.00

1,000.00

X

1,000.00

0.00

1,000.00

X

0%

0%

Family entertainment centre

750.00

0.00

750.00

X

750.00

0.00

750.00

X

0%

0%

Betting (Other)

600.00

0.00

600.00

X

600.00

0.00

600.00

X

0%

0%

Annual fee

Variation application

Fees set nationally - no increase.

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22
7,500.00

VAT
0.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
7,500.00

NET CHARGE
2022/23
7,500.00

VAT
0.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23
7,500.00

Large casino

5,000.00

0.00

5,000.00

Small casino

4,000.00

0.00

4,000.00

X

5,000.00

0.00

5,000.00

X

0%

0%

X

4,000.00

0.00

4,000.00

X

0%

Converted casino

2,000.00

0.00

0%

2,000.00

X

2,000.00

0.00

2,000.00

X

0%

Bingo

1,750.00

0%

0.00

1,750.00

X

1,750.00

0.00

1,750.00

X

0%

Adult gaming centre

0%

1,000.00

0.00

1,000.00

X

1,000.00

0.00

1,000.00

X

0%

0%

Betting (track)

1,250.00

0.00

1,250.00

X

1,250.00

0.00

1,250.00

X

0%

0%

Family entertainment centre

1,000.00

0.00

1,000.00

X

1,000.00

0.00

1,000.00

X

0%

0%

Betting (Other)

1,500.00

0.00

1,500.00

X

1,500.00

0.00

1,500.00

X

0%

0%

Regional casino

15,000.00

0.00

15,000.00

X

15,000.00

0.00

15,000.00

X

0%

0%

Large casino

10,000.00

0.00

10,000.00

X

10,000.00

0.00

10,000.00

X

0%

0%

Small casino

8,000.00

0.00

8,000.00

X

8,000.00

0.00

8,000.00

X

0%

0%

Bingo

3,500.00

0.00

3,500.00

X

3,500.00

0.00

3,500.00

X

0%

0%

Adult gaming centre

2,000.00

0.00

2,000.00

X

2,000.00

0.00

2,000.00

X

0%

0%

Betting (track)

2,500.00

0.00

2,500.00

X

2,500.00

0.00

2,500.00

X

0%

0%

Family entertainment centre

2,000.00

0.00

2,000.00

X

2,000.00

0.00

2,000.00

X

0%

0%

Betting (Other)

3,000.00

0.00

3,000.00

X

3,000.00

0.00

3,000.00

X

0%

0%

Regional casino

6,500.00

0.00

6,500.00

X

6,500.00

0.00

6,500.00

X

0%

0%

Large casino

2,150.00

0.00

2,150.00

X

2,150.00

0.00

2,150.00

X

0%

0%

Small casino

1,800.00

0.00

1,800.00

X

1,800.00

0.00

1,800.00

X

0%

0%

Converted casino

1,350.00

0.00

1,350.00

X

1,350.00

0.00

1,350.00

X

0%

0%

Bingo

1,200.00

0.00

1,200.00

X

1,200.00

0.00

1,200.00

X

0%

0%

Adult gaming centre

1,200.00

0.00

1,200.00

X

1,200.00

0.00

1,200.00

X

0%

0%

Betting (track)

950.00

0.00

950.00

X

950.00

0.00

950.00

X

0%

0%

Family entertainment centre

950.00

0.00

950.00

X

950.00

0.00

950.00

X

0%

0%

Betting (Other)

1,200.00

0.00

1,200.00

X

1,200.00

0.00

1,200.00

X

0%

0%

Re-instatement
Regional casino

6,500.00

0.00

6,500.00

X

6,500.00

0.00

6,500.00

X

0%

0%

Large casino

2,150.00

0.00

2,150.00

X

2,150.00

0.00

2,150.00

X

0%

0%

Small casino

1,800.00

0.00

1,800.00

X

1,800.00

0.00

1,800.00

X

0%

0%

Converted casino

1,350.00

0.00

1,350.00

X

1,350.00

0.00

1,350.00

X

0%

0%

Bingo

1,200.00

0.00

1,200.00

X

1,200.00

0.00

1,200.00

X

0%

0%

Adult gaming centre

1,200.00

0.00

1,200.00

X

1,200.00

0.00

1,200.00

X

0%

0%

Betting (track)

950.00

0.00

950.00

X

950.00

0.00

950.00

X

0%

0%

Family entertainment centre

950.00

0.00

950.00

X

950.00

0.00

950.00

X

0%

0%

1,200.00

0.00

1,200.00

X

1,200.00

0.00

1,200.00

X

0%

0%

Fee for copy of licence - All premises

16.20

0.00

16.20

X

16.20

0.00

16.20

X

0%

0%

Fee to accompany notification of change of circumstances - All premises

40.20

0.00

40.20

X

40.20

0.00

40.20

X

0%

Regional casino

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22
X

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
X
0%

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
0%

Provisional statement application

Transfer

Page 382

Betting (Other)

14,337

0%
14,624

GAMING LICENCES
Small Lotteries
Registration Fee
Renewal

40.00
20.00

0.00
0.00

40.00
20.00

X
X

Permit/Registration New Grant - Existing Operator
Licensed Premises Gaming Machine (3 or more machines)
Club Gaming Machine Permit
Club Gaming Machine Permit (fast track i.e. CPC holder)

100.00
100.00
100.00

0.00
0.00
0.00

100.00
100.00
100.00

Permit/Registration - New Grant
Licensed Premises Gaming Machine (1 or 2 machines)
Licensed Premises Gaming Machine (3 or more machines)

50.00
150.00

0.00
0.00

50.00
150.00

40.00
20.00

0.00
0.00

40.00
20.00

X
X

0%
0%

X
X
X

100.00
100.00
100.00

0.00
0.00
0.00

100.00
100.00
100.00

X
X
X

0%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%

X
X

50.00
150.00

0.00
0.00

50.00
150.00

X
X

0%
0%

0%
0%

4,785

4,881

0%
0%

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Appendix 10

Page 383

Prize gaming permit
Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre
Club gaming permit
Club gaming machine permit
Club gaming machine permit (fast track i.e. CPC holder)

NET CHARGE
2021/22
300.00
300.00
200.00
200.00
100.00

VAT
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
300.00
300.00
200.00
200.00
100.00

NET CHARGE
2022/23
300.00
300.00
200.00
200.00
100.00

VAT
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23
300.00
300.00
200.00
200.00
100.00

Permit/Registration - Renewal
Prize gaming permit (every 10 years)
Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre (every 10 years)
Club gaming permit (every 10 years)
Club gaming machine permit (every 10 years)

300.00
300.00
200.00
200.00

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

300.00
300.00
200.00
200.00

X
X
X
X

300.00
300.00
200.00
200.00

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

300.00
300.00
200.00
200.00

X
X
X
X

0%
0%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%
0%

Permit/Registration - Annual fee
Licensed Premises Gaming Machine (3 or more machines)
Club gaming permit
Club gaming machine permit
Club gaming machine permit (fast track i.e. CPC holder)

50.00
50.00
50.00
50.00

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

50.00
50.00
50.00
50.00

X
X
X
X

50.00
50.00
50.00
50.00

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

50.00
50.00
50.00
50.00

X
X
X
X

0%
0%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%
0%

Permit/Registration - Variation fee
Licensed Premises Gaming Machine (3 or more machines)
Club gaming permit
Club gaming machine permit
Club gaming machine permit (fast track i.e. CPC holder)

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

X
X
X
X

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

X
X
X
X

0%
0%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%
0%

Permit/Registration - Transfer
Licensed Premises Gaming Machine (3 or more machines)
Permit/Registration - Change of name
Licensed Premises Gaming Machine (3 or more machines)
Prize gaming permit
Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre

25.00

0.00

25.00

X

25.00

0.00

25.00

X

0%

0%

25.00
25.00
25.00

0.00
0.00
0.00

25.00
25.00
25.00

X
X
X

25.00
25.00
25.00

0.00
0.00
0.00

25.00
25.00
25.00

X
X
X

0%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%

Copy of permits/registrations

15.00

0.00

15.00

X

15.00

0.00

15.00

X

0%

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22
X
X
X
X
X

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
X
0%
X
0%
X
0%
X
0%
X
0%

2,986

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

0%
3,046

PRIVATE HIRE/HACKNEY CARRIAGE LICENSING
Private Hire Operators Licence Grant - 5 Year
Private Hire Operators Licence renewal - 5 Year
Drivers Licence Grant - 1 Year
Drivers Licence Renewal - 1 Year
Drivers Licence Grant - 3 Year
Drivers Licence Renewal - 3 Year
DBS Application

360.63
220.74
98.06
64.74
208.93
151.87
54.00

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

360.63
220.74
98.06
64.74
208.93
151.87
54.00

X
X
X
X
X
X
X

360.63
220.74
98.06
64.74
208.93
151.87
54.00

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

360.63
220.74
98.06
64.74
208.93
151.87
54.00

X
X
X
X
X
X
X

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

Hackney Carriage/Private Hire (Vehicle over 8 years old) (Grant) - 1 Year
Hackney Carriage/Private Hire (Vehicle over 8 years old) (Renewal) - 1 Year
Hackney Carriage/Private Hire (Vehicle over 3 years old) (Grant) - 1 Year
Hackney Carriage/Private Hire (Vehicle over 3 years old) (Renewal) - 1 Year
Hackney Carriage/Private Hire (Vehicle up to 3 years old) (Grant) - 1 Year
Hackney Carriage/Private Hire (Vehicle up to 3 years old) (Renewal) - 1 Year
Trailer grant and renewal - Annual

247.86
209.47
185.77
162.84
155.08
131.65
108.40

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

247.86
209.47
185.77
162.84
155.08
131.65
108.40

X
X
X
X
X
X
X

247.86
209.47
185.77
162.84
155.08
131.65
108.40

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

247.86
209.47
185.77
162.84
155.08
131.65
108.40

X
X
X
X
X
X
X

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

Transfer of Hackney/Private hire Vehicle
Transfer of Hackney/Private hire Vehicle Ownership

65.63
65.63

0.00
0.00

65.63
65.63

X
X

65.63
65.63

0.00
0.00

65.63
65.63

X
X

0%
0%

0%
0%

Late administration fee
Change of details on licence

22.50
15.05

4.50
0.00

27.00
15.05

V
X

22.50
15.05

4.50
0.00

27.00
15.05

V
X

20%
0%

0%
0%

34.08
40.71
41.26

6.82
8.14
8.25

40.90
48.85
49.51

V
V
V

34.08
40.71
41.26

6.82
8.14
8.25

40.90
48.85
49.51

V
V
V

20%
20%
20%

0%
0%
0%

PLATES AND SIGNS (for display on vehicles)
New or replacement door sign
New or replacement back plate
New or replacement interior disc

Fees have not been increased. Legislation which governs
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire dictates that a
consultation process must be followed and fees must be
advertised in advance, however due to Covid-19 and capacity
it was not possible to do this.

Appendix 10

Replacement Drivers Badge
Bracket (optional)

NET CHARGE
2021/22
44.76
10.83

VAT
8.95
2.17

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
53.71
13.00

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22
V
V

NET CHARGE
2022/23
44.76
10.83

VAT
8.95
2.17

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23
53.71
13.00

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
V
20%
V
20%

108,390

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
0%
0%

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

110,559

CONTRIBUTIONS FROM THOSE IN BED AND BREAKFAST ACCOMMODATION
Contribution equals non-accommodation charge

Various

0.00

Various

E

10,824

Various

0.00

Various

E

0%

10,824

n/a

RECREATION GROUNDS
The Glebe- Bowness

Charges for The Glebe Pitch and Putt and Tennis set by Better. See website
www.better.org.uk

Football pitches
per season
Senior team

Page 384

325.00

0.00

325.00

E

325.00

0.00

325.00

E

0%

0%

Pitch & Pavilion

Pitch Only

480.00

0.00

480.00

E

480.00

0.00

480.00

E

0%

0%

Junior team

165.00

0.00

165.00

E

165.00

0.00

165.00

E

0%

0%

Pitch & Pavilion

300.00

0.00

300.00

E

300.00

0.00

300.00

E

0%

0%

One off pitch hire

50.00

0.00

50.00

E

50.00

0.00

50.00

E

0%

Pitch Only

1,800

0%
1,836

PARKS AND PLAY AREAS
Use of Council owned land
Commercial Booking Fee

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

50.00

10.00

60.00

V

20%

#DIV/0!

Non Business Users (community and Charity) Booking Fee

25.00

5.00

30.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

-100%

Hire of Land per event
Charitable/Community/ Not for profit organisations
Numbers in attendance at any one time
up to 50

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

#DIV/0!

51 to 499

50.00

10.00

60.00

50.00

10.00

60.00

V

20%

0%

500 to 4,999

100.00

20.00

120.00

100.00

20.00

120.00

V

20%

0%

5,000 to 14,999

300.00

60.00

360.00

300.00

60.00

360.00

V

20%

0%

15,000+

400.00

80.00

480.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

-100%

By Commercial
Negotiation

E

0%

By Commercial
Negotiation

E

0%

New line based on new ways of working

By Commercial
Negotiation

E

0%

New line based on new ways of working. This is set out in the
conditions of hire

Cost of
Reinstatement

X

0%

By Commercial
Negotiation

By Commercial
Negotiation

E

Commercial Events

By Commercial
Negotiation

By Commercial
Negotiation

E

Commercial and Charitable/Community/not for profit multi use of land
Commercial and Charitable/Community/not for profit for use of prime event land (see conditions of
hire)

By Commercial
Negotiation

By Commercial
Negotiation

E

Charitable institutions

By Commercial
Negotiation

By Commercial
Negotiation

X

By
Commercial
Negotiation
By
Commercial
Negotiation
By
Commercial
Negotiation
Cost of
Reinstatement
5,000

Service has updated application guidance and it no longer
includes events over 14,999 attendees at any one time

Updated to reflect actual cost
5,000

Play Area inspections
12 x monthly inspections and report (price per annum)

368.47

73.69

442.16

V

368.47

73.69

442.16

V

20%

0%

One off inspections

147.39

29.48

176.87

V

147.39

29.48

176.87

V

20%

0%

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22

0.47

0.00

0.47

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22
3,712

NET CHARGE
2022/23

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23

0.47

0.00

0.47

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
3,786

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

ALLOTMENTS
Per square metre - Subject to 3 months notice

E

E

0%

3,268

0%
3,325

CONTROL OF DOGS
1st Kennelling
Government Prescribed Fee

25.00

0.00

25.00

X

25.00

0.00

25.00

X

0%

0%

Basic Fee including 1 days kennelling

47.00

0.00

47.00

X

47.00

0.00

47.00

X

0%

0%

Total Minimum Charge

72.00

0.00

72.00

X

72.00

0.00

72.00

X

0%

0%

Total Maximum Charge - (7 Days)

144.00

0.00

144.00

X

144.00

0.00

144.00

X

0%

0%

50.00

0.00

50.00

X

50.00

0.00

50.00

X

0%

0%

2nd & Subsequent Kennelling
Additional charge to be added to kennelling fees above

1,000

1,000

FIXED PENALTY CHARGE NOTICES
Dogs

Page 385

Being in charge of a dog which defecates on specified land and failure to remove the faeces without
reasonable excuse
Being in charge of a dog on specified land and failure to produce at the request of an authorised
person a device for removing dog faeces and transporting it to a suitable waste disposal receptacle
without reasonable excuse
Being in charge of a dog not kept on a lead in a ‘Restricted Area’

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

0%

0%

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

0%

0%

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

0%

0%

Being in charge of a dog in a ‘Restricted Area’ without reasonable excuse

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

0%

0%

Being in charge of a dog in a ‘Restricted Area’ and failure to observe a direction given by an
authorised person to put and keep a dog on a lead without reasonable excuse
Being in charge of 5 or more dogs at one time

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

0%

0%

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

0%

0%

Depositing litter

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

0%

0%

Litter from Vehicles

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

0%

0%

Abandoning a Vehicle

200.00

0.00

200.00

X

200.00

0.00

200.00

X

0%

0%

Exposing vehicles for sale on a road

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

0%

0%

Repairing a vehicle on a road

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

0%

0%

Failure to produce waste carrier license

180.00

0.00

180.00

X

180.00

0.00

180.00

X

0%

0%

Failure to produce Authority to Transport Waste

400.00

0.00

400.00

X

400.00

0.00

400.00

X

0%

0%

Flytipping

250.00

0.00

250.00

X

250.00

0.00

250.00

X

0%

0%

Failure to Comply with a Waste Receptacles (Commercial)

80.00

0.00

80.00

X

80.00

0.00

80.00

X

0%

0%

Failure to Comply with a Waste Receptacles (Domestic)

80.00

0.00

80.00

X

80.00

0.00

80.00

X

0%

0%

Stationary idling (leaving your car running)

20.00

0.00

20.00

X

20.00

0.00

20.00

X

0%

0%

Breach of Community Protection Notice (CPN)

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

0%

Litter

Vehicles

Flytipping

0

0%
3,000
Increase in costs of delivery leading to increase in fees.

STREET SWEEPING
Charge per hour (Includes driver & machine, minimum charge 2 hours)

93.33

18.67

112.00

V

2,413

98.00

19.60

117.60

V

20%

2,461

5%

30.83

6.17

37.00

V

16,000

33.80

6.76

40.56

V

20%

16,000

10%

DELIVERY OF RECYCLING AND WASTE BINS AND BOXES
Developers only, per property

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22
30.83

Private households - Additional Bins

VAT
6.17

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
37.00

V

20.42

Price On
Request
122.50

V

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22

NET CHARGE
2022/23
33.80

VAT
6.76

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23
40.56

V

21.40

Price On
Request
128.40

V

20%

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
V
20%

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
10%

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

LITTER BIN EMPTYING
a. Supply litter bin

price on request

b. Installation of litter bin depending on

102.08

V

107.00

5%

location, minimum charge
per empty & disposal
Litter Bin Sponsorship

3.83

0.77

4.60

250.00

50.00

300.00

31.00

0.00

31.00

8.00

0.00

8.00

10,000

4.02

0.80

4.82

V

20%

250.00

50.00

300.00

V

20%

10,000

5%
0%

X

32.50

0.00

32.50

X

0%

5%

X

8.40

0.00

8.40

X

0%

Bulky Waste Collection
Single collection of up to 3 items
Each additional item over 3

Maximum of 10 items per collection

50,000

5%
50,000

SCAVENGING
Collection of litter on council owned
land following an official event

Actual cost of

Actual cost of

collection

collection

V

0

Actual cost of

Actual cost of

collection

collection

V

20%

0

dependent upon manpower required,
hours and location.

Page 386

Currently expecting Moorings to meet targets. All morrings
and encroachments to increase by standard 2% only.
LAKE WINDERMERE
Permanent Mooring
Charges per annum (Inclusive of VAT)
All non-commercial mooring licensee entitled to limited free use of slipway tractor, mast hoist and
showers.
(3rd Party insurance compulsory)
Open deck yachts moored annually

658.33

131.67

790.00

V

670.83

134.17

805.00

V

20%

2%

All other crafts, overall length up to max of 14m (per 1.0m)

118.33

23.67

142.00

V

120.83

24.17

145.00

V

20%

2%

Minimum charge for all other crafts as above

507.50

101.50

609.00

V

516.67

103.33

620.00

V

20%

2%

Mooring with no boat attached
Commercial all sizes

507.50

101.50

609.00

V

516.67

103.33

620.00

V

20%

2%

1,300.00

260.00

1,560.00

V

1,325.00

265.00

1,590.00

V

20%

2%

1,131.67

226.33

1,358.00

V

1,154.17

230.83

1,385.00

V

20%

2%

169.17

33.83

203.00

V

172.50

34.50

207.00

V

20%

2%

up to max of 11m (36ft)
Commercial service moorings (all sizes)
Local resident discount
applicable to mooring holders who pay Council Tax
at the full rate, are not in arrears and declare that their
sole or main residence is in South Lakeland
489,550

540,141

Jetty Berths
Berth for vessels 13 metres to 14 metres

5,462.50

1,092.50

6,555.00

V

5,570.83

1,114.17

6,685.00

V

20%

2%

5,071.67

1,014.33

6,086.00

V

5,166.67

1,033.33

6,200.00

V

20%

2%

4,681.67

936.33

5,618.00

V

4,775.00

955.00

5,730.00

V

20%

2%

889.17

177.83

1,067.00

V

916.67

183.33

1,100.00

V

20%

3%

Local residents discount does not apply to Jetty Berths
Berth for vessels 12 metres to 13 metres
To include free parking permit for 1 car (excluding winter)
Berth for vessels up to 12 metres
Winter Jetty Berth
Local residents discount does not apply to Jetty Berths

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22

NET CHARGE
2022/23

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

To include free parking permit for 1 car
Electricity Card

At cost plus 10%

At cost plus
10%

L

At cost plus
10%

At cost plus
10%

L

5%

131,000

133,620
Increase in Holiday moorings and daily slipway charges
inreased by 5% in line with demand.

Holiday Moorings and Berths (April- October)
(3rd Party insurance compulsory)
Per night mooring excluding launch

11.88

2.38

14.26

V

12.50

2.50

15.00

V

20%

5%

Off season block bookings

238.33

47.67

286.00

V

250.00

50.00

300.00

V

20%

5%

Jetty berth per night -mooring holder

11.88

2.38

14.26

V

12.50

2.50

15.00

V

20%

5%

Jetty berth per night - non mooring holder

31.46

6.29

37.75

V

32.92

6.58

39.50

V

20%

5%

Penalty for overnight charges

42.50

8.50

51.00

V

44.58

8.92

53.50

V

20%

(1st November -31st March)

13,935

5%
14,214

Daily Slipway Charges
Does not include car & trailer parking.
11.04

Motorised craft
All craft up to 11m (36ft)
Sale of block of 10 launching tickets

13.25

V

11.67

14.00

V

20%

Local discount
25%
Non-local
discount 10%

2.21

Local discount
25%
Non-local
discount 10%

V

Local discount
25%
Non-local
discount 10%

Local discount
25%
Non-local
discount 10%

V

20%

V

20%

No charge

No charge

V

No charge

No charge

V

20%

3.00

V

2.67

3.20

V

20%

V

2.33

6%

Non-motorised craft

Page 387

Windsurfers, canoes and untrailered

Ferry Nab only

dinghies
Waterhead Slipway
All craft up to 6m with max 5hp

2.50

0.50

0.53

7%

Waterhead- up to 6m overall length of craft and max 5 hp
11,099

11,321
Currently expecting Moorings to meet targets. All morrings
and encroachments to increase by standard 2% only.

Encroachments
The VAT treatment of the encroachment depends on whether the Council has exercised its option to
tax the individual encroachment site.
If the option has been exercised for the site, then the supply is vatable at the standard rate.
Private
Jetties, piers, quays, wharfs, catwalks,

29.00

0.00

29.00

E

30.00

0.00

30.00

E

0%

3%

53.00

0.00

53.00

E

54.00

0.00

54.00

E

0%

2%

Private per linear Metre

22.00

0.00

22.00

E

22.50

0.00

22.50

E

0%

2%

Commercial per linear metre

40.00

0.00

40.00

E

41.00

0.00

41.00

E

0%

3%

Private

7.00

0.00

7.00

E

7.15

0.00

7.15

E

0%

2%

Commercial

13.25

0.00

13.25

E

13.50

0.00

13.50

E

0%

2%

22.00

0.00

22.00

E

22.50

0.00

22.50

E

0%

2%

boathouses and wet docks
Chargeable per square metre
Commercial
Jetties, piers, quays, wharfs, catwalks,
boathouses and wet docks
Chargeable per square metre
Slipways

Mooring Posts

Fences and walls
Per Linear metre in length Private

Appendix 10

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
40.00

NET CHARGE
2021/22
40.00

VAT
0.00

Railway lines - per pair Private

77.00

0.00

77.00

Railway lines - per pair Commercial

141.00

0.00

141.00

Cables - each Private

77.00

0.00

77.00

Cables - each Commercial

141.00

0.00

141.00

Per Linear metre in length Commercial

Trot mooring chain- per 0.304m

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22
E

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23
41.00

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
E
0%

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
3%

NET CHARGE
2022/23
41.00

VAT
0.00

E

78.50

0.00

78.50

E

0%

2%

E

144.00

0.00

144.00

E

0%

2%

E

78.50

0.00

78.50

E

0%

2%

E

144.00

0.00

144.00

E

0%

2%

5.00

0.00

5.00

E

5.10

0.00

5.10

E

0%

2%

Trot mooring

656.00

0.00

656.00

E

670.00

0.00

670.00

E

0%

2%

Administration charge

193.00

0.00

193.00

X

197.00

0.00

197.00

X

0%

641,322

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

2%
654,148
Demand out growing supply and therefore increase in
charges to suit demand.

Storage of Boats
Annual Storage of Boats
Mooring licences (tenders)

Excludes launching fee

99.17

19.83

119.00

V

104.17

20.83

125.00

V

20%

5%

274.17

54.83

329.00

V

287.50

57.50

345.00

V

20%

5%

364.17

72.83

437.00

V

383.33

76.67

460.00

V

20%

5%

8.34

1.67

10.01

V

8.75

1.75

10.50

V

20%

5%

21.67

4.33

26.00

V

22.92

4.58

27.50

V

20%

6%

33.33

6.67

40.00

V

35.00

7.00

42.00

V

20%

5%

28.75

5.75

34.50

V

30.00

6.00

36.00

V

20%

per annum (in racks)
Trailered sailing dinghy

Slipping and tractor not included

per max 5.5m (18ft) per year
Catamarans

Page 388

Holiday Boat Storage (Apr-Oct)
Trailered sailing dinghy
per max 5.5m (18ft) per night
Powered Craft and Catamarans
(Max L.O.A. 5.5m- Min 3rd Party Ins)

Ferry Nab Winter Storage (Nov-March)
per metre
Trailer parking per month

83,059

4%
84,720

Licence Fee
Row boats/windsurfers and sailing
dinghies

24.00

0.00

24.00

X

24.50

0.00

24.50

X

0%

2%

Up to 6.09 metres

44.00

0.00

44.00

X

45.00

0.00

45.00

X

0%

2%

Over 6.09 mtrs & up to 9.14 metres

65.00

0.00

65.00

X

66.00

0.00

66.00

X

0%

2%

Over 9.14 metres

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

102.00

0.00

102.00

X

0%

2%

Boatmen/Shoremen - 6 years

208.00

0.00

208.00

X

212.00

0.00

212.00

X

0%

2%

Boatmen/Shoremen - 1 year

78.00

0.00

78.00

X

80.00

0.00

80.00

X

0%

3%

Retest fee

78.00

0.00

78.00

X

80.00

0.00

80.00

X

0%

All other craft:

18,093

3%
18,455

Other
Tractor per half hour

25.42

5.08

30.50

V

25.83

5.17

31.00

V

20%

2%

Mast Hoist per use

25.42

5.08

30.50

V

25.83

5.17

31.00

V

20%

2%

Warden Boat hire - none Emergency

212.50

42.50

255.00

V

216.67

43.33

260.00

V

20%

2%

Towing per half hour

212.50

42.50

255.00

V

216.67

43.33

260.00

V

20%

2%

Pressure washer

25.42

5.08

30.50

V

25.83

5.17

31.00

V

20%

per hour

2,371
Maps - Laminated

5.00

0.00

5.00

Z

2%
2,418

5.50

0.00

5.50

Z

0%

10%

Appendix 10

Registration number boards

NET CHARGE
2021/22
12.92

VAT
2.58

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
15.50

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22
V

NET CHARGE
2022/23
13.33

VAT
2.67

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23
16.00

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
V
20%

6,563

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
3%

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

6,694

Mooring holder & storage client
Car parking

first 24hrs

concurrent 24 hrs

As per Ferry Nab
Multi Tariff

As per Ferry
Nab Multi Tariff

V

As per Ferry Nab
Multi Tariff

As per Ferry
Nab Multi Tariff

V

As per Ferry
Nab Multi
Tariff
As per Ferry
Nab Multi
Tariff

As per Ferry
Nab Multi Tariff

V

20%

As per Ferry
Nab Multi Tariff

V

20%

Parking Permit

161.67

32.33

194.00

V

166.67

33.33

200.00

V

20%

Car & trailer parking all day when launching

11.04

2.21

13.25

V

11.25

2.25

13.50

V

20%

38,137

3%
2%
38,900

Sewage Pump out
SLDC Mooring Holders
1 Credit

2.00

0.00

2.00

Z

2.00

0.00

2.00

Z

0%

0%

5.00

0.00

5.00

Z

5.00

0.00

5.00

Z

0%

0%

Non SLDC Mooring Holders
1 Credit

No change to Parking hourly rates following increase last FY.

CAR PARK FEES & CHARGES
AMBLESIDE
King St

Page 389

Short Stay up to 1 hour

1.50

0.30

1.80

V

1.50

0.30

1.80

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

3.50

0.70

4.20

V

3.50

0.70

4.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

4.50

0.90

5.40

V

4.50

0.90

5.40

V

20%

0%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

up to 1 hour

1.50

0.30

1.80

1.50

0.30

1.80

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

3.50

0.70

4.20

3.50

0.70

4.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

4.50

0.90

5.40

4.50

0.90

5.40

V

20%

0%

up to 6 hours

5.50

1.10

6.60

5.50

1.10

6.60

V

20%

0%

all day

6.67

1.33

8.00

6.67

1.33

8.00

V

20%

0%

Lake Road only Early Bird - Arrive before 9am park all day

0.83

0.17

1.00

0.83

0.17

1.00

V

20%

0%

2000-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

up to 1 hour

1.50

0.30

1.80

V

1.50

0.30

1.80

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

3.50

0.70

4.20

V

3.50

0.70

4.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

4.50

0.90

5.40

V

4.50

0.90

5.40

V

20%

0%

up to 6 hours

5.50

1.10

6.60

V

5.50

1.10

6.60

V

20%

0%

all day

6.67

1.33

8.00

V

6.67

1.33

8.00

V

20%

0%

Park and Explore

15.00

3.00

18.00

V

15.00

3.00

18.00

V

20%

0%

2000-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

up to 1 hour

1.25

0.25

1.50

1.25

0.25

1.50

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

2.50

0.50

3.00

2.50

0.50

3.00

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

3.33

0.67

4.00

3.33

0.67

4.00

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

4.17

0.83

5.00

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

20%

0%

Lake Road, Rydal Road
applies 0800 to 2000
Multi-Tariff

Low Fold
Low Fold applies 0800 to 2000
Multi-Tariff

Miller Bridge

Appendix 10

up to 6 hours

NET CHARGE
2021/22
5.00

VAT
1.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
6.00

up to 13 hours

5.83

1.17

7.00

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22

NET CHARGE
2022/23
5.00

VAT
1.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23
6.00

5.83

1.17

7.00

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
V
20%
V

20%

617,640

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
0%
0%

629,994

BOWNESS : Note - Budget figures include Rectory Road
Quarry Mount
Short Stay up to 1/2 hour

0.42

0.08

0.50

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

20%

0%

up to 1 hour

1.50

0.30

1.80

V

1.50

0.30

1.80

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

3.50

0.70

4.20

V

3.50

0.70

4.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

4.50

0.90

5.40

V

4.50

0.90

5.40

V

20%

0%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

Long Stay up to 1 hour

1.50

0.30

1.80

V

1.50

0.30

1.80

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

3.50

0.70

4.20

V

3.50

0.70

4.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

4.50

0.90

5.40

V

4.50

0.90

5.40

V

20%

0%

up to 6 hours

5.50

1.10

6.60

V

5.50

1.10

6.60

V

20%

0%

all day

6.67

1.33

8.00

V

6.67

1.33

8.00

V

20%

0%

2000-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

3.50

0.70

4.20

V

3.50

0.70

4.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

4.50

0.90

5.40

V

4.50

0.90

5.40

V

20%

0%

up to 6 hours

5.50

1.10

6.60

V

5.50

1.10

6.60

V

20%

0%

all day

6.67

1.33

8.00

V

6.67

1.33

8.00

V

20%

0%

Park and Explore

15.00

3.00

18.00

V

15.00

3.00

18.00

V

20%

0%

2000 -0800 Overnight stays - Motorhomes

8.33

1.67

10.00

V

8.33

1.67

10.00

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

3.50

0.70

4.20

V

3.50

0.70

4.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

4.50

0.90

5.40

V

4.50

0.90

5.40

V

20%

0%

up to 6 hours

5.50

1.10

6.60

V

5.50

1.10

6.60

V

20%

0%

all day

6.67

1.33

8.00

V

6.67

1.33

8.00

V

20%

0%

2000 -0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

up to 1 hour

1.50

0.30

1.80

V

1.50

0.30

1.80

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

3.50

0.70

4.20

V

3.50

0.70

4.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

4.50

0.90

5.40

V

4.50

0.90

5.40

V

20%

0%

up to 6 hours

5.50

1.10

6.60

V

5.50

1.10

6.60

V

20%

0%

up to 10 hours

6.67

1.33

8.00

V

6.67

1.33

8.00

V

20%

0%

all day

7.50

1.50

9.00

V

7.50

1.50

9.00

V

20%

0%

8.33

1.67

10.00

V

8.33

1.67

10.00

V

20%

0%

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

Rayrigg Road

Page 390

Braithwaite Fold

Glebe Road

Ferry Nab

with trailer

all day

2100-0800 Overnight parking

1,149,330

0%
1,172,317

GRANGE
Multi-Tariff
Main St
up to 1 hour

1.25

0.25

1.50

V

1.25

0.25

1.50

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

2.08

0.42

2.50

V

2.08

0.42

2.50

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

20%

0%

up to 6 hours

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

20%

0%

all day

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

20%

0%

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22
0.00

VAT
0.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
0.00

NET CHARGE
2022/23
0.00

VAT
0.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23
0.00

up to 1 hour

1.00

0.20

1.20

up to 2 hours

1.83

0.37

2.20

V

1.00

0.20

1.20

V

20%

0%

V

1.83

0.37

2.20

V

20%

up to 3 hours

2.67

0.53

0%

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

up to 4 hours

3.25

0%

0.65

3.90

V

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

20%

up to 6 hours

0%

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

20%

0%

all day

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

20%

0%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

up to 1 hour

1.00

0.20

1.20

V

1.00

0.20

1.20

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

1.83

0.37

2.20

V

1.83

0.37

2.20

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

20%

0%

up to 6 hours

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

20%

0%

all day

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

20%

0%

Early Bird - Arrive before 9am park all day

0.83

0.17

1.00

V

0.83

0.17

1.00

V

20%

0%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

0800-1800 all day up to 1800

1.00

0.20

1.20

V

1.00

0.20

1.20

V

20%

0%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

up to 1/2 hr

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

20%

0%

up to 1 hour

1.25

0.25

1.50

V

1.25

0.25

1.50

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

2.08

0.42

2.50

V

2.08

0.42

2.50

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

20%

0%

up to 6 hours

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

20%

0%

all day

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

20%

0%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22
V

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
V
20%

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
0%

Windermere Road

Hampsfell Road

Berners Close

Page 391

Kents Bank Road

172,221

0%
175,666

GRASMERE
Red Bank Road
Multi-Tariff
up to 1 hour

1.50

0.30

1.80

V

1.50

0.30

1.80

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

3.50

0.70

4.20

V

3.50

0.70

4.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

4.50

0.90

5.40

V

4.50

0.90

5.40

V

20%

0%

up to 6 hours

5.50

1.10

6.60

V

5.50

1.10

6.60

V

20%

0%

all day

6.67

1.33

8.00

V

6.67

1.33

8.00

V

20%

0%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

125,508

0%
128,018

KENDAL
Peppercorn Lane
Short Stay
up to 1/2 hr

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

20%

0%

up to 1 hour

1.00

0.20

1.20

V

1.00

0.20

1.20

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

1.83

0.37

2.20

V

1.83

0.37

2.20

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

20%

0%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

Booths and Wainwrights Yard

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22

NET CHARGE
2022/23

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23

up to 1 hour

1.00

0.20

1.20

up to 2 hours

1.83

0.37

2.20

V

1.00

0.20

1.20

V

20%

0%

V

1.83

0.37

2.20

V

20%

up to 3 hours

2.67

0.53

0%

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

up to 4 hours

3.25

0%

0.65

3.90

V

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

20%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0%

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

up to 1/2 hr

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

20%

0%

up to 1 hour

1.25

0.25

1.50

V

1.25

0.25

1.50

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

2.08

0.42

2.50

V

2.08

0.42

2.50

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

20%

0%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

up to 1 hour

1.00

0.20

1.20

V

1.00

0.20

1.20

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

1.83

0.37

2.20

V

1.83

0.37

2.20

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

20%

0%

up to 6 hours

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

20%

0%

all day

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

20%

0%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

up to 1 hour

1.25

0.25

1.50

V

1.25

0.25

1.50

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

2.08

0.42

2.50

V

2.08

0.42

2.50

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

20%

0%

up to 6 hours

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

20%

0%

all day

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

20%

0%

Early Bird - Arrive between 0700 and 0900 park all day

0.83

0.17

1.00

V

0.83

0.17

1.00

V

20%

0%

1900-0700

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

up to 1/2 hr

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

20%

0%

up to 1 hour

1.25

0.25

1.50

V

1.25

0.25

1.50

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

2.08

0.42

2.50

V

2.08

0.42

2.50

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

20%

0%

up to 6 hours

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

20%

0%

all day

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

20%

0%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

up to 1 hour

0.25

0.05

0.30

V

0.25

0.05

0.30

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

0.58

0.12

0.70

V

0.58

0.12

0.70

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

0.75

0.15

0.90

V

0.75

0.15

0.90

V

20%

0%

all day

0.83

0.17

1.00

V

0.83

0.17

1.00

V

20%

0%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23

Short Stay

Dowker Lane
Short Stay

Highgate (Bowman)
Long Stay

Page 392

Westmorland Shopping Centre
Multi-Tariff

Overnight parking

South Lakeland House (Mon to Sat only); Library Rd

South Lakeland House (Sundays only)

Kendal Parish Church

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Appendix 10

up to 1 hour

NET CHARGE
2021/22
1.00

VAT
0.20

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
1.20

NET CHARGE
2022/23
1.00

VAT
0.20

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23
1.20

up to 2 hours

1.83

0.37

2.20

up to 3 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

1.83

0.37

2.20

V

20%

0%

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

up to 4 hours

3.25

0.65

0%

3.90

V

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

20%

up to 6 hours

4.17

0%

0.83

5.00

V

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

20%

all day

0%

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

20%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0%

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

up to 1/2 hour

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

20%

0%

up to 1 hour

1.25

0.25

1.50

V

1.25

0.25

1.50

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

2.08

0.42

2.50

V

2.08

0.42

2.50

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

20%

0%

up to 6 hours

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

20%

0%

all day

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

20%

0%

Early Bird - Arrive between 1800 and 0700 park all day

0.83

0.17

1.00

V

0.83

0.17

1.00

V

20%

0%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

up to 1 hour

0.25

0.05

0.30

V

0.25

0.05

0.30

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

0.58

0.12

0.70

V

0.58

0.12

0.70

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

0.75

0.15

0.90

V

0.75

0.15

0.90

V

20%

0%

all day

0.83

0.17

1.00

V

0.83

0.17

1.00

V

20%

0%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22
V

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
V
20%

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
0%

Blackhall Road

Sandes Avenue

Page 393

996,194

1,016,118

KIRKBY LONSDALE
Market Square
Short Stay
up to 1 hour

1.25

0.25

1.50

V

1.25

0.25

1.50

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

2.08

0.42

2.50

V

2.08

0.42

2.50

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

20%

0%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

up to 1 hour

1.00

0.20

1.20

V

1.00

0.20

1.20

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

1.83

0.37

2.20

V

1.83

0.37

2.20

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

20%

0%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

up to 1/2 hour - New Rd No 1 only

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

20%

0%

up to 1 hour

1.00

0.20

1.20

V

1.00

0.20

1.20

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

1.83

0.37

2.20

V

1.83

0.37

2.20

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

20%

0%

up to 6 hours

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

20%

0%

all day

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

20%

0%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

Booths Supermarket
Short Stay

New Rd. No.2: New Rd No.1.
Multi-Tariff

MILNTHORPE

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22

NET CHARGE
2022/23

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23

up to 1 hour

0.83

0.17

1.00

up to 2 hours

1.67

0.33

2.00

V

0.83

0.17

1.00

V

20%

0%

V

1.67

0.33

2.00

V

20%

up to 3 hours

2.50

0.50

0%

3.00

V

2.50

0.50

3.00

V

20%

up to 4 hours

3.33

0%

0.67

4.00

V

3.33

0.67

4.00

V

20%

up to 6 hours

0%

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

20%

0%

all day

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

20%

0%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Beetham Road; Park Road
Multi-Tariff

SEDBERGH
Joss Lane
Multi-Tariff
Now run by Sedbergh Parish Council
199,120

203,103

ULVERSTON
Stockbridge Lane

Page 394

up to 1 hour

0.25

0.05

0.30

V

0.25

0.05

0.30

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

0.58

0.12

0.70

V

0.58

0.12

0.70

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

0.75

0.15

0.90

V

0.75

0.15

0.90

V

20%

0%

all day

0.83

0.17

1.00

V

0.83

0.17

1.00

V

20%

0%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

up to 1/2 Hour

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

20%

0%

up to 1 hour

1.00

0.20

1.20

V

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

20%

-58%

up to 2 hours

1.83

0.37

2.20

V

0.83

0.17

1.00

V

20%

-55%

up to 3 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

20%

0%

up to 6 hours

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

20%

0%

all day

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

20%

0%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

up to 1/2 Hour

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

20%

0%

up to 1 hour

1.25

0.25

1.50

V

1.25

0.25

1.50

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

2.08

0.42

2.50

V

2.08

0.42

2.50

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

20%

0%

up to 6 hours

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

20%

0%

all day

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

20%

0%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

up to 1 hour

1.00

0.20

1.20

V

1.00

0.20

1.20

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

1.83

0.37

2.20

V

1.83

0.37

2.20

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

3.25

0.65

3.90

V

20%

0%

up to 6 hours

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

4.17

0.83

5.00

V

20%

0%

all day

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

5.00

1.00

6.00

V

20%

0%

1800-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

Buxton Place
Multi-Tariff

Brewery Street
Multi-Tariff

Daltongate; Theatre Street; The Gill
Multi-Tariff

367,037

0%
374,378

Reduced rates funded by Town Council

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22

NET CHARGE
2022/23

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23

up to 1 hour

1.50

0.30

1.80

up to 2 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

1.50

0.30

1.80

V

20%

0%

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

up to 3 hours

3.50

0.70

0%

4.20

V

3.50

0.70

4.20

V

20%

up to 4 hours

4.50

0%

0.90

5.40

V

4.50

0.90

5.40

V

20%

up to 6 hours

0%

5.50

1.10

6.60

V

5.50

1.10

6.60

V

20%

0%

all day

6.67

1.33

8.00

V

6.67

1.33

8.00

V

20%

0%

2000-0800 Overnight stay - Motorhomes

8.33

1.67

10.00

V

8.33

1.67

10.00

V

20%

0%

up to 1/2 hour

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

0.42

0.08

0.50

V

20%

0%

up to 1 hour

1.50

0.30

1.80

V

1.50

0.30

1.80

V

20%

0%

up to 2 hours

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

2.67

0.53

3.20

V

20%

0%

up to 3 hours

3.50

0.70

4.20

V

3.50

0.70

4.20

V

20%

0%

up to 4 hours

4.50

0.90

5.40

V

4.50

0.90

5.40

V

20%

0%

up to 6 hours

5.50

1.10

6.60

V

5.50

1.10

6.60

V

20%

0%

all day

6.67

1.33

8.00

V

6.67

1.33

8.00

V

20%

0%

Early Bird - Arrive between 2000 and 0900 park all day

0.83

0.17

1.00

V

0.83

0.17

1.00

V

20%

0%

2000-0800 Overnight parking

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

0%

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

WINDERMERE
Rayrigg Meadow
Multi-Tariff

Broad Street
Multi-Tariff

BLUE BADGE HOLDERS Receive 1 extra hour free of charge on top of parking period paid,

Page 395

including addition of 1 hour to the 3 day and 7 day permit.
192,333

196,180
Increase generally in line with 2% increase. Increase for extra
over permit to park both in National Park and outside National
Park car park due to success from 2021/22 FY

PERMITS

New 7 day Tourist Permit (exc WSC)

28.33

5.67

34.00

V

29.17

5.83

35.00

V

20%

3%

New 3 day Tourist Permit (exc WSC)

14.58

2.92

17.50

V

15.00

3.00

18.00

V

20%

3%

Annual Permits (exc WSC)

404.17

80.83

485.00

V

412.50

82.50

495.00

V

20%

2%

Annual Permits (inc WSC)

429.17

85.83

515.00

V

437.50

87.50

525.00

V

20%

2%

Transferable (exc WSC)

466.67

93.33

560.00

V

475.00

95.00

570.00

V

20%

2%

Transferable (inc WSC)

491.67

98.33

590.00

V

500.00

100.00

600.00

V

20%

2%

Business (exc WSC)

541.67

108.33

650.00

V

550.00

110.00

660.00

V

20%

2%

DISCOUNT for A rated vehicles

-83.33

-16.67

-100.00

V

-83.33

-16.67

-100.00

V

20%

0%

Beetham Road and Park Road Milnthorpe

208.33

41.67

250.00

V

212.50

42.50

255.00

V

20%

2%

Extra over permit for Lake District National Park parking

41.67

8.33

50.00

V

45.83

9.17

55.00

V

20%

10%

Contract Spaces (single)

608.33

121.67

730.00

V

620.83

124.17

745.00

V

20%

2%

1,208.33

241.67

1,450.00

V

1,233.33

246.67

1,480.00

V

20%

2%

608.33

121.67

730.00

V

620.83

124.17

745.00

V

20%

2%

478,420

487,988

Low Fellside
Contract Spaces (double)
Low Fellside
Contract Spaces (single)
Bowman
10,926

11,145

Replacement Permits
Replacement Business Permit

42.50

8.50

51.00

V

43.33

8.67

52.00

V

20%

2%

Replacement Permit

30.00

6.00

36.00

V

30.83

6.17

37.00

V

20%

3%

Higher level

70.00

0.00

70.00

X

70.00

0.00

70.00

X

0%

0%

Lower level

50.00

0.00

50.00

X

50.00

0.00

50.00

X

0%

Penalty Charge Notice
(50% reduction if paid within 14 days)

122,721

0%
122,721

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22

NET CHARGE
2022/23

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23

Accommodation Charge

246.30

0.00

246.30

X

Service Charge

15.78

0.00

15.78

X

83,110

246.30

0.00

246.30

X

0%

85,784

0%

121,147

15.78

0.00

15.78

X

0%

122,346

Laundry Tokens

1.00

0.20

1.20

V

1,444

0%

1.00

0.20

1.20

V

20%

1,473

0%

Accommodation Charge

157.88

0.00

157.88

Service Charge

15.78

0.00

15.78

157.88

0.00

157.88

X

0%

15.78

0.00

15.78

X

0%

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23

Notes:
BLUE BADGE HOLDERS Receive 1 extra hour free of charge on top of parking period paid,
including addition of 1 hour to the 3 day and 7 day permit.
- Parking of Lorries is permitted at Rothay Holme, at the tariffs shown.
- Parking of Coaches is permitted at Low Fold, Rothay Holme, Windermere Rd and Berners
Close at the tariffs shown
- all charges are inclusive of VAT (VAT code V)
ELECTRIC CHARGING POINTS - vehicles parked within and charging from the points are exempt
from purchasing a Pay & Display ticket or displaying a SLDC permit.
HOMELESSNESS
Town View Fields Hostel, Kendal

Hampsfell Units
64,000

0%
64,000

0%

CARAVAN SITE - Charges set by operator

Page 396

MARKETS
Charges for all street markets are higher in high season (Apr-Oct) than low season (Nov-Mar)
Various

0.00

Various

E

Various

0.00

Various

E

0%

-

Tables weekday

6.00

0.00

6.00

E

6.30

0.00

6.30

E

0%

5%

Tables Saturday

4.20

0.00

4.20

E

6.30

0.00

6.30

E

0%

50%

April - 20th October

1.70

0.00

1.70

X

1.75

0.00

1.75

X

0%

3%

21st October - March

1.20

0.00

1.20

X

1.25

0.00

1.25

X

0%

4%

April - 20th October

1.20

0.00

1.20

X

1.25

0.00

1.25

X

0%

4%

21st October - March

1.00

0.00

1.00

X

1.05

0.00

1.05

X

0%

Kendal Market Hall

Kendal Street Market
i. Market Place
Charge per 0.305 metre frontage (ft)

Commercial hire on non market days - Cumbria County Council Fee
per additional day - Cumbria County Council Fee
General hire on non market days - Cumbria County Council Fee
per additional day - Cumbria County Council Fee
ii. Stramongate and New Road
Charge per 0.305 metre frontage (ft)

126,230

5%
130,306

Ambleside Market
Charge per 0.305 metre frontage (ft)
April - 20th October

0.70

0.00

0.70

X

0.75

0.00

0.75

X

0%

21st October - March

0.58

0.00

0.58

X

0.60

0.00

0.60

X

0%

2,580

7%
3%
2,632

Bird Cage Finkle Street
Admin charge per day (0900 to 1700)
Charity use

17.08

3.42

20.50

V

17.08

3.42

20.50

V

20%

0%

Commercial use

34.66

6.93

41.59

V

34.66

6.93

41.59

V

20%

0%

LAND AND PROPERTY - MINOR LETTINGS

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Appendix 10

Annual charge for letting of small areas of land and property where uneconomic to negotiate
individual fees

GROSS
GROSS
% Increase
CHARGE
VAT BUDGET
NET CHARGE
CHARGE
VAT
BUDGET Net Fee
2021/22
CODE 2021/22
2022/23
VAT
2022/23
CODE VAT % 2022/23
2022/23
£80.00 (or
80.00
£80.00 (or
0%
£96.00 if VAT
£96.00 if VAT
applies)
applies)
This charge covers hundreds of minor lettings, including garden tenancies, vehicular and pedestrian access to private property across Council-owned
land. The original charge was set at £35 but has been increased over the years on a five year review pattern to the most recent level of £70 which was
endorsed in May 2013. A review to Retail Price Index (RPI) now indicates that the charge should be increased to £79.42 p.a., rounded up to £80 p.a.
NET CHARGE
2021/22
80.00

VAT

Past practice shows that it is more sensible to increase the charge by small amounts at regular intervals because larger increases over longer periods
always provoke more resistance.
This charging policy is implemented by the Council’s property agent (Lambert Smith Hampton) without any exceptions, although requests are regularly
received to vary the policy.
For the sake of clarity this policy will in the future be enforced at the level of £80pa subject to five yearly reviews in line with RPI for all minor lettings
unless any of the following exceptions apply: a)

the letting is to another public body which provides an access/service for an amenity or community related scheme;

b)
there are extenuating circumstances e.g. where the access or minor letting is for the benefit of a disabled person and there is no other
alternative route.
In both cases the exception will only be agreed after consultation with SLDC’s client officer (Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial Services).

PUBLIC HALLS
Kendal Town Hall
Hourly rate available for rooms at the discretion of the Manager
Assembly Room

Page 397

Morning or Afternoon session

63.33

12.67

76.00

V

63.33

12.67

76.00

V

20%

0%

Concert rate

97.08

19.42

116.50

V

97.08

19.42

116.50

V

20%

0%

Evening session

(18.00-22.00)

79.42

15.88

95.30

V

79.42

15.88

95.30

V

20%

0%

Evening session

(22.00-23.00)

35.50

7.10

42.60

V

35.50

7.10

42.60

V

20%

0%

Concert rate

101.42

20.28

121.70

V

101.42

20.28

121.70

V

20%

0%

Concert rate (22.00-23.00)

292.17

58.43

350.60

V

292.17

58.43

350.60

V

20%

0%

Coffee Morning

50.17

10.03

60.20

V

50.17

10.03

60.20

V

20%

0%

147.42

29.48

176.90

V

147.42

29.48

176.90

V

20%

0%

Morning or Afternoon session

28.58

5.72

34.30

V

28.58

5.72

34.30

V

20%

0%

Evening session

(18.00-22.00)

32.92

6.58

39.50

V

32.92

6.58

39.50

V

20%

0%

Evening session

(22.00-23.00)

26.88

5.38

32.26

V

26.88

5.38

32.26

V

20%

0%

88.67

17.73

106.40

V

88.67

17.73

106.40

V

20%

0%

Morning or Afternoon session

28.58

5.72

34.30

V

28.58

5.72

34.30

V

20%

0%

Evening session

(18.00-22.00)

32.92

6.58

39.50

V

32.92

6.58

39.50

V

20%

0%

Evening session

(22.00-23.00)

26.88

5.38

32.26

V

26.88

5.38

32.26

V

20%

0%

88.67

17.73

106.40

V

88.67

17.73

106.40

V

20%

0%

Morning or Afternoon session

28.58

5.72

34.30

V

28.58

5.72

34.30

V

20%

0%

Evening session

(18.00-22.00)

32.92

6.58

39.50

V

32.92

6.58

39.50

V

20%

0%

Evening session

(22.00-23.00)

26.88

5.38

32.26

V

26.88

5.38

32.26

V

20%

0%

88.67

17.73

106.40

V

88.67

17.73

106.40

V

20%

0%

Morning or Afternoon session

26.88

5.38

32.26

V

26.88

5.38

32.26

V

20%

0%

Evening session

(18.00-22.00)

26.88

5.38

32.26

V

26.88

5.38

32.26

V

20%

0%

Evening session

(22.00-23.00)

26.88

5.38

32.26

V

26.88

5.38

32.26

V

20%

0%

Morning or Afternoon session

26.88

5.38

32.26

V

26.88

5.38

32.26

V

20%

0%

Evening session

(18.00-22.00)

26.88

5.38

32.26

V

26.88

5.38

32.26

V

20%

0%

Evening session

(22.00-23.00)

26.88

5.38

32.26

V

26.88

5.38

32.26

V

20%

0%

(8.30-12.30)

Wedding Ceremony
District Council Chamber

Wedding Ceremony
Town Council Chamber

Wedding Ceremony
Georgian Room

Wedding Ceremony
Romney Room (New - former Office)

Highgate Room (Room above Georgian Room)

Kent Room

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Appendix 10

Morning or Afternoon session

NET CHARGE
2021/22
21.67

VAT
4.33

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
26.00

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22
V

NET CHARGE
2022/23
21.67

VAT
4.33

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23
26.00

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
V
20%

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
0%

Evening session

(18.00-22.00)

25.58

5.12

30.70

V

25.58

5.12

30.70

V

20%

0%

Evening session

(22.00-23.00)

15.13

3.03

18.16

V

15.13

3.03

18.16

V

20%

0%

V

30% Additional

30% Additional

V

20%

Same % incr
as general
Same % incr
as general
16% additional
charge
of room hire

Same % incr
as general
Same % incr
as general
16% additional
charge
of room hire

E

0%

Additional Charges
Sunday/Bank Holidays

30% Additional

30% Additional

Business Rate

Same % incr as
general
Same % incr as
general
16% additional
charge
of room hire

Same % incr as
general
Same % incr as
general
16% additional
charge
of room hire

Charity Rate
Public Liability Insurance

E

Equipment hire outside the hall
Go-pak table 2'x3' (each)

1.67

0.33

2.00

V

1.75

0.35

2.10

V

20%

5%

Go-pak table 2'x6' (each)

3.33

0.67

4.00

V

3.50

0.70

4.20

V

20%

5%

Plastic 'Samsung' stacking chairs (each)

1.04

0.21

1.25

V

1.09

0.22

1.31

V

20%

59,224

5%
83,841

0%

Refreshments
Fair trade tea & coffee, biscuits
per 10 cup flask

8.67

1.73

10.40

V

9.00

1.80

10.80

V

20%

4%

Orange/Apple juice per jug

7.58

1.52

9.10

V

8.00

1.60

9.60

V

20%

6%

Hot water and sachets

3.92

0.78

4.70

V

4.08

0.82

4.90

V

20%

8,958

4%
9,137

4%

Page 398

Equipment hire
Upright Piano

2.55

15.30

V

13.33

2.67

16.00

V

20%

Actual cost plus
20%
39.79

E

-

8.36

Actual cost
plus 20%
50.15

0%

V

Actual cost
plus 20%
41.79

E

7.96

Actual cost plus
20%
47.75

V

20%

5%

P.A. system (Assembly room only)

44.17

8.83

53.00

V

46.38

9.28

55.65

V

20%

5%

Portable P A system

15.13

3.03

18.16

V

15.89

3.18

19.06

V

20%

5%

CD sound system (Assembly room only)

26.67

5.33

32.00

V

28.00

5.60

33.60

V

20%

5%

Stage Extension use

19.17

3.83

23.00

V

20.13

4.03

24.15

V

20%

5%

Overhead projector & screen

12.50

2.50

15.00

V

13.13

2.63

15.75

V

20%

5%

Flip chart stand

9.17

1.83

11.00

V

9.63

1.93

11.55

V

20%

5%

Additional use of kitchen

26.67

5.33

32.00

V

28.00

5.60

33.60

V

20%

5%

Bar

53.34

10.67

64.01

V

56.00

11.20

67.20

V

20%

5%

Tablecloths

3.50

0.70

4.20

V

3.66

0.73

4.39

V

20%

5%

Crockery with room hire

10.21

2.04

12.25

V

10.75

2.15

12.90

V

20%

5%

Banner -Erection & Dismantling by caretakers ( Advertising in prime location)

154.58

30.92

185.50

V

162.29

32.46

194.75

V

20%

Tuning/Re-positioning
Lighting

12.75

3,937

5%

5%
4,016

5%

PERFORMING RIGHTS SOCIETY CHARGES
Kendal Town Hall
Assembly Room
Concerts
At Managers discretion or as levied to SLDC by PRS
Profit making organisations
- Popular music
- Variety shows
- Classical music

3% on gross
ticket sales
2% on gross
ticket sales
4.8% on gross
ticket sales

3% on gross
ticket sales
2% on gross
ticket sales
4.8% on gross
ticket sales

V

8.49

V

As levied to
SLDC by PRS

V

3% on gross
ticket sales
2% on gross
ticket sales
4.8% on gross
ticket sales

V
V

3% on gross
ticket sales
2% on gross
ticket sales
4.8% on gross
ticket sales

V

0%

-

V

0%

-

V

0%

-

0%

-

8.49

V

0%

0%

As levied to
SLDC by PRS

V

0%

Other activities
Non-profit making organisations
Profit making organisations

8.49
As levied to
SLDC by PRS

0.00

8.49
As levied to
SLDC by PRS
892

LEGAL SERVICE FEES

0.00

910

0%

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22

NET CHARGE
2022/23

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23

Inc Advertising

275.00

0.00

275.00

Excl Advertising

175.00

0.00

175.00

X

275.00

0.00

275.00

X

0%

0%

X

0.00

0.00

0.00

X

0%

-100%

1,000.00

0.00

1,000.00

X

1,000.00

0.00

1,000.00

X

0%

0%

Standard

150.00

retrospective

200.00

0.00

150.00

X

150.00

0.00

150.00

X

0%

0%

0.00

200.00

X

200.00

0.00

200.00

X

0%

0%

Private Agreement Preparation
Private - agreement renewal

200.00

0.00

200.00

X

200.00

0.00

200.00

X

0%

0%

200.00

0.00

200.00

X

200.00

0.00

200.00

X

0%

0%

Private - assignment of agreement

200.00

0.00

200.00

X

200.00

0.00

200.00

X

0%

0%

JCT Contracts Fees to Contractors

250.00

0.00

250.00

X

250.00

0.00

250.00

X

0%

0%

Private Residential - Agreement preparation, renewal, assignment

200.00

0.00

200.00

500.00

0.00

500.00

X

0%

150%

Hourly rate for lake legal work (per hour)

150.00

0.00

150.00

150.00

0.00

150.00

X

0%

0%

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Road Closure Orders

Footpath Orders

Remove 'Excl Advertising' as advertising is dealt with by the
Council

Property Consents

Licence Agreements - Kendal Indoor Market Stall

Residential Encroachments/Berthing & Mooring Agreements

10,000

Correcting as per agreement last year

10,200

Section 106 agreements
Flat Fee

Page 399

Per Obligation

1,750.00

0.00

1,750.00

X

2,500.00

0.00

2,500.00

X

0%

43%

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

100.00

0.00

100.00

X

0%

0%

11,500
Planning Performance Agreements

500.00

0.00

500.00

11,730
800.00

0.00

800.00

X

0%

60%

Legal Fees for Property Transactions - Leases/Sales/Purchases (open market value)
Commercial Encroachments
Per Transaction value
£0-£2,000

750.00

0.00

750.00

X

765.00

0.00

765.00

X

0%

2%

£2,001-£5,000

1,000.00

0.00

1,000.00

X

1,020.00

0.00

1,020.00

X

0%

2%

£5,001-£10,000

1,250.00

0.00

1,250.00

X

1,275.00

0.00

1,275.00

X

0%

2%

£10,001-£25,000

1,750.00

0.00

1,750.00

X

1,785.00

0.00

1,785.00

X

0%

2%

£25,001 - £100,000

2,250.00

0.00

2,250.00

X

2,295.00

0.00

2,295.00

X

0%

2%

£100,001 - £250,000

2,750.00

0.00

2,750.00

X

2,805.00

0.00

2,805.00

X

0%

2%

£250,001 +

3,250.00

0.00

3,250.00

X

3,315.00

0.00

3,315.00

X

0%

6,000

2%
6,120

Overage Provisions and Turnover Rent

500.00

0.00

500.00

500.00

0.00

500.00

X

0%

0%

Licences (access tenancies at will and licences to assign)

400.00

0.00

400.00

400.00

0.00

400.00

X

0%

0%

Easements and deeds of surrender

500.00

0.00

500.00

500.00

0.00

500.00

X

0%

0%

No Charge

No Charge

No Charge

No Charge

No Charge

No Charge

No Charge

No Charge

THE PRIVATE WATER SUPPLIES REGS 2009
Private Water Supplies
Copy of Register Entry supplied to person with a
direct interest in the registered property
Copy of Registered Entry supplied to EA
or Drinking Water Inspectorate

True cost of time recovery.

To reflect hourly rate of £150/hour.

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22

NET CHARGE
2022/23

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23

19.83

0.00

19.83

X

21.93

0.00

21.93

X

0%

11%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

E.Coli, Total Coliforms

5.48

0.00

Colony Count (22°c)

5.48

0.00

5.48

X

6.60

0.00

6.60

X

0%

20%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

5.48

X

6.56

0.00

6.56

X

0%

20%

Taste & Odour

6.97

Current contract price - like for like recharge

0.00

6.97

X

7.04

0.00

7.04

X

0%

1%

Aluminium, Iron, and Manganese (& Sodium)

Current contract price - like for like recharge

4.54

0.00

4.54

X

4.47

0.00

4.47

X

0%

-2%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Colour, Conductivity, and Turbidity

4.85

0.00

4.85

X

4.82

0.00

4.82

X

0%

-1%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

pH

4.03

0.00

4.03

X

3.91

0.00

3.91

X

0%

-3%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Ammonia, Nitrite, and Nitrate (& Chloride)

5.23

0.00

5.23

X

5.19

0.00

5.19

X

0%

-1%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Enterococci

5.48

0.00

5.48

X

6.60

0.00

6.60

X

0%

20%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Clostridium Perfringens

5.48

0.00

5.48

X

5.48

0.00

5.48

X

0%

0%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Trichloroethene, Tetrachloroethene, and Tetrachloromethane

20.06

0.00

20.06

X

19.92

0.00

19.92

X

0%

-1%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Copper, Lead, and Nickel (& Zinc)

5.13

0.00

5.13

X

5.11

0.00

5.11

X

0%

0%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Mercury

11.07

0.00

11.07

X

11.43

0.00

11.43

X

0%

3%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Antimony, Arsenic,Cadmium, Cromium, and Selenium

5.13

0.00

5.13

X

5.11

0.00

5.11

X

0%

0%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Boron

4.54

0.00

4.54

X

4.47

0.00

4.47

X

0%

-2%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Gross Alpha and Gross Beta radiation

23.78

0.00

23.78

X

25.29

0.00

25.29

X

0%

6%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Total Cyanide

9.01

0.00

9.01

X

9.25

0.00

9.25

X

0%

3%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Benzo (a) Pyrene, Benzo (b) fluoranthene, Benzo (k) fluoranthene, Benzo (ghi) perylene, and Indeno
(123 - cd) pyrene
Fluide and Sulphate

28.98

0.00

28.98

X

28.66

0.00

28.66

X

0%

-1%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

6.17

0.00

6.17

X

6.12

0.00

6.12

X

0%

-1%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Bromate

7.20

0.00

7.20

X

7.30

0.00

7.30

X

0%

1%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Benzene and 12-Dichlororethane

32.78

0.00

32.78

X

32.48

0.00

32.48

X

0%

-1%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Aldrin, Dieldrin, Heptachlor Epoxide, Heptachlor, Lindane

29.46

0.00

29.46

X

30.35

0.00

30.35

X

0%

3%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Pestisides

68.36

0.00

68.36

X

66.52

0.00

66.52

X

0%

-3%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Herbiside

68.36

0.00

68.36

X

66.52

0.00

66.52

X

0%

-3%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Radon

103.16

0.00

103.16

X

111.35

0.00

111.35

X

0%

8%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Acrylamide,

40.17

0.00

40.17

X

89.12

0.00

89.12

X

0%

122%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Vinyal Chloride

6.75

0.00

6.75

X

6.62

0.00

6.62

X

0%

-2%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Epichlorohydrin

34.99

0.00

34.99

X

64.49

0.00

64.49

X

0%

84%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Tritium

38.56

0.00

38.56

X

41.63

0.00

41.63

X

0%

8%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Total Organic Carbon

5.87

0.00

5.87

X

5.87

0.00

5.87

X

0%

0%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

Chloride

5.23

0.00

5.23

X

8,400

5.19

0.00

5.19

X

0%

8,568

-1%

Current contract price - like for like recharge

51.00

0.00

51.00

X

29,317

52.02

0.00

52.02

X

0%

29,903

2%

2% increase in line with MTFP

Sampling per visit

91.80

0.00

91.80

X

32,278

93.64

0.00

93.64

X

0%

32,924

2%

2% increase in line with MTFP

Investigation (per hour) up to £100

51.00

0.00

51.00

X

4,292

52.02

0.00

52.02

X

0%

4,378

2%

2% increase in line with MTFP

Copy of Documents where applicable

10.00

2.00

12.00

V

10.00

2.00

12.00

V

20%

0%

Fees set nationally - no increase

Copy of full Register

20.00

4.00

24.00

V

20.00

4.00

24.00

V

20%

0%

Fees set nationally - no increase

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Analysing a sample
Small shared domestic supplies (Regulation 10)
Conductivity, Entrococci, Ecoli, pH, and Turbidity.
Commercial or large supplies (Group A parameters)

Commercial or large supplies (Group B parameters)

Page 400

Risk assessment
Domestic/Commercial

per hour

FOOD PREMISES REGISTRATION REGULATIONS
Registration
Inspection of Register
Copy of Single entry to owner of business

200

204

ENVIRONMENTAL PERMITTING REGULATIONS 2010
All 22/23 fees pending DEFRA confirmation
Application Fee
Standard Process

1,650.00

0.00

1,650.00

X

1,650.00

0.00

1,650.00

X

0%

0%

Additional fee for operating without a permit

1,188.00

0.00

1,188.00

X

1,188.00

0.00

1,188.00

X

0%

0%

155.00

0.00

155.00

X

155.00

0.00

155.00

X

0%

0%

Reduced fee activities

Fees pending DEFRA confirmation.

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22
257.00

VAT
0.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
257.00

NET CHARGE
2022/23
257.00

VAT
0.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23
257.00

Vehicle finishers

362.00

0.00

362.00

Additional fee for operating without permit

71.00

0.00

71.00

X

362.00

0.00

362.00

X

0%

0%

X

71.00

0.00

71.00

X

0%

1,650.00

0.00

0%

1,650.00

X

1,650.00

0.00

1,650.00

X

0%

for the 3rd to 7th applications

985.00

0%

0.00

985.00

X

985.00

0.00

985.00

X

0%

for the 8th and subsequent applications

0%

498.00

0.00

498.00

X

498.00

0.00

498.00

X

0%

Additional fee for combined Part B & waste application

0%

310.00

0.00

310.00

X

310.00

0.00

310.00

X

0%

0%

Standard Process

772.00

0.00

772.00

X

772.00

0.00

772.00

X

0%

0%

Additional fee for combined Part B & waste site

104.00

0.00

104.00

X

104.00

0.00

104.00

X

0%

0%

1,161.00

0.00

1,161.00

X

1,161.00

0.00

1,161.00

X

0%

0%

156.00

0.00

156.00

X

156.00

0.00

156.00

X

0%

0%

1,747.00

0.00

1,747.00

X

1,747.00

0.00

1,747.00

X

0%

0%

207.00

0.00

207.00

X

207.00

0.00

207.00

X

0%

0%

PVR I & II

113.00

0.00

113.00

X

113.00

0.00

113.00

X

0%

0%

Reduced fee activities

79.00

0.00

79.00

X

79.00

0.00

79.00

X

0%

0%

Vehicle refinishers

228.00

0.00

228.00

X

228.00

0.00

228.00

X

0%

0%

Mobile Screening and Crushing plant (1st and 2nd permits)

626.00

0.00

626.00

X

626.00

0.00

626.00

X

0%

0%

for the 3rd to 7th applications

385.00

0.00

385.00

X

385.00

0.00

385.00

X

0%

0%

for the 8th and subsequent applications

198.00

0.00

198.00

X

198.00

0.00

198.00

X

0%

0%

PVR I & II

226.00

0.00

226.00

X

226.00

0.00

226.00

X

0%

0%

Reduced fee activities

158.00

0.00

158.00

X

158.00

0.00

158.00

X

0%

0%

Vehicle refinishers

365.00

0.00

365.00

X

365.00

0.00

365.00

X

0%

0%

1,034.00

0.00

1,034.00

X

1,034.00

0.00

1,034.00

X

0%

0%

for the 3rd to 7th applications

617.00

0.00

617.00

X

617.00

0.00

617.00

X

0%

0%

for the 8th and subsequent applications

316.00

0.00

316.00

X

316.00

0.00

316.00

X

0%

0%

PVR I & II

341.00

0.00

341.00

X

341.00

0.00

341.00

X

0%

0%

Reduced fee activities

237.00

0.00

237.00

X

237.00

0.00

237.00

X

0%

0%

Vehicle refinishers

548.00

0.00

548.00

X

548.00

0.00

548.00

X

0%

0%

1,551.00

0.00

1,551.00

X

1,551.00

0.00

1,551.00

X

0%

0%

for the 3rd to 7th applications

924.00

0.00

924.00

X

924.00

0.00

924.00

X

0%

0%

for the 8th and subsequent applications

473.00

0.00

473.00

X

473.00

0.00

473.00

X

0%

0%

Process subject to E-PRTR Regs (Extra Chg)

104.00

0.00

104.00

X

104.00

0.00

104.00

X

0%

0%

Option to pay by quarterly instalments (Extra charge)

38.00

0.00

38.00

X

38.00

0.00

38.00

X

0%

0%

Late payment

52.00

0.00

52.00

X

52.00

0.00

52.00

X

0%

0%

Transfer

169.00

0.00

169.00

X

169.00

0.00

169.00

X

0%

0%

Partial Transfer

497.00

0.00

497.00

X

497.00

0.00

497.00

X

0%

0%

New operator at low risk reduced fee

78.00

0.00

78.00

X

78.00

0.00

78.00

X

0%

0%

PVR I & II

Mobile Screening and Crushing plant

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22
X

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
X
0%

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
0%

Annual Subsistence Fee
Low -

Medium - Standard Process
Additional fee for combined Part B & waste site
High -

Standard Process
Additional fee for combined Part B & waste site

Low

Page 401

Med

Mobile Screening and Crushing plant (1st and 2nd permits)

High

Mobile Screening and Crushing plant (1st and 2nd permits)

Transfer and surrender

activity
Surrender all part B Activities

no charge

Reduced fee activities- transfer

no charge

no charge
no charge

Reduced fee activities: partial transfer

47.00

0.00

47.00

X

47.00

0.00

47.00

X

0%

0%

Temporary transfer for mobile plant - first transfer

53.00

0.00

53.00

X

53.00

0.00

53.00

X

0%

0%

Repeat following enforcement/warning

53.00

0.00

53.00

X

53.00

0.00

53.00

X

0%

0%

1,050.00

0.00

1,050.00

X

1,050.00

0.00

1,050.00

X

0%

0%

Substantial Change s10 & s11
Standard Process

Fees pending DEFRA confirmation.
REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22
1,650.00

VAT
0.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
1,650.00

NET CHARGE
2022/23
1,650.00

VAT
0.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23
1,650.00

102.00

0.00

102.00

X

102.00

0.00

102.00

X

0%

0%

Application Fee

3,363.00

0.00

Additional fee for operating without permit

1,188.00

0.00

3,363.00

X

3,363.00

0.00

3,363.00

X

0%

0%

1,188.00

X

1,188.00

0.00

1,188.00

X

0%

Annual Subsistence - Low

1,446.00

0%

0.00

1,446.00

X

1,446.00

0.00

1,446.00

X

0%

Med

0%

1,610.00

0.00

1,610.00

X

1,610.00

0.00

1,610.00

X

0%

0%

High

2,333.00

0.00

2,333.00

X

2,333.00

0.00

2,333.00

X

0%

0%

Substantial Variation

1,368.00

0.00

1,368.00

X

1,368.00

0.00

1,368.00

X

0%

0%

If s.9(2) of Fees & Charges Scheme re. variation applies

3,363.00

0.00

3,363.00

X

3,363.00

0.00

3,363.00

X

0%

0%

Transfer

235.00

0.00

235.00

X

235.00

0.00

235.00

X

0%

0%

Partial Transfer or Surrender

698.00

0.00

698.00

X

698.00

0.00

698.00

X

0%

0%

Late payment

52.00

0.00

52.00

X

52.00

0.00

52.00

X

0%

Standard process where the substantive

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22
X

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
X
0%

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
0%

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

change results in a new PPC activity
Reduced fee activities- transfer
LA-IPPC

14,500

0%
14,500

PLANNING APPLICATION FEES
OPERATIONS
The erection of dwelling houses
(other than development within category 6)

Page 402

Where the application is for outline planning permission
Each 0.1 hectare of site area subject to a maximum fee of £11,432

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

0%

0%

11,432.00

0.00

11,432.00

X

11,432.00

0.00

11,432.00

X

0%

0%

138.00

0.00

138.00

X

138.00

0.00

138.00

X

0%

0%

402.00

0.00

402.00

X

402.00

0.00

402.00

X

0%

0%

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

0%

0%

22,859.00

0.00

22,859.00

X

22,859.00

0.00

22,859.00

X

0%

0%

138.00

0.00

138.00

X

138.00

0.00

138.00

X

0%

0%

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

0%

0%

11,432.00

0.00

11,432.00

X

11,432.00

0.00

11,432.00

X

0%

0%

138.00

0.00

138.00

X

138.00

0.00

138.00

X

0%

0%

If site area is greater than 2.5 hectares;
for first 2.5 hectares
for each additional 0.1 hectare subject to a maximum fee of £150,000
Where the application is for permission in Principle from 1 June 2018
Each 0.1 hectare or part thereof of site area

Full planning permission
For each dwelling house to be created by the development subject to a maximum fee of £22,859
If more than 50 dwellings;
for first 50 dwellings
each additional dwelling subject to a maximum fee of £300,000
The erection of buildings (other than dwelling houses and buildings coming within categories
1,3,4,5 or 7 of the fee regulation for further information see link below )
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200232/planning_applications/59/how_to_apply/7
Where the application is for outline planning permission.
Each 0.1 hectare of site area subject to a maximum fee of £11,432
If site area is greater than 2.5 hectares;
for first 2.5 hectares
for each additional 0.1 hectare subject to a maximum fee of £150,000
Full planning permission

All fees set nationally - no increase

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22
234.00

VAT
0.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
234.00

NET CHARGE
2022/23
234.00

VAT
0.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23
234.00

Where the area of gross floor space to be created by the development does not exceed 40 sq.
metres.

234.00

0.00

234.00

X

234.00

0.00

234.00

X

0%

0%

Where the area of gross floor space to be created by the development exceeds 40sq metres but does
not exceed 75 sq metres

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

0%

0%

Where the area of gross floor space to be created by the development exceeds 75 sq. metres, but
does not exceed 3750 sq metres (charge is per 75 sq metres, subject to a maximum fee of £22,859)

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

0%

0%

22,859.00

0.00

22,859.00

X

22,859.00

0.00

22,859.00

X

0%

0%

138.00

0.00

138.00

X

138.00

0.00

138.00

X

0%

0%

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

0%

0%

11,432.00

0.00

11,432.00

X

11,432.00

0.00

11,432.00

X

0%

0%

138.00

0.00

138.00

X

138.00

0.00

138.00

X

0%

0%

Where the area of gross floor space to be created by the development does not exceed 465 sq.
metres.

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

0%

0%

Where the area of gross floor space to be created by the development does exceed 465sq. metres
but does not exceed 540 sq metres.

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

0%

0%

Where the area of gross floor space to be created by the development exceeds 540 sq. metres but
does not exceed 4,215 sq. metres;
For the first 540sq. Metres

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

0%

0%

each additional 75 sq metres subject to a maximum fee £22,859

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

0%

0%

22,859.00

0.00

22,859.00

X

22,859.00

0.00

22,859.00

X

0%

0%

138.00

0.00

138.00

X

138.00

0.00

138.00

X

0%

0%

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

0%

0%

2,580.00

0.00

2,580.00

X

2,580.00

0.00

2,580.00

X

0%

0%

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

0%

0%

22,859.00

0.00

22,859.00

X

22,859.00

0.00

22,859.00

X

0%

0%

138.00

0.00

138.00

X

138.00

0.00

138.00

X

0%

0%

Where no floor space is to be created by the development

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22
X

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
X
0%

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
0%

Floor area over 3750 sq metres;
for first 3750 sq metres
for each additional 75 sq metres subject to a maximum fee of £300,000
The erection on land used for the purposes of agriculture, of buildings (other than glass
houses to be used for agricultural purposes)
Where the application is for outline planning permission
Each 0.1 hectare of site area subject to a maximum fee £11,432
If site area is greater than 2.5 hectares;
for first 2.5 hectares
for each additional 0.1 hectare subject to a maximum fee of £150,000

Page 403

Full planning permission

Floor area over 4,215 sq metres;
first 4,215 sq metres
each additional 75 sq metres subject to a maximum fee £300,000
The erection of glasshouses on land used for purposes of agriculture
Where the area of gross floor space to be created by the development does not exceed 465 sq.
metres.
Where the area of gross floor space to be created by the development does exceed 465 sq. metres.

The erection, alteration or replacement of plant or machinery
Each 0.1 hectare of site area
if the site area is more than 5 hectares;
for the first 5 hectares
each additional 0.1 hectares subject to a maximum fee £300,000
The enlargement, improvement or other alteration of existing dwelling houses

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22
206.00

VAT
0.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
206.00

Where the application relates to two or more dwelling houses

407.00

0.00

407.00

The carrying out of operations (including the erection of a building) within the curtilage of an
existing dwelling house for purposes ancillary to the enjoyment of the dwelling house as
such, or the erection or construction of gates, fences, walls or other means of enclosure
along a boundary of the curtilage of an existing dwelling house.

206.00

0.00

Installation of Satellite Dishes

206.00

Where the application relates to one dwelling house

NET CHARGE
2022/23
206.00

VAT
0.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23
206.00

X

407.00

0.00

407.00

X

0%

0%

206.00

X

206.00

0.00

206.00

X

0%

0%

0.00

206.00

X

206.00

0.00

206.00

X

0%

0%

234.00

0.00

234.00

X

234.00

0.00

234.00

X

0%

0%

234.00

0.00

234.00

X

234.00

0.00

234.00

X

0%

0%

234.00

0.00

234.00

X

234.00

0.00

234.00

X

0%

0%

34,934.00

0.00

34,934.00

X

34,934.00

0.00

34,934.00

X

0%

0%

138.00

0.00

138.00

X

138.00

0.00

138.00

X

0%

0%

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

0%

0%

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22
X

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
X
0%

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
0%

OPERATIONS
The construction of car parks, service roads and other means of access on land used for the
purposes of a single undertaking where the development is required for a purpose incidental to the
existing use of the land.

The carrying out of operations not coming within any of the above categories.
Each 0.1 hectare of site area subject to a maximum fee of £2,028

Page 404

Engineering Operations (excavations, earth movements and mineral operations, disposal of
refuse or waste minerals and open storage)
Each 0.1 hectare of site area. Maximum fee £34,934
If the site is greater than 15 hectares;
for the first 15 hectares
each additional 0.1 hectare subject to a maximum fee of £78,000
The change of use of a building to use as one or more separate dwelling houses.
Where the change is from a previous use to not more than 50 dwelling houses for each dwelling
house subject to a maximum fee of £22,895.

If creating more than 50 dwellings;
for first 50 dwellings

22,859.00

0.00

22,859.00

X

22,859.00

0.00

22,859.00

X

0%

0%

For each additional dwelling house to be created by the development subject to a maximum fee of
£300,000

138.00

0.00

138.00

X

138.00

0.00

138.00

X

0%

0%

The making of a material change in the use of a building or land (other than a material change of
use coming within any of the above categories).

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

0%

0%

Demolition

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

0%

0%

Agricultural and Forestry buildings and operations or demolition of buildings

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

0%

0%

Proposed Change of Use to State funded School or Registered Nursery

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

0%

0%

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural Building to State funded School or Registered Nursery

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

0%

0%

Proposed Change of use of Agricultural Building to a flexible use within Shops, Financial and
Professional services, restaurants and cafes, business, storage or Distribution, Hotels, or Assembly
or Leisure

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

0%

0%

Prior Approval

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22
96.00

VAT
0.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
96.00

NET CHARGE
2022/23
96.00

VAT
0.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23
96.00

Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a Dwellinghouse (Use Class C3), where there are no
Associated Building Operations

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

0%

0%

Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a Dwellinghouse (Use Class C3), and Associated Building
Operations

206.00

0.00

206.00

X

206.00

0.00

206.00

X

0%

0%

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Storage or Distribution Buildings (Class B8)
and any land within its curtilage to Dwelling House (Class C3)

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

0%

0%

Change of Use of a building from a Retail (Use Class A1 or A2)Use or a Mixed Retail and Residential
Use to a use falling within Use Class C3 (Dwellinghouse),where there are no Associated Building
Operations

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

0%

0%

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Amusement arcades/centres and Casinos
(Sui Generis) and any land within its curtilage to Dwelling House (Class C3)

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

0%

0%

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Amusement arcades/centres and Casinos
(Sui Generis) and any land within its curtilage to Dwelling House (Class C3) and Associated Building
Operations

206.00

0.00

206.00

X

206.00

0.00

206.00

X

0%

0%

Notification for Prior Approval for a change of Use from shops (Class A1), Financial and Professional
Services (Class A2), Betting Offices, Pay day Loan Shops and Casinos (Sui Generis) to Restaurants
and Cafes (Class A3)

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

0%

0%

Notification for Prior Approval for a change of Use from shops (Class A1), Financial and Professional
Services (Class A2), Betting Offices, Pay day Loan Shops and Casinos (Sui Generis) to Restaurants
and Cafes (Class A3) and associated building works

206.00

0.00

206.00

X

206.00

0.00

206.00

X

0%

0%

Change of Use of a building from a Retail (Use Class A1 or A2)Use or a Mixed Retail and Residential
Use to a use falling within Use Class C3 (Dwellinghouse), where there are no Associated Building
Operations

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

0%

0%

Change of Use of a building from a Retail (Use Class A1 or A2)Use or a Mixed Retail and Residential
Use to a use falling within Use Class C3 (Dwellinghouse), and Associated Building Operations

206.00

0.00

206.00

X

206.00

0.00

206.00

X

0%

0%

Notification for Prior Approval for a change of Use from shops (Class A1), Financial and Professional
Services (Class A2), Betting Offices, Pay day Loan Shops and Casinos (Sui Generis) to Assembly
and Leisure Uses (Class D2)

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

0%

0%

Communications

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

0%

0%

Notification for Prior Approval for a Development consisting of the erection or construction of a
collection facility within the Curtilage of a shop

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

0%

0%

Notification for Prior Approval for the temporary use of Buildings or land for the purpose of
Commercial Fil-making and the associated temporary structures, Works, Plant or Machinery required
in connection with that use

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

0%

0%

Notification for Prior Approval for the installation, alteration or replacement of other Solar
Photovoltaics (PV) equipment on roofs of non-domestic buildings up to a capacity of 1MW

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

96.00

0.00

96.00

X

0%

0%

As for planning
application

-

-

-

As for planning
application

-

As for planning
application

-

-

-

-

50% of
planning
application

-

50% of
planning
application

Proposed Change of use of a Building from Office (Use Class B1) to a use within Class C3
(Dwellinghouse)

Page 405

Certificate of existing use or operation

Certificate of existing use or operation - lawful not to comply with any condition or limitation
Certificate of proposed use of development

ADVERTISEMENTS

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22
X

234.00
50% of planning
application

234.00

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
X
0%

234.00

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
0%

0%

0%
-

0%

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22

NET CHARGE
2022/23

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23

Advertisements displayed on business premises on the forecourt of business premises, or on
other land within the curtilage of business premises, wholly with reference to all or any of the
following matters;
The nature of the business or other activity carried on, on the premises.
The goods sold or the services provided on the premises.
The name and qualification of the person carrying on such business or activity or supplying such
goods or services.

132.00

0.00

132.00

X

132.00

0.00

132.00

X

0%

0%

Advertisements for the purpose of directing members of the public to, or otherwise drawing
attention to the existence of business premises which are in the same locality as the site on
which the advertisement is to be displayed but which are not visible from that site.

132.00

0.00

132.00

X

132.00

0.00

132.00

X

0%

0%

All other advertisements.

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

462.00

0.00

462.00

X

0%

0%

Variation or removal of a planning condition

234.00

0.00

234.00

X

234.00

0.00

234.00

X

0%

0%

Request for confirmation that one or more conditions have been complied with - Householder

34.00

0.00

34.00

X

34.00

0.00

34.00

X

0%

0%

Request for confirmation that one or more conditions have been complied with - All other

116.00

0.00

116.00

X

116.00

0.00

116.00

X

0%

0%

Householder

34.00

0.00

34.00

X

34.00

0.00

34.00

X

0%

0%

All Other Cases

234.00

0.00

234.00

X

234.00

0.00

234.00

X

0%

0%

High Hedge Complaints

600.00

0.00

600.00

E

600.00

0.00

600.00

E

0%

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

CONDITIONS

Page 406

Non-Material Amendment

511,914

GDC0152847 / 52886

0%
511,961

0%

MISCELLANEOUS CHARGES
Copies of listed building entries

No charge

-

-

-

No charge

-

-

-

0%

Copy of scanned file sent electronically

No charge

-

-

-

No charge

-

-

-

0%

Copies of plans (A2 and larger, per plan)

10.00

2.00

12.00

V

10.00

2.00

12.00

V

20%

0%

Full cost of audit
to be recovered
from applicant

-

-

V

Full cost of
audit to be
recovered
from applicant

-

-

V

20%

-

Viability Audit Fee

12,394

12,441

0%

Research of Planning Data for a single domestic dwelling. (Includes research Listed Building and
Ancient Monuments)

30.00

6.00

36.00

V

30.00

6.00

36.00

V

20%

0%

Research of Planning Data for a single commercial property. (Includes research Listed Building and
Ancient Monuments)

60.00

12.00

72.00

V

60.00

12.00

72.00

V

20%

0%

Pre Application Advice
Heritage Asset only pre-application advice (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas not involving
planning Permission)

£50 for letter
Additional £50 if site visit or meeting required, plus VAT

£50 for letter
Additional £50 if site visit or meeting required, plus VAT

0%

Householder development (to enlarge, improve or alter an existing dwelling, carry out operations in
its curtilage that are ancillary to the dwelling)

£51 for one site visit and one letter
Additional £51 if meeting requested plus VAT

£51 for one site visit and one letter
Additional £51 if meeting requested, plus VAT

0%

Fees set nationally - no increase

Appendix 10

Minor Development - max 2 dwellings, non-residential schemes with max 499m2 floorspace or max
0.49ha, adverts, change of use of buildings max 499m2 floorspace or max 0.49ha and single wind
turbine/telecomm mast max 17m high

GROSS
NET CHARGE
CHARGE
VAT BUDGET
2021/22
VAT
2021/22
CODE 2021/22
£102 for one site visit and one letter
Additional £51 if meeting or follow on advice is requested plus
VAT

Intermediate Development - 3 to 9 dwellings, non-residential schemes with 500 - 999m2 floorspace
or 0.5 - 0.99ha, change of use of buildings 500-999m2 floorspace or 0.5 - 0.99ha and single wind
turbine/telecomm mast exceeding 17m high

£204 for one site visit and one letter
Additional £51 if meeting is requested and each and every letter
and meeting thereafter plus VAT

£204 for one site visit and one letter
Additional £51 if meeting is requested and each and every letter and
meeting thereafter, plus VAT

0%

Major Development - 10 to 49 dwellings, non-residential schemes with 1000 - 1999m2 floorspace or
1 - 1.99ha change of use of buildings 1000 - 1999m2 floorspace or 1 - 1.99ha and 2 9 wind turbines

£510 for one site visit, meeting and letter
Additional £51 if meeting is requested and each and every letter
and meeting thereafter plus VAT

£510 for one site visit, meeting and letter
Additional £51 if meeting is requested and each and every letter and
meeting thereafter, plus VAT

0%

Significant Development - 50 dwellings or more, non-residential schemes over 2000m2 floorspace or
2ha, change of use of buildings over 2000m2 floorspace or 2ha, more than 10 wind turbines and any
scheme requiring EIA

£1,020 for two site visits and two meetings
Additional £51 for each and every meeting thereafter plus VAT

£1,020 for two site visits and two meetings
Additional £51 for each and every meeting thereafter. plus VAT

0%

Planning Performance Agreement (PPA)

Full cost of
service to be
recharged

-

-

V

GROSS
% Increase
CHARGE
VAT
BUDGET Net Fee
VAT
2022/23
CODE VAT % 2022/23
2022/23
£102 for one site visit and one letter
0%
Additional £51 if meeting or follow on advice is requested, plus VAT

NET CHARGE
2022/23

Full cost of
service to be
recharged

-

-

V

21,097

20%

-

21,519

PLANNING APPLICATION FEES EXEMPTIONS - CONCESSIONARY FEES

Page 407

Applications for alterations to a dwelling house for the benefit of a disabled person and
alterations to a public building for the sole purpose of providing means of access for disabled persons

No charge

-

-

-

No charge

-

-

-

-

Applications for Listed Building consent or applications for Conservation Area Consent

No charge

-

-

-

No charge

-

-

-

-

Planning permission for relevant demolition in a conservation area

No charge

-

-

-

No charge

-

-

-

-

Works to tress subject to TPO or in a Conservation Area Hedgerow removal

No charge

-

-

-

No charge

-

-

-

-

Some submissions and modified re-submissions from the same applicant within 12 months of the
previous approval, for the same site.

No charge

-

-

-

No charge

-

-

-

-

The first revised application for development on the same site by the same applicant submitted within
12 months of the receipt of an application that is later withdrawn.

No charge

-

-

-

No charge

-

-

-

-

Application for a lawful development certificate for an existing use, where an application for planning
permission for the same development would be exempt from the need to pay a planning fee under
any other planning fee regulation

No charge

-

-

-

No charge

-

-

-

-

If the application is for consent to display an advertisement following either a withdrawal of an earlier
application (before notice of decision was issued) or where the application is made following refusal
of consent for display of an advertisement, and where the application is made by or on behalf of the
same person

No charge

-

-

-

No charge

-

-

-

-

If the application is for consent to display an advertisement which results from a direction under
Regulation 7 of the 2007 Regulations, dis-applying deemed consent Regulation 6 to the
advertisement in question.

No charge

-

-

-

No charge

-

-

-

-

If the application is for alternative proposals for the same site by the same applicant, in order to
benefit from permitted development right in Schedule 2 Part 3 Class V of GDPO 2015 (as amended)

No charge

-

-

-

No charge

-

-

-

-

If the application relates to a condition or conditions on an application for Listed Building Consent or a
planning permission for relevant demolition in a Conservation Area

No charge

-

-

-

No charge

-

-

-

-

If the application is for a certificate of lawfulness of proposed works to a listed building

No charge

-

-

-

No charge

-

-

-

-

Prior approval for a proposed larger home extension

No charge

-

-

-

No charge

-

-

-

-

If the application is for an alternative proposal being submitted on the same site by the same
applicant on the same day where the application is of lesser cost then the fee is 50%

No charge

-

-

-

No charge

-

-

-

-

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22
No charge

VAT
-

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
-

Where a planning application crosses one or more local or district planning authorities, the fee is
150% and is paid to the authority with the larger part of the site.

No charge

-

-

Applications required because of the removal of permitted development rights by a condition attached
to a planning permission

No charge

-

Applications relating to a change of use from a purpose of one of the classes specified in the Use
Classes Order to another purpose in the same class because the change is prohibited by a condition
imposed on a previous planning permission.

No charge

Applications by Parish Councils
Playing Fields (Sports Clubs)

In respect of Reserved Matters you must pay a sum equal to or greater than what would be payable
at current rates for approval of all reserved matters. If that amount has been paid then the fee is
£462

NET CHARGE
2022/23
No charge

VAT
-

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23
-

-

No charge

-

-

-

-

-

-

No charge

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

No charge

-

-

-

-

No charge

-

-

X

No charge

-

-

X

0%

-

No charge

0.00

0.00

X

No charge

0.00

0.00

X

0%

-

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22
-

No charge

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
-

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
-

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

No charge
0%

LOCAL LAND CHARGES

Page 408

Amended 1st April 2010.
These fees are for the Council to provide compiled property search reports for properties throughout the District.
In order to comply with Government guidance from 1st April 2009, SLDC introduced a new charging structure for property search services
a) A charging structure for unrefined property data held by the council and
b) A charging structure for the Council's services in providing compiled refined search reports
Statutory regulations on charging for property search services now require that in respect of a) that the council sets charges on a cost recovery basis
only and in respect of b) that the Council has regard to the costs it incurs in providing the service.

Con29 Part 1 2016 Edition including highways

70.83

14.17

85.00

V

72.25

14.45

86.70

V

20%

2%

Con29 Part 1 2016 Edition Parcel Fee

10.21

2.04

12.25

V

10.41

2.08

12.50

V

20%

2%

LLC1

20.40

0.00

20.40

X

20.81

0.00

20.81

X

0%

2%

Part 1 Enquiries
One parcel of land - included above

Included above

-

-

-

Included above

-

-

-

Each additional

10.21

2.04

12.25

V

10.41

2.08

12.50

V

20%

2%

-

LLC1 additional Parcel Fee

2.05

0.00

2.05

X

2.09

0.00

2.09

X

0%

2%

For enquiries 4 - 21

11.25

2.25

13.50

V

11.48

2.30

13.77

V

20%

2%

For Enquiry No. 22

25.50

5.10

30.60

V

26.01

5.20

31.21

V

20%

2%

Con29 Part II submission only (Admin fee when submitted without Con29 Part 1)

10.21

2.04

12.25

V

10.41

2.08

12.50

V

20%

2%

No charge

-

-

-

No charge

-

-

-

-

Part 11 Enquires
Each printed enquiry;

Personal Search (Land Charge only)

250,000

250,000

2%

BUILDING CONTROL FEES
For further information on Building Control Fees and Charges please go to;
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/planning-and-building/building-control/building-control-fees/
and see schedules 1, 2 and 3
Houses up to 300 square metres & Flats up to 3 storeys
The Building Regulation Charges are divided into a Plan and Inspection charge, or Building Notice charge.
The basis of these charges are derived from Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010, valid from 1st April 2013.
Full Plans - The Plan Charge must be paid at the time plans are deposited with the Council. An invoice for the inspection charge will be issued after
the first inspection has been carried out.
Building Notices - The charges must be paid at the time this notice is submitted to the Council. The Building Notice Charge is the combined Plan and
Inspection Charge total inclusive of VAT. A Building Notice cannot be used for new houses where new roads or streets are to be constructed.
Notes:
1. The amount of the plan charge is based on the number of dwelling types contained in the application; the inspection charge is based on the total
units in the project.
2
2. For 5 or more dwellings or if the floor area of the dwelling exceeds 300m or flats over 3 storeys, the charge will be individually determined.
3. For electrical work not covered under a Competent Persons Scheme, the basic inspection charge per dwelling will be £270.00 including VAT
(account will be given to repetitive work and a discount may be applied).

2% increase in line with MTFP

Appendix 10
The Building Regulation Charges are divided into a Plan and Inspection charge, or Building Notice charge.
GROSS
GROSS
% Increase
The basis of these charges are derived from Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010, valid from 1st April 2013.
NET CHARGE
CHARGE
VAT BUDGET
NET CHARGE
CHARGE
VAT
BUDGET Net Fee
Full Plans - The Plan Charge must be paid at the time plans are deposited with the Council. An invoice for the inspection charge will be issued after
2021/22
VAT
2021/22
CODE 2021/22
2022/23
VAT
2022/23
CODE VAT % 2022/23
2022/23
the first inspection has been carried out.
Building Notices - The charges must be paid at the time this notice is submitted to the Council. The Building Notice Charge is the combined Plan and
Inspection Charge total inclusive of VAT. A Building Notice cannot be used for new houses where new roads or streets are to be constructed.
Notes:
1. The amount of the plan charge is based on the number of dwelling types contained in the application; the inspection charge is based on the total
units in the project.
2. For 5 or more dwellings or if the floor area of the dwelling exceeds 300m 2 or flats over 3 storeys, the charge will be individually determined.
3. For electrical work not covered under a Competent Persons Scheme, the basic inspection charge per dwelling will be £270.00 including VAT
(account will be given to repetitive work and a discount may be applied).
4. Unless otherwise agreed, schemes exceeding one year in duration may be subject to an additional charge.

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Charges for New Dwellings
Plan Charge

Page 409

1 Dwelling type

225.00

45.00

270.00

V

250.00

50.00

300.00

V

20%

11%

2 Dwelling types

300.00

60.00

360.00

V

325.00

65.00

390.00

V

20%

8%

3 Dwelling types

375.00

75.00

450.00

V

400.00

80.00

480.00

V

20%

7%

4 Dwelling types

475.00

95.00

570.00

V

-

-

V

20%

-

6 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

7 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

8 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

9 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

10 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

11 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

12 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

13 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

14 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

15 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

16 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

17 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

18 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

19 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price

-

-

V

20%

-

Inspection Charge
1 Dwelling type

475.00

95.00

570.00

V

500.00

100.00

600.00

V

20%

5%

2 Dwelling types

625.00

125.00

750.00

V

675.00

135.00

810.00

V

20%

8%

3 Dwelling types

825.00

165.00

990.00

V

875.00

175.00

1,050.00

V

20%

6%

4 Dwelling types

950.00

190.00

1,140.00

V

-

-

V

20%

-

6 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

7 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

8 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

9 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

10 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

11 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

12 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

13 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price

-

-

V

20%

-

Fees reviewed in line with commercial competition and other
local authorities

Appendix 10

14 Dwelling types

NET CHARGE
2021/22
Contact for price

VAT
-

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
-

15 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

16 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

17 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

18 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

19 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

1 Dwelling type

700.00

140.00

840.00

V

750.00

2 Dwelling types

925.00

185.00

1,110.00

V

1,000.00

3 Dwelling types

1,200.00

240.00

1,440.00

V

4 Dwelling types

1,425.00

285.00

1,710.00

V

6 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

7 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

8 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

9 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

10 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

11 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

12 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

13 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

14 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

15 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

16 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

17 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

18 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

19 Dwelling types

Contact for price

-

-

V

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22
V

VAT
-

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23
-

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

-

150.00

900.00

V

20%

7%

200.00

1,200.00

V

20%

8%

1,530.00

306.00

1,836.00

V

20%

28%

Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

-

NET CHARGE
2022/23
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price
Contact for
price

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
V
20%

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
-

Building Notice Charge

Page 410

Certain Small Domestic Buildings & Extensions and Other Work
The Building Regulation Charges are divided into a Plan and Inspection charge, Building Notice charge and Regularisation charge.
The basis of these charges are derived from Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010, valid from 1st April 2013.
Full Plans - The Plan Charge must be paid at the time plans are deposited with the Council. Where an inspection charge applies, an invoice will be
issued after the first inspection has been carried out.
Building Notices - The charges must be paid at the time this notice is submitted to the Council.
Regularisation Charge - This type of application is solely for use where work undertaken on or after 11 November 1985 and is already completed
without prior knowledge / notification to the Council and house owners seek retrospective certification. However these charges are 150% of the net
charge.
Exemption - Where work is to provide access and facilities for disabled people in an existing building, or is an extension of a room in a dwelling,
where sole use will be for the carrying out of medical treatment or storage facilities for a disabled person, adaptation or replacement of
accommodation, no charge is payable.
Total Estimated Cost for Works Under Schedule 3 - Charges for all commercial / industrial / other residential and domestic alterations are taken
from Schedule 3. These are based on an estimated cost that would be charged by a professional contractor, excluding professional fees and VAT.
Small Buildings and Extensions (Schedule 2) - Where the work in question includes the erection of more than one extension to a building, the total
floor area of all such extensions should be combined to determine the charge payable in accordance with Schedule 2.
Stage Payments - In certain cases charges may be paid by instalments, by prior agreement with the Building Control Team Leader.
Please note : Unless otherwise agreed, schemes exceeding one year duration may be subject to an additional charge.

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22

NET CHARGE
2022/23

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23

150.00

30.00

180.00

150.00

30.00

180.00

V

150.00

30.00

180.00

V

20%

0%

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

-100%

150.00

30.00

150.00

30.00

180.00

V

150.00

30.00

180.00

V

20%

0%

180.00

V

175.00

35.00

210.00

V

20%

17%

150.00
150.00

30.00

180.00

V

200.00

40.00

240.00

V

20%

33%

30.00

180.00

V

225.00

45.00

270.00

V

20%

50%

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

150.00

30.00

180.00

V

Contact for
Price
0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

-100%

Detached or attached garage over 30m 2 but under 60m 2

175.00

35.00

210.00

V

200.00

40.00

240.00

V

20%

14%

Domestic extensions 4 - 10m 2

175.00

35.00

210.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

-100%

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Applying for Building Regulations Approval
Full Plans - Deposit Charge
2

Attached or Detached garage over 30m but under 60m

2

Domestic extensions up to 10m 2
Domestic extensions over 10m 2 but under 20m 2
2

Domestic extensions over 20m but under 40m

2

Domestic extensions over 40m 2 but under 60m 2
2

Domestic extensions over 60m but under 100m
Domestic extensions over 100m

2

2

A loft conversion
Full Plans - Inspection Charge

2

250.00

50.00

300.00

V

250.00

50.00

300.00

V

20%

0%

Domestic extensions over 20m 2 but under 40m 2

2

300.00

60.00

360.00

V

325.00

65.00

390.00

V

20%

8%

Domestic extensions over 40m 2 but under 60m 2

375.00

75.00

450.00

V

400.00

80.00

480.00

V

20%

7%

475.00

95.00

570.00

V

475.00

95.00

570.00

V

20%

0%

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

250.00

50.00

300.00

V

Contact for
Price
0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

-100%

325.00

65.00

390.00

V

350.00

70.00

420.00

V

20%

8%

325.00

65.00

390.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

-100%

400.00

80.00

480.00

V

400.00

80.00

480.00

V

20%

0%

425.00

85.00

510.00

V

500.00

100.00

600.00

V

20%

18%

Domestic extensions over 10m but under 20m

2

Domestic extensions over 60m but under 100m

2

Domestic extensions over 100m 2
A loft conversion
Building Notice
2

Detached or attached garage over 30m but under 60m

2

Domestic extensions up to 10m 2
Domestic extensions over 10m 2 but under 20m 2

Page 411

2

Domestic extensions over 20m but under 40m

2

Domestic extensions over 40m 2 but under 60m 2

525.00

105.00

630.00

V

600.00

120.00

720.00

V

20%

14%

Domestic extensions over 60m 2 but under 100m 2

625.00

125.00

750.00

V

700.00

140.00

840.00

V

20%

12%

V

V

20%

-

80.00

480.00

V

20%

0%

Domestic extensions over 100m 2

Contact for Price

A loft conversion

400.00

80.00

480.00

V

Contact for
Price
400.00

487.50

Regularisation
2

2

0.00

487.50

X

525.00

0.00

525.00

X

0%

8%

487.50

0.00

487.50

X

0.00

0.00

0.00

X

0%

-100%

2

600.00

0.00

600.00

X

600.00

0.00

600.00

X

0%

0%

Domestic extensions over 20m 2 but under 40m 2

675.00

0.00

675.00

X

750.00

0.00

750.00

X

0%

11%

787.50

0.00

787.50

X

900.00

0.00

900.00

X

0%

14%

937.50

0.00

937.50

X

1,050.00

0.00

1,050.00

X

0%

12%

Contact for Price

-

-

X

-

-

X

0%

-

600.00

0.00

600.00

X

Contact for
Price
600.00

0.00

600.00

X

0%

0%

Electrical Installation - Re-wiring not included in the Competent Persons Scheme

225.00

45.00

270.00

V

250.00

50.00

300.00

V

20%

11%

Electrical Installation - New circuits

150.00

30.00

180.00

V

175.00

35.00

210.00

V

20%

17%

Electrical Installation - Single socket / light point

100.00

20.00

120.00

V

150.00

30.00

180.00

V

20%

50%

Replacement of 1 - 6 windows or doors in dwellings, not part of a FENSA scheme (or equivalent)

100.00

20.00

120.00

V

100.00

20.00

120.00

V

20%

0%

Replacement of 7 - 12 windows or doors in dwellings, not part of a FENSA scheme (or equivalent)

150.00

30.00

180.00

V

150.00

30.00

180.00

V

20%

0%

Replacement of 13 or more windows or doors in dwellings, not part of a FENSA scheme (or
equivalent)
Sewage treatment plant

225.00

45.00

270.00

V

225.00

45.00

270.00

V

20%

0%

225.00

45.00

270.00

V

225.00

45.00

270.00

V

20%

0%

Chimney lining / Insulation of stove

100.00

20.00

120.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

-100%

A revised scheme considered not to be the same as originally deposited

100.00

20.00

120.00

V

150.00

30.00

180.00

V

20%

50%

Material alteration to thermal element requiring upgrading of insulation, greater than 25% of roof,
walls or floors.
Conversion of single garage to habitable room

100.00

20.00

120.00

V

100.00

20.00

120.00

V

20%

0%

225.00

45.00

270.00

V

250.00

50.00

300.00

V

20%

11%

Detached or attached garage over 30m but under 60m
Domestic extensions 4 - 10m 2
2

Domestic extensions over 10m but under 20m

Domestic extensions over 40m 2 but under 60m 2
2

Domestic extensions over 60m but under 100m

2

Domestic extensions over 100m 2
A loft conversion
Electrical Installation

Minimum Charges
Total Charge

Fees reviewed in line with commercial competition and other
local authorities

Appendix 10

NET CHARGE
2021/22
125.00

VAT
0.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
125.00

NET CHARGE
2022/23
150.00

VAT
0.00

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23
150.00

Replacement of 1 - 6 windows or doors in dwellings, not part of a FENSA scheme (or equivalent)

150.00

0.00

150.00

Replacement of 7 - 12 windows or doors in dwellings, not part of a FENSA scheme (or equivalent)

225.00

0.00

225.00

X

150.00

0.00

150.00

X

0%

0%

X

225.00

0.00

225.00

X

0%

Replacement of 13 or more windows or doors in dwellings, not part of a FENSA scheme (or
equivalent)
Sewage treatment plant

337.50

0.00

0%

337.50

X

337.50

0.00

337.50

X

0%

0%

337.50

Chimney lining / insulation of stove

337.50

0.00

337.50

X

375.00

0.00

375.00

X

0%

11%

0.00

337.50

X

0.00

0.00

0.00

X

0%

-100%

Material alteration to thermal element requiring upgrading of insulation, greater than 25% of roof,
walls or floors.
Conversion of single garage to habitable room

150.00

0.00

150.00

X

150.00

0.00

150.00

X

0%

0%

337.50

0.00

337.50

X

375.00

0.00

375.00

X

0%

0%

£0 - £1,000

100.00

20.00

120.00

V

150.00

30.00

180.00

V

20%

50%

£1,001 - £2,000

150.00

30.00

180.00

V

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

-100%

£2,001 - £5,000

225.00

45.00

270.00

V

250.00

50.00

300.00

V

20%

11%

£5,001 - £10,000

75.00

15.00

90.00

V

100.00

20.00

120.00

V

20%

33%

£10,001 - £20,000

75.00

15.00

90.00

V

125.00

25.00

150.00

V

20%

67%

£20,001 - £30,000

100.00

20.00

120.00

V

125.00

25.00

150.00

V

20%

25%

£30,001 - £40,000

125.00

25.00

150.00

V

150.00

30.00

180.00

V

20%

20%

£40,001 - £50,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£50,001 - £60,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£60,001 - £70,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£70,001 - £80,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£80,001 - £90,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£90,001 - £100,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£100,001 - £125,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£125,001 - £150,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£150,001 - £175,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£175,001 - £200,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£200,001 - £225,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£225,001 - £250,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price

-

-

V

20%

-

£0 - £1,000

-

-

-

V

-

-

-

V

20%

-

£1,001 - £2,000

-

-

-

V

-

-

-

V

20%

-

£2,001 - £5,000

-

-

-

V

-

-

-

V

20%

-

£5,001 - £10,000

200.00

40.00

240.00

V

200.00

40.00

240.00

V

20%

0%

£10,001 - £20,000

250.00

50.00

300.00

V

275.00

55.00

330.00

V

20%

10%

£20,001 - £30,000

325.00

65.00

390.00

V

350.00

70.00

420.00

V

20%

8%

£30,001 - £40,000

400.00

80.00

480.00

V

425.00

85.00

510.00

V

20%

6%

£40,001 - £50,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£50,001 - £60,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£60,001 - £70,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£70,001 - £80,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£80,001 - £90,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£90,001 - £100,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£100,001 - £125,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price

-

-

V

20%

-

Demolition Notices (if done within the six week period of submission)

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22
E

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
E
0%

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
20%

Regularisation

All Other Work
Plan Charge

Page 412

Inspection Charge

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Appendix 10

£125,001 - £150,000

NET CHARGE
2021/22
Contact for Price

VAT
-

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
-

VAT
-

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23
-

£150,001 - £175,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£175,001 - £200,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

£200,001 - £225,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

£225,001 - £250,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

-

V

20%

-

£0 - £1,000

100.00

20.00

120.00

V

£1,001 - £2,000

150.00

30.00

180.00

V

150.00

30.00

180.00

V

20%

50%

0.00

0.00

0.00

V

20%

-100%

£2,001 - £5,000

225.00

45.00

270.00

£5,001 - £10,000

275.00

55.00

330.00

V

250.00

50.00

300.00

V

20%

11%

V

300.00

60.00

360.00

V

20%

£10,001 - £20,000

325.00

65.00

9%

390.00

V

375.00

75.00

450.00

V

20%

15%

£20,001 - £30,000

425.00

£30,001 - £40,000

525.00

85.00

510.00

V

475.00

95.00

570.00

V

20%

12%

105.00

630.00

V

575.00

115.00

690.00

V

20%

£40,001 - £50,000

Contact for Price

10%

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£70,001 - £80,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£80,001 - £90,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£90,001 - £100,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£100,001 - £125,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£125,001 - £150,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£150,001 - £175,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£175,001 - £200,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£200,001 - £225,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

-

-

V

20%

-

£225,001 - £250,000

Contact for Price

-

-

V

Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price

£50,001 - £60,000
£60,001 - £70,000

-

-

V

20%

-

£0 - £1,000

150.00

0.00

150.00

X

225.00

0.00

225.00

X

0%

50%

£1,001 - £2,000

225.00

0.00

225.00

X

0.00

0.00

0.00

X

0%

-100%

£2,001 - £5,000

337.50

0.00

337.50

X

375.00

0.00

375.00

X

0%

11%

£5,001 - £10,000

412.50

0.00

412.50

X

450.00

0.00

450.00

X

0%

9%

£10,001 - £20,000

487.50

0.00

487.50

X

562.50

0.00

562.50

X

0%

15%

£20,001 - £30,000

637.50

0.00

637.50

X

712.50

0.00

712.50

X

0%

12%

£30,001 - £40,000

787.50

0.00

787.50

X

862.50

0.00

862.50

X

0%

10%

£40,001 - £50,000

Contact for Price

-

-

X

-

-

X

0%

-

£50,001 - £60,000

Contact for Price

-

-

X

-

-

X

0%

-

£60,001 - £70,000

Contact for Price

-

-

X

-

-

X

0%

-

£70,001 - £80,000

Contact for Price

-

-

X

-

-

X

0%

-

£80,001 - £90,000

Contact for Price

-

-

X

-

-

X

0%

-

£90,001 - £100,000

Contact for Price

-

-

X

-

-

X

0%

-

£100,001 - £125,000

Contact for Price

-

-

X

-

-

X

0%

-

£125,001 - £150,000

Contact for Price

-

-

X

-

-

X

0%

-

£150,001 - £175,000

Contact for Price

-

-

X

Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price

-

-

X

0%

-

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22
V

NET CHARGE
2022/23
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
V
20%

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
-

Building Notice Charge

Page 413

Regularisation Charge

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

Appendix 10

£175,001 - £200,000

NET CHARGE
2021/22
Contact for Price

VAT
-

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
-

£200,001 - £225,000

Contact for Price

-

-

X

£225,001 - £250,000

Contact for Price

-

-

X

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22
X

NET CHARGE
2022/23
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price
Contact for
Price

VAT
-

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23
-

-

-

X

0%

-

-

X

0%

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
X
0%

331,877

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
-

REASON FOR FEE CHANGE

338,514

-2%

Please note : Unless otherwise agreed, schemes exceeding one year in duration may be subject to an additional charge.
In the case of charges for contracts which exceed £50,000
or
where contracts below this level are likely to be repeated ,
Please contact the Building Control Team Leader, to establish the appropriate charges.

STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING
Confirmation of address - each application

24.23

4.85

29.07

V

24.71

4.94

29.65

V

20%

2%

Each single application to change address

98.60

19.72

118.32

V

100.58

20.12

120.69

V

20%

2%

For each and every additional address in an application to change address

10.41

2.08

12.50

V

10.62

2.12

12.75

V

20%

2%

Each single address application on a New Development site

24.23

4.85

29.07

V

24.71

4.94

29.65

V

20%

2%

For each every additional address in an application on a New Development site

10.41

2.08

12.50

V

10.62

2.12

12.75

V

20%

15,824

2%
16,140

2%

Miscellaneous Charges

Page 414

Research of Building Control Data for a single domestic dwelling

30.00

6.00

36.00

V

30.00

6.00

36.00

V

20%

Research of Building Control Data for a single commercial property

50.00

10.00

60.00

V

50.00

10.00

60.00

V

20%

0%

Copy of Completion Certificate

25.00

5.00

30.00

V

30.00

6.00

36.00

V

20%

20%

Contact for Price

-

-

V

Contact for
Price

-

-

V

20%

-

Houses in Multiple Occupation - Initial Licence
Minimum charge / 10% discount for membership of the Cumbria Landlord Accreditation Scheme

431.77

0.00

431.77

X

525.00

0.00

525.00

X

0%

22%

each additional letting room above 5 rooms (max £600)
If a landlord applies for a licence / 10% discount for membership of the Cumbria Landlord
Accreditation Scheme
Houses in Multiple Occupation - Renewal of Licence
10% discount for membership of the Cumbria Landlord Accreditation Scheme

31.21

0.00

31.21

X

31.21

0.00

31.21

X

0%

0%

260.10

0.00

260.10

X

300.00

0.00

300.00

X

0%

Re open an application - from £250 plus VAT

1,300

1,326

3,920
Immigration Inspections

110.38

0.00

110.38

X

17% of
contract price
17% of
contract price
17% of
contract price
17% of
contract price
17% of
contract price

-

-

V

-

-

V

-

-

V

-

-

V

-

-

V

-

-

V

600

0%

n/a

15%
3,998

12%

612

2%

112.60

0.00

112.60

X

0%

17% of
contract price
17% of
contract price
17% of
contract price
17% of
contract price
17% of
contract price

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

-

-

-

V

20%

-

1,078.30

215.66

1,293.96

V

20%

17% of
contract price

-

-

V

20%

-

V

20%

-

V

20%

This is more in line with the work carried out on HMOs based
on letters, visits and emails required and is more consistent
with other areas such as Barrow. This will comprise £241.50
licence application and £283.50 assessment and licence
totally £525.

This increase is to better reflect the work undertaken to
process and issue a renewal licence.

Increased by 2% in line with MTFP

DISABLED FACILITIES GRANTS
Level Access Showers
Overbath Showers
Ramps
Stairlifts
Door Widening
Other major works
17% of
contract price
Other minor works
Flat rate additions for additional lots

Architectural Design Service - Per Hour

17% of
contract price

-

-

V

17% of
contract price

-

-

V

17% of
contract price

-

-

V

-

317.71

63.54

381.25

43.35

8.67

52.02

-

This should be a fixed fee - cannot be a % of contract price Contracts for major works can be up to £100k would result in
additional £17k which is excessive. Fixed fee in 20/21 was
£1036.83 x 4% (2% in line with MTFP 21/22 and 22/23) =
£1078.30
This should be a fixed fee -£305.49 was 20/21 fixed fee £305.49 x 4% (2% in line with MTFP 21/22 and 22/23) =
317.71
Officer hourly charge out rate (Grade J SCP 30-33 x 2% for
possible pay award

Appendix 10

GROSS
CHARGE
2021/22
-

NET CHARGE
2022/23

VAT

GROSS
CHARGE
2022/23

306.15

61.23

367.38

V

X

75.00

0.00

75.00

X

0%

0%

75.00

X

75.00

0.00

75.00

X

0%

0%

0.00

240.00

X

240.00

0.00

240.00

X

0%

0%

0.00

75.00

X

75.00

0.00

75.00

X

0%

0%

0.00

105.00

X

105.00

0.00

105.00

X

0%

NET CHARGE
2021/22
17% of
contract price

VAT
-

South Lakeland Court

75.00

0.00

75.00

Furness & District Court

75.00

0.00

Application for issue of a warrant

240.00

Application for an arrest warrant - with bail

75.00

Application for an arrest warrant - without bail

105.00

Aborted Works

VAT BUDGET
CODE 2021/22
V

VAT
BUDGET
CODE VAT % 2022/23
20%

% Increase
Net Fee
2022/23
REASON FOR FEE CHANGE
This should be a fixed fee - cannot be a % of contract price as
contract price is often not known when works aborted.
£294.38 was 20/21 fixed fee - £294.38 x 4% (2% in line with
MTFP 21/22 and 22/23 = 306.15

COURT COSTS FOR NNDR AND COUNCIL TAX SUMMONSES
Fees set by Courts

Council Tax Summonses (Liability Order)

Committal Warrants

182,832

0%
164,549

Budget reduced as part of budget pressure bid

NNDR Summonses (Liability Order)
South Lakeland Court

75.00

0.00

75.00

X

75.00

0.00

75.00

X

0%

Furness & District Court

75.00

0.00

75.00

X

75.00

0.00

75.00

X

0%

22,603

0%
0%
Budget reduced as part of budget pressure bid

17,456

Community Infrastructure Levy - please use this link;
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/planning-and-building/planning/community-infrastructurelevy-cil-for-planning-applications/community-infrastructure-levy-cil-charges-exemptionspenalties-and-appeals/

INFORMATION REQUESTS

Page 415

Environmental Information Regulations (2004) SLDC Charging Policy (charge per hour)

25.00

0.00

25.00

X

25.00

0.00

25.00

X

0%

0.00%

Section 2 Part 1 (5)(3) Data Protection Act 2018

75.00

0.00

75.00

X

75.00

0.00

75.00

X

0%

0.00%

In data form - initial fee

20.00

0.00

20.00

X

20.00

0.00

20.00

X

0%

0.00% Statutory Fees - No Change

per 1000 entries (or part thereof)

1.50

0.00

1.50

X

1.50

0.00

1.50

X

0%

0.00% Statutory Fees - No Change

In printed form - initial fee

10.00

0.00

10.00

X

10.00

0.00

10.00

X

0%

0.00% Statutory Fees - No Change

per 1000 entries (or part thereof)

5.00

0.00

5.00

X

5.00

0.00

5.00

X

0%

0.00% Statutory Fees - No Change

In data form - initial fee

20.00

0.00

20.00

x

20.00

0.00

20.00

x

0%

0.00% Statutory Fees - No Change

per 1000 entries (or part thereof)

1.50

0.00

1.50

x

1.50

0.00

1.50

x

0%

0.00% Statutory Fees - No Change

In printed form - initial fee

10.00

0.00

10.00

x

10.00

0.00

10.00

x

0%

0.00% Statutory Fees - No Change

per 1000 entries (or part thereof)

5.00

0.00

5.00

x

5.00

0.00

5.00

x

0%

0.00% Statutory Fees - No Change

In data form - initial fee

10.00

0.00

10.00

X

10.00

0.00

10.00

X

0%

0.00% Statutory Fees - No Change

per 1000 entries (or part thereof)

1.00

0.00

1.00

X

1.00

0.00

1.00

X

0%

0.00% Statutory Fees - No Change

In printed form - initial fee

10.00

0.00

10.00

X

10.00

0.00

10.00

X

0%

0.00% Statutory Fees - No Change

per 1000 entries (or part thereof)

2.00

0.00

2.00

X

2.00

0.00

2.00

X

0%

ELECTORAL REGISTRATION
REGISTER OF ELECTORS
Full and Open Registers

Monthly Updates to the Register

Marked Register from Elections

447

0.00% Statutory Fees - No Change
456

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 416

Item No.16
South Lakeland District Council
Cabinet Wednesday, 9 February 2022
Council Tuesday, 22 February 2022

Treasury Management and Capital Strategies
Portfolio:

Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder

Report from:

Section 151 Officer

Report Author:

Claire Read – Finance Specialist

Wards:

(All Wards);

Forward Plan:

Treasury Management Framework 2022/23 to 2025/26 first published
on the forward plan published on 8 November 2021

Links to Council Plan Priorities: This report sets out the framework and limits for
managing the Councils finances enabling the Council’s priorities to be delivered.
Setting a sound framework assists in the delivery of all corporate outcomes of:
Working across boundaries
Delivering a balanced community
A fairer South Lakeland
Addressing the climate emergency

1.0

Expected Outcome and Measures of Success

1.1

It is expected that the Treasury Management Strategy for 2022/23 – 2025/26 and
Capital Strategy for 2022/23 – 2033/34, will be approved by Council on 22 February
2022. The Strategies ensure that the Council have robust arrangements for investing
and only borrows where it is appropriate and affordable.

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:(1)

2.2

Note and recommends to Council the Treasury Management Strategy,
Capital Strategies; and the authorised and operational borrowing limits
within the report

It is recommended that Council:(1)

Approve the Treasury Management and Capital Strategies; and

(2)

Approve the authorised and operational borrowing limits within the
report

3.0

Background and Proposals

3.1

This report sets out the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy for 2022/23 –
2025/26 and the Capital Strategy for 2022/23 -2033/34. These strategies have been
updated to reflect the 2022/23 budget and capital programme being considered as
part of this agenda.

Page 417

3.2

In setting these strategies we continued to follow best practice, which is to set them
for at least 3-4 financial years, based on the medium term plans of the Council. While
this is the last year SLDC’s existence due to local government reorganisation by
doing this it will help inform Westmorland and Furness Council when it looks to set its
own Treasury and Capital Strategies for 2023/24.

3.3

The strategies fulfil five key legislative requirements:



Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accounting (CIPFA)’s Prudential
Code requires the Council to set a number of Prudential Indicators setting
out the expected capital activities and financing.



The Council’s Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy, sets out how the
Council will pay for capital assets through revenue each year.



The Treasury Management Strategy Statement sets out how the Council’s
treasury service will support the capital decisions taken, the day to day
treasury management and the limitations on activity through treasury
prudential indicators;



The Investment Strategy which sets out the Council’s criteria for choosing
investment counterparties and limiting exposure to the risk of loss.



The Capital Strategy, to demonstrate that the authority takes capital
expenditure and investment decisions in line with service objectives and
properly takes account of stewardship, value for money, prudence,
sustainability and affordability

3.4.

The Council is required to set a balanced annual revenue budget. The timing and
nature of income and expenditure within the budget needs to be understood and
managed so that cash is available when it is required. This is a key function of
the treasury management operation.

3.5.

The second key function is the funding of the Council’s capital plans. These
capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council. This may
involve arranging new or replacement loans or the planned use of cash balances.

3.6.

CIPFA defines treasury management as:
“The management of the local authority’s borrowings, investments and cash
flows, including its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the
effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of
optimum performance consistent with those risks.”

3.7.

The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main
reports each year, which incorporate a variety of polices, estimates and actuals.
These reports are required to be adequately scrutinised by the Overview and
Scrutiny committee before being recommended to the Council. These are as
follows:


Capital Strategy and Treasury Management Strategy (this report), setting
out the expectations for a minimum of three years, linked into the Council’s
wider budget setting process.



A Mid-Year Treasury Management Report – This will update Members with
the progress of the capital position, amending prudential indicators as
necessary, and whether the treasury strategy is meeting the strategy or
whether any policies require revision. This report is incorporated into the
Council’s quarterly corporate monitoring reports.

Page 418



An Annual Treasury Report – This provides details of a selection of actual
prudential and treasury indicators and actual treasury operations compared
to the estimates within the strategy.

Economic Update
3.8.

At its meeting in December 2021 the Bank of England Monetary Policy
Committee (MPC) raised the bank rate to 0.25%. Against a back drop of rising
inflation, 5.1% in November 2021 compared to 4.2% in October 2021 and better
than expected unemployment data following the end of the furlough scheme in
September 2021.

3.9

Looking forward the expectation is that the bank rate will rise at least two times in
2022/23 taking the bank rate to 0.75% by March 2023.

3.10

More detail can be found in Section 6 of Appendix 1.

Treasury Management Strategy
3.11. This strategy has been set with regard to the updated CIPFA Treasury
Management and Prudential Codes which was published in December 2021 and
has an implementation date of 01/04/2022, though there is a soft landing period
up to 01/04/2023 to allow council time to implement all the changes. Commentary
is available in the appropriate sections of the strategy where we still have to
comply with the new codes and our progress in meeting these.
3.12

Appendix 1 contains the 2022/23 to 2025/26 Treasury Management Strategy
and includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

prudential and treasury indicators;
the Minimum Revenue Provision statement.
high level Treasury Management Policy statement;
prospects for interest rate;
the current treasury position;
the borrowing strategy;
policy on borrowing in advance of need;
the investment strategy including creditworthiness policy;
non treasury management investments
policy on use of external service providers;

3.13

Appendix 2 contains an indicative lending list based on the proposed investment
strategy

3.14

The strategy is based on the proposed capital programme for 2022/23 – 2025/26
being considered on this agenda and sets key controls around investment and
borrowing activities.

3.15

Investment controls focus on counterparty security, liquidity and then yield, in that
order, in line with the CIPFA Code. The controls include, counterparty selection
criteria, limits on investments and types of investments officers can use.

3.16

Borrowing controls are focused on ensuring the Council’s borrowing position is
affordable and sustainable and sets a limit on the amount of borrowing officers
can do within the year.

3.17

When compiling the strategy, consideration was given to the changes in IAS16
Leases. The impact of which is to increase the number of leases classified as
finance leases, with the knock on effect of bringing lease funding in to the
Council’s borrowing requirement. An initial estimate has been included in the

Page 419

calculation of the Operational Boundary and Authorised limits. This is likely to be
updated before Council as officers continue to work their way through the
Council’s lease agreements to determine the new correct accounting treatment.
Capital Strategy
3.18

Appendix 3 contains the Capital Strategy and is supported by a copy of the
Capital Programme for 2022/23 – 2025/26 in Appendix 4.

3.19

The main principles of the Capital Strategy are affordability, prudence and
sustainability.

3.20

The Capital Strategy includes potential capital expenditure not currently in the
proposed programme, which comes from the review of council assets in 2018/19,
adjusted for any proposal brought as part of the 2022/23 capital programme. The
resulting indicators in the Capital Strategy are therefore higher as it includes
potential expenditure and borrowing which may not arise, depending on future
decisions around service delivery.

3.21

The Capital Strategy will assist in ensuring that the Council has funds available in
the future to meet opportunities which may arise. It also considers organisational
issues including how the capital programme will be prioritised and considerations
including capacity to deliver.

4.0 Appendices Attached to this Report
Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

Treasury Management Strategy for 2022/23 to 2025/26

2

Example 2022/23 Counterparty List

3

Capital Strategy for 2022/23 to 2033/34

4

Capital Programme for 2022/23 to 2025/26

5.0

Consultation

5.1

The strategies have been prepared in consultation with the Council’s Treasury
advisor (Link Asset Services). The draft strategies will be considered by Cabinet
and Overview and Scrutiny Committee before the final version is presented to
Council for approval on 22 February 2022.

5.2

A verbal update of any comments from Overview and Scrutiny on 4th February 2022
will be given at the meeting.

6.0

Alternative Options

6.1

No alternative options are proposed; the Treasury Management Strategy, in
particular, is driven largely by legislation and external guidance and reflects the
2022/23 budget.

7.0

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1

Although concerned with good financial management, the report in itself has no
direct financial implications.

Human Resources
7.2

This report has no direct impact on the staffing of the Council.

Page 420

Legal
7.3

This report provides a framework for treasury management in accordance with
legislation. There are no other legal implications.

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment
7.4

Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment? No

7.5

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: This
has not been carried out as this policy does not directly impact individuals

Equality and Diversity
7.7

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No

7.8

If you have not completed an Impact Analysis, please explain your reasons: This has
not been carried out as this policy does not directly impact individuals

Risk

Consequence

Controls required

Reporting is not compliant with
the statutory guidance.

Members do not have the
opportunity to scrutinise
the Treasury function.

Full year TM report to be
presented to Overview
and Scrutiny Committee,
Cabinet and Council.

Investment and borrowing
activity is outside of the
approved TM framework.

The Council is exposed to
an unauthorised level of
Treasury related risk.

Robust governance
arrangements to control
day to day operations,
based on the approved
strategy, with regular
reporting of compliance.

Long-term borrowing is taken at
rates that are not advantageous.

Council incurs
unnecessary interest
costs.

Treasury advice is taken
on optimum timing of
borrowing

Repayment of long term
borrowing at rates that are not
advantageous

Council incurs
unnecessary premium
costs

Treasury advice is taken
on optimum timing of loan
repayment

Investment of principal sums
with insecure counterparties.

Loss of principal due to
default by borrower.

Stringent and cautious
lending criteria are built
into the Council’s
Investment Strategy.

Investment returns are volatile
and may fall short of
expectations.

Underperformance and
underachievement of
budgeted income levels.

Monitoring performance of
in-house investments

Borrowing is not affordable.

Financial pressure on the
General Fund.

Prudent borrowing in
accordance with the
Strategy and indicators.
Forecast borrowing costs
are factored into the
2022/23 Budget and
Medium Term Financial
Plan.

Contact Officers
Claire Read, Finance Specialist; Tel 01539 793152; Claire.Read@southlakeland.gov.uk

Page 421

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document

Where it is available

2022/23 Revenue and Capital
budget

On the same agenda

Tracking Information
Signed off by
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
CMT

Date sent
13/01/2022
13/01/2022
13/01/2022

Circulated to
Lead Specialist
Human Resources Lead Specialist
Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
13/01/2022
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
13/01/2022
N/A
04/02/2022
09/02/2022
22/02/2022

Page 422

Date Signed off
25/01/2022
25/01/2022
19/01/2022

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/23Appendix 1
2025/26

Contents
1. Introduction ........................................................................................................... 2
2. The principles underpinning the Treasury Strategy .............................................. 2
3. Prudential and Treasury Indicators 2022/23 – 2025/26 ........................................ 4
4. Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement ....................................... 12
5

Treasury Management Policy Statement ............................................................ 12

6

Economic Background and prospects for Interest Rates .................................... 13

7

Current Portfolio position .................................................................................... 14

8

Borrowing Strategy ............................................................................................. 15

9

Investment Strategy ............................................................................................ 18

10 Knowledge and Skills ......................................................................................... 22
11 Review and monitoring of the Treasury Management Strategy .......................... 23

1

Page 423

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/232025/26
1.

Introduction

1.1.

The council is required to set a balanced annual revenue budget. The timing and
nature of income and expenditure within the budget needs to be understood and
managed so that cash is available when it is required (Liquidity). This is a key
function of the Treasury Management operation.

1.2.

The second key function is the funding of the Council’s capital plans. These capital
plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council. This may involve
arranging new or replacement loans or the planned use of cash balances.

1.3.

This Treasury Management Strategy for 2022/23 – 2025/26 sets out the Council’s
approach to ensuring cash flows are adequately planned, with surplus money
being invested in low risk counterparties (Security), providing access to funds
when required (Liquidity) before considering optimising investment return (Yield).

Links to other plans and strategies
1.4.

2.

This Treasury Management Strategy links to, and is consistent with, the following
other plans and strategies:


Council Plan



Commissioning Strategy



Service Plans & Strategies



Medium Term Financial Plan



Capital Strategy

The principles underpinning the Treasury Strategy

Background
2.1.

The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy has been set in line with:
2.1.1. The Local Government Act 2003 (the Act)
2.1.2. The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England)
Regulations 2003
2.1.3. The Department of Leveling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC)
Guidance on Local Government Investments (2018)
2.1.4. DLUHC Capital Finance: guidance on minimum revenue provision (2018)
2

Page 424

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/232025/26
2.1.5. Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Prudential
Code (2017) and Treasury Management Code of Practice (2017)
consideration has also been given to the updated versions of the codes
issued in December 2021 and where practical this report includes changes
made in the new version. Please note that full implementation is not
expected until 2023/24.
2.2.

The strategy also has regard to:
2.2.1. The Markets in Financial Instruments Directive II (MIFID II),
2.2.2. International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 9 Financial Instruments
2.2.3. UK Money Markets Code 2017, as updated in 2021

Key Requirements
2.3.

The above requires the Council to set out its Treasury Management Strategy for
borrowing and to prepare an annual investment strategy setting out the council’s
policies on managing its investments and for giving priority to the security and
liquidity of those investments.

2.4.

This strategy fulfills the following key requirements, setting the:


Prudential Indicators; setting out the expected capital activities and
managing its capital finances.



Council’s Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy; which sets out how
the Council will pay for capital assets through revenue each year.



Treasury Management Strategy Statement; which sets out how the
Council’s treasury service will support the capital decisions taken, the day to
day treasury management and the limitations on activity through treasury
prudential indicators;



Investment Strategy; which sets out the Council’s criteria for choosing
investment counterparties and limiting exposure to the risk of loss.

This report reflects the budget proposals considered by Cabinet on 7th December
2021 for consultation.
2.5.

The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main reports
each year, which incorporate a variety of polices, estimates and actuals. These
reports are required to be adequately scrutinised by committee before being
recommended to Council. These are as follows:

 Treasury Management and Investment Strategy - setting out the
expectations for a minimum of three years, linked into the Council’s wider
budget setting process.
3

Page 425

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/232025/26
 A Mid-Year Treasury Management Report – This will update Members with
the progress of the capital position, amending prudential indicators as
necessary, and whether the treasury strategy is meeting the strategy or
whether any policies require revision. This report is incorporated into the
Council’s quarterly corporate monitoring reports.


An Annual Treasury Report – This provides details of a selection of actual
prudential and treasury indicators and actual treasury operations compared to
the estimates within the strategy.

3.

Prudential and Treasury Indicators 2022/23 – 2025/26

3.1.

The Council’s Capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury
management activity. The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in
prudential indicators, which are designed to assist Member’s overview and confirm
capital expenditure plans

Capital Expenditure
3.2.

This indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure plans based on
the current capital programme projections and potential capital expenditure. This
is summarised below along with the sources of finance.

Table 1: Capital expenditure and financing

Capital expenditure

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

14,578.65

15,836.80

9,055.00

7,183.00

2,343.00

Capital receipts

2,815.60

2,751.20

1,045.00

1,000.00

1,000.00

Grants

6,818.65

7,751.20

1,734.00

603.00

678.00

Revenue and Reserves

1,078.80

3,504.00

530.00

145.00

190.00

Increased borrowing need

3,865.60

1,830.40

5,746.00

5,435.00

475.00

Financed by:

The Council’s borrowing need
3.3.

The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) represents the Council’s underlying
need to borrow for a capital purpose. This is different to any actual borrowing. If
the Council generates the same amount of resources in a year to meet its capital
expenditure requirements, then there is no change to the CFR. However, if the
Council spends more than the resources it generates in year, the
4

Page 426

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/232025/26
CFR will increase as in effect the Council has created a borrowing requirement to
bridge the gap in the resources it needs and the resources it has.
3.4.

Although the CFR does not necessarily reflect actual borrowing taken from an
external source, it can reflect the use of internal cash resources, i.e. internal
borrowing.

3.5.

Where the Council has a positive CFR, i.e. an underlying need to borrow, it must
make provision to repay that ‘debt’. This is known as Minimum Revenue Provision
(MRP). The Council’s current policy is set out in the MRP Strategy in part 4 of this
report (page 10).

3.6.

The current forecast for the CFR and MRP based on the current capital
programme is shown in the table below:
Table 2: CFR projection

Capital Financing
Requirement

CFR opening

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

21,226.77

24,117.57

24,676.67

29,063.17

32,965.47

Add unfinanced capital

3,865.60

1,830.40

5,746.00

5,435.00

475.00

Less MRP

(974.80)

(1,271.30)

(1,359.50)

(1,532.70)

(1,783.10)

24,117.57

24,676.67

29,063.17

32,965.47

31,657.37

CFR closing

Prudence and Sustainability
3.7.

Prudence and sustainability year on year are addressed through the prudential
indicators for external debt, which must be set and revised taking into account
their affordability.

3.8.

External borrowing must not (except in the short term to support operational cash
flow) exceed the underlying level of indebtedness (the CFR) and is intended to
control any ‘borrowing to on-lend’ or borrowing to support the revenue account.

3.9.

Table 3 confirms that the Council expects to be compliant with this indicator and
should remain under-borrowed across the period. The increase in borrowing
reflects the prudent assumption that the unfinanced element of the capital
programme would be funded through external debt. The revenue budget for
interest cost has been prepared on this basis to ensure that these investment
plans are affordable. However, the actual cash need may be met from reduced
investment balances.

5

Page 427

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/232025/26

Table 3: Gross debt and the CFR
2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

CFR at 31 March

24,117.57

24,676.67

29,063.17

32,965.47

31,657.37

Borrowing at 31 March

20,391.60

24,676.67

29,063.17

32,965.47

31,657.37

Under/over borrowing (-/+)

(3,725.97)

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

(21,335.07)

(22,357.64)

(28,150.04)

(35,363.94)

(44,303.24)

Investments at 31 March

Affordability
3.10. The fundamental objective in determining the affordability of the authority’s capital
plans is to ensure that the total capital investment remains within sustainable
limits.
3.11. The ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream identifies the trend in the cost of
capital (borrowing and other long term obligation costs net of investment income)
against the net revenue stream. The estimates are presented in the table below:
Table 4: Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream
2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

10.67%

13.85%

17.77%

19.88%

23.03%

3.12. This shows that the amount of revenue budget spent financing debt is rising over
the MTFP period. The main reasons for this trend are:
a. MRP is rising to the level required to sustain the vehicle and plant programme.
Older vehicles were grant funded whereas replacement vehicles are financed
through borrowing.
b. The net revenue stream (Council Tax, retained rates and non-service grant) is
forecast to reduce over the period although reductions in grant are partially offset
by increases to income from local taxation. And;
c. Increase in borrowing costs due to new property schemes within the capital
programme which are likely to require funding from borrowing.
3.13. The ratio of net income form commercial and service investments to net revenue
stream shows the financial exposure of the authority to the loss of income from
commercial and service investments. The estimates are presented in the table
below:
6

Page 428

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/232025/26
Table 5: Ratio of net commercial and service investments to net revenue
stream
2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

Net Commercial Investment Income
Net Service Investment Income
Net Commercial & Service
Investment Income
Net Revenue
Ratio of Commercial & Service
investments to Net Revenue Stream

(328.49)
(131.90)

(335.06)
(134.54)

(341.76)
(137.23)

(348.60)
(139.98)

(355.57)
(142.78)

(460.39)

(469.60)

(478.99)

(488.57)

(498.34)

(14,096.60)

(14,228.96)

(12,269.10)

(12,551.30)

(12,495.50)

3.27%

3.30%

3.90%

3.89%

3.99%

3.14. Commercial investments are investments in property primarily for capital
appreciation or rental return. These are shown on the council’s balance sheet as
investment properties of which the Council had 25 worth £3.8m recognised as at
31/03/2021.
Following audit of the 2020/21 accounts we have reviewed the assets classified as
investment properties and from 2021/22 only 10 properties are classed as
investment properties with a value of £2.45m, this has reduced as the remaining
properties are now included as service investments below
3.15. Service investments are investments in land or property for service purposes,
where any rental or capital appreciation is not the primary purpose of the
investment. This includes investments in properties like the Mintworks in Kendal,
for economic development reasons. The Mintworks was purchased and developed
to provide small office units for business at a time when it was not economically
viable for the market to provide them. Another example is industrial units at Tollbar
and Foxfield, which historically were developed with economic regenerations
grants.

7

Page 429

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/232025/26
Estimates of the incremental impact of capital investment
decisions on council tax
3.16. This indicator identifies the revenue costs associated with proposed changes to the
capital programme compared to the Council’s existing approved commitments and
current plans. This reflects interest income foregone on the use of reserves and
additional costs where schemes are funded by external borrowing.
Table 6: Incremental impact of capital investment

Council tax - band D

2021/22
Estimate
£4.80

2022/23
Estimate
-£0.73

2023/24
Estimate
£0.52

2024/25
Estimate
£1.02

2025/26
Estimate
£2.34

3.17. Changes in the profiling of the Capital programme in light of Local Government
Reorganisation (LGR) along with changes in PWLB borrowing rates has led to a
small fall in the estimated impact of capital investment on the council tax payer in
2022/23, with it rising again in future years as delayed programmes come on line.
Also reflected is the anticipated use of reserves and the impact of rising MRP as
discussed in 3.12 above.

Treasury Indicators for External Debt
3.18. Within the Prudential Code are a number of key treasury management indicators
which are focused on gross debt and involve setting limits on external debt.
3.19. The Operational Boundary; is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally
expected to exceed. This is set at a level consistent with the borrowing need
(CFR).
3.20. The Authorised Limit; reflects the level of external debt which, while not desired,
could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term. This
is a limit on the maximum level of debt, beyond which external debt is prohibited
and the limit can only be set or revised by Full Council.
3.21. The Authorised Limit is set as the borrowing need (CFR) plus any anticipated
further borrowing that may be required to manage operational cash balances. This
may be required, for example, at year end when operational cash balances are at
their lowest due to the timing of local taxation collection.

8

Page 430

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/232025/26
Table 7: Authorised limit and operational boundary
2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Lease Liabilities*

555.00

555.00

555.00

555.00

555.00

CFR at 31 March

24,117.57

24,676.67

29,063.17

32,965.47

31,657.37

Under borrowing 31 March

(3,725.97)

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

7,016.00

7,016.00

7,016.00

7,016.00

7,016.00

Operational boundary

24,700.00

25,300.00

29,700.00

33,600.00

32,300.00

Authorised limit

31,716.00

32,316.00

36,716.00

40,616.00

39,316.00

Add operational cash limit

*Due to the change in accounting for leases as a result of the introduction of accounting
standard IFRS 16 Leases, this is a new change for the Council which applied from
01/04/2022. The total in the table is currently only an estimate and officers are working on
gathering the information to enable us to determine the Council’s total finance lease
liability and will update the total as existence of finance leases are confirmed. Therefore
the above limits may change before we get to the final version to be approved by Council.

3.22. The 2022 Treasury Management Code also introduces the concept of a liability
benchmark when it was issued in December 2021. Given the short notice and the
work required to calculate the lease liability for the Statutory Operational Boundary
and Authorised Limit calculations this will be developed during 2022/23 for
inclusion in the 2023/24 strategy.

Treasury Management Limits on Activity
3.23. In addition to the limits on external debt there are three more debt related treasury
activity indicators. The purpose of these is to restrain the activity of the treasury
function within certain limits, thereby managing risk and reducing the impact of any
adverse movement in interest rates. The indicators are:


Upper limits on variable interest rate exposure. This identifies a maximum limit
for variable interest rates based upon the debt position net of investments



Upper limits on fixed interest rate exposure. This is similar to the previous
indicator and covers a maximum limit on fixed interest rates



Maturity structure of borrowing. These gross limits are set to reduce the
Council’s exposure to large fixed rate sums falling due for refinancing, and are
required for upper and lower limits.

9

Page 431

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/232025/26
Table 8: Interest rate exposure limits
2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

£m Principal

Upper

Upper

Upper

Upper

Upper

Limits on fixed interest rates
based on net debt

Authorised
limit

Authorised
limit

Authorised
limit

Authorised
limit

Authorised
limit

£30m

£30m

£30m

£30m

£30m

£0m

£0m

£0m

£0m

£0m

Lower

Upper

Under 12 months

0%

25%

12 months to 2 years

0%

25%

2 to 5 years

0%

25%

5 to 10 years

0%

100%

10 to 20 years

0%

100%

20 to 30 years

0%

100%

30 to 40 years

0%

100%

40 years and above

0%

100%

Interest Rate Exposures

Limits on variable interest
rates
-

Investments

-

Borrowing

Maturity Structure of fixed interest rate borrowing 2022/23

Other indicators
3.24. The Council has adopted the CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services:
Code of Practice and Cross Sectorial Guidance Notes.
3.25. As part of this it also adopts the following four clauses
1. The Council will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective
treasury management:


A treasury management policy statement, stating the polices,
objectives and approach to risk management of its treasury
management activity (this report)



Suitable treasury management practices (TMPs), setting the manner
in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and
objectives, and prescribing how it will manage and control these
activities.

10

Page 432

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/232025/26
2. Full Council will receive reports on the treasury management policies,
practices and activities, including as a minimum, an annual strategy and
plan in advance of the year, a mid-year review and an annual report after its
close, in the form prescribed in the TMPs.
3. The Council delegates responsibility for the implementations and regular
monitoring of its treasury management policies and practices to
Cabinet/Full Council and for the executing and administration of treasury
management decisions to the Lead Finance Specialist and Section 151
Officer, who will act in accordance with the Councils policy statement and if
they are a CIPFA member with CIPFA’s Standard of Professional Practice
on Treasury Management.
4. The Council nominates Overview and Scrutiny Committee to be responsible
for ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and
polices.
3.26 The council should also have investment Management Practices (IMPs) for
investments not for treasury management purposes e.g. commercial/service
investments. Since these are new in the 2021 code which was only issued in
December 2021, they will be developed during the year for approval as part of the
quarterly corporate finance updates.
3.27 These IMPs will include elements previously included in part 10. Non Treasury
Management Investments in previous years treasury strategies. Such as:
A robust procedure to ensure that these investments and service loans fit in with
the council’s plans, and are affordable and sustainable. The principles of the
procedure are:


Ensuring the investment meets the councils risk profile



Ensuring the portfolio of assets is prudently balanced to minimise risk of
income fluctuations and loss of capital value.



Ensuring the rate of return exceeds that which could be achieved through
traditional sources of investments



Establishing a comprehensive due diligence process to minimise risks
including use of specialist external advice where appropriate



Establishing appropriate governance arrangements to ensure decisions are
made in a streamlined and efficient way.



Using an expected loss model to assess the impact on the balance budget
requirement if the investment was at risk



The financial exposure of the Council is proportionate to its size.



All investments are agreed by the Council’s Cabinet
11

Page 433

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/232025/26
4.

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement

4.1

The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General Fund
capital spend each year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the minimum
revenue provision - MRP).

4.2

DLUHC Regulations have been issued which require the full Council to approve
an MRP Statement in advance of each year. A variety of options are provided to
councils, so long as there is a prudent provision. The Council is recommended to
approve the following MRP Statement.

4.3

4.4

For capital expenditure incurred before 1 April 2008 or which in the future will be
Supported Capital Expenditure, the MRP policy will be:
 Previous practice - MRP will follow the practice outlined in former CLG
regulations (option 1); this option provides for an approximate 4% reduction in
the borrowing need (CFR) each year on eligible debt.
From 1 April 2008 for all unsupported borrowing (including Private Finance
Initiative and finance leases) the MRP policy will be


Asset Life Method – MRP will be based on the estimated life of the assets, in
accordance with the proposed regulations (this option must be applied for any
expenditure capitalised under a Capitalisation Direction). This option provides
for a reduction in the borrowing need over approximately the asset’s life.
This method allows for annual payment to be calculated as equal instalments or
set as an annuity (increasing payments) over the life of the asset. The exact
repayment calculation will be determined on a case by case basis.



For Finance leases, the MRP will be calculated to match the capital repayment
identified within the annual lease payments.

For assets under constructions MRP will not be applied until the earlier of entering
external borrowing or when the asset comes into use. However if there is expected
to be a significant delay between expenditure and the asset coming into use then
we will consider, on a case by case basis, applying MRP sooner.

5 Treasury Management Policy Statement
5.1

This organisation defines its treasury management activities as:

5.2

“The management of the authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows,
including its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective
control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum
performance consistent with those risks”.
12

Page 434

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/232025/26
5.3

This organisation regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of
risk to be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management
activities will be measured. Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury
management activities will focus on their risk implications for the organisation and
any financial instruments entered into to manage these risks.

5.4

This organisation acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide
support towards the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is
therefore committed to the principles of achieving value for money in treasury
management, and to employing suitable comprehensive performance
measurement techniques, within the context of effective risk management.

6

Economic Background and prospects for Interest
Rates

6.1

The Council has appointed Link Asset Services as its treasury advisor and part of
their service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates.

6.2

It is important to note that interest rate projections are estimates at a point in time
and are subject to constant revision. However, in terms of managing interest rate
risk, it is important to be aware of expert opinion around the magnitude, timings
and direction of travel on rates. Link Asset Services’ view on rates is presented in
the table below:

The back ground to this forecast is as follows.
6.3

It had been anticipated that at its November meeting the Monetary Policy
Committee (MPC) would increase the bank rate but the MPC voted to maintain the
rate at 0.1% and decided it wanted further assurance that the impact of the end of
furlough on 30th September would not increase unemployment sharply and
therefore waited until the statistics for unemployment was ready

6.4

On 10th December the month on month rise in GDP came out at only 0.1% for
October and there is concern that any further Covid-19 restrictions could cause
the economy to contract in December.

6.5

On 14th December the labour market statistics were released and the monthly
unemployment rate rose to 4.2% in October from 3.9% in September. However
13

Page 435

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/232025/26
weekly data suggested this didn’t last long as unemployment was falling again by
the end of October.
6.6

On 15th December the November CPI inflation came in at 5.1% up from 4.2% in
October confirming again that inflation pressures are building sharply across the
board in producer and consumer prices and in wage rates.

6.7

It is against this adverse set of factors that the MPC voted 8-1 at its December
meeting to increase the Bank Rate by 0.15% from 0.10% to 0.25%. The
comments made at the same time as the increase indicated that the MPC is
concerned that inflation is building and action to counter this by the MPC is
required. This has led to markets predicting an increase to 1% by the end of 2022,
with some predicting the next rate rise could be as early as February 2022.

7

Current Portfolio position

7.1

The Council currently has borrowings of £12.8 million from the Public Works
Loans Board at an average rate of 4.3% with the first maturity not due until
2046/47.

7.2

As at 31/12/2021, the council had £48.3 million invested, made up of £34.3 million
of operational cash balances and £14 million of core cash balances. Operational
balances relate to short term cash management, whereas the core cash balances
reflect longer term strategic resources (such as the General Fund balance and
useable capital receipts).

14

Page 436

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/232025/26
8

Borrowing Strategy

8.1

Chart 1 below brings to together and shows the Council’s external debt position,
Capital Financing Requirement and debt limits together.
Chart 1 Borrowing v Debt limits

Debt limits
45000
40000
35000

£000

30000
External Debt

25000

CFR at 31 March

20000

Operational boundary

15000

Authorised limit
10000
5000
0
2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Year

8.2

The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position, where borrowing
is lower than the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). As a result we are using
internal cash balances to fund the capital program.

8.3

The policy of avoiding new borrowing and minimising cash balances has been a
prudent strategy while investment returns are low, helping to keep borrowing costs
down and minimising counterparty risk. This policy will be kept under review to
manage the risk of changes to the availability of internal cash and future borrowing
costs.

8.4

The projections include an assumption that the “under borrowing” will be reversed
in 2021/22 and 2022/23. This is to ensure that the medium term projections are
prudent, it does not mean that the Council will definitely borrow (up to the CFR) in
that year.

8.5

As required by the Prudential Code, the MTFP reflects the cost of potential further
borrowing and sufficient budget is available to ensure that, if requried, an
increased borrowing requirement is affordable.

15

Page 437

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/232025/26
Policy on Borrowing
8.6

The Lead Finance Specialist will continue to monitor the Councils borrowing
position through out the year and will respond to changing circumstances, and any
decisions taken will be reported to members at the next available opportunity.

8.7

When considering whether to borrow or not for capital schemes the following
factors will be considered:
8.7.1 Is it new or significant refurbishment of property or for the vehicle and plant
programme? If yes then borrow.
8.7.2 Maximum duration of borrowing undertaken will not exceed useful life of
asset.
8.7.3 Consideration will be given to staggering maturities where amount
borrowed exceeds £1 million.
8.7.4 Staggered maturities will also be considered when/if reversing the under
borrowed position.
8.7.5 Borrowing will be in the form annuity or equal installment of principal (EIP)
loans.

8.8

In order to access PWLB borrowing Councils need to complete an annual return
splitting the capital programme for the current year and next three years between
the following six categories
8.8.1 Service Spending
8.8.2 Housing
8.8.3 Economic Regeneration
8.8.4 Preventative Action
8.8.5 Treasury Management
8.8.6 Investment assets bought primarily for yield.
If the Council has any capital scheme which falls into the last category investment
assets bought primarily for yield, then they will be unable to access PWLB funding.
What category a scheme falls into is determined by the Council’s Section 151
Officer.

8.9

There are strict criteria which schemes have to meet to fall into each category,
with the last category being the catch all category. The capital programme on
which this strategy is based has been assessed against the PWLB categories and
16

Page 438

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/232025/26
the Council has no capital investments which fall within the last category and is
able to borrow for the PWLB in 2022/23 if required.
8.10 The Council will still be able to access other forms of borrowing, listed below, but
this might be at rates in excess of what it could borrow at from the PWLB.


Local authorities (primarily shorter dated maturities)



Financial institutions (primarily insurance companies and pension
funds but also some banks)



Municipal Bonds Agency

Policy on Borrowing in Advance of Need
8.11 The Council will not borrow in advance of its needs in order to on lend. Any
decision to borrow will be within the approved CFR estimates, and will be
considered carefully to ensure that value for money can be demonstrated, and that
gross long term borrowing will not exceed the CFR.
8.12 Borrowing in advance will be made within the constraints that:


It will be limited to no more than 50% of the expected increase in borrowing
need (CFR) over the five year planning period and then only where there is
sufficient certainty that expenditure will be incurred to prevent borrowing
exceeding the CFR at any year end within the planning period; and



The Council would not look to borrow more than 6 months in advance of need.

8.13 Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior
appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reports.

17

Page 439

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/232025/26
9

Investment Strategy

9.1

As a holder of public funds, the Council recognises its responsibility to the prudent
management of public funds, and follows relevant Government and CIPFA
guidance.

9.2

The Council’s overiding policy objective is to prudently manage council funds;
ensuring risks are minimised whilst maximising returns. The Councils investment
priorities, in order, are:

9.3



Security of the invested capital



Liquidity of the invested capital



Yield (return on investment), which is in line with security and liquidity

In order to minimise the risk to investments, the Council applies minimum
acceptable credit criteria in order to generate a list of highly creditworthy
counterparties which also enables diversification and thus avoidance of
concentration risk.

Investment Counterparty Selection Criteria
9.4

The Finance Lead Specialist and Section 151 Officer, will maintain a counterparty
list in compliance with the following criteria and will revise the criteria and submit
them to Council for approval as necessary. These criteria provide an overall pool
of counterparties considered high quality which the Council may use.

9.5

This Council will apply the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset
Services. This service employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit
ratings from the three main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard
and Poor’s. The credit ratings of counterparties are supplemented with the
following overlays:

9.6



credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies;



Credit Default Swaps (CDS) spreads to give early warning of likely changes in
credit ratings;



Sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy
countries.

This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches and credit
outlooks in a weighted scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of
CDS spreads for which the end product is a series of bands which indicate the
relative creditworthiness of counterparties and provide a suggested duration for
investments.
18

Page 440

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/232025/26
9.7

The Council will apply a duration overlay to banks selected under the credit
worthiness service, such that the investment duration will be the lessor of 1 year
for UK banks, or 190 days for non Uk banks, and Links’s suggested duration with
the exception of part nationlised banks.

9.8

With the exception of the UK, the minimum soverign rating is AAA by 2 out 3 of the
main rating agencies. The minimum counterparty credit rating criteria is a Short
Term rating (Fitch or equivalents) of F1 and a Long Term rating of A-.

9.9

In addition the the council will also invest in;


Building Societies



Multilateral Development Banks and Supranational Organisations



Money Market Funds



Other collective investment schemes

provided they meet the criteria laid out in Table 5 Counterparty limits.
9.10 Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of Link’s external service. In additon the
Council will also use market information, economic data and information on any
external support for banks to help support its decision making process.
9.11 The time and monetary limits for institutions on the Council’s counterparty list are
as follows:
9.12 Table 8: Counterparty limits
Criteria

UK Banks

Money

Time

Limit

Limit

£3m

1 year

UK Banks

Yellow, Purple, Blue
or Orange
Red

£3m

6 Months

UK Banks

Green

£3m

100 Days

Non UK Banks

£3m

190 Days

Non UK Banks

Yellow, Purple, Blue
or Orange
Red

£3m

6 Months

Non UK Banks

Green

£3m

100 Days

Banks

No colour

£0m

n/a

Building Societies

Top 5 by Asset size
and assets> £2 billion
Top 6-10 by Asset
size and assets> £2
billion

£3m

6 months

£2m

6 months

Building Societies

19

Page 441

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/232025/26
Criteria

Money

Time

Limit

Limit

Debt Management Account Deposit
Facility - DMADF

n/a

Unlimited

6 months

UK Gilts, Treasury Bills

n/a

Unlimited

5 years

Local Authorities

n/a

£5m

2 years

Money Market Funds
- LVNAV
- CNAV Government Funds

AAA

£10m

Liquid

Multilateral Development Banks and
Supranational Organisations

AAA

£3m

2 years

Other Collective Investment Schemes
e.g. Enhanced Money Market Funds &
Bond Funds

AAA S1/V1

£2m

1 year

9.13 The Council is alerted to changes to ratings of all three agencies through its use of
the Link’s credit worthiness service. In addition a full review will be carried out at
least monthly.
9.14 In the event of a downgrade resulting in a counterparty or investment scheme no
longer meeting the Council's minimum criteria, its further use for new investments
will be withdrawn immediately.
9.15 Any changes in counterparty ratings or other criteria that put the counterparty
below the minimum criteria, whilst holding a deposit for the Council, will be brought
to the attention of the Finance Lead Specialist and Section 151 Officer and the
Portfolio Holder with responsibility for Finance. Further action will be decided on a
case-by-case basis.
9.16 Specified investments are investments less than 1 year in duration meeting the
criteria for high quality above.
9.17 Non specified investments are all investments with a duration of 1 year or greater
and/or not meeting the definition of high credit quality. A maximum of 75% of
investments can be non-specified.
9.18 A copy of the Council’s counterparty list under the above criteria is attached as
Appendix 2

Other Considerations
9.19 In addition to the credit criteria, due care will be taken to consider the country,
group and sector exposure of the Council’s investments.
20

Page 442

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/232025/26
9.20 In part the country selection will be chosen by the credit rating of the sovereign
state in Banks 1 above. In addition no more than £3 million will be placed with
counterparties from any one non-UK country at any one time up to a maximum of
£9 million being held in non UK countries at any one time (excluding Money
Market Funds, Multilateral Development Banks and Supranational Institutions and
Collective Investment Schemes).
9.21 Limits in place above will apply to a group of companies
9.22 Sector limits will be monitored regularly for appropriateness, to help mitigate
against concentration risk. This is the risk of having a significant proportion of your
investments in one sector of the market and that sector failing
9.23 To ensure sufficient liquidity, detailed cash flow forecasts will be kept by the
financial services team to give as accurate a picture as possible of the movement
and timing of income & expenditure and the resulting daily cash balances.
9.24 When placing investments, officers will refer to the cash flow forecast to determine
the best duration for the investment.
9.25 Funds invested for greater than 365 days are set with regard to the Council’s
security and liquidity requirements. They are based on the lowest expected
availability of funds after each year-end (ie the core balances) within the five year
plan. To allow longer term investment of the core balances, subject to satisfying
security and liquidity, the Council is asked to approve the treasury indicator and
limit:Table 9 Maximum principal sums invested for more than 365days
£m

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Principal sums invested >
365 days

£12m

£12m

£12m

£12m

£12m

9.26 When placing investments the Council will seek to optimise returns commensurate
with the management of the associated risks, limiting its investment activities to
the approved financial instruments. The financial instruments authorised for use by
officers are;
a. Fixed Deposits; deposits at a fixed interest rate for a fixed duration.
b. Certificate of Deposits; similar to fixed deposits but tradeable in a
secondary market
c. Government Treasury Bills & Gilts; UK Government debt instruments
d. Call accounts; instant access accounts with banks at a variable interest
rate,
21

Page 443

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/232025/26
e. Notice accounts; Savings accounts where by we have to give the
bank/building society notice to withdraw our money.
f. Money Market Funds; collective investment accounts with a Low Volatility
Net Asset Value) LVNAV or constant net asset value, generally these allow
investors instant access and have a variable interest rate.
g. Other Collective Investment Schemes; similar to money market funds these
are funds with a variable net asset value, which can invest in a wider range
of instruments. These are generally instruments whereby the Council would
invest for longer periods and receive a greater return over time, though the
value of the fund can modestly fluctuate.
9.27 Under the Markets in Financial Derivatives 2 (MIFID II) directive the Council is
classified as a retail investor with the option to opt-up to professional status,
provide certain conditions are met. The Council meets these conditions and has
decided to Opt-up to Professional Status to maintain the level of access to the
money markets it has always had.

10 Knowledge and Skills
10.1 The Council utilises the knowledge and skills of its internal officers when
considering treasury investment and borrowing decisions and where necessary it
also relies on the expert knowledge of specialist external advisors.

Staff
10.2 Finance staff are professionally qualified to advise the Council on all areas of
finance. Included within the team is an officer with specialist knowledge of
Treasury Management. All finance staff undertake Continuous Professional
Development and they maintain knowledge and skills through regular technical
updates from appropriate bodies and attending specialist courses.
10.3 Staff follow Treasury management Practices (TMP) approved by the Finance Lead
Specialist and Section 151 Officer.

Members
10.4 Training is given to Overview and Scrutiny Committee on treasury management,
this training is offered annually and is also open to all members to assist in their
understanding of the treasury management strategy

External Advice
10.5 The Council has appointed Link Asset Services as it treasury advisors and part of
their service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates.

22

Page 444

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/232025/26
10.6 The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions
remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not
placed upon our external service providers
10.7 It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury
management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources.
The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by
which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and
subjected to regular review

11 Review and monitoring of the Treasury Management
Strategy
11.1 This Treasury Management Strategy is based on the proposed Budget and Capital
Programme for 2022/23 to 2025/26 which will be approved by Council on the 22nd
February 2022. The strategy will be monitored and reviewed throughout the
financial year and may be updated if required.

23

Page 445

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 446

Appendix 2

South Lakeland Distrcit Council
Sample Counterparty List
Any values highlighted in yellow have undergone a change in the
t 14 d
Counterparty

Monetary Limit

Duration

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Ltd.

3 Million

190 Days

Commonwealth Bank of Australia

3 Million

190 Days

Australia
Banks

Macquarie Bank Ltd.

3 Million

6 Months

National Australia Bank Ltd.

3 Million

190 Days

Westpac Banking Corp.

3 Million

190 Days

Bank of Montreal

3 Million

190 Days

Bank of Nova Scotia

3 Million

190 Days

Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce

3 Million

190 Days

National Bank of Canada

3 Million

6 Months

Royal Bank of Canada

3 Million

190 Days

Toronto-Dominion Bank

3 Million

190 Days

Danske A/S

3 Million

6 Months

Bayerische Landesbank

3 Million

6 Months

DZ BANK AG Deutsche ZentralGenossenschaftsbank

3 Million

190 Days

Landesbank Baden-Wuerttemberg

3 Million

6 Months

Landesbank Berlin AG

3 Million

190 Days

Landesbank Hessen-Thueringen Girozentrale

3 Million

6 Months

Landwirtschaftliche Rentenbank

3 Million

190 Days

Norddeutsche Landesbank Girozentrale

3 Million

100 Days

NRW.BANK

3 Million

190 Days

ABN AMRO Bank N.V.

3 Million

6 Months

Bank Nederlandse Gemeenten N.V.

3 Million

190 Days

Cooperatieve Rabobank U.A.

3 Million

190 Days

ING Bank N.V.

3 Million

190 Days

Nederlandse Waterschapsbank N.V.

3 Million

190 Days

DBS Bank Ltd.

3 Million

190 Days

Oversea-Chinese Banking Corp. Ltd.

3 Million

190 Days

United Overseas Bank Ltd.

3 Million

190 Days

Canada
Banks

Denmark
Banks

Germany
Banks

Netherlands
Banks

Singapore
Banks

Page 447

Notes

Counterparty

Monetary Limit

Duration

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB

3 Million

190 Days

Svenska Handelsbanken AB

3 Million

190 Days

Swedbank AB

3 Million

190 Days

Credit Suisse AG

3 Million

6 Months

3 Million

190 Days

Notes

Sweden
Banks

Switzerland
Banks

UBS AG

United Kingdom
AAA rated and
Collateralised LA Deposit*
Government backed
Debt Management Office
securities
Multilateral Development Banks
Supranationals
UK Gilts
Banks

Building Society

Nationalised and
Part Nationalised
Banks

5 Years

(M)

5 Years

(M)

5 Years

(M)

5 Years

(M)

5 Years

(M)

Al Rayan Bank Plc

3 Million

6 Months

Bank of Scotland PLC (RFB)

3 Million

6 Months

Barclays Bank PLC (NRFB)

3 Million

6 Months

Barclays Bank UK PLC (RFB)

3 Million

6 Months

Close Brothers Ltd

3 Million

6 Months

Clydesdale Bank PLC

3 Million

100 Days

Goldman Sachs International Bank

3 Million

6 Months

Handelsbanken Plc

3 Million

1 Years

HSBC Bank PLC (NRFB)

3 Million

1 Years

HSBC UK Bank Plc (RFB)

3 Million

1 Years

Lloyds Bank Corporate Markets Plc (NRFB)

3 Million

6 Months

Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB)

3 Million

6 Months

National Bank Of Kuwait (International) PLC

3 Million

1 Years

NatWest Markets Plc (NRFB)

3 Million

6 Months

Santander Financial Services plc (NRFB)

3 Million

6 Months

Santander UK PLC

3 Million

6 Months

SMBC Bank International Plc

3 Million

6 Months

Standard Chartered Bank

3 Million

6 Months

Coventry Building Society

3 Million

6 Months

Cumberland Building Society

2 Million

6 Months

Leeds Building Society

3 Million

6 Months

Nationwide Building Society

3 Million

6 Months

Newcastle Building Society

2 Million

6 Months

Nottingham Building Society

2 Million

6 Months

Principality Building Society

2 Million

6 Months

Skipton Building Society

3 Million

6 Months

West Bromwich Building Society

2 Million

6 Months

Yorkshire Building Society

3 Million

6 Months

National Westminster Bank PLC (RFB)

3 Million

1 Years

(M)

The Royal Bank of Scotland Plc (RFB)

3 Million

1 Years

(M)

Page 448

Counterparty

Monetary Limit

Duration

Bank of America N.A.

3 Million

190 Days

Bank of New York Mellon, The

3 Million

190 Days

Citibank N.A.

3 Million

190 Days

JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A.

3 Million

190 Days

Wells Fargo Bank, NA

3 Million

190 Days

Notes

United States
Banks

Advisory notes:
DMO - £unlimited / 6 months
UK Gilts / Treasury Bills - £unlimited / 5 years
Local Authorities - £5 Million / 2 years
Money Market Funds - £5 Million
Suprantionals - £3 Million / 2 years
Enhanced Money Market Funds / Bond Funds - AAA, S1/V1 - £2 Million / 1 year
(M) = Manually added counterparty. If a rating changes for this institution it will not alter
its status on the counterparty list, or limits assigned to it.

Page 449

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 450

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3
Contents
1.

Introduction .......................................................................................................... 2

2.

The principles underpinning the Capital Strategy ................................................. 3

3.

Capital Expenditure .............................................................................................. 5

4.

Debt, Borrowing and Treasury Management ..................................................... 12

5.

Other Long-Term Liabilities and Investments ..................................................... 21

6.

Knowledge and Skills ......................................................................................... 22

7.

Review and monitoring of the Capital Strategy .................................................. 23

1

Page 451

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3
1.

Introduction

1.1.

This Capital Strategy sets out the Council’s approach to meeting community and
service needs through its capital investment programme. The Council’s priorities,
objectives and corporate outcomes are set out in its refreshed Council Plan which
is due to be approved on 22 February 2022. This Capital Strategy describes how
the deployment of capital resources will contribute to the achievement of these
objectives.

1.2.

Capital spending is strictly defined and is principally incurred in acquiring,
constructing or improving physical assets such as buildings, land, vehicles, plant
and machinery. It also includes grants and advances to be used for capital
purposes. The Council’s policy on capitalisation is included in the Accounting
Policies of the Statement of Accounts, approved by Audit Committee. The policy
states the de-minimus level set by the authority for capital expenditure is £10,000.
Individual schemes must therefore be £10,000 and above to be included in the
authorities capital programme. The only exception is where the funding for the
project is external and requires the scheme to be capital.

1.3.

The Council owns property, plant and equipment assets, investment properties
and heritage assets with a total net book value of £71m at March 2020. Council
assets include 44 car parks, 192 parks and open spaces, 9 cemeteries, 3 depots,
3 sports centres, 3 public offices and 2 public halls. The Council also owns a large
number of commercial properties and agricultural land used to generate income.

1.4.

The Capital Strategy is written following guidance included in the CIPFA
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 2017 (The Prudential
Code) and has regard to the updated version issues in December 2021. The
Capital Strategy is required to be approved by Full Council and forms part of the
Council’s integrated revenue, capital and balance sheet planning.

Links to other plans and strategies
1.5.

This Capital Strategy links to, and is consistent with, the following other plans and
strategies:


Council Plan



Service Plans & Strategies



Medium Term Financial Plan



Property and Land Management Strategy



Car Park Strategy



Risk Management Strategy
2

Page 452

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3

2.



Procurement and Commissioning Strategy



Treasury Management Strategy

The principles underpinning the Capital Strategy

Overarching objectives
2.1.

2.2.

2.3.

The Council’s Capital Strategy is to deliver a capital programme that:


Contributes to the Council Plan, and the Council’s vision, values,
strategic objectives and priorities



Is closely aligned with the Council’s asset management plans



Supports service-specific and other plans and strategies



Is affordable, financially prudent and sustainable, contributes to better
value for money

The Capital Strategy will be delivered through:

Effective political and corporate leadership


Adequate and effective performance management arrangements



Clearly defined processes for building and monitoring the capital
programme



Clear policies on financing capital expenditure



Effective risk management arrangements



A clear procurement protocol

In prioritising the Capital Programme, particular emphasis will be given to
schemes that:


Achieve the Council’s priorities



Improve performance against national and local targets



Improve efficiency and effectiveness in service delivery, including
through partnership working



Generate or increase income streams



Promote effective asset management, including Disability Discrimination
Act (DDA) and Health & Safety issues

3

Page 453

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3
The Prudential Code
2.4. The Prudential Code was introduced by the Local Government Act 2003 and has
since been updated in 2021. It sets out the concepts of affordability,
sustainability and prudence as they apply to capital expenditure. To demonstrate
that these objectives have been met the Code sets out the prudential indicators
that must be used, and the factors that must be taken into account. These are
designed to support and record local decision-making in a manner that is publicly
accountable. This includes the setting of the prudential indicators by Council in
February and the monitoring of treasury management through the Corporate
Quarterly Financial Monitoring process. The prudential indicators are discussed
in section 4 of this Capital Strategy and the concepts of affordability,
sustainability and prudence as they apply to capital expenditure are discussed in
the following paragraphs.

Affordability
2.5.

The fundamental objective in determining the affordability of the authority’s capital
plans is to ensure that the total capital investment remains within sustainable
limits. This includes considering the impact on Council Tax. The Council is
required to take into account all its current and forecast resources, together with
the capital expenditure plans and revenue income and expenditure forecasts for
the coming year and the following two years: The Council has opted to forecast up
to five years ahead. This is done on a rolling basis, with regard to risk analysis and
risk management strategies. Any significant known variations beyond this time
frame must also be considered.

Prudence and Sustainability
2.6.

Prudence and sustainability year on year are addressed through the prudential
indicators for external debt, which must be set and revised taking into account
their affordability.

2.7.

The key indicator of prudence laid down by the Code is that net external borrowing
should not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the capital financing
requirement in the preceding year, plus the estimates of any additional capital
financing requirement for the current and next two financial years. This ensures
that, over the medium term, net borrowing will only be for capital purposes.

2.8.

It is also prudent to carry out treasury management activities in accordance with
good practice, and the Prudential Code sets a number of indicators to address
this.

Value for Money
2.9.

It is important that best value for money is obtained from capital investment. The
Council is committed to making continuous improvements to
4

Page 454

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3
processes and practices to increase value for money. Those that are embedded or
being developed include:

Improvements to procurement


Investing to improve performance and/or generate efficiency savings (spend
to save)



Working with partners to improve efficiency

2.10. The Council will use its commissioning strategy when assessing capital bids.

Financial Procedure Rules
2.11. Capital budgets, expenditure and financing are the subject of various Financial
Procedure Rules within Part 4 of the Council’s Constitution. Capital expenditure is
only to be incurred in line with key Financial Procedure Rules as follows:

3.



Capital budgets shall be prepared in the form of a rolling five-year Capital
Programme. The Chief Finance Officer shall review and estimate the capital
resources available to the Council over the five year period. Bids for the use
of capital resources shall be in a form agreed by the Cabinet, to include an
appropriate level of project appraisal and an assessment of the revenue
consequences of the capital scheme. The Cabinet shall be responsible for
the allocation of resources within a viable Capital Programme for submission
to the Council for approval. (3.4);



Capital expenditure shall not be incurred unless it forms part of the approved
Capital Programme and has been allocated and expenditure account by the
Chief Finance Officer (8.1).

Capital Expenditure

Governance process for approval and monitoring of capital
expenditure
Capital programme project bids
3.1.

All requests for inclusion in the capital programme are supported by a project bid
pro-forma, the preparation of which is the responsibility of the budget holder or
project manager. The project manager signs the bid to confirm that their Director
and Portfolio Holder are aware of and support the scheme.

3.2.

All bids for inclusion in the following years programme are considered according to
a set of objective criteria to assist with the prioritisation of schemes and the
allocation of funds. This ensures that, in a context of limited resources, the
community vision and strategy and the Council’s vision, values, objectives and
5

Page 455

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3
priorities form the framework for decisions about investment priorities, and that
capital allocations are made using clear impartial criteria.
3.3.

The prioritisation process is linked directly to the information given on the
completed project appraisals, with weighting given to schemes that strongly
support the Council’s objectives and priorities, and those that fulfil an urgent legal
or statutory requirement.

3.4.

In summary, each bid can be rated on the extent to which the project contributes:


The Council’s objectives and priorities



Legal commitments or statutory duties, including DDA & Health & Safety
issues



Equalities



Improvements in performance indicators



Efficiency savings



Value for money



The delivery of service objectives



Effective Asset Management



Extent of ring fenced or specific funding



Levels of financial risk involved



Impact on the revenue budget and income generation

3.5.

Prioritisation of the bids enables officers to put forward a recommended
programme that is within available resources. The weighting within the scoring
framework will be reviewed on an annual basis as part of a policy of continuous
improvement and to take into account any relevant factors. Bids for work required
to meet a statutory or legal obligation will be given a high priority.

3.6.

The prioritised programme is for guidance only. Members are responsible for
agreeing the capital programme and have the discretion to include or exclude
schemes as they deem appropriate.

3.7.

Project bids have been completed for capital programme bids since 2014. The bid
pro-forma has been designed to ensure that the information gathered is sufficient
in order to make decisions based on the criteria set out above. Project bids must
consider carefully the deliverability of projects to avoid slippage of the capital
programme.

3.8.

The project bid template and project prioritisation and assessment criteria are
included as Appendix A to this Capital Strategy.

6

Page 456

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3
Monitoring the capital programme
3.9.

Project managers are responsible for the proper and effective control and
monitoring of their projects, including financial monitoring. This includes ensuring
that:
 Only capital expenditure is charged to the capital project;


Proper procurement processes are followed, in accordance with the
Contract Procedure Rules;



Only expenditure properly attributable to the scheme is coded to the
scheme;



The scheme expenditure is contained within the agreed budget, and that
any ‘unavoidable’ variations are dealt with appropriately;



Realistic expenditure profiles are determined;



A realistic forecast outturn for the financial year and the project as a whole
are calculated and kept under regular review;



Any slippage of expenditure from current to future years is identified;



Any grants or third party funding is applied for and all grant conditions met



The source of any revenue funding is identified.

3.10. Project managers are also responsible for carrying out project reviews following
scheme completion. The finance team is responsible for providing support and
advice to assist project managers in managing and monitoring their capital
budgets. It also has a key role in consolidating and co-ordinating the monitoring
information that is required for reporting purposes. This involves reporting to
Corporate Management Team, Cabinet and Council.
3.11. The capital programme position is reported to Corporate Management Team,
Cabinet and Council as part of the Corporate Financial Update report and covers
the latest programme and any amendments to be notified or approved,
expenditure to date, and the forecast outturn. It also outlines the financing position
and any steps needed to deal with potential financing difficulties.
3.12. At year-end, an outturn report and carry-forward requests are taken to Cabinet
and Council. These will include an analysis of programme slippage to the following
year, including the reasons for that slippage and how it is to be financed.

Changes to the Agreed Programme
3.13. The programme for the coming year is set and agreed by Council prior to 1st April
(at the February Council as part of the Budget process), but it is essential to also
have a process that then allows for changes during the year.
3.14. Changes may be required as a result of proposed additions to the programme,
amendments to existing schemes or deletions from the programme. For example
tenders may come in above or below estimate; difficulties may be
7

Page 457

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3
encountered in implementation, which require a change of approach; funding may
need to be released to support another more urgent priority.

Proposed additions to the programme
3.15. The need to add a scheme to the programme usually arises from either access to
additional funding, such as a grant or third party contribution, or as a response to
an unforeseen urgent issue (often related to legal or health and safety concerns).
3.16. In order to request an addition to the programme, a project bid proforma must be
completed and signed off in the usual way. The funding for the project must be
identified at this stage. Where there is no additional funding to support the bid,
resources must be identified from within the existing programme. The prioritisation
of the proposed addition will need to be considered with reference to any reserve
list of projects, as well as projects already in the programme but not yet complete.
3.17. The request for the addition will either be incorporated into the regular Corporate
Quarterly Financial Update report to Cabinet or Council, or approved by Cabinet
and Council.

Amendments to existing schemes
3.18. If the proposed amendment is one of substance, which results in a scheme
materially different from the original project appraisal, then the original project
must be withdrawn, and a new project appraisal completed to support the new bid.
If, however, the substance of the scheme remains the same, then the change can
be dealt with through the Corporate Quarterly Financial Update process or as a
budget virement if within the limits set in the Financial Procedure Rules, which is
currently up to £60,000.
3.19. Formal variations to budgets for existing projects must be completed and
authorized in the following circumstances:


Forecast total scheme outturn is materially in excess of budget



Additional funding has become available to support a scheme



A forecast overspend is to be funded by a forecast underspend in
another project



Funding is released due to a forecast underspend on a scheme



A scheme is to be withdrawn from the programme

Long-term view of capital expenditure plans
3.20. In light of local government reorganization (LGR) The capital programme was
reviewed on 18th October 2021 by Portfolio Holders and a revised programme was
agreed with a list of projects that officer can deliver before LGR on 1st April 2023.
The revised capital programme along with new bids for 2022/23 to 2025/26 is

8

Page 458

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3
presented at Appendix 4. A summary of the proposed capital expenditure up to
2025/26 is shown below:
Table 1: Summary Draft Capital Programme Expenditure
2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

£000
14,578.65

£000
15,836.80

£000
9,055.00

£000
7,183.00

£000
2,343.00

Total
2021/22 to
2025/26
£000
48,996.45

3.21. There were a number of new capital bids including:
a)
b)

£265k for repairs to Gooseholme / Stramongate retaining wall.
£240k for repairs to Council assets in Ulverston

3.22. For those schemes that have been prioritised, a summary of the draft capital
programme funding is in the table below. This shows the proposed use of capital
resources in support of the proposed capital programme (see Appendix 4).
Table 2: Capital Funding 2021/22 to 2025/26
Balance April
2021
£000
General
Usable Capital Receipts
New homes bonus / LIPS****
Earmarked or allocated
IT replacement reserve
Major Repairs Reserve
General Revenue contributions
Other Reserves
Cap grants and contributions (inc S106)
Disabled Facilities Grants
Community Housing Fund*
Right to Buy receipt**
Community Infrastructure Levy
Borrowing
Funding from borrowing***.
Sub Total
Funding to be agreed

Estimated
Income
£000

Use in capital
programme
£000

Projected
Balance
March 2026
£000

(2,020.3)
(1,954.0)

(1,169.0)
(467.1)

2,611.8
2,421.1

(577.5)
0.0

(13.6)
(399.4)
0.0
(456.6)
(4,184.2)
(833.8)
(1,821.0)
(5,469.9)
(2,112.5)

(400.0)
(410.0)
(210.1)
(1,350.0)
(11,021.4)
(3,073.0)
0.0
(2,100.0)
(442.9)

380.3
793.6
210.1
1,642.7
13,330.1
3,636.8
543.0
6,000.0
75.0

(33.3)
(15.8)
0.0
(163.9)
(1,875.6)
(270.0)
(1,278.0)
(1,569.9)
(2,480.4)

0.0
(19,265.3)
0.0

(17,352.0)
(37,995.5)
0.0

17,352.0
48,996.5
25.0

0.0
(8,264.4)
25.0

*Ring fenced for Community Housing Schemes
**Ring fenced to support replacement of affordable housing.
***'Prudential Borrowing'; this may not result in taking on new loans but requires revenue charge to cover the
cost over the assets' life
****Subject to annual confirmation and settlement

9

Page 459

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3
3.23. There are a number of significant potential additional service areas and schemes
to be added to the capital programme that have yet to be prioritised and allocated
a capital and or revenue budget. These schemes would lead to additional capital
budget costs on top of those presented in Appendix 4. These include:
a)
b)
c)

A review of the depot locations within the district.
Car park investments
Employment site land acquisition/development

3.24. While currently not prioritised and so not allocated budget, these schemes must
be included as part of the overall longer-term capital plans, as they are
aspirational should suitable funding be identified. Therefore the table below
summarises expenditure for all potential identified schemes through to 2033/34.
These schemes will be subject to detailed business case assessment before they
become part of the approved draft capital programme and will only be selected
with overall consideration of the affordability of the capital programme.
Table 3: Summary Aspirational Long-Term Capital Programme Expenditure
2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

Estimate
£000

Estimate
£000

Estimate
£000

14,578.65

15,836.80

9,055.00

26/27 –
29/30
Estimate Estimate Estimate
£000
£000
£000
2024/25

2025/26

7,183.00

2,343.00

9,641.50

30/31 33/34
Estimate
£000
17,552.00

2021/22 2033/34
Estimate
£000
76,189.96

3.25. The additional schemes are projections based on current aspirations and needs
but overtime they may change significantly due to actions or decisions taken now
to improve economic life or dispose of assets. For example the new scheme for
Westmorland Shopping Centre Car Park in the capital programme for 2021/22 and
2022/23 extends the life of the car park and removes over £12 million of projected
spend in the period 2029/30 – 2033/34.

Asset Management Planning
Strategic Asset Management Planning
3.26. Until recently the Council’s approach to asset management was set out in the
Corporate Asset Strategy. A thorough review of property assets was completed by
the Council’s external property services advisors in December 2017. This in turn
led to the development of a Property and Land Management Strategy (approved
by Cabinet on 28 November 2018), which will help guide and advise the Council
on land and building investment, disposals and acquisitions. The key aims of this
strategy are:


Ensuring investment is prioritised in the right areas with the ever
increasing financial pressure on Local Authorities.
10

Page 460

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3


Ensuring the Council has a balanced estate looking at the medium and
long term commitments of the Council and in the wider context of other
assets in public ownership.



Ensuring that there is a sufficient governance structure in place to
allow the estate to flex with ease and consistency.



Ensuring that the decisions achieve a balance of requirements for
capital receipts, investment and revenue income generation.

3.27. The strategy also lead to the establishment of the Strategic Asset Management
Plan Board (SAMP Board) which will provide oversight and governance and
ensure a more strategic approach to the management of its property estate.

Building Asset Maintenance Programme
3.28. The Council utilises a property and asset management system to record data on
the property portfolio to assess building condition and maintenance requirements.
This data is then used to set the Council’s annual building maintenance
programme and budget for both reactive and planned maintenance. The Council
also holds a Major Repairs Reserve to cover the costs of major repairs and
renewals of Council assets.
Table 4: Building Repairs and Maintenance Budgets for 2021/22 to 2025/26
2021/22
Estimate
£000
419

2022/23
Estimate
£000
419

2023/24
Estimate
£000
497

2024/25
Estimate
£000
497

2025/26
Estimate
£000
497

Vehicle and Plant Replacement Programme
3.29. The Council also maintains a Vehicle and Plant and Replacement Plan which
outlines the anticipated replacement lifecycle for the main items of fleet and plant it
requires to operate services. This plan is updated annually and is fed into the
budget process to determine the capital requirement.

IT Replacement Programme
3.30. The Council also maintains an IT Replacement Plan which outlines the anticipated
replacement lifecycle for the main items of information technology equipment it
requires to operate services. While major IT projects are funded through the
capital programme, routine replacement is funded from the IT Replacement
Reserve.

11

Page 461

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3
4.

Debt, Borrowing and Treasury Management

Borrowing
4.1.

The Local Government Act 2003 introduced new flexibilities into the capital
expenditure and financing rules governing local authorities. The new rules,
contained in the ‘Prudential Code’, allow local authorities to set their own limits
with regard to borrowing undertaken to support capital expenditure. Additional
borrowing may now be undertaken, but a key objective of the Prudential Code is to
ensure that the capital investment plans of the local authority are, and can be
shown to be, prudent, affordable and sustainable.

4.2.

In order for borrowing to be prudent, affordable and sustainable, there must be an
identifiable, long-term source of revenue funding for the associated revenue (debt
financing) costs. Ideally this will come from revenue savings or additional income
arising directly from the capital scheme. For example, refurbishment of a building
may generate maintenance and/or energy savings, or the building of a car park
could generate income through charges. The cost of borrowing therefore should
be offset by savings within the service that uses the asset.

4.3.

The Prudential Code sets out the prudential indicators that must be used, and the
factors that must be taken into account to ensure investment plans are prudent,
sustainable and affordable. These are designed to support and record local
decision-making in a manner that is publicly accountable.

4.4.

A summary of the Council’s capital expenditure aspirations based on the latest
capital programme proposals along with further additional longer-term and
unprioritised projects is summarised below along with the sources of finance. It
must be stressed that not all these expenditure plans will be accepted and taken
forward. The plans are designed to identified all areas of potential expenditure so
that they may be assessed and in terms of both suitability and affordability.

Table 5: Potential Capital expenditure and financing

Capital
expenditure
Financed by:
Capital receipts
Grants
Revenue and
Reserves
Increased
borrowing need

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

2026/27 2029/30

2030/31 2033/34

Estimate
£000

Estimate
£000

Estimate
£000

Estimate
£000

Estimate
£000

Estimate
£000

Estimate
£000

14,578.65

15,836.80

9,055.00

7,183.00

2,343.00

9,641.50

17,552.00

2,815.60
6,818.65

2,751.20
7,751.20

1,045.00
1,734.00

1,000.00
603.00

1,000.00
678.00

0.00
2,412.00

0.00
2,412.00

1,078.80

3,504.00

530.00

145.00

190.00

580.00

580.00

3,865.60

1,830.40

5,746.00

5,435.00

475.00

6,649.50

14,560.00

12

Page 462

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3
The Council’s borrowing need
4.5.

The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) represents the Council’s underlying
need to borrow. This is different to any actual borrowing. If the Council generates
the same amount of resources in a year to meet its capital expenditure
requirements, then there is no change to the CFR. However, if the Council
spends more than the resources it generates in year, the CFR will increase as in
effect the Council has created a borrowing requirement to bridge the gap in the
resources it needs and the resources it has.

4.6.

Although the CFR does not necessarily reflect actual borrowing taken from an
external source, it can reflect the use of internal cash resources, i.e. internal
borrowing.

4.7.

Where the Council has a positive CFR, i.e. an underlying need to borrow, it must
make provision to repay that ‘debt’, or repay the cash used through internal
borrowing. This is known as Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). The Council’s
current policy, as set out in the MRP Strategy is to charge MRP on a straight line
basis over the life of the asset.

4.8.

The current forecast for the CFR and MRP based on the current proposed capital
programme along with the further additional longer-term and unprioritised
projects is shown in the table below:
Table 6: CFR projection
2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

2026/27 2029/30

2030/31 2033/34

Estimate
£000

Estimate
£000

Estimate
£000

Estimate
£000

Estimate
£000

Estimate
£000

Estimate
£000

CFR opening
Add unfinanced
capital
Less MRP

21,226.77

24,117.57

24,676.67

29,063.17

32,965.47

31,657.37

32,775.41

3,865.60

1,830.40

5,746.00

5,435.00

475.00

6,649.50

14,560.00

(974.80)

(1,271.30)

(1,359.50)

(1,532.70)

(1,783.10)

(5,531.46)

(3,707.49)

CFR closing

24,117.57

24,676.67

29,063.17

32,965.47

31,657.37

32,775.41

43,627.92

Capital
Financing
Requirement

Prudence and Sustainability
4.9.

Prudence and sustainability year on year are addressed through the prudential
indicators for external debt, which must be set and revised taking into account
their affordability.

4.10. A key prudential indicator is that external borrowing must not (except in the short
term to support operational cash flow) exceed the underlying level of indebtedness
(the CFR) and is intended to control any ‘borrowing to on-lend’ or borrowing to
support the revenue account.
13

Page 463

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3
4.11. Table 7 confirms that the Council expects to be compliant with this indicator and
should remain under-borrowed across the period. The increase in borrowing
reflects the prudent assumption that the unfinanced element of the capital
programme would be funded through external debt. That said, a thorough review
of the affordability of the current plans will need to be carried out.
Table 7: Gross debt and the CFR

CFR at 31
March
Borrowing at 31
March
Under/over
borrowing (-/+)
Investments at
31 March

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

2026/27 2029/30

2030/31 2033/34

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

Estimate

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

24,117.57

24,676.67

29,063.17

32,965.47

31,657.37

32,775.41

43,627.92

20,391.60

24,676.67

29,063.17

32,965.47

31,657.37

32,775.41

43,627.92

(3,725.97)

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

(21,335.07) (22,357.64) (28,150.04) (35,363.94) (44,303.24) (47,017.71) (46,292.71)

Affordability
4.12. The fundamental objective in determining the affordability of the authority’s capital
plans is to ensure that the total capital investment remains within sustainable
limits. This includes considering the impact on Council Tax.
4.13. This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long
term obligation costs net of investment income) against the net revenue stream.
The estimates are presented in the table below:
Table 8: Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream
2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

2023/24
Estimate

2024/25
Estimate

2025/26
Estimate

10.67%

13.85%

17.77%

19.88%

23.03%

4.14. This shows that the amount of revenue budget spent financing debt is rising over
the MTFP period. There are two main reasons for this trend.
a. MRP is rising to the level required to sustain the vehicle and plant programme.
Older vehicles were grant funded whereas replacement vehicles are financed
through borrowing.
b. The net revenue stream (Council Tax, retained rates and non-service grant) is
forecast to reduce over the period although reductions in grant are partially offset
by increases to income from local taxation. And;
c. Increase in borrowing costs due to new property schemes within the capital
programme which are likely to require funding from borrowing.
14

Page 464

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3
Estimates of the incremental impact of capital investment
decisions on council tax
4.15

This indicator identifies the revenue costs associated with proposed changes to the
capital programme compared to the Council’s existing approved commitments and
current plans. This reflects interest income foregone on the use of reserves and
additional costs where schemes are funded by external borrowing.
Table 9: Incremental impact of capital investment

Council tax - band D

4.16

2021/22
Estimate
£4.80

2022/23
Estimate
-£0.73

2023/24
Estimate
£0.52

2024/25
Estimate
£1.02

2025/26
Estimate
£2.34

Following changes in the profiling of the Capital programme in light of Local
Government Reorganisation (LGR) and the ongoing impact of Covid-19, the amount
the Council is expecting to need to borrow for capital purposes in 2022/23 has fallen
when compared to the Capital programme agreed this time last year. As a result
borrowing planned for 2022/23 has been pushed back into later years which is why
the impact on council tax then rises.
Also reflected is the anticipated use of reserves and the impact of rising MRP as
discussed in 4.14 above.

Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary
4.17. The Council currently distinguishes between operational and core cash balances.
The operational balances relate to short term cash management whereas the core
cash balances reflect longer term strategic resources (such as the General Fund
balance and usable capital receipts).
4.18. A key prudential indicator is that external borrowing must not (except in the short
term to support operational cash flow) exceed the underlying level of indebtedness
(the CFR) and is intended to control any ‘borrowing to on-lend’ or borrowing to
support the revenue account.

The Operational Boundary
4.19. This is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally expected to exceed.
This is set at a level consistent with the borrowing need (CFR), the anticipated
level of external borrowing plus any anticipated further borrowing that may be
required to manage operational cash balances. This may be required, for
example, at year end when operational cash balances are at their lowest due to
the timing of local taxation collection.

15

Page 465

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3
The Authorised Limit for external debt.
4.20. This reflects the level of external debt which, while not desired, could be afforded
in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term. This is a limit on the
maximum level of debt, beyond which external debt is prohibited and the limit can
only be set or revised by Full Council.
Table 10: Authorised limit and operational boundary

Lease Liabilities*
CFR at 31 March
Under borrowing 31
March
Add operational
cash limit
Operational
boundary
Authorised limit

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

2026/27 2029/30

2030/31 2033/34

Estimate
£000

Estimate
£000

Estimate
£000

Estimate
£000

Estimate
£000

Estimate
£000

Estimate
£000

555.00

555.00

555.00

555.00

555.00

2,220.00

2,220.00

24,117.57

24,676.67

29,063.17

32,965.47

31,657.37

32,775.41

43,627.92

(3,725.97)

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

7,016.00

7,016.00

7,016.00

7,016.00

7,016.00

7,016.00

7,016.00

24,700.00

25,300.00

29,700.00

33,600.00

32,300.00

35,000.00

45,900.00

31,716.00

32,316.00

36,716.00

40,616.00

39,316.00

42,016.00

52,916.00

*Due to the change in accounting for leases as a result of the introduction of accounting standard
IFRS 16 Leases, this is a new change for the Council which applied from 01/04/2022. The total in
the table is currently only an estimate and officers are working on gathering the information to
enable us to determine the Council’s total finance lease liability and will update the total as
existence of finance leases are confirmed. Therefore the above limits may change before we get
to the final version to be approved by Council.

Risk Appetite
4.21. As a holder of public funds, the Council recognises its responsibility to the prudent
management of public funds, and follows relevant Government and CIPFA
guidance.
4.22. The guidance defines a prudent investment policy as having two objectives:
achieving first of all security (protecting the capital sum from loss) and then
liquidity (keeping the money readily available for expenditure when needed).
Provided that proper levels of security and liquidity are achieved, it may then (but
only then) be reasonable to seek the highest yield consistent with those priorities.
4.23. Consequently, the Council will seek to optimise returns commensurate with the
management of the associated risks, limiting its investment activities to the
instruments, methods and techniques referred to in Treasury Management
Practice 4 Approved Instruments Methods and Techniques. The Treasury
Management Practices (TMP’s) are approved by Chief Financial Officer and form
the framework for operational treasury management practice and procedures on a
day-to-day basis.
16

Page 466

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3
Counterparty Risk
4.24. The Council also recognises the need to have, and will therefore maintain, a
formal counterparty policy in respect of those organisations from which it may
borrow, or with whom it may enter into other financing arrangements. Before the
start of each financial year the council will determine though it’s Annual Investment
Strategy, within the Treasury Management Framework, the credit criteria for
selecting counterparties. The Chief Financial Officer will maintain a counterparty
list in compliance with the criteria which will be approved annually by Full Council.
Updates will be taken though the year as necessary. These criteria provide an
overall pool of counterparties considered high quality which the Council may use.

Liquidity Risk
4.25. This is the risk that cash will not be available when it is needed, causing additional
costs and potentially compromising the Councils business/service objectives.
Detailed cash flow forecasts will be kept by the financial services team to give as
accurate a picture as possible of the movement and timing of income &
expenditure and the resulting daily cash balances.
4.26. Individual managers have the responsibility of providing the team with adequate
notice of any large payments and receipts, to aid the team in keeping the cash
flow forecasts as accurate as possible, and avoiding causing the Council
additional costs.
4.27. The Chief Financial Officer will ensure that adequate, though not excessive cash
resources, borrowing arrangements, overdraft or standby facilities exist to enable
it at all times to have the level of funds available for the achievement of its
business/service objectives.
4.28. The Council will only borrow in advance of need where there is a clear business
case for doing so and will only do so for the current capital programme or to
finance future debt maturities.

Interest Rate Risk
4.29. The risk that unexpected changes in interest rates expose the Council to greater
costs or a shortfall in the income contained in the annual budget.
4.30. The Council will manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a view to
containing its interest costs, or securing its interest revenues, in accordance with
the its latest approved budget.
4.31. It will achieve this by the prudent use of its approved financing and investment
instruments, methods and techniques, primarily to create stability and certainty of
costs and revenues, but at the same time retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility
to take advantage of unexpected, potentially advantageous changes in the level or
17

Page 467

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3
structure of interest rates. This should be the subject to the consideration and, if
required, approval of any policy or budgetary implications.

Exchange Rate Risk
4.32. The risk that fluctuations in foreign exchange rates expose the council to greater
costs or a shortfall in income than have been budgeted for.
4.33. The Council has a minimal exposure to exchange rate risk as it has no powers to
enter into loans or investments in foreign currency for treasury management
purposes.
4.34. From time to time the Council may be exposed to exchange rate risk through the
receipt of income or the incurring of expenditure in a currency other than sterling.

Refinancing Risk
4.35. The risk that when loans or other forms of capital financing mature, that they
cannot be refinanced where necessary on terms that reflect the assumptions
made in formulating revenue and capital budgets.
4.36. This Council will ensure that its borrowing, private financing and partnership
arrangements are negotiated, structured and documented, and the maturity profile
of the monies so raised are managed, with a view to obtaining offer terms for
renewal or refinancing, if required, which are competitive and as favourable to the
organisation as can reasonably be achieved in the light of market conditions
prevailing at the time.
4.37. It will actively manage its relationships with its counterparties in these transactions
in such a manner as to secure this objective, and will avoid overreliance on any
one source of funding if this might jeopardise achievement of the above.

Legal and Regulatory Risk
4.38. The risk that the Council itself, or an organisation with which it is dealing in its
treasury management activities, fails to act in accordance with its legal powers or
regulatory requirements, and that the Council suffers losses accordingly.
4.39. This Council will ensure that all of its treasury management activities comply with
its statutory powers and regulatory requirements. It will demonstrate such
compliance, if required to do so, to all parties with whom it deals in such activities.
In framing its credit and counterparty policy, it will ensure that there is evidence of
counterparties’ powers, authority and compliance in respect of the transactions
they may affect with the Council, particularly with regard to duty of care and fees
charged.
4.40. This Council recognises that future legislative or regulatory changes may impact
on its treasury management activities and, so far as it is reasonably able to do so,
18

Page 468

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3
will seek to minimise the risk of these impacting adversely on the Council.

The Risk of Fraud, Error and Corruption, and Contingency
Management
4.41. The risk that the Council may fail to employ adequate systems, procedures and
other arrangements that identify and prevent losses through such occurrences.
4.42. This organisation will ensure that it has identified the circumstances which may
expose it to the risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in
its treasury management dealings. Accordingly, it will employ suitable systems
and procedures, and will maintain effective contingency management
arrangements, to these ends.
4.43. The Council will therefore:a)
b)
c)

d)

Seek to ensure an adequate division of responsibilities and maintenance at
all times of an adequate level of internal check which minimises such risks.
Fully document all its treasury management activities so that there can be
no possible confusion as to what proper procedures are.
Staff will not be allowed to take up treasury management activities until
they have had proper training in procedures and are then subject to an
adequate and appropriate level of supervision.
Records will be maintained of all treasury management transactions so that
there is a full audit trail and evidence of the appropriate checks being
carried out.

Market Risk
4.44. The risk that, through adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal
sums an organisation borrows and invests, its stated treasury management
policies and objectives are compromised, against which effects it has failed to
protect itself adequately.
4.45. This Council will seek to ensure that its stated treasury management policies and
objectives will not be compromised by adverse market fluctuations in the value of
the principal sums it invests, and will accordingly seek to protect its self from the
effects of such fluctuations.

Risk Management, Reporting and Review
4.46. More information on the systems, procedures and policies in place to manage
these treasury management related risks is available in the Treasury Management
Framework, Annual Investment Strategy and within the Council’s Treasury
Management Practices all of which are subject to full Council approval and which
are included in the work programme of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

19

Page 469

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3
4.47. The Treasury Management reporting requirements to full Council are as follows:


Annual reporting requirements before the start of the year:
- review of the organisation’s approved clauses, treasury management policy
statement and practices
- strategy report on proposed treasury management activities for the year
comprising of the Treasury management strategy statement, Annual
Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement




Regular Monitoring reports, included within Corporate Financial Monitoring report.
Annual review report after the end of the year

4.48. Furthermore, Treasury Management activities are subject to internal and external
audit review to ensure compliance with codes of practice, policies and operate
within the parameters agreed by Council.
4.49. More generally, Risk is managed at two levels within the Council:


Operational Risks are those that threaten service level objectives and are listed in
annual Service Plans. The risks are reviewed and updated regularly by
Operational Managers on a quarterly basis. Operational risks can be escalated to
Senior Management Team if it is felt that they are more strategic in nature or that
help is required with mitigation. It helps to fully detail the impacts of the risk and to
describe why greater authority is needed to control the risk. For example,
Operational Risks identified in departmental service plans may include individual
capital schemes for which the service is responsible for delivering and the
Financial Services Operational Risk Register includes the risk ‘Profiling of Capital
Schemes’ as it is recognised that outstanding capital expenditure has a significant
revenue budget implication.



Strategic Risks can be seen within the Strategic Risks Register and also within
Council Plan Performance reports to Overview and Scrutiny Committee and
Cabinet. These tend to be the risks that threaten council wide objectives and
require senior level management. Senior Management Team manages the
Council's Strategic Risks by identifying and reviewing risks and ensuring
mitigation. The Strategic Risk register may contain business continuity risks and
mitigations. Senior Management Team reviews the risks along with Corporate
Plan performance monitoring on a quarterly basis. Medium Term Financial
Planning – delivery of a balanced budget is a key risk identified in the Strategic
Risk Register, this includes the effects of the capital programme and treasury
management activities.

20

Page 470

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3
5.

Other Long-Term Liabilities and Investments

Soft Loans
5.1.

The Council make loans for a number of reasons primarily economic development
and investment objectives or to help meet other Council priorities. These are often
outside of normal commercial terms The Council in making these loans ensure
they are prudent and secured by:



Carrying out a full independent due diligence exercise



Using an expected loss model to assess the impact on the balance budget
requirement if the loan was at risk



On-going monitoring of the loans



Ensuring adequate security is in place



The financial exposure of the Council is proportionate to its size.



All loans are agreed by the Council’s Cabinet

5.2.

The loans are accounted for as soft loans and the Council’s accounting policy on
soft loans is described in the Accounting Policies of the Statement of Accounts.
The balance outstanding of these loans as at 31st March 2021 was £51,056.

Pension Guarantees
5.3.

The Council transferred in council housing stock to South Lakes Housing in 2012.
This involved the transfer of Council employees to the South Lakes Housing.
Employee’s rights are protected under the provision in Transfer of Undertakings
(Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 (TUPE). However, pension rights
are not fully covered within TUPE regulations. The Council have thus given
pension guarantees to the South Lakes Housing. This guarantee means that if an
admitted body fails to pay its pension obligations then the Council will be
responsible for taking on those obligations.

5.4.

The deficit on the South Lakes Housing pension scheme at 31st March 2017 was
£2.254m of which SLDC would be responsible for approximately 55%.

5.5.

The guarantee is reviewed annually as part of the closure of accounts process.
The pension balance is assessed on an annual basis by the Cumbria Pension
Fund and is subject to change due to the underlying assets. This is rebalanced on
a three year basis, formerly known as a triennial review.

21

Page 471

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3
6.

Knowledge and Skills

6.1.

The Council utilises the knowledge and skills of its internal officers when
considering capital investment decisions and where necessary it also relies on the
expert knowledge of specialist external advisors.

6.2.

The Council employs or contracts professionally qualified legal, finance and
property officers who are able to offer advice and guidance when considering any
capital investment decisions.

Finance
6.3.

Finance staff are professionally qualified to advise the Council on all financial
aspects of capital decisions. They also have the necessary experience of how the
Council works having been in post for a number of years. Finance staff also
undertake Continuous Professional Development and they maintain knowledge
and skills through regular technical updates from appropriate bodies.

Property
6.4.

The Council operates an outsourced contract for its property and asset services to
Lambert Smith Hampton. Their team is made up of a number of Chartered
Surveyors and Valuers who advise the Council on all property matters. They are
all members of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) and comply
with the RICS’s rules in relation to Continuing Professional Development.

6.5.

The Council’s in-house Property and Contracts Manager is also a RICS
Registered Chartered Surveyor.

Legal
6.6.

Legal Staff are professionally qualified as either solicitors or legal executives and
are regulated by their respective professional bodies (Solicitors Regulation
Body/Institute of Legal Executives). The staff undertake Continuing Professional
Development and their rules of conduct require that they have an appropriate level
of skill and expertise to deal with the particular matter with which they are
dealing. All staff are aware of the operational structure of the Council. They
maintain knowledge and skills through regular technical updates from appropriate
bodies.

External Advice
6.7.

The Council uses external advisors where necessary in order to complement the
knowledge its own officers hold. Some of these advisors are contracted on long
term contracts or are appointed on an ad-hoc basis when necessary. The main
advisors the Council uses are as follows:
 Link Asset Services – Treasury Management, including Cash
investments, borrowing and capital financing
 Lambert Smith Hampton – Property and Asset Management and asset
development.
22

Page 472

Capital Strategy 2022/23 - 2033/34 Appendix 3
7.

Review and monitoring of the Capital Strategy

7.1.

This Capital Strategy is based on the proposed Capital Programme for 2021/22 to
2025/26 which will be approved by Council on the 22nd February 2022. It also
highlights the aspiration and unprioritised capital programme over the longer-term
to 2033/34. The strategy will be monitored and reviewed throughout the financial
year and may be updated or replaced as proposals are developed or the Capital
Programme is updated.

23

Page 473

Appendix A
Project bid template

REVENUE and CAPITAL 2019/20 Budget Change Pro Forma
This form is designed to capture the information required for budget changes in the 2019/20 budget setting cycle.
Finalised forms are to be emailed by Assistant Directors to accountancy@southlakeland.gov.uk no later than
Thursday 30/8/2018 but earlier if possible so that clarrifications may be sought. Please see comment boxes (red
triangles) and hyperlinks for further guidance. Please complete all grey cells.
Use this form if you are proposing:
- a revenue budget change that generates a net saving (including extra income) or net additional expenditure (including
reduced income)
- a revenue budget change that is net £0 but has a gross change to income or expenditure of £10k or more
- a new capital scheme or amendment to an existing scheme

1

Title of Poject

2

Type of Project

Please select …

3

Sponsoring Portfolio Holder

Please select …

Sponsoring Portfolio Holder (if more than 1 Portfolio Holder)

Please select …

4

Sponsoring Assistant Director

5

Officer Responsible for Delivery

6

Cost Centre/Service

7.0 Outline description of project/service change
7.1
7.2
7.3
7.4
7.5

Alignment with Council Plan priorities?
Equality Impact Assessment implications.
Legislative requirements
Alignment with Property Asset Review
Risk / Business continuity?

7.6 External 'partnership' and Localism benefits with public, private or voluntary sector?
7.7 Delivery risk including planning process.
What are the social, economic and environmental impacts of the proposal, if
7.8 accepted?
8

8.1

Costs and Financing

Capital Budget adjustments required

Existing Base (net)
£000

2019/20
2020/21
2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
Years thereafter
Total
Net capital cost/saving (+/-)

Changes to Capital
Expenditure (+/-)
£000

Changes to Capital
Income (-/+)
£000

BIDS TO START 2020/21

0.0

0.0
0.0

PLEASE INCLUDE THE REVENUE IMPACTS OF CAPITAL SCHEMES IN 8.2 BELOW

24

Page 474

0.0

Appendix A

8.2

Revenue Budget adjustments required

Existing Base (net)
£000

2019/20 Savings, Budget Pressures & One Off Growth
2020/21 Savings and Budget Pressures only
2021/22 Savings and Budget Pressures only
2022/23 Savings and Budget Pressures only
2023/24 Savings and Budget Pressures only
Years thereafter (Savings and Budget Pressures only)
Total
Net revenue cost/saving (+/-)

Change to Revenue
Expenditure (+/-)
£000

0.0

0.0
0.0

Change to Revenue
Income (-/+)
£000

0.0

8.3 What is the lifetime of the scheme/service change in years?
8.4 What is the basis of the figures (eg supplier quotation/market testing etc)?
8.5 Please give details of any grant funding or external income
What risks are there around the proposed timing of budget changes (as set out in
8.6 8.1 and 8.2)?
Does the proposal relate to a previous Committee decision? If so, please provide
8.7 minute ref?
8.8 Is the proposed saving/growth reflected in your 2018/19 budget monitoring report?
9.1 Details of procurement route to be followed
10.1 Proposed score (please complete scoring criteria tab)

PLEASE COMPLETE SCORING CRITERIA TAB

10.2 Scoring overide - if judged to be necessary please provide details why?
11 Assistant Director Declaration
11.1 Form complete and quality checked?
11.2 Portfolio Holder in agreement?

Please select …
Please select …

25

Page 475

Appendix A
Project prioritisation and assessment criteria
Ref:

Weighting

30
9

Criteria

Score

STRATEGIC
Impact on Council Plan priorities and targets. Priority Economy - Enabling and delivering opportunities for
sustainable economic growth.

0
No (0), Yes (6), Essential to delivery (9)

9

Impact on Council Plan priorities and targets. Priority Housing - Providing homes to meet need.

No (0), Yes (6), Essential to delivery (9)

6

Impact on Council Plan priorities and targets. Priority Environment - Protecting and enhancing our place.

No (0), Yes (4), Essential to delivery (6)

6

Impact on Council Plan priorities and targets. Priority - Culture
and Wellbeing - Improving wellbeing, reducing inequality and No (0), Yes (4), Essential to delivery (6)
supporting cultural activities.

A

25

Does the scheme impact on rurality, age, disability, race,
religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, gender
reassignment, pregnancy, maternity, marriage or civil
partnership
RISK MANAGEMENT / CONTINUITY OF SERVICE

C

5

Is the scheme consistent with the Property Asset Review?

No (0), Yes (5)

D1

5

Urgency of investmentdue to condition rating of a property
asset.

Urgent : Year 1 (5), Year 2 (4), Year 3 (3), 4-5 Years (2), 6-10
Years (1), Later Years (0)

D2

5

Urgency of investment in order to meet statutory obligations
(e.g Disability Discrimination Act, Health & Safety, Security)

Urgent : Year 1 (5), Year 2 (4), Year 3 (3), 4-5 Years (2), 6-10
Years (1), Later Years (0)

E

10
5

Yes (10); no (0)

F

5

Addressing future business continuity
PROMOTES PARTNERSHIP / LOCALISM
External 'partnership' and Localism benefits with public,
private or voluntary sector
FINANCIAL
Spend to Save Initiative - produces revenue savings /
additional income

B

0

40

Positive impact (+5), negative impact (-5), no impact (0)
0

0
No (0), Yes (5)
0
Annual net savings per year as % of cost; 1 mark for every 1%
to a max of 20 marks for 20% and above.

G

20

H

10

Is part funded from externally generated resources (e.g.
grants).

0-19% 5 points, 20-50% 7 points greater than this 10 points.

I

10

Maximises external funding eg NHB and Retained Business
Rates?

No (0), Yes (10)

Total

100

0

Notes
A

Please refer to the priorities and targets within the Council Plan. Does the scheme contribute to the delivery of a Council priority or target? Maximum points if the scheme is essential to delivery of
a priority or target.

B

We need evidence that these factors have been reviewed as part of the EIA on the capital programme. See guidance in the report writing toolkit.

C

Is the scheme consistent with the Property Asset Review? How and to what extent? Please complete this section in consultation with Sion Thomas (Corporate Asset Manager) who will be able to
provide guidance on whether the change relates to a corporate asset and whether it is consistent with the aims and objectives of the review.

D

Where there are major Health & Safety issues, or other legal obligations, the Capital Prioritisation Group may choose to override the priority score and recommend a project be included in the
Capital Programme. For existing property assets consider the condition rating of the asset and the technical life.

E

Yes or no depending on whether the scheme is necessary for continuation of current Council operations. If the proposal relates to an existing asset, is the asset critical to service delivery, could
technical failure of the asset lead to failure of service delivery.

F

Projects promoting joint working - across Council services, with other agencies, the public, private & voluntary sectors

G

If a score is given against this criteria, it must be supported by a financial analysis, which shows the estimated revenue savings and capital costs of the project. Where revenue savings are
identified, they will also need to be included in the relevant revenue budget

H

If a score is given against this criteria, it must be supported by a financial analysis, which shows the estimated reduction of the Council's projected deficits.

I

Does the scheme draw on grant funding mechanisms designed to encourage Local Authorities to increase the tax base and rates base?

26

Page 476

Appendix 4

Capital Programme 2021/22-2025/26
GL Code

Programme Spending by Project

2021/22
Approved
Feb 2021

amendments
March 2020

amendments
Outturn

amendments
Dec 2021

2021/22
Latest

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Total
2021/22 to
2025/26

260.0

0.0

-39.0

-221.0

£000
0.0

£000
481.0

£000
0.0

£000
0.0

£000
0.0

£000
481.0

Re-profile
Delete - review after LGR
Transfer to Revenue
Re-profile

4,531.7
56.0
0.0
152.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
30.0
115.4
237.0
543.0

0.0
-56.0
-115.4
-389.0
-100.0

4,531.7
30.0
0.0
0.0
443.0

0.0
56.0
0.0
0.0
100.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

4,531.7
86.0
0.0
0.0
543.0

Re-profile

0.0
2,163.0
1,151.2

173.8
0.0
1,050.0

10.0
-407.5
150.0

0.0
0.0
-2,231.2

183.8
1,755.5
120.0

0.0
2,273.0
2,231.2

0.0
381.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

183.8
4,409.5
2,351.2

Environment Agency lead Flood Relief Scheme
Improvements
Windermere Road Grange - Flood Aliviation
Kendal Market Lift
Refurbishment of Ellerthwaite Depot to create
office accommodation for rent
Disabled Toilet improvements
Extension and refurbishment to Rothay Park
toilets (incl Changing Places toilet)
Footway Lighting
Disabled Facilities Grants
Housing Investment Fund

Re-profile

550.0

0.0

0.0

-500.0

50.0

250.0

250.0

0.0

0.0

550.0

Re-profile

0.0
60.0
80.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
7.6

0.0
0.0
-87.6

0.0
60.0
0.0

150.0
0.0
87.6

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

150.0
60.0
87.6

Re-profile

0.0
59.5

40.0
0.0

0.0
12.5

0.0
-72.0

40.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
72.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

40.0
72.0

25.0
661.0
3,000.0

85.0
363.0
0.0

0.0
200.8
0.0

-110.0
-458.0
-2,150.0

0.0
766.8
850.0

0.0
1,061.0
578.3

0.0
603.0
1,000.0

0.0
603.0
1,000.0

0.0
603.0
1,000.0

0.0
3,636.8
4,428.3

LIPS (excluding contributions to SLDC property
included under individual properties)
Mobile Working
Customer Connect

Re-profile

0.0

0.0

90.0

-49.5

40.5

49.5

0.0

0.0

0.0

90.0

Re-profile
Re-profile and virement to
Development Management
System

0.0
0.0

120.0
260.0

0.0
24.5

-120.0
-201.6

0.0
82.9

0.0
30.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

120.0
0.0

120.0
112.9

35.0
40.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
121.6

35.0
40.0
121.6

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

35.0
40.0
121.6

80.0
250.0
79.8
947.5
0.0
0.0
38.0

15.0
0.0
0.0
1,500.0
615.0
0.0
0.0

15.3
0.0
0.0
262.4
0.0
1.4
0.0

-4.0
-250.0
-79.8
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

106.3
0.0
0.0
2,709.9
615.0
1.4
38.0

134.0
2,000.0
79.8
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

80.0
4,000.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

80.0
3,200.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

80.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

480.3
9,200.0
79.8
2,709.9
615.0
1.4
38.0

KAH11
KAH13
KAH14
KAH15
KCH01

Affordable & Empty Homes, Town Centre
Properties.
Cross-a-Moor junction improvement
S106 funded affordable homes purchase
Homeless Accommodation for Families
Next Steps Accommodation Programme
Community Housing Fund

KCI01
KDE06
KDE07

Scaling On Street Charging infrastructure
ERDF funded flood defence works
Coastal Communities Fund (includes £1.1 million

KAH10

Reason for amendment

Re-profile

for Grande Promenade)

KDE08

Page 477

KDE09
KDE10
KDP03
KEP52
KEP53
KFL01
KGD21
KIF01

KIP01
KIT27
KIT30

KIT32
KIT33
KIT34
KIT90
KLC03
KLH02
KLH07
KLH08
KLL18
KLL19

Transport Software
Income Management System Upgrade
Development Management System
Replacement
IT Replacements
New Ulverston Leisure Centre
Coronation Hall alterations
Kendal Town Hall/South Lakeland House
Abbot Hall redevelopment
Cockshott Point Entrance Improvements
Millerground Pumping Station

Delete - review after LGR
Re-profile
Re-profile and remove doublecounting with Cross-a-Moor
guarantee / warranty

Re-profile and virement from
Customer Connect
Re-profile and virement
Re-profile
Re-profile

Appendix 4

Capital Programme 2021/22-2025/26
GL Code

KLR31
KMR21
KMR33
KMR34
KMR35
KMR36
KMR37
KMR38
KNMxx

Page 478

KPE18
KPE19
KPY38
KPY42
KPY44
KPY48
KPY51

KRE04
KRE66
KRE67
KRE68

KSC91

Programme Spending by Project

Nobles Rest
Kendal Museum contribution
Braithwaite Fold Caravan Park extention
Kendal Castle (funded from LIPS)
Burton Hertiage Grant Scheme (funded from
LIPS)
Roofing repairs to The Monument, Kirkby
Lonsdale
Ulverston Bank Clock Repairs
Gooseholme - Retaining Wall Repairs
Play Areas (including community funded
schemes and schemes arising from the Play
Space Audit)
Kendal to Lancaster towpath trail
Gooseholme Footbridge contribution
Structural Repair works to Westmorland
Shopping Centre MSCP
Car Parking Machines
Town and Car Park signing
Parkside Road, Kendal car park
Kendal Car Parking improvements including
potential purchase of site, machine upgrades
and signage
Grange Regeneration
Grange Promenade Structural works
Grange Lido
Windemere Jetty Repairs

Reason for amendment

amendments
Outturn

amendments
Dec 2021

2021/22
Latest

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Total
2021/22 to
2025/26

0.0
85.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

3.9
0.0
0.9
38.1
106.3

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

£000
3.9
85.0
0.9
38.1
106.3

£000
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

£000
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

£000
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

£000
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

£000
3.9
85.0
0.9
38.1
106.3

0.0

0.0

20.7

0.0

20.7

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

20.7

45.0
50.0
159.8

0.0
0.0
12.4

0.0
0.0
-77.2

-45.0
0.0
136.5

0.0
50.0
231.5

0.0
0.0
65.0

45.0
0.0
65.0

0.0
0.0
65.0

0.0
0.0
65.0

45.0
50.0
491.5

Re-profile
New

120.0
0.0
197.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
18.0

-120.0
75.0
0.0

0.0
75.0
215.0

120.0
0.0
240.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

120.0
75.0
455.0

Re-profile

0.0
0.0
0.0
493.5

84.2
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
8.7
144.1
0.0

-84.2
0.0
-144.1
-493.5

0.0
8.7
0.0
0.0

84.2
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
400.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

84.2
8.7
0.0
400.0

157.3
1,091.0
1,890.0
30.0

0.0
0.0
867.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
28.7
0.0

-157.3
-1,091.0
-2,700.1
-30.0

0.0
0.0
85.6
0.0

157.3
1,091.0
2,700.1
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

157.3
1,091.0
2,785.7
0.0

564.0

860.0

-22.5

-442.8

958.7

1,262.8

2,049.0

2,235.0

475.0

6,980.5

68.0
0.0

0.0
30.0

0.0
47.9

-68.0
0.0

0.0
77.9

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
77.9

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

50.0
65.0
125.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

50.0
65.0
125.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

50.0
25.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

50.0
25.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

40.0
25.0
45.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

40.0
25.0
45.0

Re-profile
Additional funding for Queens
Park play area

Delete
Re-profile and reduce to
£400k

Service Redesign - New Vehicles
Transfer to Revenue
Energy-saving building enhancements
Bids Autumn 2021:
Cap Bid1 Ulverston Market Hall Boiler Replacement
Cap Bid2 Ulverston Coronation Hall Lift Replacement
Cap Bid3 Ulverston Market Hall Roof Repair/ Replacement
KSC94
KXB27

Cap Bid6 Rothay Park Retaining Wall Repairs
Cap Bid7 Repairs to Ferry Nab Jetty
Cap Bid8 Parkside Road Cemetery Roof Replacement

amendments
March 2020

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

Re-profile
Re-profile
Re-profile
Delete: work completed,
funding to be applied to new
bids
Vehicle & Plant Programme (inc bins and boxes) Re-profile

Cap Bid4 Pavement/ highway improvement works
Cap Bid5 Dean Gibson - Drainage Works

2021/22
Approved
Feb 2021

New bid: review planned
maintenance fund

Appendix 4

Capital Programme 2021/22-2025/26
GL Code

Programme Spending by Project

Reason for amendment

Cap Bid9 Repairs to Gooseholme/ Stramongate Retaining
Wall
Bids subject to further assessment:
Car park investments*
Employment site land acquisition
Depot review

2021/22
Approved
Feb 2021

amendments
March 2020

amendments
Outturn

amendments
Dec 2021

2021/22
Latest

2022/23

2024/25

2025/26

Total
2021/22 to
2025/26

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

£000
0.0

£000
265.0

£000
0.0

£000
0.0

£000
0.0

£000
265.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

9,055.0

7,183.0

2,343.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
49,021.5

Total
19,085.3
6,160.4
1,571.0 -12,238.1 14,578.7 15,861.8
*subject to detailed review of car parking strategy including potential new car parks, reconfiguration options on existing car parks and electric charging points

2021/22
Latest

Page 479

Reconciliation:

2023/24

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

£000

Total
2021/22 to
2025/26

£000

£000

£000

Approved Programme July 2021

26,816.7

13,516.0

6,153.0

2,983.0

1,223.0

50,691.7

Reprofiling

-9,927.8

1,790.8

2,817.0

4,200.0

1,120.0

0.0

Virements

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Additional Contributions
Transfer to revenue - Next Steps Accommodation
Transfer to revenue - leased vehicles

£000

2022/23

£000

97.3

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

97.3

-389.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

-389.0

-68.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

-68.0

75.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

75.0

Proposed deletion of schemes - Homeless accommodation, Kendal

-115.4

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

-115.4

Proposed deletion of schemes - Footway Lighting

-110.0

-25.0

-25.0

0.0

0.0

-160.0

Proposed reduction of schemes - Kendal Parking Study / Parkside Road car park

-237.6

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

-237.6

-30.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

-30.0

39.2

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

39.2
-1,571.7

Include Gooseholme Footbridge contribution (approved Cabinet 1/9/21)

Savings on delivery of schemes
Adjustment to carry-forwards
Removal of double-counting of Cross-a-Moor guarantees
Bids for 2022/23
Proposed Programme December 2021

-1,571.7

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

580.0

110.0

0.0

0.0

690.0

14,578.7

15,861.8

9,055.0

7,183.0

2,343.0

49,021.5

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 480

Item No.17
South Lakeland District Council
Cabinet
Wednesday, 9 February 2022

Procurement Schedule 2022/23
Portfolio:

Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder

Report from:

Section 151 Officer

Report Author:

Gillian Flowers – Procurement Specialist

Wards:

(All Wards);

Forward Plan:
February 2022

Key decision included in the Forward Plan as published on DATE 8th

Links to Council Plan Priorities: N/A

1.0

Expected Outcome and Measures of Success

1.1 It is expected that Council will deliver Value for Money in the provision of services
and improve the efficiency of its procurement activities through the approval of the
procurement exercises proposed for 2022/23
2.0

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that Cabinet:(1)
consider the Draft Procurement Schedule for 2022/23 attached at
Appendix 1, and forward any comments to Council for their consideration.

3.0

Background and Proposals

3.1

Since April 2016 the Council’s Constitution has permitted officers to conduct and
conclude the contracting processes without further approval providing it is in line with
the Procurement Schedule, to be approved by Council at least annually. Where a
procurement process is over budget then approval will still be required in accordance
with the Financial Procedure Rules. Where an officer seeks approval for a waiver or
exemption under the Contract Procedure Rules this is also included in the Procurement
Schedule. Due to their nature, it is hard to predict with accuracy the numbers of
exemptions/waivers as they can be a sign of an urgent procurement requirement. The
exemptions/waivers will be documented in the Procurement Schedule update in
September.

3.2

In November 2021, changes were made to the Constitution that have clarified the
process for the Procurement Schedule and the subsequent approval process on
award. The development of the Delegated Executive Decision has added to
transparency. There were also changes to the thresholds at which decisions are made

Page 481

3.3

One of the consequences is a revision to the Schedule that includes the quarter of the
year when the procurement process is likely to start, taking into account procurement,
legal and implementation lead times. There remains a column for the anticipated start
date of the contract. There still remains a need for Key Procurements over a certain
value to be put on the Forward Plan and this is indicated on the schedule.

3.4

The Procurement Schedule for 2022/23 is attached at Appendix 1. There are 82
procurement projects identified which is considerably lower than the 135
procurement exercises originally approved for 2021/22. It is thought that Local
Government Reorganisation has focussed the departments on what is important in
terms of Business as Usual. It has been identified that 40 of these projects are
completely new requirements, 18 are re-provisions or contract renewals, which
means the remaining 24 are carried over from the previous procurement schedule.
Where items are on a previous procurement schedule and are in progress, they
might not be included on the 2022/23 schedule, as it is assumed that the budget for
them remains in place and Council authority to proceed has been agreed previously.
This schedule has been compared to the Capital Programme so, again, it can be
assumed that the budget is there to complete the works.

3.5.

Procurement have been involved in the LGR Strategic Commissioning, Procurement
and Contract Management Workstream. Information has been gathered for this
workstream, and endeavours are being made to ensure that this council remains
legally compliant and safe up to vesting day and beyond. Inevitably there will be an
increase in exemptions as this council aligns with those contracts let by Eden and
Barrow and while there is uncertainty over future requirements. Procurement
anticipates that there will be more joint contracts with Eden and Barrow and that
consequently there may be an increase in contracts that are above the Public
Contracting Regulations. This may have an impact on lead times as the process can
be lengthier and there are other legal obligations.

3.6.

On the 1st January 2022, there was a change to the Public Contracting Regulations
2015 thresholds. The thresholds are now VAT inclusive.

Threshold

Works

Services and Goods

£5,336,937

£213,477

4.0 Appendices Attached to this Report

Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

Procurement Schedule 2022/23

5.0

Consultation

5.1

CMT, Leadership Team

6.0

Alternative Options

6.1

Council could decide not to approve all or part of the Procurement Schedule. This
would mean that separate acceptance reports may be required for all or specific
tenders. This would mean increased lead time to procurement and a greater
administrative burden.

Page 482

Finance and Procurement
7.1 There are no direct financial implications of the report. Staff resources are required to
manage individual procurement exercises, both procurement staff and individual service
teams. Effective procurement will enable the Council to demonstrate it achieves value for
money. Where procurement exercises have not been run in a lawful manner there may be
fines and other additional costs.
Human Resources
7.2 There are no direct staffing implications of the report. Individual procurement exercises
may have direct staffing implications.
Legal
7.3 This report has no direct legal implications at this stage but individual proposals resulting
from this report may have direct legal implications.
Health, Social, Economic and Environmental
7.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact
Assessment? No
7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: advice is
taken on the Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact of each procurement
project. This report considers the overall process rather than individual procurement
exercises.
Positive
Environment
and Health

Economy and
Culture

Housing and
Communities

Neutral

Negative Unknown

Greenhouse gases
emissions

X

Air Quality

X

Biodiversity

X

Impacts of Climate
Change

X

Reduced or zero
requirement for energy,
building space, materials
or travel

X

Active Travel

X

Inclusive and sustainable
development

X

Jobs and levels of pay

X

Healthier high streets

X

Culture, creativity and
heritage

X

Standard of housing

X

Access to housing

X

Crime

X

Page 483

Social connectedness

X

Equality and Diversity
7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No
7.8 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons:
advice is taken on the Equality and Diversity impact of each procurement project.
This report considers the overall process rather than individual procurement
7.9

Summary of Equality and Diversity impacts

Please indicate: P = Positive impact; 0 = Neutral; N = Negative; Enter “X”
Age

P

0

X

N

Disability

P

0

X

N

Gender reassignment (transgender)

P

0

X

N

Marriage & civil partnership

P

0

X

N

Pregnancy & maternity

P

0

X

N

Race/ethnicity

P

0

X

N

Religion or belief

P

0

X

N

Sex/gender

P

0

X

N

Sexual orientation

P

0

X

N

Armed forces families

P

0

X

N

Rurality

P

0

X

N

Socio-economic disadvantage

P

0

X

N

Risk Management

Consequence

Controls required

Failure to accept tenders within
time limits

Potential need to re-tender
and/or loss of most
economically favourable
tenders.

Robust procurement
processes including
efficient mechanisms for
accepting tenders.

Contact Officers
Helen Smith, Finance Lead Specialist and S151 Officer, e-mail
h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk
Gill Flowers, Procurement Specialist e-mail Gillian.flowers@southlakeland.gov.uk
Background Documents Available
Tracking Information
Signed off by
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
CMT

Date sent
20/1/22
20/1/22
16/1/22

Page 484

Date Signed off
26/1/22
26/1/22
17/1/22

Circulated to
Lead Specialist
Human Resources Lead Specialist
Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
20/1/22
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
11/1/21
N/A
O & S 4/2/22

Page 485

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 486

Procurement Schedule 2022/23

Appendix 1

TITLE

Procurement Process
Start by F/Y quarter

Contract START Contract END Responsible
DATE
DATE
Officer

2 vehicles for Street Cleansing

Quarter 2

01/09/2022

3 electric and water bollards for public jetties at Ferry Nab

Quarter 2

22/23

7.5t vehicle

Quarter 2

01/09/2022

Apprenticeships

Quarter 2

01/09/2022

Archers Meadow Playground

Quarter 2

Asset Management Software

Quarter 1

Automatic Doors and Roller Shutters maintenance

Quarter 1

Back up for Microsoft 365

Quarter 1

BACS system
Car Park pay by phone

31/03/2023
22/23

Ward

DESCRIPTION OF CONTRACT

Phil Dixon

All

Purchase of 2 vehicles for Street Cleansing

Lake Admim
committee
Phil Dixon

Bownes Levens

Installation of bollards to support additional winter
berthing
7.5 t vehicle for street scene

Review Date

07/12/2021

Page 487

All

01/09/2024

Thwaites,
David
Bradley, Dawn Phil Dixon

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Polly Straker

Phil Dixon

Kendal East

Use of apprenticeship levy to train new apprentices and
existing employees. One or various suppliers
Purchase of playground equipment for Archers Meadow

01/04/2022

31/03/2026

Sion Thomas

Andrew Jarvis

None

Asset Management Software upgrade.

31/03/2023

Thomas, Sion Andrew Jarvis

None

Maintenance of the Automatic Doors and roller shutters

01/08/2022

31/07/2024

Wright, Ben

None

Backp for Microsoft 365

Quarter 1

01/06/2022

31/05/2024

Smith, Helen

Jonathan
Brook
Andrew Jarvis

None

Migration of BACS from Premis to Cloud

Quarter 2

22/23

22/25

F Flannigan

Phil Dixon

All

Pay by phone system for all car park

Collection of Clinical Waste

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Thomas, Sion Phil Dixon

All

Contact centre phones Enghouse

Quarter 1

11/07/2022

10/07/2024

Wright, Ben

None

Corporate Email Archiving system

Quarter 1

01/06/2022

31/05/2026

Wright, Ben

Corporate Phone/Tablet Security Solution

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Wright, Ben

Jonathan
Brook
Jonathan
Brook
Phil Dixon

None

Collection of Clinical waste from private residence
throughout the district.
Contact centre phones Enghouse currently supplied by
ITPS, either extend or reprocure
Solution to archive all e-mails centrally both sent and
received by SLDC
Security Solution for Tablets and Mobile Phones

Council Meeting Admin system (ModGov)

Quarter 2

01/04/2023

31/03/2025

None

ModGov extension/replacement

Data Warehouse Technology/Support

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

McVey, Simon Jonathan
Brook
Wright, Ben
Phil Dixon

None

Dean Gibson School Drainage Works

Quarter 3

22/23

22/23

Sion Thomas

Cllr Jarvis

Kendal West

Technology or support services to enable the creation of a
Data Warehouse
Drainage works to resolve flooding works
01.09.21

Digital platform to support IT services across South Lakeland and
Eden
Disaster and back up recovery of IT Services

Quarter 2

01/07/2016

30/06/2023

Wright, Ben

Phil Dixon

None

Quarter 3

01/10/2023

30/09/2026

Wright, Ben

Document storage system (Info @work)

Quarter 2

01/04/2023

31/03/2025

Electronic Tendering System

Quarter 1

01/07/2023

Enhanced Cyber Security Solution

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

Ferry Nab Jetty Replacement

Quarter 2

Fleet Maintenance Workshop Equipment Servicing

Quarter 1

Fleet Management Software & Hardware

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Thwaites,
David
F Flannigan

Portfolio
Holder

All

None

None
None

Document Storage system to link into other systems

30/06/2027

Jonathan
Brook
McVey, Simon Jonathan
Brook
Gill Flowers
Andrew Jarvis

Digital platform to support IT services across South
Lakeland and Eden (Meritec)
Contract for disaster and back up recovery of IT services

None

31/03/2026

Wright, Ben

None

22/23

22/23

Sion Thomas

Replacement for the Chest . Joint Contract with all North
East Local Authorities
Enhanced Cyber Security Solution mainly covering e-mail
security but may cover network data traffic as well
Jetty Replacement to Ferry Nab Marina

01/04/2022

31/4/26

None

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

31/03/2027

Framework for the purchase of vehicle parts

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Andrew
Phil Dixon
Vickers
Vickers,
Phil Dixon
Andrew
Thomas, Sion Phil Dixon

All

The maintenance and servicing of equipment in the Fleet
Maintenance vehicle workshop
Upgrade to the existing Fleet Management and Vehicle
tracking software
Set up a framework for the purchase of vehicle parts

Gooseholme Retaining Wall

Quarter 1

22/23

22/23

Sion Thomas

Kendal Town

Structural Repair works to Gooseholme retaining wall.

Grange Lido structural repair and refurbishment works to create
public open space

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Thomas, Sion Andrew Jarvis

Grange

Grange Promenade Structural Repairs - Building Contractor

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Thomas, Sion Andrew Jarvis

Grange

ICT Equipment

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Wright, Ben

None

Insurance Brokers

Quarter 1

01/04/2023

31/03/2028

Claire Read

Jonathan
Brook
Finance &
Assets

RIBA stage 2,3 & 4 to provide detailed design and cost
estimates for the refurbishment of the Grange Lido and to
take through to Tender following completion of the
Business Case.
To undertake structural repairs to sea wall defence and
upgrade the Grange Promenade
Laptops and Other ICT Equipment for staff, rolling
programme
Provision of brokerage to access insurance maket for
specialist covers e.g. Cyber, Marine, Terriorism

Insurance Contract

Quarter 2

01/04/2023

31/03/2028

Claire Read

Finance &
Assets

None

Leaf Sweeping in the Sedbergh area

Quarter 4

01/10/2023

30/09/2025

Phil Dixon

Legal Case Management ICT System

Quarter 1

Vickers,
Andrew
Fisher, Linda

Sedbergh & Kirkby
Lonsdale
None

Lime re-pointing works to Castle Dairy external walls - Building
Contractor

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

Lime re-pointing works to Castle Dairy external walls - Consultant

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

Local Land and Property Gazetteer ICT System

Quarter 1

01/01/2022

Locata

Quarter 1

Millerground Toilet Refurbishment

Quarter 1

Mobile Phones & Data/Voice Contract

Quarter 1

Net zero carbon project

Quarter 2

Owlett Ash

Quarter 2

44652

45747

Cllr Jarvis

Jonathan
Brook
Thomas, Sion Andrew Jarvis

Bowness

None

None

31/12/2027

Wright, Ben

Jonathan
Brook

1.4.22

1.4.24

Julie Jackson

Helen Chaffey All

21/22

22/23

Sion Thomas

Cllr Jarvis

Bowness

Refurbishment to toilet to create Changing Place toilet

01/04/2022

31/08/2024

Provision mobile phones and data and voice contract.

31/03/2023

Jonathan
Brook
Dyan Jones

None

01/04/2022

Jonathan
Moloney
Blyth S

All

Working with CAfS to realise Net zero carbon projects for
SLDC

31/03/2023

Polly Straker

Phil Dixon

Arnside & Milnthorpe Playground equipment

31/03/2023

Kendal Town

Provision of insurance for the council across numerious
policies/risks. E.g Employers and Public Liability, Property,
Motor etc.
Contract for leaf sweeping in the Sedbergh area
15/09/2021 N/A
Purchase & support of a Legal Case Management System
Re-pointing to external walls of Castle Dairy to remove
sand/cement pointing. Work will require listed building
application
Re-pointing to external walls of Castle Dairy to remove
sand/cement pointing work will require listed building
application
Corporate ICT System for storing and processing Local
Land and Property data, used to support addressing in
systems across the council.
Housing Options Case Management System

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Jonathan
Brook
Cllr Jarvis

Thomas, Sion Andrew Jarvis

Kendal Town

None

New Est
EXTENSION Value £
(if applicable)
£60k - £100k £60k - £100k
no

£25k - £60k
£10k - £25k
£25k - £60k

N/a

07/12/2021

01/07/2022

£60k - £100k Written
quotations
£10k - £25k Written
quotations
£25k - £60k Written
quotations
£25k - £60k Written
quotations
no
£25k - £60k Written
quotations
£25k - £60k Written
quotations
£25k - £60k Written
quotations
N/A £60k - £100k Written
quotations
N/A £60k - £100k Written
quotations
£10k - £25k Written
quotations
N/A £25k - £60k Written
quotations
N/A
£25k - £60k Written
quotations
Yes
Over £250k Tender
N/A £25k - £60k Written
quotations
£60k - £100k Written
quotations
£60k - £100k Written
quotations
N/A £100k Tender
£250k
N/A £60k - £100k Written
quotations
N/A under £10k Quotes

01.09.21

01.09.21

£60k - £100k

New
Procuremen
t Process
Written
quotations
Written
quotations
Written
quotations
Written
quotations
Written
quotations

N/A £25k - £60k Written
quotations
£25k - £60k £25k - £60k Written
quotations
N/A Over £250k Tender
Over £250k

Over £250k Tender

Over £250k

Over £250k Tender

New
Contract
Process
Sealed
contract
Written
contract
Purchase
Order
Written
contract
Sealed
contract

New Approval Process

Forward Plan

Delegated Executive Decision:
Director only
Admin Decision: Director

Procurement Schedule

CONTRACT Budget Code Carried
TYPE
Forward from
previous year
One-off
y

Procurement Schedule

One Off

Admin Decision: Lead Officer

Procurement Schedule

Admin Decision: Director

Individual item on Forward
Plan
Procurement Schedule

Sealed
contract
Purchase
Order
Written
contract
Written
contract
Written
contract
Written
contract
Written
contract
Sealed
contract
Sealed
contract
Purchase
Order
Written
contract
Written
contract
Sealed
contract
Written
contract
Sealed
contract
Sealed
contract
Sealed
contract
Sealed
contract
Purchase
Order
Written
contract
Written
contract
Sealed
contract
Sealed
contract

Delegated Executive Decision:
Director only
Admin Decision: Lead Officer

Individual item on Forward
Plan
Procurement Schedule

Admin Decision: Director

Procurement Schedule

Admin Decision: Director

Procurement Schedule

Admin Decision: Director
Admin Decision: Director
Admin Decision: Director

Procurement Schedule

Delegated Executive Decision:
Director only
Delegated Executive Decision:
Director only
Admin Decision: Lead Officer

Procurement Schedule

Admin Decision: Director

Procurement Schedule

Admin Decision: Director

Procurement Schedule

One Off

No.

Cabinet ( then implemented
by Admin decision )
Admin Decision: Director

Individual item on Forward
Plan
Procurement Schedule

Extension

No.

Delegated Executive Decision:
Director only
Delegated Executive Decision:
Director only
Delegated Exectutive Decision:
Portfolio Holder decision
Delegated Executive Decision:
Director only
Admin Decision : Lead Officer

Procurement Schedule

Delegated Executive Decision:
Director only

N/A
N

One-off

No

One Off

No

One-off

Yes

Procurement Schedule

3 years

N/A

Procurement Schedule

New
Contract

No

Procurement Schedule
Procurement Schedule

Procurement Schedule

Replacemen DSF2014864 no
t

Individual item on Forward
Plan
Procurement Schedule

One Off

No.

Procurement Schedule

Contract

Yes

Admin Decision: Director

Procurement Schedule

One-off

Yes

Admin Decision: Director

Procurement Schedule

y

Cabinet ( then implemented
by Admin decision )
Cabinet ( then implemented
by Admin decision )

Individual item on Forward
Plan
Procurement Schedule

New
Contract
One Off
One-off

y

Sealed
contract
Sealed
contract
Purchase
Order

Cabinet ( then implemented
by Admin decision )
Delegated Executive Decision:
Director only
Admin Decision : Lead Officer

Procurement Schedule

One-off

y

Procurement Schedule

3+2

Various

Procurement Schedule

3+2

Various

01/04/2023

Over £250k Tender

Sealed
contract

Cabinet ( then implemented
by Admin decision )

£25k - £60k Written
quotations
£100k Tender
£250k
£25k - £60k Written
quotations

Written
contract
Sealed
contract
Written
contract

Admin Decision: Director

Individual item on Forward
Plan
Delegated Exectutive Decision: Individual item on Forward
Portfolio Holder decision
Plan
Admin Decision: Director
Procurement Schedule

Contract
Renewall
New
Contract
One-off

No

under £10k

One-off

y

1.4.23
01.09.21
N/A

1+1

Multi Council procurement led by Greater
Manchester Council

Procurement Schedule

Purchase
Order

Admin Decision : Lead Officer

Procurement Schedule

N/A £25k - £60k Written
quotations

Written
contract

Admin Decision: Director

Individual item on Forward
Plan

£10k - £25k Written
quotations
N/A £25k - £60k Written
quotations
£10k - £25k Written
quotations
£25k - £60k Written
quotations

Purchase
Order
Written
contract
Purchase
Order
Written
contract

Admin Decision: Lead Officer

Procurement Schedule

Admin Decision: Director

Procurement Schedule

Admin Decision: Lead Officer

Procurement Schedule

Admin Decision: Director

Procurement Schedule

Sealed
contract

Delegated Executive Decision:
Director only

Individual item on Forward
Plan

£60k - £100k Written
quotations

Agreed at Cabinet 23/3/2016

No.

01/04/2023

Quotes

Procurement via the ESPO Framework.
Fund raising not started. carry forward to
2020/21.

No

N/A £60k - £100k Written
quotations
under £10k Quotes

£25k - £60k

Comments

Included in case LGR gets stalled/pushed
back as current contract ends at
31/03/2023.
Included in case LGR gets stalled/pushed
back as current contract ends at
31/03/2023.

Yes
y

No

New
GHM11
contract
New
Contract
Contract
Renewall
exemption.
Direct
award
One-off

Yes
No.
Yes
No

No

Joint with Eden

Parking enforcement ICT management system

Quarter 2

Parkside Road Cemetry Roof

Quarter 2

Pay on foot upgrade

Quarter 1

Pedestrian security scheme

Page 488

22/26

F Flannigan

Phil Dixon

None

22/23

Sion Thomas

Cllr Jarvis

Kendal Town

22/23

22/26

F Flannigan

Phil Dixon

Kendal Town

Quarter 1

22/23

22/23

Sion Thomas

Cllr Jarvis

Bowness

Purchase of 3 No. 12T Refuse Vehciles

Quarter 4

22/23

22/23

Sion Thomas

Cllr Dixon

All

Purchase of a Tractor for Ferry Nab

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Purchase of a tractor for Ferry Nab

Purchase of Bins and Boxes

Quarter 1

22/23

Thomas, Sion Lake
Bowness & Levens
Administration
Committee
Sion Thomas Cllr Dixon
All

Queens Park Skate Park

Quarter 4

31/03/2023

Polly Straker

Windermere

Refurbished stake park

Reconfiguration and extension to Rothay Park PC - Consultant

Quarter 1

31/03/2023

Thomas, Sion Andrew Jarvis

Reconfigure and extension to Rothay Park PC - Contractor

Quarter 1

31/03/2023

Thomas, Sion Andrew Jarvis

Refurbishment of Ellerthwiate Depot - Contractor

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Scullion, Paul Andrew Jarvis

Ambleside &
Grasmere
Ambleside &
Grasmere
Windermere

Refurbishment works to Abbot Hall - Consultant Appointment

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Scullion, Paul Andrew Jarvis

Kendal Town

Refurbishment works to Abbot Hall - Contractor Appointment

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Scullion, Paul Andrew Jarvis

Kendal Town

Registered Provider Partner for development of site

Quarter 1

1.4.22

1.4.24

Julie Jackson

Capital Project to upgrade the toilets and introduce kiosk in
partnership with LPC
Contractor to carry out the upgrade to toilets and introduce
a kiosk in partnership with LPC
A contractor to carry out the refurbishment of Ellerthwaite
Depot, Windermere
Appointment of a consultant to advise & assist in preparing
the procurement documents for the refurbishment of
Abbott Hall, Kendal
Appointment of a contractor to carry out the
refurbishment of Abbott Hall, Kendal
Affordable housing development
1.4.23

Replacement of Market Hall Kendal lift - Consultant Appointment

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Scullion, Paul Andrew Jarvis

Kendal Town

Replacement of Market Hall Kendal lift - Contractor Appointment

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Scullion, Paul Andrew Jarvis

Kendal Town

Revenues and Benefits ICT Software

Quarter 1

01/06/2022

31/05/2024

Phillip Dixon

None

Revenues and Benefits ICT System

Quarter 1

01/06/2024

TBC

Vicky
McDonald
Vicky
McDonald

Phil Dixon

None

Appointment of a consultant to advise & assist with the
preparation of the procurement documents for the
replacement of Market Hall lift
Appoint a contractor to replace the lift at Kendal Market
Hall
Extension of call off period for further 2 years for provision
of Capita software via exemption
Provision of Revenues and Benefits ICT system

Rothay Park retaining wall works

Quarter 1

22/23

22/23

Sion Thomas

Cllr Jarvis

Ambleside

Structural Repair works to Gooseholme retaining wall.

South Lakeland News

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Richard
Phil Dixon
Machin
Thomas, Sion Andrew Jarvis

All

Printing and Distribution oof South Lakeland news

Kendal Town

Flannigan,
Phil Dixon
Frankie
Thomas, Sion Phil Dixon

None
All

A Contractor the carry out the structural repair works to
concrete decking at the Westmorland Shopping Centre
Multi Storey Car Park
Supply of Car Park Tickets and the arrangement of
advertising.
Refreshment/ Ice cream concessions on SLDC land.

31/03/2028

Claire Read

Finance &
Assets

None

Contract for provision of advice on treasury management

01/04/2023

22/23

Sion Thomas

Cllr Jarvis

Ulverston

Lift Replacement

01.09.21

Structural Repair Works for Westmorland Shopping Centre Car Park - Quarter 1
Contractor

22/23
22/23

22/23
01/09/2022
01/04/2022
01/04/2022

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Helen Chaffey All

Upgrade of current system to support pay on foot
machines to take card payments
Funding top up to CCC pedestrian safety scheme in
Bowness.
Purchase of vehicles for Streetscene.

01.09.21
01.09.21

Bin/ Boxes Replacement programme

01.09.21

2 years

01.09.21

N/A

01/06/2022

Treasury Management Advice

Quarter 3

01/04/2023

Ulverston Coronation Hall - Lift

Quarter 3

Ulverston Market Hall Boiler

Quarter 3

22/23

22/23

Sion Thomas

Cllr Jarvis

Ulverston

Boiler Replacement

01.09.21

Ulverston Market Hall Roof

Quarter 3

22/23

22/23

Sion Thomas

Cllr Jarvis

Ulverston

Roof replacement

01.09.21

Ulverston Recyclables & Green Waste disposal

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

31/03/2025

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Ulverston East & West Disposal of Recyclables and Green Waste in the Ulverston
area.
Ulverston East & West Repair and overhaul Ulverston Town Clock

N/A

Ulverston Town Clock - Consultant Appointment

Vickers,
Phil Dixon
Andrew
Scullion, Paul Andrew Jarvis

Ulverston Town Clock - Contractor Appointment

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Scullion, Paul Andrew Jarvis

Ulverston East & West Repair and overhaul of Ulverston Town Clock

N/A

Upgrade of parking enforcement equipment hand helds and
printers
Upgrade to Millerground Pumping Pant - Contractor Appointment

Quarter 2

22/23

22/26

F Flannigan

None

07/12/2021

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Scullion, Paul Andrew Jarvis

Windermere

Upgrade to Millerground Pumping Plant - Consultant Appointment

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Scullion, Paul Andrew Jarvis

Windermere

New enforcement equipment to support ne car park
management system
Appoint a Contractor to upgrade the pumping plant at
Millerground, Windermere
Appoint a consultant to advise and assist with the
preparation of the procurement documents for a
replacement pumping plant at Millerground, Windermere

Vehicle Reversing Safety Equipment

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Thomas, Sion Phil Dixon

None

Purchase of Vehicle Reversing Safety Equipment

N/A

Ulverston Leisure Phase 1 - Agronomist study for new sports
pitches

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

01/07/2022

David Sykes

Cllr Ashcroft

Ulverston East

Ulverston Leisure Phase 1 - project management

Specialist consultancy to assess soils and provide
recommendations for construction of new turf sports
pitches
Project management support for the delivery of Phase 1,
includng the securing of necessary consents
Design of new changing pavillion, design of changes to
indoor tennis centre and preparation of tender documents

01/04/2022

01/04/2024

David Sykes

Cllr Ashcroft

Ulverston East

01/05/2022

01/12/2022

David Sykes

Cllr Ashcroft

Ulverston East

Ulverston Leisure Phase 1 - Construction of new changing pavillion
and alterations to Tennis Centre
Ulverston Leisure Phase1 - design and delivery of Crown Green
bowling facility
Ulverston Leisure Phase 1 - design and delivery of new turf sports
pitches
Welcome Back Fund - Planters

Quarter 4

01/01/2023

01/01/2024

David Sykes

Cllr Ashcroft

Ulverston East

Quarter 4

01/01/2023

01/10/2023

David Sykes

Cllr Ashcroft

Ulverston East

Quarter 4

01/01/2023

01/10/2023

David Sykes

Cllr Ashcroft

Ulverston East

Construction of new changing pavillion and changes to
indoor tennis centre
Design and construction of new Crown Green bowling
facility
Design and construction of new turf sports pitches

Quarter 1

14/02/2022

31/03/2022

Cllr Ashcroft

All

Planters for various highstreets

Wide area network Connections

Quarter 1

01/04/2022

31/03/2023

Chapman,
Laura
Wright, Ben

Jonathan
Brook

None

Wide area network connections contract

Procurement and Contract Requirements
Standard Procurement Requirements:
Contract Value from (excluding VAT)

All Procurements should
on the
beProcurement
on the Procurement
Schedule
Schedule
and on the columns
Forward should
Plan
The
( ifdate
say
applicable
the
fordates
the in
Cabinet
that
advance
the
decision
Cabinet
of the should
approval
decisions
beof
inserted
will
thebe
Procurement
taken.
on the FP Schedule )

Procurement Schedule

3 years

N/A

Admin Decision: Director

Procurement Schedule

One Off

No.

Admin Decision: Director

Procurement Schedule

One Off

N/A

Admin Decision: Director

Procurement Schedule

One Off

No.

Cabinet ( then implemented
by Admin decision )
Delegated Executive Decision:
Director only

Individual item on Forward
Plan
Procurement Schedule

One Off

No.

One-off

yes

Sealed
contract
Sealed
contract
Purchase
Order
Sealed
contract
Sealed
contract
Purchase
Order

Delegated Exectutive Decision:
Portfolio Holder decision
Delegated Exectutive Decision:
PH and Director decision
Admin Decision : Lead Officer

Individual item on Forward
Plan
Individual item on Forward
Plan
Individual item on Forward
Plan
Delegated Exectutive Decision: Individual item on Forward
Portfolio Holder decision
Plan
Delegated Executive Decision: N/A
Director only
Admin Decision : Lead Officer Individual item on Forward
Plan

One Off

No.

One-off

No

One-off

Yes

One-off

Yes

One-off

Yes

One-off

Yes

Sealed
contract
Sealed
contract
Purchase
Order

Delegated Exectutive Decision:
Portfolio Holder decision
Cabinet ( then implemented
by Admin decision )
Admin Decision : Lead Officer

Individual item on Forward
Plan
Individual item on Forward
Plan
Individual item on Forward
Plan

One-off

Yes

Grant
KRT10
Agreement
One-off

No

£60k - £100k Written
quotations
£100k Tender
£250k
£100k Tender
£250k

Sealed
contract
Sealed
contract
Sealed
contract

Delegated Executive Decision:
Director only
Delegated Exectutive Decision:
Portfolio Holder decision
Delegated Exectutive Decision:
Portfolio Holder decision

Individual item on Forward
Plan
Individual item on Forward
Plan
Individual item on Forward
Plan

One-off

Yes

N/A £25k - £60k Written
quotations
yes £25k - £60k Written
quotations
Over £250k Tender

Written
contract
Written
contract
Sealed
contract

Admin Decision: Director

Procurement Schedule

On Off

No.

Admin Decision: Director

Procurement Schedule

exemption

no

Cabinet ( then implemented
by Admin decision )

Individual item on Forward
Plan

One-off

Yes

£10k - £25k Written
quotations
£10k - £25k Written
quotations
£25k - £60k Written
quotations

Purchase
Order
Purchase
Order
Written
contract

Admin Decision: Lead Officer

Procurement Schedule
Procurement Schedule

New
Contract
One-off

Yes

Admin Decision: Lead Officer
Admin Decision: Director

Procurement Schedule

3+2

£60k - £100k Written
quotations
N/A £25k - £60k Written
quotations
N/A £100k Tender
£250k
£100k Tender
£250k
under £10k Quotes

Sealed
contract
Written
contract
Sealed
contract
Sealed
contract
Purchase
Order
Written
contract
Sealed
contract
Written
contract
Purchase
Order

Delegated Executive Decision:
Director only
Admin Decision: Director

Procurement Schedule

One Off

No.

Procurement Schedule

One Off

No.

Delegated Exectutive Decision:
Portfolio Holder decision
Delegated Exectutive Decision:
Portfolio Holder decision
Admin Decision : Lead Officer

Individual item on Forward
Plan
Procurement Schedule

One Off

No.

New
Contract
One-off

Yes

One-off

Yes

One Off

no

One-off

No

Admin Decision : Lead Officer

Procurement Schedule

One-off

No

£25k - £60k Written
quotations
under £10k Quotes

Written
contract
Purchase
Order

Admin Decision: Director

Procurement Schedule

One Off

Yes

Admin Decision : Lead Officer

Procurement Schedule

One off

£25k - £60k Written
quotations
£60k - £100k Written
quotations

Written
contract
Sealed
contract

Admin Decision: Director

Procurement Schedule

One off

Delegated Executive Decision:
Director only

Procurement Schedule

One off

Over £250k Tender

Sealed
contract
Sealed
contract
Sealed
contract
Written
contract
Purchase
Order

Cabinet ( then implemented
by Admin decision )
Delegated Exectutive Decision:
Portfolio Holder decision
Cabinet ( then implemented
by Admin decision )
Admin Decision: Director

Individual item on Forward
Plan
Procurement Schedule

One off

Individual item on Forward
Plan
Individual item on Forward
Plan
Individual item on Forward
Plan

One off

Tender
Tender
Quotes

£100k Tender
£250k
Over £250k Tender
under £10k

01/10/2022

Quarter 1

Admin Decision: Director

N/A £100k £250k
£100k £250k
under £10k

n/a

Quarter 1

Ulverston Leisure Phase 1 - Design works for new changing pavillion Quarter 1
and alterations to Tennis Centre

Written
contract
Written
contract
Written
contract
Written
contract
Sealed
contract
Sealed
contract

£100k Tender
£250k
£60k - £100k Written
quotations
under £10k Quotes

Quarter 2

Phil Dixon

£25k - £60k Written
quotations
£25k - £60k Written
quotations
yes
£25k - £60k Written
quotations
N/A £25k - £60k Written
quotations
N/A Over £250k Tender

£60k - £100k £60k - £100k Written
quotations

Tender for refreshment/ Ice cream concession on SLDC land.

31/03/2027

yes
N/A

07/12/2021

Supply of Car Park Tickets

22/23

30/09/2025

Phil Dixon

Upgrade of current system to support parking enforcement 07/12/2021
function
Roof Replacement
01.09.21

N/A
N/A

N/A

N/A

no

N/A
N/A

N/A

Quotes

£25k - £60k Written
quotations
£100k Tender
£250k
£25k - £60k Written
quotations
under £10k Quotes

£100k Tender
£250k
Over £250k Tender
£25k - £60k Written
quotations
N/A £10k - £25k Written
quotations

Individual item on Forward
Plan
Admin Decision: Director
Individual item on Forward
Plan
Delegated Exectutive Decision: Individual item on Forward
Portfolio Holder decision
Plan
Admin Decision: Director
Procurement Schedule

Admin Decision: Lead Officer

Extension
New
contract

DCM65
14694
DCM65

Yes

No
Yes

One Off

Follow on contract

No
GTV41

Included in case LGR gets stalled/pushed
back as current contract ends at
31/03/2023.

Yes

One off

One off

Extension of call off period for 2 further
years
Contract term to be confirmed. Joint
contract with Eden, however in light of
LGR, discussions with Barrow required to
potentially align contract end dates

EU funded

No
No

£0
£10,000
£25,000
£60,000
£100,000
£250,000

Contract Value from
(excluding VAT)
£10,000
£25,000
£60,000
£100,000
£250,000

Value range
Under £10k
£10k - £25k
£25k - £60k
£60k - £100k
£100k - £250k
Over £250k

Procurement
Contract
Requirement
Requirement
Quotes
Purchase Order
Written quotationsPurchase Order
Written quotationsWritten contract
Written quotationsSealed contract
Tender
Sealed contract
Tender
Sealed contract

Forward Plan Forward Plan - 2 or more Acceptance
Single Ward
Wards
Not needed
Not needed
Admin Decision : Lead Officer
Procurement Schedule
Individual
Only item on ForwardAdmin
Plan Decision: Lead Officer
Procurement Schedule
Individual
Only item on ForwardAdmin
Plan Decision: Director
Procurement Schedule
Individual
Only item on ForwardDelegated
Plan
Executive Decision: Director only
Individual item on Forward
IndividualPlan
item on ForwardDelegated
Plan
Exectutive Decision: Portfolio Holder decision
Individual item on Forward
IndividualPlan
item on ForwardCabinet
Plan
( then implemented by Admin decision )

Page 489

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 490

Item No.18
South Lakeland District Council
Cabinet
Wednesday, 9 February 2022

Ulverston Leisure Site
Portfolio:

Economy, Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder

Report from:

Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Report Author:

David Sykes – Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Wards:
Broughton & Coniston; Cartmel; Furness Peninsula; Grange; Ulverston
East; Ulverston West;
Forward Plan:

Key decision in the Forward Plan as published on 21st December 2021

Links to Council Plan Priorities:
Working across boundaries – The proposals will improve prospects for employment growth by
releasing land to repurpose as employment land.
Delivering a balanced community – The proposals will help secure the provision of facilities
which promote participation in active lifestyles, promote club and volunteer activity.
A fairer South Lakeland – The proposals will help secure provision of facilities which can help
work in partnership to reduce health inequalities
Addressing the climate emergency – Planning for future built facilities provides opportunity to
improve and sustainability of buildings and services.

1.0

Expected Outcome and Measures of Success

1.1

Options for the Ulverston Leisure site are considered and a way forward for the scheme
is agreed. Approval would see the first phase of development progress which would
enable the relocation of uses from the GlaxoSmithKline (GSK) sports site to Priory
Road. This will release land for future employment use. Further project development
work on phases 2 and 3 will enable the Westmorland and Furness Council to determine
an appropriate strategy for provision and reinvestment in leisure facilities.

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

(1) That Cabinet (subject to 2.1.3 and 2.1.4) recommends that Council receives
the £2 million from GSK for replacement Leisure provision
(2).That Cabinet approves the progression of Phase 1 of the Ulverston Leisure
Site with the proceeds of the £2 million from GSK ( subject to 2.1.3 and 2.1.4)
(3) That Cabinet approves the entering into of an agreement to receive the £2
million this to be delegated to the Director of Customer and Commercial
Services in consultation with the Monitoring Officer and the Portfolio Holder
for Finance and Assets
(4) That Cabinet approves the amendment of the existing contract with GLL to
facilitate the delivery of Phase 1; this to be delegated to the Director of

Page 491

Customer and Commercial Services in consultation with the Monitoring Officer
and Portfolio Holder for Economy, Culture and Leisure.
(5) That Cabinet approves that further project development takes place on
Phases 2 and 3, for the purpose of providing detailed proposals for
consideration by the new Westmorland and Furness Council with regard to
future implementation.
(6) That Cabinet recommends to Council amendments to the Capital Programme
in light of the revised estimated costs of the scheme and a phased approach to
delivery
3.0

Background and Proposals

3.1

The Council has been developing proposals for a new leisure facility at the Council’s
Priory Road site in Ulverston. The proposals would realise opportunity to co-locate
facilities currently provided by GSK together with reinvestment in the Council’s
facilities. (Previous reports to Cabinet are referenced in the background documents
section). These proposals faced challenges with regard to the estimated costs being
in excess of funding likely to be available and through the impact of the pandemic on
leisure use and operational business plans. As the impact of the pandemic eases and
there being progress on the interrelated developments at the GSK site, further work
has been undertaken to consider opportunities for progressing the proposals.

3.2

The rationale for the scheme is summarised as:

3.4



Investment in Place – providing a good leisure and sports offering, promoting the
benefits of Ulverston as a place to live, work and invest.



Improving health – providing facilities and programming which promote active
lifestyles



Employment Land use – opportunity for the re purposing of land at the GSK site
to support future employment use, enabled by the relocation of facilities at Priory
Road.



Sustainable facilities – addressing reinvestment in aging facilities, reducing cost
and environmental impact, extending community participation in the provision and
operation of facilities.



Responding to current circumstances – As part of proposals which mitigate the
impacts of change at the GSK site

Recent study work with the support of leisure consultants FMG has been undertaken
to assess:
How the GSK sports centre facilities and football pitches can be accommodated on the
Priory Road site with less resources.
How a new swimming pool can be delivered at Priory Road with less resources.
How the investment in facilities can drive improvement to health and wellbeing for the
town – using ‘Leisure Local’ community hub mixed delivery model.
How delivery may be phased and risks managed
Whether there is stakeholder support for this approach
How the resultant proposals coordinate with the Masterplan study for the GSK
Donation Land (that land currently the site of the GSK sports facility and which GSK
seek to donate to support future employment use).

3.5

Through this work, FMG and Council officers have re-engaged with user groups of the
GSK and Priory Road sites, National Governing Bodies (NGBs) of sports, Sport

Page 492

England, GSK, Greenwich Leisure Limited (GLL – the Council’s Leisure provider) and
local health services. The study has refreshed the needs assessment, considered
design and layout of the Priory Road site and proposed a phasing of approach and the
associated costs of implementation.
Study Outcomes:
3.6

The needs assessment supports:
 The relocation of three full size grass pitches and provision of new changing
rooms
 The provision of an informal running circular route at Priory Road
 The provision of a replacement crown green bowling green for the GSK bowling
club
 A gym facility with 60 station gym and studio
 An approach to work with the football, rugby and bowling clubs to develop long
lease proposals through which they invest in and maintain their playing facilities
 Retention of two indoor tennis courts and consideration of the repurposing of the
other courts for wider community use as a four court sports hall and fitness
facility.
 That the existing squash court at GSK is not replaced, nor the provision of a play
area at Priory Road
 The provision of a new six lane swimming pool, with changing facilities and at
least two consultation rooms

3.7

Engagement with the user groups and stakeholders has been undertaken. This
has included The GSK Sports and Social Club, clubs which use the GSK facility,
tennis, rugby league, football local clubs, users and their regional and National
Governing Bodies, Sport England, National Health Service (NHS), GSK and GLL. A
briefing has also been provided to members of Ulverston Town Council.

3.8

The general feedback has been positive with the tennis club and Lawn Tennis
Association (LTA), local football clubs, rugby league club, and volleyball clubs all in
favour of a proposed move to Priory Road through a repurposed indoor tennis centre
providing a minimum of two indoor courts for tennis. The consultation with the NHS
and local surgeries revealed an exciting opportunity for the old swimming pool site
should it become vacant in the future. The demand for health services in Ulverston is
outstripping supply with current surgeries full.

3.9

The local harriers running club have concerns about the move to Priory Road,
primarily because they train on the cross country section at the GSK sports site and
run a large event every year there which raises funds for the club. Further
discussions are currently taking place between the club, GLL and SLDC with regard
to how the activities are best provided for through the change. Similarly, further
discussion are taking place with the Radio Controlled Car Club. The bowling club
would prefer remain at their current location, though the construction of a new crown
green and facilities is provided for at Priory Road in the Phase 1 plans, and further
dialogue will progress with the bowling club.

3.10

Sport England policy is to protect playing fields from loss or their use being
prejudiced by development. To meet their policy test, playing fields being lost need to
be replaced in an equivalent or better in terms of quantity, quality and accessibility.
This results in a requirement for three pitches to be re-provided. At present the
Council’s land at Priory Road can accommodate an additional two pitches. In taking
the project forward, the council will need to explore with Sport England how the
equivalency of the third pitch may be provided. The Council is also progressing a

Page 493

Playing Pitch Strategy as part of the South Lakeland Local Plan. Evidence and
engagement through this process, allied with the needs assessment will enable a
solution, including consideration of improvement to other playing fields in Ulverston.
3.11

Members of Ulverston Town Council welcomed the further work on the proposals and
are very supportive of improvements to leisure and sports facilities, recognising the
contribution they make to the quality of life in the town and its surrounding areas.
Whilst they recognise the need for a phased approach, they remain keen that all
phases are implemented, securing modern and sustainable facilities for the town.
They made a number of suggestions with regard to individual facilities which will
inform detailed design.

3.12

The study recommends a phased approach to the proposals. In summary;
Phase 1 would include; the provision of 3 football pitches, changing facilities,
remodelling of the indoor tennis centre, provision of the crown green bowling green,
and the informal running route. This is estimated to cost in the region of £1.8m and
would be enabled by the GSK financial contribution. A delivery period of circa 12-15
months would be required from commencement to all the facilities being available.
Phase 2 would include; the provision of the swimming pool, car parking re modelling,
and further internal work to the tennis centre. This is estimated to cost in the region of
£5.4m and would require the new facility’s business plan to provide revenue which
supports prudential borrowing, together with potential for grant funding. A delivery
period of circa 18 months would be required from commencement.
Phase 3 would include refurbishment of the existing all weather hockey pitch and
refurbishment of the outdoor tennis courts. This is estimated to cost in the region of
£0.3m and would require the new business plan to provide revenue which supports
prudential borrowing, together with potential for grant funding. A delivery period of
circa 2 months would be required from commencement.

3.13

Appendix 1 provides a concept plan for the layout of facilities on the Priory Road site
and concept diagrams of the proposed repurposing of the tennis centre and locations
for a new swimming pool. These would form the basis for further detailed design
work. With regard to the Tennis Centre, two courts would continue as exclusive use
for tennis, one court would be repurposed as a multi-sport sports hall, capable of
continued use for tennis as required and one court repurposed for gym and studio
use.

Considerations for the Council
3.14

The study re confirms the rationale for investing in leisure facilities in Ulverston and
mitigating risks associated with change at the GSK site. It demonstrates a good level
of user and stakeholder support for taking a scheme forward. The study
demonstrates the potential to achieve reinvestment in a phased approach and at less
cost than previous designs required. The first phase in considered to be deliverable
utilising the financial contribution committed by GSK.

3.15

The study presents the scheme at a stage of concept design. Further project
development work is required on each of the phases.
Phase 1 will require:
 Finalisation of the funding arrangement with GSK.

Page 494










Investigation of the provision of a third pitch or enhancement to other playing
surfaces in Ulverston, the current Council’s landownership at Priory Road
being able to accommodate 2 of the 3 pitches.
Securing planning consent for provision of pitches, bowling green and new
build structures
Agronomist study to inform specification for construction of the pitches
Design and tendering of new changing facility and changes to Tennis Centre
Construction of new build and changes to the Tennis Centre.
Design and construction of playing pitches and crown green bowling green
Amendment to the Leisure Contract for the additional areas of the pitches
Transition planning, to enable construction and bringing forward of
replacement facilities whilst maintaining user access to provision.

Further project development work on Phases 2 and 3 would include:
 Consideration of options to extend the Leisure Contract and negotiate change
to financial arrangements which will enable enhanced revenues through a
new pool and facilities to be applied to prudential borrowing
 Outline design of new pool and changes to car park to enable greater cost
certainty and business plan.
 Work with Sport England with regard to grant funding
 Development of proposals for the optimum means of delivering the scheme
3.16

Local Government Reorganisation: As part of the process of reorganisation,
Government is likely to make Directions on the expenditure of the existing Councils
for the period between the Structural Changes Order coming into effect and prior to
vesting day. The effect of these Directions will likely require the written consent of the
Shadow Authority’s Cabinet prior to entering contracts which involve Capital
expenditure above £1m or revenue to a commitment above £100k where they extend
beyond 2022/23.

3.17

Phase 1 is a relatively straightforward phase and has high degree of certainty that
costs can be met by external financial contribution. It is considered that a decision by
Cabinet to proceed with Phase 1 would be straightforward to achieve subsequent
consent of the Shadow Authority when entering the contracts for capital works.

3.18

Phases 2 and 3 require more significant project development work to achieve a
similar degree of confidence on costs and how they may be met. They will also be
dependent on extension of the Leisure Contract. Whilst it is recommended that
Cabinet approve further development work, Cabinet would not be in a position to
agree to implement phases 2 and 3 prior to a Direction being made. Further project
development work would be below the revenue threshold and in its self would not
create commitment beyond 2022/23.

Options to consider
3.19

The project is at a pivotal point. It is intrinsically linked to the future use of the land at
GSK which enables future employment use and as part of mitigation of the change at
the GSK site. It has made progress in narrowing the funding gap of the previous
proposals and has broad support from stakeholders to progress. Local Government
Reorganisation is imminent which will bring the considerations of a new Council to
future strategy and provision of services. The following options are considerd:

3.20

Do nothing. The Cabinet could decide not to undertake further work on the scheme.
This would mean that the opportunity to reinvest in leisure facilities and to repurpose

Page 495

land at GSK for employment use would be lost. The rationale for the scheme would
be lost. It would increase the risk of sports facilities being closed at GSK without
replacement or the economic benefit of future employment land. The financial
contribution from GSK would not be realised. Whilst the Council’s current facilities
would continue, opportunities to investigate how they can be re provided and funded,
addressing risk from the increased aging of the current facilities would be lost. The
development of informed options for consideration by the new Westmorland and
Furness Council would be foregone. This option is not recommended.
3.21

Progress all Phases as a single scheme. Further stages of design, funding and
leisure contract renegotiation would be required in order to inform the Cabinet of all
relevant considerations prior to a decision to progress all phases as a single scheme.
Understanding the implications and requirements of the Leisure Contract post Covid
will take some time. Progressing as a whole risks pushing the project back a number
of years and doesn’t allow earlier delivery of benefits which are possible through a
phased approach and better meet the timetable of change occurring at the GSK site.
This option is not recommended

3.22

Progress Phase 1 to implementation. This option enables earlier delivery of
benefits, including the future repurposing of the GSK land for employment use. It
enables and secures the application of financial contribution from GSK and reduces
risk of the potential for closure of sporting facilities. This is the recommended
option.

3.23

Continue project development work on Phases 2 and 3. This option enables
further development work to ascertain greater cost certainty, funding and associated
contractual change. This work would be required to fully inform future options for the
Council’s facilities and leisure provision in Ulverston and helps mitigate the risks from
the increased aging of facilities. It will enable options to be considered by the new
Westmorland and Furness Council. This is a recommended option.

4.0 Appendices Attached to this Report
Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

Ulverston Leisure Site – concept designs

2

Health and Sustainability impact assessment

3

Equalities and Diversity Impact Assessment

5.0

Consultation

5.1

A summary of the consultation undertaken by the study is provided in paragraphs 3.7
– 3.11 It remains important for users and stakeholders to be engaged as design and
implementation proceeds.

6.0

Alternative Options

6.1

Alternative options are presented in paragraphs 3.19 to 3.22 of the report

7.0

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1

The Capital programme (KLC03 – New Ulverston Leisure Centre) currently identifies
the original scheme, based on previous study work, as having value of £9.2m

Page 496

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

Total

£2m

£4m

£3.2m

£9.2m

KL03 New Ulverston Leisure Centre

As described in paragraph 3.1, the scheme faced a gap between estimated costs and
available funding so has not been fully funded.
7.1.1

The current work estimates the capital cost, (including fees and contingency) as
follows:
Phase 1

Phase 2

Phase 3

Total

£1.173m

£5.353m

£0.297m

£7.373m

This reduction is primarily due to the market now coming forward with more cost
effective design and construction solutions for the provision of swimming pools in
response to the national picture of requirement for swimming pool replacements.
7.1.2

The sources of funding for the revised scheme are identified as follows:
Source

£

Financial contribution from GSK

£2.00m

Council prudential borrowing.

£3.66m

(This would need to be justified and funded by revenue savings
on the leisure management fee plus savings in annual lifecycle
maintenance costs)
Sport England Strategic Facilities Fund

£0.50m

Potential for developer contributions

£1.00m

(development of the GSK site)
Capital receipt

£0.25m

(sale of existing pool site)
Total

£7.41m

7.1.3

At this concept stage, the study has confirmed that a scheme can be delivered at less
capital cost than originally envisaged. Further project development work will be
required through which costs are tested through more detailed design and sources and
quantum of funding are refined and confirmed.

7.1.4

The proposed phasing of the scheme indicates that Phase 1 is fundable by the financial
contribution of GSK. Subject to its receipt, detailed design and implementation of
Phase 1 could proceed.

7.1.5

The current year’s revenue budget has provision to fund the project’s development
work and it is recommended that the balance of £76,050 is carried forward into 22/23
to support project development work for the implementation of Phase 1 and continued
development of proposals for Phases 2 and 3.

7.1.6

It is recommended that the Capital Programme be amended to show the revised
estimated costs of the scheme.
2022/23

Page 497

2023/24

2024/25

Total

KL03 New Ulverston Leisure Centre

7.1.7

£2m

£2m

£3.37m

£7.37m

The Procurement Schedule 2022/23 includes the proposed procurements which would
be required for consultants, design work and delivery of Phase 1.

Human Resources
7.2

The delivery of the scheme will require inputs of estates and building surveyors, legal
and finance specialists. There will also be requirement for dedicated project
management. The revenue funding identified in paragraph 7.1.6 will be used to
supplement existing capacity as required.

Legal
7.3

Section 111 (1) of the LGA 1972 provides:
"Without prejudice to any powers exercisable apart from this section but subject to
the provisions of this Act and any other enactment passed before or after this Act, a
local authority shall have power to do any thing (whether or not involving the
expenditure, borrowing or lending of money or the acquisition or disposal of any
property or rights) which is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or incidental to, the
discharge of any of their functions".

7.3.1

The proposed actions are considered to be conducive to the discharge the local
authority's functions as outlined in the report. The Council’s proposed actions are
likely to achieve the promotion or improvement of the economic, social or
environmental well-being of its area.

7.3.2

The Council has properly considered its power to act.

7.3.3

Legal advice will be provided on the agreements referenced in this report and on the
Article 24 Directions as they are received.

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment
7.4

Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment? Yes (attached
at Appendix 2)

7.5

The Impact Assessment has been undertaken for Phase 1 only.

7.6

Summary of Health and Sustainability Impacts
Positive

Environment
and Health

Neutral

Greenhouse gases
emissions

Y

Air Quality

Y

Biodiversity

Y

Impacts of Climate
Change

Y

Reduced or zero
requirement for energy,
building space, materials
or travel

Y

Active Travel / Active lives

Y

Page 498

Negative Unknown

Economy and
Culture

Inclusive and sustainable
development
Jobs and levels of pay

Y

Healthier high streets

Y

Culture, creativity and
heritage
Housing and
Communities

Y

Y

Standard of housing

Y

Access to housing

Y

Crime

Y

Social connectedness

Y

Equality and Diversity
7.7

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? Yes and attached.

7.8

Phase 1 is focussed on delivery of replacement facilities. Whilst some facilities may
not be provided in exactly the same form as currently, they are intended to provide
the same access to sport and physical activity. When considering the Equality and
Diversity impacts, Phase 1 facilities provision is considered to have a neutral impact.
Looking forward, there will be opportunities through the subsequent programming of
use of the facilities to increase participation in active lifestyles amongst
underrepresented groups. Future programming would consider opportunities for
positive impacts on Equalities and Diversity.

7.9

Summary of Equality and Diversity impacts for the change to facilities only

Please indicate: P = Positive impact; 0 = Neutral; N = Negative; Enter “X”
Age

P

0

X

N

Disability

P

0

X

N

Gender reassignment (transgender)

P

0

X

N

Marriage & civil partnership

P

0

X

N

Pregnancy & maternity

P

0

X

N

Race/ethnicity

P

0

X

N

Religion or belief

P

0

X

N

Sex/gender

P

0

X

N

Sexual orientation

P

0

X

N

Armed forces families

P

0

X

N

Rurality

P

0

X

N

Socio-economic disadvantage

P

0

X

N

Page 499

Risk Management

Consequence

Controls required

Increasingly aged facilities

Increasing cyclical maintenance Facilities management
costs.
Develop options for future
Risk of failure of plant and re investment/ provision of
equipment
facilities
Closures for maintenance and
repair lead to reduced public
access and impacts on activities
supported by the facilities and
losses of revenue
Reduced level of usage as
facilities age. Competition from
others. Impact on the reputation
of place.
Leisure Contract becomes more
challenging to re procure in
future, without reinvestment in
facilities

Change at GSK leads to Risk of loss of facilities
closure of sports facilities
available to communities of
Opportunity lost to repurpose
Ulverston and Furness
land for employment use.

Develop and implement
proposals to re provide
facilities at Priory Road,
utilising funding to be
provided by GSK

Local
Government Will bring consideration of
Reorganisation
revised strategy towards the
provision of facilities across the
whole of the new Authority’s
area.

Proceed with Phase 1
Prepare more detail on the
options for Phase 2 and 3
for the new Authority’s
consideration.

Risk of momentum lost in respect
of generating options for future
provision of facilities
Affordability of proposals. Phases become undeliverable if Maintain progress on the
Currency of costs and not affordable.
Phases, ensuring up to
funding of proposals
date costs and funding
mechanisms
are
presented
when
considering the decisions
on the phases.
Consideration of delivery
options
to
optimise
affordability.
Contact Officers
David Sykes – Director Strategy Innovation and Resources d.sykes@southlakeland.gov.uk

Page 500

Background Documents Available

Name of Background document

Where it is available

Agenda and Minutes of Cabinet https://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocume
meeting 20th July 2016
nts.aspx?CId=121&MId=3767&Ver=4
Minute CEX 39
Ulverston Leisure Facilities Study
Agenda and Minutes of Cabinet https://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocume
meeting 10th September 2018
nts.aspx?CId=121&MId=4462&Ver=4
Minute CEX 35
Ulverston Leisure Site Masterplan
Tracking Information
Signed off by
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
CMT

Date sent
25/01/2022
25/01/2022
27/01/2022

Circulated to
Lead Specialist
Human Resources Lead Specialist
Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
25/01/2022
N/A
N/A
25/01/2022
N/A
25/01/2022
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Page 501

Date Signed off
31/01/2022
28/01/2022
28/01/2022

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 502

Cabinet Report
Ulverston Leisure Site

Appendix 1

Priory Road site – Concept layout (an enlarged version of the legend is on the following page)

Page 503

Cabinet Report
Ulverston Leisure Site

Appendix 1

Enlarged Legend

Page 504

Cabinet Report
Ulverston Leisure Site

Appendix 1

Indoor Tennis Centre – remodelling concept – Phase 1

Siting of swimming pool – Phase 2

Page 505

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 506

Appendix 2

Health and Sustainability Impact
Assessment Form
Ulverston Leisure site Phase 1

Environment and health
Greenhouse gas emissions
SLDC’s aim is to be carbon neutral by 2030: How will your proposal affect greenhouse gas
emissions?
Opportunity will be taken to utilise the proposed re purposing of the Tennis Centre and
construction of new outdoor changing facilities to improve energy efficiency and utilisation
of rainwater. Contractors will be required to demonstrate how their construction method
minimises carbon production.

Alternative ways to deliver proposal
Please show how you are addressing alternative ways of delivering your proposal with a
reduced or zero requirement for energy, building space, materials or travel
How are you using the waste/energy hierarchy – 1) avoid, 2) reduce, 3) reuse?
Response:
The construction elements of the scheme will seek to follow the hierarchy.

Air quality
Please demonstrate how your project will have an impact on air quality.
Response:
Improved air handling in the Tennis Centre. Overall, at this concept design stage, it is
envisaged the scheme will have a neutral impact on air Quality.

Biodiversity
Please outline any impacts on biodiversity that your proposal might have

www.southlakeland.gov.uk
Page 507

“To halt overall biodiversity loss, support healthy well-functioning ecosystems and establish
coherent ecological networks, (create) more and better places for nature for the benefit of
wildlife and people”: Biodiversity 2020: A strategy for England’s wildlife and ecosystem
services, DEFRA.
Response:
Phase 1 design will consider the detailed layout and use of the Priory Road site.
Opportunity will be examined for improving biodiversity on the site, utilising wilder vegetated
margins and boundaries of the site.

Climate change impact
How does your proposal mitigate the impacts of climate change?
Assess the risks and impacts associated with climate change (extreme weather events:
flooding, heatwaves, droughts and fires) and the implications for our services and
communities. Describe measures in place to embed resilience and recovery.
Response:
Further to the commentary and actions identified in the sections above, Phase 1 is likely to
have a neutral impact on climate change.

Active travel
How does the proposal enable active travel?
Encouraging and facilitating walking, cycling and public transport.
Response:
The design of the site will consider paths which link to other facilities and adjacent housing
and employment sites. Improved connectivity can be promoted to encourage active travel.
The scheme promotes physical activity and active lifestyles

Economy and culture
Sustainable development
How does the proposal contribute to inclusive and sustainable development?
Response:
The scheme secures the future of leisure facilities which otherwise might be at risk of
closure due to changes at the GSK Site. Good and accessible leisure facilities contributes
to the quality of life for local communities and is seen as a positive factor in attracting and
retaining investment and people.
2

Page 508

Pay
How does the proposal impact on jobs and levels of pay?
Response:
A neutral impact

Healthier high streets
Demonstrate how the proposal contributes to healthier high streets.
Response:
Indirectly, through providing opportunity for Sustainable development (as above) which in
turn can assist in sustaining the high street.

Culture, creativity and heritage
How does the proposal impact on culture, creativity or heritage and if not can they be
embedded in this proposal?
Response:
The scheme opens opportunity for local clubs and organisations to take a leading role in
managing and developing sports facilities. This leads to local sense of ownership and
promotion of activity. Facilities enable clubs to sustain and build on local sporting heritage.

Housing and communities
Housing standards
Does the proposal lead to an improvement in the standard of housing?
Response:
Neutral

Access to housing
How does the proposal increase access to housing?
Response:
Neutral

Crime and fear of crime
How does the proposal reduce crime or fear of crime?
3

Page 509

Response:
Design of the site will take into account the need to design for community safety. Facilities
can be specifically programmed for engaging groups of people who might otherwise engage
on anti social activity.

Social connectedness
How does the proposal increase social connectedness?
Response:
By facilitating the development of clubs and volunteer activity in promoting participation in
sport and leisure

Health and sustainability impact summary
Each category is rated either: Positive, Negative, Neutral, or unknown

Environment and Health
Greenhouse gases emissions: Type rating (e.g. Positive) for categories below
Air Quality: Neutral
Biodiversity: Neutral/positive
Impacts on climate change: Neutral/Positive
Reduced or zero requirement for energy, building space, materials or travel:
Neutral/positive
Active travel: Positive

Economy and Culture
Inclusive and sustainable development: Positive
Jobs and level of pay: Neutral
Healthier high streets: Neutral
Culture creativity and heritage: Positive

Housing and communities
Standard of housing: Neutral
Access to housing: Neutral
Crime: Neutral/Positive
4

Page 510

Social connectedness: Positive

Health and sustainability action plan
What actions will be taken to eliminate or minimise any negative impacts identified above?
Actions
Ensure detailed design seeks to maximize
health environmental and economic benefits

Who’s responsible
Project Manager

Completed (Date)
01/12/2022

What positive actions will be taken to advance health or sustainability?
Who’s responsible

Actions
As above

Completed (Date)

Research
Evidence, research and other sources of information used to inform the Impact
Assessment.
Study undertaken to inform the development of options for delivering the scheme and as
described in the covering Cabinet Report. (09/02/2022)

Consultation
Details of any specialists or groups that you have discussed this proposal with and the
advice/information provided.
Please see the covering Cabinet Report(09/02/2022) for details

5

Page 511

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 512

Appendix 3

Equality Impact Assessment Form

www.southlakeland.gov.uk
Page 513

Ulverston Leisure Site Phase 1 design and delivery,
plus further project development work on phases 2
and 3
Brief details of the subject: The design and delivery of Phase 1 of the scheme, as described
in the report to Cabinet 09 February 2022. Phase 1 will see the relocation of sports facilities
from GSK Sports and Social Club to the Priory Road site. Further Project development
work will proceed on the design for Phases 2 and 3. An outline of the scope of works in
each Phase is provided in the Cabinet report.
List main stakeholders: The Cabinet report has a summary of stakeholders consulted.
Consultation/ engagement undertaken: The Cabinet report has a summary of stakeholders
consulted
Evidence, research and other sources of information used: The scheme has had three
phases of study, the most recent completed in December 2021 and informative of the
Report being considered by the Cabinet.

Impacts on people – Focus on Phase 1
What impacts/issues have been identified about how the proposal impacts on people?
Each category is rated either: Positive, Neutral or Negative
Age: Neutral
As this is a relocation of facilities, it is not expected to impact negatively or positively on this
category
Disability: Neutral
As this is a relocation of facilities, it is not expected to impact negatively or positively on this
category
Gender reassignment: Neutral
As this is a relocation of facilities, it is not expected to impact negatively or positively on this
category
Marriage and civil partnership: Neutral
As this is a relocation of facilities, it is not expected to impact negatively or positively on this
category
2

Page 514

Pregnancy and maternity: Neutral
As this is a relocation of facilities, it is not expected to impact negatively or positively on this
category
Race/ethnicity: Neutral
As this is a relocation of facilities, it is not expected to impact negatively or positively on this
category
Religion or belief: Neutral
As this is a relocation of facilities, it is not expected to impact negatively or positively on this
category
Sex/gender: Neutral
As this is a relocation of facilities, it is not expected to impact negatively or positively on this
category
Sexual orientation: Neutral
As this is a relocation of facilities, it is not expected to impact negatively or positively on this
category
Armed forces families: Neutral
As this is a relocation of facilities, it is not expected to impact negatively or positively on this
category
Rurality: Neutral
As this is a relocation of facilities, it is not expected to impact negatively or positively on this
category
Socio-economic disadvantage: Neutral
As this is a relocation of facilities, it is not expected to impact negatively or positively on this
category

Equality action plan
What actions will be taken to eliminate or minimise the negative impacts identified above?
Phase 1 is focused on delivery of replacement facilities. Whilst some facilities may not be
provided in exactly the same form as currently, they are intended to provide the same
access to sport and physical activity. When considering the Equality and Diversity impacts,
Phase 1 facilities provision is considered to have a neutral impact. Looking forward, there
will be opportunities through the subsequent programming of use of the facilities to increase
participation in active lifestyles amongst underrepresented groups. Future programming

3

Page 515

would realise opportunities for positive impacts on Equalities and Diversity.
The main action for phase 1 and phases 2 and 3 is to ensure that opportunities to maximize
opportunities for equalities categories are addressed in design works for the facilities and
how they are constructed.
Actions
Ensure that facilities design maximizes
opportunities for equalities categories
Ensure that transition planning takes account of
maintaining continuous access to facilities as they
are provided for at Priory Road and closed at GSK
Site
Continued consultation with user groups and wider
community as designs and implementation
progress. Ensure specific advice is sought and
applied in consulting with equalities categories

Who’s responsible
Project Manager

Completed (Date)
01/12/2022

Project Manager and
GLL

01/12/2022

Project Manager

01/12/2022

Who’s responsible

Completed (Date)

What actions will be taken to advance equality?
Actions
As above

What actions will be taken to foster positive relations between people who share a
protected characteristic and those who do not?
Who’s responsible

Actions
As above

Completed (Date)

Report details
Date of report: 30/01/2022
EIA Author(s): David Sykes
Director: David Sykes, Director Strategy Innovation and Resources
Document version number: 0.1
Date for review: 01/08/2022
EIA forwarded to Strategy Specialist: yes

Glossary
Age: This refers to a person having a particular age (for example, 32 year-olds) or being
4

Page 516

within an age group (for example, 18-30 year-olds).
Armed Forces Families: Those who have served or who are serving in the Armed Forces
and their families.
Civil partnership: Legal recognition of a same-sex couple’s relationship. Civil partners
must be treated the same as married couples on a range of legal matters.
Disability: A person has a disability if they have a physical or mental impairment which has
a substantial and long-term adverse effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day
activities. Includes: Physical/sensory disability, mental health or learning disability.
Gender reassignment: A person has the protected characteristic of gender reassignment if
the person is proposing to undergo, is undergoing or has undergone a process (or part of a
process) for the purpose of reassigning the person's sex by changing physiological or other
attributes of sex.
Maternity: The period after giving birth. It is linked to maternity leave in the employment
context. In the non-work context, protection against maternity discrimination is for 26 weeks
after giving birth, including as a result of breastfeeding.
Race: It refers to a group of people defined by their colour, nationality (including
citizenship), ethnic or national origins. Includes, Asian, Black and White minority ethnic
groups including. Eastern Europeans, Irish people and Gypsy Travellers.
Religion or belief: “Religion” means any religion, including a reference to a lack of religion.
“Belief” includes religious and philosophical beliefs including lack of belief (for example,
Atheism). The category includes Christianity, Islam, Judaism, Hinduism, Buddhism, and non
religious beliefs such as Humanism.
Rurality: South Lakeland is defined as ‘Rural-80’ – this means we have at least 80 percent
of our population in rural settlements and larger market towns. Issues affecting the health
and wellbeing of rural communities include: low-paid work, unemployment of young people,
high costs of housing and fuel poverty, poor access to health services, lack of public
transport and poorer broadband and mobile phone network availability. Social isolation is
also an issue especially among older people – in South Lakeland 27.7% of the population
are aged over 65. The ageing rural population brings a number of challenges. These
include the fact that older people often have poorer health and greater care needs, issues
compounded by the greater distances to healthcare services and poor public transport.
South Lakeland (2015) features most poorly in deprivation indices in “Barriers to Housing
and Services Domain” (which relate to the physical proximity of local services, and issues
relating to access to housing, such as affordability) and the “Living Environment Deprivation
Domain” (The 'indoors' living environment measures the quality of housing; while the
'outdoors' living environment contains measures of air quality and road traffic accidents.
Sexual orientation: This is whether a person's sexual attraction is towards their own sex,
the opposite sex or to both sexes.

5

Page 517

Socio-economic disadvantage: This includes people on low incomes, as well as issues
around rural and urban deprivation, such as access to services and transport. SLDC must
adopt effective measures to address the inequalities that result from differences in
occupation, education, place of residence or social class. Socio-economic disadvantage
includes: Income, employment, health, education, housing, discrimination and local
concentrations of deprivation.

6

Page 518

Item No.19
South Lakeland District Council
Cabinet
Wednesday, 9 February 2022

Strategic Cultural Partners Grants Investment
Portfolio:

Economy, Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder

Report from:

Director of Customer and Commercial Services

Report Author:

Imelda Winters-Lewis – Economy and Culture Specialist

Wards:

(All Wards)

Forward Plan:

Key Decision included in the Forward Plan as published on 11/1/2022

Links to Council Plan Priorities: Working across boundaries, delivering sustainable regional
growth across Morecambe Bay, promoting unique value propositions such as cultural, creative
and marine industries, delivering a balanced community and addressing the climate
emergency.

1.0

Expected Outcome and Measures of Success

1.1

This report recommends a proposal to continue the allocation of revenue funding
identified in the Council’s budget to the Council’s designated Strategic Cultural
Partners contributing to the economic prosperity of South Lakeland, to maximise
impact and benefit to communities and effectively continue to deliver Council priorities
in the period leading up to the creation and first year of the new Westmorland and
Furness authority’s operation. This targeted strategic approach will further develop
South Lakeland’s cultural and creative industries and lever in additional economic and
cultural investment into the district.

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that Cabinet :(1)
Agrees a funding period of two years from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2024
and approves the levels of funding for Strategic Cultural Partner (SCP)
organisations to a total of £187,150 per annum in the sums and for the grant
period of two years set out in paragraphs 3.3 and 3.4 of this report; and
(2)
Authorise the Legal Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist in
consultation with the Operational Lead Place and Environment Specialist, to
finalise the terms of, and put in place, the necessary legal agreements with each
SCP organisation for a period of two years from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2024.

3.0

Background and Proposals

3.1

In 2012 the Council established the designation of ‘Strategic Cultural Partners’ (SCPs)
with the aim of working in partnership with key cultural organisations, events and
festivals to continue to build firm foundations for cultural provision in the district. The
district wide SCP organisations receive regular revenue funding from the council to

Page 519

deliver that provision and in return engage with local communities, deliver economic
return on investment, produce high quality work, collaborate with others and work in
partnership.
The council moved away from an annual open grants programme and established
funding agreements with SCP organisations for a defined period to enable a more
strategic approach to cultural investment that provided organisations with confidence
to plan more effectively whilst at the same time the council would be assured that
longer term strategic work and plans could be realised. During this time the council has
developed strong productive partnerships with all the SCP organisations.
The council’s recognition of the value of public investment in culture that supports the
wider ambition and delivery of economic, cultural, social and environmental priorities
of the Council has helped to promote South Lakeland as a great place to live work and
do business and as a leading rural cultural destination.
3.2

The last ten years - where culture, now embedded as part of ‘Economy and Culture’,
continues to be part of the core strategy of the council - has been successful and the
council’s work with SCPs is recognised as an ‘enlightened’ and effective approach
that has been acknowledged by Arts Council England and replicated by other councils.
In this period of time the approach has been refined and further developed with a
review of SCP organisations most recently in 2019.
The council’s strategic approach to SCP funding has also enabled organisations to
lever significant levels of other funding investment for the benefit of the area from the
Government Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport, Arts Council England,
National Lottery Heritage, Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership, and significant
national trusts and foundations. Some of the SCPs of the council are also National
Portfolio Organisations of Arts Council England.

3.3

It is proposed to continue the funding commitment to the 12 SCP organisations for the
grant periods and in the sums set out in para 3.4 as currently identified in the council’s
revenue budget to a total sum of £187,150 per annum for a two year period until 31
March 2024. There would be potential and opportunity for the new authority to review
the current portfolio of SCP organisations and investment within the first year of its
operation.
The table in Paragraph 3.4 below shows all proposed SCP grant funding to the
organisations for the period 1 April 2022 - 31 March 2024. A contractual funding
agreement would be put in place for the two year period for each SCP organisation
detailing the terms and conditions on which the investment would be made.
The proposed funding from 1 April 2022 - 31 March 2024 will support the following
organisations to directly deliver outcomes supporting the council’s economic, social,
cultural and environmental priorities.

3.4

Proposed Funding recommendations
The SCP organisation funding and amount proposed per annum over a two year period
for 2022-2024 is detailed here:
Kendal Brewery Arts Centre

£67,500

Lakeland Arts

£27,500

Wordsworth Trust

£17,500

Grizedale Arts

£12,500

Kendal Mountain Festival

£10,000

Page 520

Lakes Arts Festivals (delivering Lakes
International Comic Arts Festival)

£10,000

Ruskin Museum

£5,000

Old Laundry Theatre

£5,000

Kendal Torchlight

£4,500

Lake District Summer Music (LDSM)*

£13,050*

Ulverston Community Enterprises (UCE)*

£9,500*

Highlights Rural Touring*

£5,100*

The total amount of funding investment per annum recommended is £187,150.
3.5

The funding amounts to the three organisations identified* above are designated ‘hub’
organisations and the sums includes some council funding to smaller cultural
organisations and events and to support partnership working with those organisations.
UCE acts as a hub for Ulverston International Music Festival, Printfest, South Cumbria
Music Festival and Ulverston Lantern Festival. LDSM acts as a hub for classical music
organisations Lakeland Sinfonia Concert Society, Westmorland Orchestra,
Westmorland Youth Orchestra and Westmorland Music Trust. Highlights Rural Touring
acts as a hub organisation for the Heron Theatre Beetham.

4.0

Consultation

4.1

Discussions and consultation has taken place with the Operational Lead Specialist for
Place and Environment, Finance Lead Specialist and the Portfolio Holder for Economy
Culture and Leisure regarding the proposed SCPs grants investment. The Portfolio
Holder and Operational Lead Places and Environment as the responsible budget
holder, support the levels of funding for all the SCPs for the two year period stated.
Some consultation has taken place with SCPs.

5.0

Alternative Options

5.1

End funding support for SCP organisations or make alternative allocations. This is not
recommended because the council has reviewed SCP investment and adopted a
strategic approach to investment in culture in the district that supports the social,
economic, cultural and sustainability priorities of the council and levers in significant
investment levels of other funding investment for the benefit of South Lakeland. The
council’s funding enables the delivery of nationally recognised cultural programmes,
arts, events, festivals, and projects.

5.2

Two year agreements provide organisations with confidence in the revenue stream
from the Council for a defined period and enables them to plan more effectively, whilst
at the same time, the Council would be assured that value for money was being
provided through monitoring of the agreements and SCP relationship management.

6.0

Implications
Financial, Resources and Procurement

6.1

The total proposed allocated funding for SCP organisations is £187,150. £157,150 is
currently accommodated within the Economy and Culture budget ‘Arts Strategy
Grants and Contributions to Voluntary Organisations’ revenue budget for 2022/23
along with £30,000 to come from the associate reserve. The projected revenue
budget for 2023/24 within the Economy and Culture Budget for ‘Arts Strategy Grants
and Contributions to Voluntary Organisations’ is £187,150.

Page 521

6.2

This funding investment includes the expected first year of the new Westmorland and
Furness unitary authority. Protocols are being prepared to manage spending
commitments beyond 31 March 2023 to enable the continuation of projects and
services. The projected spend is within forecasted budgets.
Human Resources

6.3

No additional staffing implications as this would be business as usual.
Legal

6.4

Officers will liaise with the Legal Governance and Democracy Specialists regarding
the necessary Subsidy Control compliance. Officers will liaise with Legal and seek
advice in the preparation of appropriate terms and conditions of the relevant funding
agreements with each SCP organisation. This will include consideration of Subsidy
Control rules and appropriate drafting of the funding agreement and offer letters so
as to comply with the relevant legislation.

7.0

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment

7.1

Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment? No

7.2

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons:
It is not necessary because the measures are believed to have a neutral impact save
for the Economy and Culture impacts and Communities where it has a positive
impact. Other ‘Climate Change’ sustainability impacts are to be identified at the end
of the funding agreements for 2022/23 following consultation with the SCP
organisations once the initial full year of the agreement is completed.

7.3

Summary of Health and Sustainability Impacts
Positive

Environment
and Health

Economy and
Culture

Housing and
Communities

Neutral

Greenhouse gases
emissions

x

Air Quality

x

Biodiversity

x

Impacts of Climate
Change

x

Reduced or zero
requirement for energy,
building space, materials
or travel

x

Active Travel

x

Inclusive and sustainable
development

x

Jobs and levels of pay

x

Healthier high streets

x

Culture, creativity and
heritage

x

Standard of housing

x

Access to housing

x

Page 522

Negative Unknown

Crime

x

Social connectedness

x

Equality and Diversity
7.4

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No

7.5

If you have not completed an Impact Analysis, please explain your reasons:
The continuing support through funding for various organisations is not believed to
have an impact upon Equality and Diversity. The SCP organisations have their own
Equality and Diversity policies in place.

7.6

Summary of Equality and Diversity impacts

Please indicate: P = Positive impact; 0 = Neutral; N = Negative; Enter “X”
Age

P

0

x

N

Disability

P

0

x

N

Gender reassignment (transgender)

P

0

x

N

Marriage & civil partnership

P

0

x

N

Pregnancy & maternity

P

0

x

N

Race/ethnicity

P

0

x

N

Religion or belief

P

0

x

N

Sex/gender

P

0

x

N

Sexual orientation

P

0

x

N

Armed forces families

P

0

x

N

Rurality

P

0

x

N

Socio-economic disadvantage

P

0

x

N

Risk Management

Consequence

Controls required

SLDC grant funding is spent
inappropriately, i.e. not on
activities supporting the Council
Plan Priorities.

Council Plan Priorities are
not met. Reputational
damage.

Appropriate
funding
agreements to be entered
into
with
SCP
organisations
including
appropriate
monitoring
processes.

Risk of non-compliance with Council is under a legal Take appropriate Legal
obligation to comply with advice in relation to
Subsidy Control.
subsidy control.
subsidy control rules.
Contact Officers
Imelda Winters Lewis – Economy and Culture Specialist
Tel:01539 793169
Email:i.winterslewis@southlakeland.gov.uk

Page 523

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document

Where it is available

None

None

Tracking Information
Signed off by
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
CMT

Date sent
20/1/22
20/1/22
24/1/22

Circulated to
Lead Specialist
Human Resources Lead Specialist
Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
20/1/22
N/A
N/A
26/1/22
N/A
20/1/22
N/A
N/A
26/1/22
N/A

Page 524

Date Signed off
31/01/2022
31/01/2022
26/01/22

Item No.20
South Lakeland District Council
Cabinet
Wednesday 9 February 2022

Draft Cartmel Conservation Area Management Plan
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
Portfolio:

Cllr Helen Chaffey – Portfolio Holder

Report from:

David Sykes - Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources

Report Author:

Libby Mee – Conservation Officer

Wards:

Cartmel

Forward Plan:

Not applicable

Links to Council Plan Priorities: .
Working across boundaries – N/A
Delivering a balanced community – The application of a Cartmel Conservation Area
Management Plan SPD in decision making will ensure the historic environmental qualities of
Cartmel are retained and enhanced and this will support the attractiveness of Cartmel as a
place to live, invest and visit.
A fairer South Lakeland – N/A
Addressing the climate emergency – The application of a Cartmel Conservation Area
Management Plan SPD in decision making will ensure new development is sustainable,
enhances the district’s green infrastructure, and promote local business.

1.0

Expected Outcome and Measures of Success

1.1

The approval of the proposed draft Cartmel Conservation Management Plan SPD will
enable the Council to better enact its statutory duty under the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 with regard to preserving and enhancing
the designated heritage assets of the Conservation Area itself, the listed buildings and
scheduled monuments therein and all locally important but unlisted buildings and
structures within its boundary.

2.0

Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that the Cabinet:(1) approves the draft Cartmel Conservation Area Management Plan for public
consultation under Regulation 12 of the Town and County Planning Regulations
2012; and
(2) delegates authority to the Director of Strategy, Innovation, and Resources to
make any changes considered necessary by Cabinet to the draft Cartmel
Conservation Area Management Plan, prior to undertaking the public
consultation on the draft document.

Page 525

3.0

Background and Proposals

3.1

Conservation Areas may be designated and are protected under legislation in the
Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990. Section 71(1) of this act
states ‘It shall be the duty of the local planning authority from time to time to formulate
and publish proposals for the preservation and enhancement of any parts of their area
which are conservation areas’. Section 71 also requires local authorities to consult the
public on proposals for the preservation and management of a Conservation Area,
including those contained in a management plan such as a Conservation Area
Management Plan (CAMP). The Cartmel Conservation Area was designated in 1969.
A review and appraisal of the Conservation Area was carried out in 2008, by South
Lakeland District Council (SLDC). The completed appraisal document was adopted by
SLDC in March 2009.

3.2

This draft Plan is the product of a period of research and consultation across the Ward
area, which meant that a wide variety of members of the public, residents and visitors
alike, have contributed to the identification of the key features of the Conservation
Area, and with the support of professional staff and consultants, have identified
management strategies in order to preserve and enhance the Conservation Area’s
significance and character. Cartmel Village Society (CVS) has played a key role in the
development of a Conservation Area Management Plan (CAMP) for Cartmel
undertaking fieldwork in 2014-2015. This fieldwork was used to build an evidence base
of the condition of the Conservation Area and the issues affecting its significance.
Following this a steering group was set up and a CAMP commissioned in 2019, funded
between Allithwaite and Cartmel Parish Council, the CVS and SLDC. The steering
group commissioned Marion Barter Associates to draft a CAMP in 2019. SLDC has
reviewed the work undertaken to date and is now in a position to consult on a draft
version.

3.3

The objectives of the Cartmel CAMP are to:


Set out guidance for protecting the special character of Cartmel Conservation
Area



Produce a List of unlisted Buildings or Features of Local Architectural or
Historic Significance that are of particular merit in the Conservation Area



Consider whether an Article 4 Direction to control permitted development is
justified, and provide evidence



Provide a strategy for Buildings at Risk



Identify opportunities for environmental enhancement and the need for grantaid

3.4

Under Regulation 12 of the Town and Country Planning Regulations, the draft CAMP
will be subject to a minimum 6 week period of consultation early in 2022. It will be
published and consulted on in accordance with the Council’s Statement of Community
Involvement. Responses to the consultation will be taken into account before reporting
a final Brief for Cabinet to consider adopting as a Supplementary Planning Document.
As the consultation requires professional conservation leadership and advice, the
departure of SLDC’s Conservation Officer for a new post in early February may cause
uncertainty and possible delay to the timing of the consultation.

3.5

Once adopted, the Cartmel CAMP has the status of a Supplementary Planning
Document. This means it is a material consideration when deciding any planning
applications within or affecting the Cartmel Conservation Area.

Page 526

4.0 Appendices Attached to this Report
Appendix No.

Name of Appendix

1

Draft Cartmel Conservation Management Plan SPD

2

Equality Impact Analysis

5.0

Consultation

5.1

As above, the production of the draft CAMP has been carried out by local professional
consultants following a long period of community engagement and consultation with
the Cartmel Village Society.

6.0

Alternative Options

6.1

The alternative to not approving this document would be to leave it as an unadopted
piece of work, which would serve no real purpose in the development management
process. It would also prevent the completion of the CAMP and undermine the
Council’s ability to exercise its statutory duties to preserve and enhance the designated
assets in the Cartmel Conservation Area.

7.0

Implications

Financial, Resources and Procurement
7.1

There are internal staffing resources required in order to deliver consultation events,
in partnership with the Cartmel Village Society. These can be covered by ordinary
staffing budgets. However as the consultation requires professional conservation
leadership and advice, the departure of SLDC’s Conservation Officer for a new post in
early February, may cause uncertainty and possible delay to the timing of the
consultation.

Human Resources
7.2

There are no other HR implications apart from those identified above.

Legal
7.3

There are no legal implications, other than the adoption of the document as a SPD,
which can then be relied upon in planning decision making. The recommendations are
in conformity with the requirements of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning)
(England) Regulations 2012.

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment
7.4

Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment? Yes

7.5

If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: N/A

7.6

Summary of Health and Sustainability Impacts
Positive

Environment
and Health

Neutral

Greenhouse gases
emissions

X

Air Quality

X

Biodiversity

X

Impacts of Climate
Change

X

Reduced or zero
requirement for energy,

X

Page 527

Negative Unknown

building space, materials
or travel
Active Travel
Economy and
Culture

X

Inclusive and sustainable
development

X

Jobs and levels of pay

Housing and
Communities

X

Healthier high streets

X

Culture, creativity and
heritage

X

Standard of housing

X

Access to housing

X

Crime

X

Social connectedness

X

Equality and Diversity
7.7

Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? Yes (attached at Appendix 2)

7.8

If you have not completed an Impact Analysis, please explain your reasons: N/A

7.9

Summary of Equality and Diversity impacts

Please indicate: P = Positive impact; 0 = Neutral; N = Negative; Enter “X”
Age

P

0

X

N

Disability

P

0

X

N

Gender reassignment (transgender)

P

0

X

N

Marriage & civil partnership

P

0

X

N

Pregnancy & maternity

P

0

X

N

Race/ethnicity

P

0

X

N

Religion or belief

P

0

X

N

Sex/gender

P

0

X

N

Sexual orientation

P

0

X

N

Armed forces families

P

0

X

N

Rurality

P

Socio-economic disadvantage

P

X

0
0

N
X

N

Risk Management

Consequence

Controls required

Failure to approve the Draft Cartmel
CAMP SPD for consultation.

The Council cannot
continue with the
preparation of the SPD.

Approve the Draft
Cartmel CAMP SPD for
consultation

The consultation requires
professional conservation leadership

The departure of the
Conservation Officer

Filling the Conservation
Officer post and

Page 528

Risk Management

Consequence

Controls required

and advice. SLDC’s Conservation
Officer departs for a new post in
early February.

may therefore result in
uncertainty and
possible delay to the
timing of the
consultation.

consideration of potential
for obtaining interim
professional conservation
support until a
Conservation Officer is
appointed.

Contact Officers
Libby Mee, Specialist Level 1, 07588 206321 libby.mee@southlakeland.gov.uk
Alastair McNeill, Senior Specialist (Strategy), a.mcneill@sosuthlakeland,gov.uk 01539
793379
Background Documents Available
Name of Background document

Where it is available

Cartmel Conservation Area
Appraisal

https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/planning-andbuilding/conservation/conservation-areas/

Strategic Environmental
Assessment and Habitats
Regulations Assessment Initial
Screening Opinion of the Draft SPD

https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/media/7766/seascreening-for-draft-spd.pdf

Tracking Information
Signed off by
Section 151 Officer
Monitoring Officer
CMT

Date sent
13.12.21
13.12.21
14.12.21

Circulated to
Lead Specialist
Human Resources Lead Specialist
Communications Team
Leader
Committee Chairman
Portfolio Holder
Ward Councillor(s)
Committee
Executive (Cabinet)
Council

Date sent
6.12.21
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
6.12.21
6.12.21
N/A
11.1.22
N/A

Page 529

Date Signed off
05.01.22
05.01.22
16.12.21

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 530

Appendix 1

Cartmel Conservation Area Draft
Conservation Area Management
Plan Supplementary Planning
Document
January 2022

www.southlakeland.gov.uk
Page 531

Contents
1

Introduction & Objectives ...................................................................... 3
1.1

Background ........................................................................................ 3

1.2

Purpose.............................................................................................. 4

1.3

Objectives .......................................................................................... 4

1.4

Authors and Copyright ....................................................................... 5

1.5

Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and Habitats Regulations
Assessment (HRA) Initial Screening Opinion .................................... 5

2

LEGISLATIVE BACKGROUND & HERITAGE PROTECTION.............. 7
2.1

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 .......... 7

2.2

Localism Act 2011 .............................................................................. 7

3

LOCAL & NATIONAL POLICY CONTEXT ............................................ 7
3.1

National Planning Policy Framework ................................................. 7

3.2

South Lakeland District Council Development Plan 2003-2025 ......... 9

3.3

Allithwaite and Cartmel Neighbourhood Plan and other relevant
proposals ......................................................................................... 10

3.4

The role of Historic England ............................................................. 10

3.5

Previous community engagement .................................................... 11

4

PROTECTION FOR CARTMEL CONSERVATION AREA .................. 12
4.1

Development Management & Statutory Powers .............................. 12

4.2

The Use of Enforcement and other Legal Actions............................ 12

4.3

Role of the Conservation Area Appraisal in Development
Management ................................................................................... 14

4.4

Protecting Non-designated Heritage Assets – Local List Buildings in
Cartmel ............................................................................................ 15

4.5

Justification for an Article 4 (2) Direction to control permitted
development .................................................................................... 16

4.6

Buildings at Risk .............................................................................. 23

5

6

ENVIRONMENTAL ENHANCEMENT ................................................. 25
5.1

Need for Grant Aid ........................................................................... 25

5.2

Potential for Environmental Enhancement ....................................... 25
MANAGING CHANGE IN THE CONSERVATION AREA ................... 28
1

Page 532

6.1

The Control of New Development– General Principles and Guidance
........................................................................................................ 28

6.2

The control of development affecting existing buildings ................... 30

6.3

Repairs and Maintenance ................................................................ 34

6.4

Policies within the Allithwaite and Cartmel Neighbourhood Plan ..... 35

6.5

The protection of spaces, landscape and the setting of the
conservation area ............................................................................ 36

6.6

Trees ................................................................................................ 38

6.7

Boundaries and entrances ............................................................... 38

6.8

Archaeology ..................................................................................... 39

7

EXISTING HOUSING ALLOCATION SITES ....................................... 40

8

DELIVERY, REVIEW AND TIMESCALES .......................................... 42

9

SOURCES .......................................................................................... 42

10

GLOSSARY ........................................................................................ 43

11

Appendix 3: Local List Buildings .......................................................... 48

12

Appendix 4: Map of Local List Buildings .............................................. 79

13

Appendix 5: Map of Buildings for inclusion in an Article 4 (2) Direction80

2

Page 533

1

Introduction & Objectives
Background

1.1.1

Cartmel Conservation Area was first designated in 1969 by Lancashire County
Council (see figure 1). A review and appraisal of the Conservation Area was
carried out in 2008, by South Lakeland District Council (SLDC), following a Place
Detectives public participation event in 2007. The completed appraisal document
was adopted by SLDC in March 2009, with accompanying maps illustrating the
boundary, townscape character and architectural quality. The appraisal,
accessible online, explains why the conservation area is significant, with reference
to its historical development and the architectural and historic character of the
village and surrounding landscape. 1

1.1.2

Cartmel Village Society (CVS) has played a key role in the development of a
Conservation Area Management Plan (CAMP) for Cartmel, undertaking a survey
in 2014-2015, using purpose-designed forms. The CVS fieldwork was used to
build an evidence base of the condition of the conservation area and the issues
affecting its significance; the survey covered three separate conservation aspects
of Cartmel Conservation Area:

1.1.3

•

A buildings at risk survey, using Historic England methodology,

•

The extent to which buildings are ‘authentic’ or have been altered, towards an
evidence base for a potential Article 4 Direction,

•

Identified buildings for inclusion in a Local List.

CVS set up a steering group, with SLDC, to commission a CAMP in 2019, with
funding from Lower Allithwaite Parish Council, SLDC and CVS. The steering
group commissioned Marion Barter Associates to draft part of the CAMP in 2019.
The steering group was chaired by David Crabtree and comprised representatives
of Cartmel Village Society, Lower Allithwaite Parish Council and the late Graham
Darlington, former Conservation Officer for South Lakeland District Council.
Damian Law, Specialist (Strategy) also represented SLDC on the steering group
and advised on the completion of the final stages of the CAMP.

1

https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/media/5869/cartmel-conservation-area-character-appraisal.pdf

3

Page 534

Purpose
1.2.1

The Cartmel CAMP, once adopted, will have Supplementary Planning Document
(SPD) status. This means it will be used as a material planning consideration
when determining any planning applications within or affecting the Cartmel
Conservation Area (see Figure 1). Supplementary Planning Documents add
further detail to policies in an adopted Local Plan. They can be used to provide
further guidance for development on specific sites, or on particular issues, such as
design. The CAMP will support and complement the Local Plan in this respect,
related to South Lakeland Local Plan policies CS8.6 (Core Strategy) and DM3
(Development Management Policies) See Appendix 1.

1.2.2

The SLDC Local Development Plan sets out a long-term plan for development,
including for the management of all heritage assets, both designated and
undesignated. The Development Management Document (DPD) was adopted on
28 March 2019. Policy DM3 covers the historic environment and provides policy
on listed buildings, conservation areas and non-designated heritage assets that
have some local significance. In relation to making decisions on planning
applications that would affect local heritage assets, the policy states that ‘where
the significance of a non-designated heritage asset is affected by a development
proposal, those elements that contribute to their significance should be retained
and enhanced wherever possible’.

1.2.3

This is a draft version of the CAMP that will be subject to consultation; feedback
received will be used to inform a final version that, subject to SLDC Cabinet
approval, will be approved as SPD.

Objectives
1.3.1

A CAMP is a document that outlines how a local authority will preserve or
enhance a conservation area, and how this will be monitored. The objectives of
the Cartmel CAMP are to:
•

Set out guidance for protecting the special character of Cartmel conservation
area,

•

Produce a List of unlisted Buildings or Features of Local Architectural or
Historic Significance that are of Particular Merit in the Conservation Area,

•

Consider whether an Article 4 Direction to control permitted development is
justified, and provide evidence,
4

Page 535

•

Provide a strategy for Buildings at Risk,

•

Identify opportunities for environmental enhancement and the need for grantaid.

Authors and Copyright
1.4.1

The CAMP was compiled by Marion Barter and Dearbhail Keating of John Coward
Architects. All images are by Marion Barter Associates and John Coward
Architects unless indicated in the figure captions and credited to other sources.
This report is the copyright of Marion Barter Associates Ltd, issued for the use of
Cartmel Village Society, SLDC and Lower Allithwaite Parish Council. This
document may not be used or referred to in whole or in part by anyone else
without the express agreement of Marion Barter Associates Ltd. Marion Barter
Associates Ltd does not accept liability for any loss or damage arising from any
unauthorised use of this report. © Marion Barter Associates Ltd (2019).

Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) Initial
Screening Opinion
1.5.1

A strategic Environmental Assessment and Habitats Regulations Assessment
Initial Screening Opinion has been undertaken to demonstrate that the draft SPD
will not give rise to any significant environmental effects as the effects on
protected sites would appear to be very limited. As a result it is concluded it is not
necessary to subject the Plan to HRA. These conclusions have been informed by
the advice of Natural England, the Environment Agency and Historic England. The
SEA and HRA Initial Screening Opinion can be viewed on the District Council
website.

5

Page 536

6

Page 537

2

LEGISLATIVE BACKGROUND & HERITAGE
PROTECTION
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas)
Act 1990

2.1.1

Conservation areas may be designated and are protected under legislation in the
Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990. Section 71(1) of this
act states that
‘It shall be the duty of the local planning authority from time to time to formulate
and publish proposals for the preservation and enhancement of any parts of their
area which are conservation areas.’

2.1.2

Section 71 also requires local authorities to consult the public on proposals for the
preservation and management of a conservation area, including those contained
in a management plan such as a CAMP.

Localism Act 2011
2.2.1

The government passed the Localism Act to enable local communities to have
more say in their local area, through the introduction of some new rights. These
include the right to bid to acquire community buildings or assets, to propose smallscale community-led development, and the right to prepare Neighborhood Plans.
The latter is an important tool for enabling communities to shape planning policy
and decision-making and in the case of the historic environment, to provide
policies that are tailored to protect the significance of local heritage.

3

LOCAL & NATIONAL POLICY CONTEXT
National Planning Policy Framework

3.1.1

The government’s planning policy for England is set out in the National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF), which was revised in 2018, 2019 and 2021. The
purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable
7

Page 538

development, through three overarching and interdependent objectives,
economic, social and environmental (paragraph 8).
3.1.2

Policies relevant for conservation areas are contained within Section 16 on
Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment. The NPPF states that
‘Heritage assets range from sites and building of local historic value to those of
the highest significance such as World heritage Sites…. Which are internationally
recognised to be of Outstanding Universal Value. These assets are an
irreplaceable resource, and should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their
significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life
of existing and future generations’ (paragraph 189).

3.1.3

Conservation areas and listed buildings are designated heritage assets. Heritage
assets also include non-designated buildings and places, which may be identified
by the local authority, in the form of Locally Listed buildings. The NPPF provides
policy on non-designated assets to guide local authorities in making planning
decisions: ‘the effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated
heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the application. In
weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage
assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any
harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset.’ (paragraph 203).

3.1.4

The NPPF states that Plans should ‘set out a positive strategy for the
conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment, including heritage assets
most at risk through neglect, decay or other threats’ (paragraph 190).

3.1.5

The NPPF expects local authorities to include non-strategic policies in plans for
specific areas, including in neighbourhood planning. These policies can include
design principles, and policies to conserve and enhance the natural and historic
environment (paragraph 29). Achieving good design is promoted by the NPPF,
partly through the use of design policies in the Local Plan and neighbourhood
plans, which should be ‘developed with local communities so they reflect local
aspirations, and are grounded in an understanding and evaluation of the area’s
defining characteristics’ (paragraph 127). The conservation area appraisal for
Cartmel provides this understanding, and the CAMP provides additional evidence
and guidance.
8

Page 539

3.1.6

The NPPF also provides policy on supporting the rural economy, including
sustainable tourism and business (paragraph 84).

South Lakeland District Council Development Plan
2003-2025
3.2.1

At a local level, the Development Plan sets out a long-term plan for development,
including for the conservation and enhancement of heritage assets.

3.2.2

The Core Strategy was adopted in 2010; Policy CS8.6 covers the historic
environment as a whole. It supports the safeguarding, and where possible, the
enhancement of historic environment assets, including their settings and any
attributes that contribute to a sense of local distinctiveness. Such assets include
conservation areas. It also says it supports:
•

•

•
•

3.2.3

the preparation of a list of buildings and features of local architectural or
historic important in order to assist in the planning of a prioritised programme
of conservation management for such buildings
the production of conservation area management plans to identify and explain
how the Council will seek to preserve and enhance the special interest of
such areas
actions that will ensure the proper conservation of all heritage assets, giving
particular priority to those identified as being at risk
consideration of the introduction of tighter controls within conservation areas
and other sites or areas of heritage importance by implementing Article 4 (2)
Directions to control certain types of permitted development, which, if
unchecked, would cause harm to the special character and appearance of
such areas.

The Development Management Policies Development Plan Document (DPD) was
adopted on 28 March 2019, as part of the Local Plan. Policy DM3 covers
conservation areas, listed buildings, archaeology, parks and gardens and ‘nondesignated heritage assets of local significance’. With regard to the latter, the
policy refers to the Council’s ‘Local List’ and the criteria for selecting Local List
buildings. In relation to making decisions on planning applications (development
management), the policy states that ‘where the significance of a non-designated
heritage asset is affected by a development proposal, those elements that
9

Page 540

contribute to their significance should be retained and enhanced wherever
possible’. Development proposals in conservation areas must also be considered
against specific criteria set out within the Policy relating to conservation areas.

Allithwaite and Cartmel Neighbourhood Plan and other
relevant proposals
3.3.1

Under the 2011 Localism Act, the government encourages the participation of
local communities in strategic planning, enabling communities to produce
Neighbourhood Development Plans. In 2015, Lower Allithwaite Parish (now
Cartmel and Allithwaite) was approved as a neighbourhood area by SLDC, for the
purposes of producing a neighbourhood plan. Cartmel is within the boundary of
the (Cartmel and Allithwaite) neighbourhood area.

3.3.2

The CAMP will contribute to the neighbourhood plan by providing a strong
evidence base for the Cartmel historic environment, including a new list of Local
List buildings, and by providing guidance on protecting and managing the historic
environment of Cartmel.

3.3.3

Separate to the neighbourhood plan, the Cartmel Township Initiative is a recent
project relevant to the CAMP, with a report produced by Allies and Morrison in
2014; this mainly focussed on traffic management but also referred to the historic
environment.

The role of Historic England
3.4.1

Historic England is the government’s adviser on the historic environment in
England. It advises local authorities on strategic policy and development affecting
heritage assets, and publishes guidance on a wide range of conservation issues
including the designation and management of conservation areas, and on local
heritage listing. The organisation also compiles data on heritage at risk, including
on conservation areas using information supplied by local authorities; Historic
England provides advice on tackling the issues that threaten conservation areas.

3.4.2

Historic England has a statutory role as a consultee on large development
applications (over 1000 square metres) affecting conservation areas and on all
10

Page 541

applications affecting Grade I and Grade II* listed buildings, but does not
comment on most proposals such as minor applications in conservation areas and
alterations to Grade II listed buildings which are determined by the local authority.
3.4.3

Historic England is also a statutory consultee on the neighbourhood development
plan process. The organisation promotes community engagement in the historic
environment, and can provide advice and guidance on content and policies to
protect the historic environment, as part of the neighbourhood planning process.

Previous community engagement
3.5.1

The concept of a Cartmel CAMP was introduced as part of early engagement on
the Allithwaite and Cartmel Neighbourhood Plan. At two drop-in events held on 12
and 13 September 2019, people were presented with an introduction to the CAMP
and asked questions as detailed below.

3.5.2

A total of 54 people attended the drop-in event held in Cartmel and the following
responses were recorded:
Question 1
Do you think more could be done to protect what makes Cartmel special?
Yes – 18 responses
Question 2
What do you think most needs to be protected from harm in Cartmel – the
buildings, green open spaces, streets and squares?
Buildings – 17 responses
Open Spaces – 14 responses
Streets and Square – 16 responses
Question 3
One of the displays is about Local List buildings. Subject to consultation with
property owners, would you support a possible Local List in Cartmel?
Yes – 18 responses
Question 4
11

Page 542

One of the displays explains what an Article 4 Direction is. Subject to consultation
with property owners, would you support a possible Article 4 Direction in Cartmel?
Yes – 18 responses

4

PROTECTION FOR CARTMEL
CONSERVATION AREA
Development Management & Statutory Powers

4.1.1

The designation of Cartmel as a conservation area introduced some important
additional statutory protection under planning legislation; this enables the local
planning authority to manage development and certain other changes, with the
aim of preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of the conservation
area. The main consequences of conservation area designation, as defined in the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, are as follows:

•
•
•
•
•

Planning consent is required for the demolition of unlisted buildings in the
conservation area;
Planning consent is required for the installation of satellite dishes visible from
the public highway;
A 6-week notice period is required for works to trees, not already protected by
Tree Preservation Orders;
The desirability of preserving a conservation area is a material consideration
in determining a planning application in a conservation area;
Some permitted development is restricted in a conservation area; planning
consent is required for certain types of development in a conservation area,
including the requirement to obtain planning consent for cladding front
elevations. Permitted development can be further restricted through the use of
Article 4(2) Directions (see section 3 below).

The Use of Enforcement and other Legal Actions
4.2.1

The local planning authority can use legal powers to take enforcement action
where there is breach of planning rules, for example where planning consent has
not been obtained for development, the works are not as permitted or where
unauthorised works have been carried out to a listed building. The Council will
12

Page 543

seek to work with owners and occupiers to resolve issues that arise, but where
necessary a range of options are available to the planning authority, depending on
the severity of the case, from taking no formal action, inviting a retrospective
application, serving a Stop Notice or Enforcement Notice up to prosecution
through the courts. The strategy followed by South Lakeland District Council is
explained on the council’s website. The Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 provides specific protection for buildings and areas
of special architectural and historic interest through powers available to the local
planning authority and the Council has the legal power to take action in the
following circumstances:
4.2.2

Urgent Works. Where a historic building has deteriorated and is at risk, the 1990
Planning Act enables the local planning authority (or Historic England) to carry out
urgent works for the preservation of listed buildings following notice to the owner.
These powers can be used in respect of unoccupied parts of listed or unlisted
buildings in conservation areas (in the case of the latter, only with the agreement
of the Secretary of State, advised by Historic England). The powers are confined
to urgent works such as emergency repairs, for example, to keep the building
wind and water-tight and safe from collapse. The local planning authority may
recover the cost of such works from the owner.

4.2.3

Repairs Notice. If the local planning authority (or Historic England) considers that
a listed building is not being ‘preserved’ it may serve a Repairs Notice on the
owner. This Notice specifies the works in detail, which must be necessary for the
proper preservation of the building. A Repairs Notice can only be served on the
owner of a statutorily listed buildings and does not apply to unlisted buildings. If
the prescribed works are not carried out, the local planning authority can use
compulsory purchase powers, which are typically used as part of a back-to-back
agreement with a preservation trust.

4.2.4

Section 215 Notice. Local authorities have the power to serve a Section 215
Notice on the owner (or occupier) of untidy land or buildings which is adversely
affecting the amenity of the area, particularly where it affects listed buildings or a
conservation area. The Notice requires the owner or occupier responsible for the
land to carry out specified works to resolve the untidy station of the site or
building; the authority may carry out works and reclaim the cost of such works
from the owner.

13

Page 544

4.2.5

Compulsory Purchase Orders (CPO). The 1990 Planning Act affords local
planning authorities the power to serve Compulsory Purchase Notices, with
authorisation from the Secretary of state, on land or buildings that are required to
secure development, re-development or improvement.

Role of the Conservation Area Appraisal in
Development Management
4.3.1

The special interest of Cartmel Conservation Area is described within the
Conservation Area Appraisal document. The character of the village derives from
its long history of development, the influence of the Priory, from the pattern of
streets and property boundaries, the form, character, details and materials of its
buildings, and the relationship between the built and natural environment.
Buildings in the conservation area have shared characteristics with a distinctive
local palette of materials and architectural styles which unify the character of the
village. New development or building alterations which pay minimal respect to
local building traditions and the settlement pattern or result in the loss of open
space will harm the special character and appearance of the conservation area
that the designation was intended to protect. It is therefore essential that any
development which occurs within the conservation area takes account of and
complements the qualities of the conservation area, as defined within the
Conservation Area Appraisal.

4.3.2

Where new development is proposed, the local planning authority has a duty to
pay special regard to the desirability of preserving and enhancing the
conservation area. To carry out this duty, the Conservation Area Appraisal is an
essential tool as it describes the character and qualities of the area that is to be
protected and provides maps showing listed buildings and unlisted buildings that
make a positive contribution to the character of the conservation area, important
views and other townscape qualities that are essential to the character of the
conservation area. Proposals for new development will be expected to take
account of the contents of the Appraisal in the siting, scale, massing, materials,
architectural design and detailing of development.

14

Page 545

Protecting Non-designated Heritage Assets – Local
List Buildings in Cartmel
4.4.1

SLDC is in the process of compiling a list of buildings or features of local
architectural or historic interest (The Local List) which merit special consideration
in the exercise of the development management process. The Local List is
covered by the Local Plan, as referred to in section 3.2 above. In a hierarchy of
significance for historic buildings, Local List buildings are between Listed Buildings
and unlisted buildings that ‘make a positive contribution’ to the conservation area.
Buildings on The Local List are regarded as non-designated heritage assets and
are given more weight in planning decisions than unlisted buildings in a
conservation area; they are covered by policies in the NPPF as well as in the
Local Plan. The Council’s selection criteria for Local List buildings are as follows:
To be included on South Lakeland District Council’s ‘Local List’ a building,
structure or feature will need to satisfy an authenticity criterion (i, below) and in
addition, either (a) or (b).
(i) Authenticity
The building, structure or feature must be substantially unaltered and retain the
majority of its original features and fabric. Where later alterations have affected
the asset they must be of either very modest in scale, be easily reversible or be of
the highest architectural quality for the period in question in order to qualify.
(a)

Architectural significance:

Be of good architectural quality from a particular era or stylistic period; be a very
good example of a unique local building type; have a distinctive landmark quality
or contribute positively to townscape or public spaces; display particular
innovation, distinctive ornamentation or high levels of craftsmanship in the use of
materials; or be designed by particularly important local or regional architects.
(b) Historical interest:
Display physical evidence associated with recognised and important periods of
economic, social or cultural significance; be associated with well-known local
people, historic events or locally significant activities; be part of, or have an
important association with a formally designed landscape or archaeological site;
or have a recognisable community value or significance.

15

Page 546

4.4.2

These criteria were used by Cartmel Village Society (CVS) during their survey of
all buildings in the village in 2014-2015, and the results collated on standard
forms, one for each building. All unlisted buildings in Cartmel, including those
assessed by CVS were reviewed in 2019 for the CAMP. This survey assessed all
the 72 buildings that ‘make a positive contribution’ to the conservation area, as
identified in the Cartmel conservation area appraisal, adopted by SLDC in 2009.
These ‘positive buildings’ are marked on the Cartmel Conservation Area
Character map for Architectural Quality, coloured mid-green. The map can be
seen online (https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/media/3908/cartmel-architecturalquality-map.pdf). Not all of the ‘positive’ buildings on this map were found to meet
the Local List criteria during the 2019 survey for the CAMP and some other
structures and buildings met the criteria, such as bridges and a few buildings
identified as neutral (yellow on the Cartmel Conservation Area Character map for
Architectural Quality). The buildings which are considered to meet the criteria for
the Local List are listed in Appendix 2, arranged by street (in alphabetical order)
and shown on the map in Appendix 3.

4.4.3

The assessment for the Local List was undertaken subject to some limitations;
properties were only viewed from public roads or footpaths and no interiors were
seen. A research programme was not carried out, but more information on the
significance of some of the buildings was obtained from readily available
documentary sources, as referred to in relevant entries. The Local List criteria that
apply are referred to in each entry.

Justification for an Article 4 (2) Direction to control
permitted development
4.5.1

Some alterations to dwelling houses such as replacement doors and windows do
not require planning permission in a conservation area; this is known as ‘permitted
development’. There are a few classes of change to dwelling houses in
conservation areas not covered by permitted development, including external
cladding and material alterations to the shape of a roof of a house, notably dormer
windows, but this leaves a wide range of changes that are permitted and can have
a harmful impact on a conservation area, eroding the details and features that
define its special architectural or historic character and interest. In particular, the
replacement of windows and doors, the removal of chimneys and addition of
porches can be carried out to dwelling houses, if they are not Listed Buildings,
without any permission from the planning authority. To address this, an Article
4(2) Direction under the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 can be introduced by the local planning authority,
16

Page 547

withdrawing permitted development certain classes of work or alteration to
dwelling houses, and requiring planning permission to be sought for works that
would otherwise be permitted development.
4.5.2

An Article 4(2) Direction can only apply to external parts of dwelling houses that
front or are visible from a public highway, waterway or open space; it cannot apply
to private rear elevations (not seen from a public highway). Non-residential
buildings and residential properties divided into flats are not subject to permitted
development rights, so cannot be covered by Article 4(2) Directions.

4.5.3

The case for an Article 4(2) Direction needs to be robustly justified and supported
by the community to be effective; the local authority needs to be satisfied that ‘it is
expedient’ that certain classes of development should not be carried out without
permission being applied for and granted. Government advice is that Article 4
Directions ‘should be limited to situations where this is necessary to protect local
amenity or the wellbeing of an area’. The formal process for introducing an Article
4(2) Direction entails the Council drawing up an accurate list of all properties to
which it would apply and formulating a list of the classes of permitted development
that would be restricted. A formal consultation process is carried out, enabling
people to make representations within a set time-scale. The usual procedure is for
a notice to be published in a local newspaper and for notices to be sent to the
owners and occupiers of all affected properties, preferably with a leaflet containing
guidance. Following this, the Article 4(2) Direction is confirmed by the Council,
within 6 months.

4.5.4

The majority of unlisted buildings in Cartmel conservation area are domestic,
where alterations under permitted development are threatening the character of
the conservation area, due to the cumulative erosion of historic and architectural
features. Introducing an Article 4 (2) Direction would not prevent change, but
would ensure that owners obtain planning permission before making certain
changes to the frontage of domestic property, enabling the special character and
appearance of Cartmel conservation area to be better protected through the
SLDC development management process. As an Article 4(2) Direction removes
the freedom of owners to make changes to unlisted domestic properties, it is
important that the local community is supportive of the principle; consultation is
part of the legal process. Providing clear guidance to the community, for example
on repairing and replacing windows, and on the implications of the Direction when
it is served, is also essential to its success in protecting the conservation area.
17

Page 548

4.5.5

4.5.6

The survey by Cartmel Village Society in 2014-15 and the rapid appraisal of
buildings within Cartmel conservation area for the CAMP in 2019 identified
examples of alterations carried out under permitted development that have had a
harmful effect on the special character of the area. Some of these are illustrated in
sections 4.3.7 and 4.3.8. For an Article 4 (2) Direction, it is recommended the
following items of work be considered for inclusion:

•

Removal of timber windows and doors on front elevations and replacement
with new fittings

•

removal of render

•

removal of chimney stacks

•

addition of front porches

•

alteration / removal of front boundary walls

•

alteration / removal of cobbled paths to building frontages

•

rooflights on prominent roof slopes

•

dormer windows on prominent roof slopes

•

addition of satellite dishes, CCTV, signage, alarm boxes, lighting etc.

The survey by Cartmel Village Society (CVS) and the 2019 assessment showed
that the majority of buildings in Cartmel conservation area have been altered and
adapted over time. Building components have a lifespan; with good maintenance
this lifespan is extended, but over time repairs and replacements are necessary. It
is the way in which these repairs and replacements are executed that is important
when managing the conservation area with the aim of preserving its character.
Adopting traditional techniques and replacing and repairing components on a likefor-like basis is the best way of protecting the special character of the
conservation area. However, full replacement rather than repair is often an easier
option and as a result historic details, materials and finishes are easily lost. In
relation to render, the Cartmel conservation area appraisal particularly noted ‘A
more recent and damaging tendency has been the removal of these traditional
surface treatments completely so as to expose the masonry below. Often this
reveals a random rubblestone walling construction that was never designed to be
exposed and there is little doubt that this recent fashion has begun to undermine
the traditional character and appearance of the conservation area’ (p27).
18

Page 549

4.5.7

Several buildings in Cartmel have been constructed in one phase, are of the same
scale and with matching details which unify the appearance of the group.
Numbers 1 – 4 Church View and 1 – 4 the Causeway are examples of this (see
images below). When one property in a group is altered, the value of the collective
whole is diminished. Additions of porches, and changes to the dimensions and
details of windows and doors affect the individual building and alter the overall
unity of the group, harming the conservation area.

Figure 2. 1-4 Church View

4.5.8

Figure 3. 1-4 The Causeway

As discussed in previous sections of this document, CVS carried out a fieldwork
survey in 2014-15. Part of this fieldwork included a photographic record. In
assessing the need for an Article 4 (2) Direction, comparisons were drawn
between the photographs taken in 2014 and photographs taken in 2019. In the 5
years between the CVS survey and the drafting of the CAMP, permitted
development alterations have been made to buildings that cause harm to the
special character of the area, illustrated in the images below.

19

Page 550

.

Figure 5. End cottage, the Causeway in 2019. Both
the windows and door have been removed and
replaced under permitted development, eroding the
character of the terrace.

Figure 4. End Cottage, The Causeway in 2014. Original
windows and door intact.

Figure 7. 1 Church View, 2019. Since 2014 the character
of the house has been eroded further by the removal of the
chimney stack.

Figure 6. 1 Church View, 2014. An example of a
house that has been significantly altered by
replacement windows,a porch and upvc rainwater
goods. The house stands in a prominent position
within the conservation area. The value of the building
as a terrace of four has been affected by the
alterations.

Figure 8. No. 2 North View, 2014. End terrace cottage
with single-glazed sliding sash windows.

Figure 9. No. 2 North View in 2019. The small-paned
windows have been removed and the door replaced.
Railings and a canopy added to the frontage, also affect
the unity of this group of cottages in the conservation
area.

20

Page 551

Figure 10. Wells House, 2014. Timber door to frontage.

4.5.9

Figure 11. Wells House, 2019. Timber door has been
replaced with white upvc door, under permitted
development.

The above examples demonstrate that the current level of protection given to
unlisted domestic buildings within the conservation area is not adequate to protect
the special character of the conservation area.

4.5.10 In proposing an Article 4 (2) Direction it is important to consider whether there is
enough special interest left to protect, or whether too much change has already
happened. Further examples below illustrate unlisted buildings that survive largely
unaltered, and would benefit from the protection of an Article 4 (2) Direction.

Figure 12. Chestnut Cottage, 2014

Figure 13. Chestnut Cottage, 2019. Roof covering,
chimney stack, roughcast render, joinery and
rainwater goods are all appropriate and in keeping
with the period of the property.

21

Page 552

Figure 14. No. 2 Garth View, 2014

Figure 15. No. 2 Garth View, 2019. Terrace cottage
retaining several original features, located on a
prominent junction at entrance into village.

Figure 16. Stonecroft, 2014

Figure 17. Stonecroft, 2019. Two storey doublefronted house, C19. Retains single glazed windows,
chimney stack and roughcast render.

Figure 18. Hartwell House, 2014
Figure 19. Hartwell House, 2019. Slate roof,
roughcast render, chimney stacks, timber sash
windows.

22

Page 553

4.5.11 The recent survey work and the examples above demonstrate that the character
of the conservation area is being harmed by incremental erosion of details and
character through
4.5.12 permitted development, and that an Article 4 (2) Directions is justified to manage
changes to dwellinghouses. The Direction requires that permission is sought for
certain works, enabling the planning authority to only grant permission for
changes that are appropriate and will preserve the character of the conservation
area.
4.5.13 It is recommended that an Article 4 (2) Direction is prepared for specified unlisted
residential properties within the conservation area. As Article 4 (2) Directions,
require additional resources from the local authority to manage and enforce, and
impose an additional layer of regulation on home-owners, it is important to only
apply the restrictions where it is justified to protect the historic and architectural
character of the conservation. In this case, the starting point for the selection of
buildings is those that have previously been identified as having architectural
quality, and making a positive contribution to the character of the conservation
area. These are marked mid-green on the Architectural Quality map in the
conservation area appraisal. In addition, a few buildings in the ‘neutral’ category
(coloured yellow on the plan) are suggested for inclusion where they are
prominent and have overall historic and architectural character.
4.5.14 A plan showing properties suggested for the Article 4 Direction is in Appendix 4.
This includes buildings that make a positive contribution to the conservation area
(as identified in the Cartmel conservation area appraisal), including those that
meet the Local List criteria (Appendix 2), and also a few considered to be ‘neutral’
in the conservation area appraisal. As part of the process of preparing the Article
4(2) Direction, the status of buildings so far identified for potential inclusion will
need to be checked to ensure they meet the legal requirements for serving the
Direction, particularly in relation to their status as dwellinghouses.

Buildings at Risk
4.6.1

4.6.1. Cartmel is an attractive historic village and owners of listed buildings and
unlisted buildings generally maintain their properties to a good standard. Some
buildings would benefit from general maintenance, but are not defined as ‘at risk’
of deterioration and decay. The CVS identified some buildings in fair to poor
condition during the fieldwork they carried out in 2014, applying the Historic
England ‘at risk’ assessment template, which combines building condition and
occupancy. Only one building is considered ‘at risk’ and in need of attention as
identified in the table below.

23

Page 554

4.6.2

Building

CVS comment in their
BAR survey of 2014

Building condition now

Village Institute

Fair – But gradual
deterioration to the
sandstone and painted
weather dash

In fair condition, possible
further deterioration

Although not at risk of rapid deterioration or loss of fabric in the short term, only
limited improvement or maintenance seems to have been carried out in recent
years. The building is Grade 2 listed. The repair and reuse of this building will
enhance the character and appearance of the Conservation area, and also ensure
it’s long-term sustainability.

Figure 20. Village Institute

4.6.3

Whilst there is no statutory obligation upon the owner of a listed building to keep
their property in a good state of repair, it is advisable to do so. Local authorities
have the power to serve an Urgent Works Notice where works are necessary for
the preservation of the building.

4.6.4

It is recommended that the local authority develop a system for monitoring and
reporting on potential buildings at risk or in a poor state of repair, for example on a
5-year cycle. Providing an appropriate level of clear guidance on repairs and
maintenance to owners of buildings, including via online links to readily available
advice online, such as Historic England or SPAB, is also recommended.

24

Page 555

5

ENVIRONMENTAL ENHANCEMENT
Need for Grant Aid

5.1.1

Most of the buildings in Cartmel conservation area appear to be maintained to a
good standard, as evidenced by the very small number of historic buildings found
to be in need of attention and repairs to their physical fabric, during the
preparation of the CAMP (see Section 4.6). There are no buildings that could be
categorised as ‘at risk’ and therefore there is not considered to be a need for
grant-aid for individual buildings.

5.1.2

In terms of spaces and public areas within Cartmel, there has been recent
investment in the conservation area by the Holker Estate which owns and
manages the racecourse; a new grandstand built in 2004, and new public toilets
and car park improvements completed in recent years. Following the Township
Initiative (Allies and Morrison, 2014), a new parking scheme for Cartmel was
introduced which provides free time-limited on-street parking in marked spaces.
Areas where parking is not permitted are clearly marked, with arrangements for
deliveries and unloading also managed.

5.1.3

The Township Initiative identified potential projects which may require public
funding and grant-aid if they are to be developed and delivered. If specific
infrastructure and environmental projects are identified in the Neighbourhood
Plan, they may be eligible for funding from the Community Infrastructure Levy
(CIL). Potential projects are discussed in section 5.2 below, but it will be important
for the Neighbourhood Plan to identify priorities.

Potential for Environmental Enhancement
5.2.1

The Cartmel Township Initiative looked in detail at a strategy for the management
of traffic and other highway matters. Although not adopted, the report is a
culmination of many years’ research, and was informed by the issues raised
during the Lower Allithwaite Community Plan in 2012.

5.2.2

Objectives of the Initiative were:
•

To enhance the special character of the town

•

To create a better quality and safer public realm for pedestrians

•

To address parking issues for local residents, local visitors and visitors to the
village

•

To improve vehicular movement within the village
25

Page 556

•

To enhance wider access to the village

•

To support and promote local businesses

5.2.3

The report concluded with a series of long-term and short-term aspirations. The
short-term aspirations, including a restricted parking zone, short-stay parking
bays, residents parking bays (with a resident permit scheme) and business permit
parking at the racecourse have now been implemented. A further short-term
aspiration was a one-way access and exit to the racecourse car park, which has
not been implemented.

5.2.4

Long term aspirations included a one-way system within the centre of the village,
significant environmental improvements to the Square, minor enhancements
outside the Priory and at The Causeway junction, additional off-street parking
provision and riverside environment improvements. These long-term aspirations
(with the exception perhaps of the additional off-street parking provision) have the
potential to enhance the public realm areas of the Conservation Area.

5.2.5

Further work is now required to review and analyse the effect and success of the
implemented measures as this may change the suggested longer-term objectives.
In the context of this report it is acknowledged that The Square in the centre of the
village has the potential for significant environmental improvements. The
functional priority within the square is parking and as a route for a high volume of
traffic which detracts from the enjoyment of the space and obscures many of the
heritage assets within and surrounding The Square. The Square has the potential
to be an attractive place for people to gather, to cross safely on foot and sit to
enjoy the atmosphere, which is achieved outside some of the cafes, pubs and
around the market cross and fish stone but the level of parking and through traffic
harms the character of this special place and the environment could be much
improved. It is recommended that further design and consultation work is done to
explore options and address opportunities for improvements to The Square.

5.2.6

It is also suggested that the one-way traffic system is given further consideration
through local consultation.

5.2.7

Alongside considering improvements to The Square, it is recommended that
Devonshire Square is also included in a further study. Parking in Devonshire
Square is generally less obtrusive than in The Square but there is still scope for
improvement. Devonshire Square is the main access point into the Priory Church
and is flanked on both sides by listed buildings. Opportunities for environmental
improvement could be considered here, to enhance this part of the conservation
area.

26

Page 557

Figure 21. The Square

5.2.8

Figure 22. Devonshire Square

Increasing provision for parking within the village is challenging. Currently the
village is served by the car park on the racecourse. Access to this car park
requires vehicles to drive through the village centre, causing conflicts with
pedestrians and adding to congestion. Options for parking closer to access points
into the village would help to minimise congestion, however, any proposal would
need to be carefully considered and robustly justified if it were to be sited in an
open green space on the edge of the village. The locations suggested in the
Township Initiative, to the south of the Causeway and south west of Greenfield
House are both considered to be inappropriate due to the harmful impact they
would have on the setting, character and appearance of the conservation area. It
is considered that the benefits of providing more parking on either of these sites
would probably not offset the harm to the conservation area; the fields north and
south of the Causeway are designated as amenity open space (no public access),
identified on the SLDC Policies Map
(https://my.southlakeland.gov.uk/mysouthlakeland.aspx). Further assessment,
design and consultation is recommended on parking options.

27

Page 558

Figure 23. Field to south of Greenfield House: parking
would detract from views across to the village and Priory
Church on approach to Cartmel from the north.

6

Figure 24. Field to south of Causeway: parking would
detract from views to the village on the approach to
Cartmel and would harm the open countryside setting.

MANAGING CHANGE IN THE CONSERVATION
AREA
The Control of New Development– General Principles
and Guidance

6.1.1

As explained in section 4.3, the Conservation Area Appraisal for Cartmel is an
important document that is used as the basis for determining applications for new
development within the conservation area. Opportunity for new development
within Cartmel is constrained by the high density of historic buildings and the
importance of open spaces between these buildings to the character of the
conservation area.

6.1.2

Existing buildings are tightly grouped in two main areas, the old town, to the west
of the Priory Church and the new town, which includes Barngarth, Aynsome Road
and Haggs Lane. The open spaces between and around these areas are very
significant elements of the Conservation Area, some are fields that are identified
as amenity open space in the Local Plan and other open spaces to the north of
Priest Lane include scheduled areas related to the medieval Priory; development
on these areas would be harmful to the conservation area (see section 6.5 below).

6.1.3

There is scope for well-designed alterations and extensions to existing properties;
the sections below provide some general principles and guidance. A few buildings
are identified in the Conservation Area Appraisal as of negative value in terms of
their contribution to the character of the conservation area; there may be scope to
28

Page 559

remodel or replace these with new development that enhances the character of
the conservation area, subject to relevant policies and the guidance below.
6.1.4

There are two sites allocated for housing within or on the edge of the conservation
area, discussed in section 7 below. The following guidelines should be followed
for any new development within Cartmel Conservation Area, including extensions
and infill development:
•

Any new development must adhere to policies within the South Lakeland
Local Plan, the DM DPD and national guidance in the NPPF;

•

The scale and general form of all new development should be compatible
with the guidelines contained within the adopted Cartmel CAMP;

•

New development involving the replacement of an existing building should
follow established historic precedents in Cartmel and not increase the
volume of the current built development on the site, unless this would
achieve a scale, massing, building orientation and building line that would
be more compatible with the character of the surroundings;

•

New development, including extensions, should be sympathetic to
neighbouring historic buildings in terms of uses, scale, form, massing,
external materials and constructional or architectural details; in particular,
the palette of external materials should be characteristic of historic
buildings in Cartmel and include roughcast render, limestone or other local
stone and Cumbrian slate;

•

The area’s roofscape, including building roof forms, pitch gradients,
covering materials, eaves and verge details, chimneystacks and roof
window forms are an important part of the area’s visual appearance. Roofs
on any new development should respect the traditional form, materials,
detail and scale of Cartmel historic buildings;

•

On new extensions or new buildings, windows should be appropriate to the
scale and design of the architecture and the pattern of traditional windows
in Cartmel.

•

New development within the conservation area should be carefully
designed to avoid any adverse impacts on the important views, visual
glimpses or critical vistas identified within the Conservation Area Appraisal,
particularly to protect views of the Priory and its setting;

•

New development that would affect views out of the conservation area
towards any important natural landmarks such as Hampsfell should be
discouraged.
29

Page 560

The control of development affecting existing buildings
6.2.1

Section 6.3 of the Cartmel CACA identifies and evaluates the contribution that all
individual buildings make to the special interest of the conservation area. The
significance of listed buildings is noted by reference to their formal descriptions in
the statutory list, issued by Historic England. Alterations affecting the character of
listed buildings, whether external or internal, require listed building consent (LBC).
In a hierarchy, listed buildings are the most important of all the historic buildings in
Cartmel and proposals affecting them are subject to the most scrutiny. An
assessment of heritage significance and impact will normally be required for LBC
applications.

6.2.2

Unlisted buildings are identified in the Architectural Quality Map in the
Conservation Area Appraisal, where their varying contribution to the architectural
and historic interest of the area is represented by colour-coding. Thus a building is
shown in green if it has been assessed as contributing positively to the
conservation area’s significance, amber if it is considered to be essentially neutral
in character, and red if it is deemed to have a detrimental impact. These different
categories of unlisted building are referred to below.

6.2.3

Positive Buildings. Unlisted buildings that make a positive contribution (Green) are
undesignated heritage assets but they are of great importance to the overall
heritage asset significance of the conservation area as they characterize the built
environment in Cartmel because of their historic or architectural interest. Decisionmaking in connection with development proposals affecting these buildings needs
to take account of Core Strategy Policy CS 8.6 (bullet points 1 & 2 and
paragraphs 9.16-19) and DM DPD Policy DM3: Conservation Areas, and sections
2.3.3 - 2.3.6 and any future adopted planning policies in place at the time a
decision is made.

6.2.4

Unlisted buildings have been assessed to consider whether they have sufficient
merit to meet Local List criteria; those that do are set out in Appendix 2 of this
CAMP, with a short description and a photograph of each building. They will be
treated as ‘non-designated heritage assets’ for development management
purposes, and subject to consultation, they will be added to the council’s ‘List of
Local Buildings of Heritage Importance’. Where a development proposal affects
any of the Local List buildings, the Council will take account of Core Strategy
Policy CS 8.6 (bullet point 3 and section 9.21); and DM DPD Policy DM3 –
Historic Environment: Non-Designated Heritage Assets of Local Significance, and
supporting paragraph 2.3.8 and any future adopted planning policies in place at
the time a decision is made.

30

Page 561

6.2.5

Proposals to demolish and replace a positive building will be resisted; they will be
assessed by the Council in a similar way to applications to demolish a statutorily
listed building. The loss of a positive building will usually cause substantial harm
to the significance of the conservation area. The applicant will be therefore be
expected to address the criteria in NPPF paragraph 203, including to demonstrate
that no viable use can be found in the medium term, through appropriate
marketing, and that the harm caused by demolition is outweighed by bringing the
site back into use, or that there are clearly substantial public benefits.

6.2.6

Extensions to positive or Local List buildings should follow similar guidance for
Listed Buildings; the extension should be subservient to the existing building in
terms of scale and design, and the form, massing, details and materials should
enhance the building, the setting and the conservation area. High quality
contemporary design will be encouraged where appropriate, although in some
cases, a traditional, historicist approach may be most appropriate to the site and
setting. The drawings and submitted information should clearly show how the
proposal will affect the character and appearance of the conservation area.

6.2.7

The cumulative impact of minor external alterations to positive buildings has a
negative impact on the character and appearance of an area; the special
character of the conservation area can be eroded by the loss of original materials
and architectural details as well as by new additions or changes that do not
accord with the character of the area. The Council will continue to encourage the
retention of external historic architectural features on buildings that make a
positive contribution to the conservation area wherever possible. This includes
using traditional lime-based render and retaining historic external joinery such as
windows, doors and shop fronts. Minor alterations should be sympathetic to the
architectural style of the building and the character and appearance of the area.

6.2.8

Barn conversions. Vernacular farm buildings are part of Cartmel’s historic
character, and many have already been adapted for non-farming use. The
adaptation of redundant barns and other outbuildings is acceptable provided the
design respects the non-domestic character of the building and avoids introducing
new openings or altering the overall form and character of the building. Proposals
should follow the national guidance on good practice in farm building conversion,
available from Historic England.

31

Page 562

Figure 25. A recent good example of a barn conversion in Cartmel

6.2.9

Windows. The character of historic buildings, particularly of the front elevations, is
party defined by the pattern and detail of the windows; in Cartmel mullioned and
casement windows are generally characteristic of 17th century and earlier
buildings and sash windows with vertical proportions are a feature of 18th and
19th century architecture. The details of the frames, glazing bars and the survival
of historic glass all contribute to the attractive character and historic and
architectural value of old windows. Historic windows should be retained and
repaired on Listed Buildings and on positive or Local List buildings in the
conservation area. If demonstrably beyond repair, replacement with like-for-like
windows is acceptable, using matching joinery sections and details. UPVC and
crude timber replacement windows will not be acceptable in the conservation
area.

32

Page 563

Figure 26. Original sashes on Cavendish Street (left) and low quality replacement windows (right)

6.2.10 Some buildings in Cartmel CA are identified as being neutral in their contribution
either because they possess only slight or moderate architectural or historic
importance, or where they may still retain some aspects of significance, the
overall quality of the building has been eroded by later alterations or extensions.
These buildings neither enhance nor harm the character of the conservation area,
and while they are of lesser significance to the special interest of the designated
area they still add to its overall historic character and appearance.
6.2.11 Changes to neutral buildings will be scrutinised by the Council to determine
whether the proposals could better reveal hidden heritage significance, possibly
though the restoration of features that have been previously lost, or through
design that is more sensitive to the significance of the conservation area. The
Council will seek to identify opportunities for enhancement during pre-application
discussions and will expect that a proportionate level of assessment of
significance is undertaken, to inform the design process.
6.2.12 Proposals for the demolition and replacement of neutral buildings will generally be
resisted unless the replacement building will clearly enhance the conservation
area. Depending on the building, the loss of a neutral building could cause
substantial or less than substantial harm, and either NNPF para 203 will be
applicable.
6.2.13 Buildings in Cartmel that are considered to be harmful to the character of the
conservation area (shown in Red on the Architectural Quality Map in the
Conservation Area Appraisal) may offer scope for the enhancement of the
conservation area through redevelopment, so long as it can be demonstrated that
the replacement building and associated works are of a higher design quality than
the existing. Any new building must relate positively to the surrounding context
through its siting and alignment; it’s overall form; appropriate scale, height and
physical massing; and appropriate materials and detailed design. In terms of style
and design either a traditional or a contemporary approach may be appropriate,
33

Page 564

but it is important that the design relates well to the significance and character of
the place. Proposals should be clearly informed by a detailed assessment of
heritage significance and of the immediate setting and wider conservation area
context. The Council will expect a detailed submission containing full supporting
material, visuals and drawings.

Repairs and Maintenance
6.3.1

Historic buildings need regular maintenance to ensure roofs, walls and external
joinery are weather-tight. Regular maintenance can help to avoid costly and more
invasive major repairs, which become necessary when a building is neglected and
deteriorates to a serious condition. Where renewal of historic fabric is
unavoidable, or features are missing, ‘like for like’ repairs and replacements will
be encouraged, as will the removal of previous unsympathetic changes to
buildings. Reversing or replacing previous poor quality work with good design and
conservation will be supported where it enhances the building and conservation
area.

6.3.2

It is the responsibility of the owners and tenants of buildings in the Conservation
Area to ensure that repairs are carried out, using appropriate material and
techniques. Repairs to existing historic structures must be undertaken sensitively
to ensure that the appearance and condition of building fabric is not harmed. The
stripping of traditional lime-based render and the use of cement-based render or
re-pointing can harm solid masonry buildings by making them more susceptible to
damp, and also negatively affects their external appearance and their architectural
and historic character. Maintaining traditional windows prolongs their life and
avoids unnecessary replacement with windows of inferior quality.

34

Page 565

Figure 27. Traditional rough cast render is important to Cartmel’s architectural
character

6.3.3

Advice and guidance on repairs is readily available on the websites of Historic
England and the Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings (SPAB). For listed
buildings, it is advisable to obtain professional advice from an architect or
surveyor accredited in conservation before undertaking works. The Council will
continue to work with owners and tenants of buildings in the area to provide
guidance and advice and encourage an appropriate standard of work.

Policies within the Allithwaite and Cartmel
Neighbourhood Plan
6.4.1

At the time of writing, the Neighbourhood Plan for Allithwaite and Cartmel is being
developed, and a Draft Plan has recently been published and consulted on.
Subject to consultation and adoption, the policies in the Neighbourhood Plan will
coordinate with the contents of the Cartmel CAMP and it is anticipated that the
policies will be supplemented by a design code, to guide new development. The
current draft Neighbourhood Plan contains several policies relevant to Cartmel
Conservation Area including Draft Policy AC1 AC1– Design Principles and Draft
Policy AC2 – Development within Cartmel Conservation Area.

6.4.2

The additional guidance contained within this section of the Cartmel CAMP
(Section 6) should be used to ensure that new development and ongoing
35

Page 566

maintenance and management protects and enhances the distinctive character
and special interest of the conservation area.

The protection of spaces, landscape and the setting of
the conservation area
6.5.1

The Cartmel CAA contains a Townscape Features Map that shows, in graphical
form, the specific townscape quality of the area, i.e. the nature and quality of the
spaces between the buildings, important views and the importance of the wider
landscape setting to the special character of the village. Factors identified include
the key landmarks; the role played by the main building elevations and building
lines in defining and enclosing spaces; and key views and vistas along streets,
between buildings, outwards towards key landmarks and across open spaces.
The fields between new town and old town, south of The Causeway, north of
Priest Lane, around Ford Lane and the racecourse form an important part of the
setting for the Priory and help define the rural character of the conservation area.
Important views in the conservation area are shown on the Townscape Features
Map in the Conservation Area Appraisal
(https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/media/3911/cartmel-townscape-featuresmap.pdf)

Figure 28. An important space in the conservation area, north of Priest Lane

36

Page 567

6.5.2

On the Local Plan land allocations map, three different types of open space are
identified in Cartmel (https://my.southlakeland.gov.uk/mysouthlakeland.aspx);
Public Open Space which includes the cemetery and the Priory burial ground;
Amenity Open Space (no public access) which includes the fields north and south
of The Causeway that separate the two parts of historic Cartmel and Space Used
for Outdoor Sports Facilities (the racecourse). The fields north of Priest Lane are
also important spaces in the conservation area and contain a scheduled area, but
are not identified as Open Space on the land allocations map; these areas could
be considered as Open Space in the Local Plans review and the Neighbourhood
Plan. The small triangular space or green at Town End is also important to the
conservation area. All these spaces will be protected from development, through
the management of development by the Council.

6.5.3

Within the conservation area, there are a number of other open spaces that are
urban in character, rather than green, particularly The Square and Devonshire
Square. These have hard surfaces and are used by pedestrians as well as by
vehicular traffic. These spaces are important to the settings of the surrounding
listed and unlisted buildings. There may be scope for future enhancement of
these spaces through improvements to hard landscaping, subject to funding,
consultation and a design process that takes full account of the heritage
significance of these spaces as well as the way in which they are used. Existing
historic surfaces such as areas of cobbling around the Market Cross should be
retained.

Figure 29. The Square provides the setting for listed buildings

37

Page 568

6.5.4

Cobbled verges. Many buildings in Cartmel directly front the road, with a narrow
strip of river cobbles or pebbles between the front wall of the building and road.
These verges are a distinctive and important element in the historic floorscape of
the village, but are vulnerable to removal during works on below-ground services
or hard landscaping. Cobbled verges should be retained whenever development
is proposed to a site or building in Cartmel, and during works that may not require
permission, such as landscaping and services. Incorporating cobbled verges in
new development may be appropriate where it is compatible with access.

Figure 30. Examples of cobbled or pebble verges in Cartmel

Trees
6.6.1

As identified within the Character Appraisal, trees make a vital contribution to the
special character and appearance of the conservation area, in open spaces and
private domestic gardens. Conservation area designation automatically protects
trees over a certain size. At least 6 weeks notice in writing must be given to the
Council before lopping, topping, felling and other specific works to trees. This
notice period also enables the Council to determine whether a Tree Preservation
Order would be appropriate. In addition, some individual trees and groups of trees
have further protection from Tree Preservation Orders (TPOs). This means that
formal permission is required from the Council to carry out works to any tree which
is subject to a TPO. The Council’s Tree Officer will continue to provide advice to
owners on trees.

Boundaries and entrances
6.7.1

As described within the conservation area character appraisal, domestic gardens
and properties are bounded by a variety of walls in local materials, with some iron
railings and hedges also being characteristic of Cartmel. The scale and
architectural character of boundaries and entrances often reflects historic social
38

Page 569

status, with modest property fronting directly onto the streets having no more than
a cobbled verge between the cottage and road in contrast to larger properties with
generous entrances including gate piers, curved flanking walls and gates. These
are important surviving features within the conservation area; the demolition or
unsympathetic alteration of historic boundaries and entrances would have a
detrimental impact on the special character and appearance of the area and will
not be supported.
6.7.2

New boundary treatments must be of sympathetic design, form and materials and
should not impact negatively on either the setting of listed buildings nor the
character of the conservation area. New boundaries should not compromise the
relationship between the built and natural environment nor detract from important
views.

Figure 31. Variety of boundaries in Cartmel - stone walls, iron railings and
hedges

Archaeology
6.8.1

The Cumbria Historic Environment Record (HER) identifies sites of archaeological
significance in the county, including within the Conservation Area. The most
significant of these are nationally scheduled, including below-ground archaeology
related to the medieval Priory. Other sites of archaeological significance may not
be scheduled but their inclusion on the HER gives them formal recognition in the
planning system. Archaeology is a heritage asset and protected by the NPPF;
protecting archaeology and its setting is a material consideration in determining
39

Page 570

planning applications whether the site is scheduled or not. The conservation area
has considerable archaeological potential both above and below ground, which
will require further consideration during the planning process. The following
guidance should be followed:
•

The Council will consult with the Cumbria Archaeology Service on
applications affecting archaeology, which will include most applications for
development in Cartmel;

•

An archaeological Desk Based Assessment may be required where
archaeology is known or thought likely to exist, before determination. In
certain cases, a field evaluation may also be required;

•

A Statement of Heritage Significance for a Listed or Local List building
should also refer to the archaeological significance of the building and its
site.

•

Where planning permission or Listed Building Consent is granted for a site
or building that has archaeological potential, conditions will be attached to
ensure that provision is made for an appropriate level of investigation into
the site or building’s archaeological potential before development takes
place, and for the preservation in situ or recording of any archaeological
deposits or features that are encountered.

7

EXISTING HOUSING ALLOCATION SITES

7.1.1

In 2013 South Lakeland District Council (SLDC) adopted the Land Allocations
Development Plan Document (DPD https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/media/6179/01-local-plan_land-allocationsadopted-dec-2013.pdf). This identifies employment and housing site allocations as
well as environmental and other designations. It forms part of the Local Plan. Two
areas of land were allocated and shown on the plan in the DPD: The Stables,
Cartmel Racecourse located off Park View, and Land at Haggs Lane, located to
the south of the road. Neither of the sites has been developed to date, however,
the land at Haggs Lane has outline planning permission for 39 houses. This site
lies outside the Conservation Area, with the exception of a small area of land, to
the west of the Quaker Meeting House. The latter building has been listed Grade
II since the outline permission was granted; at reserved matters stage the impact
on the setting of this listed building will need to be taken into account.

40

Page 571

Figure 32. Cartmel Racecourse Stables, Park View

7.1.2

Special consideration would need to be given to any redevelopment of the
racecourse stables, to take account of the character of the conservation area
Related to this, a site for new stables would need to be identified and the impact
of such development on the conservation area also carefully considered. The
existing stable site is bounded by a stone wall, with trees along the boundary,
features which should be retained. The current stable buildings sit low within the
site and this adds to the feeling of openness as one leaves the village, with the
racecourse to the west.

7.1.3

It is recommended that only small-scale and low-rise development be considered
on the stables site; development for housing or a compatible use of no more than
two storeys would maintain the low scale of this site. To enhance the character of
the conservation area, the layout of the development should positively relate to
the high density and tight grain of historic Cartmel, where terraced houses fronting
streets or narrow yards are characteristic of the historic core of the village. The
design should use an appropriate palette of local materials including roughcast
rendered elevations, natural limestone (or other local stone) and natural slate
roofs, and use proportions characteristic of the village. Any design guidance or
code produced for the Neighbourhood Plan could inform the form, layout and
design of potential development at this site; any proposals would need to be
accompanied by an appropriate level of analysis and impact assessment.

41

Page 572

8

DELIVERY, REVIEW AND TIMESCALES

8.1.1

It is suggested that the CAMP be reviewed every ten years, to ascertain if the
content, recommendations and policy guidance should be amended.

9

SOURCES
Allies and Morrison, Cartmel Township Initiative, 2014
Cartmel Village Society, Historic Buildings of Cartmel and advice on how to
become a House Detective, The House Detectives Volume 1, 1999
Cartmel Village Design Statement Steering Committee, Cartmel Village Design
Statement, 1994
Environment Agency, Forestry Commission, Historic England, Natural England,
Neighbourhood Planning for the Environment, 2018
Greenfield Lodge, Aynsome Road, Cartmel. Heritage Assessment. Greenlane
Archaeology Ltd, August 2021
https://neighbourhoodplanning.org/wp-content/uploads/Environment-Toolkit20181220.pdf
Historic England, 2016, Local Heritage Listing, Historic England Advice Note 7
Historic England, 2018, Neighbourhood Planning and the Historic Environment,
Historic England Advice Note 11
Historic England, 2019, Conservation Area Appraisal, Designation and
management, 2nd edition, Historic England Advice Note 1
M. Hyde and N.Pevsner, 2010, The Buildings of England: Cumbria (Yale)
Lower Allithwaite Parish Council, Community Plan 2018-2023, November 2018
Allithwaite and Cartmel Neighbourhood Development Plan 2021-2029 Presubmission draft, September 2021
Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government, 2018, National Planning
Policy Framework
SLDC, Cartmel Conservation Area Appraisal, adopted 2009
https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/media/5869/cartmel-conservation-areacharacter-appraisal.pdf [accessed 2 July 2019]
SLDC, Development Plan Document, adopted 2018
42

Page 573

https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/media/6466/final-dm-dpd-adoptionaccessible.pdf [accessed 2 July 2019]

10 GLOSSARY
Archaeological interest - There will be archaeological interest in a heritage asset if it
holds, or potentially holds, evidence of past human activity worthy of expert
investigation at some point.
Conservation (for heritage policy) - The process of maintaining and managing
change to a heritage asset in a way that sustains and, where appropriate, enhances
its significance.
Designated Heritage Asset - A heritage asset that is designated under relevant
legislation, including a World Heritage Site, Scheduled Monument, Listed Building,
Protected Wreck Site, Registered Park and Garden, Registered Battlefield or
Conservation Area.
Heritage asset - A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as
having a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions,
because of its heritage interest. It includes designated heritage assets and also nondesignated assets identified by the local planning authority (such as Local List
Buildings).
Historic environment - All aspects of the environment resulting from the interaction
between people and places through time, including all surviving physical remains of
past human activity, whether visible, buried or submerged, and landscaped and
planted or managed flora.
Open space - All open space of public value, including not just land, but also areas
of water (such as rivers, canals, lakes and reservoirs) which offer important
opportunities for sport and recreation and can act as a visual amenity.
Permitted development - Classes of development that are permitted under the Town
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)(England) Order 2015.
Setting of a heritage asset - The surroundings in which a heritage asset is
experienced. Its extent is not fixed and may change as the asset and its
surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may make a positive or negative
contribution to the significance of an asset, may affect the ability to appreciate that
significance or may be neutral.
Significance - The value of a heritage asset to this and future generations because of
its heritage interest. That interest may be archaeological, architectural, artistic or
historic. Significance derives not only from a heritage asset’s physical presence, but
also from its setting.
43

Page 574

Supplementary planning documents (SPD) - Documents which add further detail to
the policies in the development plan. They can be used to provide further guidance
for development on specific sites, or on particular issues, such as design.
Supplementary planning documents are capable of being a material consideration in
planning decisions but are not part of the development plan.

Appendices
Appendix 1 Relevant current Local Plan policies
Core Strategy Policy CS8.6 Historic Environment
The Core Strategy supports:
•

•

•

•

•
•

•

•

The safeguarding and, where possible, enhancing of historic environment
assets, including their characteristic settings and any attributes that contribute
to a sense of local distinctiveness. Such assets include listed buildings and
features (both statutory and locally listed), conservation areas, scheduled
ancient monuments and registered parks and gardens.
Seeking the adaptive reuse of redundant or functionally obsolete listed
buildings or important buildings within conservation areas, without harming
their essential character.
The preparation of a list of buildings and features of local architectural or
historic importance in order to assist in the planning of a prioritized
programme of conservation management for such buildings and features.
The production of conservation area management plans to identify and
explain how the Council will seek to preserve and enhance the special interest
of such areas.
Actions that will ensure the proper conservation of all heritage assets, giving
particular priority to those identified as being at risk.
Working with owners of heritage assets to ensure their maintenance and
repair accessibility and, where opportunities exist, there use as an educational
resource.
Consideration of the introduction of tighter controls within conservation areas
and other sites or areas of heritage importance by implementing Article 4 (2)
Directions to control certain types of permitted development, which, if
unchecked, would cause harm to the special character and appearance of
such areas.
The safeguarding and, where possible enhancement of, locally important
archaeological sites and features within the historic environment.

44

Page 575

Development Management Policy DM3 – Historic Environment
Purpose: To protect and enhance the valuable Historic Environment of the District,
including all designated and non-designated heritage assets.
Development proposals will safeguard and, where appropriate, enhance all
heritage assets and their settings, in a manner that is appropriate to their
particular significance.

Assessing Significance and Impact
Proposals affecting a designated or non-designated heritage asset, including its
setting, will be assessed taking into account its significance, as derived from the
relative value of its architectural, historic, artistic or archaeological interest; and
the impact that the proposals would have upon that significance, including
whether it causes any harm. Development proposals must be supported by a
Statement of Significance and Impact which should:
1. demonstrate a clear understanding of the asset’s significance, including all
those parts that would be affected by the proposal, as well as the
contribution made by its setting; and which is proportionate to whether it is
a non-designated or designated asset, and the amount of any change
involved; and
2. explain how the asset and its setting will be affected by the proposed
development, and demonstrate how any harm would be minimised or
averted, including any mitigation methods; and
3. present a justification for the proposal that explains why any resulting harm
is considered to be necessary or desirable; and
4. identify what public benefits might arise from the proposal.

Listed Buildings
Development proposals will be expected to conserve, enhance and where
appropriate better reveal the significance of listed buildings and their settings.
Applications relating to listed buildings will be expected to demonstrate how they
would:
5. preserve and better reveal the internal or external significance of the
heritage asset and its setting, as well as secure any opportunities for
enhancement; and
6. take into account its special architectural or historic interest; and
7. ensure its continued use and longer term viability; and
8. where appropriate, result in the securing of any public benefits; and
9. maximise opportunities for promotion, enjoyment, understanding and
interpretation.
45

Page 576

Proposals that cause substantial loss or harm to the significance of listed buildings
will be refused unless it can be clearly and convincingly demonstrated that such
harm or loss is necessary to achieve corresponding substantial public benefits that
outweigh that harm or loss. Less than substantial harm must be clearly and
convincingly justified, and this harm weighed against the public benefits of the
proposal, including securing its optimum viable use.

Archaeology
Development proposals that cause substantial loss or harm to the significance of a
scheduled monument will be refused unless it can be clearly and convincingly
demonstrated that such harm or loss is necessary to achieve corresponding
substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss. Less than substantial
harm must be clearly and convincingly justified, and this harm weighed against the
public benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum viable use.
Any proposals that affect a non-designated archaeological asset (whether known or
on sites where there are reasonable grounds for the potential of unknown assets) will
be determined according to its significance and the level of harm that would result
from the proposal.
The level of information required to support an application will be proportionate to its
significance and the scale of the proposal’s impact. Where necessary to enable an
application to be determined, a desk-based archaeological assessment and/or a field
evaluation should be provided.
All applications will be expected to demonstrate:
10. an understanding of the asset’s significance and the contribution made to
this by its setting; and
11. how the proposal will impact on the asset including any excavations,
structures or new features; and
12. the identification of any harm, whether this is necessary and how this will
be mitigated; and
13. the extent to which any proposed works would result in public benefits
The Council’s preferred approach will be to seek to avoid unjustified damage to such
remains through their preservation in situ. When in-situ preservation cannot be
warranted, the developer will be required to make adequate provision for the
excavation and recording of the asset, provide opportunities to promote this
archaeological heritage (both above and below ground) and find ways to interpret
and present this material to the public.

46

Page 577

Historic Parks, Gardens and Landscapes
Proposals that cause substantial loss or harm to the significance of registered
Parks and Gardens will be refused unless it can be clearly and convincingly
demonstrated that such harm or loss is necessary to achieve corresponding
substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss. Less than substantial
harm must be clearly and convincingly justified, and this harm weighed against the
public benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum viable use. Any
proposals for development must ensure that they conserve and enhance the
significance of relevant heritage assets and their settings including formal design,
layout, character, appearance and any views or vistas to, from and within the
asset. Opportunities to reinstate original features, increase public enjoyment and
understanding, and provide interpretation will usually be supported.

Conservation Areas
Development proposals affecting, or within the setting of a Conservation Area will
be expected to preserve or enhance its special character and appearance. Any
proposals for development and alterations will need to demonstrate that they:
14. relate positively to the architectural or historic interest of its buildings, its
spatial and broader townscape character, street pattern, any open spaces,
important views within, into or out of the Area, and, where appropriate, its
setting; and
15. take fully into account any identified significance that is contained in the
Council’s adopted Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan for
the relevant designated area; and
16. seek to retain or introduce features which contribute positively to the spatial
character and appearance of the area and its setting in terms of height,
scale, physical massing, and the materials used in any design; and
17. explain how any harm to the conservation area will be avoided or
appropriately mitigated; and
18. where relevant, establish how any identified harm is outweighed by the
public benefits of the proposal.
Proposals that cause substantial loss or harm to the significance of a conservation
area will be refused unless it can be clearly and convincingly demonstrated that
such harm or loss is necessary to achieve corresponding substantial public
benefits that outweigh that harm or loss. Less than substantial harm must be
clearly and convincingly justified, and this harm weighed against the public
benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum viable use.

47

Page 578

Non Designated Heritage Assets of Local Significance
The Council recognises the value of non-designated heritage assets such as
buildings, archaeological sites or other features of local significance and their
contribution to local visual and historic identity. The Council attaches importance
to their protection, and where planning permission is required consideration will be
given to appropriate level of preservation or enhancement.
There will be a presumption in favour of the retention of non-designated heritage
assets of local significance that have been included in the Council’s ‘Local List; or
which are identified during the pre-application or application processes, using the
Council’s adopted selection criteria.
Where the significance of a non-designated heritage asset is affected by a
development proposal, those elements that contribute to their significance should
be retained and enhanced wherever possible.
In determining such applications the Council will make a balanced judgement that
takes into account the scale of any harm against the degree and extent of any
significance that the heritage asset possesses; any contribution it makes to the
area, and the public benefits of the proposal.
When the loss of a non-designated heritage asset is permitted, the Council will
require an appropriate level of survey and recording, which may also include
archaeological investigations; the result of which should be deposited with the
local Historic Environment Record (HER).

Heritage at Risk
The Council will encourage and look favourably at proposals that would secure
the preservation of heritage assets on the 'Heritage at Risk' register managed by
Historic England; as well as those assets defined as being at risk that have been
identified by the Council, including those on its own ‘Local List’ of non-designated
assets. In doing so, it will pay special regard to any public benefits that would
result from the proposal, while seeking to ensure that the development would
release the optimal viable use of the asset.

11

Appendix 3: Local List Buildings
SLDC is in the process of preparing a list of Local List Buildings, using criteria
developed by the Council, as described in section 4. In Cartmel, buildings in this
appendix have been put forward for the Local List, using information gathered by
Cartmel Village Society and additional research and fieldwork for the CAMP in
summer 2019. These buildings are not on the Statutory List of Listed Buildings,
48

Page 579

but are considered to have local significance when measured against the three
criteria below.
To be included on South Lakeland District Council’s ‘Local List’ a building,
structure or feature will need to satisfy an authenticity criterion (i, below) and in
addition, either criterion (a) or (b).
(i) Authenticity
The building, structure or feature must be substantially unaltered and retain
the majority of its original features and fabric. Where later alterations have
affected the asset they must be of either very modest in scale, be easily
reversible or be of the highest architectural quality for the period in question in
order to qualify.
(a) Architectural significance
Be of good architectural quality from a particular era or stylistic period; be a
very good example of a unique local building type; have a distinctive landmark
quality or contribute positively to townscape or public spaces; display
particular innovation, distinctive ornamentation or high levels of craftsmanship
in the use of materials; or be designed by particularly important local or
regional architects.
(b) Historical interest
Display physical evidence associated with recognised and important periods
of economic, social or cultural significance; be associated with well-known
local people, historic events or locally significant activities; be part of, or have
an important association with a formally designed landscape or archaeological
site; or have a recognisable community value or significance.

49

Page 580

Aynsome Road
Holly Cottage, Aynsome Road:

End terrace cottage, probably 18th century or earlier. Rendered walls with timber casement
windows of various patterns (not original) and slate roof. The cylindrical chimney and small
blocked attic windows to the south gable are distinctive local features, indicating a pre-19th
century date.
The bee boles in the garden wall, to the rear, are a significant feature.
Cottage has architectural significance as a good example of a Cartmel vernacular cottage,
retaining overall character although some features have been altered.
Criteria: authenticity and architectural significance

50

Page 581

Dale Cottage, Aynsome Road:

Photo CVS 2015
Mid terrace cottage, now part of the Pig & Whistle, and attached to Holly Cottage (qv).
Probably 18th century or early 19th century. Symmetrical frontage with central doorway and
timber sash windows (sensitive replacement joinery). Slate roof with gable end stack. The
rendered finish has been stripped from the rubblestone walls.
Cottage has architectural significance as a good example of a Cartmel vernacular cottage,
retaining its overall character although some features have been replaced.
Criteria: authenticity and architectural significance

51

Page 582

Pig & Whistle, Aynsome Road:

Public house, originally a pair of cottages. 1845 datestone over left hand doorway. Each half
of the frontage mirrors the other with flanking doorways and 4-pane timber sashes
(replacements); the front wall is canted to follow the road. The rendered finish has been
stripped from the limestone walls, but the roof is slate roof and ridge chimney stacks are in
situ.
Historic and architectural significance as a good example of an historic pub, originally built
as two cottages. The building is prominent on an important road junction and retains its
overall character. This was a Hartley’s pub until it was acquired by Robinson’s Brewery in
1982.
Source: L.F.Pearson, The History of Robinsons Brewery, 1997, p137

Criteria: authenticity, historic and architectural significance

52

Page 583

Cartmel CE Primary School, Aynsome Road:

Opened in 1861 as a National School, it cost £2000 and was built on land donated by the
Duke of Devonshire. Designed by Paley and Austin in gothic style with stone elevations,
steeply pitched local slate roofs and pointed windows. It includes former school teachers’
houses (one facing Barn Garth). The school is little altered externally, but the interior has
not been assessed. Visible from three sides. Stone boundary walls are included. Significant
as a good example of a Victorian village school, designed by a well-known architect. It may
meet national Listing criteria.
Source: Geoff Brandwood, The Architecture of Sharpe, Paley and Austin, 2012, p218.

Criteria: authenticity, historic and architectural significance

The White House, Aynsome Road:

Detached house probably of several phases, with mid-19th century main range. This has
symmetrical 3-bay frontage with central pedimented doorway with fluted pilasters, 4-pane
53

Page 584

sashes and distinctive moulded brackets to the eaves. The northern part is lower with a
gabled wing projecting to the front, rear additions and some replacement windows. Interior
not assessed. Significant as a good example of a large 19th century Cartmel house in the east
part of the village. Like other multi-phase houses in the village, it may contain earlier fabric.
Rear elevations not seen.
Criteria: authenticity and architectural significance

Enerigg House, Aynsome Road:

Early 19th century house in a row, set behind narrow front garden with metal railings.
Almost symmetrical Georgian frontage, roughcast rendered, with central 6-panelled door
below flat stone canopy. Slate roof with gable-end stacks. The 16-pane sashes (with
inappropriate horns) are replacements, but overall architectural character is intact and the
house has an attractive appearance. Rear elevations not seen. Like other houses in Cartmel,
this may have earlier origins. Significant as a good example of an early 19th century Cartmel
house in the east art of the village.
Criteria: authenticity and architectural significance

54

Page 585

Greenfield House, Aynsome Road:

Early 19th century detached house (shown on 1st edition OS map of 1851). Symmetrical 3bay frontage faces south, with central panelled door in a pedimented doorcase. The
rendered finish has been stripped from the front but the right return (east gable wall)
retains slate-hanging. 4-pane sashes in raised stone architraves; joinery is not original, but
the overall architectural character is intact. Slate roof with moulded gutter and coped
verges. Rear not seen. Good example of early 19th century gentleman’s house built on the
edge of Cartmel. Imposing entrance has pairs of stone gate piers with ball finials and low
quadrant walls with timber railings.
Criteria: authenticity and architectural significance

55

Page 586

Greenfield Lodge, Aynsome Road:

Single-storey house. Built after c1850 (it is not on the 1st edition OS map of 1851), with later
addition to south in similar style. Rendered, hipped slate roof with chimney stacks. Right
hand 3-bay part is the original; this has a central doorway with an original trellised porch
and panelled double doors with flanking windows in ashlar architraves. Windows are
replacements for sashes. Rear not seen. Significant as a good example of a mid-19th century
lodge house on the edge of Cartmel.
Criteria: authenticity and architectural significance

56

Page 587

Ivy House, Aynsome Road:

Photos: CVS 2015
Early 19th century detached house (shown on 1st edition OS map, 1851). 2-storey, 3-bay
house with principal frontage facing south onto the garden; this has a central door, veranda
and sash windows. Rendered walls with hipped slate roof and rendered chimney stacks.
Rear not seen. Significant as a good example of early 19th century former farmhouse built on
the edge of Cartmel. Single-storey outbuilding fronts the road, with distinctive gable-end
features including a blocked circular window, cross vents, coal hole and exposed purlin
ends. The property includes stone boundary walls with copings and gate piers to main
entrance.
Criteria: authenticity and architectural significance

57

Page 588

Gate piers and walls to playground on east side of Aynsome Road:

Stone walls to front of playground, with central monolithic gate piers inscribed Jubilee
Playground, 1897. Until recently there was a playground shelter on the east side of the
rectangular playground, but this was taken down after 2014. Significant as a good example
of a community facility, created to mark Queen Victoria’s diamond Jubilee in 1897.
Criteria: authenticity, historic and architectural significance

Barn Garth
Laburnum Cottage, Barn Garth:

Mid-19th century detached house, designed with the gable-end facing the street flanked by
set-back lean-to elements; the left hand bay to the south contains the entrance hall and
staircase. Rendered with slate roof; the overhanging verge is on shaped brackets (purlin
ends). 6-panelled door in moulded architrave to left-hand side and 4-pane sashes. Later
extensions do not affect the principal frontage. The sashes have been sensitively renewed
with slimline double glazing, which has not affected the overall appearance of the house.
58

Page 589

Property includes front dwarf walls, gate piers, timber gates and metal railings. Significant as
a good example of a Cartmel 19th century cottage, with picturesque details.
Criteria: authenticity and architectural significance.

Cavendish Street
Tower House, Cavendish Street:

Late 19th century house at the north end of a terrace, now sub-divided into flats. Directly
fronts the footway. Rendered asymmetric gabled frontage with pedimented doorway to
right and pairs of plate glass sashes. Entrance to flat to left has segmental hood on brackets
over fanlight to doorway. Overhanging eaves and verge to front gable have decorative
timber brackets. Built directly fronting the footway, with no front garden. Significant as a
good example of striking Victorian house in Cartmel.
Criteria: authenticity and architectural significance

59

Page 590

Brook House, Cavendish Street:

House in a group with adjoining historic properties to left and at right angles. Set behind a
small front garden. The frontage appears to be mid-19th century, but like other houses in the
historic core of Cartmel, the house could contain earlier fabric. The almost symmetrical
front elevation has a pilastered central door case with flat timber canopy and panelled door,
with 4-pane sashes. Rendered finish and slate roof with projecting chimney stack to south
gable-end and ridge stacks. Rear elevations not seen. Significant as a good example of a
Georgian or earlier house in Cartmel.
Criteria: authenticity and architectural significance.

Chestnut Cottage and barn to north, Cavendish Street:

Pair of cottages, now one house, with rendered front elevation and slate roof. Directly
fronts the street. The front cottage elevation with two doorways and 16-pane sashes
appears to be early 19th century, but the building may contain earlier fabric. The barn
attached to the north is under same roof-line; this has fair-faced rubblestone walls with
large quoins to the north gable corners and a large doorway with double boarded doors and
60

Page 591

timber lintel with slate drip to the left hand (south) end of the front wall. There is a
rubblestone single-storey lean-to against the north gable wall. The enamelled metal Raleigh
bicycle sign is an attractive 20th century addition. Rear not seen. Currently used in
conjunction with L’Enclume restaurant across the road. Significant as a good example of
Georgian domestic architecture with an intact outbuilding.
Criteria: authenticity and architectural significance.

Outbuilding to south of l’Enclume (Long Row, Aulis), Cavendish Street:

Linear outbuilding with monopitch roof sloping down to the south, with stone coping and
slate roof. Probably late 19th century (not on 1851 OS map but shown on 1890 OS map). The
rubblestone building has a fixed small-pane window to west gable-end and boarded doors
(replacements) to north elevation facing a cobbled yard. Lean-to addition to east end of
north elevation is modern, but does not reduce overall significance. Significant as a good
example of a little outbuilding in Cartmel.
Criteria: authenticity and architectural significance

61

Page 592

The Causeway
Nos 1-4 The Causeway:

Terrace of four historic workers’ cottages, probably early 19th century (shown on 1st edition
OS map of 1851). Render stripped from stone elevations. Slate roofs and four ridge chimney
stacks. The fenestration and door details have been altered, except for No 2 (The Bothy)
which retains original small-paned cast-iron windows, now very rare in houses of historically
low social status. Rear not seen. The row is significant as an unusual example of workers’
housing in Cartmel that retains overall architectural character, despite the changes.
Criteria: authenticity, historic and architectural significance

62

Page 593

Devonshire Square
St Mary’s Lodge, Devonshire Square:

Imposing 3-storey late 19th century house. Rendered front elevation and slate roof, with
decorative ceramic ridge tiles and gable-end stacks. Front elevation with sashes
(replacements), bay window and veranda, and gabled second floor dormers. 2-storey
contemporary rear outrigger and later extension. Earlier 2-storey element to the south has
lower proportions and small sash windows. Front wall with rustic limestone. Significant as a
good example of a Victorian house close to the village centre.
Criteria: authenticity and architectural significance

The Flags
Holly Tree House, The Flags:

3-storey house with sashes of various patterns: pairs of 9-pane sashes to second floor, pair
of plate glass sashes to ground and first floor and replacement 2-storey bay window to left
(north). Doorway in gabled porch to right of centre. Cement-rendered finish and slate roof.
63

Page 594

The front west elevation appears to be early 19th century (with later alterations), but like
other houses in the core of the village, the house may contain earlier fabric.
Criteria: authenticity, historic and architectural significance.

Railings, gate piers and cobbled footway opposite (to west of) Holly Tree House, The Flags:

19th century boundary to detached garden, consisting of ashlar dwarf wall, cast-iron railings
with spearheads, monolithic gate piers and matching cast-iron gate. The verge in front of
the boundary is laid with small pebbles. The garden is separated from Holly Tree House by
the narrow lane. Good intact example of Victorian garden boundary with pebbled verge, a
distinctive local feature.
Criteria: authenticity, historic and architectural significance
Ford Road
Cartmel Methodist Church, Ford Road:

Dated 1872 on datestone. Modest gothic revival Nonconformist church with 3-bay volume
and gabled west porch to west gable-end. Side elevations have three pairs of lancet
windows and west gable-end has quatrefoil above the porch. Steeply-pitched slate roof with
64

Page 595

coped verges on shaped stone kneelers. Plain boundary wall with triangular copings.
Architect of original design not known. Significant as a good example of gothic revival
Nonconformist church. Interior not seen.
Criteria: authenticity, historic and architectural significance

Wells House Farm and Lowdene, Ford Road:

Former farmhouse and barn, now two dwellings and barn. Mid-18th century, house altered
in 19th century. Datestone to house inscribed ‘I Wells /1752’. Datestone to barn 1827. House
and barn on linear plan, with taller house to south. Rubblestone walls (house may originally
have been rendered), Cumbrian slate to barn roof, more regular blue slate to house, which
has projecting verges on brackets and gable-end stacks. House has central doorway and 6pane sash windows, with lean-to to south gable-end. Barn retains large boarded doors with
slate canopy, north bay converted for domestic use with extensions to north and west
(Lowdene). Significant as a good example of an 18th century vernacular farmstead in
Cartmel, remodelled in the 19th century, prominent in views across the field from the east.
Criteria: authenticity, historic and architectural significance

65

Page 596

Haggs Lane
Meeting House Cottages, Haggs Lane:

Pair of cottages, probably mid-19th century (shown on 1st edition OS map, 1851). Roughcast
rendered elevations with timber mullioned windows. Slate roof with plain verges and gable
end stacks. Rear outrigger under catslide roof. Historically, these cottages were the property
of the Quakers and associated with the nearby Grade II listed meeting house. Significant as a
good example of historic cottages in Cartmel, associated with the Quakers.
Criteria: authenticity, historic and architectural significance

Greenbank Lane
Tanley House and Tanley Cottage:

Large detached house of two phases; now divided into two. Tanley Cottage is marked on the
1851 OS map. The east part of the house was added as a large extension, probably in c1900;
the architectural style of each part reflects the phasing. Rough cast render, string courses,
66

Page 597

slate roof and ashlar stacks, with sash windows. The projecting porch on the east elevation
has an arched entrance doorway with moulded stone details. The architect is not known.
The drive entrance has rusticated stone gate piers with pyramidal caps, quadrant walls and
a timber gate. Significant as a good example of a detached house, of more than phase, on
the edge of Cartmel.
Criteria: authenticity, historic and architectural significance

Priest Lane
Wheelhouse Bridge:

Photo: CVS 2015
Dated 1815. Single segmental-arched bridge of rubblestone with limestone voussoirs and
weathered stone copings. Inscribed datestone 1815, on inner face of south parapet.
C.C.WHEELHOUSE BRIDGE inscribed on inner face of north copings. Significant as one of a
group of distinctive early 19th century stone bridges in the village, including Church Bridge
which is listed.
Criteria: authenticity, historic significance

67

Page 598

Pepper Bridge :

Photo: CVS 2015
Bridge and attached walls. 19th century or earlier. Small single segmental-arched bridge of
rubblestone with limestone voussoirs and weathered stone copings. Inscribed C.C.PEPPER
BRIDGE on inner face of south copings. Significant as one of a group of distinctive early 19th
century stone bridges in the village, including Church Bridge which is listed.
Criteria: authenticity, historic significance

Vicarage, Priest Lane:

Large 19th century gabled parsonage house, built on a greenfield site at an unknown date
after 1850. Appears to be of at least two phases. Architect not known. Fair-faced slate-stone
and limestone elevations with gabled slate roofs. Entrance elevation faces south with
68

Page 599

panelled door below gabled canopy, to right. Small-pane sash windows are PVCu. The
architect has not been identified.
Property includes stone boundary walls, gate piers to entrance, with timber gate and
attached quadrant walls. Significant as a good example of a late Victorian vicarage, in typical
Lake District style.
Criteria: authenticity, historic and architectural significance

Old Police Station, Priest Lane:

Late 19th century detached house, directly fronting the street. Symmetrical front elevation is
rendered with rock-faced rock-faced stone quoins and lintels, 12-pane sashes and central
recessed doorway. Slate roof has projecting barge boards on brackets and gable-end stacks.
Cobbled verge to front. Significant as the former village police house and a good example of
a late Victorian house in Georgian style.
Criteria: authenticity, historic and architectural significance

69

Page 600

Croft House, Priest Lane:

19th century detached house, set back from street. Asymmetrical front elevation is smoothrendered with raised sill band and 4-pane sashes. Pilastered doorway with panelled door to
left of centre. Slate roof has projecting barge boards on brackets. The house may contain
earlier fabric; the rendered frontage appears to be a later facade. Significant as a good
example of a 19th century village house.
Criteria: authenticity and architectural significance

Knott House and east part of Hartwell House, Priest Lane:

Large late 18th century house, with modern addition to west (now two properties). 3-bay
front elevation to east part, with pairs of 12-pane and 4-pane sashes and a panelled door
with stone canopy to right of centre. West bay of main range is probably a later addition.
Roughcast render and slate roof with rendered stacks. Tall stair window and lean-to
outriggers to rear. Named as Springfield House on 1st edition OS map, 1851.
70

Page 601

Modern west part of Hartwell House not included. Set behind front garden with stone
boundary wall to front with flat copings. Significant as a good example of an early 19th
century village house, with original windows.
Criteria: authenticity, historic and architectural significance

1 and 2 North View, Priest Lane:

Group of three cottages, now two properties, directly fronting the street. Probably mid 19th
century. The 3-bay north front has a projecting central bay with sashes but no doorway
(probably blocked). The whole building is under a hipped roof with a single rendered stack.
No.2, to the east is 2-bay and retains 12-pane sashes but has a modern door. No.1 (The
Fossa, to the west) has been altered with uPVC windows and recent door. The overall
building group is legible, despite the remodelling. Historic maps show a smithy to the rear
facing onto Aynsome Road. Significant as a good example of an early 19th century group of
cottages, on a prominent road junction.
Criteria: authenticity, architectural significance

71

Page 602

Littlecroft, Priest Lane:

Small terraced cottage, directly fronting the street. Front elevation has early 19th 12-pane
sashes to left, with replacement door to right. The frontage has roughcast render, with slate
roof and a single ridge stack to left. Cobbled verge to frontage. Significant as a good
example of an early 19th century cottage, with original windows.
Criteria: authenticity, architectural significance

72

Page 603

Stonecroft, Priest Lane:

Terraced cottage directly fronting the street. Symmetrical front elevation has early 19th 12pane sashes flanking a central doorway. Front wall finished in roughcast render. The roof is
graduated slate with a single central ridge stack. Cobbled verge to frontage. Significant as a
good example of a late 18th or early 19th century cottage with original windows.
Criteria: authenticity, architectural significance

73

Page 604

Park View
Wharton Cottage, Park View:

Photo: CVS 2015
Terraced cottage, probably historically two dwellings. Date unknown, but probably 18th or
19th century. Roughcast rendered front elevation with 4-pane sashes and panelled door
below flat stone canopy (to the right). Door and windows are sympathetic replacements.
The roof is slate with a single stack. The cottage may contain earlier fabric. Significant as a
good example of an 18th or early 19th century cottage.
Criteria: authenticity, architectural significance

74

Page 605

No 7, Racecourse Cottage, Park View:

End of terrace cottage directly fronting the street. Probably late 18th or early 19th century.
Central doorway with flat stone canopy, flanked by replacement sash windows. Slate roof
with gable-end rendered stacks. Like other historic houses on Park View, the cottage may
contain earlier fabric. Significant as a good example of an 18th or early 19th century cottage.
Criteria: authenticity and architectural significance.

Cemetery Lych gate, Park View:

Lych Gate and boundary walls, which incorporate the line of the medieval priory wall. The
lych gate dates from the early 1900s, built to serve a new cemetery. The stone and timber
structure has a slate roof and is typical of the many lych gates designed for burial grounds in
the 19th and early 20th century, in a revival style. The architect is not known. Significant as a
good example of a lych gate built for a cemetery, to serve the community.
Criteria: authenticity, historic and architectural significance.
75

Page 606

Old Counting House and entrances, Park View

Mid-19th century cottage, now used for race day ticket sales. Recent extensions for pay
booths to east gable end. Built at right angles to the road with an unusual layout; the
entrance on the north elevation is on the upper level, reached by a ramp from the east.
Roughcast render, slate roof with a single gable end stack. Victorian sash windows and a
panelled doorway at the east end of the north elevation, to upper floor level. Windows
altered to south side. The entrances to the road have pairs of cylindrical gate piers, probably
early20th century in date. Significant as an unusual historic property associated with the race
course.
Criteria: authenticity, historic and architectural significance.

76

Page 607

Race course Grandstand

Photo: CVS 2015
Multi-storey grandstand in the centre of the racecourse, partly faced in local stone, render
and slate roofs. A viewing tower rises above the west elevation entrance, with open-air
tiered stand facing the finish line of the race course. Built in 2004 for the Holker Estate,
designed by Rebecca Gibson of John Coward Architects. Significant as a recent landmark
building on the historic race course.
Criteria: authenticity and architectural significance

Racecourse Lane (south side)

Gig house to rear of The Barn:

Early 19th century 4-bay open-fronted gig or cart house, facing north into a yard. The hipped
slate roof has a central cupola with weather vane. The open north front is supported on
cast-iron columns, with rubblestone walls to the west gable end and rear (south). It is not
77

Page 608

known for which property this was built; it may have been associated with the race course.
Significant as a good example of an attractive historic farm or transport equipment building,
in an unaltered state. This building may meet national Listing criteria.
Criteria: authenticity, historic and architectural significance

Village Hall:

Village hall built in 1934, as recorded on a stone plaque to west gable end, near the
entrance. The building has coursed stone walls, a sweeping slate roof with metal ridge vents
and replacement doors and windows. The ramp to the entrance is modern, but this and the
replacement windows have not undermined the building’s overall significance. Interior has
plaster barrel-vaulted ceiling. Architect not known. Significant has a good example of an
inter-war building, built for the community in Cartmel.
Criteria: authenticity, historic and architectural significance

78

Page 609

12

Appendix 4: Map of Local List Buildings

79

Page 610

13

Appendix 5: Map of Buildings for inclusion in an
Article 4 (2) Direction

80

Page 611

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 612

Appendix 2: Equalities Impact Assessment

EIA Title:

1.0

Draft Cartmel Conservation Area Management Plan Supplementary Planning
Document (SPD)

The public sector equality duty (2011) covers the following eight protected
characteristics:
Age, disability, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, gender
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity.
The duty also covers marriage and civil partnership, but only relating to the
elimination of unlawful discrimination (see below, 2.0).
1.1

2.0

SLDC includes “rurality” as an additional category in its equality impact
assessments.

The General Equality Duty.
SLDC, in the exercise of its functions, should:
a. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act.
b. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a
protected characteristic and those who do not.
c. Foster good relations between people who share
a protected characteristic and those who
do not.

Page 613

1

Step 1
Summarise the subject and expected outcomes of this EIA.
Decision on the approval of the Draft Cartmel Conservation Area Management Plan (CAMP)
SPD for consultation.
It is not expected that the approval of the Draft Cartmel CAMP for consultation would have any
negative impacts relating to equality.

Who are your main stakeholders and list any engagement undertaken (include
surveys, feedback forms, complaints, statistics etc).
The main stakeholders are anyone who has an interest in the conservation and enhancement of
the Cartmel Conservation Area. These will include residents of and businesses operating in
Cartmel and community interests in Cartmel and the wider Parish.
Cartmel Village Society and Allithwaite and Cartmel Parish Council have been engaged fully in
the development of the Draft Cartmel CAMP. The introduction of a CAMP was consulted on as
part of the early engagement stages of preparation of the Allithwaite and Cartmel
Neighbourhood Plan in 2019. The outcome of this consultation is contained within the Draft
CAMP document.
The Council will be required to undertake public consultation on the Draft CAMP SPD. The
consultation will be undertaken in line with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement
(SCI). A range of methods will be undertaken, including direct engagement with the community
early in 2022. Documents and supporting material will be made accessible to everyone and
equality interest groups will be consulted on the Draft SPD directly.

Step 2
Equality Action Plan
In providing this service will
there be any negative impacts on
the following people?
1. Age (young and old)
2. Black and Minority Ethnic
3. Disabled
4. Faith/Belief
5. Sexual Orientation
6. Gender
7. Gender reassignment
8. Pregnancy and maternity
9. Marriage and Civil
Partnership
10. People in rural areas
(See glossary below for definitions)
1. Age, 3. Disabled – accessing
any consultation events
(venues need to be made
accessible)
3. Disabled - potential

Mitigating actions (to avoid
negative impact):

Lead
Officer
&
When

Complete
Y/N

Ensure consultation events are
accessible for all.

Libby
Mee

N/A

Ensure careful consideration is

Libby

Page 614

2

implications of proposals for
enhancing the Conservation
Area for accessibility of all
(public realm improvements.
Road improvements).

given to the potential implications
any proposals within the CAMP
may have for the accessibility of all
– engage with representatives of
disabled persons/ older people and
families with prams.

Mee

Step 3
Examples of good equality practice you have put in place (For example, all venues
used are accessible for people with mobility, hearing and sight impairments)
The consultation for the Cartmel CAMP SPD will include publicity through local media and the
web, letters, newsletters, newspaper (Grange Now and Westmorland Gazette), relevant
inspection points and other locations etc) and will be made accessible to a wide range of people.
The inspection points are accessible for people with mobility issues (Kendal library, Grange
Library and Kendal Town Hall). Various equality groups active in South Lakeland will be
consulted directly including Cumbria Inter-Faith Forum, Cumbria Equalities Group, and Age UK
South Lakeland.
Consultation event venues will be made accessible for all.

Date:

25 November 2021

EIA Author(s):

Libby Mee

Director:

David Sykes

Document version number:

1

EIA forwarded to Policy Officer

Y
Glossary

Age: This refers to a person having a particular age (for example, 32 year-olds) or being within an age group (for example, 18-30 yearolds).
Civil partnership: Legal recognition of a same-sex couple’s relationship. Civil partners must be treated the same as married couples on
a range of legal matters.
Disability: A person has a disability if they have a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and long-term adverse effect
on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities. Includes: Physical/sensory disability,
mental health or learning disability.
Gender reassignment: A person has the protected characteristic of gender reassignment if the person is proposing to undergo, is
undergoing or has undergone a process (or part of a process) for the purpose of reassigning the person's sex by changing physiological
or other attributes of sex.
Maternity: The period after giving birth. It is linked to maternity leave in the employment context. In the non-work context, protection
against maternity discrimination is for 26 weeks after giving birth, including as a result of breastfeeding.
Race: It refers to a group of people defined by their colour, nationality (including citizenship), ethnic or national origins. Includes, Asian,
Black and White minority ethnic groups inc. Eastern Europeans, Irish people and Gypsy Travellers.
Religion or belief: “Religion” means any religion, including a reference to a lack of religion. “Belief” includes religious and philosophical
beliefs including lack of belief (for example, Atheism). The category includes, Christianity, Islam, Judaism, Hinduism, Buddhism, and
non religious beliefs such as Humanism.
Rurality: South Lakeland is defined as ‘Rural-80’ – this means we have at least 80 percent of our population in rural settlements and
larger market towns.
Sexual orientation: This is whether a person's sexual attraction is towards their own sex, the opposite sex or to both sexes.

Page 615

3

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 616

